Compendium of Plant Genomes *Series Editor:* Chittaranjan Kole

Sujay Rakshit Yi-Hong Wang *Editors*

The Sorghum Genome



Compendium of Plant Genomes

Series editor

Chittaranjan Kole Nadia, West Bengal India More information about this series at http://www.springer.com/series/11805

Sujay Rakshit · Yi-Hong Wang Editors

The Sorghum Genome



Editors Sujay Rakshit ICAR-Indian Institute of Millets Research Hyderabad, Andhra Pradesh India

Yi-Hong Wang Department of Biology University of Louisiana at Lafayette Lafayette USA

ISSN 2199-4781 ISSN 2199-479X (electronic) Compendium of Plant Genomes ISBN 978-3-319-47787-9 ISBN 978-3-319-47789-3 (eBook) DOI 10.1007/978-3-319-47789-3

Library of Congress Control Number: 2016954588

© Springer International Publishing AG 2016

This work is subject to copyright. All rights are reserved by the Publisher, whether the whole or part of the material is concerned, specifically the rights of translation, reprinting, reuse of illustrations, recitation, broadcasting, reproduction on microfilms or in any other physical way, and transmission or information storage and retrieval, electronic adaptation, computer software, or by similar or dissimilar methodology now known or hereafter developed.

The use of general descriptive names, registered names, trademarks, service marks, etc. in this publication does not imply, even in the absence of a specific statement, that such names are exempt from the relevant protective laws and regulations and therefore free for general use.

The publisher, the authors and the editors are safe to assume that the advice and information in this book are believed to be true and accurate at the date of publication. Neither the publisher nor the authors or the editors give a warranty, express or implied, with respect to the material contained herein or for any errors or omissions that may have been made.

Printed on acid-free paper

This Springer imprint is published by Springer Nature The registered company is Springer International Publishing AG The registered company address is: Gewerbestrasse 11, 6330 Cham, Switzerland



In memory of Dr. Neelamraju Ganaga Prasad Rao (1927–2016), father of Indian sorghum research. He had a pioneering role to bring quantum jump in the productivity of sorghum in India. The legacy he has left behind will inspire the generations to come.

Foreword



Agricultural practices need to be climate resilient so that the production system remains sustainable over a long period of time in spite of changes in climatic conditions. Millets in general, with their inherent drought tolerance and ability to yield substantially under the most neglected crop management, are climate resilient. Besides, they are a good source of micronutrients and have low glycemic indices. Thus, they fit best in the current food and agricultural scenario.

Sorghum or the 'big millet' represents nearly 60% of area being covered by millets across the world, mainly being cultivated by the resource-poor farmers of semi-arid tropics of Asia and Africa. In addition to meeting the calorific requirement of the human population particularly in rainfed regions, sorghum commands an important place as a source of feed and fodder for large animal populations in this region. In recent past, sorghum assumed renewed importance as an alternate source of biofuel. With its C4 photosynthetic pathway, sorghum has become a model plant system to understand the genetic architecture of grass family through comparative 'omics' studies.

With publication of its genome sequence sorghum has turned out to be the most sought-after system to understand the genomic architecture of C4 plants. Since 2009, a good number of studies on re-sequencing of sorghum genotypes have brought out a fair understanding of the genome organization and sequence diversity, which are being deployed in association mapping. The available information on genomic variation has its potential use in genomic selection of sorghum and allied crops. However, all these

achievements have been possible through initial studies on cytogenetics, germplasm characterization, construction of genetic and physical maps, and identification of QTLs for traits of interest.

I appreciate the efforts of the editors to organize 15 chapters in this book in such a way that all these developments have been brought out in the right perspective by eminent groups of scientists across the world. I am sure that this book will be of utility to the students, scientists working on sorghum and other field crops, science managers and policy makers.

New Delhi, India September, 2016 T. Mohapatra

Preface

The biggest challenge facing agricultural scientists is to feed an ever-increasing human population, which is expected to reach 9.1 billion by 2050. The demand for cereals, for both food and animal feed uses, is projected to reach around 3 billion tons by 2050 from 2.1 billion tons today. This gap is to be filled in spite of decreasing availability of arable land, deteriorating soil fertility, and increased incidences of climatic extremes. Under that context, agriculturists need to make the agricultural practices more climate resilient. Sorghum is the fifth most important cereal crop after rice, wheat, maize, and barley, and is extensively grown in the semi-arid tropics of the world thanks to its inherent ability to tolerate harsh environments. Thus, this is a model crop among grass species to study stress response and ensuring food security for millions of poor masses living in the most impoverished drought-prone regions of the world. Sorghum not only provides food and feed but also serves as an important source of fodder for large cattle with its dry stover. Green plants are also a source of forage for cattle. In recent years, sweet sorghum has turned out to be a source of ethanol production and second-generation lignocellulose-based biofuels. Thus, sorghum has the potential to provide food, feed, fodder, and fuel.

Unlike other cereals such as rice, wheat, and maize, sorghum received lesser attention with regard to genetic and genomics studies in the past. The lesser economic importance of sorghum is the principal reason behind this. However, over the last two and a half decades much progress has been made in this area. After publication of the rice genome sequence, sorghum turned out to be a natural complement to rice in understanding the complexity of the genomes of this most important group of crop plants, that is, the grass family. With its proximity not only to cereal crops but also to commercial crops including sugarcane, sorghum has turned out to be a model crop to initiate genomics research through syntenic studies. With publication of the sorghum genome sequence in 2009, the scenario was revolutionized and this neglected crop started receiving prominence in genomics studies. Stress tolerance of the crop proved to be an added advantage for its popularity.

Over the period of a few decades many reports on sorghum genomics as well as transgenic research have come into the public domain, which deals with almost all traits related to the crop. These studies have exhibited promise to improve the crop further in terms of stress tolerance and yielding ability. This has also opened up opportunity to improve other related crops as well, using the genomics information generated in sorghum.

The current volume, Compendium of Plant Genomes: The Sorghum Genome, comprises 15 chapters. Chapter 1 deals with the global status of the crop and its economic importance. It has been observed that sorghum yield levels have increased in almost all the sorghum-growing regions except Africa, and this has been achieved both due to genetic gains in the released cultivars and better crop management. Consumption of sorghum as food is declining because of changes in food habits and consumer preference. However, use for animal feed and other industrial purposes is increasing. The world sorghum trade is mainly linked to demand for livestock products. Chapter 2 is devoted to the botany, floral biology, and classification of sorghum and their implications for the breeding methods to be used. It highlights how understanding of botany and taxonomy could be effectively used for improving sorghum yield and nutritional quality.

Genomic studies of a crop are partially dependent on availability of cytogenetic information on it. Due to inherent small sizes of sorghum chromosomes such studies are scanty. Chapter 3 details the progress in molecular cytogenetics that has paved the way for genome sequencing of the crop and for understanding its genetic architecture. Furthermore, sorghum germplasm is best characterized among crop plants, which have been grouped into core and mini-core collections and a genotyping-based reference set. These have been characterized systematically to identify sources of resistance against various stresses and quality traits. All these developments are narrated in Chap. 4.

Completion of sorghum genome sequencing after that of Arabidopsis and rice is a big step leading to widespread genomics applications. Chapter 5 elaborates international private and public efforts leading to sorghum genome sequencing. The chapter also discusses a postgenomic scenario in the context of next-generation sequencing and beyond. Progress in sorghum genomics leading to elaborate syntenic studies with allied and model genomes as well as the computation needs and implications have been described in Chap. 6. Progress in crop genomics has forged a new path of gene mapping in the form of association mapping, paving the way for genomic selection. As compared to fine cereals and maize, progress in this regard in sorghum is meager. The current status is dealt with in Chap. 7.

Although sorghum is relatively stress tolerant, like other crop plants its productivity is affected by various stresses, including biotic and abiotic stresses. Chapter 8 explores the application of genomic approaches such as large-scale genotyping and high-throughput sequencing towards genetic linkage mapping, association studies, and marker-assisted selection for biotic stresses. Chapter 9 describes similar progress for abiotic stresses, for which less success have been recorded. Chapter 10 provides the current status of the application of genomics tools in improving sorghum grain quality, be it starch quality or composition of seed proteins and nonstarch polysaccharides. Underground root architecture plays a vital role in moisture and nutrient acquisition by the plants from the soil, which most commonly remains

unexplored. Chapter 11 focuses on sorghum root architecture, its screening tools, and the status of QTL analysis.

Overexpression and gene knockout studies play a vital role in gene discovery and their characterization; both are dependent on efficient transformation protocols. Chapter 12 examines studies that improve transformation efficiency in sorghum and enhance biotic and abiotic stress tolerance and nutritional quality using transgenic approaches. Chapter 13 reviews positional or map-based cloning of economically important genes/alleles and their characterization leading to their effective deployment in improvement of sorghum. The chapter further describes cloning strategies used to identify the underlying mutations of economic significance. TILLING, a reverse genomics tool, and its variant eco-TILLING, are novel tools for the discovery of genes and/or their mutant forms. Chapter 14 provides an account of this new dimension in TILLING/Eco-TILLING and its implication in sorghum genomics. Plant-microbiome interaction is a very dynamic phenomenon, being influenced by environmental stimuli. Such studies are limited in sorghum, which are elaborated in Chap. 15. Genomics and transcriptomics studies, which can be designed to understand the microbial communities associated with sorghum, are also described in this chapter.

The chapters of this book have been authored by a team of scientists who are expert in their respective fields of research in sorghum involving both conventional and genomics tools. Sincere efforts have been made to avoid overlapping in contents, however, some overlapping in isolated spots is unavoidable.

Some books in this area have already been published in the recent past by an international group of scientists. We have made efforts to include updated information in the chapters, and we believe that this book will be of much use to the sorghum research community. Any omission in the book is our responsibility and will be addressed in future editions.

We express our sincere thanks to the 42 contributors for their chapters. We sincerely appreciate their continuous cooperation starting from first submission of drafts to revision of their chapters matching with the reviews. We also thank our family members for bearing with us throughout the process of editing and finalization of this book.

Finally, we put on record our most sincere thanks to the series editor, Prof. C. R. Kole for giving us this opportunity to edit this book and Springer-Verlag and its entire staff, particularly Dr. Jutta Lindenborn and Ms. Abirami Purushothaman, for their kind understanding and help in publication and promotion of this book. We hope that this book will be useful to students, scientists both in academia and industry, and policy makers.

Hyderabad, India Lafayette, USA Sujay Rakshit Yi-Hong Wang

Contents

1	Economic Importance of Sorghum K. Hariprasanna and Sujay Rakshit	1
2	Botany, Taxonomy and Breeding	27
3	Cytogenetics of Sorghum Sujay Rakshit, K.N. Ganapathy and K.B.R.S. Visarada	47
4	Sorghum Germplasm Resources Characterizationand Trait MappingHari D. Upadhyaya, Mani Vetriventhanand Santosh Deshpande	77
5	Sorghum Genome Mapping and Its Impact Generated Through Public and Private Efforts Sylvester Elikana Anami, Hong Luo, Yan Xia and Hai-Chun Jing	95
6	Synteny with Allied and Model Genomes P. Rajendrakumar	117
7	Association Mapping and Genomic Selection—Where Does Sorghum Stand? Pawan L. Kulwal	137
8	Genomics Approaches to Biotic Stress Resistance Guoqing Liu, Yucui Han, Yanmiao Jiang, Yueying Wang, Peng Lv and Haiquan Li	149
9	Genomic Approaches for Abiotic Stress Tolerance in Sorghum	169
10	Genomic Approaches for Improving Grain Quality of Sorghum	189

11	Genetic Manipulation of Root System Architecture to Improve Drought Adaptation in Sorghum Dinesh Joshi, Vijaya Singh, Erik van Oosterom, Emma Mace, David Jordan and Graeme Hammer	207
12	Genetic Transformation for Functional Genomics of Sorghum Monika Dalal	227
13	Cloning of Economically Significant Sorghum Mutant Genes Sandeep R. Marla	243
14	TILLING and EcoTILLING for Discovery of Induced and Natural Variations in Sorghum Genome Ramadoss Bharathi Raja, Somanath Agasimani, Varadharaju Anusheela, Venkatesan Thiruvengadam, Ravindra N. Chibbar and Sundaram Ganesh Ram	257
15	Sorghum-Associated Bacterial Communities—Genomics and Research Perspectives Mandira Kochar and Pushplata Singh	269

Economic Importance of Sorghum

K. Hariprasanna and Sujay Rakshit

Abstract

Sorghum acts as a dietary staple for millions of people living in about 30 countries in the subtropical and semi-arid regions of Africa and Asia. It is a source of food and fodder, mostly in the traditional, smallholder farming sector. It also finds a place in the high-input commercial farming sector as a feed crop, and is fast emerging as a biofuel crop. More than 80 % of the global sorghum area is characterized by low yield levels contributing to slightly above half of total grain output whereas the rest comes from the developed world with high yield levels. Though sorghum cultivation is reported from more than 100 countries, only eight countries have over 1 million ha area under sorghum, which together contribute more than 60 % of world sorghum production. In Africa, although only a few countries contribute a major share of area, sorghum is widely distributed and is a major staple food grain in large parts of the continent. In spite of its economic importance, sorghum cropped area around the world has declined over the last four decades at a rate of over 0.15 million ha per year. However, in some countries including Brazil, Ethiopia, Sudan, Australia, Mexico, Nigeria, and Burkina Faso it is expanding, mainly because of new land brought under sorghum cultivation or diversion of a portion of area planted to other crops such as maize and wheat. Global sorghum production peaked during the mid-1980s, and thereafter it declined by about 13-15 %, but not steadily. In almost all the sorghum growing regions except Africa yield levels have been enhanced over the years as a result of improved cultivars, higher input use, better resources, and crop management. Most of the sorghum is consumed in the countries where it is produced and world trade is mainly linked to demand for livestock products, which is governed by the feed requirements and prices in developed countries. Consumption of sorghum for food purposes is declining because of a change in food habits and consumer preference

S. Rakshit and Y.-H. Wang (eds.), *The Sorghum Genome*, Compendium of Plant Genomes, DOI 10.1007/978-3-319-47789-3_1

K. Hariprasanna · S. Rakshit (🖂)

ICAR-Indian Institute of Millets Research, Rajendranagar, Hyderabad 500 030, India

e-mail: sujay@millets.res.in

[©] Springer International Publishing AG 2016

brought about by economic status, whereas use for animal feed and other industrial purposes is increasing. Under a changing climate regime sorghum would assume renewed importance as a food and industrial crop, and therefore concerted focus is necessary on such marginalized crops to ensure food and nutritional security in a sustainable manner in the years to come.

1 Introduction

Sorghum [Sorghum bicolor (L.) Moench] is the fifth most important cereal in terms of production and area harvested in the world. It is one of the most important dryland food crops grown in marginal lands in more than 100 countries, and is a dietary staple of more than 500 million poor and the most food-insecure people living in about 30 countries in the subtropical and semi-arid regions of Africa and Asia (Kumar et al. 2011). The Sorghum genus has many species and subspecies. There are several types of sorghum, including grain sorghums, forage sorghums (for pasture and hay), sweet sorghums (for syrups and biofuel), and Broomcorn. The crop is agronomically suited to hot and dry agroecologies where other food grains fail to yield substantially or are even difficult to grow. In these agroecologies sorghum is a dual-purpose crop, as both grain and stalks or stover are highly valued for human and animal consumption, respectively. In developed countries such as the United States, Japan, and Australia, and in some developing countries including China and Mexico, grains are important as animal and bird feed. In large parts of the developing world, stover represents up to 50 % of the total value of the crop, particularly in drought years (ICRISAT & FAO 1996).

The sorghum-based world economy has two distinct segments: a traditional, smallholder farming sector (largely in Asia and Africa as subsistence farming), and a modern high-input large-scale farming sector (principally in the developed countries and in Latin America; ICRISAT & FAO 1996). More than 80 % of the global sorghum area of 42.12 m ha (FAO 2015) lies in developing countries on the African and Asian continents (Fig. 1), where sorghum is grown primarily for food by low-income farmers. The remaining area of 16-20 % is predominantly in the developed world, especially cultivated by large-scale commercial farms, which produce sorghum mainly for animal feed. The yield levels are high in the latter sector because of the use of modern agricultural practices. Africa and Asia together account for approximately 56 % of global sorghum production, whereas the Americas contribute nearly 38 % of global output from just about 16 % of the global harvested area (Fig. 2). Production in Africa is characterized by low productivity and extensive, low-input cultivation, whereas production is generally more intensive in Asia, where improved cultivars and fertilizers are used more widely (ICRISAT & FAO 1996). Though developed countries in general are feed producers, some developing countries such as Mexico and Argentina are also major producers of sorghum for the feed market.

2 Origin and Distribution

The origin and early domestication of sorghum is hypothesized to have taken place in northeastern Africa or at the Egyptian–Sudanese border around 5000–8000 years ago (Mann et al. 1983). The largest diversity of cultivated and wild sorghum is observed in this part of Africa. From the site of early domestication, sorghum later spread to other parts of Africa and eventually to Asia including India, the Middle East, and China (Doggett 1970). Among the five different cultivated races, *durra* types presently extend from Ethiopia along the river Nile to the Near East, and farther to Thailand and across India. The *durra* types were probably introduced to Arabia as early as the Sabian Empire (1000–800 BC),



and later spread to the Near East along trade routes (House 1985). Sorghum probably reached India by both land and sea routes. The secondary center of the origin of sorghum is the Indian subcontinent, with evidence for early cereal cultivation discovered at an archaeological site in western parts of Rojdi (Saurashtra) dating back about 4500 years (Vavilov 1992; Damania 2002).

The first written record of sorghum is from the first century AD, found in writings by the Roman, Pliny (Martin 1970; Smith and Frederiksen 2000). Possibly sorghum was introduced to the Near East at about the same time it appeared in Italy. Pliny recorded (in approximately 60–70 AD) that the crop was introduced to Italy from India. Distribution suggests that sorghum was probably introduced to China from India about the third century AD. The presence of *durra* types in Korea and adjacent Chinese

provinces suggests that it may have been introduced there via the ancient Silk Routes from Asia Minor (House 1985). Sorghum is relatively new to the American continent. It is supposed that grain sorghum was first introduced to North America through the West Indies by African slaves during the seventeenth century. Even after widespread distribution in the Americas, production slowly dropped off until it almost disappeared (Maunder 1999). The reintroduction of grain sorghum into America occurred in California in 1874, and shortly after that it became widespread in the southern Great Plains and other arid regions of the United States as it was recognized as a drought-tolerant crop that would outperform maize (Smith and Frederiksen 2000). It was extensively used in the early 1900s for syrup (Doggett 1965). Its cultivation in Central and South America has become significant only since 1950 (House 1985).

3 Cropping Area

Sorghum is cultivated in 105 countries (Rakshit et al. 2014). Among these, 37 countries have more than 0.1 m ha sorghum harvested area and eight countries (Sudan, India, Nigeria, Niger, United States, Ethiopia, Burkina Faso, and Mexico in decreasing order) have over 1 m ha area under sorghum, which together contribute 71 % of world sorghum harvested area. In western and central Africa, sorghum is grown between the Sahara desert in the north and the equatorial forests in the south. In southern and eastern Africa it is grown predominantly in drier regions (FAO & ICRISAT 1996). Sudan has the largest area under sorghum in northern Africa and the area has increased more than four times during 2011-2013 compared to 1961-1963 (Table 1). In Asia, geographically only India and China are important sorghum-growing countries. In the Americas, the United States has the largest area followed by Mexico. In South America, Argentina and Brazil have some appreciable acreage under sorghum. Australia grows sorghum on more than 0.6 m ha. A few countries in Africa contribute the major share of area, sorghum is widely distributed, and is a major staple food grain in large parts of the continent.

In spite of the importance of the crop, over the last four decades the sorghum cropped area around the world has reduced at a rate of over 154,000 ha per year (Rakshit et al. 2014). In those countries with the maximum area, such as China, the United States, and India, the cropped area has dropped drastically. In the case of China the sorghum-growing area has declined more than 11-fold compared to 1961-1963 levels, whereas in India the area decline is almost to the tune of 60-65 % of the area sown to sorghum during the early 1960s. In the United States, the area has come down by more than 55 % in 2011-2013 compared to 1961-1963 levels. Another western Asian country with appreciable area under sorghum is Yemen, which also recorded area reduction of over 50 % of the 1961 levels. On the other hand, in some countries area has tremendously increased over the years. Brazil recorded maximum proportional increase in area compared to the 1970 level followed by Ethiopia, Sudan, Australia, Mexico, Nigeria, and Burkina Faso. In Brazil, sorghum area has increased significantly since 1995, whereas in Mexico the area has increased since the 1970s by more than 60 %compared to 1971-1973 but recorded a slow increase from 1981 onwards. The loss in area in Asia is attributed to the change in food habits, low profitability of the crop, and lack of government support, whereas that in the United States is due to government policy allowing marginal lands to be placed under the Conservation Reserve Program and competition from genetically modified maize hybrids. On the other hand, an increase in area in countries such as Australia is because of new land being brought under cultivation, higher cropping intensity with better water management, and in the recent past due to allocation of land under wheat and barley to sorghum. The steady increase in sorghum area, particularly since the 1990s in African countries is attributed to new land being brought under cultivation and some from former maize acreage. In South American countries some portion of the area planted with maize, wheat, and other crops was gradually brought under sorghum leading to an increase in sorghum area (Rakshit et al. 2014).

4 Production

Developed countries produce more than one-third of the world's sorghum and the remainder comes from the rest of the world where more than 70 % of the sorghum area is geographically located. With over 16 % of global output the United States is the world's largest producer. In the United States, sorghum cultivation is concentrated in the central and southern Great Plains where rainfall is low and variable. Nearly 90 % of the grain sorghum in the United States is produced in five states: Kansas, Oklahoma, Texas, Nebraska, and Missouri. Sorghum production in Central America and the Caribbean is dominated by Mexico, which accounts for 94 % of the region's total production. In South America production is concentrated in Argentina (56 % of the region's total) and in the dry areas

	Area (lakh	ha)					Production	n (lakh tonne	s)			
	1961– 1963	1971– 1973	1981– 1983	1991– 1993	2001– 2003	2011– 2013	1961– 1963	1971 - 1973	1981– 1983	1991– 1993	2001– 2003	2011– 2013
Africa	134.76	141.00	137.29	209.65	238.45	255.25	109.46	104.81	124.66	164.23	211.75	239.77
Northern Africa	17.86	22.62	39.37	55.08	61.21	63.22	21.24	24.61	30.59	40.97	50.56	44.61
Egypt	1.95	2.05	1.66	1.44	1.57	1.47	6.90	8.46	6.23	7.40	9.08	7.82
Morocco	1.32	0.67	0.35	0.31	0.18	0.07	0.80	0.77	0.22	0.18	0.11	0.06
Sudan (former)	14.44	19.74	37.20	53.28	59.42	61.65	13.49	15.28	24.08	33.36	41.36	36.71
Western Africa	74.62	74.05	56.39	110.30	126.61	121.83	56.81	44.48	55.22	89.20	112.87	110.44
Benin	1.13	06.0	96.0	1.43	1.83	1.10	09.0	0.59	0.58	1.10	1.75	1.19
Burkina Faso	9.52	10.38	10.73	12.98	15.46	17.57	4.60	4.89	6.26	12.70	14.52	17.90
Cote d'Ivoire	0.14	0.31	0.34	0.48	0.58	0.68	0.10	0.15	0.18	0.27	0.34	0.48
Gambia	0.07	0.07	0.07	0.11	0.24	0.31	0.07	0.07	0.07	0.11	0.26	0.23
Ghana	1.56	2.18	2.11	2.93	3.37	2.34	1.05	1.64	1.21	2.76	3.11	2.75
Guinea	0.20	0.20	0.20	0.18	0.35	0.36	0.24	0.25	0.24	0.27	0.34	0.48
Guinea-Bissau	0.04	0.06	0.35	0.14	0.16	0.24	0.03	0.03	0.23	0.13	0.13	0.23
Mali	5.15	3.73	5.34	8.91	8.16	11.61	3.49	2.84	4.52	7.16	6.29	10.74
Mauritania	2.10	1.71	1.11	1.28	1.36	1.27	0.82	0.35	0.31	0.67	0.53	0.50
Niger	4.67	5.31	10.75	23.14	23.72	30.30	3.16	2.00	3.45	3.80	6.83	11.57
Nigeria	48.88	47.92	22.16	55.39	67.40	52.97	41.72	30.72	35.99	57.76	75.44	68.32
Senegal	1.09	1.22	1.13	1.19	1.94	1.41	0.81	0.87	1.23	0.98	1.52	1.05
Sierra Leone	0.07	0.05	60.0	0.37	0.16	0.30	0.12	0.06	0.13	0.23	0.18	0.34
Togo			1.03	1.77	1.85	2.18			0.81	1.27	1.63	2.50
Central Africa	10.54	90.6	7.69	10.43	12.83	20.18	7.34	5.67	5.08	7.20	11.20	20.82
Angola					0.53	1.65					0.17	0.40
Cameroon	3.01	3.43	4.04	5.10	4.11	7.78	2.55	2.43	2.66	3.90	5.40	11.33
Central African Rep.	0.62	0.47	0.54	0.17	0.47	0.40	0.33	0.38	0.43	0.20	0.42	0.47
											J	continued)

Table 1 Sorghum area and production by region/country^a

	Area (lakh	ha)					Production	ı (lakh tonne	(Si			
	1961– 1963	1971– 1973	1981– 1983	1991– 1993	2001– 2003	2011– 2013	1961– 1963	1971– 1973	1981– 1983	1991– 1993	2001– 2003	2011– 2013
Chad	6.53	4.86	2.73	5.07	7.62	8.60	4.20	2.59	1.66	3.05	5.14	8.55
DR of the Congo	0.39	0.30	0.38	0.09	0.10	0.09	0.26	0.27	0.34	0.05	0.06	0.07
Eastern Africa	26.26	30.31	30.09	30.52	36.14	48.44	20.48	24.76	29.64	23.11	34.20	62.00
Burundi	0.20	0.21	0.53	0.58	0.57	0.57	0.20	0.20	0.53	0.66	0.71	0.50
Eritrea				14.03	1.83	2.56	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.45	0.57	0.78
Ethiopia	10.23	9.87	90.6	4.48	12.76	18.27	8.11	9.32	13.25	6.28	16.26	39.65
Kenya	1.61	2.04	0.97	1.17	1.43	2.29	1.77	2.27	0.61	1.09	1.20	1.55
Malawi	0.71	1.20	0.28	0.34	0.56	0.86	0.45	0.96	0.16	0.15	0.40	0.75
Mozambique	2.17	2.50	3.33	4.08	2.95	6.28	1.71	2.09	1.97	1.23	1.68	2.79
Rwanda	1.04	1.30	1.78	1.37	1.79	1.09	1.32	1.42	1.98	1.49	1.77	1.49
Somalia	3.83	3.80	4.64	3.10	3.58	2.43	1.32	1.33	1.92	1.06	1.33	1.71
Uganda	2.94	3.04	1.92	2.50	2.86	3.62	2.78	3.85	3.32	3.74	4.24	3.57
UR of Tanzania	1.79	3.38	5.00	6.42	5.99	7.87	1.78	1.73	4.93	6.39	5.09	8.26
Zambia	0.68	0.74	0.20	0.40	0.27	0.20	0.41	0.47	0.13	0.23	0.18	0.16
Zimbabwe	1.02	2.20	2.35	1.12	1.53	2.43	0.61	1.12	0.81	0.62	0.75	0.76
Southern Africa	5.48	4.97	3.76	3.31	1.67	1.58	3.59	5.28	4.13	3.75	2.92	1.91
Botswana	0.87	0.97	0.65	0.72	0.23	0.65	0.28	0.51	0.12	0.29	0.21	0.35
Lesotho	0.65	0.70	0.52	0:30	0.35	0.16	0.55	0.42	0.35	0.27	0.23	0.06
Namibia	0.12	0.22	0.31	0.29	0.21	0.17	0.02	0.05	0.07	0.07	0.07	0.07
South Africa	3.64	3.05	2.27	1.99	0.86	0.59	2.63	4.28	3.59	3.12	2.41	1.47
Asia	267.39	230.92	205.34	152.14	114.49	82.61	167.08	178.47	200.07	169.65	113.17	99.49
Eastern Asia	67.17	51.03	27.19	13.79	8.01	5.97	65.12	87.12	73.65	51.64	30.04	25.40
China	66.70	50.67	27.00	13.43	7.83	5.32	64.67	86.67	73.30	50.41	29.62	20.22
DP Rep. of Korea	0.31	0.23	0.12	0.09	0.13	0.21	0.34	0.27	0.18	0.11	0.21	0.37
											J	continued)

Table 1 (continued)

(continued)
-
e
ab
-

	Area (lakh	ha)					Production	(lakh tonne	(s			
	1961– 1963	1971– 1973	1981– 1983	1991– 1993	2001– 2003	2011– 2013	1961– 1963	1971– 1973	1981– 1983	1991– 1993	2001– 2003	2011– 2013
Southern Asia	188.37	168.69	168.62	130.88	98.29	68.07	92.40	82.61	118.02	109.99	74.35	62.14
India	183.46	163.35	164.69	127.04	94.65	66.04	89.92	79.29	115.78	107.73	72.13	60.88
Pakistan	4.89	5.32	3.91	3.84	3.63	2.03	2.46	3.31	2.23	2.25	2.21	1.28
Southeastern Asia	0.08	0.76	2.57	1.71	3.00	2.54	0.20	1.42	2.90	2.36	2.88	2.72
Thailand	0.08	0.70	2.51	1.71	0.69	0.29	0.20	1.29	2.79	2.36	1.24	0.55
Myanmar					2.31	2.25					1.64	2.16
Western Asia	11.76	10.44	96.9	5.68	5.13	6.01	9.37	7.33	5.50	5.53	5.78	9.16
Iraq	0.06	0.07	0.06	0.02	0.04	0.22	0.04	0.07	0.06	0.01	0.03	0.70
Israel	0.16	0.09	0.04	0	0.04	0.06	0.39	0.30	0.17	0	0.20	0.32
Saudi Arabia	1.10	1.60	1.10	1.32	1.62	0.70	1.62	0.68	0.66	1.47	2.43	2.16
Yemen	10.35	8.66	5.75	4.24	3.35	4.88	7.25	6.26	4.60	3.93	2.95	4.37
Americas	62.65	99.33	101.12	72.73	69.88	63.14	155.27	298.74	336.19	259.11	224.92	215.51
Northern America (United States)	48.40	60.77	51.01	41.60	31.70	20.79	133.43	219.51	186.14	168.84	108.89	72.00
Central America	3.68	13.39	17.86	15.48	21.32	19.56	5.40	30.98	56.27	45.46	64.61	69.06
El Salvador	0.96	1.25	1.15	1.35	0.87	0.95	0.88	1.53	1.28	1.94	1.44	1.40
Guatemala	0.31	0.41	0.40	0.68	0.43	0.27	0.19	0.41	0.82	0.80	0.52	0.44
Honduras	0.42	0.43	0.56	0.73	0.58	0.33	0.50	0.46	0.54	0.76	0.66	0.41
Mexico	1.44	10.76	14.99	12.11	18.86	17.46	3.30	27.99	52.24	40.81	60.78	65.69
Nicaragua	0.50	0.45	0.47	0.51	0.52	0.44	0.47	0.45	0.92	0.88	1.08	0.79
Caribbean	2.24	2.04	1.67	1.28	1.23	1.27	2.13	2.05	1.42	1.10	0.94	1.15
Haiti	2.00	1.98	1.57	1.20	1.19	1.23	1.84	1.87	1.14	0.92	0.87	1.09
South America	8.33	23.13	30.58	14.37	15.63	21.52	14.30	46.20	92.35	43.72	50.48	73.30
Argentina	8.25	20.74	23.77	7.21	5.62	9.39	14.17	41.40	78.83	26.26	28.14	41.16
											9	ontinued)

(continued)
-
Ð
lq

	Area (lakh	ha)					Production	ı (lakh tonne	es)			
	1961– 1963	1971– 1973	1981– 1983	1991– 1993	2001– 2003	2011– 2013	1961– 1963	1971– 1973	1981– 1983	1991– 1993	2001– 2003	2011– 2013
Bolivia			0.04	0.22	0.53	1.42	0.00	0.00	0.13	0.70	1.36	3.75
Brazil	0.00	0.50	1.17	1.59	5.55	7.39	0.00	0.85	2.24	2.74	11.69	20.07
Colombia	0.04	1.04	2.65	2.34	0.71	0.13	0.08	2.43	5.65	7.08	2.36	0.52
Ecuador				0.02	0.06	0.09			0.01	0.03	0.10	0.14
Paraguay	0.03	0.05	0.08	0.14	0.29	0.25	0.03	0.06	0.10	0.19	0.37	1.26
Uruguay		0.70	0.62	0.40	0.23	0.56		1.18	1.43	1.21	0.88	2.35
Venezuela		0.05	2.15	2.39	2.64	2.22		0.06	3.63	5.33	5.59	3.87
Europe	1.52	2.11	2.86	2.18	1.71	2.77	1.73	5.62	7.07	8.50	6.67	9.87
France	0.13	0.68	0.59	0.85	0.67	0.46	0.36	2.58	2.76	4.89	3.63	2.67
Italy	0.05	0.03	0.21	0.32	0.33	0.42	0.18	0.09	1.05	1.85	1.96	2.50
Romania	0.06	0.02	0.16	0.06	0.04	0.18	0.08	0.03	0.20	0.05	0.04	0.42
Russian Federation (USSR)	0.77	0.57	1.25	1.10	0.32	0.77	0.62	0.68	1.30	1.21	0.32	0.92
Spain	0.01	0.43	0.27	0.11	0.08	0.08	0.01	1.72	1.12	0.58	0.28	0.43
Ukraine				0.11	0.15	0.66				0.09	0.17	2.23
Oceania	1.36	6.30	6.73	4.59	7.51	6.30	2.33	11.83	11.62	9.17	18.11	21.39
Australia	1.36	6.29	6.71	4.58	7.49	6.29	2.32	11.81	11.60	9.15	18.07	21.34
World	467.68	479.66	453.33	441.29	432.03	410.07	435.86	599.47	679.61	610.65	574.61	586.04
^a Each figure is a 3-year aver	age for the r	espective pe	sriod, for ex	ample, 1961	-1963							

K. Hariprasanna and S. Rakshit

of Brazil (27 % of the region's total). Production in Europe is limited to small areas in France, Italy, and Ukraine. In Oceania, Australia is the only significant producer. Production in Asia is far more concentrated in just two countries, China and India, which together contribute more than 85 % of the regional total (Table 1). In India, the main sorghum-producing states are Maharashtra, Karnataka, Telangana, Madhya Pradesh, and Gujarat. In the recent past, sorghum has been gaining increased popularity in coastal Andhra Pradesh under a rice-fallow situation (Chapke et al. 2011). Sorghum production in China is concentrated in the drier regions of the north and especially the northeast. However, it is distributed from Taiwan in the east, Xinjiang in the west, to Aihui county in Heilongjiang in the northeast, and to Sisha Island in the south (Gao et al. 2010). In northern Africa, Sudan is the largest sorghum producer, and production levels have nearly tripled compared to production during 1961-1963. Nigeria is the major sorghum producer in western Africa and production has increased there by more than 60 % in the period 2011-2013 over 1961-1963. However, a lot of variation has been observed over the years both in area harvested and production. In central Africa, Cameroon is the largest producer whereas in eastern Africa, Ethiopia is the biggest sorghum producer with all other countries far behind with respect to quantity of grain produced.

Global sorghum production peaked during 1985 with 77.57 m tons of grain, nearly 90 % more than the production levels recorded in the early 1960s. During the period of 1981–1983 to 2011-2013 global sorghum production fell by 13-15 % with a mean of 0.75 % per annum and the area declined during the corresponding period by 9.9 %. The decline in sorghum production is in contrast to annual increases in the production of other major grains such as rice, wheat, and maize. During the 50-year period from 1961, production grew mostly in Africa especially in Sudan, Burkina Faso, Ghana, Mali, Niger and Nigeria (North and Western Africa), Cameroon, Chad, and Ethiopia (Central and Eastern Africa), but declined in most other parts of the world, particularly in North America and Asia. Mexico in Central America and Brazil in South America exhibited significant growth in sorghum production during the period. Argentina had a significant increase in production till 1983, commensurate with the increase in area under sorghum followed by a decline in area but a gradual increase in production, indicating an increase in productivity. The sorghum production in Argentina fell from 8 m tons in 1983 to 2 m tons in 1990, as a result of a drastic fall in imports by the former USSR (ICRISAT & FAO 1996).

In Asia, production has fallen over the past three decades largely because of sharp declines in area, particularly in China and India. The drop in per capita consumption of sorghum as food occurred mainly because an increase in income levels, urbanization, changing food habits and preferences has led to a decline in cultivated area. In India, production grew by almost 5 % per annum during the 1970s, remained unchanged during the next two decades, and then started declining as sorghum has been replaced by more profitable crops such as soybean, cotton, and maize. The loss in area was partly compensated by higher productivity obtained through use of improved varieties and better management. In Africa, in contrast, production increase was due to area expansion into drier lands as a result of population growth although yield levels did not increase. Among developing countries, in Argentina and Mexico, production fell by nearly 40 % during the late 1980s, essentially because of policy interventions that led to a reduction in sorghum area.

5 Productivity

Enhanced yield levels have been observed in almost all the sorghum-growing countries as a result of improved cultivars, higher input use, and better resource and crop management. The exception is Africa, where yields declined by 14 % during the 1980s before increasing in the early 1990s. In India, productivity varies widely between regions depending on rainfall, soil type, and season. India has two adaptive types, rainy season sorghum and post-rainy season sorghum (Rakshit et al. 2012; Patil et al. 2013). Yields in rainy season sorghum range between 2.5 and 3.5 t/ha in areas with deep soils and assured moisture, but post-rainy season yields are less than 1 t/ha as the crop is raised predominantly under receding soil moisture in low-depth soils. There are sharp differences in productivity between regions/countries essentially due to the degree of commercialization and the corresponding adoption of new technologies. For example, yield levels (2011-13 average) were more than 1.2 t/ha in Eastern and Southern Africa, less than 0.7 t/ha in Northern Africa, and less than 1 t/ha in Southern Asia (Fig. 3a), whereas they were more than 3.4 t/ha in the Americas, more than 3.7 t/ha in Europe, and more than 4 t/ha in Eastern Asia (Fig. 3b). Dramatic growth in Mexico has been recorded where average yields rose to over 3.7 t/ha by 2013 from about 2.5 t/ha in the early 1960s. In a number of developed countries, the use of hybrid seed, fertilizer, and irrigation have ensured that yield levels have increased even from a high base level (ICRISAT & FAO 11996). In contrast, in many of the developing countries most of the sorghum is produced on small and fragmented plots, poor soils, and where there is generally limited use of purchased inputs due to the economic status of the growers. In Sudan the yield levels have dropped over the years (Rakshit et al. 2014), and this is principally due to the expansion of cultivated area to more marginal lands leading to a decline in overall productivity of Northern Africa (Fig. 3a). However, Sudan and some other developing countries including Zimbabwe also produce sorghum on large farms for commercial purposes using high inputs and irrigation. Under such conditions, yield levels up to 3 t/ha have been recorded by commercial farmers compared to the national average of 500 to 670 kg/ha.

Hybrids are most widely adopted in areas where sorghum is commercially produced and in countries with a well-developed private seed industry and complementary legislation. In most of the developing countries except China, India, Thailand, Sudan, and Zimbabwe, the use of hybrids is negligible. Most hybrids are developed for feed sorghum. However, hybrids are also being developed for food grain purposes in some of the developing countries, especially in India where hybrids occupy more than 85 % of sorghum area during the rainy season (Reddy et al. 2006). In many African countries, population growth forced expansion of the sorghum area into drier and more hostile lands, resulting in a reduction in productivity. However, in some other countries government policies have also led to the reduction in sorghum productivity as a result of relocation of productive sorghum fields to maize or other crops and pushing sorghum to more marginal lands.

Among the top sorghum producers, which produce more than 1 m tons (2011-2013) of grains annually, the highest yield levels are recorded in Argentina followed by China, Mexico, the United States, and Australia (Table 2). In Argentina, the yield levels rose by 155 % during 1961-1963 and 2011-2013, and in China the yield rose threefold during the same period. The relative rise in productivity levels is lower in the United States (25 %) and Mexico (60 %), but in Australia productivity almost doubled in the 50 years between 1961–1963 and 2011–2013. Among the other top producers, the jump in yield levels ranged from 9 % (Brazil) to 174 % (Ethiopia), whereas in Sudan the yield levels have gone down by 38 %, a clear-cut indication of the spread of sorghum to less-productive soils and poor management.

Analysis of yield gain over the years in the top 10 sorghum-producing countries from 1970 to 2009 by Rakshit and others (2014) indicated that relative to yield level of 1970, sorghum productivity increased annually at 0.96 % per year across the top 10 countries. China (100.9 kg/ha/year) and Nigeria (48.6 kg/ha/year) experienced phenomenal yield gain before reaching a plateau. Overall yield gain was not associated with increased yield stability in a majority of countries except Ethiopia. In fact, in China and India (post-rainy season sorghum), the yield variability increased over time. Genetic gain for grain yield over the years in the sorghum improvement program was Indian prominent in the rainy season (over 18 kg/ha/yr for hybrids and 90 kg/ha/yr for varieties till the 1980s),





whereas it was insignificant in the post-rainy season.

6 International Trade

World trade in sorghum is mainly linked to demand for livestock products, which is governed by the feed requirements and prices in developed countries. Only about 6 % of the world sorghum trade is for food use, which is in the form of imports by countries in Africa (ICRISAT & FAO 1996). As the trade is primarily for animal feed, the quantity of sorghum traded depends on the difference in the prices of sorghum and maize and fluctuates considerably. Most of the sorghum is consumed in the countries where it is produced. However, export volumes have increased from less than 3 m t in 1961 to over 13 m t in the early 1980s, peaking at 1981 with 14.48 m t. Substantial expansion took place in the mid-1960s and early 1970s. During this period within a span of roughly 12 years world trade in sorghum almost tripled. This was in line with the rise in imports of other coarse grains as well. The next sharp rise occurred in the early 1980s, when as a result of an export embargo by the United States, the former USSR started purchasing large quantities of sorghum in the international market (ICRISAT & FAO 1996). Exports started declining from 1985 onwards and remained at around 9 m tons until

Country	Yield (kg/ha)					
	1961-1963	1971–1973	1981–1983	1991–1993	2001-2003	2011-2013
United States	2756	3624	3596	4013	3416	3431
Nigeria	856	637	1624	1043	1119	1294
Mexico	2347	2601	3491	3317	3214	3762
India	490	485	703	845	762	920
Argentina	1718	1953	3332	3636	5014	4380
Ethiopia	793	950	1462	1402	1280	2169
Sudan	936	776	642	621	688	576
Australia	1693	1912	1738	1938	2402	3400
China	971	1710	2715	3755	3785	3809
Brazil	2500	2232	1952	1740	2044	2721
Burkina Faso	482	471	583	985	938	1016
Niger	675	370	322	165	290	379
Cameroon	858	710	659	765	1317	1456
Mali	681	765	847	829	773	998
World	932	1248	1498	1380	1329	1443

 Table 2 Sorghum yield levels in top sorghum-producing countries^a

^aEach figure is a 3-year average for the respective period, for example, 1961–1963

the early 1990s, and then dropped further to 6–7 m tons to a current level of 6.4 m tons (2011–2012 average) valued at US \$1657.24 m (Table 3). This decline in export volume and value resulted from a number of factors including a sharp reduction of production in the United States, narrowing of the price gap between maize and sorghum that made sorghum less competitive as a feed ingredient, and the lifting of a ban on maize imports by various countries including Colombia, Mexico, and Vene-zuela (ICRISAT & FAO 1996).

Argentina, Australia, China, and the United States are the major sorghum exporters, together accounting for more than 90 % of global export volume (Table 3). Sorghum production and export from Argentina increased sharply between the early 1960s and early 1980s, during which the harvested area rose from 0.8 m ha to 1.9 m ha. However, following a drop in demand in the second half of the 1980s, exports declined significantly. With diversion of wheat area to sorghum and matching increase in production, Australia entered the export market at the beginning of the 1970s. By the mid-1980s, China became an important exporter. However, with a sharp rise in domestic demand for sorghum as animal feed, its share in the world market dropped gradually. In fact, currently to meet its domestic demand, China is importing a significant quantity of sorghum from the international market. Some of countries such as India began exporting large quantities of grains over the years, particularly since 2002. Before 2002, exports were inconsistent, which peaked once in 1993–1994, when total production was hovering around 11–12 m t. On the other hand in countries such as Mexico, the export volume was very high in the late 1960s but over time decreased substantially. Other countries including Romania and Venezuela began sorghum exports in the early 1980s and 1990s, respectively. Ukraine and Bolivia are the two countries that started exporting sorghum after 2000, and their volumes are increasing. Countries that had steady exports till the 1980s or 1990s are Sudan and South Africa, whereas Argentina, Australia, and the United States had very high levels of export almost throughout the whole period.

	1961–1963	1971–1973	1981–1983	1991–1993	2001-2003	2011-2012
Africa	173.25	261.45	337.59	250.55	22.37	57.32
Western Africa		0.17	10.90	0.03	3.57	4.58
Northern Africa	90.15	67.99	288.48	204.52	11.32	16.62
Morocco	8.88	1.08	0.01	0.09		
Sudan (former)	80.80	66.57	288.42	204.43	10.84	27.24
Eastern Africa	1.83	2.99	3.23	44.31	4.80	35.01
Ethiopia		2.98			0.91	16.34
Kenya			1.24	40.28	0.41	0.40
Southern Africa	81.27	190.30	34.98	1.68	2.68	1.11
South Africa	75.93	190.30	34.87	0.86	1.48	0.78
Asia	0.77	137.55	286.73	441.17	57.55	149.20
Eastern Asia		0.08	2.14	384.61	50.84	53.28
China			2.13	383.66	50.82	53.24
Southern Asia	0.21	7.39	0.14	7.86	5.33	94.14
India	0.01		0.03	7.86	5.07	93.47
Southeastern Asia		129.16	284.39	48.54	1.28	1.77
Thailand		129.16	245.88	48.15	1.22	1.35
Americas	3048.22	5797.62	11728.21	7808.21	6206.64	4979.77
North America (United States)	2634.91	4111.70	6469.56	6634.86	5583.04	2661.66
Central America	2.60	25.84	10.02	14.21	0.48	7.34
Mexico	0.06	19.50	3.42	13.61	0.01	0.34
South America	410.71	1660.08	5248.63	1159.15	623.12	2310.76
Argentina	410.71	1646.12	5188.72	1138.34	499.82	2282.46
Bolivia			0.21		0.28	12.62
Brazil		13.69	14.69	0.04	104.19	0.23
Uruguay		0.00	45.01	0.32	15.10	15.39
Europe	62.27	201.54	237.16	265.63	238.87	221.29
France	1.00	133.96	192.40	246.99	212.41	81.07
Italy	0.18	0.06	0.14	0.07	6.10	4.53
Ukraine					0.59	89.27
Germany	6.24	0.09	0.05	0.13	0.78	12.27
Netherlands	23.46	54.26	3.14	5.15	11.06	5.22
Hungary			6.47	8.25	1.17	4.95
Belgium	22.50	7.37	26.69	4.73	4.49	1.70
Oceania	25.61	748.59	726.20	187.33	402.04	987.96
Australia	25.61	748.59	726.20	187.33	402.04	987.96
World	3310.12	7146.74	13315.89	8952.89	6927.48	6395.54
World Export Value (million US\$)	140.76	480.18	1726.21	993.38	738.55	1657.24

Table 3 Major sorghum exporters by region ('000 tonnes)^a

^aEach figure is a 3-year average for the respective period, for example, 1961–1963, except 2011–2012

Among the African regions the biggest sorghum importer is Eastern Africa followed by Northern Africa (Table 4). In the Americas, it is Central America followed by South America, whereas on the Asian continent Eastern Asia has the largest sorghum importers compared to other regions. Analysis of imports by the different countries indicates that although several countries import sorghum, the bulk of the quantity is concentrated in a few countries such as Japan and Mexico, which account for nearly 75 % of significant international imports. Another importer is the European Union with the Netherlands, Spain, and Belgium importing sizeable quantities. Countries including the United Kingdom, Denmark, Poland, and Germany, which used to import significant quantities have reduced imports over the years. Similarly, countries such as Venezuela, Senegal, Swaziland, Sweden, Yemen, and Zambia, which used to import sorghum in small to medium quantities in the 1960s or 1970s, now only import sorghum in some years. Total sorghum imports worldwide have been falling since the mid-1980s and continue to fall (Table 4). Some of the countries without continuous imports but with very high quantity at certain points of time are Benin (1980-1990), Cyprus (1975-1985), Indonesia (1982–1988), Ireland (1966–1981, 2007–2008), Mali (1988–1994), Singapore (1980–1988), Turkey (1989-1991, 1996-1997), Iran (1975-1979, 1982–1989), and Iraq (1984, 1989–1992). India imported sorghum till 1986 and thereafter it has been almost nil. Some of the countries that started importing in the recent past or post-1980s are China, the Philippines, Morocco, Sudan, Switzerland, Thailand, Tunisia, and Uruguay.

7 Sorghum Grain Composition

The composition of sorghum grain is similar to that of maize or other cereal grains. However, the perceived poor nutritional and processing quality of sorghum is because of the presence of tannins and poor protein digestibility, which affects its use in food and feed. In general, sorghum varieties with a pigmented testa have condensed tannins (Dykes and Rooney 2006). Depending on the presence of tannins or other phytochemicals, sorghum is classified into different types. Sorghums without a testa are generally white, and are preferred for direct food uses, as these sorghums contain the lowest amount of phytochemicals. Other types of sorghum contain a testa but do not have tannins, and may be called yellow, although most have a red-colored appearance. Brown-colored sorghums contain a pigmented testa and condensed tannins, and are generally bird-resistant. Red or brown sorghums have the best nutraceutical potential as they have high antioxidant capacity imparted by phenolics, anthocyanins, and tannins (Serna-Saldivar and Rooney 1995; Rooney and Serna-Saldivar 2000). Sorghums are free of tannin, having nearly the same levels of phytin and phytic acid as maize and other cereals, but digestibility is found to be slightly reduced compared to maize (Rooney 2003). The proximate composition and nutritional aspects of grain sorghum have been extensively reviewed by Hulse et al. (1980), and Subramanian and Jambunathan (1980). The grains are particularly rich in starch (56-75 % of the total dry matter) and soluble sugar, pentosans, cellulose, and hemicellulose are low. Sorghum endosperm contains 23-30 % amylose and 70-77 % amylopectin, but waxy varieties contain less than 5 % amylose (Leder 2004). The soluble sugars range from 0.7 to 4.2 % and the reducing sugars from 0.05 to 0.53 %. Crude protein content in sorghum grain ranges from 9 to 13 % of dry matter and is slightly higher than that of maize. Fat content is slightly lower in sorghum grain (2.1–7.6 %) than in maize. Crude fiber ranges from 1.0 to 3.4 % and ash from 1.3 to 3.3 %. Sorghum grain is devoid of xanthophyllin and 70 % of its phosphorus is bound in phytate (Sauvant et al. 2004).

A comparison of nutrients in various cereals is presented in Table 5. The protein quality of sorghum grain is poor because of the low content of essential amino acids such as lysine (1.06– 3.64 %), tryptophan, and threonine (Badi et al. 1990). Sorghum is poorly digested by infants (MacLean et al. 1981), but if it is supplemented with foods high in lysine, can be a satisfactory

	1961–1963	1971–1973	1981–1983	1991–1993	2001-2003	2011-2012
Africa	63.37	113.62	258.88	534.81	356.31	751.19
Western Africa	13.86	61.17	112.49	92.38	14.74	50.77
Burkina Faso		0.64	11.15	17.77	0.07	
Mauritania			13.68	5.86	1.30	
Niger	0.03	19.22	24.38	21.67	0.77	27.27
Senegal	13.83	41.31	36.00	17.61	0.01	4.95
Northern Africa	9.77		0.14	228.25	184.67	219.73
Egypt	9.77		0.01	37.03		30.46
Morocco			0.10	0.26	0.11	38.63
Sudan (former)				189.00	41.40	290.27
Central Africa		11.67	89.91	12.31	0.14	48.26
Chad		11.67	85.00	5.67		45.99
Eastern Africa	8.68	12.47	15.07	102.22	74.38	251.57
Eritrea				14.57	29.11	27.00
Ethiopia		0.94	4.05	51.55	14.31	39.64
Kenya				17.75	0.16	63.86
Mozambique	1.67			10.30	0.09	1.91
Rwanda			0.07	1.40	0.16	18.50
Somalia	1.00	3.94	7.42	20.58	14.42	28.35
Zimbabwe		5.67	0.00	17.13	7.21	13.71
Southern Africa	31.07	28.31	41.26	99.64	82.39	180.86
Botswana	22.33	15.67	23.54	10.16	40.97	84.07
South Africa	1.57	2.88	11.06	85.81	36.58	91.94
Asia	614.40	4687.00	4778.75	3655.20	1875.15	1714.95
Eastern Asia	431.96	3708.89	4160.04	3374.44	1781.40	1632.71
Republic of Korea	0.09	0.04	213.19	79.64	4.40	5.51
Taiwan		23.24	705.55	58.05	50.46	98.07
Japan	431.87	3685.61	3228.48	3229.15	1724.37	1485.80
China		23.24	718.36	61.18	52.62	141.40
Southern Asia	3.41	395.99	86.16	4.95	10.11	0.74
Iran	0.00	0.04	73.18		10.03	
India	3.28	395.95	11.07			
Southeastern Asia			54.42	3.02	6.08	21.38
Philippines				0.37	4.76	15.40
Singapore			34.01	0.46	0.05	0.01
Indonesia			15.80		0.30	4.59
Western Asia	179.03	582.13	478.13	272.79	77.55	60.11
Israel	175.97	576.12	369.96	170.33	71.48	43.81
Americas	84.17	480.73	3545.24	3988.78	4477.99	3348.74

Table 4 Major sorghum importers by region ('000 tonnes)^a

(continued)

	1961–1963	1971–1973	1981–1983	1991–1993	2001-2003	2011-2012
Northern America		0.18	0.60	2.08	5.76	19.34
United States		0.18	0.60	0.72	0.22	15.44
Central America	78.54	102.93	2884.38	3892.22	4377.79	2059.72
Mexico	75.95	92.34	2880.04	3890.75	4376.75	2053.25
Caribbean	0.22	0.29	0.04	2.34	1.91	0.07
South America	5.41	377.33	660.22	92.14	92.53	1269.61
Colombia			89.02	17.88	27.62	550.02
Ecuador			3.33	21.23		22.67
Venezuela	0.76	361.42	558.65	4.68	0.47	0.01
Chile		7.62	6.27	29.23	51.74	616.65
Peru	0.28	5.11	0.30	9.16	0.13	70.80
Europe	2255.42	1177.80	4230.75	551.64	557.26	505.85
France	13.69	3.04	2.41	1.42	1.43	41.97
Italy	0.60	20.37	4.57	93.82	98.92	47.49
Spain	0.76	313.75	732.82	298.53	324.82	235.39
United Kingdom	408.25	108.96	4.12	2.41	5.16	10.14
Netherlands	701.06	195.98	57.37	31.86	23.14	23.99
Belgium	514.15	263.46	171.14	92.33	44.39	48.69
Denmark	224.78	1.26	0.13	0.17	0.61	1.85
Norway	62.48	37.43	134.91	0.02	32.08	2.68
Portugal		78.08	189.47	1.76	11.60	14.30
Poland	163.57	21.80	0.00	12.29	1.33	7.69
Germany	136.66	57.64	11.39	8.58	8.96	65.11
Oceania			10.95	10.96	58.83	82.88
New Zealand			1.50	0.01	26.43	63.24
Papua New Guinea			9.44	5.67	32.14	19.00
World	3017.36	6459.15	12824.57	8741.38	7325.54	6403.61
World Import Value (million US\$)	162.00	504.37	1820.75	1088.72	945.86	1896.80

Table 4 (continued)

^aEach figure is a 3-year average for the respective period, for example, 1961–1963, except 2011–2012

weaning food (Badi et al. 1990). Sorghum proteins become less digestible after cooking (Actell et al. 1981; Eggum et al. 1983; Duodu et al. 2003) due to change in the structure of kafirin present in grain protein. Sorghum is a good source of minerals and B vitamins such as thiamin, riboflavin, vitamin B6, biotin, and niacin, but refining leads to losses of all B vitamins (Hegedus et al. 1985). The chief minerals present in sorghum grain are potassium and phosphorus, whereas calcium is low (Khalil et al. 1984). Sorghum is a rich source of various phytochemicals including phenolic compounds, anthocyanins, phytosterols, and policosanols that are secondary plant metabolites or integral cellular components (Awika and Rooney 2004). Phenolic compounds can be classified as phenolic acids, flavonoids, and condensed polymeric phenols (flavan-3-ols) known as tannins. Condensed tannins decrease the nutritional value of the sorghum grain because they bind to dietary proteins, digestive enzymes, minerals such as

Table 5 Comp ^a	rison of nutrie	ant compo	sition in 10	0-g edible portion:	s of variou	s cereals at 12 9	6 moisture				
Cereal	Protein*	Fat	Carb.	Crude Fiber	Ash	Energy	Calcium	Iron	Thiamin	Niacin	Riboflavin
	(g)	(g)	(g)	(g)	(g)	(kcal)	(mg)	(mg)	(mg)	(mg)	(mg)
Wheat	11.6	2.0	71.0	2.0	1.6	348	30	3.5	0.4	5.1	0.1
Rice (brown)	7.9	2.7	76.0	1.0	1.3	362	33	1.8	0.4	4.3	0.0
Maize	9.2	4.6	73.0	2.8	1.2	358	26	2.7	0.4	3.6	0.2
Sorghum	10.4	3.1	70.7	2.0	1.6	329	25	5.4	0.4	4.3	0.2
Pearl millet	11.8	4.8	67.0	2.3	2.2	363	42	11.0	0.4	2.8	0.2
Finger millet	T.T	1.5	72.6	3.6	2.6	336	350	3.9	0.4	1.1	0.2
Foxtail millet	11.2	4.0	63.2	6.7	3.3	351	31	2.8	0.6	3.2	0.1
Proso millet	12.5	3.5	63.8	5.2	3.1	354	~	2.9	0.4	4.5	0.3
Little millet	9.7	5.2	6.09	7.6	5.4	329	17	9.3	0.3	3.2	0.1
Barnyard millet	11.0	3.9	55.0	13.6	4.5	300	22	18.6	0.3	4.2	0.1
$*(N \times 6.25)$ Source Hulse et	al. (1980), Uni	ited States	National R	esearch Council/	Vational Ac	cademy of Scien	ces (1982), US	DA/HNIS (1	984)		

moisture
%
0
t 1
S
cereal
various
of
portions
edible
100-g
н.
composition
nutrient
of
Comparison (
ŝ

iron, and B vitamins including thiamin and vitamin B6 (Wang and Kies 1991) and hence are considered to be antinutritional. However, these phytochemicals have the potential to have a significant impact on human health through high antioxidant activity against different free radicals in vitro (Awika and Rooney 2004). Tannins also provide some resistance against bird damage.

8 Sorghum Utilization

Sorghum is used for two major purposes: human food and animal feed. In the early 1960s a significant portion of the sorghum output was used directly as human food. However, consumption of sorghum for food purposes has been declining since then, whereas consumption of sorghum as animal feed has more than doubled. The volume of total food use has remained unchanged or has slightly declined. In North and Central America, South America, and Oceania most of the sorghum produced is used for animal feed. Globally, the demand for sorghum as feed has been the main driving force in increasing production and international trade since the early 1960s (FAO 1995).

8.1 Food Use Across the World

Sorghum is one of the chief cereal grains consumed in many traditional foods in Asia and Africa (Rooney and Serna-Saldivar 2000). Globally, nearly 50 % of all sorghum produced is used as food. In many parts of the developing world especially in the drier and more marginal areas of the semi-arid tropics, it is a key staple. Though total food consumption of all cereals has risen considerably during the past 50 years worldwide, consumption of sorghum has remained stagnant or gradually falling. A shift in consumer preferences as a result of rapid urbanization and increase in economic status has resulted in a decline in per capita consumption in many countries. Furthermore, the drudgery associated with preparation of food products and unavailability of processed sorghum has added to the decline in per capita usage. Per capita food consumption of sorghum in rural areas remained stable and usually higher compared to urban regions (ICRISAT & FAO 1996). Within the rural areas consumption is higher in the poorest and most food-insecure section of society. However, the scenario is fast changing in many growing economies such as India and China because of enhanced purchasing power and changes in national policy. For example, in India between 1972–1973 and 2009–2010 per capita consumption of sorghum sharply declined from 8.5 to 2 kg in urban areas and 19.2 to 3.5 kg in rural areas (Nagaraj et al. 2013).

Sorghum is consumed in a number of forms depending on the part of the world concerned. Generally, whole grain is processed into flour, from which traditional meals are prepared. Main sorghum-based foods are: unleavened bread prepared from fermented or unfermented dough in Asia and parts of Africa; thin or thick fermented or unfermented porridge, mainly consumed in Africa; and boiled products similar to those prepared from rice or maize grits. In India, sorghum is utilized in the preparation of many traditional foods and in bakery products such as bread, cakes, and biscuits. The grain is mainly consumed in the form of unleavened flat bread or roti or bhakri prepared from the flour. In certain parts of India, especially in the South, sorghum is traditionally boiled after dehulling. A type of thick or thin porridge is also prepared and is known by different local names. Food preparations of sorghum in various parts of Africa include porridge, sweets, and savories known by different names as to, bogobe, ugali, ogi, injera, kisra, tortilla, and couscous. Porridge made out of either fermented or unfermented sorghum is consumed with vegetables or meat. Porridges can be thin or thick (Anglani 1998). Ogi, which is a fermented porridge, is the most important weaning food for babies. Sorghum grain is mixed into dough and baked as flat unleavened bread to produce tortillas. Couscous is a steamed agglomerated food made from the flour of decorticated cereals such as durum wheat, maize, sorghum, and pearl millet and is usually consumed with milk or buttermilk. It is a major food

staple in North Africa (Kaup and Walker 1986). In the Middle East countries, sorghum grain is used for the preparation of soups, porridges, cakes, and other bakery products. It is also used for the preparation of leavened bread in combination with other flours. In China, sorghum is the main ingredient for production of distilled beverages such as *Maotai* and *Erguotou*. In many countries, especially in Africa, sorghum is being used as a substitute for other grains in the production of gluten-free beer.

In the recent past, sorghum has been proensure the availability cessed to of sorghum-based food products throughout the year and across the country in a safe and convenient form. Several processed and value-added preparations, either ready-to-eat food or ready-to-cook, such as cookies, bars, cakes and pancakes, deep-fried food products, flakes, or healthy and convenient products such as multigrain flour, suji, and the like have been developed in India (Dayakar Rao et al. 2014). In recent years, contemporary food processing technologies such as extrusion cooking for ready-to-eat food and breakfast cereals, pasta, and vermicelli noodles have been made from sorghum (Malleshi 2015).

8.2 Feed Use

Sorghum and maize are major ingredients in pig, poultry, and cattle feeds in the western hemisphere (Bramel-Cox et al. 1995). The demand for sorghum for feed is concentrated in the developed countries, where animal feed accounts for about 97 % of total use, and in some higher-income developing countries, especially in Latin America where 80 % of all sorghum is utilized as animal feed (FAO 1995). The United States, Mexico, and Japan were the main consuming countries, followed by Argentina, the former USSR, and Venezuela, which together accounted for over 80 % of world use of sorghum as animal feed in the late 1980s (ICRISAT & FAO 1996). However, currently continent-wise the maximum sorghum is consumed in Africa (42.4 % of 62 million tons), next in Asia (19.0 %), and South America (11.2 %). However, countrywise, Mexico is the highest consumer of world sorghum (14.2 %) followed by Nigeria (11.9 %), India (11.2 %), Sudan (7.9 %), the United States (6.7 %), Ethiopia (5.8 %), and others (Table 6). In Mexico 97.7 % is consumed as feed, whereas in Nigeria, India, and Sudan sorghum is used substantially for food purposes. In the United States, 51.2 % sorghum is processed and 43.3 % is used as feed. Worldwide use of sorghum as feed and food remains at 43.1 and 40.4 %, respectively.

Sorghum has been increasingly used as feed over the years in many developed countries as well. For example, in China out of the total global production during 2008-2009, livestock and feed consumption accounted for 42.6 % whereas food consumption accounted for only 41 % (Rao et al. 2010). Sorghum is used primarily as poultry feed and can be fed as the main or only grain in poultry diets, and secondarily as cattle feed. Broilers can be fed up to 70 % low-tannin sorghum in combination with soybean meal, minerals, and vitamins. Low-tannin sorghum has a metabolizable energy comparable to or higher than that of maize (Sauvant et al. 2004), and can replace maize grain to a great extent (Subramanian and Metta 2000). In India, broiler production is expected to grow at 15-20 % per annum and layers at 10-15 % per annum, leading to a corresponding expansion in demand for feed (Parthasarathy Rao and Birthal 2008). In the United States, due to its similar nutritional value, sorghum grains are used primarily as a substitute for maize in livestock feed. Often feed sorghum hybrids containing a higher concentration of tannins and phenolic compounds call for the need for additional processing to allow the grain to be digested by cattle. As tannins are known to reduce growth rate, egg production, and protein utilization in poultry, increasing protein in the diet may alleviate the deleterious effects of tannins. In the case of pigs, feed efficiency may be reduced by 5-10%between high-tannin sorghum and low-tannin

Countries/Continents	Supply ('000 tonnes)				Consumption ('000 tonnes)			
	Production	Import	Export	Domestic supply	Feed	Food	Processing	Other
Mexico	6429	2380		8809	8604			205
Nigeria	6897	14		7411	1112	5179	163	957
India	7003		38	6965	70	6222	0	673
Sudan	4605	290	27	4868	500	3165	168	1035
United States	5447	1	3363	4162	1803	208	2133	18
Ethiopia	3951	53	22	3583		2249		1334
Argentina	4458		1848	2611	2504			108
China	2054	98	69	2082	1000	954		128
Australia	1935		76	1959	1913		41	5
Brazil	1931			1931	1881			50
Rest of world	13,151	1242	219	14,738	4381	7071	1719	1572
Africa	25,004	763	113	26,281	2994	16,768	1946	4573
Western Africa	11,343	31	5	12,360	1517	8382	876	1586
Southern Africa	215	66	1	330	55	139	116	20
Middle Africa	1842	49		1891	265	1254	104	268
Eastern Africa	6150	218	77	5909	100	3540	682	1586
Asia	10,292	1595	110	11,767	2991	7902	0	876
Europe	928	770	170	1517	1494	1		22
Northern America	5447	5	3363	4166	1807	208	2133	18
South America	7598	1206	1849	6955	6592			365
World	58,093	6772	5691	61,960	26,697	25,053	4120	6095

 Table 6
 Demand and supply of sorghum in different countries and continents as of 2011

Source http://faostat.fao.org/ accessed on July 02, 2016

sorghum (Cousins et al. 1981). In ruminants, the effects are less negative because condensed tannins are complexed and precipitated by ruminal microflora (Reed 1995).

Apart from grains, sorghum stover is an increasingly important feed in the livestock sector in India and some other parts of Asia for dairy animals. Sorghum fodder serves as an excellent cattle feed in the dry seasons when other fodder resources are not available. Although certain varieties are grown solely for grain purposes, there are some varieties that have been developed for forage production. Sorghum is preferred as a forage crop because of its quick growth, high yielding ability, high dry matter content, leafiness, wider adaptability, and drought tolerance. Some of the sorghums specifically grown for fodder purposes can regenerate after cutting the stalks for fodder (multicut fodder sorghum) and harvesting the grain, and hence have much higher biomass yield potential per unit area compared to many other forage crops. Sorghum is suitable for silage and hay making and thus supplements the nutritious supply in lean seasons. Sweet stalked sorghums are suitable for feeding to animals as forage, silage, and hay, apart from industrial uses.

8.3 Industrial Use

Alternative uses of sorghum involve utilization of the grain and sweet stalk in food and nonfood sectors for production of commercially valued products such as alcohol (potable and industrial grade), syrups (natural and high fructose), glucose (liquid and powder), modified starches, maltodextrins, jaggery, sorbitol, and citric acid (CFC & ICRISAT 2004). Industrial utilization of sorghum for starch and ethanol production is on the rise and the potable alcohol sector is the fastest growing sector in India (Kleih et al. 2000). Additionally, new processed and value-added food products for human consumption such as popped sorghum, porridge, rava, and the like are emerging, which need to be scaled up, and are likely to be significant avenues for diversifying industrial utilization of sorghum (Parthasarathy Rao et al. 2010). Other technologies such as production of glucose, maltodextrins, high fructose syrup, and cakes from sorghum are in the nascent stages. Presently, industrial use other than livestock feed accounts for about 10 % of world sorghum production (Rao et al. 2010).

Because of its high biomass production and adaptation across semi-arid tropical environments sorghum is widely believed to be a model biofuel feedstock. Sorghum biomass yield as high as 40 t/ha has been reported (Rooney et al. 2007). Sweet stalked sorghum has a long history of cultivation in Asia, Europe, and America. Because of the rapid increase in crude oil prices from the 1970s, sweet sorghum has been investigated as a potential source of fermentable sugars from the juice for ethanol (biofuel) production. The sweet sorghum with its juicy sweet stalk can be used as a bioenergy crop. Other sweet sorghum products such as syrup and *jaggery* have received attention in the production of sweets and ready-to-serve foods (Reddy et al. 2012). In the United States, sorghum syrup is used as an alternative to sweetener for the preparation of bakery items such as biscuits and cakes.

Industrial applications where inexpensive starch is needed to keep the cost of production low (e.g., in production of low-cost adhesives, binders for casting metals, etc.), whole or partially decorticated acid-modified sorghum flour is often used. Packaging materials can also be produced from sorghum (Rooney and Waniska 2000). Excellent quality wallboard and biodegradable packaging material can be

produced from sorghum stem fibers. In addition, it is also used as a source of pulp for the paper industry (Belayachi and Delmas 1997). Another potential use of the bagasse is as a fuel source for processing plants (Bennett and Annex 2009). In addition, processes for conversion of lignocellulosic material to ethanol are becoming more economically viable, making sweet sorghum bagasse a possible source of feedstock for such a process. Studies have demonstrated that a large portion of the insoluble carbohydrate (cellulose and hemicellulose) from sorghum can be readily converted to ethanol (Sipos et al. 2009). In India, the majority of the rainy season produce makes inroads for industrial use, mostly for feed and alcohol, because of poor quality of the grains owing to the problem of grain mold.

9 Production Constraints

The majority of smallholding farmers, especially in the semi-arid tropics, grow sorghum as a subsistence or semi-subsistence crop. Sorghum is rarely grown with any external inputs such as chemical fertilizers and plant protection measures. This leads to smaller returns to these marginal farmers as compared to other crops. As sorghum is grown on marginal land, the seed supply chain is largely poor in the majority of sorghum growing regions except India and China. This results in nonavailability of seeds of improved cultivars and repeated cultivation of less productive traditional cultivars or landraces. In some areas production is constrained by bird damage during the grain filling stage. To control this, bird scaring increases labor costs for farm operations. Another important factor throughout Asia and in urban areas of Africa is changing food habits and consumer preferences. With the rise in economic status of most rural traditional consumers in these regions, the preference for coarse cereals has fallen. Moreover, the difficulty in preparation of traditional food items from sorghum compared to fine cereals, as well as urbanization have influenced consumer preference for wheat or rice. Added to this, the government policies to support poor people by

distributing fine cereals at somewhat lower prices through public distribution systems like that in India have also led to the disappearance of sorghum from traditional households in the major consumption regions.

A variety of biotic and abiotic yield-limiting factors also affects the sorghum cultivation in many developing countries. Grain mold causes significant losses in both grain yield and quality, where the rainy season extends beyond the normal duration or the improved cultivars mature early resulting in increased susceptibility of developing grains. Grain mold is one of the principal reasons behind loss of area under rainy season sorghum in India. Other important diseases include downy mildew, anthracnose, leaf blight, ergot, and charcoal rot. Among the insect pests, shoot-fly causes substantial losses in late and off-season crops in many growing countries in Asia and Africa. Stem borers are endemic in all sorghum growing areas. Head bugs, shoot-bugs, midges, mites, and sugarcane aphids limit the crop yield in varying intensity depending on the location, season, and other prevailing climatic and edaphic factors. Another major constraint to sorghum production in many of the African countries is Striga, an obligate, root-parasitic flowering plant that draws its moisture and nutrients from sorghum roots, inhibiting plant growth and reducing yield. Important species occurring in Africa include Striga hermonthica, S. asiatica, S. aspera, and S. forbesii, and S. asiatica used to be a major constraint limiting yield in Asia (Reddy et al. 2012).

In many of the semi-arid tropical regions where sorghum is grown as rainfed crop, varying and irregular rainfall leads to large fluctuations in production. This becomes more relevant under a changing climate (Reynolds et al. 2016). In good years, farm prices are lower and in the absence of adequate storage facilities the farmers are forced to sell the produce at less remunerative prices. In many developing countries except India and China, the grain market is also not well established. Lack of substantial economic return discourages sorghum growers from investing in commercial sorghum production and slowly they divert to more remunerative options. Furthermore, inadequate policy support from the government such as subsidies that favor fine cereals and procurement prices also hinder adoption of sorghum farming in Asia and Africa.

10 Conclusion

The ironical situation with sorghum is that yields have increased over time in most of the growing countries. However, considerable area has been lost to other competitive crops, and this is particularly the case in Asia and the United States. In African countries with traditional reliance on sorghum, although area has increased significantly with expansion of sorghum cultivation to more area to meet the demand from increased population, average yield levels in some areas have gone down. More area is expected to be sown to sorghum in these countries to meet food demand in the future as well. Other countries including Australia, Mexico, and Brazil are also likely to grow sorghum on additional land to meet their feed demand. The international trade is expected to grow with the United States, Japan, Mexico, China, Chile, Spain, and others resorting to large-scale imports to meet the growing feed demand. Needless to say, the strengthening of the sorghum economy is connected to its contribution towards food security in Africa and other regions. Under a changing climate with predicted water stress, sorghum and other millet crops assume renewed importance. Moreover, being C4 plants they hold wider promise in mitigating elevated carbon dioxide levels. Productivity has improved, but more needs to be done, particularly in Africa. Sorghum production needs to be linked to industries to add higher returns to the sorghum farmers. With favorable policy support and accompanying breeding effort, this crop is likely to regain its lost area. There is an urgent need to shift the focus from the big cereals to this marginalized crop to ensure food and nutrition security in a sustainable manner.

References

- Actell JD, Kirleis AW, Hassen MM, D'Croz Mason N, Mertz ET, Munch L (1981) Digestibility of sorghum proteins. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 78:1333–1335
- Anglani C (1998) Sorghum for human food A review. Plant Foods Hum Nutr 52:85–95
- Awika JM, Rooney LW (2004) Sorghum phytochemicals and their potential impact on human health. Phytochemistry 65:1199–1221
- Badi S, Pedersen B, Monowar L, Eggum BO (1990) The nutritive value of new and traditional sorghum and millet foods from Sudan. Plant Foods Hum Nutr 40:5– 19
- Belayachi L, Delmas M (1997) Sweet sorghum bagasse: a raw material for the production of chemical paper pulp. Effect of depithing. Industrial Crop Prod 6:229–232
- Bennett AS, Annex RP (2009) Production, transport and milling costs of sweet sorghum as a feedstock for centralized bioethanol production in the upper Midwest. Bio-resour Technol 100:1595–1607
- Bramel-Cox PJ, Kumar KA, Hancock JD, Andrews DJ (1995) Sorghum and millets for forage and feed. In: Dendy DAV (ed) Sorghum and millets: chemistry and technology. American Association of Cereal Chemists, St. Paul, MN, USA, pp 325–364
- CFC & ICRISAT (2004) Alternative uses of sorghum and pearl millet in Asia. In: Proceedings of the Expert Meeting, ICRISAT, Patancheru, Andhra Pradesh, India, 1-4 July 2003. CFC Technical Paper No. 34, Common Fund for Commodities, P.O. Box 74656, 1070 BR Amsterdam, The Netherlands; and International Crops Research Institute for the Semi-Arid Tropics, Patancheru, India, 364 pp. ISBN 92-9066-471-1
- Chapke RR, Rakshit S, Mishra JS, Patil JV (2011) Factors associated with sorghum cultivation under rice fallows. Indian Res J Extn Edn 11(3):67–71
- Cousins BW, Tanksley TD Jr, Knabe DA, Zebrowska T (1981) Nutrient digestibility and performance of pigs fed sorghum varying in tannin concentration. J Anim Sci 53:1524–1537
- Damania AB (2002) The Hindustan centre of origin of important plants. Asian Agri-History 6(4):333–341
- Doggett H (1965) The development of the cultivated sorghums. In: Hutchinson JB (ed) Essays on crop plant evolution. Cambridge University Press, Cambridge, UK, pp 50–69
- Doggett H (1970) Sorghum (Tropical Agriculture Series). Longman Scientific & Technical, London, UK 403 pp
- Duodu K, Taylor JR, Belton P, Hamaker B (2003) Factors affecting sorghum protein digestibility. J Cereal Sci 38:117–131
- Dykes L, Rooney LW (2006) Sorghum and millet phenols and antioxidants. J Cereal Sci 44:236–251
- Eggum BO, Monowar L, Bach Knudsen KE, Munch L, Axtell JD (1983) Nutritional quality of sorghum and sorghum foods from Sudan. J Cereal Sci 1:127–137

- FAO (1995) Sorghum and millets in human nutrition. FAO Food and Nutrition Series, No. 27, ISBN 92-5-103381-1. http://www.fao.org/docrep/t0818e/ t0818e00.htm
- FAO (2015) Statistical database, Food and Agriculture Organization of the United Nations, Rome, Italy. http://faostat3.fao.org/home/E. Accessed 1 Feb 2015
- Gao S, Wang Y, Li G (2010) Sorghum breeding and production in China. In: He Z, Alain Bonjean PA (eds) Cereals in China, D.F. CIMMYT, Cereals in China, pp 97–107
- Hegedus M, Pedersen B, Eggum BO (1985) The influence of milling on the nutritive value of flour from cereal grains, 7: vitamins and tryptophan. Plant Foods Hum Nutr 35:175–180
- House LR (1985) A guide to sorghum breeding, 2nd edn. ICRISAT, Patancheru, India 206 pp
- Hulse JH, Liang EM, Pearson OE (1980) Sorghum and the millets: their composition and nutritive value. Academic Press, New York, USA 1997 pp
- ICRISAT & FAO (1996) The world sorghum and millet economies. Facts, trends and outlook. International Crops Research Institute for The Semi-Arid Tropics, Patancheru, India and Food and Agriculture Organization, Rome, Italy, 68 pp, ISBN 92-5-103861-9
- Kaup SM, Walker CE (1986) Couscous in North Africa. Cereal Food World 31:179–182
- Khalil JK, Sawaya WN, Safi WJ, AlMohammad HM (1984) Chemical composition and nutritional quality of sorghum flour and bread. Plant Foods Hum Nutr 34:141–150
- Kleih U, Bala Ravi S, Dayakar Rao B, Yoganand B (2000) Industrial utilization of sorghum in India. Working Paper Series no. 4. International Crops Research Institute for the Semi-Arid Tropics, Patancheru, India, 44 pp
- Kumar AA, Reddy BVS, Sharma HC, Hash TC, Rao PS, Ramaiah B, Reddy PS (2011) Recent advances in sorghum genetic enhancement research at ICRISAT. Am J Plant Sci 2:589–600
- Leder I (2004) Sorghum and millets. In: Fuleky G (ed) Cultivated plants, primarily as food sources, Encyclopedia of life support systems (EOLSS). Eolss Publishers, Oxford, UK, 18 pp
- MacLean WC, Lopez de Romana G, Placko RP, Graham GG (1981) Protein quality and digestibility of sorghum in preschool children: balances studies and plasma free amino acids. J Nutr 111:1928–1936
- Malleshi NG (2015) Post-harvest processing technologies for enhanced food and allied uses for millets in India. In: Vilas A Tonapi, B Dayakar Rao and JV Patil (eds) Millets-promotion for food, feed, fodder, nutritional and environmental security. Society for Millets Research, IIMR, Hyderabad, India, ISBN 81-89335-52-9, pp 111-119
- Mann JA, Kimber CT, Miller FR (1983) The origin and early cultivation of sorghums in Africa. Texus Agric Exp Sta Bull 1454
- Martin JH (1970) History and Classification of Sorghum. In: Wall JS, Ross WR (eds) Sorghum production and
utilization, major feed and food crops in agriculture and food series. Avi Publishing Co., Westport, CT, USA, pp 1–27

- Maunder AB (1999) History of cultivar development in the United States: From 'Memoirs of A. B. Maunder —Sorghum Breeder'. In: Smith CW, Frederiksen RA (eds) Sorghum: origin, history, technology and production. Wiley, New York, USA, pp 191–223
- Nagaraj N, Basavaraj G, Parthasarathy Rao P, Bantilan C, Haldar S (2013) Sorghum and pearl millet economy of India—future outlook and options. Econom Political Weekly XLVIII(52):74–81
- Parthasarathy Rao P, Basavaraj G, Ahmad W, Bhagavatula S (2010) An analysis of availability and utilization of sorghum grain in India. J SAT Agric Res 8. (ejournal.icrisat.org)
- Parthasarathy Rao P, Birthal PS (2008) Livestock in mixed farming systems in South Asia. International Crops Research Institute for the Semi-Arid Tropics, Patancheru, India; National Centre for Agricultural Economics and Policy Research, New Delhi, India, p 156
- Patil JV, Rakshit S, Khot KB (2013) Genetics of post-flowering drought tolerance traits in post-rainy sorghum [Sorghum bicolor (L.) Moench]. Indian J Genet 73:44–50
- Rakshit S, Gomashe SS, Ganapathy KN, Elangovan M, Ratnavathi CV, Seetharama N, Patil JV (2012) Morphological and molecular diversity reveal wide variability among sorghum *Maldandi* landraces from south India. J Plant Biochem Biotechnol 21(2):145– 156
- Rakshit S, Hariprasanna K, Gomashe S, Ganapathy KN, Das IK, Ramana OV, Dhandapani A, Patil JV (2014) Changes in area, yield gains, and yield stability of sorghum in major sorghum-producing countries, 1970 to 2009. Crop Sci 54:1571–1584
- Rao BD, Patil JV, Nirmal Reddy K, Soni VK, Srivastava G (2014) Sorghum, an emerging cash crop. Cambridge University Press India Pvt. Ltd, New Delhi, India, 159 pp, ISBN 978-93-82993-52-0
- Rao BD, Seetharama N, Suresh A, Sreekanth M, Nirmal Reddy K, Rao SV (2010) Dynamics of value, and trade channels of sorghum in India. Directorate of Sorghum Research, Rajendranagar, Hyderabad, India, 65 pp. ISBN 8933-30-85
- Reddy BVS, Ashok Kumar A, Sharma HC, Srinivasa Rao P, Blümmel M, Ravinder Reddy Ch, Sharma R, Deshpande S, DattaMazumdar S and Dinakaran E (2012) Sorghum improvement (1980–2010): status and way forward. J SAT Agric Res 10. (ejournal. icrisat.org)
- Reddy BVS, Sharma HC, Thakur RP, Ramesh S, Rattunde F, Mgonja M (2006) Sorghum hybrid parents research at ICRISAT—strategies, status and Impacts. J SAT Agric Res 2(1). (ejournal.icrisat.org)
- Reed JD (1995) Nutritional toxicology of tannins and related polyphenols in forage legumes. J Anim Sci 73:1516–1528

- Reynolds MP, Quilligan E, Aggarwal PK, Bansal KC, Cavalieri AJ, Chapman SC, Chapotin SM, Datta SK, Duveiller E, Gill KS, Jagadish KSV, Joshi AK, Koehler A-K, Kosina P, Krishnan S, Lafitte R, Mahala RS, Muthurajan R, Paterson AH, Prasanna BM, Rakshit S, Rosegrant MW, Sharma I, Singh RP, Sivasankar S, Vadex V, Valluru R, Vara Prasad PV, Yadav OP (2016) An integrated approach to maintaining cereal roductivity under climate change. Global Food Security 8:9–18
- Rooney LW (2003) Overview: sorghum and millet food research failures and successes. In: Belton PS, Taylor JRN (eds) Proceedings of the AFRIPRO workshop on the proteins of sorghum and millets: enhancing nutritional and functional properties for Africa. April 2-4, 2003m Pretoria, South Africa. http://www.afripro. org.uk/papers/Paper09Rooney.pdf
- Rooney LW, Serna-Saldivar SO (2000) Sorghum. In: Kulp K, Ponte J (eds) Handbook of cereal science and technology, 2nd edn. Marcel Dekker, New York, USA, pp 149–176
- Rooney LW, Waniska RD (2000) Sorghum food and industrial utilization. In: Smith CW, Frederiksen RA (eds) Sorghum: origin, history, technology and production. Wiley, New York, USA, pp 689–729
- Rooney WL, Blumenthal J, Bean B, Mullet JE (2007) Designing sorghum as a dedicated bioenergy feedstock. Biofuels Bioprod Biorefin 1:147–157
- Sauvant D, Perez JM, Tran G (2004) Tables INRA-AFZ de composition et de valeur nutritive des matières premières destinées aux animaux d'élevage: 2ème édition. INRA Editions Versailles, ISBN 2738011586, 306 pp
- Serna-Saldivar S, Rooney LW (1995) Structure and chemistry of sorghum and millets. In: Dendy DAV (ed) Sorghum and millets: chemistry and technology. American Association of Cereal Chemists, St. Paul, MN, USA, pp 69–124
- Sipos B, Reczey J, Somorai Z, Kadar Z, Dienes D, Reczey K (2009) Sweet sorghum as feedstock for ethanol production: enzymatic hydrolysis of steam-pretreated bagasse. Appl Biochem Biotechnol 153:151–162
- Smith CW, Frederiksen RA (eds) (2000) Sorghum: origin, history, technology and production. Wiley, New York, USA 824 pp
- Subramaniam V, Jambunathan R (1980) Traditional methods of processing sorghum (Sorghum bicolour) and Pearl millet (Pennisetum americanum) grains in India. Rep Int Assoc Cereal Chem 10:115–188
- Subramanian V, Metta VC (2000) Sorghum grain for poultry feed. Technical and institutional options for sorghum grain mold management: proceedings of an International Consultation, 18-19 May 2000, ICRISAT, Patancheru, India. http://www.icrisat.org/text/research/grep/ homepage/sgmm/sgmm.htm
- United States National Research Council/National Academy of Sciences (1982) United States Canadian Tables of Food Composition. National Academy Press, 3rd rev. Washington DC, USA

- USDA/HNIS (1984) Composition of foods: cereal grains and pasta. United States Department of Agriculture/ Human Nutrition Information Service, Agriculture Handbook 8-20. Washington DC, USA
- Vavilov NI (1992) Origin and geography of cultivated plants. Dorofeyev VF (ed). Cambridge University Press, Cambridge, UK, 498 pp
- Wang RS, Kies C (1991) Niacin status of humans as affected by eating decorticated and whole-ground sorghum (*Sorghum Gramineae*) grain, ready-to-eat breakfast cereals. Plant Foods Hum Nutr 41:355–369

Botany, Taxonomy and Breeding

Are Ashok Kumar

Abstract

Sorghum is one of the most important cereal crops grown in the semi-arid tropics (SAT) of Asia, Africa, and the Americas for its food, feed, fodder, and fuel value. Sorghum production is constrained by several biotic and abiotic stresses. Genetic enhancement of sorghum for grain and stover yield, nutritional quality, and plant defense traits (abiotic and biotic) that stabilize the crop performance requires thorough knowledge of crop botany, diversity, and genetics so as to deploy appropriate crop-breeding strategies. Sorghum is one of the well-understood species in terms of botany, floral biology, and genetic diversity. Both cultivated and wild forms are available in sorghum, which are well distributed in Africa, its center of origin, and in the rest of the world. This chapter describes the botany, floral biology, and classification of sorghum and their implications to the breeding methods to be used. Also this chapter presents how the understanding of botany and taxonomy can be effectively used for improving sorghum yield and nutritional quality traits.

1 Introduction

Sorghum [Sorghum bicolor (L.) Moench] is a self-pollinating, diploid (2n = 2x = 20) species belonging to the Poaceae family with a genome size of 730 Mb, about 25 % the size of maize. It is a C₄ plant with higher photosynthetic efficiency and higher abiotic stress tolerance (Nagy et al.

Research Program—Asia, International Crops Research Institute for the Semi-Arid Tropics (ICRISAT), Patancheru 502324, Telangana, India e-mail: a.ashokkumar@cgiar.org 1995; Reddy et al. 2009) adapted to a range of environments around the world. Its small genome makes sorghum an attractive model for studying the functional genomics of C_4 grasses. Drought tolerance makes sorghum especially important in dry regions such as northeast Africa (its center of diversity), India, and the southern plains of the United States (Paterson et al. 1995, 2009). Genetic variation for micronutrient concentration and its ability to absorb, translocate, and accumulate higher micronutrients in grain makes it an important model for biofortification research (Ashok Kumar et al. 2012). Its high level of inbreeding makes it an attractive association genetics system.

S. Rakshit and Y.-H. Wang (eds.), *The Sorghum Genome*, Compendium of Plant Genomes, DOI 10.1007/978-3-319-47789-3_2

A.A. Kumar (🖂)

[©] Springer International Publishing AG 2016

Sorghum is among the climate-resilient crops that can better adapt to climate changes (Reddy et al. 2011). This chapter deals with the botany, floral biology, and taxonomy of sorghum and their implications for sorghum improvement methods and their utilization in improving sorghum yield and nutritional quality.

Sorghum is among the top 10 crops that feed the world. It is the dietary staple of more than 500 million people in over 30 countries, primarily in the developing world. It is grown on \sim 40 m ha in more than 90 countries in Africa, Asia, Oceania, and the Americas. The top 10 sorghum producers globally are the United States, India, Mexico, Nigeria, Sudan, Ethiopia, Australia, Brazil, China, and Burkina Faso (Rakshit et al. 2014). Sorghum accounts for 6 % of the global coarse cereals production in the world and is particularly well suited to hot and dry agroecologies in the world. Global sorghum productivity is low (1.4 t ha⁻¹) with wide variation in different parts of the world (Reddy et al. 2011). Although productivity is high in the Americas, China, and Australia, it is low in India, Nigeria, and Sudan.

Broadly, the world sorghum economy consists of two distinct production systems: a traditional, subsistence, smallholder farming production system where most of the production is consumed directly as food (mainly in Africa and Asia) with limited or no marketable surplus, and a modern, mechanized, high-input, large-scale sector where output is used largely as animal feed (mainly in the developed countries and in Latin America). The future of the sorghum economy is linked with its contribution to food security in Africa, income growth and poverty alleviation in Asia, and the efficient use of water in drought-prone regions in much of the developed world.

Sorghum is one of the cheapest sources of energy and micronutrients, and a vast majority of the population in sub-Saharan Africa and India depend on it for their dietary energy and micronutrient requirement. Sorghum provides more than 50 % of the dietary micronutrients, particularly Fe and Zn, to the low-income group, particularly in rural India where both physical and economic access to nutrient-rich foods is limited (Kumar et al. 2011). Thus, sorghum is a unique crop with multiple uses as food, feed, fodder, fuel, and fiber. Different utilizations of sorghum have been detailed in Chap. 1. Sorghum is generally grown in the rainy season (spring) but in India and in some parts of Africa it is grown in both rainy and post-rainy seasons (Reddy et al. 2009). In some parts of the world sorghum is grown in the summer season particularly for forage production.

2 Taxonomy and Classification

Sorghum exhibits various morphophysiological forms and large variation for floral morphology resulting in classification to various basic and intermediate races. Taxonomically it was first described by Linnaeus in 1753 under the name Holcus. Originally he delineated several species of Holcus, some of which have been later moved to the tribe Avenae, where the generic name Holcus now belongs. In 1794, Moench distinguished the genus Sorghum from genus Holcus (Celarier et al. 1959; Clayton et al. 1961). Subsequently, several authors have discussed the systematics, origin, and evolution of sorghum since Linnaeus (de Wet and Huckabay 1967; de Wet and Harlan 1971; Dahlberg 2000). Sorghum is classified under the family Poaceae, tribe Andropogoneae, subtribe Sorghinae, genus Sorghum Moench (Clayton and Renvoize 1986). Some authors further divided the genus into five subgenera: sorghum, chaetosorghum, heterosorghum, parasorghum, and stiposorghum (Garber 1950; Celarier 1959). Variation within these five subgenera except the subgenera sorghum has been described (Celarier 1959). Sorghum bicolor subspp. bicolor contains all of the cultivated sorghums. Doggett (1988) described them as annual plants, with stout culms up to 5 m tall, often branched, and frequently tillering.

Harlan and de Wet (1972) developed a simplified classification of cultivated sorghum that proved to be of real practical utility for sorghum researchers. They classified *Sorghum bicolor* (L.) Moench, subspp. *bicolor* into five basic and ten hybrid races as depicted below.

Basic races	Intermediate/hybrid races
 Race bicolor (B) Race guinea (G) Race caudatum (C) Race kafir (K) Race durra(D) 	 6. Race guinea-bicolor (GB) 7. Race caudatum-bicolor (CB) 8. Race kafir-bicolor (KB) 9. Race durra-bicolor (DB) 10. Race guinea-caudatum (GC) 11. Race guinea-kafir (GK) 12. Race guinea-durra (GD) 13. Race kafir-caudatum (KC) 14. Race durra-caudatum (DC) 15. Race kafir-durra (KD)

The descriptors for five basic races (Fig. 1) in sorghum are as given below.

- 1. **Bicolor**: Grain elongate, sometimes slightly obovate, nearly symmetrical dorsoventrally, glumes clasping the grain, which may be completely covered or exposed as much as one-fourth of its length at the tip, spikelets persistent.
- Guinea: Grain flattened dorsoventrally, sublenticular in outline, twisting at maturity nearly 90° between gaping involute glumes that are nearly as long as to longer than the grain. They are easily distinguishable by the presence of open glumes.
- 3. **Caudatum**: Grain markedly symmetrical, the side next to the lower glume flat or in extreme cases somewhat concave, the opposite side rounded and bulging, the persistent style often at the tip of a beak pointing towards the lower glume, glumes half the length of the grain or less.
- 4. **Kafir**: Grain approximately symmetrical, more or less spherical, glumes clasping and variable in length.
- 5. **Durra**: Grain rounded obovate, wedge-shaped at the base and broadest slightly above the middle; glumes very wide, the tip of a different texture from the base and often with a transverse crease across the middle.

All 15 races of cultivated sorghum can be identified by mature spikelets alone, although head type is sometimes helpful. This classification is clear and simple and practically all of the variation in cultivated sorghum can be accounted for by the five basic races and their intermediate combinations. The intermediate races involving guinea, for example, have glumes that open partially and seeds that twist noticeably, but not as much as in pure guinea. Intermediate races involving caudatum have asymmetrical seeds, but the character is not as fully expressed as in pure caudatum. Other intermediate combinations can be recognized in a similar manner. The method is so sensitive that even three-way and possibly four-way combinations can also be recognized, but these are usually products of modern plant breeding and not part of the variation of indigenous varieties. If they occur in significant numbers, they could be best treated as subraces of the main races.

In sorghum the degree of expression of these characteristics and their combinations determine the race, for the most part without equivocation. Identification can be made easily in the field or in the laboratory from head or even spikelet specimens. In addition to the basic and intermediate races described above, some of the commercial grain sorghum types are utilized in sorghum improvement programs, the characteristics of which are given in Table 1. They denote only commercial grain sorghum types and cut across intermediate/basic races. The Biodiversity International (formerly International Plant Genetic Resources Institute, IPGRI) Advisory Committee on Sorghum and Millets Germplasm has accepted this (de Wet and Harlan 1972) classification, and recommended this to describe sorghum (IBPGR/ICRISAT 1980). germplasm The amount of genetic variability available in sorghum is immense. Much of the genetic variability is available in areas of origin of the crop (Africa) and regions of early introduction (Asia). In Africa, genetic variability is available in both cultivated species and wild progenitors of the crop (Gebrekidan 1981). De Wet and Harlan (1972) reported on the distribution of both wild relatives and the major cultivated races of the



Fig. 1 Panicles and spikelets of the five basic races in sorhgum: (1) bicolor; (2) caudatum; (3) durra; (4) guinea; and (5) kafir. *Source* PROSEA

crop in Africa. However, this natural genetic diversity is subjected to a range of threats from natural selection and destruction of habitats and often merely expedient agricultural practices of mankind. Landraces and wild relatives of cultivated sorghum from the centers of diversity have been rich sources of resistance to new pathogens, insect pests, and other stresses such as high temperature and drought, as well as sources of traits to improve food and fodder quality, animal feed, and industrial products. Preventing the vulnerability of landraces and wild relatives of cultivated sorghum from extinction, following the release of varieties and hybrids, collection and conservation of sorghum germplasm was accelerated about four decades ago. Since then, germplasm collection and conservation have become integral components of several crop improvement programs at both national and international levels (Rosenow and Dalhberg 2000). The gene bank at ICRISAT holds \sim 38,000 global collections of sorghum germplasm which represent 80 % of the genetic variability in sorghum. All this germplasm is

Grain sorghum type	Brief morphological description	Geographical location
Durra	Hairy rachis, flattened kernels, and dry stalks	Mediterranean, Near East, Middle East
Shallu	Partly pubescent involute glumes, cone-shaped lax panicles, corneous kernels, dry and nonsweet stalks	India, tropical Africa
Guineense	Involute and nearly glabrous glumes and compact panicles	Central and Western Africa
Kafir	Awnless, compact cylindrical panicles and juicy nonsweet stalks	South Africa
Kaoliang	Stiff stalks, thick hard rind, stiff spreading and few panicle branches, and dry and nonsweet stalks	Eastern Asia
Milo	Yellow midrib, transverse wrinkle of the glumes, compact, awned panicles, large round kernels	East Africa
Feterita	Large kernels, brown testa, and dry and nonsweet stalks	Sudan
Hegari	Rounded kernels, brown testa midcompact ellipsoid and branched panicles, and white kernels with a bluish-white appearance	Sudan

 Table 1
 Characteristics of commercial grain sorghum types used in sorghum improvement programs

well characterized and conserved using short-term and long-term conservation practices. To make the germplasm accessions more useful for crop improvement research, core collections representing ~ 10 % of the total collections were developed by Dahlberg et al. (2004) and mini-core collections, representing ~ 1 % of the total collections, were developed by Upadhyaya et al. (2009) in sorghum. Details on the genetic resources of sorghum have been elaborated in Chap. 4.

3 Floral Biology, Reproduction, and Implications for Crop Improvement

Sorghum is an annual/perennial grass adapted to a range of climates spread between 40°S and 40° N latitudes and therefore is widely distributed across various continents. The adaptation features are slightly different for tropical and temperate environments (Vanderlip and Reeves 1972; Rao et al. 2004). The photoperiod insensitivity and dwarfism predominate the temperate adaptation to facilitate mechanized harvesting whereas sorghums grown in the tropics are mostly tall and photoperiod sensitive barring the improved hybrids (Thurber et al. 2013). Sorghum has a well-developed root system and in addition to its subterranean root system, sorghum forms strong aerial roots permeating through the soil and ensuring better stability. The stem is strong, hard, smooth, and divided by nodes and grows up to 1-1.8 m, but sweet sorghums and high biomass sorghums are taller (2.5-4 m). Sorghum leaves are 7 and 28 in number arranged alternating to opposite sides with parallel venation. The leaves are 50-100 mm wide and 0.5-0.8 m long depending upon the genotype. Leaves and stems are often covered with a wax layer which is an adaptation mechanism to tolerate drought and insect attacks. The panicle varies from loose to compact; in some varieties the panicle remains surrounded by sheath, although this is not desirable from an economic yield point of view. In some genotypes the peduncle is recurred resulting in a pendant head referred to as "goose neck". The sorghum panicle consists of spikelets in pairs, sessile and pedicillate types; the sessile is hermaphrodite and fertile and the other pedicillate contains only anthers (Aruna and Audilakshmi 2008). The grain is caryopsis; the endosperm is starchy; the embryo consists of plumule, coleoptiles, and radical coleorhizae referred to as scutellum.

Sorghum is a short-day plant, and blooming is hastened by short days and long nights. Delayed flowering can be typically observed when winter-season adapted cultivars are grown in the spring season. However, varieties differ in their photoperiod sensitivity (Quinby and Karper 1947) and it has implications in sorghum improvement. In traditional varieties, the reproductive stage is initiated when day lengths return to 12 h. Sorghum follows a predictable pattern of growth from planting through physiological maturity. The duration between growth stages is closely dependent upon the air temperatures and relative maturity of the cultivar. The number of days required for a cultivar to reach maturity depends primarily on location, date of planting, and climatic temperature. For a given cultivar, days to 50 % flowering may vary depending on growing conditions, because daily minimum and maximum temperatures vary from year to year and between locations. The use of cumulative growing degree unit (GDU) gives a better idea from planting to successful growth stages until maturity in sorghum. The GDU (°C) for sorghum cultivars was 1467 short-season whereas for long-season cultivars it may go up to 1849 °C (https://www.uaex.edu/publications/ pdf/mp297/MP297.pdf verified on June 20th, 2016). Usually, the floral initial (primary branch primordial differentiation on the floral apex) is 15-30 cm above the ground when the plants are about 50-75 cm tall (House 1980). Floral initiation marks the end of the vegetative phase. The time required for transformation from the vegetative primordial to reproductive primordial is largely influenced by the genotype and the environment. The grand growth period in sorghum follows the formation of a floral bud and consists largely of cell enlargement. In general, sorghum hybrids take less time to reach panicle initiation, more days to expand the panicle, and a longer grain-filling period than their corresponding parents (Maiti 1996). This enabled exploitation of heterosis through hybrids' development and their commercialization.

3.1 Mode of Reproduction and Artificial Hybridization

Sorghum is a self-pollinated crop with the natural cross-pollination from 0.6 to 15 % depending on the genotype, panicle type, and wind direction and velocity (House 1980). The inflorescence is a raceme, consisting of one to several spikelets. The spikelets usually occur in pairs, one being sessile and the second borne on a short pedicel, except the terminal sessile spikelet, which is accompanied by two pedicelled spikelets. The sessile spikelet contains a perfect flower whereas the pedicillate spikelet possesses only anthers but occasionally has a rudimentary ovary and empty glumes.

In sorghum anthesis starts with the exsertion of the complete panicle from the boot leaf. Flowers begin to open two days after complete emergence of the panicle. The sorghum head begins to flower at its tip and anthesis proceeds successively downward. Anthesis takes place first in the sessile spikelets. It takes about 6 days for completion of anthesis in the panicle with maximum flowering at 3 or 4 days after anthesis begins. Anthesis takes place during the morning hours, and frequently occurs just before or just after sunrise, but may be delayed on cloudy damp mornings. Maximum flowering is observed between 06:00 and 09:00 h. Because all heads in a field do not flower at the same time, pollen is usually available for a period of 10-15 days. At the time of flowering (anthesis), the glumes open and all three anthers fall free, while the two stigmas protrude, each on a stiff style. The anthers dehisce when they are dry and pollen is blown into the air. Pollen in the anthers remains viable several hours after shedding. Flowers remain open for 30-90 min. Dehiscence of the anthers for pollen diffusion takes place through the apical pore. The pollen drifts to the stigma, where it germinates; the pollen tube, with two nuclei, grows down the style, to fertilize the egg and form a 2n nucleus (Aruna and Audilakshmi 2008). Stigmas get exposed before the anthers dehisce subjecting them to cross-pollination. Pollination for crossing purposes should start soon after normal pollen shedding is completed during the morning hours.

Sorghum is a breeder-friendly crop as it is amenable for crossing and selfing quite easily. For selfing, after panicle exsertion, bagging should be done by snipping off the flowered florets at the tip. Crossing is done by emasculation of selected panicles and dusting of pollen from identified plants. Hand emasculation is most commonly practiced in sorghum. Because of this ease in crossing, hybridization is most commonly followed in sorghum for trait improvement. For effective results in artificial hybridization the pollen is collected in pollen bags and thoroughly dusted on the emasculated or male-sterile panicles.

4 Sorghum Improvement Methods

The crop improvement methods depend on the pollination control mechanisms and cultivar options. As mentioned earlier, sorghum is a breeder-friendly crop. One can employ the breeding methods that can be used to improve both self- and cross-pollinated crops with ease in sorghum. This is the reason why one can find sorghum pure line varieties, hybrids, and populations as cultivar options in different parts of the world. However, sorghum hybrids are superior to pure lines and populations for yield and other important agronomic traits. The discovery of cytoplasmic-nuclear male sterility in sorghum helped to produce hybrid seeds on a mass scale using a three-line system (A, B, and R) for commercial cultivation of hybrids (Stephens and Holland 1954a, b).

4.1 Pure Line Selection

Pure line selection is the most common method of crop breeding particularly in self-pollinated crops. Pure line selection is practiced under two situations: (i) when there is a need to develop a variety from a landrace population, and (ii) while developing a variety from a segregating population. For example, in sorghum, for post-rainy season adaptation in India, the local landraces from the state of Maharashtra were collected and single plant selections were made for a couple of generations and the performance for grain and stover yields of the selected lines was compared. The line showing better performance than the check variety for yield traits across locations was released for commercial cultivation (Audilakshmi and Aruna 2008). In the case of segregating populations, the individual plants are heterozygous in the beginning as they are the products of crossing between two homozygotes and attain homozygosity in successive generations upon self-pollination. Individual plant selections have to be carried out for at least five to six generations to achieve the desired level of homozygosity of a pure line. A higher number of plants (3000–10,000) of segregating population are evaluated and selection is practiced to obtain the desired plants.

4.2 Mass Selection

Mass selection differs from pure line selection, wherein a number of desirable plants (instead of only one) are selected and compositing is done on the harvested seed to produce the next generation (Allard 1960). This method has a few drawbacks. It is not known whether the plants being grouped are homogeneous and some of them if heterogeneous would segregate further in following generations, and repeated selection would be required (Sharma 1988). Mass selection is generally practiced to purify a variety. A large number of single plants are selected from an impure variety population, each line progeny tested, and similar type progeny bulked to form the pure seed lot. The success of the method depends upon high heritability, that is, the presence of additive gene action and minimal influence of genotype \times environment interaction on the expression of the selected trait. Mass selection is relatively less used in sorghum except for the improvement of plant height or grain size.

4.3 Hybridization-Based Methods

The term hybridization refers to the crossing of two genetically different individuals as it combines the traits of two varieties and provides an opportunity to select plants with desirable features of both parents through recombination in the segregating progeny. As the natural variability for most traits is limited or already exploited, there is a need to create new variability by making artificial hybrids to make any further dent in developing improved varieties through selection in the segregating populations. As most of the traits of interest in sorghum are quantitatively inherited, sorghum breeders generally use the pedigree method of selection in segregating populations. In the pedigree method, the records of the ancestry or pedigree of each progeny is maintained and it is easy to trace back the parentage and selection. With the pedigree system, the F₂ generation represents the first and the maximum opportunity for selection. Selection for superiority is based on the vigor and other agronomic features of progeny (families). In F₂, selection is limited to individuals. In F₃ and subsequent generations, until a reasonable level of genetic homozygosity is reached, selection is practiced both within and between families. Of the >700 sorghum female parents (A-/B-pairs) developed by ICRISAT for various traits of global importance (Table 2), more than 600 parents are used in crossing to develop them using the pedigree method (Reddy et al. 2007).

Bulk population breeding is an economic method of obtaining homozygous lines in self-fertilized crops. However, it is not widely used in sorghum. The backcross method is widely used in sorghum improvement particularly for disease resistance, transferring male sterility to the identified maintainer lines by test crossing. Similarly, it is the most sought-after method for transferring quantitative trait loci (QTLs) for shoot-fly resistance and stay-green traits (Kumar et al. 2011).

The choice of parents for hybridization programs is crucial for their success and requires careful and critical evaluation of potential parents for various attributes such as yielding ability, disease resistance, adaptation, quality of the produce, and morphological features relevant to crop management practices. Inasmuch as new strains are intended to have superior yield potential to the existing varieties, one of the parents used in the crossing program is invariably the adapted variety of the area. The other parent is primarily chosen for complementing the specific weakness of the variety, which needs to be replaced. The general combining ability of a parent is likely to be reflected adequately in the parental performance of the trait. In addition to selection of the parents on the yield performance and general and specific combining abilities in the partial diallel crosses or line \times tester crosses, it is desirable to analyze the potential parents for important traits such as panicle length, number of primary/secondary branches, grain per primary branch, and grain size (Audilakshmi and Aruna 2008).

Population improvement is another important method for sorghum improvement, which includes: (i) the development of broad genetic-based gene pools, and (ii) its improvement through recurrent selection methods. In sorghum a single gene in recessive homozygous condition confers male sterility and eight different genes reported in sorghum are involved in control of genetic male sterility. Using these genes, population improvement methods can be successfully deployed in sorghum which provides a long-term breeding strategy to derive and broad genetic-based superior diverse varieties/hybrid parents (Reddy et al. 2008). More than 50 sorghum hybrid parents (A-/ B-pairs) at ICRISAT were developed using population improvement methods.

Heterosis breeding is most important as hybrids are the cultivar options in sorghum wherever they are available. Although heterosis was demonstrated as early as 1927 in sorghum (Conner and Karper 1927), its commercial exploitation was possible only after the discovery of a stable and heritable cytoplasmic-nuclear male sterility (CMS) mechanism (Stephens and Holland 1954a, b). This CMS system has been designated as A1 (milo). Since then a large number of hybrids have been developed and

Table 2 Details of the sorghum trait specific	ICSA numbers	Traits	No. of lines
(milo) and non-milo hybrid	1–103	High yielding	77*
parents (A-/B-pairs)	88001-88026	"	15*
developed at ICRISAT– Patancheru using diverse	89001-89004	"	4
sorghum basic and	90001–90004	"	4
intermediate races	91001–91010	"	10
	94001–94012	"	12
	201-259	Downy mildew resistant	59
	260–295	Anthracnose resistant	36
	296–328	Leaf blight resistant	33
	329-350	Rust resistant	22
	351-408	Grain mold resistant	58
	409–436	Shoot-fly resistant (rainy)	28
	437–463	Shoot-fly resistant (postrainy)	27
	464–474	Stem borer resistant (rainy)	11
	475–487	Stem borer resistant (postrainy)	13
	488–545	Midge resistant	58
	546–565	Head bug resistant	20
	566–599	Striga resistant	34
	600–614	Acid soil tolerant lines	15
	615–637	Early-maturity lines	23
	638–670	Durra (large grain) lines	33
	671–674	Tillering lines	4
	675–687	Stay-green lines	13
	688–738	Non-milo (A ₂) cytoplasmic lines	51
	739–755	Non-milo (A ₃) cytoplasmic lines	17
	756–767	Non-milo (A ₄) cytoplasmic lines	12
	24001–24005	High yielding	5
	25001-25005	High yielding	5
	28001-28006	High yielding	6
	29001-29006 and 29017	Shoot-fly resistant (rainy)	7
	29007–29016	Grain mold resistant	10
	11001–11040	High yielding	40
	13001–13030	High yielding	30
	14001–14035	Sweet sorghum	35
	14036–14039	Shoot-fly resistant (rainy)	4
	14040–14042	Grain mold resistant	3
	14043–14044	High yielding	2
	Total		836

*The number of lines being maintained

released/marketed for commercial cultivation in Asia, the Americas, Australia, and Africa. The hybrids have contributed significantly to the increased grain and forage yields in several countries. Grain productivity increased by 47 % in China and by 50 % in India from the 1960s to the 1990s (FAO 1960-1996), which corresponds well with the adoption of hybrids in these countries. Adoption of the first commercial hybrid (CSH 1) in India over much of the rainy season sorghum area while local varieties were confined to fairly narrow specific environmental niches stands testimony to the wide adaptability of hybrids over varieties (House et al. 1997). Currently, over 95 % of the sorghum area is planted to the hybrids in the United States, Australia, and China. In India, over 85 % of the rainy season sorghum area is planted to hybrids (Reddy et al. 2006).

5 Taxonomy and Sorghum Improvement

Sorghum improvement deals with production of new crop cultivars that are superior to existing cultivars for traits of interest. Availability of genetic variability for these traits, knowledge about their heritability and inheritance, and availability of effective phenotyping methodologies are fundamental for success of any crop improvement program. In fact, the efficiency of phenotyping and its robustness decides the success of the crop improvement program in terms of producing a tangible product or technology. As indicated above, in sorghum, a large collection of germplasm is available at ICRISAT (~38,000 accessions) and other places with characterization information on various morphological, agronomic, and adaptive traits. These germplasm lines predominantly consist of the intermediate races of sorghum with a

good number of basic races. Inheritance of major traits is well studied and phenotyping techniques developed for efficient selection/screening for major traits of interest. There is continuous exchange of material and information across research groups. As a result, a large number of sorghum cultivars were developed and commercialized around the world for traits of interest. For example, during the period 1976-2010, a total of 242 sorghum cultivars were released in 44 countries using the ICRISAT-bred sorghum material by private and public sector organizations (Kumar et al. 2011), which increased to 268 cultivars by 2016. The list is quite exhaustive if we consider cultivars developed by the national programs of all sorghum-growing countries. Focused sorghum improvement programs backed by the germplasm sources, information on heritability and gene action for traits of interest, phenotyping tools, established selection procedures, massive adaptive trials in partners' locations, and, above all, collaborative research contributed to the large-scale development and commercialization of improved cultivars. In the majority of cases of cultivar development conventional methods were used. Various basic races and the phenotyping tools employed in sorghum improvement programs for various traits of global importance are discussed hereunder. Cultivated sorghum can be grouped differently based on adaptation, usages, and so on.

5.1 Adaptation

Sorghum is produced in the rainy (hot) season in most parts of the world for various uses—food, feed, fodder, and industrial starch, among others whereas in India it is grown in both rainy and post-rainy (cold) seasons. Limited sorghum area (mostly forages) is grown in summer seasons but it is very small compared to the global area of 40 m ha.

5.1.1 Rainy Season Sorghum

This is the most important adaptation globally spanning from May/June to August/September with more than 30 m ha sorghum area across continents. A variety of sorghums belonging to different races (basic or hybrid/intermediate), different cultivar types (mostly hybrids and varieties), and different grain color (red, brown, white, etc.) types are grown for a variety of end uses in more than 90 sorghum-growing countries. For a plant breeder, the target materials and criteria for selection depend on the prevailing seed systems and the utilization pattern of the crop and consumer preference. For example, medium tall (1.5-1.8 m) dual-purpose hybrids with bold white grains are preferred in India for both food and feed use whereas grain types with red pericarp are preferred for food and brewing purposes in East Africa, and tall, long-duration photoperiod-sensitive guinea sorghums are preferred in West Africa for food. In contrast, short (0.8-1.3 m) hybrids are preferred in the United States, South America, and Australia for mechanical harvesting of sorghum for use as animal feed. Plant height, pigmentation, time to flowering, crop duration, panicle exsertion, panicle size, glume coverage, grain number, grain size and color, and grain thresh ability are major selection criteria in addition to the grain yield. In dual-purpose types, apart from grain yield, stover yield and quality are also important selection criteria. A plant breeder needs to select appropriate germplasm and breeding methods keeping the end product in mind; the maturity duration of the cultivar should correspond with the length of the growing period in the target area with the grain development stage preferably coinciding with the dry period to get the best quality grain. The important biotic constraints in rainy season sorghum include shoot-fly, stem borer, midge, grain mold, striga, and among abiotic constraints,

drought predominates (Reddy et al. 2010). An overview of broad adaptation of basic races showed that the *guinea* race and intermediate races involving the *guinea* race are predominant in Western and Central Africa; the *caudatum* race per se and in combination with others as intermediate races in North Eastern Nigeria, Chad, Sudan, Uganda, Western Ethiopia, and rainy season adaptation in India; and the *durra* race along with intermediate races in Ethiopia and other Eastern and Southern Africa including post-rainy season adaptation in India and the *kafirs* in Southern Africa, Tanzania, and Northern Nigeria (Upadhyaya et al. 2014).

5.1.2 Post-rainy Season Sorghum

It is a unique adaptation to India with approximately 4.5 m ha where the crop is grown from September/October to January/February taking advantage of residual and receding moisture in black soils. The Deccan plateau in India encompassing the states of Maharashtra, Karnataka, Andhra Pradesh, and Telangana is the major post-rainy sorghum growing region. The post-rainy sorghum grain is preferred for food use in India owing to its bold globular lustrous nature. However, no differences were observed between the flatbreads made from rainy (but matured under rain-free condition) and post-rainy sorghums in a sensory evaluation involving traditional sorghum-eating populations (ST Borikar, personal communication). The stover from the post-rainy crop is the most important animal feed particularly in the dry periods. In addition to the traits mentioned under rainy season adaptation, photoperiod sensitivity, temperature insensitivity, and grain luster are the major selection criterion. Varieties are the cultivar choice but there is good scope for hybrid development using the white-grained rainy season adapted lines female parents and landrace restorers as

pollinators. Although terminal drought is the major production constraint, shoot-fly, aphids, and charcoal rot play havoc with post-rainy season production (Kumar et al. 2011). The *durras* possess the typical grain traits preferred by post-rainy sorghum farmers; that is why almost all major cultivars in post-rainy sorghums belong to this race, with characteristic low diversity.

5.2 Yield and Yield Attributes

Grain yield obviously is the most important trait in sorghum breeding as in other major food crops; however, stover yield is equally important in sorghum particularly in countries like India. Breeding for grain yield improvement is carried out by selecting genotypes directly for grain yield and for component traits. For higher yield, genotypes with a plant height of around 150 cm are desirable, which are amenable to mechanical harvesting with medium maturity duration (100-120 days). Longer duration types give higher yields but the length of the growing period (LGP) in most sorghum growing areas does not allow for breeding long duration types, with the exception of West Africa. If we reduce the crop duration, it is likely that the yield goes down. Therefore, the breeder first has to fix the plant height and maturity duration for a given environment. However, in the context of climate change, longer duration types need to be maintained in the breeding program considering the fact that when temperatures increase by 2 °C, the longer duration types behave as medium duration types and produce higher yields than other types (Reddy et al. 2011). Another important consideration is photoperiod sensitivity. Photoperiod insensitivity is the ability of a genotype to mature at any given period in the calendar year irrespective of its planting date. It is feasible to identify the photoperiod-sensitive genotypes by planting them at different dates (at 15- or 30-day intervals) and recording the days for 50 % blooming in the genotypes. The genotypes that take less time for flowering when planted late can be considered photoperiod sensitive. In sorghum improvement programs in West Africa and in post-rainy sorghum improvement in India, photoperiod sensitivity is a key trait, although guinea types are predominant in West Africa and durras predominate in post-rainy sorghum in India. Among the component traits, long panicles, higher number of primary and secondary branches, bold grains, large number of grains per panicle, and higher 100-seed weight contribute to higher grain yield and most of these traits have high heritability enabling the plant breeder to improve for these traits through selection. The gap between flag leaf sheath and panicle base should be minimal to have good grain filling and the glume coverage on grains is to be less for higher threshability. Grain size can be visually judged and grain color can be selected as per the consumer/market preference in the given adaptation (Reddy et al. 2009; Rosenow and Dalhberg 2000). If there is no stringent grain quality preference, use of caudatums gives the best yields owing to their high per se performance and higher combining ability in hybrid combinations.

5.2.1 Grain and Stover Yield

In addition to sorghum grain, its stover has high feed value. In areas where sorghum stover is important as animal feed, breeding dual-purpose types is the best choice. Heterosis for grain and stover yield is high in sorghum and therefore targeted. hybrid development should be A heterosis of 30-40 % for grain yield is reported compared to the best varieties (Kumar et al. 2011). Development of hybrid parents is critical for exploiting heterosis and therefore genetic and cytoplasmic diversification of hybrid parents is a major breeding objective. Population improvement is also being followed for improving the grain and stover yields. In general, *caudatums* show higher yield and higher combining ability and therefore are widely exploited in developing hybrid parents in sorghum.

Quality of grain and stover is as important as grain yield in sorghum. This is more so in the case of post-rainy season sorghum where consumers prefer bold, lustrous white-grain types, which is generally available only in landrace varieties (Reddy et al. 2009). The grain luster is visually scored on a scale 1-3 where 1 =lustrous and 3 = dull among the white-grained types. The genetic base of these *durra* landraces is narrow and therefore it is more challenging to improve for post-rainy season adaptation. Similarly, heterosis is low when both parents are derived from landraces (durra \times durra). A more practical method for developing post-rainy season hybrids is by using rainy season adapted lines (mostly caudatum types) as females and landrace varieties (durras) as pollinators. While improving the stover yield, one has to keep in the mind the stover digestibility and protein content in addition to the stover yields. The stover yields have to be recorded on oven-dried samples after harvesting the grains and for stover quality; indirect selection for stover digestibility using near-infrared reflectance spectroscopy (NIRS) is the most practical method for assessing feed quality of stovers.

5.2.2 Plant Height and Maturity

Plant height is a major consideration in sorghum improvement and in fact it is one the criteria for classifying sorghums as grain sorghums, dual-purpose sorghums, forage sorghums, and high biomass sorghums. In sorghum, four loci are known to be involved in the control of plant height. These genes are assigned the symbols Dw1, Dw2, Dw3, and Dw4 (House 1980). Tallness is partially dominant to dwarfness. The zero

dwarf type (dominant [DW-] at all loci) may reach a height of 4 m. The change from four to three dominant genes may result in a height change of 50 cm or more. If genes at one or more of the loci are recessive, the difference in height resulting from the recessive condition at an additional locus may have a smaller effect in reducing plant height. The difference between a 3-dwarf (recessive genes $[dw \ dw]$ at three loci) and a 4-dwarf type may be only 10 or 15 cm (Rosenow and Dalhberg 2000). Breeders have to keep in mind these facts while selecting genotypes with appropriate height. For example, farmers in India prefer to use two gene dwarfs that result in a height of 1.7-2.0 m as they wish to have fodder along with grain and the plant height is directly proportional to the height (Quinby 1974). The plant height is always recorded from the base of the plant to the tip of the panicle. Plant height and days to flowering data give an idea about the genotype in terms of suitability for various uses. In practical sorghum breeding, the plant height should be less than 150 cm in grain sorghums, up to 170 cm in dual-type sorghums, more than 200 cm in forages, and 300 cm or more in the case of high biomass sorghums.

In sorghum, Quinby (1974) identified factors at four loci that influence maturity, Ma1, Ma2, Ma3, and Ma4. Generally, tropical types are dominant (Ma-) at all four loci, and a recessive condition (mama) at any one of them will result in more temperate zone adaptation that takes more time for maturity. Most sorghum improvement programs target medium maturity types (crop duration less than 120 days) as they yield high; however, the targeted maturity is to be decided based on the length of the growing period of the target area. In general, sorghum takes 35–40 days from flowering to maturity. The grain is to be harvested at physiological maturity stage. The hilum turns dark at physiological maturity and this is an important criterion for harvesting (Rosenow and Dalhberg 2000). There are some racial differences in maturity of the crop. Certain *guinea* race sorghums take up to 180 days for maturity. However, one can find large variation for maturity in any given race.

5.3 Nutritional Quality Traits

Sorghum is one of the major food crops in the world and has a predominant role in meeting the dietary energy and micronutrient requirements particularly in the low-income group populations; improving sorghum nutrition quality is of paramount importance (Parthasarathy Rao et al. 2006). There is a conscious focus on improving the nutritional quality of sorghum.

5.3.1 Protein and β-Carotene Contents

Protein content is more intensively studied in sorghum wherein high genetic variability is reported. Gains in protein content were reported by various authors (Virupaksha and Sastry 1968; Ramesh and Hudda 1994; De Mesa-Stonestreet et al. 2010). The best method for measuring protein content is through the Micro-Kjeldahl method or Technicon autoanalyzer (TAA) method (Johnson and Craney 1971; Jambunathan 1983). Sorghum is a good source of protein vis-à-vis other cereals and there exists large variability for protein content in sorghum although there is no correlation between protein content and races in sorghum. Sorghum is not a good source of β -carotene, like other cereal staples. In a study on a limited number of germplasm lines, hybrid parents in sorghum did not show appreciable variability for β -carotene content in sorghum (Reddy et al. 2005). A similar case with yellow endosperm lines is reported wherein the β -carotene content did not exceed 1.1 ppm (Reddy et al. 2005). For phenotyping this trait, spectrophotometry followed by high-performance liquid chromatography (HPLC) gives more accurate information.

5.3.2 Grain Fe and Zn Concentration

Sorghum is a good source of grain Fe and Zn although we cannot attribute the variability found in sorghum for grain Fe and Zn to any given basic intermediate races (Table 3). Large-scale or screening of sorghum core germplasm accessions, hybrid parents, and commercial hybrids showed high genetic variability for grain Fe and Zn concentrations (7-70 ppm) and most of this variation is heritable (Reddy et al. 2005; Kumar et al. 2012). Significant positive association exists between grain Fe and Zn concentrations ($r^2 = 0.6-0.8$) and it is possible to improve both traits simultaneously (Kumar et al. 2009). Additive gene action plays a significant role in conditioning the grain Zn concentration whereas both nonadditive and additive gene actions condition the grain Fe concentration (Ashok Kumar et al. 2013a, b). The Fe and Zn concentrations can be estimated using inductively coupled plasma optical emission spectrometry or atomic absorption spectrometry (Houk 1986). This is a precise but destructive and laborious method. The most rapid and low-cost method for assessing grain Fe and Zn concentrations is by using the X-ray fluorescence spectrometry (XRF) method which is nondestructive and can be used routinely to screen the breeding materials. There is high correspondence between the values obtained by both methods, indicating that XRF can be used for assessing grain Fe and Zn concentrations particularly for discarding the poor lines in the breeding material (Ashok Kumar et al. 2015).

Table 3 Mean seasons	performance of selecte	ed sorghum ger	mplasm lines evalu	lated for grain	n Fe and Zn conc	entration at ICR	SAT-Patancher	u during the 20	07 and 20)8 post-rainy
IS No./pedigree	Race	Origin	Days to 50 % flowering	Plant height (m)	Glume coverage (%)	Grain yield (t ha ⁻¹)	Grain size (g 100 ⁻¹)	Iron (mg kg-1)	Rank	Zinc (mg kg-1)
5427	Durra	India	65	2.0	54	2.0	2.8	61	1	57
5514	Guinea-bicolor	India	68	1.7	71	1.4	3.0	56	2	45
55	Durra-caudatum	SU	71	1.0	75	1.3	2.6	54	3	38
3760	Caudatum-bicolor	USSR	68	1.9	67	2.2	2.2	53	4	37
3283	Bicolor	SU	66	1.8	71	1.9	2.7	50	5	42
17580	Caudatum	Nigeria	66	1.9	79	1.6	2.1	50	6	41
15952	Guinea	Cameroon	81	2.4	38	2.5	3.4	49	7	41
3813	Durra	India	79	2.2	83	1.4	1.7	49	∞	38
15266	Caudatum	Cameroon	70	1.4	54	2.7	2.7	49	6	44
2939	Kafir	SU	69	2.0	63	3.6	3.9	48	10	37
4159	Durra	India	65	1.9	50	1.5	3.3	48	11	38
3929	Kafir-durra	SU	75	2.0	79	2.2	2.1	48	12	40
3443	Guinea-caudatum	Sudan	68	1.7	63	3.3	3.5	47	13	39
3925	Durra-caudatum	SU	78	2.0	67	2.4	2.0	47	14	39
5460	Durra-bicolor	India	66	1.5	62	1.4	2.7	47	15	46
12452	Caudatum-bicolor	Sudan	64	1.9	79	3.2	4.3	47	16	33
2801	Caudatum	Zimbabwe	71	1.8	71	2.3	3.1	46	17	45
2536	Kafir-caudatum	SU	72	1.8	83	2.3	2.4	45	18	37
5429	Durra	India	66	1.7	79	2.8	3.0	44	19	30
356	Durra	SU	84	1.1	46	2.2	2.7	44	20	33
2265	Durra-bicolor	Sudan	75	2.2	71	1.8	1.7	44	21	41
12695	Bicolor	South Africa	68	1.9	100	2.8	2.6	44	22	39
5538	Durra	India	65	1.4	33	1.7	2.2	44	23	37
										(continued)

Table 3 (contir	(pənı									
IS No./pedigree	Race	Origin	Days to 50 % flowering	Plant height (m)	Glume coverage (%)	Grain yield (t ha ⁻¹)	Grain size (g 100 ⁻¹)	lron (mg kg-1)	Rank	Zinc (mg kg-1)
5476	Durra	India	69	1.5	75	2.1	2.7	41	24	36
16337	Caudatum	Cameroon	80	1.7	38	2.4	3.0	41	25	34
5853	Guinea-durra	India	65	1.7	29	2.4	5.9	41	26	32
14318	Bicolor	Swaziland	79	2.1	79	2.2	2.3	39	29	38
10674	Durra-caudatum	China	65	2.1	46	1.9	4.0	39	30	38
22215	Durra-bicolor	USSR	80	2.1	71	2.9	2.4	26	31	21
Controls										
ICSR 40			70	1.2	33	3.3	3.2	40	27	24
296B			86	1.1	29	2.7	2.8	40	28	24
Mean			71	1.76	63	2.26	2.9	46		37
SE +			0.96	0.12	7.30	0.26	0.2	3		3
CV (%)			2.32	11.51	20.06	20.12	10.4	10		13
CD (5 %)			2.68	0.33	20.44	0.74	0.5	8		8

42

6 Conclusion

The botany and taxonomy of the genus Sorghum were well studied and exploited in improving the sorghum for various traits of interest. The classification of sorghum and the adaptation of various basic and intermediate races in sorghum to different geographies still hold. However, it is increasingly realized in most of the sorghum improvement programs that the caudatums and durras were extensively used in hybrid development programs and it is important to bring in the guineas to further increase the variability so as to increase the yield. A classic example is that at the ICRISAT gene bank, the largest number of sorghum germplasm accessions (53.21 % of total accessions) belong to races durra (21.28 %), caudatum (20.19 %), and their intermediate races durra-caudatums (11.74 %). Therefore, their utilization is also very high in the ICRISAT sorghum improvement program for hybrid parents' development. However, considering that sorghum yield is reaching a plateau in most breeding programs and that grain mold resistance is low, it is high time to bring guineas into the crossing program to break the yield barriers and increase grain mold resistance.

References

- Allard RW (1960) Principles of plant breeding, 2nd edn. Wiley, New York
- Aruna C, Audilakshmi S (2008) Reproductive biology and breeding behavior of sorghum. In: Reddy BVS, Ramesh S, Ashok Kumar A, Gowda CLL (eds) Sorghum Improvement in the New Millennium. International Crops Research Institute for the Semi-Arid Tropics, Patancheru, Andhra Pradesh, India, pp 28–30
- Ashok Kumar A, Reddy Belum VS, Ramaiah B, Sahrawat KL, Pfeiffer WH (2012) Genetic variability and character association for grain iron and zinc contents in sorghum germplasm accessions and commercial cultivars. Eur J Plant Sci Biotechnol 6(Spl Iss 1):66–70 (Print ISSN 1752-3842)
- Ashok Kumar A, Anuradha K, Ramaiah B (2013a) Increasing grain Fe and Zn concentration in sorghum: progress and way forward. J SAT Agric Res 11
- Ashok Kumar A, Belum VSR, Ramaiah B, Sahrawat KL, Wolfgang HP (2013b) Gene effects and heterosis for grain iron and zinc concentration in sorghum

[Sorghum bicolor (L.) Moench]. Field Crops Res 146:86–95

- Ashok Kumar A, Anuradha K, Ramaiah B, Frederick H, Rattunde W, Virk P, Wolfgang HP, Grando S (2015) Recent advances in sorghum biofortification research. Plant Breeding Rev 39:89–124
- Audilakshmi S, Aruna C (2008) Breeding methods in sorghum. In: Reddy BVS, Ramesh S, Ashok Kumar A, Gowda CLL (eds) Sorghum improvement in the new millennium. International Crops Research Institute for the Semi-Arid Tropics, Patancheru, Andhra Pradesh, India, pp 28–30
- Carrie TS, Ma JM, Higgins RH, Brown PJ (2013) Retrospective genomic analysis of sorghum adaptation to temperate-zone grain production. 14(6):R68
- Celarier RP (1959) Cytotaxonomy of the andropogonea. III. Sub-tribe Sorgheae, genus, *Sorghum*. Cytologia 23:395–418
- Clayton WD (1961) Proposal to conserve the generic name *Sorghum* Moench (Gramineae) versus *Sorghum adans* (Gramineae). Taxonomy 10:242
- Clayton WD, Renvoize SA (eds) (1986) Genera graminum grasses of the World, Kew Bulletin Addition Series XIII. Royal Botanic Gardens, Kew, London, pp 338–345
- Conner AB, Karper RE (1927) Hybrid vigor in sorghum. Texas Experiment Stations Bulletin no 359. Texas A&M University, Texas
- Dahlberg JA (2000) Classification and characterization of sorghum. In: Smith CW, Frederiksen RA (eds) Sorghum, origin, history, technology and production, Wiley Series in Crop Science, Wiley, New York, pp 99–130
- Dahlberg JA, Burke JJ, Rosenow DT (2004) Development of a sorghum core collection: refinement and evaluation of a subset from Sudan. Econ Bot 58 (4):556–567
- De Mesa-Stonestreet NJ, Alavi S, Bean SR (2010) Sorghum proteins: the concentration, isolation, modification, and food applications of kafirins. J Food Sci 75:90–104
- de Wet JMJ, Harlan JR (1971) The origin and domestication of sorghum bicolor. Econ Bot 25:128–135
- de Wet JMJ, Harlan JR (1972) A simplified classification of cultivated sorghum. Crop Sci 12:172
- de Wet JMJ, Huckabay JP (1967) The origin of sorghum bicolor. II. Distribution and domestication. Evolution 211:787–802
- Doggett H (1988) Sorghum, 2nd edn. Tropical Agricultural Series. Longman Scientific, Essex
- FAO (Food and Agriculture Organization) (1960–1996) FAO production year book 1960–1996. Food and Agriculture Organization of United Nations, Rome
- Garber ED (1950) Cytotaxonomic studies in the genus Sorghum. Univ Calif Publ Bot 23:283–361
- Gebrekidan B (1981) Utilization of germplasm in sorghum improvement. In: House LR, Mughogho LK, Peacock JM (eds) Proceedings of the international symposium on sorghum, 2–7

November 1981, ICRISAT, Patancheru, Andhra Pradesh, India, pp 335–345

- Houk RS (1986) Mass spectrometry of inductively coupled plasmas. Anal Chem 58:97A–105A
- House LR (1980) A guide to sorghum breeding. International Crops Research Institute for the Semi-Arid Tropics, Patancheru
- House LR, Verma BN, Ejeta G, Rana BS, Kapran I, Obilana AB, Reddy BVS (1997) Developing countries breeding and potential of hybrid sorghum. In: Proceedings of the international conference on genetic improvement of sorghum and pearl millet, Lubbock, TX, USA, 22–27 Sep 1996. Lincoln, Nebraska, USA. Collaborative Research Support Program on Sorghum and Pearl millet 97-5, pp 84–96
- IBPGR/ICRISAT (1980) Sorghum descriptors. IBPGR, Rome
- Jambunathan R, Rao NS, Gurtu S (1983) Rapid methods for estimating protein and lysine in sorghum (*Sorghum bicolor* (L.)Moench). Cereal Chem 60(3):192–194
- Johnson RM, Craney CE (1971) Rapid biuret method for protein content in grains. Cereal Chem 48:276
- Kumar AA, Reddy BVS, Ramaiah B, Reddy PS, Sahrawat KL, Upadhyaya HD (2009) Genetic variability and plant character association of grain Fe and Zn in selected core collections of sorghum germplasm and breeding lines. J SAT Agric Res (http://www. icrisat.org/journal/)
- Kumar AA, Reddy BVS, Sharma HC, Hash CT, Srinivasa Rao P, Ramaiah B, Reddy PS (2011) Recent advances in sorghum genetic enhancement research at ICRI-SAT. Am J Plant Sci 2:589–600
- Kumar AA, Reddy BVS, Ramaiah B, Sahrawat KL (2012) Wolfgang HP (2012) Genetic variability and character association for grain iron and zinc contents in sorghum germplasm accessions and commercial cultivars. Eur J Plant Sci Biotechnol 6(1):66–70
- Maiti R (1996) Sorghum science. New Oxford & IBH Publishing Co. Pvt. Ltd., New Delhi, 352 p
- Nagy Z, Tuba Z, Zsoldus F, Erdei L (1995) CO₂ exchange and water retention responses of sorghum and maize during water and salt stress. J Plant Physiol 145:539– 544
- Parthasarathy Rao P, Birthal BS, Reddy BVS, Rai KN, Ramesh S (2006) Diagnostics of sorghum and pearl millet grains-based nutrition in India. Int Sorghum Millets Newsl 47:93–96
- Paterson AH, Schertz KF, Lin YR, Liu SC, Chang YL (1995) The weediness of wild plants—molecular analysis of genes influencing dispersal and persistence of johnsongrass, *Sorghum halepense* (1) pers. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 92:6127–6131
- Paterson AH, Bowers JE, Bruggmann R, Dubchak I, Grimwood J, Gundlach H, Haberer G, Hellsten U, Mitros T, Poliakov A (2009) The Sorghum bicolor genome and the diversification of grasses. Nature 457:551–556

- Quinby JR (1974) Sorghum improvement and the genetics of growth. A&M University Press, College Station, p 122
- Quinby JR, Karper RE (1947) The effect of short photoperiod on sorghum varieties and first generation hybrids. J Agric Res 75:295–300
- Rakshit S, Hariprasanna K, Gomashe S, Ganapathy KN, Das IK, Ramana OV, Dhandapani A, Patil JV (2014) Changes in area, yield gains, and yield stability of sorghum in major sorghum-producing countries, 1970 to 2009. Crop Sci 54(4):1571–1584
- Ramesh B, Hudda MPS (1994) Study on variability and associations involving protein content, amino acids and grain yield in sorghum. Indian J Genet Plant Breed 54(1):37–44
- Rao SS, Seetharama N, Kiran Kumar KA, Vanderlip RL (2004) Characterization of sorghum growth stages. NRCS Bulletin Series no.14. National Research Centre for Sorghum, Rajendranagar, Hyderabad, Andhra Pradesh, India, 20 p
- Reddy Belum VS, HC Sharma, RP Thakur, S Ramesh, Fred Rattunde, Mgonja M (2006) Sorghum hybrid parents research at ICRISAT: retrospect and prospects. SAT e-journal 2(1):1–24. (ejournal.icrisat.org)
- Reddy BVS, Kumar AA Reddy PS (2010) Recent advances in sorghum improvement research at ICRI-SAT. Kasetsart J (Nat Sci) 44:499–506
- Reddy BVS, Ramesh S, Longvah T et al (2005) Prospects of breeding for micronutrients and carotene-dense sorghums. Int Sorghum Millets Newsl 46:10–14
- Reddy BVS, Sharma HC, Thakur RP, Ramesh S, Kumar AA (2007) Characterization of ICRISAT-Bred sorghum hybrid parents. Int Sorghum Millets Newslett 48:1–123
- Reddy BVS, Ramesh S, Kumar AA, Wani SP, Ortiz R, Ceballos H, Sreedevi TK (2008) Bio-fuel crops research for energy security and rural development in developing countries. Bioenergy Res 1:248–258
- Reddy BVS, Ramesh S, Reddy PS, Kumar AA (2009) Genetic enhancement for drought tolerance in sorghum. Plant Breed Rev 31:189–222
- Reddy BVS, Kumar AA, Ramesh S, Reddy PS (2011) Breeding sorghum for coping with climate change. In: Yadav SS, Redden B, Hatfield JL, Lotze-Campen H (eds) Crop adaptation to climate change. Wiley, Iowa, USA, pp 326–339
- Rosenow DT, Dalhberg JA (2000) Collection, conversion and utilization of sorghum. In: Smith CW, Frederiksen AR (eds) Sorghum, origin, history, technology and production. Wiley Series in Crop Science. Wiley, New York, pp 309–328
- Sharma D (1988) Concepts and methods. In: Chopra VL (ed) Plant breeding. Oxford & IBH Publishing Co. Pvt. Ltd., pp. 21–74
- Stephens JC, Holland PF (1954a) Cytoplasmic male sterility for hybrid sorghum seed production. Agron J 46:20–23

- Stephens JC, Holland RF (1954b) Cytoplasmic male-sterility for hybrid sorghum seed production. Agron J 46:20–23
- Upadhyaya HD, Pundir RPS, Dwivedi SL, Gowda CL, Reddy VG, Singh S (2009) Developing a mini core collection of sorghum for diversified utilization of germplasm. Crop Sci 49(5):1769–1780
- Upadhyaya HD, Sharma S, Dwivedi SL, Singh SK (2014) Sorghum genetic resources: conservation and diversity assessment for enhanced utilization in sorghum

improvement. In: Wang Y-H, Upadhyaya HD, Kole C (eds) Genetics, genomics and breeding of sorghum. CRC Press, Taylor & Francis Group, Boca Raton (USA), London (UK), New York (USA), pp 28–55. ISBN: 978-1-4822-1008-8

- Vanderlip RL, Reeves HE (1972) Growth stages of sorghum. Agron J 64:13–16
- Virupaksha TK, Sastry LVS (1968) Protein content and amino acid composition of some varieties of grain sorghum. J Agric Food Chem 16(2):199–203

Cytogenetics of Sorghum

Sujay Rakshit, K.N. Ganapathy and K.B.R.S. Visarada

Abstract

Sorghum is an interesting genus having a large number of well-recognized species taxonomically classified into five subgenera. Cytogenetic analysis led to the understanding of the nature of chromosomal variations, origins, and probable relationships based on chromosome morphology. Progress in the science of conventional and molecular cytogenetics, and genomic research provide a detailed insight into the genome organization of an individual or species, leading to enhanced utilization of genetic and physical information towards improvement of the crop. The integration of genetic, physical, and cytomolecular maps of the Sorghum genus is useful to scientists working on genomics of grass species. Large-scale molecular karyotyping of grass genomes would facilitate alignment of related chromosomal regions among different grass species and also facilitate genetic and cytogenetic studies of chromosome organization and evolution. As compared to other crop species little is known about the karyomorphology in sorghum mainly due to the small size of its chromosomes. In this chapter efforts have been made to collate the scattered information on karyotype studies, cytotaxonomy, phylogenic relation, numerical and structural variations, genome architecture, and wide introgression in sorghum. Implications of the information on sorghum improvement are discussed.

1 Introduction

Cytogenetic analysis of a crop and its wild relatives yields a wealth of information about their homology and genome compositions, which forms the basis of understanding for the breeders and researchers about the ways and means of genetic manipulations in crop plants. Sorghum is an interesting genus having 25 well-recognized

ICAR-Indian Institute of Millets Research, Rajendranagar, Hyderabad 500030, India e-mail: sujay@millets.res.in

S. Rakshit (\boxtimes) \cdot K.N. Ganapathy \cdot K.B.R.S. Visarada

species, which are taxonomically classified into five subgenera: Eusorghum, Chaetosorghum, Heterosorghum, Parasorghum, and Stipossorghum. Sorghum is grouped under the family Poaceae, tribe Andropogoneae, subtribe Sorghastrae, and genus *Sorghum*. The genus has diploid chromosome numbers of 10, 20, 30, or 40 (Garber 1950; Lazarides et al. 1991).

Cytogenetic analysis in sorghum by various workers led to the understanding of the nature of chromosomal variations, origins, and probable relationships based on chromosome morphology. Extensive studies on cytological and breeding behavior involving different sorghum species have been carried out by various workers. Huskins and Smith (1932) were the first to report on chromosome morphology in sorghum. With the advent of the science of conventional and molecular cytogenetics, and genomic research, it is now possible not only to organize and integrate the genetic, molecular, and cytological information of the genomic resources, but also to have a detailed insight into the genome organization of an individual or species giving the sequence and chromosomal view of the genome. Cytogenetic analysis of chromosomes also complements and enhances the utilization of genetic and physical information developed from large-scale genotyping and sequencing projects. The integration of genetic, physical, and cytomolecular maps of genus Sorghum is useful to scientists working in various disciplines particularly for those involved in genomic investigation of grass species. Large-scale molecular karyotyping of grass genomes would facilitate alignment of related chromosomal regions among different grass species and also facilitate genetic and cytogenetic studies of chromosome organization and evolution.

2 Basic Chromosome Number and Cytogenetic Structure

2.1 Basic Chromosome Number

Researchers proposed different basic chromosome numbers to the members of the tribe Andropogoneae. Huskins and Smith (1934) proposed basic chromosome number, x = 7, whereas Sharma and Bhattacharjee (1957) proposed x = 4. Garber (1950) and Celarier (1956) considered the base chromosome number of this tribe to be either five or ten. Doggett (1976) concluded that the basic chromosome number of Sorghastrae is x = 5. This supports the suggestion of Garber (1950) who observed predominance of genera with chromosome numbers of five and ten. However, Garber (1950) raised the question whether five indicated the endpoint of base chromosome numbers in the order of descending series or whether it is the starting point of a polyploid series. Morakinyo and Olorode (1988) reported that evidence supporting the basic number to be five was not available. Spangler et al. (1999) attempted to resolve the base chromosome number of Andropogoneae using chromosome number information with the phylogenetic tree derived from ndhF gene sequence analysis. A wide variety of taxa with n = 10 at the base of the tree led them to the understanding that n = 10 and not 5 for the tribe. However, the occurrence of n = 5 and n = 10species raises questions regarding the base number of this genus and the widely accepted basic chromosome number of sorghum is x = 5.

In sorghum, the reported occurrence of bivalents during meiosis of haploids (Brown 1943; Kidd 1952; Endrizzi and Morgan 1955) further supports the idea of its tetraploid origin. Endrizzi and Morgan (1955) observed translocations in the progeny of haploids and proposed that these originated from recombination between homologous duplicated regions (resulting from polyploidy) in the haploid genome. However, no strong evidence supporting tetraploid origin is observed from meiotic pairing of diploid sorghum (Brown 1943; Endrizzi and Morgan 1955). Celarier (1959) opined that polyploidy was of widespread occurrence in Sorgheae, as he assumed the basic chromosome number to be five. He observed that most of the tetraploid sorghums cytologically behave as diploids except those representing Parasorghum and Stiposorghum, which behave as autotetraploids. But, use of single-copy probes in fluorescent in situ hybridization (FISH) consistently identified two loci on two different chromosomes, which provided evidence that sorghum is not of tetraploid origin (Gomez et al. 1997). However, the basic chromosome number of subtribe Sorghastrae is assumed to be five and therefore it is often believed that sorghum is of tetraploid origin. A large number of complementary genes between them also indicate their tetraploid origin (Rooney 2000).

2.2 Karyotype Analysis

Karyotype analysis is very useful for understanding the origin, chromosomal variation, and genetic relationships at species or genus level. Very little is known about the karyomorphology in sorghum mainly due to the small size of its chromosomes. Huskins and Smith (1932) analyzed the chromosomal structure in various sorghum species and observed that the somatic chromosome length ranged from 1.2 to 3.3 μ m, half the length of chromosomes observed from root tips of maize. They reported a chromosome with one long portion having a prominent subterminal attachment constriction and the shorter portion connected with the longer portion by only a fine thread of chromatin. The differences observed in the morphology of chromosomes seem to be small but definite enough to be

considered as appropriate for systematic classification. Most of the chromosomes have median or submedian constrictions and often some of them have secondary subterminal constriction attachment. In *S. halepense* they observed the somatic chromosome number of 40, whereas in other species and varieties studied it was 20. The study also gave indication that *S. halepense* is an allotetraploid originated from chromosome doubling of a hybrid.

Huskins and Smith (1934) further studied the cytological structure of the meiotic chromosomes of the genus Sorghum. They observed 10 bivalents in all the diploid sorghums. However, quadrivalent and hexavalents were also noticed by them. In S. halepense they commonly observed 10-14 bivalents, and the rest of the chromosomes were in quadrivalent or higher associations. In sorghum the chromosome pairing of the normal 10 chromosomes is similar to that of pairing in hexaploid wheat and oats where the 42 chromosomes form 21 bivalents and multivalents are rarely observed. However, asynaptic pairing in sorghum leads to formation of multivalents and is known to occur very commonly (Huskins and Smith 1934). Endrizzi (1957)reported cytological investigations involving sorghum parents and hybrids with 2n = 20 and 2n = 40 chromosomes. He reported that the parental and hybrid combinations showed similar chromosome pairing with only 10 bivalents. Hybrids formed with 2n = 20 and 2n = 40 generated trivalents in meiosis with either allotetraploids or segmental allopolyploids (Raman and Sankaran 1979). The total chromosome length of the karyotype complement in their study varied from 19.28 μ m (2n = 20) to 61.69 μ m (S. Purpureo-sericeum, 2n = 40).

Sharma and Bhattacharjee (1957) and Celarier (1958) studied karyotypes of 18 species of the genus *Sorghum* in detail. The studies of Sharma and Bhattacharjee (1957) showed the number of chromosomes with secondary constrictions to vary between species, which indicates their role in evolution. They also reported 23 idiograms based on the position of primary and secondary constrictions and the relative size of the

chromosomes made for all species. They reported five pairs of chromosomes in S. vulgare to have satellites with one pair of chromosomes at both ends. The chromosome length in S. halepense and S. nitidum were in the range of 2.31-4.41 and 1.63-3.33 µm, respectively. S. versicolor and S. purpureo-sericeum possessed chromosomes with longer length. All chromosomes of S. purpureo-sericeum had lengths longer than 6.90 µm, whereas those of versicolor were in lengths of 5.99-7.42 µm. The chromosome lengths of S. stipoideum and S. intrans were in the range of 3.72-4.89 and $5.41-6.52 \,\mu\text{m}$, respectively. They grouped sorghum chromosomes as large, medium, and small. The species S. purpureo-sericeum and S. versicolor were reported to have larger chromosomes, whereas S. subglabrescens and S. durra recorded both the medium and small category. They observed clear karyotypic differences between different strains or genotypes in the idiograms in terms of number and position of constriction regions. However, the karyotype similarities observed in the study led to inclusion of strains under a common bigger taxonomic unit. From the observation made on chromosome structure they also labeled 10 major chromosomes from A to J. Further based on minor differences of these they were again subclassified as B, B1, B2, and B3. Sharma and Bhattacharjee (1957) reported six species with chromosomal fragments in their somatic cells. In most cases there were no more than two fragments per cell and none were observed during the meiotic division.

Gu et al. (1984) analyzed the karyomorphology of seven sorghum species, namely *S. bicolor*, *S. halepense*, *S. nitidum*, *S. versicolor*, *S. purpureo-sericeum*, *S. stipoideum*, and *S. intrans*. All the species studied differed in chromosome number, size, position of centromere, secondary and tertiary constrictions, and staining ability of chromosomes. In the cultivated species *S. bicolor*, the chromosome size ranged from 2.7 to 5.6 μ m with the most of the chromosomes in the range between 2.5 and 4.0 μ m. From staining it was observed that the heterochromatin regions adjacent to the centromere were more stainable than other regions. Other than the longest chromosome, all had a median centromere, and the longest chromosome showed submedian constriction with a tertiary constriction on its long arm. Gu et al. (1984) observed greater variation among chromosomes of the complement of S. bicolor. In their study S. halepense recorded similarities to S. bicolor for arm ratio and relative lengths especially for longer chromosomes. A similar trend was observed between S. purpureo-sericeum and S. versicolor. Likewise, S. stipoideum and S. intrans showed resemblances. However, in the mentioned study of Gu et al. (1984) karyographs of Parasorghum and Stiposorghum showed a clear-cut difference from Eusorghum. S. purpureo-sericeum recorded the largest somatic chromosome among the seven species studied. In S. versicolor, the SAT chromosome is the longest, which supports earlier reports (Schlarbaum and Tsuchiya 1981; Singh and Tsuchiya 1982). A similar phenomenon is reported in S. nitidum. Chromosomes of the species in Eusorghum tend to stain differentially in prophase with deep stain only in the regions adjacent to centromeres. Wu (1982) reported the terminal or subterminal position of the nucleolus organizer region (NOR) in meiotic configurations of S. versicolor, S. nitidum, and S. purpureo-sericeum.

Kim et al. (2005a, b) developed a FISH-based karyotype of the sorghum inbred line Btx623. The ordering and nomenclature of the chromosomes were based on chromosome length at metaphase as SBI-01 (longest) to SBI-10 (shortest). The SBI-01 chromosome of BTx623 is exceptionally long. It has eight pairs of metacentric chromosomes from SBI-02, SBI-03, SBI-04, SBI-05, SBI-07, SBI-08, SBI-09, and SBI-10 and one pair of medium-sized submetacentric chromosomes SBI-06. In addition to its long length (5.11 μ m), the SBI-01 chromosome is one among the only two submetacentric chromosomes and is the only satellite chromosome. Lengths of chromosomes SBI-02, SBI-03, SBI-04, and SBI-05 were in the size range of 3.87-3.44 µm, and those of SBI-06, SBI-07, SBI-08, and SBI-10 were in the size range between 3.15 and 2.97 µm. The only secondary constriction and NOR observed in BTx623 was

near the centromere in the short arm of the SBI-01 chromosome. NOR in type Combine-kafir60 is located in the center of the fifth longest chromosome (Yu et al. 1991), and NOR of *S. propinquum* is located in the short arm of the smallest chromosome (Magoon and Shambulin-gappa 1961). Such variation in structure can complicate linkage analysis beyond a particular parental combination. The procedure of unique nomenclature followed in designating BTx623 could be the basis for genetic, breeding, and genomic applications.

2.3 Cytotaxonomy

The first taxonomic report of sorghum and related materials in the name of Holcus was given by Linnaeus (1753). Linnaeus added several other species such as H. lanatus and H. laxus, which were later included in another tribe, Aveneae, and have retained the generic name Holcus. Use of sorghum as a generic name was first given by Adanson (1763) as a substitute for Linnaeus' Holcus. This remained as a base for Moench (1794) to differentiate sorghum from Holcus in the materials originally considered by Linnaeus. Taxonomic studies by Stapf (1919), Snowden (1935, 1936, 1955) and Garber (1950) led to the understanding that sorghum is a genus of wide variability. Garber (1944, 1948, 1950) made a detailed cytological investigation in a number of species of this genus and established a large number of facts governing the distribution and taxonomy of the genus. His findings are the most detailed among various research conducted in cytogenetic analysis in sorghum.

Haeckel (1885) grouped sorghum into a broader group *Andropogon sorghum*, which he subdivided into *A. sorghum halepensis* and *A. sorghum sativus*. *A. sorghum halepensis* included wild perennial and annual types whose spikelet is deciduous at maturity, and *A. sorghum sativus*, annual forms having persistent spikelets. Hackel (1889) considered all the subtribe of *Sorgheae* under subgenus *Andropogon*. In contrast, Stapf (1919) considered it distinct from *Andropogon* and grouped them together as

Sorghastrae under subtribe Andropogonineae. Piper (1916) stressed the need for distinction between Johnsongrass (S. halepense) and cultivated forms indicating that they are confined to Mediterranean regions and absent in tropical parts of Africa and also the probable center of origin for A. sorghum sativus, the cultivated types. Huskins and Smith (1932) indicated that the sorghum genus includes a wide range of forms. The classification in the section Sorgastrum is well understood, but within section Eusorghum, it includes all the numerous cultivated and wild forms. Keng (1939) proposed a separate subtribe under the name Sorgheae. The genera Sorghum Moench, Sorghastrum Nash, Astenochloa Buse, Lasiorrhacis Stapf, Cleistachne Benth, Rhaphis Lour, Vetiveria Bory, and Chrysopogon Trin were included in the subtribe Sorgheae. Keng (1939) placed the genus Pseudosorghum in the subtribe Sorgheae and shifted the Chrysopogon, Rhaphis, and Vetiveria to the subtribe Rottboelliinae. Celarier (1959) later considered Pseudosorghum, Chrysopogon, and Vetiveria as members of the Sorgheae due to their close resemblance. He opinioned that sorgheae was derived from both riochloeae and also believed that the pseudosorghum occupies an intermediate position.

Celarier (1958) made an extensive review of the cytotaxonomy of the *Andropogoneae* subtribe *sorgheae*, genus *Sorghum*. They used the subdivision of the genus into subgenera as given by Garber (1950).

2.3.1 Various Subgenera Within Sorghum

Eusorghum

Eusorghum is also referred to as true sorghum. Snowden (1955) classified the section into two subsections, Arundinacea and Halepensia, and further into series and subseries. The subsection Arundinacea has series Spontanea and Sativa. Sativa was further subclassified into six subseries: Drummondii, Guineense, Nervosa, Bicoloria, Caffra, and Durra. Hybridization among different species and subseries are feasible and there are no barriers for gene exchange between any of these species (Karper and Chisholm 1936). The detailed studies on taxa in series Sativa was studied by Laubscher (1945). The cross between S. drummondii and S. caffrorum, two partners within Eusorghum, was cytologically analyzed by Endrizzi (1957) and the F_1s were regular. Under the subsection Arundinacea in series Spontanea Snowden (1955) identified 17 species, which are grasses in nature. Of these, 16 are African and two are Indian species. The African species were found on the eastern half of the continent and three in West Africa. Two species, S. verticilliflorum Stapf and S. sudanense Stapf, have been introduced extensively and become naturalized in many tropical countries. Endrizzi (1957) analyzed the chromosome behavior in the F_1 of S. *verticelliflorum* \times *S*. sudanense, S. arundi*nacea* \times *S. caffrorum*, and *S. verticelliflorum* \times *S.* dochna var. technicum. All the crosses studied had 10 bivalents in the F₁s; however, in some instances the chiasma frequency observed was lower than the parents.

Under subsection Halepensia six species were included by Snowden (1955): S. halepense (L.) Pers, S. miliaceum (Roxb.) Snowden, S. controversum (Steud.) Snowden, S. almum Parodi, S. randolphianum Parodi, and S. propinguum (Kunth) Hitchc. Several species of this subsection were crossed with various species of subsection Arundinancea and hybrids were cytologically studied. Crosses with 2n = 20species with the Arundinancea subsection have proven fertile with regular meiotic divisions (Celarier 1958). From crosses with the 2n = 40species two types of F_{1s} are produced. A normal F_1 with 2n = 30 is infrequent and many of the F_1 s that have been studied are 2n = 40.

Parasorghum

This subgenus was first proposed by Snowden (1935), which includes all sorghum species having bearded nodes and simple panicle primary branches. Both cytological and morphological differences observed in this subgenus were observed in subgenera *parasorghum* and *stiposorghum* as well but these were isolated geographically (Celarier 1958). Five species were included in *Parasorghum*: *S. purpureo*-

sericeum Aschers. and Schweinf., S. versicolor JN Anderss, S. nitidum Pers., S. leiocladum CE Hubb, S. australiense Garber and Snyder. S. purpureo-sericeum is an extremely variable species with several varieties and distributed in East Africa and West India. Most accessions were reported to have 10 somatic chromosomes and completely regular meiotic divisions. S. versicolor is in many respects similar to S. purpureo-sericeum. The natural distribution of the species is spread towards Southeast Africa. S. nitidum has the largest geographical distribution among parasorghums and is spread mostly in Southeast Asia, Indonesia, and Australia. Ayyanger and Ponnaiya (1941) first reported this species as 2n = 10 from a collection in western India. S. leiocladum is an Australian species and was studied cytologically by Garber (1950, 1954). It is a tetraploid with 2n = 20. At diakinesis and metaphase I it showed univalents, bivalents, trivalents, and quadrivalents. S. australiense is an annual species from Australia. It is similar to S. trichocladurn with 2n = 20 (Garber and Snyder 1951). Detailed studies by Garber (1954) showed that it is similar to S. leiocladum in meiotic chromosome behavior and is also considered to be an autotetraploid.

Stiposorghum

This subgenus is mainly found in Northern Australia and includes six species: S. intrans F. Muell, S. stipoideum Gardner and Hubbard, S. brevicallosum Garber, S. matarankense Garber and Snyder, S. plumosum Beauv, and S. timorense Buese. S. intrans was previously studied by Garber (1948, 1950) who observed 2n = 10 with regular meiosis. Attempts were made to cross this species with S. stipoideum and S. brevicallosum but no seeds could be obtained (Garber 1950). S. stipoideum was studied by Garber (1950) from collections from the Northern Territory of Australia. All accessions studied were diploid with regular meiotic behavior. Attempts made to cross this species with S. intrans and S. brevicallosum resulted in no seed formation (Garber 1950). All the accessions of S. brevicallosum as studied by Garber (1950) were found to be diploid with regular meiotic behavior. He also attempted to cross this species with S. intrans and S. brevicallosum but no seeds were produced. S. matarankense represents diploid species in the S. intrans-S. stipoideum-S. brevicallosum complex (Garber and Snyder 1951). S. plumosum has widest distribution in the subgenus and is the only perennial in this subgenus. Both tetraploid and hexaploid types are known (Garber 1954) and both have high frequency of multivalents. He analyzed two tetraploid accessions and found that they were similar to the Parasorghum species, S. leiocladum, and S. australiense in meiotic behavior. S. timorense is morphologically very similar to S. plumosum and possibly should only be considered as a variety of that species.

Chaetosorghum

The species *S. macrospermum* Garber was accommodated in this subgenus by Garber (1950). Though they are glabrous noded, they would not fit in either Eusorghum or Sorghastrum. Garber (1950) analyzed the meiotic behavior of the species and found that it had 20 bivalents at metaphase I. However, he observed one plant that had a high frequency of univalents which he explained as partial desynapsis.

Heterosorghum

This is another subgenus that was mentioned by Garber (1950) to include one species that will not fit easily into other subgenera. The species, *S. laxiflorum* FM Bailey, had very extensive distribution and is found in Australia, New Guinea, and the Philippine Islands. Garber (1950) analyzed one accession from northern and another from southern Queensland. In both the cases the 2n number was 40, and meiosis observed was regular with 20 bivalents at the diakinesis state and metaphase I stage.

2.3.2 Phylogenetic Relationship Within Sorghum Subgenera

Celarier (1958) detailed the phylogenetic relationship within sorghum subgenera (Fig. 1). In *Parasorghum, Stiposorghum,* and *Eusorghum,* the pedicellate spikelets are staminate type, whereas in Chaetosorghum and Heterosorghum only glumes are seen. The entire pedicellate spikelet is lost in the genus Sorghastrum. Likewise, panicle branching is significant in phylogenetic relationships. The open divided type is observed in Eusorghum and Heterosorghum, which are primitive type. Simple branching is observed in Parasorghum, Stiposorghum, and Chaetosorghum, which are the advanced types. Cytologically, the chromosome number and size vary among the subgenus. Chromosomes of Parasorghum and Stiposorghum are quite large whereas Eusorghum and Heterosorghum are much smaller. In Parasorghum and Stiposorghum five is the lowest basic chromosome number and examples of polyploidy suggest autopolyploidy of building units by 10 (i.e., 2n = 10, 20, 30). In Eusorghum, the lowest number is 10, and allopolyploids are built by units of 2n = 20 and 40. Chaetosorghum and *Heterosorghum* are allopolyploids with 2n = 40. Celarier (1958) opined that Parasorghum and Stiposorghum are closely related and are to be considered in one subgenus and these genus can be clearly differentiated from Eusorghum. Relationships of Chaetosorghum and Heterosorghum are not clearly understood.

2.3.3 Cytological Relationship Among Various Species of Sorghum

The wild species of sorghum represent a potential diverse source of germplasm for sorghum breeding. Parvatham and Rangaswamy (2004) made a detailed study of the karyomorphological and phylogenetic studies in six cultivated and wild sorghum species, S. intrans, S. Propinquum, S. purpureo-sericeum, S. halopense, S. sudanense, and S. bicolor. They used relative chromosome length, arm ratio, chromosome index, and nucleolar organizers for characterizing the chromosomes of different species. All the species possessed basic chromosome number, x = 5. S. intrans possessed one pair of long median and four pairs of submedian chromosomes, whereas the tetraploid species S. propinguum (2n = 20), S. purpureo-sericeum (2n = 20), and S. bicolor



Fig. 1 Phylogenetic relationship between different subgenus in sorghum (adapted from Celarier 1958)

(2n = 20) were reported to possess median, submedian, and smaller chromosomes. S. propinguum and S. purpureo-sericeum showed similarity in having seven and three pairs of median and submedian chromosomes, respectively. The hexaploid species, S. halepense and S. sudanense, possessed comparable chromosome architecture but differed in sizes. One pair of satellites (SAT) each was observed in all the species revealing their role in nucleolar organization. Their study revealed the uniqueness of the SAT regions, occupying only the longest chromosomes except hexaploid species S. sudanense where it was observed in the second longest chromosome. Variation in chromosome number of species is attributed to the duplication of the chromosome complements (Stebbins 1950). Those species with lower chromosome number are believed to be primitive as also evidenced from the taxonomic characteristics (Parvatham and Rangaswamy 2004). Vinall (1926) revealed

that the wild annual sorghums cross readily with large annual grain sorghum but crosses between Johnsongrass and annual forms is possible only with great difficulty and the hybrids are mostly sterile. He attempted crosses between sorghum and Johnsongrass and could obtain only two successful crosses. The study further revealed that the successful cross could be obtained only when sorghum variety, Black amber sorgo, was used as the pistillate parent. No successful cross was obtained when Johnsongrass was fertilized with the sorghum pollen. However, chromosomal studies did not reveal any major differences from those of other cultivated sorghums. Allopolyploidy could have played a major role in the evolution of species in sorghum (Parvatham and Rangaswamy 2004).

Hadley (1953a, b) attempted crosses between *S. vulgare* (2n = 20) and *S. halepense* (2n = 40) and they obtained two hybrids with 30 and one with 40 chromosomes. One hybrid having 30

chromosomes set seed when backcrossed with *S. vulgare*, however, the other was sterile. In the backcross progeny the chromosome numbers varied from 20 to 22. Plants having 20 chromosomes appeared regular with some plants sterile. On the other hand, the 40-chromosome hybrid was fertile and set a large number of seeds and in their F_{28} the chromosome numbers ranged from 38 to 40.

Hybrids formed using *S. propinquum* and *S. bicolor* are reported to be meiotically regular with 10 bivalents (Doggett 1988). Analysis of meiosis of *S. bicolor* \times *S. halepense* hybrids proved that *S. halepense* possesses one genome similar to *S. bicolor*, and another divergent or a rearranged genome. This leads to the understanding that *S. halepense* is an allopolyploid or segmental allopolyploid (Duarra and Stebbins 1952; Tang and Liang 1988).

2.3.4 Molecular Phylogenic Relation Among Sorghum Species

It is evident that Sorghum genera are highly heterogeneous. Efforts have been made to decipher the phylogenetic relationship among them at the molecular level. DNA markers have been deployed in establishing the relationship of sorghum to other grasses such as maize (Whitkus et al. 1992). Allozymes (Morden et al. 1990), nuclear genes, for example, ITS1 (Sun et al. 1994; Dillon et al. 2004; Ng'uni et al. 2010), ndhF (Spangler et al. 1999; Dillon et al. 2004, 2007a), Adh1(Dillon et al. 2007a), chitinase-b (Qin et al. 2008), and chloroplast genes, such as psbZ-trnG, trnY-trnD, trnYpsbM, and trnT-trnL (Ng'uni et al. 2010) have helped in better understanding the phylogenetic relationship within the Sorghum genus. Spangler (2003) suggested the existence of three distinct lineages-Sarga, Sorghum, and Vacoparis-representing sorghum. He included the set of species that formerly represented the bulk of the subgenera, Parasorghum and Stiphosorghum, and placed Australian taxa, S. macrospermum and S. laxiflorum in a new genus Vcoparis. S. bicolor, S. halepense, and S. nitidum were retained in Sorghum. However, sequence comparison of ITS1 and

ndhF genes showed Australian species S. laxiflorum and S. macrospermum most closely related to cultivated sorghum (Dillon et al. 2004). The study suggested reduction of subgeneric sections from five to three: Eusorghum (unchanged), a Chaetosorghum/Heterosorghum combined to reflect the very close relationship between these two species, and a combined Parasorghum/Stiphosorghum section. Findings of Dillon et al. (2007a) further supported this conclusion and contradicted the result of Spangler (2003). Using ITS and chloroplast ndhF sequences Price et al. (2005a) put Sorghum into two lineages, one comprising the 2n = 10 species with large genomes and their polyploid relatives, and the other with the 2n = 20 and 40 species with relatively small genomes. Qin et al. (2008) used the Chi-b gene to establish molecular phylogeny among 10 sorghum species. Their study placed the 10 species into three sections: the first with S. halepense, S. almum, and S. silk; the second with S. bicolor, S. propinguum, and S. arundinaceum; and the third with S. nitidum. A combined sequence analysis with four regions of chloroplast DNA and ITS of nuclear DNA by Ng'uni et al. (2010) clearly demonstrated that classifying Australian species S. macrospermum and S. laxiflorum as a separate section was not well supported. They further found that S. almum was closely associated with S. bicolor, suggesting the latter to be the maternal parent of the former.

All the reports on molecular phylogeny of sorghum are in agreement that there are two well-supported major clades within sorghum (Kellogg 2013). *S. bicolor* and its close relatives, *S. halepense, S. propinquum, S. arundinaceum, S. almum*, and *S. drummondii* are represented in clade 1. Except *S. propinquum*, which is Asian, all are of African origin. Australian species *S. macrospermum* and *S. laxiflorum* are also in this clade (Dillon et al. 2004; Price et al. 2005b). Seventeen species are included in clade 2. These are Australian species representing subgenera *Stiposorghum* and *Parasorghum*, which are cross-compatible with cultivated sorghum (Price et al. 2006).

3 Ploidy Variations

The number of complete sets of chromosomes in a cell of an organism is referred to as ploidy. Hence ploidy variation deals with differences in terms of chromosome numbers. Ploidy variation is considered to be an important adaptive mechanism leading to evolution and speciation. The preceding discussion has shown that different species within the subtribe Sorghae have considerable ploidy variations. However, such variation has also been reported within cultivated species of a crop and has much cytogenetic significance with anticipated agronomic significance as well. Two types of ploidy variations in crop plants have been reported, namely, euploidy and aneuploidy. Euploids of a species vary in terms of complete chromosome set, whereas aneuploids differ in terms of one or more chromosomes from the normal set.

3.1 Euploidy

Since the 1930s sorghum scientists observed abnormal plants within the experimental materials of sorghum. However, it was Brown (1943) from Texas Agricultural Experiment Station who first recognized them as ploidy variants of cultivated sorghum. Since his report, haploids, triploids, autotetraploids, and higher ploidy variants in sorghum have been published by various authors (reviewed by Murty and Rao 1974).

3.1.1 Haploids

Brown (1943) reported the occurrence of abnormal plants over 10–12 years among grain and forage sorghums grown at Chillocothe, Texas. Observing the characteristics of these abnormal plants he surmised them to be haploid plants and characterized two such plants: one was obtained from the F_3 progeny of a Blackhull kafir × Feterita cross in 1940, and the other was found in a genetic stock in 1941. Haploid plants had relatively slender stalks, narrow leaves with smaller stomatal guard cells, small and highly sterile panicles, and particularly small glumes. Pollen grains of haploids are in general smaller, empty, and collapsed. Brown (1943) observed 4–6 and 3–7 anaphase separation to be most common, whereas the separation ranged from 5–5 to 0–10 in a number of cases. Out of 150 metaphase nuclei he studied in one case, he reported 3 II + 4 I, two cases of 2 II + 6 I, and 13 cases of 1 II + 8I. In addition, in nearly 8 % of the cases he reported anaphase bridge formation among other abnormal disjunctions. Observed bivalents in sorghum haploids supported earlier suggestions that five is the basic chromosome number in sorghums (Karper 1930; Longley 1932; Karper and Chisholm 1936).

Since the report of Brown (1943), haploids in sorghum have been reported by various authors (Kidd 1952; Endrizzi and Morgan 1955; Schertz 1963). Kidd (1952) obtained the haploid as a "twin seedling" from variety Resistant Wheatland (GC 38288). Out of the 55 haploid cells Kidd studied, eight recorded 1 II + 8 I, four 2 II + 6 I, seven had 1 III + 7 I, and the rest had 10 I. Gaines and Aase (1926) and Levan (1941) observed di- and poly-ploid cells in haploid plants of wheat and Phleum, respectively, in which univalents remained the rule. Similarly, Kidd (1952) also observed diploid cells in nearly 30 % of the cases. However, in these cases he noticed "stickiness" among the chromatids, whereas Gaines and Aase (1926) and Levan (1941) reported "syncytes". Endrizzi and Morgan (1955) obtained haploids from a cross of S. vulgare Pers. cv. "Texas Blackhull kafir" × S. arundinaceum (Willd.) Stapf. They recorded 1 II + 8 I in four out of 26 diakinesis or metaphase I cells studied. In the remaining 22 cases, 10 irregularly distributed univalents were observed. Although the haploids were predominantly sterile in nature, they could obtain seeds by pollinating haploid plants with Texas Blackhull kafir pollen.

Schertz (1963) reported 19 haploids from a population of 41,300 plants at Chillicothe, Texas, a ratio of 1 in 2174 plants. The haploids reported by all authors recorded smaller stature, glumes, anthers, and panicles with sparse seed set. Schertz (1963) further added that the pollen stainability varied from 0 to 1.5 %, and seed set

on selfing ranged from 0 to 2 %. They could obtain 394 progeny of haploids by cross-pollination. Cytology of the haploids recorded around 3 % of metaphase cells with 8 Is and an association of two chromosomes. He also recorded unequal chromosome distribution during anaphase I leading to a large nucleus in one secondary sporocyte and no or small nucleus in the other sporocyte. He also observed multinucleate secondary sporocytes, many micronuclei and nuclei of varied sizes. He recorded varied distribution of chromosomes to poles at anaphase.

Murty and Rao (1974) have concluded that the occurrence of bivalents in the haploids indicates the duplicate nature of the genome of grain sorghum. Almost all authors have observed the occasional production of diploid plants from haploids. This suggests that diploid nuclei with full haploid complement as occasionally observed by Brown (1943), Kidd (1952), and others are formed during disjunction leading to normal ovule development.

3.1.2 Triploids

Kidd (1952) obtained a triploid plant from the F_1 of a cross between ms#2Dwarf Tan Kafir and Redlan F_1 , which was sterile. Because male sterility is a recessive trait, the sterile plant in the F₁ generation itself was diagnosed and investigated. Out of 24 cells investigated eight cells showed 10 III, five had 9 III + 1 II + 1 I, six recorded 8 III + 2 II + 2 I, three had 7 III + 3 II + 3 I, and one each was detected with 6 III + 4II + 4 I and 4 III + 5 II + 8 I cytological configurations. Subsequently triploids in sorghum have been reported by Price and Ross (1957), Erichsen and Ross (1957), Quinby et al. (1958), Munoz et al. (1963), and Schertz and Stephens (1965). These were obtained from both natural populations and from controlled crosses. Schertz and Stephens (1965) obtained triploids in progeny from plants that had been emasculated with hot water and pollinated subsequently. It is suggested that when hot water is used for emasculation, subsequent pollinations were often

delayed or incomplete, which may lead to self-pollination from pedicelled spikelets. This delayed pollination enhances the probability of triploid formation (Schurtz 1966). Hybrid plants with 30 chromosomes from interspecific crosses of S. vulgare (2 N = 20) and S. halepense (2n = 40) have also been reported (Hadley 1953a, b, 1958; Hadley and Mahan 1956; Endrizzi 1957). Triploids can be distinguished from diploids of the same cultivar in terms of fertility and morphology and cytologically (Murty and Rao 1974). However, in most cases, triploids were not morphologically different from tetraploids, except for high levels of sterility (Roony 2000). Triploids are highly sterile and consistently have large stomatal guard cells. Meiotic pairing of chromosomes is irregular with most common meiotic configuration of 9 IIIs (Murty and Rao 1974). Upon backcrossing triploid plants to diploids in general produce diploid and aneuploid stocks (Price and Ross 1957; Schertz and Stephens 1965). Sengupta and Weibel (1971) reported the occurrence of male sterile triploids to the extent of 0-22 % upon crossing diploid sorghum cultivars to tetraploid S. halepense.

3.1.3 Tetraploids

Autotetraploids and other polyploids in sorghum have been reported by Salomon (1940), Dusseau (1945), Chin (1946), Casady and Anderson (1952), Butany (1955), Atkinson et al. (1957), Doggett (1957), Krishnaswamy et al. (1958), Narayan (1961), Ross and Chen (1962), Doggett (1962), Magoon and Tayyab (1968), Sengupta and Weibel (1971), and others. Crosses between cultivated sorghum and other Sorghum species, particularly S. halepense are reported to produce F_1 hybrids with 40 chromosomes along with triploids (Hadley 1953a, b; Endrizzi 1957; Hadley 1958). Schertz and Stephens (1965) suggested that the tetraploids in such interspecific crosses were derived from abnormal eggs with 20 chromosomes. Tetraploids are reported to produce dark foliage with wavy margins, shorter but stouter straw, larger pollen grains and grain size, higher protein content, longer stomata with a general tendency to flower late and varying degrees of male and female fertility (Murty and Rao 1974; Roony 2000). Chiasmata percentage in the tetraploids is similar to the diploids (Chin 1946). Quadrivalent formation in sorghum tetraploids, particularly of an apomictic culture R 473, is much lower compared to maize (Murty and Rao 1974). Mean quadrivalent frequency per cell in tetraploid sorghum ranges from 0.13 (Krishnaswamy et al. 1958) to 6.22 (Doggett 1964).

Ross and Chen (1962) made a cross between an autotetraploid derived from grain sorghum variety, Experimental 3, and a colchicineinduced mutant M15 derived from Experimental 3. They observed an increase in fertility from 0.5 % in the autotetraploid to 56.9 % in the hybrid. Among the hybrids a reduced number of quadrivalents and univalents, and a higher number of bivalents were observed at diakinesis. From this they concluded that a mutation that might have occurred in diploid M15 aided in reduction of univalent formation.

Tetraploids recorded increased seed size, thus there was a renewed interest in the 1960s to develop autotetraploid grain sorghum cultivars for cultivation (Doggett 1962). A lower level of fertility among tetraploids was the main hindrance towards this direction. However, selection for improved fertility led to identification of tetraploids with nearly the fertility level of diploids (Doggett 1962; Luo et al. 1992). Doggett (1962) suggested that certain neutral genes present in the diploid level influence seed set of the autotetraploid. However, with the initial excitement no substantial progress in this direction has been made over subsequent decades.

3.1.4 Higher Polyploids

Octaploids along with tetraploids in sorghum were first reported by Chin (1946) after treatment of grain sorghum with colchicine. Longley (1946, see Murty and Rao 1974) also found octaploid forms of grain sorghum with the use of colchicine. Octaploids are stouter and shorter

than diploids, slower in growth, and lower in fertility.

3.1.5 Hypoploidy

Schertz (1962) reported the occurrence of hypoploids with chromosome number of 38–39 from a colchicine-treated population of cultivar SA403. Hypoploids in general had less fertile pollen; lower spikelet number, seed number, and total seed weight; but higher grain weight. They observed more univalents, and fewer secondary sporocytes and microspore quartets free of micronuclei as compared to tetraploids.

3.2 Aneuploidy

Vigor and fertility level are relatively better among an uploids as compared to euploids, and often play an important role in gene mapping across plant species. Price and Ross (1955, 1957) were the first to report an euploids in grain sorghum. They made a triploid \times diploid cross and obtained nine normal diploids, nine single trisomics, one probable tetratrisomic, one triple trisomic, one tetrasomic quadruple trisomic complex, and one with undetermined chromosome number from a total of 25 plants. They did not find any noticeable increase or decrease in vigor due to extra chromosomes.

3.2.1 Trisomics

Price and Ross (1955, 1957) reported isolation of trisomics in sorghum. Their studies indicated likelihood of failure to identify trisomic plants. This was probably due to possible heterozygosity of their sources leading to segregating population. Although karyotype analysis enabled the successful identification of trisomics in other species, in sorghum this yielded limited success. While handling haploids derived from a wide cross Endrizzi and Morgan (1955) encountered a trisomic and they suggested that it might have originated during irregular meiosis of the haploid. Hadley and Mahan (1956) obtained a male sterile triploid by crossing male sterile (*ms2*) Texas Blackhull Kafir to Johnsongrass. This sterile line was backcrossed to sweet sudangrass. In the progeny they obtained plants with 21 chromosomes along with normal diploids and other aberrants. They observed the occurrence of 10 II + 1 I as well as 9 II + 1 III. Schertz (1963) recovered five trisomics upon crossing haploids to normal diploids. Pi and Tsai (1965) reported trisomics in Shallu-type sorghum. Poon and Wu later in 1967 studied pachytene chromosomes of seven of them. Heterozygous segregation and associated heterosis often masked the distinguishable phenotypic effect of the extra chromosome (Lin and Ross 1969). To circumvent this Schertz (1966) used a homozygous background of Tx403, an early four-gene dwarf cultivar. They obtained trisomics by crossing triploid Tx403, obtained as a result of hot water emasculation, to diploids of the same cultivar. Based on characteristic features of the derived trisomics, Schertz (1966) grouped them into "Small-glume trisomic", "Stiff-branch trisomic", "Cone trisomic", "Large-glume trisomic", and "Bottle-brush trisomic". These trisomics were distinguishable only after panicle emergence, and became distinct near seed maturity. Using these cytological stocks Venkateswarulu and Reddi (1968) through karyotype analyses linked the bottle brush trisome to chromosome number 9 and large-glume to number 10. Lin and Ross (1969) obtained ten different types of trisomics by selfing a homozygous triploid from the sorghum cultivar, SD100, which was derived by selfing a haploid (Erichsen and Ross 1963). Based on the frequency of trivalent types and total number of trivalents all obtained trisomics were grouped into tens, and arranged in order of decreasing vigor compared to the normal diploid. These ten types were all primary trisomics as there was no association of more than three chromosomes or no ring configuration was observed. The Type 9 involved the nucleolar chromosome. The probable relationship between trisomic frequency and chromosome length was postulated by them. They postulated that Types 4 and 5 identified by them were the same as that of bottle brush and large-glume described by Venkateswarulu and Reddi (1968).

Hanna and Schertz (1971) succeeded in uncovering the identity of these trisomics by crossing to translocation stocks. They succeeded in identifying all 10 primary trisomics described by Schertz (1966) and Lin and Ross (1969). They identified these as A—bottle brush, B—sparse branch, C—compact, D—stiff branch, E—large glume, F—asymmetric, G—cone, H—light green, I—small glume, and J—spear. Schertz (1974) further characterized 5 (B, C, F, H, and J) of the 10 primary trisomics discussed above.

The first effort to localize genes using trisomics was made by Hanna and Schertz (1970). Using trisomic stocks they made an effort to localize 24 seedling lethal mutations. F₂ segregation ratios of trisomic × genetic stocks showed that the gene w_{18} was associated with the bottle-brush trisome, and the genes w_{10} and w_{20} with the cone trisome. Coleoptile color-controlling genes (Rs_1 and Rs_2) were associated with the small-glume and stiff-branch trisomes, respectively.

3.2.2 Other Aneuploids

Reports on other aneuploids in sorghum are scanty. Hadley and Mahan (1956) while backcrossing male sterile triploids to sweet sudangrass obtained a series of aneuploids with 22, 30, 33, 41, and 43 chromosomes along with predominant normal diploids and occasional trisomics. All these plants showed reduced fertility and loss of vigor upon selfing. Schertz (1962) suspected the occurrence of hypotetraploidy in his colchicine-induced tetraploid progeny. In the mentioned work of Lin and Ross (1969) they most frequently obtained single trisomics. Among 111 offspring obtained upon selfing of the triploid cultivar, SD100, they obtained 40 normal diploids, 58 primary trisomics, 11 double trisomics, one triple trisomic, and one plant with unknown configuration as it did not reach heading. They grouped the double trisomics on morphological bases as Types 1-4, 2-8, 3-6, 4-6, 5–3, 5–6, and 8–9. Similarly the triple trisomic was typed as 4-5-6.

Since the 1970s not many reports on aneuploidic variations in sorghum have been available in the published literature.

4 Structural Variations

Occurrence of structural variants is a common phenomenon among plant species. Such variants are distinguished only in heterozygous conditions. Garber (1948) first reported the occurrence of reciprocal translocation in S. versicolor. While handling haploids derived from a cross of S. vulgare cv. Texas Blackhull kafir \times S. arundinaceum, Endrizzi and Morgan (1955) encountered structural variants in sorghum. Like Brown (1943) and Kidd (1952) they also observed occasional bivalents in the haploid. Upon crossing the haploid as female with pollen from Texas Blackhull kafir they obtained three out of 29 F₁s with atypical cytological behavior. In one case they observed a ring or chain of four, typically exemplifying a case of reciprocal translocation. They attributed this occurrence of reciprocal translocation to "crossing over in interstitial duplicate regions of two partially homologous chromosomes during megasporogenesis of the haploid." A second cytologically atypical F₁ indicated occurrence of the "loss of a major portion of the long arm of a heterobrachial chromosomes by crossing over in the duplicate segments of two otherwise non-homologous chromosomes of the hybrids." The third derivative was a trisomic case. Similarly, Schurtz (1963) also reported the occurrence of a translocation derivative in a haploid × diploid cross. Haensel (1960) obtained reciprocal translocations upon gamma irradiation of "colchicin reactive" grain sorghum variety Experimental 3. Huang et al. (1963) studied three such reciprocal translocation stocks, T165, T231, and T396, during meiosis. They recorded approximately 50 % viable pollens, which indicated occurrence of duplications and deficiencies. T396 involved the nucleolar chromosome and a common chromosome pair was found to be involved in T165 and T231. Lessman (1965) used two of these translocation stocks, T231 and T396, for the first time towards gene mapping. He could associate seed color with T396 and midrib color with T231. He concluded that the gene for midrib color is located either distal to the centromere near the breakpoint of one of the

S. Rakshit et al.

interchanged segments, or on one of the opposite arms of the chromosomes involving the centromere. Papathanasiou and Lessman (1969) proposed male sterile CK60 as a standard for chromosome analyses in sorghum and further associated midrib color (Dd) and seed coat color (Yy) to T231 and T396, respectively. Schertz (1970a, b) developed a set of 11 homozygous translocation stocks through gamma irradiation of cv. Combine 7078. These 11 stocks represent at least two translocations involving each of the 10 chromosomes. Using these translocation stocks Hanna and Schertz (1971) identified all 10 trisomes and associated them with their respective phenotypes (discussed in Sect. 4.2.1). Reciprocal translocations in wild and cultivated sorghum accessions have been reported by Morakinya and Olorode (1988). They observed a ring of up to nine chromosomes with the tenth sticking out of the ring at each pole in a cross, TH2 \times IB12. This suggests the occurrence of terminal reciprocal translocations involving all the chromosomes except one in which it is restricted to only one arm. The study suggested the possible origin of sorghum and its wild relatives through segmental allotetraploidy.

5 B-Chromosomes

B-chromosomes are extra chromosomes that are dispensable for the cell, either in certain cells within the organism or in certain individuals within the population. The first report on occurrence of the *B*-chromosome in sorghum was made by Janaki-Ammal (1939, 1940). Among 100 plants of wild diploid grass, *S. purpureosericeum*, the author reported 40 extra chromosomes, which varied from one to six in number. They found that such extra chromosomes were confined to the shoot system alone and were never in the roots. Garber (1944) observed *B*-chromosomes in 38 % of the plants they studied.

Darlington and Thomas (1941) studied the mechanism of the loss of *B*-chromosomes (subsequently referred to as *B*s) in roots in the same material of Janaki-Ammal (1940). They recorded three types of *B*s. The first types are of similar

length to those of A-chromosomes, the second were shorter than the A-chromosomes, and the third were very long isochromosomes. They found that the young roots lose Bs during seed development itself, whereas among shoot cells there is rare loss of Bs. Furthermore, in growing inflorescence the Bs are eliminated from those floral parts not involved in germ cell production. Pollen mother cells (PMC) are free from micronuclei and found to contain an invariable number of Bs, yet other walls rarely contain mucronuclei. It is found that Bs are always delayed in metaphase orientation and sometimes may fail to congregate on the plate altogether. Bs may sometimes fail to disjoin, leading to the formation of the micronucleus. Sometimes misdivision of the centromere may lead to formation of telocentric chromosomes. All these anomalies often lead to the loss of Bs in cell lineages. However, in PMCs B-chromosomes occur in regular numbers in all first methaphase cells. They congregate perfectly but pass on to one pole only without division. At second mitosis they divide without any delay. Primary division in the pollen grains is regular irrespective of whether Bs are present or not, which occurs roughly one week after meiosis. During this division some structural changes may occur. However, it is observed that the vacuole, which generally separates the vegetative and generative nuclei, disappears and the nuclei remain close together. This is followed by certain abnormalities including nonpolarization, subequal division of cytoplasm, and rapid divisions of the vegetative nucleus. The supernumerary division of the vegetative nucleus is quite uncommon in other species. During these rapid supernumerary divisions B-chromosomes show somatic defects by lagging on the anaphase spindle. However, they do not get lost from the cell, and mostly pass undivided towards the generative pole. At this point the germ-track nucleus doubles its set of Bs. The supernumerary divisions during stated polymitosis are believed to be stimulated by the presence of B-chromosomes. During sperm formation polymitosis leads to three developments: no sperm, two sperm, and two pairs of sperm of unequal size. Janaki-Ammal (1940) observed

much increase in empty grains in *B*-chromosome "plus" plants, and this happens due to increased occurrence of polymitosis during middle pollen grain growth. Both Janaki-Ammal (1940) and Darlington and Thomas (1941) observed that *B*-dosage effect on polymitosis is geometric rather arithmetic. This is a typical disjunction of the *B*-chromosome, which is referred to as "sorghum type disjunction" (Schulz-Schaeffer 1980). Garber (1950) observed that the *B*-chromosome did not influence pollen fertility or seed set until four *B*s are present.

B-chromosomes are heterochromatic with variable behavior in different cells. A varied degree of condensation depending on the activity of the cell and the size of the nucleus may be behind this variable behavior. Variation in the sizes of nucleoli and persistence to anaphase are the characteristic features of polymitotic pollen grains.

Darlington and Thomas (1941) suggested that differential behavior of B-chromosomes in sorghum is a special adaptive behavior. They opined that polymitosis is a suicidal action (they also referred to it as "malignant mitosis") and there needs a powerful compensation for this to survive. They found that this is achieved by doubling of the Bs in the second generative nucleus. Such doubling leads to an increase in the content of Bs in every generation; opposite physiological selection reduces their frequency to an equal extent. Bosemark (1957) summarized that Bchromosomes in S. purpureo-sericeum are of various size classes, heterochromatic, observed in anthers and never in root tissues, do not pair with ordinary chromosomes but among themselves and show nondisjunction on the male side. Basic microscopic organizational differences between the centromeres of A- and B-chromosomes have been observed (Reddy 1958). This structural difference is considered to be the causal factor underlying the abnormal behavior of Bs at mitosis.

Magoon et al. (1961) observed a different degree of sterility in *S. purpureo-sericeum*, which was dependent on the numbers of *B*-chromosomes. They observed one stunted plant with fewer tillers showing 95–98 % sterility.
Cytologically they found it to contain 10 A + 3fairly large B-chromosomes. In this cytological stock they observed partial pairing at pachytene but pronounced desynapsis to follow during diakinesis, leading to less than 2 bivalents at metaphase I in the majority of cells. Fragmentation predominantly of B^{II} type was also observed in nearly 50 % of the cells in metaphase I. In addition, they reported other meiotic abnormalities as well. This further supports the observation of Janaki-Ammal (1940) and Darlington and Thomas (1941) that B-chromosome numbers have a geometric effect on pollen viability. The work of Reddy (1958) suggested that the marked heterochromatic nature of Bs' rather inadequate centromeres likely causes nondisjunction of Bs at the second pollen mitosis.

B-chromosomes have not been reported from any other species of Parasorghum or Eusorghum (Murty and Rao 1974). Wu reported the occurrence of *B*-chromosomes in three other species of sorghum: *S. nitidum* (Wu 1980), *S. purpureosericeum* (Wu 1984), and *S. stipoideum* (Wu 1992). The findings in these reports are in unison with earlier observations. At meiosis a more stable and regular fashion of behavior by *B*bivalents was reported than the *B*-univalents, particularly in male mitosis. These reports suggested mosaicism of *B*-chromosomes in microsporocytes and tapetal cells, and total elimination from stems and leaves.

6 Molecular Cytogenetic Maps and Genome Architecture

6.1 Molecular Cytogenetic Map

Advances in molecular tools have aided in understanding the genome of plant species more precisely, often making conventional cytological tools obsolete. Draye et al. (2001) discussed a technique for generating synaptonemal complex (SC) spreads from sorghum cv. BTx623, in which all 10 bivalents could be differentiated based on relative lengths and arm ratio. They observed distinct kinetochores in some SC sets, which are otherwise not common in sorghum. SC sets are six to seven times longer than mitotic metaphase chromosome sets. The longest SC is often found to be associated with remnants of nucleolus. It was further observed that the sixth longest SC often was closely associated with an amorphous structure of unknown identity. They suggested the possibility of use of linkage group specific bacterial artificial chromosomes (BAC) in fluorescence in situ hybridization (FISH)-based "chromosome paint," which is also referred to as "cytomolecular mapping." Efforts towards construction of a robust physical map of sorghum were initiated towards the end of the last millennium. The BAC library of cultivated sorghum and wild species S. propinguum was created (Woo et al. 1994; Lin et al. 1999; Klein et al. 2000).

Perhaps the first deployment of FISH in sorghum genome analysis was made by Gomez et al. (1997) who showed that a sequence complementary to maize sh2 cDNA is located at one end of a midsize metacentric sorghum chromosome. For this purpose they used a markerselected 205-kb sorghum BAC clone and a sorghum plant containing an extra copy of one arm of the sorghum chromosome arbitrarily designated with the letter D. The results suggested an homology between one arm of chromosome D in sorghum and the long arm of chromosome 3 in maize. Zwick et al. (1998) analyzed the liguleless (lg-1) linkage group in sorghum and compared it with rice and maize taking advantage of the available sorghum BAC library of Woo et al. (1994). Using six liguleless-associated rice RLFP markers they selected 16 homologous sorghum BACs to map an *lg-1* linkage group to chromosome I physically. This was confirmed using sorghum cytogenetic stock, trisomic for chromosome I. Using FISH Sang and Liang (2000) reported that 18S-5.8S-26S rDNA sequences were located at two sites on the chromosomes in S. bicolor and S. versicolor (2n = 10), but at four sites on the chromosomes of *S. hale*pense (2n = 40) and the tetraploid *S. versi*color (2n = 20). The rDNA sequence is found on the sorghum chromosome 1. With this study they excluded *S. versicolor* as the possible progenitor of *S. bicolor*.

Multiple molecular cytogenetic probes using BAC clones containing molecular markers mapped across sorghum linkage groups were developed by Kim et al. (2002). Using 17 such BAC clones they could successfully identify all 10 chromosomes. Islam-Faridi et al. (2002) further using 19 BAC clones harboring markers for linkage group (LG) 1 could physically map different markers to the short and long arm of chromosome 1. Following a similar strategy Kim et al. (2005b) painted LG-02 and LG-08 using 21 and 19 BAC clones, respectively. They successfully localized Rfl gene to the ~ 0.4 Mbp euchromatic region of LG-08. FISH painting of all 10 SB chromosomes was completed by Kim et al. (2005a). They found that euchromatic DNA spans ~ 50 % of the sorghum genome, with the maximum (~ 60 %) in chromosome 1 (SB-01) and the minimum in chromosome 7 (SB-07). Heterochromatic regions (\sim 411 Mbp) are characterized by a \sim 34-fold lower rate of recombination and \sim 3-fold lower gene density. Their study also revealed macrocolinearity between sorghum and rice chromosomes even though the sorghum genome is \sim 2-fold bigger than that of rice.

6.2 Integrated Physical and Genetic Map

Towards development of an integrated physical and genetic map in sorghum, Klein et al. (2000) adopted a strategy to use arbitrary primer PCRbased amplified fragment length polymorphism (AFLP) fingerprinting of complex DNA populations resulting from pooling of low-coverage BAC libraries. The robustness of physical maps was further improved by merging probe-to-BAC hybridization data with DNA fingerprint data and using the restriction fragment matching method using pools of BAC DNA (Lin et al. 2000). This aided in resolving the chromosomal origin of BAC clones (Draye et al. 2001). Bowers et al. (2005) integrated genetic markers, BAC fingerprints, and BAC hybridization data to develop an integrated physical map of sorghum. It largely represented a genomic component containing 80 % of the single-copy genes. It showed conserved microsynteny with rice. Combining this integrated physical map, detailed genetic map (Chittenden et al. 1994; Bowers et al. 2003), and a whole-genome shotgun sequence (Gardner et al. 1981) approach, Paterson et al. (2009) released the genome sequence of sorghum cv BTx623. It was found that ~75 % of DNA in the sorghum genome was mostly heterochromatic. Euchromatic regions that represent gene-rich regions are nearly 252 Mb in size. One third of the sorghum genome is recombination rich and the rest is assumed to be recombination poor.

6.3 Molecular Architecture of the Centromere

The centromere plays the most important role in the functioning of chromosomes. Centromeres remain highly heterochromatic throughout the cell cycle and are found to possess very intriguing features. The presence of a repetitive sequence is one of the most characteristic features of the centromere across species (Melters et al. 2013). Jiang et al. (1996a, b) isolated a 745-bp repetitive DNA clone, pSau3A9 from the sorghum BAC clone 13I16 (renamed from 52A4). Through FISH they demonstrated that this element is located in the centromeric regions of all sorghum chromosomes. Such an element could be obtained from other cereal species, including rice, maize, wheat, barley, rye, and oats. The pSau3A9 family is associated with the centromere function of cereal chromosomes, and its absence in dicot suggests a faster divergence of centromere-related sequences compared to the telomere-related sequences in plants. Miller et al. (1998) isolated another 823-bp repetitive DNA element from the sorghum BAC clone, 13I16, which was named pSau3A10. Sequence analysis showed that pSau3A10 consists of six copies of an approximately 137-bp monomer. This six monomers are organized into three dimers. They further found that the monomers within the dimers shared 62-72 % homology and the dimers were 79-82 % homologous with each other. Long stretches of Sau3A10 sequences are interrupted by other centromeric DNA elements. The Sau3A10 sequence is one of the most abundant families located in sorghum centromeres. It is conserved in closely related sorghum species but not in other grass species, including rice, sugarcane, bamboo, rye, and wheat. The study suggested that the Sau3A10 family is probably an important part of sorghum centromeres.

Gomez et al. (1998) discovered a 45-kb sorghum BAC (22B2) that differentially hybridizes to centromere regions of 10 of the 20 chromosomes of sorghum. Furthermore, hybridization of this BAC to trisomics for chromosomes E, H, and I displayed 11 signals, which provided strong evidence for the tetraploid origin of sorghum and existence of two subgenomes of five chromosomes each in the S. bicolor. A subclone, pCEN38, which is a 1047-bp insert was soon isolated from the reported BAC 22B2 (Zwick et al. 2000). This sequence produced the strongest signal near the centromeres of half of the chromosome sets as reported by Gomez et al. (1998). pCEN38 showed narrow taxonomic distribution across 21 crop plants tested. DNA sequence analysis revealed that the pCEN38 fragment contained three tandem dimer (280 bp) repeats of the same sequence family found in sorghum clone pSau3A10. Furthermore, each dimer consisted of two divergent monomers (140 bp). Sequence homology between the pCEN38 monomers and the SCEN 140-bp tandem repeat family of sugarcane was striking.

With these findings Zwick et al. (2000) suggested that sugarcane and sorghum share at least one ancestor harboring elements similar to pCEN38 and SCEN and that each species had an ancestor in which the repetitive element was weakly present or lacking. In a recent study of candidate centromere tandem repeat sequence comparison of 282 animal and plant species did not display readily apparent conserved characteristics (Melters et al. 2013). This study showed that the closely related Sorghum and Miscanthus species have similar 137-bp repeats, but interestingly, no sequence similarity was found between the closely related Zea and Sorghum species or between Oryza species and Brachypodium, Aegilops, or Hordeum. Organization of the centromere and its significance in plant phylogeny is still an active area of research.

7 Wide Introgression Program

7.1 Wild Relatives of Sorghum: A Treasure-Trove of Valuable Traits

Wild sorghum species have greater adaptability due to continuous exposure to harsh climates, and have resistance to many biotic and abiotic stresses that affect sorghum grain production. Introgression of genes from undomesticated Sorghum species into cultivated sorghum is the first step towards accessing these unique unexploited genes for both biotic and abiotic stresses and agronomic traits. However, genes from wild sorghums are underutilized in crop improvement programs. Based on the extent of crossability of the wild species with a cultivated gene pool, wild species are classified into three gene pools: (i) cross-compatible wild species that produce fertile F_1 plants categorized into the *primary* gene pool; (ii) the secondary gene pool consisting of distant wild species that produce partially sterile hybrids; and (iii) the tertiary gene pool consisting of far distant wild species that have

difficulty producing F₁ hybrids (Harlan and de Wet 1972). The primary gene pool contains all three subspecies of S. bicolor: subsp. arundicum, bicolor, and drumondii (Cox 1983; de Wet et al. 1976). The two species in Eusorghum, S. propinguum and S. halepense, constitute the secondary gene pool. Sorghum bicolor and S. propinguum crosses are easily made, in which the meiosis is normal and progeny are fertile. However, there has been negligible use of this germplasm in applied sorghum improvement (Wooten 2001). Sorghum and S. halepense hybrids are possible with difficulty. Major efforts to utilize S. halepense are directed towards developing perennial grain crops (Piper and Kulakow 1994; Cox et al. 2002; Dweikat 2005). The tertiary gene pool contains the remaining 17 species within the four other sections. Most of the desirable traits for cultivated sorghum are contained in the tertiary gene pool (Harlan 1965), but this gene pool has remained more or less inaccessible as successful hybrids could not be recovered despite numerous efforts (Kuhlman et al. 2010). Regarding genetic improvements of sorghum, most common genetic variations from within the primary gene pool have been used.

As early as 1967, Magoon et al. observed irregular chromosome pairing in the two interspecific hybrids between the nonrhizomatous subsect, Arundinacea, the S. propinguum and rhizomatous subsect, Halepensia species, based on which they suggested alienating S. propinguum from the subsect Arundnacea. Other taxa of sorghum were crossable with cultivated types leading to formation of different races. Introgression of genes from arundinaceum into the early cultivated types produced the guinea phenotype and permitted extension of grain sorghum cultivation into forest areas (de Wet et al. 1976). Race virgatum crosses with *durra* sorghums; race *verticilliflorum* is widespread and crosses with cultivated types; and race aethiopicum crosses with cultivated races caudatum and durra. S. halepense or Johnsongrass, is one among 10 worst weeds of the world but it has tremendous vigor and adaptation. Several desirable traits from Johnsongrass, including resistance to greenbug and chinch bug, and adaptability to cold temperatures, can be transferred to the hybrid progeny.

Sorghum downy mildew (SDM) caused by Peronosclerospora sorghi Weston and Uppal (Shaw) is a serious disease of sorghum. Out of 16,000 world sorghum collections screened at ICRISAT only about 130 accessions were resistant against the SDM pathogen (Pande et al. 1997). Kamala et al. (2002) reported 36 potential sources of resistance against this fungus from wild species of sorghum. Members of the tertiary genepool, representing Chaeto-, Hetero-, Stipo-sorghum, and the Australian Parasorghum, are reported to be immune to the disease. Although in the study they found S. versicolor, S. purpureo-sericeum, and S. nitidum to be highly resistant, these accessions showed susceptibility in other reports (Bonde and Freytag 1979; Bonman et al. 1983). It has been found that the majority of wild Eusorghum are highly susceptible to SDM with the exception of two accessions (IS 18821 and IS 18882) and a weedy accession of S. halepense (IS 33712).

Striga is an important parasitic weed of sorghum, with much economic significance in Africa. S. versicolor was reported to be highly resistant to striga (Deodikar 1951). Rich et al. (2004), while screening 55 wild accessions and 20 sorghum cultivars, reported the presence of various mechanisms towards Striga resistance among wild species. These include low germination stimulant production, germination inhibition, and low haustorial initiation activity among others. PQ-434 and IS18803 and others were found to be potential sources of Striga resistance. Wild species harbor sources of resistance against insects as well. Kamala et al. (2009) identified 32 accessions from Para-, Stipo- and Hetero-sorghum with near immune response to shoot-fly (Atherigona soccata Rond.) under field conditions. They further identified one accession each from Heterosorghum (S. laxiflorum) and Chaetosorghum (S. macrospermum) with very low shoot-fly damage. Wild species, S. versicolor and S. purpureo-sericeum, were reported to be immune to shoot-fly infestation in India (Bapat and Mote 1983). Sources of resistance against spotted stem borer (Chilo partellus) were also identified in wild species of Heterosorghum, Parasorghum, and Stiposorghum (Kamala et al. 2012). The stem borers were reported to develop on Sudan grass (Khan et al. 2000) and S. arundinaceum (Muyekho et al. 2005). Sources of resistance against sorghum midge (Stenodiplosis sorghicola) have been reported from Australian sorghum species (Harris 1976; Sharma and Franzmann 2001). S. macrospermum (2n = 40), the only member of the section Chaetosorghum, does not possess any agronomically desirable traits, but was reported to have significant resistance against sorghum midge (Franzmann and Hardy 1996; Sharma and Franzmann 2001). It is also resistant to sorghum downy mildew (Kamala et al. 2002) and has high tolerance to shoot-fly (Sharma et al. 2005). Resistance against green bug [Schizaphis graminum (Rondani)] biotype C and E is found in the race virgatum of S. bicolor ssp. verticilliflorum and in S. halepense, respectively (Duncan et al. 1991). Johnson- and sudangrass possess allelopathic properties by reducing the growth of weeds (Kamala et al. 2015). However, this is likely to affect growth of subsequent plants as well (Weston et al. 2013).

Australian native *Sorghum* species are reported to possess good grain starch and nutrition properties (Dillon et al. 2007b). Increased protein in the starchy endosperm of the wild species has been reported that influences the digestibility of sorghum.

7.2 Utilization of Wild Species in Sorghum Improvement and Application of *Iap* Allele

Wild species of sorghum are rich sources for various traits, however, there has been only limited exploitation of wild species in secondary and tertiary gene pools due to cross incompatibility (Rao et al. 2003). Using three-generation backcross (BC₃) lines and hybrids with *S. propinquum* Wooten (2001) attempted to improve cultivated grain sorghum with limited

success. Dweikat (2005) succeeded in obtaining an interspecific hybrid with 2n = 20 chromosomes between a nuclear male sterile sorghum and *S. halepense*. The hybrid plant was fertile and segregated normally in the F₂ generation. Hadley and Mahan (1956) derived F₁ progeny from kafir Johnsongrass, *S. halepense*, which were triploids. However, backcross progeny resulted in 20 chromosome plants with large morphological variation.

Huelgas et al. (1996) pollinated *S. bicolor* with four wild species from the tertiary gene pool —*S. macrospermum, S. timorense, S. matarankense.* and *S. stipoideum*—without success. Hybridization with an Australian species, *S. macrospermum* and *S. bicolor*, demonstrated partial compatibility among themselves (Kuhlman 2007). Hodnett et al. (2005) determined that pollen–pistil incompatibilities are the main cause of reproductive isolation between sorghum and the tertiary gene pool. Incompatible reaction leading to no pollen tube growth of wild species in the stigma and style leads to unsuccessful fertilization (Dhillon et al. 2007a, b).

Laurie and Bennett (1989) screened S. bicolor accessions using maize pollens. They discovered a sorghum accession (Nr481) from China in which the maize pollen germinated and pollen tubes grew into the styles of some sorghum plants. It was found that a recessive allele, *iap* (inhibitor of alien pollen), when present in the pistillate sorghum plant in the homozygous state, allows the maize pollen tubes to grow through the sorghum pistils, whereas the dominant allele Iap did not. The authors demonstrated that the recessive iap allele circumvents pollen-pistil incompatibilities and permits hybrids to be made between S. bicolor and species of the tertiary gene pool. Using this allele, hybrids were obtained between S. bicolor and S. macrospermum (Price et al. 2005a). The hybrids were phenotypically intermediate between the parents. These hybrids revealed moderate levels of allosyndetic recombination (2.6 II per PMC), indicating that introgression through genetic recombination is possible. The interspecific hybrids obtained by Price et al. (2005a) were derived by crossing CMS sorghum lines with

pollens from *S. macrospermum*. The efficiency of hybrid production was improved dramatically with the use of a sorghum genotype homozygous for the *iap* allele. Using a similar strategy Price et al. (2006) recovered hybrids between sorghum and *S. macrospermum*, *S. nitidum*, and *S. angustum*, though only hybrids with *S. macrospermum* survived till maturity. Promising sorghum lines with fodder attributes were developed through interspecific hybridization between cultivated sorghum CO 27 (2n = 20) and *S. halepense* (2n = 40) (Raveendran et al. 2000).

Discovery of the *iap* mutant and its transfer in homozygous condition to an improved parental line has opened up the introduction of variation from incompatible sources into cultivated sorghum. Identification of the *iap* allele in germplasm and transfer of the allele to a cultivated background was carried out by Mullet et al. (2010). Kuhlman and Rooney (2011) transferred the *iap* allele and *ms3* into an agronomically superior germplasm line, Tx3361. This new line was released by the Texas Agrilife Research sorghum breeding program in January 2010 (Reg. No. GP-661, PI 659454). Bartek (2010) and Bartek et al. (2012) recorded high levels of pollen tube growth into the ovaries of this line even when pollens from Pennisetum ciliare and four accessions of maize were used. This germplasm is unique because it lacks a key factor that represses alien pollen growth on the stigma. This line is restricted for use in breeding programs through patents (Publication No. EP2312935 A1). Lower humidity was reported to maximize maize pollen adhesion and germination on the stigmas of Tx3361 (Gill et al. 2014). At 45 % humidity multiple maize pollen tubes were observed in the sorghum style and ovary. Thus, intergeneric crosses with *iap* sorghum should be performed at low humidity levels. Using this genetic stock as a female parent, interspecific crosses with wild species of sorghum and intergeneric crosses with sugarcane were obtained (Hodnett et al. 2005, 2010; Price et al. 2006; Kuhlman et al. 2008, 2010). The intergeneric hybrid between sorghum and sugarcane was

called Sorcane. Introgression of wild genes from an Australian species *S. macrospermum* was successful after repeated backcrosses of the progeny (Kuhlman et al. 2010). In BC₂F₁ relatively stable lines with alien addition and substitution were obtained. Interspecific hybrids between cultivated sorghum (*iap/iap*) and three *S. halepense* accessions were successfully made by Whitmire (2011). The *Iap* gene is localized to a 48-kb region on the short arm of chromosome 2 (Gill et al. 2014). This has opened up the possibility of transfer of this allele to other germplasm.

7.3 Sorghum × Sugarcane Crosses

Crosses between sorghum and sugarcane were taken up to introduce resistance to shoot-fly in sorghum. Intergeneric hybrids between the sorghum male sterile line, ICSA56, and Saccharum officinarum (IJ76-316) were obtained and the hybridity was demonstrated through cytological evidence (Nair 1999). Four out of five hybrid seedlings obtained from 3670 sorghum florets could survive. The number of hybrids obtained was higher when sugarcane was used as the female parent and lower when sorghum was the female parent. These hybrids more resembled S. officinarum in gross morphology with a few sorghum characters such as soft, narrow, and drooping leaves. The somatic chromosome number of the hybrids ranged from 62 to 66. Sorghum \times sugarcane hybrids in general lacked vigor and were slow in growth and establishment. Though the hybrids were phenotypically close to the sugarcane parent, random amplified polymorphic DNA (RAPD) markers could precisely identify the true hybridity (Nair et al. 2006). These hybrids did not set seeds at Coimbatore, India (where sugarcane sets seed) or at Hyderabad, India. At the ICAR-Indian Institute of Millets Research, Hyderabad, India, these are maintained vegetatively. They flower during the winter season in November and December. The panicles resemble sugarcane. Pollen fertility in these florets was 10–15 %.

8 Male and Female Sterility

8.1 Male Sterility

Cytoplasmic-genic male sterility, a potential system for hybrid seed production, results from the interaction between the cytoplasm and nuclear genetic factors. Commercial hybrid development and cultivation in sorghum became possible with the discovery of cytoplasmicnuclear male sterility (CMS) designated as A1 (milo) developed from the progeny of a cross between cultivars, dwarf yellow sooner milo (female) and Texas blackhull kafir (male; Stephens and Holland 1954). From then onwards, CMS-based hybrids have been developed and commercialized worldwide. However, these are principally A1 CMS system-based (Reddy et al. 2007) with infrequent establishment of A2-based hybrids (Qing Shan et al. 2000). Subsequently several non-milo CMS systems, namely A2, A3, A4, IndianA4 (A4 M, A4VZM, A4G), A5, A6, 9E, and KS were reported in sorghum (Webster and Singh 1964; Ross and Hackerott 1972; Schertz and Ritchey 1978; Quinby 1981; Worstell et al. 1984; Schertz 1994).

Several genes have been reported for male sterility in sorghum resulting in failure of pollen production or pollen abortion. Three independent genes ms1, ms2, and ms3 were identified and described by Ayyangar and Ponniaya (1937), Stephens (1937), and Webster (1965). The pollens are nonfunctional but anthers are normal in these male sterile plants. Ayyangar (1942) reported male sterility with the absence of pollen. A male sterility source with the absence of anthers was reported by Karper and Stephens (1936). Barabas (1962) in his study used mutagenic treatment to induce male sterility and the resultant plant showed very small anthers without pollen inside. Singh and Hadley (1961) attempted to study the reason for pollen abortion in sorghum. They revealed that the meiosis towards development of anthers is normal in both fertile sterile and plants. However, the post-meiotic abnormal tapetum behavior in the MS plant caused pollen abortion. The tapetum of sterile plants was thicker especially at later stages and varied greatly from the fertile plants. Damon (1961) and Warmke and Overman (1972a, b) attributed this to the destruction and regeneration of the callose walls of the microsporocytes in cytoplasmic male sterile plants. Erichsen and Ross (1963) also observed similar irregularities in colchicine-induced male sterile mutants. They further described abnormal chromosome numbers in male sterile plants at microsporogenesis resulting from failure of breakdown of the cell walls of microsporocytes during meiosis prophase I, followed by fusion of their cytoplasm.

8.2 Female Sterility

Female sterility in sorghum was first reported by Casady et al. (1960) resulting in the development of rudimentary stigma, ovary, and style. The sterility was reported to be governed by two genes (Fs1 and Fs2) with dominant complementary interaction. However, male fertility was not affected in the presence of these genes. The sterility was governed by the dosage of alleles. Heterozygous plants at two loci (Fs1fs1Fs2fs2) resulted in female sterility, whereas plants with three heterozygous loci resulted in dwarf plants with no heading. A third locus, Fs3 was reported by Malm (1967) also governing female sterility.

8.3 Fertility Restoration

The inheritance of fertility restoration is dependent on the type of cytoplasm and nuclear genes. A single gene is responsible for fertility restoration in A1 cytoplasm but is controlled by two or more genes when the same nuclear genotype interacts with a different cytoplasm (Schertz

1994). Ashok Kumar et al. (2008) reviewed different genes restoring fertility in different CMS backgrounds. Progeny segregating with A1 cytoplasm in the F_2 generation showed that a single gene was responsible for fertility restoration in A1 cytoplasm (Murty 1986; Murthy and Gangadhar 1990). Other results on A1 cytoplasm have described that one or two genes (Qian 1990) or even up to three genes (Lonkar and Borikar 1994) are involved in controlling fertility restoration. Murthy (1986) described at least three genes controlling the fertility restoration of A_2 cytoplasm. Lonkar and Borikar (1994) described that two to four genes are required, but three genes were optimal for the fertility restoration in backcross generations in A2 cytoplasm. In another study, Murthy and Gangadhar (1990) concluded that two complementary genes are required for fertility restoration in A2 cytoplasm. ICRISAT studies showed that the recovery of fertile plants' frequency were less on A3 than A4, A2, and A1 indicating a higher number of genes are involved in governing fertility restoration on A3 than the other CMS systems (Reddy and Prasad Rao 1992).

9 Future Prospects

Undomesticated wild species of sorghum are found to be the repository for resistance to biotic and abiotic stresses and these are underexploited in sorghum breeding programs. Breaking the pre-fertilization barriers and introducing the wild traits through backcrossing can open a new avenue to increasing sorghum production. With the genome sequence available in sorghum, and a large number of genotypes being resequenced, it is high time that promising wild species with proven traits of importance are to be sequenced so that genes or alleles can be discovered and deployed in breeding programs. With the advent of molecular genomics, conventional cytogenetic tools might have become redundant but are needed to bring together the plethora of cytological information generated over this period with the genomic information being generated at a rapid pace.

References

- Adanson M (1763) Families de Plantes 2:38. Paris, France
- Ashok Kumar A, Reddy Belum VS, Kaul SL (2008) Alternative cytoplasmic male sterility systems in sorghum and their utilization. In: Reddy Belum VS, Ramesh S, Ashok Kumar A, Gowda CLL (eds) Sorghum improvement in the new millenium. ICRISAT, India, pp 153–169
- Atkinson GF, Franzke CJ, Ross JG (1957) Differential reaction of two varieties of sorghum to colchicin treatment. J Hered 48:259–564
- Ayyangar GNR (1942) The description of crop plant characters and their ranges of variation. IV. Variability of Indian sorghum. Indian J Agric Sci 12:527–563
- Ayyangar GNR and Ponnaiya BWX (1937) The occurrence and inheritance of purple pigment on the glumes of sorghum close on emergence from the boot. Curr Sci 5:590
- Ayyanger GNR, Ponnaiya BXW (1941) Studies in para-sorghum snowden—the group with bearded nodes. Proc Indian Acad Sci 14:17–24
- Bapat DR, Mote UN (1983) Sources of shootfly resistance in sorghum. J Maharashtra Agric Univ 7:238–240
- Barabas Z (1962) Observation of sex differentiation in sorghum by use of induced male sterile mutants. Nature 195:257–259
- Bartek MS (2010) Survey for intergeneric pollen tube growth in intergeneric pollinations utilizing the *iap* allele in *Sorghum bicolor*. Texas A&M University, College Station, TX, USA, p 41
- Bartek MS, Hodnett GL, Burson BL, Stelly DM, Rooney WLR (2012) Pollen tube growth after intergeneric pollinations of iap-homozygous sorghum. Crop Sci 52:1553–1560
- Bonde MR, Freytag RE (1979) Host range of an American isolate of *Peronosclerospora sorghi*. Plant Dis Rep 63:650–654
- Bonman JM, Paisooksantivatana Y, Pitipornchai P (1983) Host range of *Peronosclerospora sorghi* in Thailand. Plant Dis 67(6):630–632
- Bosemark NO (1957) Further studies on accessory chromosomes in grasses. Hereditas 43:285–297
- Bowers JE, Abbey C, Anderson S, Chang C, Draye X, Hoppe AH, Jessup R, Lemke C, Lennington J, Li Z, Lin YR, Liu SC, Luo L, Marler BS, Ming R, Mitchell SE, Kresovich S, Schertz KF, Paterson AH (2003) A high-density genetic recombination map of sequence-tagged sites for sorghum, as a framework for comparative structural and evolutionary genomics of tropical grains and grasses. Genetics 165:367–386
- Bowers JE, Arias MA, Asher R, Avise JA, Ball RT, Brewer GA, Buss RW, Chen AH, Edwards TM, Estill JC, Exum HE, Goff VH, Herrick KL, Steele CLJ, Karunakaran S, Lafayette GK, Lemke C, Marler BS, Masters SL, McMillan JM, Nelson LK, Newsome GA, Nwakanma CC, Odeh RN, Phelps CA, Rarick EA, Rogers CJ, Ryan SP, Slaughter KA, Soderlund CA, Tang HB, Wing RA, Paterson AH

(2005) Comparative physical mapping links conservation of microsynteny to chromosome structure and recombination in grasses. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 102:13206–13211

- Brown MS (1943) Haploid plants in sorghum. J Hered 34:163–166
- Butany WJ (1955) Chromosome behavior of five sorghum species and the use of embryo culture in growing their interspecific hybrids. MS Thesis, A&M College of Texas, College Station, TX, USA
- Casady AJ, Anderson KL (1952) Hybridization, cytological and inheritance studies of a sorghum cross-autotetraploid sudangrass × (Johnsongrass × 4n Sudangrass). Agron J 44:189–193
- Casady AJ, Heyne EG, Weibel DE (1960) Inheritance of female sterility in sorghum. J Hered 51:35–38
- Celarier RP (1956) Additional evidence for five as the basic chromosome number of the Andropogoneae. Rhodora 58:135–143
- Celarier RP (1958) Cytotaxonomic notes on the subsection halepense of the genus *Sorghum*. Bull Torrey Bot Club 85:49–62
- Celarier RP (1959) Cytotaxonomy of the Andropogoneae, IV. Subtribe Sorgheae. Cytologia 24:285–303
- Chin TC (1946) The cytology of polyploidy sorghum. Am J Bot 33:611–614
- Chittenden LM, Schertz KF, Lin YR, Wing RA, Paterson AH (1994) A detailed RFLP map of Sorghum bicolor × S. propinquum, suitable for high-density mapping, suggests ancestral duplication of sorghum chromosomes or chromosomal segments. Theor Appl Genet 87:925–933
- Cox TS (1983) Introgression of wild germplasm into cultivated sorghum department: agronomy major: plant breeding and cytogenetics. Iowa State University Ames, IA, USA, p 169
- Cox TS, Bender M, Picone C, Van Tassel DL, Holland JB, Brummer EC, Jackson W (2002) Breeding perennial grain crops. Crit Rev Plant Sci 21(2):59–91. doi:10. 1080/0735-260291044188
- Damon EG (1961) Studies on the occurrence of multiploid sporocytes in three varieties of cytoplasmic male-sterile and the normal fertile variety, resistant wheat and sorghum. Phyton (Argentina) 17:193–203
- Darlington CD, Thomas PT (1941) Morbid mitosis and the activity ofinert chromosomes in sorgum. Proc Roy Soc London B 130:127–150
- de Wet JMJ, Harlan JR, Price EG (1976) Variability in sorghum bicolor. In: Harlan JR, de Wet JMJ, Stemler ABL (eds) Origins of African plant domestication. Mouton Publisher, Hague, Netherlands, pp 453–464
- Deodikar GB (1951) Sorghum versicolor Anderss—a species highly resistant to Striga. Curr Sci 20:135–136
- Dillon SL, Lawrence PK, Henry RJ, Ross L, Price HJ, Johnston JS (2004) Sorghum laxiflorum and S. macrospermum, the Australian native species most closely related to the cultivated S. bicolor based on ITS1 and ndhF sequence analysis of 25 Sorghum species. Plant Syst Evol 249:233–246

- Dillon SL, Lawrence PK, Henry RJ, Price HJ (2007a) Sorghum resolved as a distinct genus based on combined ITS1, *ndh*F and *Adh*1 analyses. Plant Syst Evol 268:29–43
- Dillon SL, Shapter FM, Henry RJ, Cordeiro G, Izquierdo L, Lee LS (2007b) Domestication to crop improvement: genetic resources for *Sorghum* and *Saccharum* (Andropogoneae). Ann Bot 100:975–989
- Doggett H (1957) Tetraploid varieties of Sorghum vulgare. Nature 179:786
- Doggett H (1962) Tetraploid hybrid sorghum. Nature 196:755–756
- Doggett H (1964) Fertility improvement in autotetraploid sorghum. I. Cultivated autotetraploids. Heredity 19:403–417
- Doggett H (1976) Sorghum bicolor (Gramineae-Andropogoneae). In: Simmonds NW (ed) Evolution of crop plants. Longman, London, New York, pp 112–117
- Doggett H (1988) Sorghum. Longman Scientific & Technical, London, UK
- Draye X, Lin Y-R, Qian X, Bowers JE, Burow GB, Morrell PL, Peterson DG, Presting GG, Resn S, Wing RA, Paterson AH (2001) Towards integration of comparative genetic, physical, diversity and cytomolecular maps for grasses and grains, using the sorghum genome as a foundation. Plant Physiol 125:1325–1341
- Duncan RR, Bramel-Cox PJ, Miller FR (1991) Contributions of introduced sorghum germplasm to hybrids development in the USA. In: Shands HL, Wiesner LE (eds) Use of plant introductions in the cultivar development, part 1. crop science society of America, vol 17. Special Publication, Madison, WI, USA, pp 69–101
- Durra BN, Stebbins GL (1952) A polyhaploid obtained from a hybrid derivation of *S. halepense* × *S. vulgare* var. sudanense. Genetics 37:369–374
- Dusseau A (1945) Les effets de la tetraploidie chez le sorgho sucrier. Compt Rend Acad Sci Paris 221:115– 116
- Dweikat I (2005) A diploid, interspecific, fertile hybrid from cultivated sorghum, *Sorghum bicolor*, and the common Johnsongrass weed *Sorghum halepense*. Mol Breed 16:93–101
- Endrizzi JE (1957) Cytological studies in some species and hybrids in the Eu-sorghums. Bot Gaz 119:1–10
- Endrizzi JE, Morgan DT Jr (1955) Chromosomal interchanges and evidence for duplication. J Hered 46:201–208
- Erichsen AW, Ross JG (1957) A triploid derived from a selfed haploid sorghum plant. Crop Sci 3:99–100
- Erichsen AW, Ross JG (1963) Irregularities at microsporogenesis in colchicine-induced male sterile mutants in Sorghum vulgare Pers. Crop Sci 3:481– 483
- Franzmann BA, Hardy AT (1996) Testing the host status of Australian indigenous sorghums for the sorghum midge. In: Foale MA, Henzell RG, Kneip JF

(eds) Proceedings of the third Australian sorghum conference). Tamworth, NSW, Australia, pp 365–367

- Gaines EF, Aase HC (1926) A haploid wheat plant. Am J Bot 13:373–385
- Garber ED (1944) A cytological study of the genus sorghum; subsections para-sorghum and Eu-sorgum. Am Nat 78:89
- Garber ED (1948) A reciprocal translocation in sorghum versicolor Andress. Am J Bot 35:295–297
- Garber ED (1950) Cytotaxonomic studies in the genus Sorghum. Univ Calif Publ Bot 23:283–362
- Garber ED (1954) Cytotaxonomic studies in the genus sorghum. III. The polyploid species of the subgenera para-sorghum and stiposorghum. Bot Gaz 115:336– 342
- Garber ED, Snyder LA (1951) Cytotaxonomic studies in the genus sorghum. II. Two new species from Australia. Madrona 11:6–10
- Gardner RC, Howarth AJ, Hahn P, Brownluedi M, Shepherd RJ, Messing J (1981) The complete nucleotide-sequence of an infectious clone of cauliflower mosaic-virus by M13MP7 shotgun sequencing. Nucleic Acids Res 9:2871–2888
- Gill JR, Rooney WL, Klein PE (2014) Effect of humidity on intergeneric pollinations of iap (inhibition of Alien Pollen) sorghum [Sorghum bicolor (L.) Moench]. Euphytica 198:381–387
- Gomez MI, Islam-Faridi MN, Woo SS, Schertz KF, Jr Czeschin, Wing RA, Stelly DM, Price HJ (1997) FISH of a maize sh2-selected sorghum BAC to chromosomes of Sorghum bicolor. Genome 40:475–478
- Gomez M, Islam-Faridi MN, Zwick M, Czeschin DG Jr, Hart GE, Wing RA, DM Stelly, Price HJ (1998) Tetraploid nature of *Sorghum bicolor* (L.). J Hered 89:188–190
- Gu MH, Ma TH, Liang GH (1984) Karyotype analysis of seven species in the genus Sorghum. J Hered 75:196– 202
- Hackel E (1889) Andropogoneae. In: de Candolle A (ed) Monographie phanerogamarum, vol 6. Masson, Paris, France, pp 1–716
- Hadley HH (1953a) Cytological relationship between Sorghum vulgare and S. halepense. Agron J 45:139– 143
- Hadley HH (1953b) Cytological relationships between Sorghum vilgare and S. halepense. Agron J 45:139– 143
- Hadley HH (1958) Chromosome numbers, fertility and rhizome expression of hybrids between grain sorghum and Johnsongrass. Agron J 50:278–282
- Hadley HH, Mahan JL (1956) The cytogenetic behavour of the progeny from a backcross (*Sorghum vulgare* × *S. helepense* × *S. vulgare*). Agron J 48:102–106
- Haeckel (1885) Engler's bot. Jahrab VII:115–126
- Haensel HD (1960) Responses of experimental 3, a sorghum variety, to gamma radiation and colchicin. MS Thesis South Dakota State College, College Station, South Dakota, USA

- Hanna WW, Schertz KF (1970) Inheritance and trisome linkage of seedling characters in *Sorghum bicolor* (L.) Moench. Crop Sci 10:441–443
- Hanna WW, Schertz KF (1971) Trisome identification in Sorghum bicolor (L.) Moench by observing progeny of triploid × translocation stocks. Can J Genet Cytol 13:105–109
- Harlan JR (1965) The possible role of weed races in the evolution of cultivated plants. Euphytica 14:173–176
- Harlan JR, de Wet JMJ (1972) A simplified classification of cultivated sorghum. Crop Sci 12(2):172–176
- Harris KM (1976) The sorghum midge. Ann Appl Biol 64:114–118
- Hodnett GL, Burson BL, Rooney WL, Dillon SL, Price HJ (2005) Pollen-pistil interactions result in reproductive isolation between sorghum bicolor and divergent *Sorghum* species. Crop Sci 45:1403–1409
- Hodnett GL, Hale AL, Packer DJ, Stelly DM, Silva JD, Rooney WL (2010) Elimination of a reproductive barrier facilitates intergeneric hybridization of Sorghum bicolor and Saccharum. Crop Sci 50:1188–1195
- Huang CC, Ross JG, Haensel HD (1963) Reciprocal translocation in sorghum vulgare. Can J Genet Cytol 5:227–232
- Huelgas VC, Lawrence P, Adkins SW, Mufti MU, Godwin ID (1996) Utilization of the Australian native species for sorghum improvement. Proceedings of the 3rd Australian sorghum conference. Australian Institute of Agricultural Sciences, Melbourne, Australia, pp 369–375
- Huskins CL, Smith SG (1932) A cytological study of the genus sorghum Pers. I. The somatic chromosomes. J Genet 25:241–250
- Huskins CL, Smith SG (1934) A cytological study of the genus sorghum Pers. II. The meiotic chromosomes. J Genet 28:387–395
- Islam-Faridi MN, Childs KL, Klein PE, Hodnett MA, Menz MA, Klein RR, Rooney WL, Mullet JE, Stelly DM, Price HJ (2002) A molecular cytogenetic map of sorghum chromosome I: fluorescence in situ hybridization analysis with mapped bacterial artificial chromosomes. Genetics 161:345–353
- Janaki-Ammal EK (1939) Supernumerary chromosomes in para-sorghum. Curr Sci 8:210–211
- Janaki-Ammal EK (1940) Chromosome diminution in a plant. Nature 146:839–840
- Jiang J, Nasuda S, Dong F, Scherrer CW, Woo S, Wing RA, Gill BS, Ward DC (1996a) A conserved repetitive DNA element located in the centromeres of cereal chromosomes. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 93:14210–14213
- Jiang J, Nasuda S, Dong F, Scherrer CW, Woo S, Wing RA, Gill BS, Ward DC (1996b) A conserved repetitive DNA element located in the centromeres of cereal chromosomes. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 93:14210–14213
- Kamala V, Singh SD, Bramel PJ, Rao DM (2002) Sources of resistance to downy mildew in wild and weedy sorghums. Crop Sci 42:1357–1360

- Kamala V, Sharma HC, Manohar Rao D, Varaprasad KS, Bramel PJ (2009) Wild relatives of sorghum as sources of resistance to sorghum shoot fly *Atherigona soccata*. Plant Breed 28:137–142
- Kamala V, Sharma HC, Manohar Rao D, Varaprasad KS, Bramel PJ, Chandra S (2012) Interactions of spotted stem borer *Chilo partellus* with wild relatives of sorghum. Plant Breed 131:511–521
- Kamala V, Muraya M, Dwivedi SL, Upadhyaya HD (2015) Wild sorghums—their potential use in crop improvement. In: Wang YH, Upadhyaya HD, Kole C (eds) Genetics, genomics and breeding of sorghum. CRC Press, Talor & Francis Group, Boca Raton (USA), London (UK), New York (USA), pp 56–89
- Karper RE (1930) Inheritance in grain sorghum. Texas Agric Exp Sta Annu Rep 43:48–51
- Karper RE, Chisholm AT (1936) Chromosome numbers in sorghum. Am J Bot 23:369–374
- Karper RE, Stephens JC (1936) Floral abnormalities in sorghum. J Hered 27:183
- Kellogg EA (2013) Phylogenetic relationships of Saccharinae and Sorghinae. In: Paterson AH (ed) Genomics of the Saccharinae. Springer, New York, USA, pp 3–21
- Keng YL (1939) The gross morphology of Andropogoneae. Sinensis 10:274–343
- Khan ZR, Pickett JA, Berg JVD, Wadhams LJ, Woodcock CM (2000) Exploiting chemical ecology and species diversity: stem borer and striga control for maize and sorghum in Africa. Pest Manag Sci 56:957– 962
- Kidd HJ (1952) Haploid and triploid sorghum. J Hered 43:204
- Kim JS, Childs KL, Islam-Faridi MN, Menz MA, Klein RR, Klein PE, Price HJ, Mullet JE, Stelly DM (2002) Integrated karyotyping of sorghum by in situ hybridization of landed BACs. Genome 45:402–412
- Kim J-S, Islam-Faridi MN, Klein PE, Stelly DM, Price HJ, Klein RR, Mullet JE (2005a) Comprehensive molecular cytogenetic analysis of sorghum genome architecture: distribution of euchomatin, heterochromatin, genes and recombination in comparison to rice. Genetics 171:1963–1976
- Kim J-S, Klein PE, Klein RR, Price HJ, Mullet JE, Stelly DM (2005b) Molecular cytogenetic maps of sorghum linkage groups 2 and 8. Genetics 169:955– 965
- Klein PE, Klein RR, Cartinhour SW, Ulanch PE, Dong J, Obert JA, Mosishige DT, Schlueter SD, Childs KL, Ale M (2000) A high-throughput AFLP-based method for constructing integrated genetic and physical maps: progress toward a sorghum genome map. Genome Res 10:789–807
- Krishnaswamy N, Chandrasekharan P, Meenakshi K (1958) Abnormal meiosis in the grain sorghums. II. The cytogenetics of the progeny of the desynaptic plant—2. Cytologia 23:251–269
- Kuhlman LC (2007) Sorghum introgression breeding utilizing S. macrospermum. PhD Thesis, Plant Breeding, Graduate Studies of Texas A&M University, USA

- Kuhlman LC, Rooney WL (2011) Registration of Tx3361 sorghum germplasm. J Plant Regis 5:133–134
- Kuhlman LC, Burson BL, Klein PE, Klein RR, Stelly DM, Price HJ, Rooney WL (2008) Genetic recombination in *S. bicolor* × *S. macrospermum* interspecific hybrids. Genome 51:749–756
- Kuhlman LC, Burson BL, Stelly DM, Klein PE, Klein RR, Price HJ, Rooney WL (2010) Early-generation germplasm introgression from Sorghum macrospermum into sorghum (S. bicolor). Genome 53:419–429
- Laubscher FX (1945) A genetic study of sorghum relationships. Dept Agri (Union of South Africa) Sci Bull 242
- Laurie D, Bennett MD (1989) Genetic variation in sorghum for the inhibition of maize pollen tube growth. Ann Bot 64:675–681
- Lazarides M, Hacker JB, Andrew MH (1991) Taxonomy cytology and ecology of indigenous Australian sorghums, *Sorghum moench*, Adropogoneae, Poaceae. Austr Syst Bot 4:591–636
- Lessman KJ (1965) Chromosome analysis in sorghum, Sorghum vulgare Pers. Crop Sci 5:361–362
- Levan A (1941) Syncyte formation in pollent mother cells of haploid *Phleum protense*. Hereditas 27:243–252
- Lin PS, Ross JG (1969) Morphology and cytological behavior of aneuploids of *Sorghum bicolor*. Can J Genet Cytol 11:908–918
- Lin YR, Zhu L, Ren S, Yang J, Schertz KF, Paterson AH (1999) A Sorghum propinquum BAC library, suitable for cloning genes associated with loss-of-function mutations during crop domestication. Mol Breed 5:511–520
- Lin Y-R, Draye X, Qian X, Ren S, Zhu L-H, Tomkins J, Wing R, Li Z, Paterson AH (2000) Locus-specific contig assembly in highly-duplicated genomes, using the BAC-RF method. Nucleic Acids Res 28:e23
- Linnaeus C (1753) Species plantarum 1047
- Longley AE (1932) Chromosomes in grass sorghum. J Agric Res 44:317–321
- Lonkar SG, Borikar ST (1994) Inheritance of A1 and A2 cytoplasmic genetic male sterility in sorghum. J Maharashtra Agric Univ 19:450
- Luo YW, Yen XC, Zhang GY, Liang GH (1992) Agronomic traits and chromosome behavior of autotetraploid sorghums. Plant Breed 109:46–53
- Magoon ML, Shambulingappa KG (1961) Karyomorphology of *Sorghum propinquum* and its bearing on the origin of the 40-chromosome sorghum. Chromosoma 42:460–465
- Magoon ML, Tayyab MA (1968) Cytogenetic studies in Eu-sorghum. J Genet 60:52–67
- Magoon ML, Ramanna MS, Shambulingappa KG (1961) Desynapsis and spontaneous chromosome breakage in *Sorghum purpureo-sericeum*. Indian J Genet 21:87–97
- Magoon ML, Tayyab MA, Sadasivaiah RS (1967) A cytomorphological study of the genus *Sorghum*. Bot Mag Tokyo 80:427–439
- Malm NR (1967) Female sterility in grain sorghum involving linked genes. Crop Sci 7:548

- Melters DP, Bradnam KR, Young HA, Telis N, May MR, Ruby JG, Sebra R, Peluso P, Eid J, Rank D, Garcia JF, DeRisi JL, Smith T, Tobias C, Ross-Ibarra J, Korf I, Chan SWL (2013) Comparative analysis of tandem repeats from hundreds of species reveals unique insights into centromere evolution. Genome Biol 14: R10 (http://genomebiology.com/content/14/1/R10)
- Miller JT, Jackson SA, Nasuda S, Gill BS, Wing RA, Jiang J (1998) Cloning and characterization of a centromere-specific repetitive DNA element from *Sorghum bicolor*. Theor Appl Genet 96:832–839
- Moench C (1794) Methodus plantas horti botanici. Et Agri 207
- Morakinya JA, Olorode O (1988) Cytogenetic studies in Sorghum bicolor (L.) Moench. Cytologia 53:653–658
- Morden CW, Doebley J, Schertz KF (1990) Allozyme variation among the spontaneous species of sorghum section sorghum (poaceae). Theor Appl Genet 80:296–304
- Mullet J, Stelly D, Rooney W, Gould JM (2010) Novel biofuel/biofeedstocks to redefine bioenergy production economics. www.researchvalley.org/UserFiles/File/ .../Tx_AgriLife_Research_Biofuel.p
- Munoz JM, Webster OJ, Morris RM (1963) Studies on triploids and their progenies in sorghum. Agron Abstr 86
- Murty UR (1986) Effect of A2 cytoplasm on the inheritance of plant height in temperate × tropical sorghum crosses. Sorghum Newsl 29:77
- Murty UR, Gangadhar G (1990) Milo and non-milo sources of cytoplasm in *Sorghum bicolor* (L.) Moench. III. Genetics of fertility restoration. Cereal Res Commun 18:111–116
- Murty UR, Rao NGP (1974) Cytogenetics of sorghum. In: Kachroo P (ed) Advancing frontiers in cytogenetics in evolution and improvement of plants, proceedings of national seminar held at University of Kashmir, Oct 14–19, 1972. Hinclustan Publisher Delhi, India
- Muyekho FN, Barrion AT, Khan ZR (2005) Host range for stemborers and associated natural enemies in different farming systems of Kenya. Insect Sci Appl 3:173–183
- Nair NV (1999) Production and cyto-morphological analysis of intergeneric hybrids of *Sorghum × Saccharum*. Euphytica 108:187–191
- Nair NV, Selvi A, Sreenivasan TV, Pushpalatha KN, Mary S (2006) Characterization of intergeneric hybrids of saccharum using molecular markers. Genet Resour Crop Evol 53:163–169
- Narayan KN (1961) Behaviour of colchicin induced polyploids in sorghum vulgare Pres and their crosses. MS Thesis A&M College of Texas, College Station, Texas, USA
- Ng'uni D, Geleta M, Gatih M, Bryngelsson T (2010) Phylogenetic analysis of the genus sorghum based on combined sequence data from cpDNA regions and ITS generate well-supported trees with two major lineages. Ann Bot 105:471–480

- Pande S, Bock CH, Bandyopadhyay R, Narayana YD, Reddy BVS, Lenné JM, Jeger MJ (1997) Downy mildew of sorghum. ICRISAT, Patancheru, India, p 51
- Papathanasiou GA, Lessman KJ (1969) Use of cytoplasmic male sterility, compared to hand emasculation, and translocations for chromosome analysis in *Sorghum vulgare* Pers. Crop Sci 9:403–405
- Parvatham G, Rangaswamy SRS (2004) Karyomorphological and phylogenetic studies in different species of *Sorghum L Moench. Cytologia* 69:301–305
- Paterson AH, Bowers JE, Bruggmann R, Dubchak I, Grimwood J, Gundlach H, Haberer G, Hellsten U, Mitros T, Poliakov A, Schmutz J, Spannagl M, Tang H, Wang X, Wicker T, Bharti AK, Chapman J, Feltus FA, Gowik U, Grigoriev IV, Lyons E, Maher CA, Martis M, Narechania A, Otillar RP, Penning BW, Salamov AA, Wang Y, Zhang L, Carpita NC, Freeling M, Gingle AR, Hash CT, Keller B, Klein P, Kresovich S, McCann MC, Ming R, Peterson DG, Mehboob ur R, Ware D, Westhoff P, Mayer KF, Messing J, Rokhsar DS (2009) The Sorghum bicolor genome and the diversification of grasses. Nature 457:551–556
- Pi CP, Tsai S (1965) Trisomics of Sorghum vulgare. Sorghum Newsl 8:3–5
- Piper CV (1916) Forage plants and their culture. Macmillan, New York, USA
- Piper JK, Kulakow PA (1994) Seed yield and biomass allocation in *Sorghum bicolor* and F1 and backcross generations of *S. bicolor* x *S. halepense* hybrids. Can J Bot 72:468–474
- Poon NH and Wu HK (1967) Identification of involved chromosomes in trisomics of *Sorghum vulgare* Pers. J Agr Ass China 58(N.S.):18–32
- Price E, Ross WN (1955) The occurrence of trisomic and other aneuploids in a cross of triploid × diploid *Sorgum vulgare*. Agron J 47:591–592
- Price E, Ross WN (1957) Cytological study of a triploid × diploid Sorgum vulgare Pers. Agron J 49:237–240
- Price HJ, Hodnett GL, Burson BL, Dillon SL, Rooney WL (2005a) A Sorghum bicolor × S. macrospermum hybrid recovered by embryo rescue and culture. Aust J Bot 53:579–582
- Price HJ, Dillon SL, Hodnett G, Rooney WL, Ross L, Johnston JS (2005b) Genome evolution in the genus *Sorghum* (Poaceae). Ann Bot 95:219–227
- Price HJ, Hodnett GL, Burson BL, Dillon SL, Stelly DM, Rooney WL (2006) Genotype dependent interspecific hybridization of *Sorghum bicolor*. Crop Sci 46:2617– 2622
- Qian ZQ (1990) Discussions on the inheritance of A1 cytoplasmic male sterility and the establishment of differentiating line for restoring genotype in sorghum. Hereditas 12:11–12
- Qin C, Wei W, Sestras RE (2008) The phylogenetic analysis and identification of sorghum helepense and related species based on Chi-B partial sequence. Not Bot Hort Agrobot Cluj 36:55–58

- Qing Shan L, Ai Ping Jun, Yin Li Tuan, Yao Zhang Fu (2000) New grain sorghum cytoplasmic male-sterile line A2 V4 A and F1 hybrid Jinza No.12 for Northwest China. Int Sorghum Millets Newsl 41:31– 32
- Quinby J (1981) Interaction of genes and cytoplasms in male sterility in sorghum. In: Proceedings of the annual corn and sorghum industry research conference American seed trade association, corn and sorghum division, corn and sorghum research conference
- Quinby JR, Karmer NW, Stephens JC, Lahr KA, Karper RE (1958) Grain sorghum production in texas. Texas Agr Exp Sta Bull 35:912
- Raman VS, Sankaran S (1979) Reproductive potential of polyploidy Sorghum as appraisal. Sorghum Newsletter 22:8–11
- Rao NK, Reddy LJ, Bramel PJ (2003) Potential of wild species for genetic enhancement of some semi-arid food crops. Genet Resour Crop Evol 50:707–721
- Raveendran M, Rangasamy SRS, Sentwil N (2000) Potential of interspecific hybridization for developing ratoonable forage sorghum. Indian J Genet 60:259– 260
- Reddy VR (1958) On the differentiation of A and B chromosomes of *Sorghum purpureo-sericeum*, a Eu-sorghum. J Indian Bot Soc 37:279–289
- Reddy BVS, Prasad Rao KE (1992) Breeding new seed parents: Breeding non-milo restorer lines. Pages 63– 64 in cereals program, ICRISAT annual report 1991, international crops research institute for the semi-arid tropics (ICRISAT), Patancheru 502324, Andhra Pradesh, India
- Reddy BVS, Ramesh S, Reddy PS, Ramaiah B (2007) Combining ability and heterosis as influenced by male-sterility inducing cytoplasms in sorghum [Sorghum bicolor (L.) Moench]. Euphytica 154:153–164
- Rich PJ, Grenier C, Ejeta G (2004) Striga resistance in the wild relatives of sorghum. Crop Sci 44:2221–2229
- Rooney WL (2000) Genetics and cytogenetics. In: Smith CW, Frederiksen RA (eds) Sorghum: origin, histroy, technology, and production. John Wiley & Sons, Inc., New York, pp 261–307
- Ross JG, Chen CH (1962) Fertility differences in autotetraploid sorghum. Hereditas 48:324
- Ross WM, Hackerott HL (1972) Registration of seven isocytoplasmic sorghum germplasm lines. Crop Sci 12:720–721
- Salomon ES (1940) Sorghum sudanese (piper) stapf tetraploidie obtaenido por colchicina. Anal. Inst. Filotec Santa Catalina (Argentina) 2:13–16
- Sang Y, Liang GH (2000) Comparative physical mapping of the 18S-5.8S-26S rDNA in three sorghum species. Genome 43:918–922
- Schertz KF (1962) Cytology, fertility and gross morphology of induced polyploids of *Sorghum vulgare*. Can J Genet Cytol 4:179–186
- Schertz KF (1963) Chromosomal, morphological and fertility characteristics of haploids and their derivatives in *Sorghum vulgare* Pers. Crop Sci 3:445–447

- Schertz KF (1966) Morphological and cytological characteristics of five trisomics of *Sorghum vulgare* Pers. Crop Sci 6:519–523
- Schertz KF (1970a) Chromosome translocation set in Sorghum bicolor (L.) Moench. Crop Sci 10:329–332
- Schertz KF (1970b) Chromosome translocation set in Sorghum bicolor (L.) Moench. Crop Sci 10:329–332
- Schertz KF (1974) Morphological and cytological characteristics of five additional trisomics of Sorghum bicolor (L.) Moench. Crop Sci 14:106–109
- Schertz KF (1994) Male-sterility in sorghum: its characteristics and importance. In: Witcombe JR, Duncan RR (eds) Use of molecular markers in sorghum and pearl millet breeding for developing countries. Proceedings of the international conference on genetics improvement, overseas development administration (ODA) plant sciences research conference, 29 March–1 April 1993, Norwich, UK, ODA, UK, pp 35–37
- Schertz KF, Ritchey JM (1978) Cytoplasmic genic male sterility systems in sorghum. Crop Sci 18:890–893
- Schertz KF, Stephens JC (1965) Origin and occurrence of triploids of *Sorghum vulgare* Pers and their chromosomal and morphological characteristics. Crop Sci 5:514–516
- Schlarbaum SE, Tsuchiya T (1981) Differential reactivity to staining in tree chromosomes. J Hered 72:62–63
- Schulz-Schaeffer J (1980) Cytogenetics, Plants, Animals, Humans. Springer-Verlag, New York, USA, p 436
- Schurtz KF (1963) Chromosomal, morphological and fertility characteristics of haploids and their derivatives in *Sorghum vulgare* Pers. Crop Sci 3:444–447
- Schurtz KF (1966) Morphological and cytological characteristics of five trisomics of Sorghum vulgare Pers. Crop Sci 6:519–523
- Sengupta SP, Weibel DE (1971) Cytological study of the hybrids of Sorghum halepens (L.) Pers. Proc Okla Acad Sci 51:56–60
- Sharma AK, Bhattacharjee D (1957) Chromosome studies in sorghum. Cytologia 22:287–311
- Sharma HC, Franzmann BA (2001) Host-plant preference and oviposition responses of the sorghum midge, *Stenodiplosis sorghicola* (Coquillett) (Dipt., Cecidomyiidae) towards wild relatives of sorghum.
 J Appl Entomol 125:109–114
- Sharma HC, Reddy BVS, Dhillon MK, Venkateswaran K, Singh BU, Pampapathy G, Folkertsma R, Hash CT, Sharma KK (2005) Host plant resistance to insects in sorghum: present status and need for future research. Int Sorghum Millets Newsl 46:36–43
- Singh SP, Hadley HH (1961) Pollen abortion in cytoplasmic male sterile sorghum. Crop Sci 1:430–432
- Singh RJ, Tsuchiya T (1982) An improved Giemsa N banding technique for the identification of barley chromosomes. J Hered 73:227–229
- Snowden JD (1935) A classification of the cultivated Sorghum. Kew Bull XXI:221–254
- Snowden JD (1936) The cultivated races of sorghum. London, UK

- Snowden JD (1955) The wild fodder sorghums of the section eu-sorghum. J Linn Soc Lond 55:191–260
- Spangler RE (2003) Taxonomy of sarga, sorghum and vacoparis (Poaceae: Andropogoneae). Austr Syst Bot 16:279–299
- Spangler RE, Zaitchik B, Russo E, Kellogg E (1999) Andropogoneae evolution and generic limits in sorghum (Poaceae) using *ndh*F sequences. Syst Bot 24:267–281
- Stapf O (1919) Gramineae in prain D, flora of tropical Africa, vol 9. Reeve, London, UK
- Stebbins GL (1950) Variation and evolution in plants. Columbia University Press, New York, USA
- Stephens JC (1937) Male sterility in sorghum: its possible utilization in production of hybrid seed. J Am Soc Agron 29:690–696
- Stephens JC, Holland PF (1954) Cytoplasmic male sterility for hybrid sorghum seed production. Agron J 46:20–23
- Sun Y, Skinner D, Liang G, Hulber S (1994) Phylogenetic analysis of sorghum and related texa using internal transcribed spacers of nuclear ribosomal DNA. Theor Appl Genet 89:26–32
- Tang H, Liang GH (1988) The genomic relationship between cultivated sorghum [Sorghum bicolor (L.) Moench] and Johnsongrass [S. halepense (L.) Pers.]: a re-evaluation. Theor Appl Genet 76(2):277–284
- Venkateswarulu J, Reddi VR (1968) Cytological studies of sorghum trisomics. J Hered 59:179–182
- Vinall HN (1926) Mem Hort Soc Newyork III:75-77
- Warmke HE, Overman MA (1972a) Cytoplasmic male sterility in sorghum. I. Callose behaviour in fertile and sterile anthers. J Hered 63:103–108
- Warmke HE, Overman MA (1972b) Tapetal behaviour in fertile and sterile anthers. J Hered 63:227–233
- Webster OJ (1965) Genetic studies in Sorghum vulgere (Pers.). Crop Sci 5:207–210
- Webster OJ, Singh SP (1964) Breeding behavior and histological structure of non-dehiscent anther character in *Sorghum vulgare* Pers. Crop Sci 4:656–658
- Weston LA, Alsaadawi IS, Baerson SR (2013) Sorghum allelopathy from ecosystem to molecule. J Chem Ecol 39:625–637

- Whitkus R, Doebley J, Lee M (1992) Comparative genome mapping of sorghum and maize. Genetics 132:1119–1130
- Whitmire DK (2011) Wide hybridization, genomic, and overwintering characterization of high-biomass sorghum spp. feedstocks. MS Thesis in Plant Breeding, Texas A&M University, USA, pp 77
- Woo S-S, Jiang J, Gill BS, Paterson AH, Wing RA (1994) Construction and characterization of a bacterial artificial chromosome library of sorghum bicolor. Nucleic Acids Res 22:4922–4931
- Wooten DR (2001) The use of *Sorghum propinquum* to enhance agronomic traits in sorghum. Master's Thesis, Texas A&M University, College Station, TX, USA
- Worstell JV, Kidd HJ, Schertz KF (1984) Relationships among male sterility inducing cytoplasms of sorghum. Crop Sci 24:186–189
- Wu TP (1980) Cyto genetic studies of the B chromosomes in *Sorghum nitidum*. In: Proceedings of the national science council of Republic of China, pp 297–306
- Wu TP (1982) Comparative karyomorphology of two species in Parasorghum. Proc Natl Sci Counc (Taiwan) Part B. 6:319–325
- Wu TP (1984) B chromosomes in Sorghum purpureosericeum. Proc Natl Sci Counc Repub China 8:198– 209
- Wu TP (1992) B-chromosomes in Sorghum stipoideum. Heredity 68:457–463
- Yu H, Liang GH, Kofoid KD (1991) Analysis of C-banding chromosome patterns of sorghum. Crop Sci 31:1524–1527
- Zwick MS, Islam-Faridi MN, Czeschin DG Jr, Wing RA, Hart GE, Stelly DM, Price HJ (1998) Physical mapping of liguleless linkage group in sorghum bicolor using rice RFLP-selected sorghum BACs. Genetics 148:1983–1992
- Zwick MS, Islam-Faridi MN, Zhang HB, Hodnett GL, Gomez MI, Kim JS, Price HJ, Stelly DM (2000) Distribution and sequence analysis of the centromere-associated repetitive element CEN38 of *Sorghum bicolor* (Poaceae). Am J Bot 87:1757–1764

Sorghum Germplasm Resources Characterization and Trait Mapping

4

Hari D. Upadhyaya, Mani Vetriventhan and Santosh Deshpande

Abstract

Sorghum is the fifth most important cereal crop mostly grown for food, feed, fodder, and bioenergy purposes, and a staple for over 500 million resource-poor people in marginal environments. Globally, over 236,000 sorghum germplasm accessions have been conserved in genebanks, of which the International Crops Research Institute for the Semi-Arid Tropics (ICRISAT), India and the Plant Genetic Resources Conservation Unit, Southern Regional Plant Introduction Station, University of Georgia, USDA-ARS, together conserve about 32 % of the total global sorghum collections. Germplasm diversity representative subsets such as core and mini core collections and a genotyping-based reference set have been established in sorghum providing access to large diversity. The sorghum mini core collection established at the ICRISAT is being widely used for identification of sources for resistance to various biotic and abiotic stresses, and for agronomic and grain nutritional traits. Large genetic and genomic resources are available in sorghum, and resequencing of diverse germplasm resources including the mini core collection and wild and weedy relatives will provide researchers opportunities to relate sequence variations with phenotypic traits of interest and their utilization in sorghum improvement. Genomewide association mapping studies have

H.D. Upadhyaya (⊠) · M. Vetriventhan ·
S. Deshpande
Genebank, International Crops Research Institute for the Semi-Arid Tropics (ICRISAT), Patancheru 502 324, Telangana, India e-mail: h.upadhyaya@cgiar.org

H.D. Upadhyaya Department of Agronomy, Kansas State University, Manhattan, KS 66506, USA

H.D. Upadhyaya The UWA Institute of Agriculture, The University of Western Australia, Crawley, WA 6009, Australia

[©] Springer International Publishing AG 2016 S. Rakshit and Y.-H. Wang (eds.), *The Sorghum Genome*, Compendium of Plant Genomes, DOI 10.1007/978-3-319-47789-3_4

identified genomic regions that are associated with important agronomic traits and resistance to biotic and abiotic stresses. High-throughput phenotyping platforms/technologies are required for precise phenotyping to attain greater genetic gains. The current status of germplasm, its characterization and utilization has been summarized in this chapter.

1 Introduction

Global food production has to increase by 70 % to feed over 9 billion people by 2050 in a background of uncertainties associated with climate change, shrinking land, and water available for agriculture (IAASTD 2009; http://www.fao.org/fileadmin/templates/wsfs/docs/expert_paper/ How_to_Feed_the_World_in_2050.pdf). Crop losses due to extremes in the environment have risen steadily over the past several decades and climate models predict an increased incidence of floods, droughts, and extreme temperatures (Dwivedi et al. 2013; Mickelbart et al. 2015).

Sorghum [Sorghum bicolor (L.) Moench.] is a multipurpose crop cultivated for food, feed, fodder, and bioenergy purposes, and a staple for over 500 million resource-poor people in marginal environments. The genus Sorghum Moench is subdivided into five subgenera or sections: Chaetosorghum, Heterosorghum, Parasorghum, Stiposorghum, and Sorghum. Section Sorghum has three species: two wild perennials, S. halepense (L.) Pers. (2n = 40), S. propinguum (Kunth) Hitchcock (2n = 20), and an annual S. bicolor (L.) Moench. (2n = 20). The S. bicolor contains three subspecies: (i) ssp. bicolor (all domesticated sorghum); (ii) ssp. drummondii (Steud.) de Wet comb. nov, derivatives of hybridization among cultivated sorghums and their closest wild relatives; and (iii) ssp. verticilliflorum (Steud.) (earlier subsp. arundinaceum (Desv.) de Wet et Harlan), the wild progenitors of cultivated sorghums. Cultivated sorghums (S. bicolor ssp. bi*color*) can be classified into five races (*bicolor*, guinea, caudatum, kafir, and durra) and ten intermediate races (guinea-bicolor, caudatum-bicolor, kafir-bicolor, durra-bicolor, guinea-caudatum, guinea-kafir, guinea-durra, kafir-caudatum, durracaudatum, and kafir-durra) based on mature spikelet/panicle morphology (Harlan and de Wet 1972), whereas wild sorghum S. bicolor ssp. verticilliflorum (Steud.) Piper includes four botanical races/ecotypes: aethiopicum, virgatum, arundinaceum, and verticilliflorum (de Wet 1978). Liu et al. (2014) suggested a new subgeneric classification of Sorghum Moench into three distinct subgenera, (i) subg. Chaetosorghum E.D Garber with two sections (sect. Chaetosorghum (E.D. Garber) Ivanjuk. & Doronina and sect. Heterosorghum (E.D. Garber) Ivanjuk. & Doronina), (ii) subg. Parasorghum (Snowden) E.D. Garber and (iii) subg. Sorghum. Subg. Sorghum includes nine species such as S. almum Parodi, S. arundinaceum (Desv.) Stapf, S. bicolor (L.) Moench, S. x drummondii (Nees ex Steud.) Millsp. & Chase, S. halepense (L.) Pers., S. miliaceum (Roxb.) Swoden, S. propinguum (Kunth) Hitchc., S. sudanense (Piper) Stapf, and S. virgatum (Hack.) Stapf).

Genetic loci that ensure productivity in challenging environments exist within the germplasm of crops; their wild and weedy relatives that are adapted to extreme environments necessitate utilization of germplasm resources more than ever before to develop varieties more tolerant to rapidly conditions. Sorghum changing environmental researchers have access to vast genetic and genomic resources. Globally, 236,617 germplasm accessions have been conserved in genebanks, providing the opportunity to access wide genetic variability. In addition, germplasm diversity representative subsets such as core (10 % of entire collection), mini core (10 % of core or 1 % of entire collection), and composite collections and a genotypingbased reference set are available to sorghum researchers to mine novel genetic variations for use in crop improvement. In recent years, advances in DNA sequencing technology (next-generation development sequencing, NGS) and the of high-throughput genotyping have drastically reduced the time and cost requirements for sequencing a large number of genebank accessions. There have been substantial efforts in developing high-throughput phenotyping platforms for rapid and accurate assessment of phenotypic traits including tolerance to abiotic stresses. Here we summarized the current status of sorghum germplasm conserved globally, its characterization and utilization in sorghum improvement.

2 Sorghum Germplasm Resources —Global Status

A total of 236,617 sorghum accessions are being conserved in genebanks globally (98.3 % are cultivated and 1.7 % wild and weedy relatives; Table 1), of which the majority are conserved in Asia (39.18%), the Americas (35.72%), and Africa (16.40 %). Major genebanks conserving sorghum cultivated and wild germplasm resources are presented in Table 2. Four genebanks such as (i) International Crops Research Institute for the Semi-Arid Tropics (ICRISAT), India (39,553 accessions, 16.7 % of total germplasm conserved globally), (ii) Plant Genetic Resources Conservation Unit, Southern Regional Plant Introduction Station, University of Georgia, USDA-ARS (36,173 accessions, 15.3 % of total germplasm conserved globally), (iii) Institute of Crops Science, Chinese Academy of Agricultural Sciences (ICS-CAAS), China (18,263 accessions, 7.7 % of total germplasm conserved globally), and (iv) National Bureau of Plant Genetic Resources (NBPGR), New Delhi, India (17,466 accessions, 7.4 % of total germplasm conserved globally) are the major genebanks that together conserve about 47 % of the total global sorghum germplasm. The ICRISAT genebank has 39,553 accessions originating from 93 countries and comprises 34,156 landraces, 4836 advanced breeding lines, 100 cultivars, and 461 wild and weedy relatives. The ICRISAT genebank collection is dominated by accessions belonging to durra (20.19 %), caudatum (19.60 %), guinea (12.66 %), durra-caudatum (12.17 %), and guinea-caudatum (10.80 %), and the remaining races/intermediate races represent <6.5 % of total collection.

3 Germplasm Diversity Representative Subsets

Large collections of sorghum germplasm accessions are available worldwide. However, utilization of these conserved germplasm in breeding is very limited. It is mainly due to the large size of collections with inadequate availability of reliable data on traits of economic interest, in addition to other factors such as linkage load of many undesirable genes and assumed risks, restricted access to the germplasm collections due to limited seed quantities (particularly of wild relatives and unadapted landraces), and regulations governing international exchange (Upadhyaya et al. 2014a). Thus, breeders tend to concentrate only on their working collection consisting mainly of improved materials and a few sources of different traits, and avoid use of wild and weedy relatives and unadapted landraces in their breeding program. Therefore, sampling the available diversity (at species level) for selecting a representative number of germplasms that captures diversity of a particular species is more rewarding for in-depth characterization and their enhanced utilization in breeding programs. Such germplasm diversity representative subsets serve as an entry point for mining novel variations and their utilization in crop improvement. These germplasm diversity subsets are also sufficiently diverse and could serve as a panel for association mapping, for detailed characterization of traits of economic importance to plant breeding programs and for assessment of allelic diversity in genes associated with traits of interest.

3.1 Core Collection

To facilitate germplasm maintenance, assessment, and utilization of germplasm resources in

Table 1 Global status of cultivated and wild sorghum germplasm accessions	Region		Wild	Cultivated	Total
	Africa	Central Africa	7	327	334
		Eastern Africa	173	26,172	26,345
		Northern Africa		3341	3341
		Southern Africa	11	1756	1767
		Western Africa		7026	7026
		Total	191	38,622	38,813
	America	Central America		12,729	12,729
		Northern America	200	43,560	43,760
		South America		28,035	28,035
		Total	200	84,324	84,524
	Asia	Central Asia		1358	1358
		Eastern Asia	13	24,144	24,157
		Southeastern Asia		4117	4117
		Southern Asia	3179	59,441	62,620
		Western Asia	15	442	457
		Total	3207	89,502	92,709
	Europe	Eastern Europe	7	6173	6180
		Northern Europe	35		35
		Southern Europe		827	827
		Western Europe	31	9011	9042
		Total	73	16,011	16,084
	Oceania	Oceania	346	4141	4487
		Grand Total	4017	232,600	236,617

Source http://apps3.fao.org/wiews accessed on 28 July 2015

crop improvement programs, Frankel (1984) proposed the concept of "core collection". A core collection is a limited set of accessions chosen to represent the genetic spectrum in the whole collection. Under the sampling theory of selectively neutral alleles, Brown (1989) suggested a core collection size of about 10 % of the entire collection. For establishing a core collection of the ICRISAT genebank sorghum collection, the entire ICRISAT sorghum collection was reduced to landraces from a latitude range of 40° N-40° S latitude, with complete passport information and characterization data (Grenier et al. 2001a). This reduced collection consisted of 22,473 landraces from 76 countries, which was 62 % of the entire collection conserved at the ICRISAT genebank, and was stratified into four clusters according to the photoperiod sensitivity (1160 accessions as photoperiod insensitive, 1062 as mildly photoperiod sensitive, 10,630 as photoperiod sensitive, and 9621 as highly photoperiodsensitive landraces). By following the logarithmic sampling strategy, Grenier et al. (2001b) established a core collection that represented 10 % of the landraces collection (2247 accessions) from the 22,473 accessions conserved at the ICRISAT genebank. Core collections and other subsets such as mini core collections that have been formed in sorghum are presented in Table 3.

3.2 Mini core Collection

In some cases, core collections are too large in size for meaningful and precise evaluation for important economic traits. For example, the

Region	Country	Institute/organization	Wild	Cultivated	Total
Africa	Ethiopia	Institute of Biodiversity Conservation (IBC)		9772	9772
	Kenya	National Genebank of Kenya, Crop Plant Genetic Resources Centre—Muguga (KARI-NGBK)	92	5774	5866
	Zambia	SADC Plant Genetic Resources Centre (SRGB)	27	3692	3719
	Sudan	Plant Breeding Section Agricultural Research Corporation (ARC)		3145	3145
	Mali	Unité des Ressources Génétiques (URG)		2673	2673
	Uganda	Serere Agriculture and Animal Production Research Institute (SAARI)		2635	2635
	Mali	Station de Recherche Agronomique de Cinzana (S.R.A.C)		1836	1836
	Rwanda	Rwanda Agriculture Board (RAB)		1144	1144
America	United States	Plant Genetic Resources Conservation Unit, Southern Regional Plant Introduction Station, University of Georgia, USDA-ARS	197	35,976	36,173
	United States	National Center for Genetic Resources Preservation (NCGRP)	2	7535	7537
	Brazil	Embrapa Milho e Sorgo (CNPMS)		7225	7225
	Mexico	Instituto Nacional de Investigaciones Forestales, Agrícolas y Pecuarias (INIFAP)		3990	3990
	Brazil	Embrapa Recursos Genéticos e Biotecnologia (CENARGEN)		3587	3587
	Argentina	Banco Base de Germoplasma, Instituto de Recursos Biológicos, Instituto Nacional de Tecnología Agropecuaria (BBC-INTA)		3249	3249
	Argentina	Banco Activo de Germoplasma de Manfredi (BGMANFREDI)		3200	3200
	Mexico	Programa de Recursos Genéticos, Centro de Investigaciones Forestales y Agropecuarias (CIFAP-MEX)		3000	3000
	Mexico	Estación de Iguala, Instituto Nacional de Investigaciones Agrícolas (INIA-Iguala)		2500	2500
	Venezuela	Fundación para la Investigación Agrícola (DANAC)		2068	2068
	Honduras	Escuela Agrícola Panamericana El Zamorano (EAP)		2000	2000
	Brazil	Empresa Pernambucana de Pesquisa Agropecuária (IPA)		1737	1737
	Argentina	Estación Experimental Agropecuaria Manfredi (EEA INTA)		1384	1384
	Colombia	Centro de Investigación La Selva, Corporación Colombiana de Investigación Agropecuaria (CORPOICA)		1290	1290
	Colombia	Corporación Colombiana de Investigación Agropecuaria Tibaitata, CORPOICA (ICA/REGION1)		1006	1006
Asia	India	International Crop Research Institute for the Semi-Arid Tropics (ICRISAT)	461	39,092	39,553
	China	Institute of Crop Science, Chinese Academy of Agricultural Sciences (ICS-CAAS)		18,263	18,263
	India	National Bureau of Plant Genetic Resources (NBPGR), New Delhi (NBPGR)	2674	14,792	17,466
	Japan	Department of Genetic Resources I, National Institute of Agrobiological Sciences (NIAS)	13	5061	5074

 Table 2
 Cultivated and wild sorghum germplasm accessions conserved in major genebanks globally

(continued)

Region	Country	Institute/organization	Wild	Cultivated	Total
	India	All India Coordinated Sorghum Improvement Project-Rajendranagar (AICSIP-Rajendranagar)		2000	2000
	Pakistan	Plant Genetic Resources Program (PGRP)	16	1716	1732
	Thailand	Department of Agronomy, Faculty of Agriculture, University of Kasetsart (AD-KU)		1500	1500
	Thailand	National Corn and Sorghum Research Center, Kasetsart University		1277	1277
	Philippines	Crop Science Cluster-Institute of Plant Breeding, College of Agriculture, University of the Philippines, Los Baños College (CSC-IPB, UPLB-CA)		1190	1190
Europe	Russian Federation	N.I. Vavilov All-Russian Scientific Research Institute of Plant Industry VIR (RUS001)		3963	3963
	France	Laboratoire des Ressources Génétiques et Amélioration des Plantes Tropicales, ORSTOM (ORSTOM-MONTP)	27	3562	3589
	France	Centre de Coopération Internationale en Recherche Agronomique pour le Développement (CIRAD)		2000	2000
	France	CIRAD, Département des Cultures Annuelles (IRCT-CIRAD)		1716	1716
Oceania	Australia	Australian Tropical Crops & Forages Genetic Resources Centre (ATCFA)	346	4141	4487

Table 2 (continued)

Source http://apps3.fao.org/wiews accessed on July 28, 2015

Table 3	Sorghum	germplasm	diversity	representative	subsets	for	enhancing	genetic	base	of	cultivars	and	trait
discovery	r												

Germplasm subsets	No. of Acc. Used	No. of Acc. in Subset	Remark	Reference
Core		3011	Randomly selected based on countries of origin representing 77 countries	Dahlberg et al. (2004)
Core	2553	352	Core from Sudan collection conserved at US National Plant Germplasm System	Dahlberg et al. (2004)
Core	33,100	3475	Seven morphological traits	Prasada Rao and Ramanth Rao (1995)
Core	22,473	2247	Photoperiod sensitivity grouping and logarithmic random sampling	Grenier et al. (2001b)
Mini core	2246	242	Using 21 morphoagronomic traits and passport information	Upadhyaya et al. (2009)
Composite collection	-	3384	This includes accessions from ICRISAT-India, CIRAD-France, and CAAS-China.	http://www.generationcp.org/issue-59- march-2012/32-research/sorghum/180- sorghum-products
Reference set	3367	383	Using 41 SSR markers	Billot et al. (2013)
Diversity research set	320	107	Using 38 SSR marker	Shehzad et al. (2009)

ICRISAT sorghum core collection consisted of >2000 accessions (Table 3), thus precise evaluation of such a large size of core collection under replicated multilocations/environments would be costly and ultimately not be precise, reducing its utility in a breeding program. Therefore, Upadhyaya and Ortiz (2001) postulated a "mini core" concept (10 % of core or 1 % of entire germplasm accessions of the species). Following this approach, Upadhyaya et al. (2009) developed a sorghum mini core of 242 accessions from the existing core collection of 2247 accessions (Grenier et al. 2001b).

3.3 Composite Collection and Genotyping-Based Reference Set

The Global Composite Germplasm Collection (GCGC) of sorghum, which consists of 3384 cultivated and wild accessions has been established (http://www.generationcp.org/issue-59-march-2012/ 32-research/sorghum/180-sorghum-products). This included collections from ICRISAT-India, CIRAD-France, and CAAS-China, comprising 280 breeding lines and elite cultivars from public sorghum breeding programs, 68 wild and weedy accessions, and over 3000 landraces from collections held by CIRAD or ICRISAT that were selected either from previously defined core and mini core collections (Grenier et al. 2001b; Upadhyaya et al. 2009), and for resistance to various biotic stresses and/or for variations in agronomic and quality traits. Furthermore, this sorghum GCGC was genotyped with 41 simple sequence repeat (SSR) markers and formed a genotyping-based reference set of 383 accessions, representing 332 landraces, 28 breeding lines, and 23 wild/weedy accessions, representing all 5 races and 10 intermediate races from different geographic origins (Billot et al. 2013). Shehzad et al. (2009) developed a sorghum diversity research set of 107 accessions based on SSR markers' diversity assessment of 320 accessions. These 320 accessions were selected out of >3500 accessions conserved at the National Institute of Agrobiological Science (NIAS), Japan, based on geographic distribution mostly from Asia and Africa.

4 Phenotypic Characterization and Evaluation

4.1 Agronomic Traits

Sorghum germplasm accessions conserved globally have a wide diversity for morphoagronomic and other important economic traits. A wide range of variation was reported for various agronomic traits in sorghum core and mini core collections conserved at the ICRISAT genebank (Table 4) provide an opportunity for identification of sources for various economically important traits. See tharam (2011) evaluated a sorghum reference set under multilocations in India and identified 20 accessions each as trait-specific sources for early flowering and dwarf plant height, 100-seed weight, panicle weight, and grain yield. Mannai et al. (2011) evaluated a diversity research set of 107 sorghum accessions developed by Shehzad et al. (2009) and reported a wide variation for flowering time ranging from 56 to 133 days and categorized the accessions into three groups based on the number of days to flowering as early (<75 days), medium (>75–95 days), and late flowering (>95 days). Extensive evaluation of these accessions in different locations may be useful to assess the stability of the identified trait-specific accessions and their utilization in sorghum breeding.

4.2 Grain Nutritional Traits

The sorghum mini core collection has large variation for grain Fe (25.8–48.9 mg kg⁻¹ seed) and Zn (13.5–42.6 mg kg⁻¹ seed) contents and 11 accessions were identified with high Fe (IS# 16382, 23992, 28313, 28389, 28849, 20743, 21645, 21863, 28747, 30508, and 31681; Fe, 40.3–48.6 mg kg⁻¹ seed), 14 accessions with high Zn (IS# 30460, 602, 17980, 19859, 28451, 30466, 30536, 5301, 8774, 4951, 25249, 24139, 24175, and 24218; Zn, 32.2–36.4 mg kg⁻¹ seed) contents, and 9 accessions with both high Fe and Zn contents (IS# 1219, 1233, 30450, 30507, 1212, 27786, 30383, 31651, and 24503; Fe, 40.8–48.9 mg kg⁻¹ seed; Zn, 32.8–42.6 mg

Table 4Range and meanof quantitative traits in coreand mini core collectionsof sorghum

Agronomic traits	Range	Mean		
	Core	Mini core	Core	Mini core
Days to 50 % flowering	47.79–117.62	50.36-117.36	82.2	82.6
Basal tillers	01–10	01–08	2.1	2.2
Plant height, cm	84.32–393.29	118.28–393.29	228.5	234.7
Panicle exsertion, cm	3.27-40.15	3.27-40.15	18.3	18.8
Panicle length, cm	8.98–39.01	9.72–37.51	21.1	21.5
Panicle width, cm	1.71-42.35	2.66-40.59	7.5	7.7
Yield per plant, g	15.26–29.48	16.94–29.48	21.3	21.4
Plot yield (kg ha ⁻¹)	751.24–2172.82	853.95-2172.82	1206.4	1221.5
100 seed weight, g	1.72–5.71	1.75–5.71	2.9	2.9
Seed size, mm	2.12-3.96	2.15-3.89	3	3

Source Upadhyaya et al. (2009)

 kg^{-1} seed) over controls (Fe, 29.6–34.1 mg kg⁻¹ seed; Zn, 23.9–25.7 mg kg⁻¹ seed; Upadhyaya et al. 2016a). Six (IS# 1004, 23514, 23579, 23590, 28141, and 31706) and four (IS# 1004, 27034, 28141, and 31706) accessions, respectively, showed 8–39 % and 9–38 % greater Fe and Zn contents over control IS 33844 and produced grain yields similar to that of IS 33844 (Upadhyaya et al. 2016a).

4.3 Biotic Stress Resistance

4.3.1 Diseases

Diseases such as downy mildew, grain molds, anthracnose, leaf blight, and rust are the important and widespread diseases in tropical and subtropical regions of the world that can cause severe epidemics, resulting in considerable yield losses in sorghum. Germplasm sources for resistance to these diseases have been reported, for example, for downy mildew (Karunakar et al. 1994a; Prom et al. 2007, 2015; Sharma et al. 2010), grain molds (Bandyopadhyay et al. 1988; Sharma et al. 2010; Prom and Erpelding 2009; Cuevas et al. 2016; Thakur et al. 2008), anthracnose (Prom et al. 2007, 2012; Cuevas et al. 2016; Sharma et al. 2012; Erpelding 2012), leaf blight (Sharma et al. 2012; Singh and Singh 2014), and rust (Sharma et al. 2012; Cuevas et al. 2012). Wild and weedy relatives of sorghums as sources for downy mildew resistance have been reported (Karunakar et al. 1994b; Kamala et al. 2002). Karunakar et al. (1994b) identified 29 wild and weedy accessions of sorghum that were free from downy mildew. Kamala et al. (2002) reported 45 wild accessions comprising 15 species from four sections, Parasorghum, Heterosorghum (S. laxiflorum Bailey), Chaetosorghum (S. macrospermum Garber), and Stiposorghum (S. angustum S.T. Blake, S. ecarinatum Lazarides, S. extans Lazarides, S. intrans F. Muell. ex Benth., S. interjectum Lazarides, and S. stipoideum [Ewart & Jean White; C. Gardener & C.E. Hubb]) including all accessions from Australia to exhibit immunity to downy mildew. Cultivated types and wild races of section Eusorghum showed the greatest susceptibility, whereas accessions of S. halapense (L.) Pers. were comparatively less susceptible. Two wild accessions from the primary genepool, IS 18821 (aethiopicum) and IS 18882 (arundinaceum) were free from downy mildew and cross-compatible with cultivated sorghum. These may be used directly to develop downy mildew-resistant cultivars.

The sorghum mini core collection (Upadhyaya et al. 2009) has been extensively screened against several diseases and sources for disease resistance have been identified for use in breeding programs (Table 5).

Trait	Mini core accession	Reference
Downy mildew resistance	IS# 28747, 31714, 23992, 27697, 28449, and 30400	Sharma et al. (2010)
Grain mold resistance	IS# 602, 603, 608, 1233, 2413, 3121,12697, 12804, 20727, 20740, 20743, 20816, 30562, 31681, 2379, 2864, 12302, 13971, 17941, 19389, 23992, 26694, 29335, 21512, 21645, 12945, 22294, 995, 2426, 12706, 16151, 24453, 26701, 29326, 30383, 30533, 30536, 20956, 29314, 30092, 10969, 23590, 29187, 29269, 473, 29304, 1212, 13893, 29241, 29568	Sharma et al. (2010)
Anthracnose resistance	IS# 473, 5301, 6354, 7679, 10302, 16382, 19153, 20632, 20956, 23521, 23684, 24218, 24939	Sharma et al. (2012)
Leaf blight resistance	IS# 473, 2382, 7131, 9108, 9177, 9745, 12937, 12945, 14861, 19445, 20743, 21083, 23521, 23644, 23684, 24175, 24503, 24939, 24953, 26694, 26749, 28614, 29187, 29233, 29714, 31557, 33353,	Sharma et al. (2012)
Rust resistance	IS# 473, 23521, 23684, 24503, 26737, 33023	Sharma et al. (2012)
Multiple disease resistance	IS# 473 for grain mold, anthracnose, leaf blight and rust; IS# 23684 and 23521 for anthracnose, leaf blight and rust; IS 24939 for anthracnose and leaf blight; IS 23992 for grain molds and downy mildew; IS# 12945, 26694, 29187 for grain mold and leaf blight; IS 20956 for grain mold and anthracnose	Sharma et al. (2010, 2012)

 Table 5
 Sources for disease resistance identified in sorghum mini core collection accessions

4.3.2 Insect Pests

Sorghum is damaged by over 150 insect species, of which sorghum shoot-fly (Atherigona soccata), stem borers (Chilo partellus), aphids (Melanaphis sacchari), greenbug (Schizaphis graminum), sorghum midge (Stenodiplosis sorghicola), and head bugs (Calocoris angustatus and Eurystylus oldi) are the most important insect pests worldwide (Sharma et al. 2003). An extensive screening of sorghum germplasm accessions conserved at the ICRISAT genebank led to identified stable sources of resistance to key insect pests such as shoot-fly, stem borer, midge, and head bug (Sharma et al. 2003). Forty germplasm accessions have been identified as resistant to sorghum shoot-fly, of which IS# 1054, 1071, 2394, 5484, 18368, 2123, 2195, 4664, and 18551 have shown stable resistance to shoot-fly damage; 71 accessions identified as resistant to spotted stem borer, of which IS# 2205, 1044, 5470, 5604, 8320, and 1853 were stable across seasons and locations; 50 accessions identified as resistant to sorghum midge, of which DJ 6514, TAM 2566, AF 28, IS 10712, IS 8891, and IS 7005 were stable and diverse sources of resistance; and 35 accessions have been identified as resistant to head bugs, of which IS# 17610, 17618, 17645, 20740, and 20664 were highly resistant (Sharma et al. 2003). The sorghum mini core collection (Upadhyaya et al. 2009) has been evaluated extensively and sources for resistance to shoot-fly, stem borer, and aphid were identified (ICRISAT unpublished). Resistance responses of wild and weedy sorghum germplasm accessions to shoot-fly and spotted stem borer have been reported (Kamala et al. 2009, 2012).

4.4 Abiotic Stress Resistance

Sorghum, in general, has great adaptation potential to various abiotic stresses; however, genotypes/cultivars show large variability for adaptation to various abiotic stresses. For example, in the sorghum reference set, grain yield varied significantly between genotypes under drought-stressed (mean 20.6 g plant⁻¹, range 0.3–36.6 g plant⁻¹) and well-watered (mean 42.0 g plant⁻¹, range 2.1–82.8 g plant⁻¹) conditions; overall the mean grain yield decreased about ~50 % under the drought-stressed condition as compared to under the well-watered condition (Vadez et al. 2011). This

large genetic variation for drought adaptation traits offers great breeding opportunities. Therefore, identification of genetic loci from the diverse germplasm including wild and weedy relatives adapted to extreme environments that ensure productivity in challenging environments are prerequisite for developing varieties more tolerant to rapidly changing environmental conditions. Vadez et al. (2011) evaluated 149 accessions from the sorghum reference set using a lysimetric system under terminal drought stress and fully irrigated conditions. They found differential response of races and intermediate races to drought stress, for example, accessions from the race *durra* had the highest water extraction capacity, whereas caudatum-bicolor and durracaudatum had poor water extraction ability; accessions from durra, caudatum, and guineacaudatum recorded the highest transpiration efficiency (TE), whereas the guinea race had the lowest TE. Seetharam (2011) evaluated the sorghum reference set (384 accessions) under well-watered and drought-stressed conditions and identified drought-tolerant accessions based on drought-tolerance indices and SPAD chlorophyll meter readings (SCMR). The accessions IS 8882 (Caudatum, Uganda), IS 13845 (Kafir, South Africa), IS 22334 (Kafir, Botswana), and IS 29872 (Kafir, Zimbabwe) were found to have high drought-tolerance indices and high SCMR. The accessions identified as tolerant to drought are dominated by the race *caudatum* and by the intermediate race guinea-caudatum. Kapanigowda et al. (2013) identified genotypes such as PI 510898, IS 1212, and PI 533946 as high yielding under drought conditions with 57, 38, and 38 %, respectively, increase over the check BTx642. Reddy et al. (2008) reported 18 accessions (IS# 164, 237, 707, 1045, 1049, 1052, 1069, 1087, 1178, 1232, 1243, 1261, 1263, 1328, 1366, 1568, 19604, and 29789) tolerant to salinity. Fernandez et al. (2014) identified 8 accessions (PI# 76408, 90271, 408822, 408824, 408816, 550608, 563923, and 619672) for cold tolerance. Evaluation of sorghum mini core collection (Upadhyaya et al. 2009) under low temperature (at seedling stage) (Upadhyaya et al. 2016b) and post-flowering drought stress (Upadhyaya et al. 2017) conditions resulted in identification of accessions that has higher percentage of seedling vigor (IS# 1212, 14779, 15170, 22986, 7305, and 7310), and germinability (IS# 602, 1233, 7305, 10302, and 20956) under low temperature stress, and tolerance to post-flowering drought stress (IS# 14779, 4515, 5094, 23891. 31714, 9108. and 15466). These identified accessions for various abiotic stresses could be utilized in developing cultivars for adaptation to diverse climate conditions.

4.5 Bioenergy Traits

Sweet sorghum is an important food, feed, and biofuel crop worldwide. It can be grown under limited inputs (water and fertilizer) under diverse environmental conditions. Sweet sorghum accumulates fermentable sugars (10-20 %) in the stalk and thus has an advantage of producing grain for food and bioethanol from stalk juice without compromising food security (Reddy et al. 2005). The environments and their interaction with genotypes have a strong influence on the cultivar's adaption. Upadhyaya et al. (2014b) studied the response of a sorghum mini core germplasm collection for stalk sugar content (Brix %) under well-watered and drought-stress conditions. They reported that drought stress in comparison to the irrigated control significantly increased the mean Brix % in accessions that flowered <60-90 days after sowing, with percent increase ranging from 12.11 to 26.76 %. However. late-flowering accessions (flowering >90 days after sowing) did not show a significant difference for Brix %. Mini core accessions showed different responses for Brix % under drought stress. For example, the mean Brix % increased under drought in 169 accessions, decreased in one accession, and the remaining accessions were not affected. Upadhyaya et al. (2014b) identified sorghum mini core accessions such as IS# 13294, 13549, 23216, 23684, 24139, 24939, and 24953 with significantly greater mean Brix (14.0–15.2 %) as compared to the best control, IS 33844 (12.4 %). However, these accessions had lower yields and lower 100-seed weight. In contrast, IS# 1004, 4698, 23891, and 28141 significantly out-yielded IS 33844 by 11.7–22.7 % and had almost the same Brix content (~13 %). Cuevas et al. (2014) identified two accessions (PI# 653616 and 455286) as superior for both Brix content (>10 %) and dry matter weight (112 g plant⁻¹) and nine accessions (PI# 653617, 144335, 155518, 648080, 643003, 648098, 648091, 155555, and 562267) for higher biofuel potential (Brix > 10 % and dry matter yield > 60 g plant⁻¹). These identified accessions could be utilized in a breeding program for developing dual-purpose sorghum cultivars.

5 Next-Generation Phenotyping

More accurate and precise phenotyping strategies are required to associate phenotypic variations with high-resolution sequence variations to achieve maximum genetic gains. Rapid developments are taking place in the field of nondestructive, image-based phenotyping that allow characterization of plant traits in high-throughput enabling researchers to develop crops with the ability to perform well under diverse environmental conditions (Topp et al. 2013; Araus and Cairns 2014; Honsdorf et al. 2014; Neilson et al. 2015; Walter et al. 2015). High-throughput phenotyping is being used in sorghum. For example, Neilson et al. (2015) investigated the growth and phenotypic response of sorghum under water-limited conditions and different levels of fertilizer using "The Plant Accelerator" at Adelaide, Australia. They showed that imaging sorghum using a high-throughput system can accurately identify and differentiate between growth and specific phenotypic traits. For example, diurnal leaf curling and leaf area index correlated with an improved tolerance to water stress. Color images revealed that leaf greenness correlated with foliar nitrogen and chlorophyll content, whereas near-infrared reflectance analysis proved to be a good predictor for water content, and leaf thickness correlated well with plant moisture content (Neilson et al. 2015). Recently, Batz et al. (2016) demonstrated imaging for high-throughput phenotyping in energy sorghum. At ICRISAT, a high-throughput phenotyping platform called the "LeasyScan" facility has been established to measure leaf area quicker so as to access the dynamics of leaf development and leaf conductance, traits that are the focus for plant drought adaptation in ICRI-SAT mandate crops including sorghum. It is based on a novel 3D scanning technique to capture leaf area development continuously, a scanner-to-plant concept to increase imaging throughput and analytical scales to combine gravimetric transpiration measurements (Vadez et al. 2015). The combination of the multifunctional phenotyping tools and genomewide sequencing provides deep insights into the genetic architecture of important traits as demonstrated in rice (Yang et al. 2014).

6 Next-Generation Sequencing and Diversity Assessment

Advances in DNA sequencing technologies have enabled rapid high-throughput genotyping and also reduced time and cost required. Next-generation sequencing technologies are being used for whole genome sequencing for a wide range of crop species, and they also support germplasm management and enhance utilization of germplasm in crop improvement programs (van Treuren and van Hintum 2014). NGS data could also be used to monitor the regeneration of accessions in order to ensure the maintenance of genetic integrity by comparing sequence data of samples before and after regeneration. When combined with precise phenotyping methods, NGS technologies provide a powerful and rapid tool for identifying the genetic basis of agriculturally important traits and for predicting the breeding value of individuals in a plant breeding population (Varshney et al. 2014).

Understanding genetic diversity in sorghum germplasm collections assists in mining novel alleles/genes associated with important traits and enhances the use of germplasm in breeding programs. Currently the sorghum research community has access to numerous genomic resources, including DNA markers (SSR, DArT, SNPs; Mace et al. 2008, 2013b; Li et al. 2009; Nelson et al. 2011; Bouchet et al. 2012; Billot et al. 2012; Evans et al. 2013), the high-density genetic maps (Bowers et al. 2003; Mace et al. 2008; Kong et al. 2013), and the sequenced genomes (Paterson et al. 2009; Mace et al. 2013a). In addition, a Web-based large-scale genome variation database called SorGSD has been developed (Luo et al. 2016). It contains ~ 62.9 million single nucleotide polymorphisms (SNPs) identified from the resequencing data of 48 sorghum lines (landraces, improved breeding inbreds, and weedy and wild relatives) mapped to the reference genome of BTx623, which serves as a valuable resource for researchers to perform genetic and breeding studies.

Considerable numbers of sorghum germplasm accessions have been sequenced through the genotyping-by-sequencing approach (GBS) to investigate population structure and diversity (Morris et al. 2013; Wang et al. 2013b). These studies revealed that the phylogenetic relatedness and patterns of sorghum diversity are structured according to geographic regions and races within a region. For example, the ICRISAT's sorghum mini core collection (242 accessions) genotyped using a GBS approach (Wang et al. 2013b) indicated that accessions are structured along both geographic origin and sorghum races. Accessions of different races from southern Africa tended to be more similar to each other, as were those from East Asia. Race *caudatum* accessions from widespread geographical distributions were found to be clustered, which was the strongest example of population structured based on race. Guineas from West Africa and *durras* from India were clustered by race and origin. Race bicolor clustered among other races and formed only one clear bicolorcentric cluster. Similarly, Morris et al. (2013) characterized 971 accessions of worldwide sorghum collections including the mini core collection, that have adapted to diverse agroclimatic conditions using $\sim 265,000$ SNPs. They showed structured populations along both morphological type and geographic origin: the kafir types that gest pattern of population subdivision as compared to other races; durra types found in semi-arid or warm desert climates of the Horn of Africa, Sahel, Arabian peninsula, and west central India, formed a distinct cluster that was further differentiated according to geographic origin; bicolor types were not notably clustered, except those from China which formed a distinct subgroup and showed genetic similarity to durra types, particularly those from Yemen; caudatum types, which are primarily found in tropical savanna climates of central Africa, are diverse and showed only modest clustering according to geographical distribution; and guinea types, which are widely distributed in tropical savanna climates and showed five distinct subgroups, four of which clustered according to their geographic origin (far west Africa, west Africa, eastern Africa, and India) (Morris et al. 2013). The phylogenetic relationship of five main sorghum races indicated that the race bicolor is the more primitive race, and showed a close phylogenetic relationship with wild types (Zhang et al. 2015). Population differentiation (i.e., fixation index (F_{ST}) between wild sorghums with those of five primary races) revealed that the race *bicolor* ($F_{ST} = 0.04$) had a closer genetic relationship with wild sorghums than did those of the other four primary races (FST between populations recorded are: 0.11 for guinea-wild, 0.20 for durra-wild, 0.33 for kafirwild, 0.14 for caudatum-wild), with guinea and caudatum apparently representing early derivatives. Races caudatum, durra, and kafir showed clustering patterns that are substantially distinct from one another and showed a relatively high level of population differentiation (FST between populations: 0.26 for durra-caudatum, 0.46 for durrakafir, 0.33 for caudatum-kafir) (Zhang et al. 2015). Cultivated sorghums harbor lower diversity as compared to wild and weedy relatives, indicating domestication of sorghum to be accompanied by a genetic bottleneck (Mutegi et al. 2011; Mace et al. 2013a). Mace et al. (2013a) resequenced 44 genotypes of sorghum including landraces, improved breeding inbreds and weedy and wild relatives, and observed strong racial structure. The study revealed a lower level of diversity in the improved inbreds as compared to both landraces

predominate in southern Africa showed the stron-

and wild and weedy genotypes. The proportion of wild-specific alleles was highest (34 %) as compared to improved inbred specific alleles (8 %) and landrace- specific alleles (18 %). These results provide critical evidence of lower diversity of improved lines and the rich diversity existing in wild and weedy lines as well as in landraces that could be used to diversify the cultivated genepool. The wild species belonging to the primary genepool, *S. propinquum* (2n = 2x = 20) is divergent from other sorghums with 22 % of *S. propinquum* reading unmapped to *S. bicolor* and remaining underutilized in sorghum improvement (Mace et al. 2013a).

7 Mining Crop Diversity and Trait Mapping

Advances in sequencing technologies have enabled large-scale genotyping of germplasm collections. The long history of recombination events captured in germplasm collections, when combined with dense marker coverage permit increased genetic resolution sometimes to a level that allows causative sequence variants to be identified. Researchers have used the association mapping approach in sorghum to dissect sequence variations associated with phenotypic traits of interest using diverse germplasm accessions, for example, plant architecture (Mantilla Perez et al. 2014), photoperiod sensitivity (flowering time; Bhosale et al. 2012), plant height and Brix % (Murray et al. 2009), grain yield under drought (Besufekad and Bantte 2013), and grain yield under phosphorus stress condition (Leiser et al. 2014). In addition, germplasm diversity representative subsets such as core and mini core collections are being used as association mapping panels. The detailed status of association mapping in sorghum is given in Chap. 7. Some significant findings are briefed here. The ICRISAT's sorghum mini core collection consisting of 242 accessions (Upadhyaya et al. 2009) has been extensively used as an association panel mapping to identify marker-trait associations for plant height and maturity (Wang et al. 2012; Upadhyaya et al.

2012b, 2013a), kernel weight and tiller number (Upadhyaya et al. 2012a), anthracnose resistance (Upadhyaya et al. 2013b), leaf rust and grain mold resistance (Upadhyaya et al. 2013c), germinability and seedling vigor under low temperature (Upadhyaya et al. 2016b), and saccharification yield (Wang et al. 2011, 2013a). Putative candidate genes have been identified using the sorghum mini core collection as an association mapping panel. Upadhyaya et al. (2013a) identified putative candidate genes including a sugar transporter (SbSUC9), an auxin response factor (SbARF3), an FLC and FT regulator (SbMED12) and a photoperiod response gene (SbPPR1) for maturity and peroxidase 53, and an auxin transporter (SbLAX4) for plant height. Further SNPs associated with anthracnose resistance and grain mold and rust resistance have also been reported using the minicore collection. Wang et al. (2011) identified two significant markers for saccharification yield that are close to β -glucanase (Bg) and steroid binding protein (Sbp) genes. Bg is critical for cell wall assembly and degradation, but Sbp can suppress the expression of Bg as demonstrated in Arabidopsis (Yang et al. 2005). Also these markers are close to the genes encoding plant cell wall synthesis enzymes such as xyloglucan fucosyltransferase and UDP-D-glucose 4-epimerase (Wang et al. 2011). Further using a large number of SNPs and the mini core collection, Wang et al. (2013a) identified seven loci significantly associated with saccharification yield, and identified possible candidate genes, the most promising candidates being ß-tubulin that determines the orientation of cellulose microfibrils in plant secondary cell walls, and NST1, a master transcription factor controlling secondary cell wall biosynthesis in fibers. These candidate genes and markers identified for several economically important traits need to be validated and developed into molecular tools for genetic improvement of sorghum.

In addition, use of multiparent mapping populations such as nested association mapping (NAM), backcross-nested association mapping (BC-NAM), and multiparent advanced generation intercross (MAGIC) populations offer ways to enhance mapping resolution of quantitative trait loci (QTLs). Morris (2015) reported a grain sorghum NAM developed using the US breeding line RTx430 as a common parent and 10 diverse founders that represent all major botanical races of sorghum, and the NAM population captured about 75 % of the global genetic diversity of sorghum in 2500 lines (10 recombinant inbred line families). Jordan et al. (2011) developed a BC-NAM and demonstrated it as an effective way to introduce new alleles from unadapted sorghum germplasm into elite breeding material. Mace et al. (2013b) used a BC-NAM population and diversity array technology (DArT) markers and identified 40 significant associations for flowering time, 24 of which were colocated with previously identified loci for flowering time in sorghum and 16 were novel.

8 Future Prospects

Sorghum is an important multipurpose crop, widely used for food, feed, and bioenergy purposes. The wide genetic variants conserved in genebanks provides a reservoir of genes for crop improvement. Sorghum wild and weedy relatives have potential genes for adaptation to biotic and abiotic stresses and have not been fully utilized. Also, representation of wild and weedy relatives of sorghum is very low in genebanks, therefore, systematic collection and conservation of wild and weedy relatives are essential to uncover the huge potential of these resources in sorghum improvement. The development and use of effective field-based high-throughput phenotyping platforms are required in sorghum in order to dissect the genetics of quantitative traits, particularly those related to yield and stress tolerance (e.g., yield potential as well as increased drought, heat tolerance, and nutrient efficiency, etc.). The sorghum research community has access to large genetic (germplasm with unique traits) and genomic (SSRs, SNPs, high-density genetic maps, genome sequence) resources, and many QTLs/candidate genes associated with agronomic traits are known in sorghum. Markers and candidate genes identified in sorghum need to be validated and developed into

molecular tools for sorghum improvement. Resequencing of diverse germplasm resources includes the mini core collection; wild and weedy relatives provide researchers opportunities for related sequence variations with phenotypic traits of interest and their utilization in sorghum improvement. Multiparent mapping populations (MAGIC, and BC-NAM), NAM, TILLING, and Eco-TILLING approaches are being used to a limited extent, and need to be accelerated to allow fast genomewide identification of QTL for sorghum improvement.

References

- Araus JL, Cairns JE (2014) Field high-throughput phenotyping: the new crop breeding frontier. Trends Plant Sci 19(1):52–61
- Bandyopadhyay R, Mughogho LK, Rao KRP (1988) Sources of resistance to sorghum grain molds. Plant Dis 72:504–508
- Batz J, Méndez-Dorado M, Thomasson J (2016) Imaging for high-throughput phenotyping in energy sorghum. J Imaging 2(1):4. doi:10.3390/jimaging2010004
- Besufekad Y, Bantte K (2013) Evaluation and association mapping for drought tolerance in sorghum [Sorghum bicolor (L.) Moench]. Glob J Sci Front Res Agric Vet 13(5)
- Bhosale SU, Stich B, Rattunde HFW, Weltzien E, Haussmann BIG, Hash CT, Ramu P, Cuevas HE, Paterson AH, Melchinger AE, Parzies HK (2012) Association analysis of photoperiodic flowering time genes in west and central African sorghum [Sorghum bicolor (L.) Moench]. BMC Plant Biol 12(1):32
- Billot C, Rivallan R, Sall MN, Fonceka D, Deu M, Glaszmann J-C, Noyer J-L, Rami J-F, Risterucci A-M, Wincker P, Ramu P, Hash CT (2012) A reference microsatellite kit to assess for genetic diversity of *Sorghum bicolor* (Poaceae). Am J Bot 99(6):e245–250
- Billot C, Ramu P, Bouchet S, Chantereau J, Deu M, Rivallan R, Li Y, Lu P, Gardes L, Noyer J, Wang T, Folkertsma RT, Arnaud E, Upadhyaya HD, Glaszmann C, Hash CT (2013) Massive sorghum collection genotyped with SSR Markers to enhance use of global genetic resources. PLoS ONE 8(4):e59714
- Bouchet S, Pot D, Deu M, Rami J-F, Billot C, Perrier X, Rivallan R, Gardes L, Xia L, Wenzl P, Kilian A, Glaszmann J-C (2012) Genetic structure, linkage disequilibrium and signature of selection in Sorghum: lessons from physically anchored DArT markers. PLoS ONE 7(3):e33470
- Bowers JE, Abbey C, Anderson S, Chang C, Draye X, Hoppe AH, Jessup R, Lemke C, Lennington J, Li Z, Lin YR, Liu SC, Luo L, Marler BS, Ming R,

Mitchell SE, Qiang D, Reischmann K, Schulze SR, Skinner DN, Wang YW, Kresovich S, Schertz KF, Paterson AH (2003) A high-density genetic recombination map of sequence-tagged sites for Sorghum, as a framework for comparative structural and evolutionary genomics of tropical grains and grasses. Genetics 165(1):367–386

- Brown AHD (1989) Core collections: a practical approach to genetic resources management. Genome 31:818– 824
- Cuevas HE, Prom LK, Magill C (2012) Reaction to rust by a subset of sorghum accessions from Zimbabwe. Asian J Plant Pathol 6(2):33–40
- Cuevas HE, Prom LK, Erpelding JE (2014) Tapping the US sweet sorghum collection to identify biofuel germplasm. Sugar Technol 17(4):428–438
- Cuevas HE, Prom LK, Isakeit T, Radwan G (2016) Assessment of sorghum germplasm from Burkina Faso and South Africa to identify new sources of resistance to grain mold and anthracnose. Crop Protec 79:43–50
- Dahlberg JA, Burke JJ, Rosenow DT (2004) Development of a sorghum core collection: refinement and evaluation of a subset from Sudan. Econ Bot 58 (4):556–567
- de Wet JMJ (1978) Systematics and evolution of sorghum sect sorghum (Gramineae). Am J Bot 65:477–484
- Dwivedi S, Sahrawat K, Upadhyaya HD, Ortiz R (2013) Food, nutrition and agrobiodiversity under global climate change. In: Sparks DL (ed) Advances in agronomy. Academic Press, Elsevier Inc., USA, pp 1– 128. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/B978-0-12-407686-0. 00001-4
- Erpelding J (2012) Anthracnose resistance in sorghum germplasm from the Segou region of Mali. J Crop Improv 26(3):397–414
- Evans J, McCormick RF, Morishige D, Olson SN, Weers B, Hilley J, Klein P, Rooney W, Mullet J (2013) Extensive variation in the density and distribution of DNA polymorphism in sorghum genomes. PLoS ONE 8(11):e79192
- Fernandez MGS, Schoenbaum GR, Goggi AS (2014) Novel germplasm and screening methods for early cold tolerance in Sorghum. Crop Sci 54(6):2631–2638
- Frankel OH (1984) Genetic perspective of germplasm conservation. In: Arber W, Limensee K, Peacock WJ, Stralinger P (eds) Genetic manipulations: impact on man and society. Cambridge Univ Press, Cambridge, UK, pp 161–170
- Grenier C, Bramel-Cox PJ, Hamon P (2001a) Core collection of sorghum: I. Stratification based on eco-geographical data. Crop Sci 41:379–380
- Grenier C, Hamon P, Bramel-Cox PJ (2001b) Core collection of sorghum: II. Comparison of three random sampling strategies. Crop Sci 41:241–246
- Harlan JR, de Wet JMJ (1972) A simplified classification of cultivated sorghum. Crop Sci 12:172–176
- Honsdorf N, March TJ, Berger B, Tester M, Pillen K (2014) High-throughput phenotyping to detect drought tolerance QTL in wild barley introgression lines. PLoS ONE 9(5):e97047

- IAASTD (2009) Agriculture at a cross-roads. Global report. Island Press, Washington DC, USA
- Jordan DR, Mace ES, Cruickshank AW, Hunt CH, Henzell RG (2011) Exploring and exploiting genetic variation from unadapted sorghum germplasm in a breeding program. Crop Sci 51:1444–1457
- Kamala V, Singh SD, Bramel PJ, Rao DM (2002) Sources of resistance to downy mildew in wild and weedy sorghums. Crop Sci 42:1357–1360
- Kamala V, Sharma HC, Rao DM, Varaprasad KS, Bramel P (2009) Wild relatives of sorghum as sources of resistance to sorghum shoot fly, Atherigona soccata. Plant Breed. 128:137–142
- Kamala V, Sharma HC, Rao DM, Varaprasad KS, Bramel PJ, Chandra S (2012) Interactions of spotted stem borer *Chilo partellus* with wild relatives of sorghum. Plant Breed 131(4):511–521
- Kapanigowda MH, Perumal R, Djanaguiraman M, Aiken RM, Tesso T, Prasad PVV, Little CR (2013) Genotypic variation in sorghum [Sorghum bicolor (L.) Moench] exotic germplasm collections for drought and disease tolerance. Springerplus 2:650
- Karunakar RI, Narayana YD, Pandey S, Mughogho L, Singh SD (1994a) Evaluation of early-flowering sorghum germplasm accessions for downy mildew resistance in the greenhouse. Int Sorghum Millets Newslett 35:102–103
- Karunakar RI, Narayana YD, Pande S, Mughogho L, Singh S (1994b) Evaluation of wild and weedy sorghums for downy mildew resistance. Int Sorghum Millets Newslett 35:104–106
- Kong W, Jin H, Franks CD, Kim C, Bandyopadhyay R, Rana MK, Auckland SA, Goff VH, Rainville LK, Burow GB, Woodfin C, Burke JJ, Paterson AH (2013) Genetic analysis of recombinant inbred lines for Sorghum bicolor × Sorghum propinquum. G3: Genes Genomes. Genetics 3:101–108
- Leiser WL, Rattunde H, Weltzien E, Cisse N, Abdou M, Diallo A, Tourè AO, Magalhaes JV, Haussmann B (2014) Two in one sweep: aluminum tolerance and grain yield in P-limited soils are associated to the same genomic region in West African Sorghum. BMC Plant Biol 14(1):206
- Li M, Yuyama N, Luo L, Hirata M, Cai H (2009) *In silico* mapping of 1758 new SSR markers developed from public genomic sequences for sorghum. Mol Breed 24 (1):41–47
- Liu Q, Liu H, Wen J, Peterson PM (2014) Infrageneric phylogeny and temporal divergence of sorghum (Andropogoneae, Poaceae) based on low-copy nuclear and plastid sequences. PLoS One 9:e104933
- Luo H, Zhao W, Wang Y, Xia Y, Wu X, Zhang L, Tang B, Zhu J, Fang L, Du Z, Bekele WA, Tai S, Jordan DR, Godwin ID, Snowdon RJ, Mace ES, Jing H-C, Luo J (2016) SorGSD: a sorghum genome SNP database. Biotechnol Biofuels 9(1):6
- Mace ES, Xia L, Jordan DR, Halloran K, Parh DK, Huttner E, Wenzl P, Kilian A (2008) DArT markers: diversity analyses and mapping in *Sorghum bicolor*. BMC Genom 9(1):26

- Mace ES, Tai S, Gilding EK, Li Y, Prentis PJ, Bian L, Campbell BC, HuW Innes DJ, Han X, Cruickshank A, Dai C, Frère C, Zhang H, Hunt CH, Wang X, Shatte T, Wang M, Su Z, Li J, Lin X, Godwin ID, Jordan DR, Wang J (2013a) Whole-genome sequencing reveals untapped genetic potential in Africa's indigenous cereal crop sorghum. Nat Commun 4:2320
- Mace ES, Hunt CH, Jordan DR (2013b) Supermodels: sorghum and maize provide mutual insight into the genetics of flowering time. Theor Appl Genet 126 (5):1377–1395
- Mannai El, Shehzad T, Okuno K (2011) Variation in flowering time in sorghum core collection and mapping of QTLs controlling flowering time by association analysis. Genet Resour Crop Evol 58:983–989
- Mantilla Perez MB, Zhao J, Yin Y, Hu J, Fernandez MGS (2014) Association mapping of brassinosteroid candidate genes and plant architecture in a diverse panel of *Sorghum bicolor*. Theor Appl Genet 127(12):2645–2662
- Mickelbart MV, Hasegawa PM, Bailey-Serres J (2015) Genetic mechanisms of abiotic stress tolerance that translate to crop yield stability. Nat Rev Genet 16 (4):237–251
- Morris G (2015) Dissecting complex traits in sorghum with a nested association mapping population. In: Conference paper. Plant and Animal Genome XXIII. January 10–14 (2015) San Diego. CA, USA
- Morris GP, Ramu P, Deshpande SP, Hash CT, Shah T, Upadhyaya HD, Riera-Lizarazu O, Brown PJ, Acharya CB, Mitchell SE, Harriman J, Glaubitz JC, Buckler ES, Kresovich S (2013) Population genomic and genome-wide association studies of agroclimatic traits in sorghum. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 110 (2):453–458
- Mutegi E, Sagnard F, Semagn K, Deu M, Muraya M, Kanyenji B, de Villiers S, Kiambi D, Herselman L, Labuschagne M (2011) Genetic structure and relationships within and between cultivated and wild sorghum (*Sorghum bicolor* (L.) Moench) in Kenya as revealed by microsatellite markers. Theor Appl Genet 122(5):989–1004
- Murray SC, Rooney WL, Hamblin MT, Mitchell SE, Kresovich S (2009) Sweet sorghum genetic diversity and association mapping for brix and height. Plant Genome J 2(1):48–62
- Neilson EH, Edwards AM, Blomstedt CK, Berger B, Møller BL, Gleadow RM (2015) Utilization of a high-throughput shoot imaging system to examine the dynamic phenotypic responses of a C4 cereal crop plant to nitrogen and water deficiency over time. J Exp Bot 66(7):1817–1832
- Nelson JC, Wang S, Wu Y, Li X, Antony G, White FF, Yu J (2011) Single-nucleotide polymorphism discovery by high-throughput sequencing in sorghum. BMC Genom 12(1):352
- Paterson AH, Bowers JE, Bruggmann R, Dubchak I, Grimwood J, Gundlach H, Haberer G, Hellsten U,

Mitros T, Poliakov A, Schmutz J, Spannagl M, Tang H, Wang X, Wicker T, Bharti AK, Chapman J, Feltus FA, Gowik U, Grigoriev IV, Lyons E, Maher CA, Martis M, Narechania A, Otillar RP, Penning BW, Salamov AA, Wang Y, Zhang L, Carpita NC, Freeling M, Gingle AR, Hash CT, Keller B, Klein P, Kresovich S, McCann MC, Ming R, Peterson DG, Mehboob-ur-Rahman Ware D, Westhoff P, Mayer KFX, Messing J, Rokhsar DS (2009) The *Sorghum bicolor* genome and the diversification of grasses. Nature 457 (7229):551–556

- Prasada Rao KE, Ramanatha Rao V (1995) The use of characterization data in developing a core collection of sorghum. In: Hodgkin T, Brown AHD, van Hintum Th.JL, Morales EAV (eds) Core collections of plant genetic resources. Wiley, Chichester, UK, pp 109–115
- Prom LK, Erpelding J (2009) New sources of grain mold resistance among sorghum accessions from Sudan. Trop Subtrop Agroecosyst 10(3):457–463
- Prom LK, Erpelding JE, Montes-Garcia N (2007) Chinese sorghum germplasm evaluated for resistance to downy mildew and anthracnose. Commun Biometry Crop Sci 2(1):26–31
- Prom LK, Erpelding J, Perumal R, Isakeit T, Cuevas H (2012) Response of sorghum accessions from four African countries against *Colletotrichum sublineolum*, causal agent of sorghum anthracnose. Am J Plant Sci 3:125–129
- Prom LK, Perumal R, Montes-Garcia N, Isakeit T, Odvody GN, Rooney WL, Little CR, Magill C (2015) Evaluation of Gambian and Malian sorghum germplasm against downy mildew pathogen, *Peronosclerospora sorghi*, in Mexico and the USA. J Gen Plant Pathol 81:24–31
- Reddy BVS, Ramesh S, Reddy PS, Ramaiah B, Salimath PM, Kachapur R (2005) Sweet sorghum-A potential alternative raw material for bio-ethanol and bio-energy. Int Sorghum Millet Newsl. 46:79–86
- Reddy BVS, Kumar AA, Reddy PS, Elangovan M (2008) Sorghum germplasm: diversity and utilization. In: Bantilan MCS, Deb UK, Gowda CLL, Reddy BVS, Obilana AB, Evenson RE (eds) Sorghum genetic enhancement: research process, dissemination and impacts. International Crops Research Institute for the Semi-Arid Tropics, Patancheru, AP, India, pp 153–169. ISBN 978-92-9066-512-0
- Seetharam (2011) Phenotypic assessment of sorghum (Sorghum bicolor L. Moench) germplasm reference set for yield and related traits under post flowering drought conditions. PhD Thesis. Tamil Nadu Agricultural University, Coimbatore, Tamil Nadu, India
- Sharma HC, Taneja SL, Kameswara Rao N, Prasada Rao KE (2003) Evaluation of sorghum germplasm for resistance to insect pests. Information Bulletin no. 63. Patancheru 502 324, Andhra Pradesh, India: International Crops Research Institute for the Semi-Arid Tropics. 184 p. ISBN 92-9066-458-4

- Sharma R, Rao VP, Upadhyaya HD, Reddy VG, Thakur RP (2010) Resistance to grain mold and downy mildew in a mini-core collection of sorghum germplasm. Plant Dis 94(4):439–444
- Sharma R, Upadhyaya HD, Manjunatha SV, Rao VP, Thakur RP (2012) Resistance to foliar diseases in a mini-core collection of sorghum germplasm. Plant Dis 96:1629–1633
- Shehzad T, Okuizumi H, Kawase M, Okuno K (2009) Development of SSR-based sorghum *(Sorghum bico-lor (L.) Moench)* diversity research set of germplasm and its evaluation by morphological traits. Genet Resour Crop Evol 56(6):809–827
- Singh V, Singh Y (2014) Screening of sorghum germplasm against *Exserohilum* leaf blight. Trends Biosci 7(16):2087–2089
- Thakur RP, Rao VP, Sharma R (2008) Characterization of grain mold resistant sorghum germplasm accessions for physio- morphological traits. SAT eJournal 6 (December):1–7
- Topp CN, Iyer-Pascuzzi AS, Anderson JT, Lee C-R, Zurek PR, Symonova O, Zheng Y, Bucksch A, Mileyko Y, Galkovskyi T, Moore BT, Harer J, Edelsbrunner H, Mitchell-Olds T, Weitz JS, Benfey PN (2013) 3D phenotyping and quantitative trait locus mapping identify core regions of the rice genome controlling root architecture. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 110(18):E1695–1704
- Upadhyaya HD, Ortiz R (2001) A mini core subset for capturing diversity and promoting utilization of chickpea genetic resources in crop improvement. Theor Appl Genet 102:1292–1298
- Upadhyaya HD, Pundir RPS, Dwivedi SL, Gowda CLL, Reddy VG, Singh S (2009) Developing a mini core collection of sorghum for diversified utilization of germplasm. Crop Sci 49:1769–1780
- Upadhyaya HD, Wang Y-H, Sharma S, Singh S, Hasenstein KH (2012a) SSR markers linked to kernel weight and tiller number in sorghum identified by association mapping. Euphytica 187(3):401–410
- Upadhyaya HD, Wang Y-H, Sharma S, Singh S (2012b) Association mapping of height and maturity across five environments using the sorghum mini core collection. Genome 55(6):471–479
- Upadhyaya HD, Wang Y-H, Gowda CLL, Sharma S (2013a) Association mapping of maturity and plant height using SNP markers with the sorghum mini core collection. Theor Appl Genet 126(8):2003–2015
- Upadhyaya HD, Wang Y-H, Sharma R, Sharma S (2013b) Identification of genetic markers linked to anthracnose resistance in sorghum using association analysis. Theor Appl Genet 126(6):1649–1657
- Upadhyaya HD, Wang Y-H, Sharma R, Sharma S (2013c) SNP markers linked to leaf rust and grain mold resistance in sorghum. Mol Breed 32(2):451–462
- Upadhyaya HD, Sharma S, Dwivedi SL, Singh SK (2014a) Sorghum genetic resources: conservation and diversity assessment fo enhanced utilization in sorghum improvement. In: Wang YH, Upadhyaya HD, Kole C (eds) Genetics, genomics and breeding of

sorghum. CRC Press, Boca Raton (USA), London (UK), New York (USA), pp 28-55

- Upadhyaya HD, Dwivedi SL, Ramu P, Singh SK, Singh S (2014b) Genetic variability and effect of postflowering drought on stalk sugar content in sorghum mini core collection. Crop Sci 54(5):2120–2130
- Upadhyaya HD, Dwivedi SL, Singh S, Sahrawat KL, Singh SK (2016a) Genetic variation and postflowering drought effects on seed iron and zinc in ICRISAT sorghum mini core collection. Crop Sci 56:374–383
- Upadhyaya HD, Wang Y-H, Dintyala SV, Dwivedi SL, Prasad PVV, Burrell AM, Klein R, Morris GP, Klein PE (2016b) Association mapping of germinability and seedling vigor in sorghum under controlled low temperature conditions. Genome 59:137–145
- Upadhyaya HD, Dwivedi SL, Vetriventhan M, Krishnamurthy L, Singh SK (2017) Post-flowering drought tolerance using managed stress trials, adjusted to flowering and mini core collection in sorghum. Crop Sci. doi:10.2135/cropsci2016.04.0280
- Vadez V, Kholova J, Hummel G, Zhokhavets U, Gupta SK, Hash CT (2015) LeasyScan: a novel concept combining 3D imaging and lysimetry for high-throughput phenotyping of traits controlling plant water budget. J Exp Bot 66(18):5581–5593
- Vadez V, Krishnamurthy L, Hash CT, Upadhyaya HD, Borrell AK (2011) Yield, transpiration efficiency, and water-use variations and their interrelationships in the sorghum reference collection. Crop Pasture Sci 62:645–655
- van Treuren R, van Hintum TJL (2014) Next-generation genebanking: plant genetic resources management and utilization in the sequencing era. Plant Genet Resour 12(3):298–307
- Varshney RK, Terauchi R, McCouch SR (2014) Harvesting the promising fruits of genomics: applying genome sequencing technologies to crop breeding. PLoS Biol 12(6):e1001883
- Walter A, Liebisch F, Hund A (2015) Plant phenotyping: from bean weighing to image analysis. Plant Methods 11:14
- Wang YH, Bible P, Loganantharaj R, Upadhyaya HD (2011) Identification of SSR markers associated with saccharification yield using pool-based genome- wide association mapping in sorghum. Genome 54:883–889
- Wang Y-H, Acharya A, Burrell AM, Klein RR, Klein PE, Hasenstein KH (2013a) Mapping and candidate genes associated with saccharification yield in sorghum. Genome 56(11):659–665
- Wang Y-H, Bible P, Loganantharaj R, Upadhyaya HD (2012) Identification of SSR markers associated with height using pool-based genome-wide association mapping in sorghum. Mol Breed 30(1):281–292
- Wang Y, Upadhyaya HD, Burrell AM, Sahraeian SME, Klein RR, Klein PE (2013b) genetic structure and linkage disequilibrium in a diverse, representative collection of the C4 model plant, *Sorghum bicolor*. G3: Genes Genomes Genet 3:783–793
- Yang W, Guo Z, Huang C, Duan L, Chen G, Jiang N, Fang W, Feng H, Xie W, Lian X, Wang G, Luo Q,

Zhang Q, Liu Q, Xiong L (2014) Combining high-throughput phenotyping and genome-wide association studies to reveal natural genetic variation in rice. Nat Commun 5:5087

- Yang X-H, Xu Z-H, Xue H-W (2005) Arabidopsis membrane steroid binding protein 1 is involved in inhibition of cell elongation. Plant Cell 17(1):116–131
- Zhang D, Kong W, Robertson J, Goff VH, Epps E, Kerr A, Mills G, Cromwell J, Lugin Y, Phillips C, Paterson AH (2015) Genetic analysis of inflorescence and plant height components in sorghum (Panicoidae) and comparative genetics with rice (Oryzoidae). BMC Plant Biol 15(1):107

Sorghum Genome Mapping and Its Impact Generated Through Public and Private Efforts

5

Sylvester Elikana Anami, Hong Luo, Yan Xia and Hai-Chun Jing

Abstract

In 2009, the sequence and annotation of a sorghum whole genome was reported by a team of international collaborators, followed by resequencing and complete annotation of the sorghum transcriptome and methylome together with the identification of genomewide structural variations through national initiatives. The genome, structural variations, quantitative trait loci (QTLs), genes, and alternative splicing (AS) events encode useful agronomic information that needs to be decoded for sorghum improvement through genetic manipulations of key metabolic pathways. Here, we review the background history of the national and international sorghum genome initiatives, public and private partners involved, sorghum genome databases for robust computational methods for sequence analysis, and the impact of the genome information on sorghum improvement.

1 Introduction

Sorghum [*Sorghum bicolor* L. (Moench)] is an African grass with its intrinsic abilities to withstand limited water conditions and heat stress. These qualities of the crop have made it suitable to thrive

S.E. Anami

in arid and semi-arid regions of the world. Sorghum has a relatively small genome size of 730 Mb (Paterson et al. 2009). Excellent genetic and germplasm resources are available in sorghum in various national and international programs (Dillon et al. 2007). It has a close evolutionary relationship with other important crop species including maize, rice, and sugarcane (Aitken et al. 2014; Jiao et al. 2014). All these make the sorghum genome an important resource for application in comparative genomics, which in turn facilitates discovery of novel agronomical alleles for crop improvement through molecular breeding. First domesticated in Ethiopia and Sudan about 8000 years ago (Wendorf et al. 1992), sorghum is the only globally important cereal of African origin. Currently sorghum is the fifth

S.E. Anami \cdot H. Luo \cdot Y. Xia \cdot H.-C. Jing (\boxtimes) Key Laboratory of Plant Resources, Institute of Botany, Chinese Academy of Sciences, Beijing 100093, China e-mail: hcjing@ibcas.ac.cn

Institute of Biotechnology Research, Jomo Kenyatta University of Agriculture and Technology, P.O. BOX 62000-00200, Nairobi, Kenya

[©] Springer International Publishing AG 2016

S. Rakshit and Y.-H. Wang (eds.), *The Sorghum Genome*, Compendium of Plant Genomes, DOI 10.1007/978-3-319-47789-3_5

most important grain crop grown in the world based on tonnage, after maize, wheat, rice, and barley (www.fao.org). About 500 million poor people in sub-Saharan Africa depend on sorghum as their primary source of food, in addition to a substantial mass of the population from the Indian subcontinent.

Since the 1950s maize genetics has advanced substantially as compared to other crops in the Gramineae family. For instance, mobile DNA elements, Dissociator (Ds) and Activator (Ac) in the maize genome were described (McClintock 1950). Genetically mapped and cloned maize DNA fragments that could detect polymorphism became available (Coe Jr et al. 1988; Helentjaris et al. 1986; Burr et al. 1988), accelerating the generation of a maize genetic map (Coe Jr et al. 1988), estimation of evolutionary relationships between related species (Springer et al. 1989), and calculation of the genetic distance between various maize breeding stocks. At that point, it became evident that the maize genetic technology could be applied to the sorghum crop that is ideal for environments prone to drought and extreme heat.

2 Sorghum Genetic Maps

The construction of sorghum genetic maps began in earnest in the 1990s. DNA fragments characterized in maize were found to hybridize strongly to DNA from sorghum and other related crops including foxtail millet, Johnsongrass, and sugarcane, suggesting that polymorphic loci in maize and sorghum are conserved (Hulbert et al. 1990). In addition, maize restriction fragment length polymorphism (RFLP) probes were utilized to construct a sorghum linkage map and the probes were found to be similar to those of sorghum (Binelli et al. 1992; Whitkus et al. 1992; Berhan et al. 1993). This allowed the study of comparative genetics between related species and opened the possibility of examining horizontal gene transfer from sorghum to other species and vice versa. A high-density RFLP linkage map of sorghum spanning 1789 cMs consisting of 190 loci was constructed by Xu et al. (1994). The maps were grouped into 14 linkage groups and the markers were principally detected with sorghum low-copy-number nuclear DNA clones. This map was constructed in an F2 mapping population composed of 50 plants derived from a cross of IS3620C and BTx623 inbred lines. The second high-density RFLP linkage map of sorghum consisted of 276 RFLP loci as detected by PstI-digested S. bicolor genomic probes (Chittenden et al. 1994). The map had 10 linkage groups and it was built in a segregating 56 F₂ progeny of a cross between S. bicolor and S. propinguum. An F₂ population derived from a cross between S. bicolor ssp. bicolor (CK60) and S. bicolor ssp. drummondii (PI229828) was used to develop an RFLP genetic linkage map of sorghum for comparative mapping in maize. The map consisted of 201 loci distributed among 10 linkage groups covering a map distance of 1530 cm, with an average 8 cm between adjacent loci (Pereira et al. 1994). Ragab et al. (1994) used both sorghum and maize probes to construct an RFLP map based on an F2 population from a cross between sorghum lines BSC 35 and BTX 631, improving on the limitation to the use of heterologous maize clones for sorghum map constructions. An interspecific sorghum F2 population was used as a reference to reveal correspondence among quantitative trait loci (QTLs) affecting height and/or flowering in maize, rice, wheat, and barley populations (Lin et al. 1995). To facilitate the mapping of related complex polyploid species such as sugarcane, a sorghum composite linkage map was constructed using RFLP markers with two recombinant inbred line (RIL) populations of 110 and 91 individuals derived from two interspecific crosses with S. bicolor ssp. bicolor (IS2807 \times 379 and IS2807 \times 249; Dufour et al. 1997). Subudhi and Nguyen (2000) aligned five major RFLP maps of Boivin et al. (1999), Chittenden et al. (1994), Pereira et al. (1994), Ragab et al. (1994), and Xu et al. (1994) and integrated with 10 linkage groups using a RIL population revealing important QTLs, but the map lacked higher marker density for positional cloning of genes, genetic anchoring of bacterial artificial chromosome (BAC)-based physical maps, or assembly of a genomic shotgun sequence. To facilitate anchoring of BAC-based physical maps of both *S. bicolor* and *S. propinquum*, rapid gene isolation by map-based cloning and provision of landmarks for eventual genomic sequence assembly, Bowers et al. (2003) integrated much of the aforementioned sorghum genetic linkage maps and constructed a high-density genetic recombination map of sequence-tagged sites (STS) for sorghum, fostering comparative genomics of sorghum with sugarcane, maize, rice, millet, buffelgrass, the Triticeae (wheat, barley, oat, rye), and *Arabidopsis*.

Random simplified polymorphic DNA (RAPD) markers have had limited utility in the construction of genetic maps in sorghum when compared to other markers such as RFLP. Nevertheless, Tuinstra et al. (1996) used a population of 98 RI lines derived from two genotypes with contrasting drought reactions to generate a sorghum linkage map using 150 RAPD markers that mapped to 17 linkage groups. In addition, Agrama et al. (2002) employed 75 RAPDs and Knoll et al. (2008) used 67 RAPDs markers to generate sorghum linkage maps. RAPD markers exhibit a dominant mode of inheritance and are associated with lack of reproducibility. Thus, their use in sorghum genome mapping is limited.

Due to the robustness of the amplified fragment length polymorphism (AFLP) technique (Vos et al. 1995) in genetic mapping, it was widely employed in saturation of sorghum linkage maps constructed earlier using RFLP and RAPD markers. One hundred and thirty seven AFLP markers were combined with RFLP markers described by Dufour et al. (1997) to construct a sorghum genetic linkage map of 443 loci extending the map length from 977 to 1899 cm (Boivin et al. 1999). A combined sorghum linkage map from two RI populations was constructed using AFLP, SSR, RFLP, and RAPD markers, of which 249 markers were AFLP on 11 linkage groups and had a length of 1424 cm (Haussmann et al. 2002). Subsequent sorghum linkage maps have included AFLP markers for QTL identification and for map saturations (McIntyre et al. 2005; Mace et al. 2008; Murray et al. 2008a; Ritter et al. 2008; Ramu et al. 2009; Shiringani and Friedt 2011). However, the use of AFLPs has become less popular due to difficulty

in marker-assisted breeding and map-based cloning applications. In addition, the technique is costly, and requires a considerable amount of time to achieve results. Therefore, there was a need to develop techniques for plant genotyping that are robust and inexpensive.

Simple sequence repeat (SSR) markers with a high degree of polymorphism became much more preferred over RAPD and AFLP markers for plant genotyping because of their low costs, technical simplicity, throughput level, and automation (Varshney et al. 2005), and as such they have contributed to the molecular dissection of agriculturally important traits in different crops including sorghum (Das and Rao 2015; Kumar et al. 2015; Murray et al. 2008b). Screening of sorghum genomic AG-enriched libraries with labeled poly(AG)/poly(CT) combined with database searches enabled the characterization of 13 SSR markers in sorghum (Taramino et al. 1997). These markers revealed a high degree of polymorphism in nine sorghum inbred lines and seven of these SSR markers were mapped on five linkage groups on the RFLP map of Pereira et al. (1994). Tao et al. (1998, 2000) assigned eight new SSR markers to an RFLP linkage map of cross QL39 \times OL41. Kong et al. (2000) and Bhattramakki et al. (2000) used a BTx623 × IS3620C population and mapped 31 and 113 new SSR markers, respectively, on a RFLP linkage map of Peng et al. (1999). The combination of mapped SSRs and AFLP markers permitted the construction of a high-density genetic map (Menz et al. 2002). Feltus et al. (2006a, b) added 15 additional new SSRs, which were used as bridge markers for map alignment among different genetic maps (Bhattramakki et al. 2000; Kong et al. 2000; Menz et al. 2002; Bowers et al. 2003). Bhattramakki et al. (2000) reported an integrated SSR and RFLP linkage map of sorghum using a large number of SSR and RFLP loci of sorghum. A sorghum linkage map developed has a map length of 997.5 cm with an average marker distance of 8.8 cm that included 38 novel SSR markers (Wu and Huang 2007).

The difficulty in the de novo development of the SSR markers was overcome by the

generation of larger numbers of expressed sequence tag (EST) libraries (Pratt et al. 2005) and the availability of the complete sorghum genome sequence (Paterson et al. 2009). Srinivas et al. (2008) developed 50 genic microsatellite markers targeting the stay-green QTLs. Using the RIL population of 296B \times IS18551, Srinivas et al. (2009) employed genomic and genic microsatellite markers to construct a sorghum linkage map. Here, map positions of 28 drought EST-SSRs and seven SSRs were determined. Taking advantage of the rice-sorghum synteny, Ramu et al. (2009) developed 600 EST-SSRs in which 55 were mapped on an N13-E36-1 genetic map (Haussman et al. 2002).

The development of EST-derived microsatellites (SSRs) was confronted with the problem of sequence redundancy resulting in multiple sets of markers at the same locus. Unigenes were then developed with the advantage of having unique identity and positions in the transcribed regions of the genome. For instance, Reddy et al. (2012) identified 1519 unigene SSRs and constructed a linkage map with 228 SSRs in sorghum.

The availability of the complete sorghum genome sequence enabled the identification of 1758 new genomic SSR primers amplifying polymorphism from screening a panel of eight sorghum lines (Li et al. 2009). Using *in silico* mapping, 1692 of the SSRs were mapped onto the 10 sorghum chromosomes. Compared to conventional genetic mapping, the in silico mapping seems convenient and low cost, and it saves labor and serves as a reference map for genetic map saturations and comparative genetic mapping.

The use of RFLP, RAPD, AFLP, and SSR markers has been characterized by a low level of genome coverage and reproducibility. Diversity array technology (DArT) markers have the potential of high-throughput and whole-genome profiling based on hybridization-based technology and can overcome the above limitations. A sorghum genetic linkage map was developed consisting of 358 DArT markers in addition to 47 genomic-SSR and 188 AFLP markers distributed over the 10 chromosomes spanning a genetic distance of 1431.6 cm (Mace et al.

2008). A sorghum consensus map based on six mapping populations was developed consisting of 1190 DArT and 839 non-DArT markers (Mace et al. 2009). A cross of BR007 × SC283 was used to construct a sorghum genetic map consisting of 255 DArT markers, 83 SSRs, 5 sequence-tagged sites (STS), and 1 RFLP (Sabadin et al. 2012). These genetic maps are resources for various genetic studies and for the integration of DArT markers with other genomic resources.

Single-nucleotide polymorphisms (SNPs) uncovered by next-generation sequencing (NGS) are currently the marker of choice for plant genetic research and plant breeding due to their large numbers in virtually all populations. Genetic applications such as linkage mapping, association studies, population structure, map-based cloning, marker-assisted plant breeding, and functional genomics continue to be enabled by access to large collections of SNPs (Kumar et al. 2012). The development of the ultra-high-density linkage map based high-quality SNPs generated from low coverage sequences involving 244 RILs of sorghum crosses was enabled through resequencing, establishing the utility of resequencing in sorghum (Zou et al. 2012). The map consisted of 3418 bin markers and spanned 1591.1 cm of the genome size with an average distance of 0.5 cm between adjacent bins. This made it easier to anchor the genetic bins to the physical positions of the SNPs, facilitating the identification of potential genes conditioning various agronomic traits in the target regions.

3 Sorghum Physical Maps

The construction of genetic maps was closely followed by the construction of physical maps as well. Bacterial artificial chromosome libraries are a useful resource for physical mapping and map-based cloning applications. Such libraries provide an important tool for structural, functional, and comparative genomic studies of eukaryotic genomes. Towards this, a BAC library with 13,440 clones was developed in
sorghum variety BTx623 by Woo et al. (1994). The library was screened with six sorghum probes and three maize probes. All but one sorghum probe hybridized to at least one BAC clone in the library. On the other hand, Cot-based sequence discovery represents a powerful means to selectively fraction, clone, and characterize low-copy and repetitive sequences. Following this strategy, Woo et al. (1994) and Peterson et al. (2002) produced HRCot, MRCot, and SLCot genomic libraries in the sorghum variety, BTx623. The Cot analysis suggested that the sorghum genome is approximately 700 Mb and that highly repetitive, moderately repetitive, and single-/low-copy components comprise 15, 41, and 24 % of sorghum DNA, respectively. Recently, binary BAC (BIBAC) libraries for sorghum landrace Nengsi-1 have been constructed, facilitating transfer of large intact DNA inserts from BAC clones to the BIBAC vector and to test functional complementation of large DNA fragments (Wang et al. 2013). Bowers et al. (2005) described two genetically anchored sorghum physical maps, anchoring thousands of genetically mapped STSs. This helped to study microsynteny among related species and wild relatives of sorghum. The BAC and Cot clones, physical map, and genome information obtained from the BTx623 genotype were used for functional complementation studies and positional or homology-based cloning of genes for translational genomics. These became fundamental resources to accelerate the genetic, molecular, and genomic studies of sorghum including whole-genome sequencing.

4 Sorghum Genome Sequencing and Beyond

4.1 Sequencing Initiatives

With the aforesaid key developments in sorghum genomic analysis, and the need to increase sorghum production dramatically to sustain human populations in many regions, an international meeting was organized in St. Louis, Missouri on November 9, 2004. The meeting proposed to perform 8× whole-genome shotgun coverage of the *S. bicolor* genome for public release (Kresovich et al. 2005; Paterson et al. 2005b; Messing 2009). Five years after this announcement, the initial analysis of the 730-megabase sorghum cultivar BTx623 whole genome was presented (Paterson et al. 2009).

The whole-genome shotgun (WGS) approach was employed to generate a high-quality genome sequence of sorghum genotype BTx623 with an error probability of 1 error per 10 kb, and coverage of 98.46 %. This approach was based on isolation of total DNA, then fragmenting it into small sizes using restriction enzymes, purifying them by cloning, and defining the start of sequencing with a short oligonucleotide. As the process of genome fragmentation produces overlapping fragments, sequences can be concatenated easily by overlapping sequences, thereby reconstructing contiguous sequences (contigs; Messing 2009). Prior to the release of the sorghum genome sequence by Paterson et al. (2009), WGS sequencing of cultivar ATx623 was carried out by means of methylation filtration technology. With this, exons, introns, promoters. microRNAs, and SSRs were preferentially captured. Thus, 96 % of the sorghum genes could be tagged (Bedell et al. 2005). This provided a robust view of the functional parts of the sorghum genome. The sorghum genome sequence project identified $\sim 71,000$ SSRs in the genome that lacked information on the SSR motifs and availability of primers (Paterson et al. 2009). Yonemaru et al. (2009) identified 5599 nonredundant SSR markers in sorghum through WGS sequencing of sorghum cultivar ATx623. The SSR marker information included regions flanking the SSRs. They found $(AT/TA)_n$ repeats constitute 26.1 % of all SSRs, followed by $(AG/TC)_n$ representing 20.5 %, $(AC/TG)_n$ 13.7 %, and $(CG/GC)_n$ 11.8 % of identified SSRs.

The WGS has facilitated the identification of molecular mechanisms controlling diverse traits in sorghum. This has created new opportunities for crop improvements. The genetic basis of plant architecture (root structure, leaf architecture, stem composition, plant height, and tillering), flowering time, biomass bioconversion efficiency, abiotic (leaf stay-green and drought, cold stress, salt stress, aluminum toxicity) and biotic (insect pests, diseases, and *Striga* parasitism) stress resistance, and grain yield in sorghum have been resolved (Anami et al. 2015a). These QTLs are likely to accelerate the progress of the use of molecular markers for gene isolation, map-based cloning, and marker-assisted selection aimed at improving sorghum cultivars (Mohamed et al. 2014; Ejeta and Knoll 2007; Leiser et al. 2014).

4.2 Public and Private Partners in Sorghum Genome Sequencing

The US Department of Energy and Joint Genome Institute united the expertise of seven laboratories, namely Plant Genome Mapping Laboratory, University of Georgia; International Crops Research Institute for the Semi-Arid Tropics, India; Institute for Genomic Diversity, Cornell University; Waksman Institute for Microbiology, Rutgers University; Mississippi Genome Exploration Laboratory, Mississippi State University; DOE Joint Genome Institute, Walnut Creek and Department of Plant and Microbial Biology, University of California, Berkeley, along with 14 other laboratories (Table 1) for integrated high-throughput whole-genome sequencing and computational analysis of the genome of the BTx623 sorghum cultivar. Additional funding for this project was provided by the US National Science Foundation, German Federal Ministry of Education GABI initiative, and from private partners including the International Consortium for Sugarcane Biotechnology, National Sorghum Producers, and John Simon Guggenheim Foundation. Whole-sorghum genome sequencing and resequencing initiatives by both public and private partners and the countries that were involved in the initiatives are summarized in Table 1.

It may be observed that the biggest initiative was by Paterson et al. (2009), which generated the framework sequence for sorghum. This, in turn, became the basis of all subsequent resequencing projects. It is the joint and combined effort of public sector organizations and private partners that played a synergistic role in completing this daunting task. Other efforts have mostly remained within public organizations but the impact made by these efforts is really significant.

4.3 Next-Generation Sequencing

The next-generation sequencing approach involving a whole-genome shotgun strategy and Illumina Genome Analyzer sequencing technology combined with highly efficient alignment software was applied to resequence additional sorghum lines to discover large numbers of SNPs and structural variants in previously sequenced genomes (Nelson et al. 2011; Zheng et al. 2011; Bekele et al. 2013; Mace et al. 2013; Morris et al. 2013). The structural variations in genomes include SNP, insertionsdeletions (in-dels), duplications, inversions, translocations, copy number variations (CNV), and presence/absence variants (PAV; Saxena et al. 2014). The updated status of different sequencing/ resequencing projects is summarized in Table 2. Sorghum has a well-assembled and well-annotated genome enabling the utility of restrictionsite-associated DNA tags (RAD-seq) that are spread at a high density throughout the genome. This relies on genome complexity reduction for SNP discovery and high-resolution genotyping. Nelson et al. (2011) employed the RAD-seq sequencing approach to identify 283,000 SNPs from eight sorghum accessions (BTx623, BTx430, P898012, Segaolane, SC35, SC265, PI653737 [S. propinguum], and 12-26 [S. bicolor ssp. Verticilliflorum]). Structural variations in genomes have been implicated as playing a role in evolutionary and biological processes and studies need to be designed to correlate genetic variations with plant performance. Bekele et al. (2013) resequenced five genetically diverse sorghum genotypes, including three sweet sorghums and two grain sorghums cultivars. They identified and validated 2620 robust and polymorphic sorghum SNPs. In another study, approximately 265,000 SNPs were characterized

Public participants	Private participants	Countries involved	Reference
Stanford Human Genome Center, Stanford University	International Consortium for Sugarcane Biotechnology; National Sorghum Producers;	United States, China, Germany, India,	Paterson et al.
MIPS/IBIS, Helmholtz Zentrum München	John Simon Guggenheim Foundation	Pakistan, Switzerland	(2009)
Center for Integrative Genomics, University of California, Berkeley			
College of Sciences, Hebei Polytechnic University			
Institute of Plant Biology, University of Zurich			
Department of Genetics and Biochemistry, Clemson University, Clemson			
Institut fur Entwicklungs und Molekularbiologie der Pflanzen, Heinrich-Heine-Universitat			
Cold Spring Harbor Laboratory, Cold Spring Harbor			
Department of Biological Sciences, Purdue University			
Department of Botany and Plant Pathology, Purdue University			
Department of Horticulture and Institute for Plant Genomics and Biotechnology, Texas A&M University			
Department of Plant Biology, University of Illinois at Urbana-Champaign, Urbana			
National Institute for Biotechnology & Genetic Engineering (NIBGE)			
USDA NAA Robert Holley Center for Agriculture and Health, Ithaca			
US National Science Foundation			
German Federal Ministry of Education GABI Initiative			
US Department of Agriculture-Agricultural Research Service			
Department of Agronomy, Kansas State University, Manhattan		United States of America	Nelson et al.
Department of Plant Pathology, Kansas State University, 4024 Throckmorton Plant Sciences Center, Manhattan			(2011)
Institute of Botany, Chinese Academy of Sciences, Beijing		China	Zheng et al.
Shenzhen Key Laboratory of Transomics Biotechnologies, BGI-Shenzhen			(2011)
Temasek Life Sciences Laboratory Limited, 1 Research Link National University of Singapore			
Chinese Academy of Sciences			

 Table 1
 Sorghum genome sequencing national and international participants

(continued)

Public participants	Private participants	Countries involved	Reference
Department of Plant Breeding, Justus Liebig University, Giessen, Germany	Service XS, Leiden, Netherlands; CLC Genomics, Cologne, Germany	China, Germany	Bekele et al. (2013)
KWS Saat AG, Einbeck, Germany	-		
German Federal Ministry of Education and Research (BMBF)	-		
Federal Ministry for Consumer Affairs, Nutrition and Agriculture (BMVEL)			
Max-Planck Institute for Plant Breeding Research, Cologne, Germany			
Department of Agriculture, Fisheries and Forestry Queensland (DAFFQ), Warwick		Australia, China, Denmark	Mace et al. (2013)
Shenzhen Key Laboratory of Transomics Biotechnologies, BGI-Shenzhen	-		
The University of Queensland, School of Agriculture and Food Sciences, Brisbane	-		
Science and Engineering Faculty, Queensland University of Technology, Brisbane	-		
DAFFQ, Cooper's Plains, Brisbane			
Queensland Alliance for Agriculture and Food Innovation, The University of Queensland, Warwick			
Department of Biology, University of Copenhagen			
The Novo Nordisk Foundation Center for Basic Metabolic Research University			

using genotyping by sequencing 971 worldwide accessions that have adapted to diverse agroclimatic conditions (Morris et al. 2013). A high coverage $(16-45\times)$ resequencing of genomes of 44 diverse sorghum lines was taken up by Mace et al. (2013). The study material included 18 landraces, 17 improved inbreds, and 7 wild and weedy sorghums. They identified 8 million high-quality SNPs, 1.9 million in-dels, and specific gene losses. A 12× coverage resequencing of two sweet (Keller, E-Tian) and one grain (Ji2731) sorghum inbred line identified 3234 CNVs associated with 2600 genes and 16,487 PAVs associated with 1416 genes (Zheng et al. 2011; Saxena et al. 2014). These were found to be associated with phenotypic variation of disease resistance. In addition, 1,057,018 SNPs, 99,948 in-dels of 1–10 bp in length and 16,487 PAVs as well as 17,111 copy number variations were uncovered. Zhang et al. (2014a) characterized in detail 51 larger size PAVs (>30 kb) identified in the previous study. They found the PAVs to vary considerably for repeat sequences and mobile elements with DNA transposons as the major components. The PAVs

of Copenhagen

Corporation (GRDC), Australia

Grains Research and Development

Australian Research Council (ARC)

Beijing Genomics Institute

Cultivar category	Sorghum cultivar	Country of origin Total SNI	
Improved varieties	BTx642	Ethiopia 1,517,83	
Improved varieties	PI525695	Mali	1,939,649
Improved varieties	PI586430	Sierra Leone	1,916,335
S. propinquum	S. propinquum 369-1	-	5,145,808
S. propinquum	S. propinquum 369-2	-	4,805,314
Improved varieties	Ai4	China breeding program	1,148,341
Improved varieties	B923296	Australia breeding program	648,022
Improved varieties	ICSV745	India breeding program	899,003
Improved varieties	Karper 669	US breeding program	1,112,491
Improved varieties	KS115	US breeding program	928,408
Improved varieties	LR9198	China breeding program	1,245,014
Improved varieties	Macia	Mozambique	772,165
Improved varieties	Malisor 84-7	Mali	345,479
Improved varieties	QL12	Australia breeding program	1,028,161
Improved varieties	R931945-2-2	Australia breeding program	1,234,614
Improved varieties	Rio	US breeding program	817,774
Improved varieties	RTx7000	US breeding program	1,122,424
Improved varieties	B963676	Australia breeding program	643,809
Improved varieties	PI563516	Mali	1,008,016
Improved varieties	Ji_2731	China breeding program	546,841
Improved varieties	Keller	US breeding program	334,453
Improved varieties	E-Tian	China breeding program	441,887
Landraces	Early Hegari	Sudan	900,247
Landraces	IS3614-2	Nigeria	1,301,792
Landraces	IS8525	Ethiopia 936,24	
Landraces	IS9710	Sudan	952,704
Landraces	M35-1	India breeding program	793,507
Landraces	SC103-14E	South Africa	792,792
Landraces	SC108C	Ethiopia	729,488
Landraces	SC170-6-8	Ethiopia	823,103
Landraces	SC23	Ethiopia	1,341,925
Landraces	SC237-14E	Sudan	854,065
Landraces	SC326-6	United States/Ethiopia	849,759
Landraces	SC35C	Ethiopia	1,217,473
Landraces	SC56-14E	Sudan	956,926
Landraces	SC62C	Kenya	988,328
Landraces	PI585749	Mali	1,434,636
Landraces	IBC/E-38432	Ethiopia	1,691,268
Landraces	Yik.solate (IBC/E-339)	Ethiopia	1,098,136
			(continued)

 Table 2
 Sorghum lines sequenced thus far and total single nucleotide polymorphism (SNP) present in each line (http://sorgsd.big.ac.cn/snp/pages/help/data_statistics.jsp)

Cultivar category	Sorghum cultivar	Country of origin	Total SNP
Landraces	Cherekit (IBC/E-460)	Ethiopia	922,336
Landraces	SS79	Limpopo, South Africa	1,286,223
Wild and weedy	Greenleaf	US breeding program	1,505,551
Wild and weedy	S. bicolor ssp. drummondii (PI330272)	Ethiopia	1,487,442
Wild and weedy	S.bicolor ssp. verticilliflorum	South Africa	2,965,815
Wild and weedy	S. bicolor (PI226096)	Kenya	1,942,266
Wild and weedy	S. bicolor ssp verticilliflorum	Australia	1,975,326
Wild and weedy	Kilo (IBC/E-382)	Ethiopia	1,248,859
Wild and weedy	Zengada (IBC/E-308)	Ethiopia	1,560,232

Table 2 (continued)

differed substantially in terms of frequency and distribution across a large number of sorghum inbred lines. Shen et al. (2015) characterized 5511 genic small-size PAVs (40 bp–10 kb).

Various approaches addressing sequencing of defined regions of the genome have emerged. One of these is whole-exome sequencing (WES or exome-seq), in which only the coding regions of the genome are sequenced (Hodges et al. 2007). This approach has been applied in pine (Neves et al. 2013) and barley (Mascher et al. 2013, 2014). Application of such techniques in sorghum may help us better understand the genetic basis of resistance or susceptibility to biotic stress such as Striga parasitism. Amplicon sequencing, in which selected genome regions (tagged amplicons) are amplified by PCR, can facilitate analysis of variations within genes in the genomes. This assists in answering many questions in population genetics and systematics that rely on sequencing specific genes of known function or diversity levels (Bybee et al. 2011). Sequencing of multiplexed tagged amplicons followed by bioinformatics processing identified single nucleotide polymorphisms and allelic sequences of 10 candidate genes related to from drought/osmotic stress Ouercus spp. (Homolka et al. 2012). This example suggests that application of amplicon sequencing might

likely identify molecular markers defining drought stress tolerance in sorghum given that drought stress tolerance is the major objective of sorghum breeding.

4.4 Genomewide Association Study

A combination of molecular markers spread across the genome and phenotyping of large unrelated germplasm, referred to as a genomewide association study (GWAS), has been used to identify candidate genes controlling traits in sorghum. These include traits such as polyphenol concentrations, vegetative branching, high grain yield, tolerance to aluminum toxicity, plant height components, and inflorescence architecture (Morris et al. 2013; Kong et al. 2014; Leiser et al. 2014; Rhodes et al. 2014). However, in this context identification of novel genes underlying complex traits such as abiotic and biotic stress resistance and genes with small to modest effect still remains a challenge. Adequate sample size and higher marker density for GWAS in plants are still limited and yet are necessary in identification of novel genes with small effects. Detailed progress in GWAS in sorghum is elaborated in Chap. 7.

4.5 Alternate Splicing

Genome sequence has also enabled the identification of alternate splicing (AS) events in plants. AS occurs in many forms including exon skipping, alternative 5' and 3' splice sites, intron retention, mutually exclusive exons, alternative promoters/5' transcription start sites (TSSs), and alternative 3' poly(A) sites (Grabowski 2002). All these events affect transcript levels and cause transcript degradation via nonsense-mediated decay, potentially reducing the level of gene expression (Barbazuk et al. 2008). AS produces multiple transcripts from a single gene by using different splice sites, offering the possibilities of generating different protein isoforms with altered functions related to developmental and physiological processes (Syed et al. 2012; Staiger and Brown 2013). Olson et al. (2013) reported 7112 genes with multiple splice variants in sorghum. Of these, 3949 (56 %) contained a splice variant within 20 % of the length of the canonical transcript (the longest transcript with the longest translation), and of these, 3446 (87 %) encoded an altered coding region. In Arabidopsis, the AS profile at the genomic level is regulated by phytochrome (Shikata et al. 2014). Using RNAseq data for sorghum genome annotation, Olson et al. (2013) reported that 33 % of sorghum genes contained two or more exons producing two or more transcript-isoforms and that intron retention was the most common isoform whereas alternative 5' and 3' acceptor sites were observed in 671 and 1211 isoforms. In another study, 2137 complex and intron retention AS events were identified in sorghum, highlighting the prevalence of splicing site recognition for definition of introns in sorghum (Panahi et al. 2014).

4.6 Dissection of Biological Functions Through RNA Sequencing

Sequence information is also useful in expression profiling for dissecting biological functions of genes. The upregulation or downregulation of gene expression is sufficient for re-creating phenotypic differences (Jiang et al. 2013b). Pasini et al. (2014) employed microarrays to identify differentially regulated genes and microRNAs upon drought stress in sorghum cultivar IS19453. In the study, 1205 genes were found to be upregulated. Identified differentially expressed genes were mostly involved in regulation of transcription (bZIPs, MYBs, HOXs), signal transduction (phosphoesterases, kinases, and phosphatases), carbon metabolism (NADP-ME), detoxification (CYPs, GST, AKRs), osmoprotection mechanisms (P5CS), and stability of protein membranes (DHN1, LEA, HSPs). Using semi-quantitative reverse transcriptionpolymerase chain reaction (RT-PCR), a differential expression profiling of sucrose phosphate synthase, sucrose synthase, and soluble acid invertase in intergeneric hybrids involving sugarcane and sorghum was identified (Ramalashmi et al. 2014). This indicated the possibility for production of novel hybrids with improved maturity. sucrose content and early Next-generation sequencing has been applied to generate a more complete sorghum transcriptome and methylome using RNA-sequencing (RNAseq; Olson et al. 2013; Makita et al. 2015). Computational methods designed for RNA-seq data are capable of discovering new transcripts and alternative spliced forms far beyond the scope of a DNA-microarray (Roberts et al. 2011). These can be of great use in identifying breeding targets for genetic improvement of sorghum. In addition, RNA-seq can be utilized in the study of noncoding RNAs, small RNAs, transcriptional structure of genes, and their post-transcriptional modifications.

4.7 Transposable Elements and Genome Size Variation

Sorghum and rice genomes are found to have similar quantities of highly hypomethylated euchromatin chromosome arms (Kim et al. 2005; Olson et al. 2013). However, the expansion of the sorghum genome relative to rice is largely pericentromeric-localized heterochromatin occupying at least 460 Mb, far more than in rice with 63 Mb (Kim et al. 2005; Paterson et al. 2009). Such net size expansion of the sorghum genome relative to rice could be due to transposons, organelle nuclear DNA insertions, and to a larger extent, genome duplication.

Mobile DNA elements in plants, also referred to as transposable elements, were first described by Barbara McClintock in 1950 in maize and were responsible for chromosomal rearrangements (McClintock 1950). These mobile elements are fundamental agents for genome size enlargement and evolution (Feschotte et al. 2002) and are grouped either as retrotransposons or Class I elements, and DNA transposons or Class II elements (Wicker et al. 2007). Long terminal repeat (LTR) retrotransposons are Class I elements and are transposed via RNA intermediates. These are characterized by two long terminal repeats, starting with "TG" and terminating with "CA", containing a primer binding site, polypurine tract, and several genes related to the transcription and replication process (Du et al. 2010). With the availability of genomic data from sequencing experiments, it has become clear that a larger proportion of DNA in plants is made up of LTR retrotransposons arising from unequal homologous recombination (UR) and illegitimate recombination (IR; Devos et al. 2002; Tian et al. 2009). For instance, the net size expansion of the sorghum genome relative to rice largely involved 55 % LTR retrotransposon sequences enriched in gene-poor heterochromatic regions (Paterson et al. 2009). Jiang and Ramachandran (2013) identified a total of 23,915 full-length LTR retrotransposons in sorghum. They found that unlike rice, sorghum full-length LTR retrotransposons were not enriched in centromere regions. A total of 1343 genes were captured by these elements in sorghum. It was found that a higher percentage of LTR-captured sorghum genes were under purifying selection and 72.4 % of them were functional. In addition, sorghum has a higher ratio of gypsy-like (Ty3-gypsy, Metaviridae) to copia-like (Ty1-copia, Pseudoviridae) elements (3.7-1 and 4.9-1) than maize (1.6-1; Paterson et al.)2009). Indeed, 24 families of copia-like elements and two families of gypsy-like elements were found in sorghum genomic DNA with the potential for use as transposon tagging systems in callus protoplasts (Muthukumar and Bennetzen 2004).

Centromeric and telomeric repetitive DNAs could also explain the sorghum genome size variability with other plant species. Fluorescence in situ hybridization (FISH) identified a 745-bp repetitive DNA clone, pSau3A9, located in the centromeric regions of all sorghum chromosomes (Jiang et al. 1996). In addition, an 823-bp Sau3AI fragment (pSau3A10/pCEN38) was subcloned from a sorghum BAC clone, 13I16, that contains DNA sequences specific to the centromeres of grass species (Miller et al. 1998). Telomeric DNA repeats have also been identified in sorghum such that 15 out of 20 chromosome ends terminated in telomeric repeats (Paterson et al. 2009). Small LTR retrotransposons (SMARTs) of 292 bp (FRetro129), with 85-bp direct terminal repeats, distributed throughout the genomes and often located within or near genes with insertion patterns similar to MITEs, have recently been reported in Oryza brachyantha. Elements homologous to FRetro129 were found in the sorghum genome (Gao et al. 2012). These elements have the potential to play an important role in genome evolution and genic innovation and may provide a valuable tool for gene tagging systems in grass. For instance, insertions of SMARTs into or near genes can, in a few instances, alter both gene structures and gene expression. In addition, SMART-specific small RNAs (sRNAs) were identified that may be involved in gene regulation (Gao et al. 2012).

Class 2 transposable elements (TEs) are the predominant elements in and around plant genes generating significant allelic diversity. In sorghum, 7.5 % of the genome constitutes DNA transposons, which is intermediate between maize (2.7 %) and rice (13.7 %; Paterson et al. 2009). Helitrons belong to this class, which are DNA transposable elements and are widely present in the genomes of diverse eukaryotic taxa. These elements occupy a relatively high proportion of a species' genome, approximately 2.2 % of the B73 maize genome (Du et al. 2009), 2 % of the A. thaliana genome (Hollister and Gaut 2007), 2.09 % of the rice genome (Kapitonov and Jurka 2001), and 0.8 % of the sorghum genome (Paterson et al. 2009). These elements prefer to insert near other helitrons and into AT-rich regions (Yang and Bennetzen 2009). They are distinct from other transposons in their ability to capture gene fragments within the genome and their rolling-replication mechanism. Helitrons play a role in exon shuffling and gene duplication to create new proteins intrinsic in their ability to capture and move gene fragments (Brunner et al. 2005; Morgante et al. 2005). Helitrons can also disrupt microsatellites and affect their flanking sequence (Coates et al. 2010). The movement of genes or gene fragments captured by helitrons disrupts the genetic collinearity (Lai et al. 2005; Xu and Messing 2006) and can induce promoter shuffling to generate new regulatory networks (Cultrone et al. 2007). Therefore, helitrons may alter host genome organization, regulate gene structure and expression, mediate structural diversity (Wang and Dooner 2006), and shape the evolution of host genomes (Lai et al. 2005). Gene fragments captured during the transposition of many helitrons in maize happen in a stepwise manner, with multiple gene fragments within one helitron resulting from several sequential transpositions (Dong et al. 2011).

Miniature inverted-repeat transposable elements (MITEs) are ubiquitous, nonautonomous class II transposable elements characterized by small size (mostly <600 bp), high terminal inverted repeats (TIRs), and target site duplication (TSD), sequence similarity, and a potential for very high copy number and no coding capacity (Wessler et al. 1995). Such elements are AT-rich (>50-65 %) (Turcotte et al. 2001), and preferentially inserted into intergenic, near-genic, or intronic regions where they can alter or disturb gene structure, expression, and/or function. These elements usually avoid exonic regions (Sampath et al. 2014). MITEs are a major fraction of plant genomes, up to 10 % in rice, 8 % in Medicago, 4 % in B. rapa, 0.71 % in A. thaliana (Chen et al. 2014), and 1.7 % in sorghum (Paterson et al. 2009). The predominant sorghum DNA transposons are CACTA-like elements that occupy 4.7 % of the genome. Out of the 13,775 CACTA-like elements identified, 200 encode no transposon proteins but contain at least one cellular gene fragment. These elements seem to relocate genes and gene fragments. Many

sorghum CACTA elements are nonautonomous deletion derivatives in which transposon genes have been replaced with nontransposon DNA including exons from one or more cellular genes (Paterson et al. 2009). Organellar DNA insertion contributed only 0.085 % to the sorghum nuclear genome, far less than the 0.53 % of rice (Du et al. 2009).

Whole-genome duplication (WGD) or polyploidy refers to a situation where an organism possesses more than a diploid complement of chromosomes. Evolutionary processes such as rapid and substantial genome reorganization, transgressive gene expression alterations, gene fractionation, gene conversion, genome downsizing, and sub- and neofictionalization of duplicate genes impact the polyploid genome. Often these genomic changes are accompanied by heterosis, robustness, and the improvement of crop yield, relative to closely related diploids, thereby driving phenotypic diversification (Soltis et al. 2009). Sorghum and other grasses shared at least two rounds of ancient WGDs earlier than 70 million years ago, before the divergence of modern grass lineages (Tang et al. 2010). Genomewide signatures of collinearity suggest a process of WGD rather than local tandem or segmental duplication. Indeed, in sorghum a total of 19,929 sorghum gene models were found to be in blocks collinear with rice (Paterson et al. 2005a). After whole-genome duplication, gene features such as evolutionary rate, structural complexity, and GC3 content significantly contribute to gene retention (Jiang et al. 2013a). As such in sorghum, these features are likely to have contributed to one copy retention for 13,667 collinear genes with 13,526 being orthologous in rice-sorghum and the retention of an additional copy of 4912 genes (Paterson et al. 2009). One copy of 1070 genes was pseudogenized after whole-genome duplication in sorghum. Some genes are able to duplicate iteratively, whereas others are consistently restored to singleton status along divergent lineages (Seoighe and Gehring 2004). The genes retained in duplicates are not evenly distributed among different functional categories. However, a total of 2 and 10 protein functional domains showed enrichment for

duplicates and singletons, respectively, in sorghum but not rice, suggesting duplicated genes are functionally biased (Seoighe and Gehring 2004; Freeling 2009; Paterson et al. 2009; Schnable et al. 2009). Syntenic duplication blocks in sorghum and rice, in contrast to Arabidopsis, maize, poplar, and soybean, are classified into one major age group in addition to containing several recent segmentally duplicated blocks that are greatly influenced by gene conversions (Jiang et al. 2013a; Paterson et al. 2009). Tandem duplication events in sorghum might have contributed to the expansion of micro-RNA families derived from repetitive elements and duplication events at the genome scale (Sun et al. 2012).

4.8 Synteny with Other Species and Sequences

To gain an understanding of the genetic architecture of other crops where genomic sequence is lacking, powerful comparative genomic studies have been undertaken (Paterson et al. 2009; Salse et al. 2009). Comparative mapping between sugarcane and sorghum using DArT, SNP, and EST-SSR markers revealed 98-100 % collinearity between four sugarcane homology groups (HGs) to four sorghum chromosomes (Aitken et al. 2014). In addition to these, they identified four major chromosome rearrangements between the other four sugarcane HGs of sorghum. Two cases experienced condensations of chromosomes leading to reduction of basic chromosome number of sugarcane from x = 10to x = 8. Use of maize DNA probes to produce the sorghum linkage map shows that most sorghum linkage groups are composed of loci that map to two maize chromosomes and that the amount of recombination in these conserved linkage groups is roughly equivalent in maize and sorghum (Whitkus et al. 1992). The genomewide comparison of repetitive sequences indicated that the repeats in Coix aquatica were

more similar to those in sorghum than maize (Cai et al. 2014).

Since the first WGD took place about 700 million years ago (Paterson et al. 2004), rice and sorghum have not experienced further genome duplications and subsequent diploidization. Synteny conservation spans large genomic regions covering hundreds to thousands of orthologous genes (Paterson et al. 2009). Integrating synteny and phylogenomic comparisons of genomes of the monocots (viz., rice, sorghum, oil palm, and banana) and eudicot (viz., grape and sacred lotus) suggests that the majority $(\sim 80 \%)$ of ancestral loci had been differentially retained in the lineage leading to cereals, and is still syntenic in present-day rice and sorghum genomes (Angiosperm Phylogeny Group 2009). In addition, about 3.51 % of sorghum genes have no orthologues in rice, oil palm, and banana (Jiao et al. 2014). Detailed syntenic comparison has been elaborated in Chap. 6.

5 Genomic Resources

5.1 Sorghum Genome Databases

With the sorghum genome sequence available in addition to an increasing number of sequenced plant genomes and the introduction of sequencing third-generation single-molecule methods over the coming years, it is necessary to develop robust computational methods for sequence analysis. A number of databases for sequence analysis in sorghum are available including SorGSD, the sorghum genome SNP database, available at http://sorgsd.big.ac.cn/snp/ index.jsp. It contains 62 million SNPs from a diverse panel of 48 sorghum accessions divided into four groups, for example, improved inbreds, landraces, wild/weedy sorghums, and a wild relative, S. propinguums (Table 2). SorGSD allows users to query the SNP information and their relevant annotations for each sorghum line. The search results can either be visualized graphically in a genome browser or displayed in formatted tables. Users can also perform comparisons of these data between two or among several sorghum accessions. dbSNP (available at http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/snp/?term=sorghum) helps in identification of SNPs in sorghum genes. The Database of Genomic Variants archive (DGVa) available at http://www.ebi.ac.uk/dgva provides archiving, accessioning, and distribution of publicly available genomic structural variants, in all species including sorghum. The EnsemblPlants database (http://plants.ensembl. org/Sorghum bicolor) provides information on sorghum genome assembly, comparative genomics, gene annotations, and short sequence variants and longer structural variants. The MOROKOSHI Sorghum transcriptome database (http://sorghum.riken.jp/morokoshi/ Home.html) provides full-length cDNA clone and RNA-Seq data on Sorghum bicolor (Makita et al. 2015).

Sweet fuel (http://www.sweetfuel-project.eu/) is a consortium composed of partners from research academia and industry, based in Europe, India, Brazil, South Africa, and Mexico with an objective of optimizing yields in temperate, semi-arid, and subtropical regions by genetic enhancement and improvement of agricultural practices of sweet sorghum. Information on sweet sorghum cultivars with the ability to tolerate low temperature, drought, and low-fertility-prone environments can be accessed http://www.sweetfuel-project.eu/completed_ at deliverables. Additional information on sorghum as a promising alternative energy crop can also be accessed by researchers involved in developing sweet sorghum as a dedicated biofuel crop (http://www.sweetfuel-project.eu/general_ information/links).

The UniProt database (http://www.uniprot.org) provides the scientific community with a comprehensive, high-quality, and freely accessible resource of protein sequence and functional information. A joint project of the Department of Energy's Joint Genome Institute and the Center for Integrative Genomics (Phytozome) (http:// www.phytozome.net/ [is now https://phytozome. jgi.doe.gov/pz/portal.html]) facilitates comparative genomic studies among green plants. In addition, the Gramene database (http://www. gramene.org/) and MIPSPlantsDB-plant database (Nussbaumer et al. 2013) are resources for integrative and comparative plant genome research. The PIGD database (http://pigd.ahau. edu.cn/) is a database to study intronless genes in the Poaceae including sorghum, representing an important resource to study the evolution of gene architecture (Yan et al. 2014). The CSGRqtl (http://helos.pgml.uga.edu/qtl/) database utilizes the sorghum genome sequence as a central reference to provide both for practical needs of crop improvement by serving as a toolbox for QTL visualization and manipulation. It also facilitates investigation of fundamental questions about similarities and differences in the genetic control of traits across paleoduplicated "subgenomes" and across the genomes of divergent taxa (Zhang et al. 2011, Zheng et al. 2014a). A nextgeneration sequencing-derived gene expression network (GEN) repository for eight plant species (Arabidopsis thaliana, Oryza sativa, Solanum lycopersicum, S. bicolor, Vitis vinifera, Solanum tuberosum, Medicago truncatula, and Glycine max) referred to as the Plant Omics Data Center (http://bioinf.mind.meiji.ac.jp/podc/) has been constructed, providing a comprehensive integration of large-scale genomes, transcriptomes, and metabolomes resources for the scientific community giving deeper insights into broader aspects of molecular biology (Ohyanagi et al. 2015).

5.2 Sorghum Gene Annotation

The systematic sequencing of the sorghum genome was completed in 2009 and 34,496 gene models (Sbi1.4, version 1.4 of sorghum gene annotations) were identified. Around 27,640 of these genes were considered bona fide, or high-confidence, protein-coding genes (Paterson et al. 2009). The remaining ~6850 sorghum gene models predicted from the genome sequence were considered low-confidence genes (Paterson et al. 2009). A comprehensive annotation of the sorghum genome and the development of functional genomic resources are key to enabling the discovery and deployment of regulatory and metabolic genes and gene networks for crop improvement (Shakoor et al. 2014). In this study, tissue and genotype-specific expression patterns for all identified sorghum exons and untranslated regions were identified. In all major tissue types analyzed, there was a lack of shared tissue-specific genes and small RNA across genotypes. These indicate the significance of intraspecies variation in sorghum and the importance of selecting the appropriate genotype for targeted changes to gene expression via transgenic and breeding approaches. By analyzing RNA-seq data in conjunction with published transcriptome analysis in Arabidopsis, maize, and rice, 34,144 genes of the 34,496 gene models of Paterson et al. (2009) were resolved by Dugas et al. (2011). In the study, gene networks regulated by osmotic stress and hormonal treatment could be resolved in addition to the discovery of more than 50 differentially expressed, drought-responsive gene orthologues for which no function had been previously ascribed. Olson et al. (2013) developed a more complete annotation of the sorghum transcriptome by extending the untranslated region annotations (18,105) with some showing longer protein-coding regions (5096) or previously unannotated alternative transcripts (6493). Thus, the new annotations resolved 50 % of split gene models and included 30 % of conserved genes missing from the Sbi1.4 annotation. It identified a large set of 34,276 novel potentially functional transcribed regions that include protein-coding genes, noncoding RNAs, and other classes of gene products. Makita et al. (2015) constructed a full-length cDNA (FL-cDNA) library from eight growth stages of aerial tissues of sorghum and isolated 37,607 clones. Analysis of 38,981 high-quality expressed sequence tags (ESTs) from these clones led to annotation of 272 novel genes, 323 antisense transcripts, and 1672 candidate isoforms. Through expression profile analysis they confirmed the expression of 70.6 % of the newly identified genes. The sorghum

genome annotation is still under improvement and the current improved *S. bicolor* v3.1 includes \sim 344.4 Mb of essentially finished sorghum sequence integrated into the original V1.0 assembly (https://phytozome.jgi.doe.gov/pz/ portal.html#!info?alias=Org_Sbicolor).

6 Perspectives

The Food and Agriculture Organization (FAO) of the United Nations estimated that about 805 million people were chronically undernourished during 2012-2014, with 13.5 % of them residing in developing countries. Sub-Saharan Africa is the region with the highest prevalence (percentage of population) of hunger (http:// www.fao.org/publications/sofi/en/). It is the origin of sorghum, a staple food for the resource-poor people in marginal environments. In addition to the food crisis, climate change and shifting weather patterns threaten food production through increased unpredictability of precipitation and a warming atmosphere. These changes aid the spread of pests and diseases to other parts of the world (http://www.unep.org/ climatechange/). An integrated approach is, therefore, required to confront the nexus of food crisis and climate change. The vital genetic resources held by sorghum and other C₄ grasses uncovered through whole-genome shotgun and next-generation sequencing platforms is expected to be one of the tools in mitigating food insecurity and the impact of climate changes. The identification of high-quality SNPs, insertions, deletions, PAV, CNV, duplications, translocations, and alternative splicing events in diverse sorghum genotypes are unmatched resources to respond to these challenges and maximize the contribution of C₄ grasses to the food security of the world's most vulnerable and more efficient feed and fuel production (Mace et al. 2013).

Sequence data generation in sorghum has advanced increasingly through the application of high-throughput technologies including whole genome and next-generation sequencing. However, next-generation sequencing is limited in the DNA fragmentation step by generating millions of short DNA sequence reads of length typically between 25 and 400 bp and also in the amplification step with the possibility to be biased in GC content and repeat sequences. The ability to produce vast numbers of long sequence reads is likely to provide further opportunities for crop genomics. To this end, the third-generation sequencing referred to as single molecule sequencing undertakes sequencing without the requirement for DNA amplification and promises to produce several giga-base pairs (Gbp) of relatively long reads (>1 kbp; Eid et al. 2009). In addition, because of long reads and lack of bias in coverage of AT-rich regions, the use of single-nucleotide sequencing technology has great promise for highly accurate finished genomes, and has already been successful in the de novo assembly of chloroplast genomes (Chen et al. 2014; Li 2014; Siewert et al. 2014; Wu et al. 2014; Zhang et al. 2014b). This enables detection of sensitive SNPs, comparative analysis, and application for chloroplast genome evolutionary genetics and genomics in land plants. Already, several different single-molecule DNA sequencing techniques have been developed or are currently in development including gated single-molecule sequencing-by-synthesis (Lister et al. 2008), single-molecule, real-time DNA sequencing, nanopore-based single-molecule sequencing, and microscopy-based single-molecule sequencing and are being commercialized (Horn et al. 2016; Li et al. 2016). With the availability of genomic sequences generated by the NGS-based platforms on the few sorghum genotypes that have thus far been sequenced, genomes of additional diverse cultivars would need to be sequenced so that genetic and genomic diversity in sorghum can be examined in much more detail to localize alleles of agronomically important complex traits such as stay-green drought resistance, insect resistance, disease resistance, resistance to Striga parasitism, grain size and grain quality, and exploitation of structural variations in the sorghum genome associated with favorable variants. The sorghum genome-sequencing information, just like other genomes, has facilitated the development of molecular tools for functional

studies including efficient *Agrobacterium*-mediated transformation, sequence-specific nucleases for genome editing that will play an important role in future genetic improvement and breeding of sorghum ideotypes (Anami et al. 2015a) adaptable to specific agroclimatic regions.

References

- Agrama A, Widle E, Reese C, Campbell R, Tuinstra R (2002) Genetic mapping of QTLs associated with greenbug resistance and tolerance in Sorghum bicolor. Theor Appl Genet 104:1373–1378
- Aitken KS, Mcneil MD, Berkman PJ, Hermann S, Kilian A et al (2014) Comparative mapping in the Poaceae family reveals translocations in the complex polyploid genome of sugarcane. BMC Plant Biol 14:190
- Anami ES, Zhang L, Xia Y, Zhang Y, Liu Z et al (2015a) Sweet sorghum ideotypes: genetic improvement of stress tolerance. Food Energy Secur 4:3–24
- Anami ES, Zhang L, Xia Y, Zhang Y, Liu Z et al (2015b) Sweet sorghum ideotypes: genetic improvement of the biofuel syndrome. Food Energy Secur 4:159–177
- Angiosperm Phylogeny Group, I (2009) An update of the Angiosperm Phylogeny Group classification for the orders and families of flowering plants: APG III. Bot J Linn Soc 161:105–121
- Barbazuk WB, Fu Y, Mcginnis KM (2008) Genome-wide analyses of alternative splicing in plants: opportunities and challenges. Genome Res 18:1381–1392
- Bedell JA, Budiman MA, Nunberg A, Citek RW, Robbins D et al (2005) Sorghum genome sequencing by methylation filtration. PLoS Biol 3:e13
- Bekele WA, Wieckhorst S, Friedt W, Snowdon RJ (2013) High-throughput genomics in sorghum: from whole genome resequencing to a SNP screening array. Plant Biotechnol J 11:1112–1125
- Berhan AM, Hulbert S, Butler L, Bennetzen J (1993) Structure and evolution of the genomes of Sorghum bicolor and Zea mays. Theor Appl Genet 86:598–604
- Bhattramakki D, Dong J, Chhabra AK, Hart GE (2000) An integrated SSR and RFLP linkage map of *Sorghum bicolor* (L.) Moench. Genome 43:988–1002
- Binelli G, Gianfranceschi L, Pe M, Taramino G, Busso C et al (1992) Similarity of maize and sorghum genomes as revealed by maize RFLP probes. Theor Appl Genet 84:10–16
- Boivin K, Deu M, Rami JF, Trouche G, Hamon PL (1999) Towards a saturated sorghum map using RFLP and AFLP markers. Theor Appl Genet 98:320–328
- Bowers JE, Abbey C, Anderson S, Chang C, Draye X et al (2003) A high-density genetic recombination map of sequence-tagged sites for sorghum, as a framework for comparative structural and evolutionary genomics of tropical grains and grasses. Genetics 165:367–386

- Bowers JE, Arias MA, Asher R, Avise JA, Ball RT et al (2005) Comparative physical mapping links conservation of microsynteny to chromosome structure and recombination in grasses. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 102:13206–13211
- Brunner S, Pea G, Rafalski A (2005) Origins, genetic organization and transcription of a family of non-autonomous helitron elements in maize. Plant J 43:799–810
- Burr B, Burr FA, Thompson KH, Albertson M, Stuber C (1988) Gene mapping with recombinant inbreds in maize. Genetics 118:519–526
- Bybee SM, Bracken-grissom H, Haynes BD, Hermansen RA, Byers RL et al (2011) Targeted amplicon sequencing (TAS): a scalable next-gen approach to multilocus, multitaxa phylogenetics. Genome Biol Evol 3:1312–1323
- Cai Z, Liu H, He Q, Pu M, Chen J et al (2014) Differential genome evolution and speciation of *Coix lacryma-jobi* L. and *Coix aquatica* Roxb. hybrid guangxi revealed by repetitive sequence analysis and fine karyotyping. BMC Genom 15:1025
- Chen J, Hu Q, Zhang Y, Lu C, Kuang H (2014) P-MITE: a database for plant miniature inverted-repeat transposable elements. Nucleic Acids Res 42:D1176–D1181
- Chittenden L, Schertz K, Lin Y, Wing R, Paterson A (1994) A detailed RFLP map of Sorghum bicolor x S. propinquum, suitable for high-density mapping, suggests ancestral duplication of Sorghum chromosomes or chromosomal segments. Theor Appl Genet 87:925–933
- Coates BS, Sumerford DV, Hellmich RL, Lewis LC (2010) A Helitron-like transposon superfamily from Lepidoptera disrupts (GAAA) n microsatellites and is responsible for flanking sequence similarity within a microsatellite family. J Mol Evol 70:275–288
- Coe Jr E, Neuffer M, Hoisington D, Sprague G, Dudley J (1988) The genetics of corn. American Society of Agronomy, Crop Science Society of America, and Soil Science Society of America, Madison, WI, USA
- Cultrone A, Domínguez YR, Drevet C, Scazzocchio C, Fernández-martín R (2007) The tightly regulated promoter of the *xanA* gene of *Aspergillus nidulans* is included in a helitron. Mol Microbiol 63:1577–1587
- Das G, Rao GJN (2015) Molecular marker assisted gene stacking for biotic and abiotic stress resistance genes in an elite rice cultivar. Front Plant Sci 6:698
- Devos KM, Brown JK, Bennetzen JL (2002) Genome size reduction through illegitimate recombination counteracts genome expansion in Arabidopsis. Genome Res 12:1075–1079
- Dillon SL, Shapter FM, Henry RJ, Cordeiro G, Izquierdo L et al (2007) Domestication to crop improvement: genetic resources for *Sorghum* and *Saccharum* (Andropogoneae). Ann Bot 100:975–989
- Dong Y, Lu X, Song W, Shi L, Zhang M et al (2011) Structural characterization of helitrons and their stepwise capturing of gene fragments in the maize genome. BMC Genom 12:609

- Du C, Fefelova N, Caronna J, He L, Dooner HK (2009) The polychromatic Helitron landscape of the maize genome. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 106:19916–19921
- Du J, Tian Z, Hans CS, Laten HM, Cannon SB et al (2010) Evolutionary conservation, diversity and specificity of LTR-retrotransposons in flowering plants: insights from genome-wide analysis and multi-specific comparison. Plant J 63:584–598
- Dufour P, Deu M, Grivet L, D'Hont A, Paulet F et al (1997) Construction of a composite sorghum genome map and comparison with sugarcane, a related complex polyploid. Theor Appl Genet 94:409–418
- Dugas DV, Monaco MK, Olson A, Klein RR, Kumari S et al (2011) Functional annotation of the transcriptome of *Sorghum bicolor* in response to osmotic stress and abscisic acid. BMC Genom 12:514
- Eid J, Fehr A, Gray J, Luong K, Lyle J et al (2009) Real-time DNA sequencing from single polymerase molecules. Science 323:133–138
- Ejeta G, Knoll JE (2007) Marker-assisted selection in sorghum. In: Varshney R, Tuberosa R (ed) Genomics-assisted crop improvement, vol 2. Genomics application in crop plants. Springer, pp 187–205
- Feltus F, Hart G, Schertz K, Casa A, Kresovich S et al (2006a) Alignment of genetic maps and QTLs between inter-and intra-specific sorghum populations. Theor Appl Genet 112:1295–1305
- Feltus FA, Hart GE, Schertz KF, Casa AM, Kresovich S, Abraham S et al (2006b) Alignment of genetic maps and QTLs between inter- and intra-specific sorghum populations. Theor Appl Genet 112:1295–1305
- Feschotte C, Jiang N, Wessler SR (2002) Plant transposable elements: where genetics meets genomics. Nat Rev Genet 3:329–341
- Freeling M (2009) Bias in plant gene content following different sorts of duplication: tandem, whole-genome, segmental, or by transposition. Annu Rev Plant Biol 60:433–453
- Gao D, Chen J, Chen M, Meyers BC, Jackson S (2012) A highly conserved, small LTR retrotransposon that preferentially targets genes in grass genomes. PLoS ONE 7:e32010
- Grabowski P (2002) Alternative splicing in parallel. Nat Biotechnol 20:346–347
- Haussmann G, Hess E, Seetharama N, Welz G, Geiger H et al (2002) Construction of a combined sorghum linkage map from two recombinant inbred populations using AFLP, SSR, RFLP, and RAPD markers, and comparison with other sorghum maps. Theor Appl Genet 105:629–637
- Helentjaris T, Slocum M, Wright S, Schaefer A, Nienhuis J (1986) Construction of genetic linkage maps in maize and tomato using restriction fragment length polymorphisms. Theor Appl Genet 72:761–769
- Hodges E, Xuan Z, Balija V, Kramer M, Molla MN et al (2007) Genome-wide in situ exon capture for selective resequencing. Nat Genet 39:1522–1527

- Hollister JD, Gaut BS (2007) Population and evolutionary dynamics of Helitron transposable elements in Arabidopsis thaliana. Mol Biol Evol 24:2515–2524
- Homolka A, Eder T, Kopecky D, Berenyi M, Burg K et al (2012) Allele discovery of ten candidate drought-response genes in Austrian oak using a systematically informatics approach based on 454 amplicon sequencing. BMC Res Notes 5:175
- Horn AE, Kugel JF, Goodrich JA (2016) Single molecule microscopy reveals mechanistic insight into RNA polymerase II preinitiation complex assembly and transcriptional activity. Nucleic Acids Res. doi:10. 1093/nar/gkw321
- Hulbert SH, Richter TE, Axtell JD, Bennetzen JL (1990) Genetic mapping and characterization of sorghum and related crops by means of maize DNA probes. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 87:4251–4255
- Jiang SY, Ramachandran S (2013) Genome-wide survey and comparative analysis of LTR retrotransposons and their captured genes in rice and sorghum. PLoS ONE 8:e71118
- Jiang J, Nasuda S, Dong F, Scherrer CW, Woo SS et al (1996) A conserved repetitive DNA element located in the centromeres of cereal chromosomes. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 93:14210–14213
- Jiang A, Gan L, Tu Y, Ma H, Zhang J et al (2013a) The effect of genome duplication on seed germination and seedling growth of rice under salt stress. Aust J Crop Sci 12:1814–1821
- Jiang SY, Ma A, Ramamoorthy R, Ramachandran S (2013b) Genome-wide survey on genomic variation, expression divergence, and evolution in two contrasting rice genotypes under high salinity stress. Genome Biol Evol 5:2032–2050
- Jiao Y, Li J, Tang H, Paterson AH (2014) Integrated syntenic and phylogenomic analyses reveal an ancient genome duplication in monocots. Plant Cell 26:2792– 2802
- Kapitonov VV, Jurka J (2001) Rolling-circle transposons in eukaryotes. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 98:8714–8719
- Kim JS, Islam-faridi M, Klein PE, Stelly DM, Price H et al (2005) Comprehensive molecular cytogenetic analysis of sorghum genome architecture: distribution of euchromatin, heterochromatin, genes and recombination in comparison to rice. Genetics 171:1963–1976
- Knoll J, Gunaratna N, Ejeta G (2008) QTL analysis of early-season cold tolerance in sorghum. Theor Appl Genet 116:577–587
- Kong L, Dong J, Hart GE (2000) Characteristics, linkage-map positions, and allelic differentiation of *Sorghum bicolor* (L.) Moench DNA simple sequence repeats (SSRs). Theor Appl Genet 101:438–448
- Kong W, Guo H, Goff VH, Lee TH, Kim C et al (2014) Genetic analysis of vegetative branching in sorghum. Theor Appl Genet 127:2387–2403
- Kresovich S, Barbazuk B, Bedell JA, Borrell A, Buell CR et al (2005) Toward sequencing the sorghum genome:

a US National Science Foundation-sponsored workshop report. Plant Physiol 138:1898

- Kumar S, Banks TW, Cloutier S (2012) SNP discovery through next-generation sequencing and its applications. Int J Plant Genomics Article ID 831460
- Kumar M, Choi J, Kumari N, Pareek A, Kim S (2015) Molecular breeding in *Brassica* for salt tolerance: importance of microsatellite (SSR) markers for molecular breeding in *Brassica*. Front Plant Sci 6:688
- Lai J, Li Y, Messing J, Dooner HK (2005) Gene movement by Helitron transposons contributes to the haplotype variability of maize. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 102:9068–9073
- Leiser WL, Rattunde HF, Weltzien E, Cisse N, Abdou M et al (2014) Two in one sweep: aluminum tolerance and grain yield in P-limited soils are associated to the same genomic region in West African sorghum. BMC Plant Biol 14:206
- Li M, Yuyama N, Luo L, Hirata M, Cai H (2009) In silico mapping of 1758 new SSR markers developed from public genomic sequences for sorghum. Mol Breed 24:41–47
- Li Q, Li Y, Song J, Xu H, Xu J et al (2014) High-accuracy de novo assembly and SNP detection of chloroplast genomes using a SMRT circular consensus sequencing strategy. New Phytol 204:1041–1049
- Li J, Yu D, Zhao Q (2016) Solid-state nanopore-based DNA single molecule detection and sequencing. Microchim Acta 183:941–953
- Lin Y, Schertz K, Paterson A (1995) Comparative analysis of QTLs affecting plant height and maturity across the Poaceae in reference to an interspecific sorghum population. Genetics 141:391–411
- Lister R, O'Malley RC, Tonti-Filippini J, Gregory BD, Berry CC et al (2008) Highly integrated single-base resolution maps of the epigenome in Arabidopsis. Cell 133:523–536
- Mace ES, Xia L, Jordan DR, Halloran K, Parh DK et al (2008) DArT markers: diversity analyses and mapping in Sorghum bicolor. BMC Genom 22:9–26
- Mace ES, Rami JF, Bouchet S, Klein PE, Klein RR et al (2009) A consensus genetic map of sorghum that integrates multiple component maps and high-throughput Diversity Array Technology (DArT) markers. BMC Plant Biol 9:13
- Mace ES, Tai S, Gilding EK, Li Y, Prentis PJ et al (2013) Whole-genome sequencing reveals untapped genetic potential in Africa's indigenous cereal crop sorghum. Nat Commun 4:2320
- Makita Y, Shimada S, Kawashima M, Kondou-Kuriyama T, Toyoda T, Matsui M (2015) MOROKOSHI: Transcriptome database in Sorghum bicolor. Plant Cell Physiol 56:e6. doi:10.1093/pcp/pcu1187
- Mascher M, Richmond TA, Gerhardt DJ, Himmelbach A, Clissold L et al (2013) Barley whole exome capture: a tool for genomic research in the genus Hordeum and beyond. Plant J 76:494–505

- Mascher M, Jost M, Kuon JE, Himmelbach A, Aßfalg A et al (2014) Mapping-by-sequencing accelerates forward genetics in barley. Genome Biol 15:R78
- McClintock B (1950) The origin and behavior of mutable loci in maize. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 36:344–355
- McIntyre CL, Casu RE, Drenth J, Knight D, Whan VA et al (2005) Resistance gene analogues in sugarcane and sorghum and their association with quantitative trait loci for rust resistance. Genome 48:391–400
- Menz MA, Klein RR, Mullet JE, Obert JA, Unruh NC et al (2002) A high-density genetic map of Sorghum bicolor (L.) Moench based on 2926 AFLP®, RFLP and SSR markers. Plant Mol Biol 48:483–499
- Messing J (2009) Synergy of two reference genomes for the grass family. Plant Physiol 149:117–124
- Miller J, Jackson S, Nasuda S, Gill B, Wing R et al (1998) Cloning and characterization of a centromere-specific repetitive DNA element from *Sorghum bicolor*. Theor Appl Genet 96:832–839
- Mohamed A, Ali R, Elhassan O, Suliman E, Mugoya C et al (2014) First products of DNA marker-assisted selection in sorghum released for cultivation by farmers in sub-saharan Africa. J Plant Sci Mol Breed 3:3
- Morgante M, Brunner S, Pea G, Fengler K, Zuccolo A et al (2005) Gene duplication and exon shuffling by helitron-like transposons generate intraspecies diversity in maize. Nat Genet 37:997–1002
- Morris GP, Ramu P, Deshpande SP, Hash CT, Shah T et al (2013) Population genomic and genome-wide association studies of agroclimatic traits in sorghum. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 110:453–458
- Murray SC, Rooney WL, Hamblin MT, Mitchell SE (2008a) Sweet sorghum genetic diversity and association mapping for brix and height. Plant Genome 2:48–62
- Murray SC, Rooney WL, Mitchell SE, Sharma A, Klein PE et al (2008b) Genetic improvement of sorghum as a biofuel feedstock: II. QTL for stem and leaf structural carbohydrates. Crop Sci 48:2180–2193
- Muthukumar B, Bennetzen J (2004) Isolation and characterization of genomic and transcribed retrotransposon sequences from sorghum. Mol Genet Genomics 271:308–316
- Nelson JC, Wang S, Wu Y, Li X, Antony G et al (2011) Single-nucleotide polymorphism discovery by high-throughput sequencing in sorghum. BMC Genom 12:352
- Neves LG, Davis JM, Barbazuk WB, Kirst M (2013) Whole-exome targeted sequencing of the uncharacterized pine genome. Plant J 75:146–156
- Nussbaumer T, Martis MM, Roessner SK, Pfeifer M, Bader KC et al (2013) MIPS PlantsDB: a database framework for comparative plant genome research. Nucleic Acids Res 41:D1144–D1151

- Ohyanagi H, Takano T, Terashima S, Kobayashi M, Kanno M et al (2015) Plant Omics data center: an integrated web repository for interspecies gene expression networks with NLP-based curation. Plant Cell Physiol 56:e9
- Olson A, Klein RR, Dugas DV, Lu Z, Regulski M et al (2013) Expanding and vetting sorghum bicolor gene annotations through transcriptome and methylome sequencing. Plant Genome. doi:10.3835/ plantgenome2013.08.0025
- Panahi B, Abbaszadeh B, Taghizadeghan M, Ebrahimie E (2014) Genome-wide survey of alternative splicing in *Sorghum Bicolor*. Physiol Mol Biol Plants 20:323– 329
- Pasini L, Bergonti M, Fracasso A, Marocco A, Amaducci S (2014) Microarray analysis of differentially expressed mRNAs and miRNAs in young leaves of sorghum under dry-down conditions. J Plant Physiol 171:537–548
- Paterson AH, Bowers JE, Chapman BA (2004) Ancient polyploidization predating divergence of the cereals, and its consequences for comparative genomics. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 101:9903–9908
- Paterson AH, Bowers JE, Van de Peer Y, Vandepoele K (2005a) Ancient duplication of cereal genomes. New Phytol 165:658–661
- Paterson AH, Freeling M, Sasaki T (2005b) Grains of knowledge: genomics of model cereals. Genome Res 15:1643–1650
- Paterson AH, Bowers JE, Bruggmann R, Dubchak I, Grimwood J et al (2009) The *Sorghum bicolor* genome and the diversification of grasses. Nature 457:551–556
- Peng Y, Schertz KF, Cartinhour S, Hart GE (1999) Comparative genome mapping of *Sorghum bicolor* (L.) Moench using an RFLP map constructed in a population of recombinant inbred lines. Plant Breed 118:225–235
- Pereira MG, Lee M, Bramel-Cox P, Woodman W, Doebley J et al (1994) Construction of an RFLP map in sorghum and comparative mapping in maize. Genome 37:236–243
- Peterson DG, Schulze SR, Sciara EB, Lee SA, Bowers JE et al (2002) Integration of Cot analysis, DNA cloning, and high-throughput sequencing facilitates genome characterization and gene discovery. Genome Res 12:795–807
- Pratt LH, Liang C, Shah M, Sun F, Wang H et al (2005) Sorghum expressed sequence tags identify signature genes for drought, pathogenesis, and skotomorphogenesis from a milestone set of 16,801 unique transcripts. Plant Physiol 139:869–884
- Ragab RA, Dronavalli S, Maroof MAS, Yu YGL (1994) Construction of a sorghum RFLP linkage map using sorghum and maize DNA probes. Genome 37:590–594

- Ramalashmi K, Prathima PT, Mohanraj K, Nair NV (2014) Expression profiling of sucrose metabolizing genes in saccharum, sorghum and their hybrids. Appl Biochem Biotechnol 174:1510–1519
- Ramu P, Kassahun B, Senthilvel S, Ashok Kumar C, Jayashree B et al (2009) Exploiting rice-sorghum synteny for targeted development of EST-SSRs to enrich the sorghum genetic linkage map. Theor Appl Genet 119:1193–1204
- Reddy RN, Madhusudhana R, Mohan SM, Chakravarthi DVN, Seetharama N (2012) Characterization, development and mapping of unigene-derived microsatellite markers in sorghum [Sorghum bicolor (L.) Moench]. Mol Breed 29:543–564
- Rhodes DH, Hoffmann L Jr, Rooney WL, Ramu P, Morris GP et al (2014) Genome-wide association study of grain polyphenol concentrations in global sorghum [Sorghum bicolor (L.) Moench] germplasm. J Agric Food Chem 62:10916–10927
- Ritter KB, Jordan DR, Chapman SC, Godwin ID, Mace ES et al (2008) Identification of QTL for sugar-related traits in a sweet x grain sorghum (*Sorghum bicolor* L. Moench) recombinant inbred population. Mol Breed 22:367–384
- Roberts A, Trapnell C, Donaghey J, Rinn JL, Pachter L (2011) Improving RNA-Seq expression estimates by correcting for fragment bias. Genome Biol 12:R22
- Sabadin PK, Malosetti M, Boer MP, Tardin FD, Santos FG et al (2012) Studying the genetic basis of drought tolerance in sorghum by managed stress trials and adjustments for phenological and plant height differences. Theor Appl Genet 124:1389–1402
- Salse J, Abrouk M, Murat F, Quraishi UM, Feuillet C (2009) Improved criteria and comparative genomics tool provide new insights into grass paleogenomics. Brief Bioinform 10:619–630
- Sampath P, Murukarthick J, Izzah NK, Lee J, Choi HI et al (2014) Genome-wide comparative analysis of 20 miniature inverted-repeat transposable element families in *Brassica rapa* and *B. oleracea*. PLoS ONE 9: e94499
- Saxena RK, Edwards D, Varshney RK (2014) Structural variations in plant genomes. Brief Funct Genomics 3:296–307
- Schnable PS, Ware D, Fulton RS, Stein JC, Wei F et al (2009) The B73 maize genome: complexity, diversity, and dynamics. Science 326:1112–1115
- Seoighe C, Gehring C (2004) Genome duplication led to highly selective expansion of the Arabidopsis thaliana proteome. Trends Genet 20:461–464
- Shakoor N, Nair R, Crasta O, Morris G, Feltus A, Kresovich S (2014) A Sorghum bicolor expression atlas reveals dynamic genotype-specific expression profiles for vegetative tissues of grain, sweet and bioenergy sorghums. BMC Plant Biol 14:35
- Shen X, Liu Z, Mocoeur A, Xia Y, Jing H (2015) PAV markers in *Sorghum bicolour*: genome pattern, affected genes and pathways, and genetic linkage map construction. Theor Appl Genet 128:623–637

- Shikata H, Hanada K, Ushijima T, Nakashima M, Suzuki Y et al (2014) Phytochrome controls alternative splicing to mediate light responses in Arabidopsis. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 111:18781–18786
- Shiringani AL, Friedt W (2011) QTL for fibre-related traits in grain x sweet sorghum as a tool for the enhancement of sorghum as a biomass crop. Theor Appl Genet 123:999–1011
- Siewert C, Hess WR, Duduk B, Huettel B, Reinhardt R et al (2014) Complete genome determination and analysis of Acholeplasma oculi strain 19L, highlighting the loss of basic genetic features in the Acholeplasmataceae. BMC Genom 15:931
- Soltis DE, Albert VA, Leebens-Mack J, Bell CD, Paterson AH et al (2009) Polyploidy and angiosperm diversification. Am J Bot 96:336–348
- Springer PS, Zimmer EA, Bennetzen JL (1989) Genomic organization of the ribosomal DNA of sorghum and its close relatives. Theor Appl Genet 77:844–850
- Srinivas G, Satish K, Murali Mohan S, Nagaraja Reddy R, Madhusudhana R et al (2008) Development of genic-microsatellite markers for sorghum staygreen QTL using a comparative genomic approach with rice. Theor Appl Genet 117:283–296
- Srinivas G, Satish K, Madhusudhana R, Reddy RN, Mohan SM, Seetharama N (2009) Identification of quantitative trait loci for agronomically important traits and their association with genic-microsatellite markers in sorghum. Theor Appl Genet 118:1439– 1454
- Staiger D, Brown JW (2013) Alternative splicing at the intersection of biological timing, development, and stress responses. Plant Cell 25:3640–3656
- Subudhi PK, Nguyen HT (2000) Linkage group alignment of sorghum RFLP maps using a RIL mapping population. Genome 43:240–249
- Sun J, Zhou M, Mao Z, Li C (2012) Characterization and evolution of microRNA genes derived from repetitive elements and duplication events in plants. PLoS ONE 7:e34092
- Syed NH, Kalyna M, Marquez Y, Barta A, Brown JW (2012) Alternative splicing in plants-coming of age. Trends Plant Sci 17:616–623
- Tang H, Bowers JE, Wang X, Paterson AH (2010) Angiosperm genome comparisons reveal early polyploidy in the monocot lineage. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 107:472–477
- Tao YZ, Jordan DR, Henzell RG, McIntyre CL (1998) Construction of a genetic map in a sorghum recombinant inbred line using probes from different sources and its comparison with other sorghum maps. Aust J Agric Res 49:729–736
- Tao YZ, Henzell RG, Jordan DR, Butler DG, Kelly AM, McIntyre CL (2000) Identification of genomic regions associated with stay green in sorghum by testing RILs in multiple environments. Theor Appl Genet 100:1225–1232
- Taramino G, Tarchini R, Ferrario S, Lee M, Pe ME (1997) Characterization and mapping of simple

sequence repeats (SSRs) in *Sorghum bicolor*. Theor Appl Genet 95:66–72

- Tian Z, Rizzon C, Du J, Zhu L, Bennetzen JL et al (2009) Do genetic recombination and gene density shape the pattern of DNA elimination in rice long terminal repeat retrotransposons? Genome Res 19:2221–2230
- Tuinstra MR, Grote EM, Goldsbrough PB, Ejeta G (1996) Identification of quantitative trait loci associated with preflowering drought tolerance in sorghum. Crop Sci 36:1337–1344
- Turcotte K, Srinivasan S, Bureau T (2001) Survey of transposable elements from rice genomic sequences. Plant J 25:169–179
- Varshney RK, Graner A, Sorrells ME (2005) Genic microsatellite markers in plants: features and applications. Trends Biotechnol 23:48–55
- Vos P, Hogers R, Bleeker M, Reijans M, van de Lee T et al (1995) AFLP: a new technique for DNA fingerprinting. Nucleic Acids Res 23:4407–4414
- Wang Q, Dooner HK (2006) Remarkable variation in maize genome structure inferred from haplotype diversity at the bz locus. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 103:17644–17649
- Wang C, Shi X, Liu L, Li H, Ammiraju JS et al (2013) Genomic resources for gene discovery, functional genome annotation, and evolutionary studies of maize and its close relatives. Genetics 195:723–737
- Wendorf F, Close AE, Schild R, Wasylikowa K, Housley RA et al (1992) Saharan exploitation of plants 8,000 years BP. Nature 359:721–724
- Wessler SR, Bureau TE, White SE (1995) LTR-retrotransposons and MITEs: important players in the evolution of plant genomes. Curr Opin Genet Dev 5:814–821
- Whitkus R, Doebley J, Lee M (1992) Comparative genome mapping of sorghum and maize. Genetics 132:1119–1130
- Wicker T, Sabot F, Hua-Van A, Bennetzen JL, Capy P et al (2007) A unified classification system for eukaryotic transposable elements. Nat Rev Genet 8:973–982
- Woo SS, Jiang J, Gill BS, Paterson AH, Wing RA (1994) Construction and characterization of bacterial artificial

chromosome library of Sorghum bicolor. Nucleic Acids Res 22:4922–4931

- Wu YQ, Huang Y (2007) An SSR genetic map of Sorghum bicolor (L.) Moench and its comparison to a published genetic map. Genome 50:84–89
- Wu Z, Gui S, Quan Z, Pan L, Wang S (2014) A precise chloroplast genome of Nelumbo nucifera (Nelumbonaceae) evaluated with Sanger, Illumina MiSeq, and PacBio RS II sequencing platforms: insight into the plastid evolution of basal eudicots. BMC Plant Biol 14:289
- Xu JH, Messing J (2006) Maize haplotype with a helitron-amplified cytidine deaminase gene copy. BMC Genet 7:52
- Xu GW, Magill CW, Schertz KF, Hart GE (1994) A RFLP linkage map of *Sorghum bicolor* (L.) Moench. Theor Appl Genet 89:139–145
- Yan H, Jiang C, Li X, Sheng L, Dong Q et al (2014) PIGD: a database for intronless genes in the Poaceae. BMC Genom 15:832
- Yang L, Bennetzen JL (2009) Structure-based discovery and description of plant and animal Helitrons. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 106:12832–12837
- Yonemaru J, Ando T, Mizubayashi T, Kasuga S, Matsumoto T et al (2009) Development of genome-wide simple sequence repeat markers using whole-genome shotgun sequences of sorghum (*Sorghum bicolor* (L.) Moench). DNA Res 16:187–193
- Zhang LM, Luo H, Liu ZQ, Zhao Y, Luo JC (2014a) Genome-wide patterns of large-size presence/absence variants in sorghum. J Integr Plant Biol 56:24–37
- Zhang W, Ciclitira P, Messing J (2014b) PacBio sequencing of gene families-A case study with wheat gluten genes. Gene 533:541–546
- Zheng LY, Guo XS, He B, Sun LJ, Peng Y (2011) Genome-wide patterns of genetic variation in sweet and grain sorghum (Sorghum bicolor). Genome Biol 12:R114
- Zou G, Zhai G, Feng Q, Yan S, Wang A et al (2012) Identification of QTLs for eight agronomically important traits using an ultra-high-density map based on SNPs generated from high-throughput sequencing in sorghum under contrasting photoperiods. J Exp Bot 63:5451–5462

Synteny with Allied and Model Genomes

P. Rajendrakumar

Abstract

Analysis of synteny is an integral part of comparative genomics inasmuch as it helps us to understand the structures and functions of genes in the related genomes in relation to genome evolution and their roles in gene expression. The identification of synteny blocks, the basic unit of genome synteny, may provide insights into the gene structure and regulation that are essential for biological processes. During earlier days, synteny blocks were identified through ad hoc methods that were slow, lacked reproducibility, ignored the conservation of gene order and orientation, and were not suitable for general applications. However, during the last decade, concerted efforts by several researchers have led to the development of a large volume of genomic data as well as computational resources that allow comparative genomic analysis between genomes of interest with high resolution. Comparative analysis of map-based genomic sequences led to the identification of shared intragenomic duplications, which provide important clues on the evolution of crop genomes from common ancestors. Recent studies in synteny analysis involve transcriptomic synteny to understand the functional conservation of orthologous genes and paleogenomic synteny to understand the role of whole-genome duplications on genome evolution. This chapter discusses the role of synteny analysis in comparative genomics; various computational tools employed for synteny analysis; synteny of sorghum with allied and model genomes with reference to molecular maps, markers, and the whole genome; emerging trends in synteny analysis; and future prospects.

P. Rajendrakumar (🖂)

ICAR - Indian Institute of Millets Research, Rajendranagar, Hyderabad 500030, India e-mail: rajendra@millets.res.in

1 Introduction

Analysis of synteny among two species is an important aspect of comparative genomics inasmuch as it helps us to understand the gene order and functions of a set of genes in the genomes

© Springer International Publishing AG 2016 S. Rakshit and Y.-H. Wang (eds.), *The Sorghum Genome*, Compendium of Plant Genomes, DOI 10.1007/978-3-319-47789-3_6 and their roles in gene expression. The term synteny was first mentioned as it is understood today by Renwick (1971), where it referred to "presence together on the same chromosome, whether or not the loci have been shown to be linked." However, according to Nadeau and Taylor (1984), synteny refers to the presence of two or more pairs of homologous genes with conserved function on the same chromosomal segment. The presence of synteny blocks or segments in the genome may be due to the selection pressure of that region during the divergence from their recent common ancestor (Vergara et al. 2009). Earlier, synteny referred to the colocalization of genes in corresponding chromosomes of different species. However, in recent times, synteny indicated the conservation of such colocalized genes in the same order between various genomes (Vergara and Chen 2010). Therefore, the information on the relative order of genes from one species can provide vital clues to their presence and also function in other species. Even though plant genomes are of highly variable sizes and complex, the gene content and gene order are highly conserved among themselves. Moreover, the functions of homologous genes are similar (Bennetzen 2000). After the sequencing of the first plant genome, Arabidopsis thaliana, several comparative genomics studies have been performed by various research groups (Klein et al. 2003; Zhu et al. 2003; Choi et al. 2004; Salse et al. 2004; Timms et al. 2006; Kumar et al. 2009) to understand the synteny among different plant species. These include synteny analysis between Arabidopsis and tomato (Ku et al. 2001), Arabidopsis and rice (Salse et al. 2002), soybean and Arabidopsis (Shultz et al. 2007), and between common bean and soybean (McClean et al. 2010), to name a few.

Understanding sorghum synteny is important because it belongs to grasses, whose genomes generally exhibit more collinearity (Moore et al. 1995) and are the plant family that is extensively sampled through whole-genome sequencing (Schnable and Lyons 2011). Sorghum, being a tropical grass with characteristic C_4 photosynthesis, is considered as a logical complement to rice with C₃ photosynthesis, a characteristic of temperate grasses. Therefore, the sorghum genome has an evolutionary link to that of maize as well as sugarcane genomes. This is confirmed by its relatively more shared common ancestry with sugarcane (5 million years ago, Mya) and maize (12 Mya) than with rice (42-47 Mya). Analysis of synteny between two genomes or multiple genomes involves either a comparison at the gene level or whole-genome level. This relies heavily on the computational tools associated mostly with sequence alignments and visualization, which allows the researchers to compare the genes or genomes of interest intuitively. This chapter discusses in detail the importance of synteny analysis, computational tools employed, synteny of sorghum with allied and model genomes at the level of molecular maps, markers, and whole genome with critical analysis and future prospects.

2 Comparative Genomics and Synteny

Comparative genomics helps in understanding the structural and functional features of genomes by translating knowledge gained about some genomes to the object of study. Prior to the availability of whole-genome sequences, pairwise comparisons for understanding the synteny were usually performed on relatively short sequences up to a few thousand nucleotides. However, the availability of whole-genome sequences offers excellent opportunity to compare entire genomes in order to have a better understanding of the large-scale structural and functional features of genomes and the evolutionary forces such as duplications, recombination, and rearrangements that have impacted these features. Currently, the availability of whole genomes of many plant species and the enormity of sequence lengths has pushed researchers to perform multiple comparisons to get maximum information. But, the comparison of two genomes with several billion nucleotides itself is a major challenge computationally coupled with the poor understanding of the

sequences and lack of a suitable evolutionary model. To overcome this constraint, the computational scientists defined conserved sequence markers (well-understood coding regions of the genome) to form large-scale patterns that provide alternative representations of the genomes. Synteny blocks are the simplest representation that indicates conserved large sequence blocks across the species as revealed by common markers and similarity of patterns. According to Ghiurcuta and Moret (2014), synteny blocks (i) confer robustness across individuals and sources of error, (ii) reduce the dependence on an accepted sequence evolution model, (iii) reduce the complexity of the analysis, (iv) provide superior features for additional evolutionary studies, and (v) identify specific target regions for detailed studies.

Before proceeding further, it is necessary to understand clearly the meaning of some important terms associated with synteny analysis. The term "synteny" is derived from the Greek word syntainia meaning "on the same ribbon," which means genomic segments located on the same linkage group/chromosome. These segments may be genes or markers or any other nucleic acid or protein sequence. Synteny blocks are the segments in the genome that extend up to several kilobases to a few megabases and consist of an orthologous set of genes sharing the same gene order or collinearity between two species (Zeng et al. 2008). The genes within a synteny block share common functions and are often coregulated. Synteny or syntenic segment refers to a synteny block where the order of genes or markers is preserved. In addition, a qualitative distinction is sometimes drawn between macrosynteny and microsynteny. Macrosynteny refers to the preservation of synteny in large chromosomal segments (50 cM/Mb or less) whereas *microsynteny* refers to the preservation of synteny in small chromosomal segments (0.5 cM/Mb or less) or only a few genes at a time in two different species.

Synteny blocks may be complex when they include different functional clusters and topological arrangements. They may be classified into conserved and nonconserved blocks, referring to the block of genes with preserved gene order devoid of

mismatch within the block and with a mismatch within the block, respectively. Synteny blocks enable comparisons across broad ranges of genomes because they filter out much of the individual variability, specify target regions for detailed analysis, and assist comparisons of the whole genome through visualization tools. According to Wei et al. (2002), the key criteria of the syntenic regions include: (i) the length of syntenic regions and proportion of sequence similarity between conserved syntenic regions; (ii) the proportion of genomic sequences constituting the syntenic regions; (iii) the genomewide distribution of these regions; (iv) the gene content, gene density, and gene order of such regions; and (v) repeat content. Therefore, identification of synteny blocks is vital to comparative genomics because it may provide clues for genes and regulatory element arrangements involved in biological processes (Zeng et al. 2008; Vergara et al. 2009; Vergara and Chen 2010). Synteny blocks were identified earlier using ad hoc methods, which were slow, not reproducible, ignored conservation of gene order and orientation, and were not suitable for general applications. Therefore, computational approaches gained popularity because they are more effective and rapid in the identification of synteny blocks through the implementation of efficient algorithms. The identification of markers (highly conserved short sequences) is essential for the detection of synteny blocks as well as for the alignment of complete genomes. The construction of synteny blocks uses subsets of markers, mostly genes, for the detection of synteny blocks whereas genome alignment employs the markers as anchors, especially scaffolds, maximum unique matches, genes, and assembly contigs (Ghiurcuta and Moret 2014).

3 Computational Tools Employed for Synteny Analysis

The growing availability of completed as well as assembled genome sequences of several plant species has led to the development of algorithms and tools for comparative genome analysis, for example, pairwise and multiple alignment of assembled and whole genomes. Visualization of sequence alignment is very important to identify functional elements such as exons (reviewed in Ureta-Vida et al. 2003; Freeling and Subramaniam 2009), study genomewide rearrangements and genome evolution (Drosophila 12 Genomes Consortium 2007), and align draft and reference genomes (Richter et al. 2007), which have to be represented graphically. Alignment is followed by the identification of conserved synteny, which is defined as the conserved genomic location of several genes (Gregory et al. 2002) representing potential functional regions. Among the various representations available for the graphic depiction of synteny at the whole-genome level, two-dimensional "dot plots" are generally used in the depiction of local conservation. Dot plots are useful in the identification of genome rearrangement and duplication as off-diagonal lines and horizontally or vertically stacked identical lines, respectively. In addition to analyzing the synteny between completed genomes, dot plots are useful in genome assembly and finishing. Pill-shaped ideograms of chromosomes reveal bands that are color-coded to represent the

aligned region of chromosomes on the reference genome. Even though synteny depicted by ideogram does not reveal the physical location of aligned regions on the reference genome, the aspect of color-coding offers easy visualization revealing the redistribution of the compared genome across the reference genome. However, the most attractive and visually pleasing way of representing genomic synteny was introduced in the tool, Circos (Krzywinski et al. 2009), which represents two or more genomes as arcs in a circle, avoiding the visual confusion that would result from linear representation. Many tracks can be aligned as inner circles along the genomes. Table 1 gives details about various databases that are useful for performing synteny analysis of sorghum with other related crop species and Table 2 gives the details about the software/computational tools used for synteny analysis.

A comparison of multiple "subgenomes" derived from genome duplications as in the case of plants needs a shift from the more conventional one-to-one syntenic comparisons used in

Database Description Availability Gramene http://www.gramene.org/ Comparative Resource for Plants Phytozome The Plant Genomics Resource http://www.phytozome.net/ GreenPhylDB Web Resource for Comparative and Functional http://www.greenphyl.org/cgi-Genomics in Plants bin/index.cgi/ CoGE Accelerating Comparative Genomics https://genomevolution.org/ CoGe/ PLAZA Comparative Genomics in Plants http://bioinformatics.psb.ugent. be/plaza/ CSGRqtl Comparative QTL Database for Saccharinae http://helos.pgml.uga.edu/qtl/ (GIGA)ⁿ DB Genome data from sweet and grain sorghum http://gigadb.org/dataset/ 100012 PIP Potential Intron Polymorphism Database http://ibi.zju.edu.cn/pgl/pip/ MOROKOSHI Sorghum RIKEN full-length cDNA clone and RNA-Seq data http://sorghum.riken.jp/ morokoshi/Home.html Transcriptome Database in Sorghum bicolor GRASSIUS Grass Regulatory Information Services http://grassius.org/ MiRBase The microRNA Database http://www.mirbase.org/ http://bioinformatics.cau.edu. PMRD Plant microRNA Database cn/PMRD/ NRDR Noncoding RNA Databases http://www.ncrnadatabases.org/

 Table 1 Comparative genomics databases useful for sorghum

Tool	Features	Reference	Availability
DAGchainer	Identifies chains of gene pairs that share conserved order representing segmental duplications within a genome or syntenic regions between related genomes	Haas et al. (2004)	http://dagchainer. sourceforge.net/
ACT: Artemis Comparison Tool	Displays pairwise comparisons between two or more genomes and associated annotations. Useful to identify and analyze regions of similarity, insertions, and rearrangements between genomes at the whole-genome to base-pair level	Carver et al. (2005)	http://www.sanger.ac.uk/ science/tools/artemis- comparison-tool-act
SynBrowse	Useful for visualization and analysis of genome alignments both within and between species and studying macro-, microsynteny, and homologous genes	Pan et al. (2005)	-
AutoGRAPH	Identifies conserved segments and breakpoint regions, analyzes marker/gene order conservation, constructs synteny maps, and detects chromosomal rearrangements	Derrien et al. (2007)	http://autograph.genouest. org/
Cinteny	Useful for synteny analysis with different sets of markers and levels of synteny blocks. Computes reversal distances by the comparison of multiple genomes automatically and detects synteny blocks	Sinha and Meller (2007)	http://cinteny.cchmc.org/
SynMap	Generates a syntenic dot plot between two genomes, identifies syntenic regions, detects putative genes or regions of homology, and sets of collinear genes or sequences exhibiting similarity	Lyons et al. (2008)	https://genomevolution. org/CoGe/SynMap.pl
OrthoCluster	Identifies the complete set of synteny blocks using annotated gene sets of candidate genomes and pairwise orthologous relationships. Useful in the detection of genome rearrangements as well as segmental duplication in a genome	Zeng et al. (2008)	http://genome.sfu.ca/ projects/orthocluster
EDGAR	Analyzes large groups of related genomes and identifies orthologous genes, classifies them as core genes or singletons	Blom et al. (2009)	https://www.uni-giessen. de/fbz/fb08/Inst/ bioinformatik/software/ EDGAR
MizBee	Explores the relationship types such as proximity/location, size, orientation and similarity/strength, and the four scales of genome, chromosome, block, and genomic feature	Meyer et al. (2009)	http://www.cs.utah.edu/ ~ miriah/mizbee/ Overview.html
MicroSyn	Useful in the detection of microsynteny in genomic regions surrounding genes in gene families by searching for conserved, flanking collinear gene pairs between two genomic fragments	Cai et al. (2011)	http://fcsb.njau.edu.cn: 8044/microsyn/
SyDiG	Identifies microsyntenic regions, extension of homologous boundaries, and reconstruction of synteny blocks	Jean and Nikolski (2011)	-
GSV	Useful in interactive visualization of the synteny between two genomes by uploading the files that contain synteny regions. The users can upload annotation files for the visualization of annotated regions	Revanna et al. (2011)	http://cas-bioinfo.cas.unt. edu/gsv/homepage.php

 Table 2
 Important computational tools useful for comparative genomics and synteny analysis

(continued)

Tool	Features	Reference	Availability
SyMAP v3.4	The original SyMAP (Synteny Mapping and Analysis Program) was developed to detect synteny blocks between a genome and a FPC map. In SyMAP v3.4, this has been extended to detect synteny blocks between pairs of sequenced genomes.	Soderlund et al. (2011)	http://www.agcol.arizona. edu/software/symap/
MapSynteny	A macro in MS Excel [®] useful for generating images revealing the relationship between genetic maps and large sequences such as scaffolds, chromosomes, BACs, and so on	Fernandez et al. (2012)	-
MCScanX	Analyzes chromosome structural changes and exposes the evolution of gene family expansions that might be involved in the adaptation of lineages and taxa	Wang et al. (2012)	http://chibba.pgml.uga. edu/mcscan2/
SynChro	Reconstructs synteny blocks between pairwise comparisons of multiple genomes, providing graphical outputs such as dot plots, chromosome paintings, and detailed synteny maps	Drillon et al. (2014)	http://www.lgm.upmc.fr/ CHROnicle/SynChro.html
Crowsnest	A comparative map viewer useful for investigating genomewide chromosome organization as well as synteny between two or more plant genomes, designed to study synteny among genetic, physical, and BAC/BES-based maps	Nussbaumer (2014)	http://pgsb.helmholtz- muenchen.de/plant/ crowsNest/index.jsp

Table 2 (continued)

vertebrate genomes because the synteny blocks between two plant genomes can be one-to-many or many-to-many based on the time of occurrence of whole-genome duplications (WGD) in the evolutionary history. The majority of software used for the identification of synteny blocks employs chaining or clustering of putative homologous gene pairs (Bowers et al. 2003; Haas et al. 2004; Soderlund et al. 2006; Simillion et al. 2008) and the synteny blocks thus identified are not differentiated based on their evolutionary origin and time, which is critical for further analysis downstream. This leads to ambiguous identification of syntenic orthologues inasmuch as they identify some blocks from false syntenic regions as well as those derived from shared ancient WGD. The QUOTA-ALIGN algorithm developed by Tang et al. (2011) helps in the identification of a subset of synteny blocks relevant to a particular evolutionary event by employing the expected quota known a priori by

considering the evolutionary origin and time of past WGD events.

The general approach to study local synteny involves the alignment of "conservation tracks" to quickly identify conservation within an individual genome. However, the researcher cannot view the features within the reference genome as well as the genomic regions compared. To overcome this constraint, several tools were developed that involve stacking of track-like representations of a reference with the compared genomic regions and indicating the synteny by drawing lines between them. Features such as gene models or expressed sequence tags (ESTs) may be added to the aligned regions. In this approach, users can visually browse an alignment without disturbing the genomic annotations and conserved regions can be linked based on alignment, gene orthology, protein cluster (Crabtree et al. 2007), or even gene model (Wang et al. 2006; Brendel et al. 2007).

4 Synteny of Sorghum with Related and Model Genomes

4.1 Synteny Based on Molecular Maps and Markers

Among the grasses, rice, maize, and sorghum have become important model species for various genetic studies and for understanding the genome organization in the grasses. Prior to the availability of the complete genome sequences and the information on genome annotations, several studies focused on the analysis of synteny through the comparison of genetic maps with different marker systems. A comparison of the genetic maps of maize and sorghum has revealed large regions of collinearity between them (Hulbert et al. 1990; Binelli et al. 1992; Whitkus et al. 1992; Melake-Berhan et al. 1993; Pereira et al. 1994; Paterson et al. 1995; Dufour et al. 1996; Peng et al. 1999). Similarly, a comparison of sorghum and maize maps involving 201 restriction fragment length polymorphism (RFLP) loci revealed high correspondence of loci order and genetic distance between these two genomes. The majority of the loci showed linkage in maize (45 of 55) as well as sorghum with the presence of both conserved and rearranged locus orders (Pereira et al. 1994). Comparative genetic mapping of Saccharum with sorghum by Ming et al. (1998) revealed that one inter- and two intrachromosomal rearrangements differentiated sorghum from Saccharum officinarum as well as S. spontaneum. Comparison of the sorghum RFLP map with that of maize, rice, and oat revealed important sorghum-maize linkage group (LG) rearrangements and homologies such as LG-5 of maize and LG-G of sorghum possess more homologous genetic material than reported earlier, a segment of maize 5L and 5S are homologous to LG-A of sorghum, maize LG-4 and LG-6 are partly homologous to LG-E of sorghum, LG-4 and the short arm of LG-2 in maize are partly homologous to LG-G and LG-F of sorghum, respectively, and a short segment of LG-1 of maize is homologous to that of LG-I in sorghum (Peng et al. 1999). A comparison of genetic linkage maps of sorghum and rice based on a common set of 123 RFLP probes revealed that 69 % of the loci mapped were syntenic between rice and sorghum, of which, 84 % exhibited collinearity (Ventelon et al. 2001).

The majority of the markers on LG-1 of rice are present on the LG-G of sorghum and most of the markers in LG-A of sorghum are present on LG-8 of rice. The collinear linkage groups between sorghum and rice are LG-A = LG-8; LG-B = LG-4; LG-C = LG-3, LG-10, LG-7; LG-D = LG-2; LG-F = LG-7, LG-E = LG-5;LG-9; LG-G = LG-1; LG-H = LG-6; LG-I = LG-12; LG-J = LG-11, which suggested extensive conservation of gene order between these two genomes (Mahalakshmi and Ortiz 2001). Similarity searches of the reported RFLP markers for the four stay-green quantitative trait locus (QTL) regions (Stg1, Stg2, Stg3, and Stg4) against the rice genome resulted in the identification of syntenous regions for Stg1 and Stg2 on chromosome 1, for Stg3 on chromosome 9, and for Stg4 on chromosome 11 of rice. The synteny of these QTL regions with that of rice was experimentally established by the comparative mapping of 10 polymorphic genicmicrosatellite markers of sorghum to the stay-green QTL positions (Srinivas et al. 2008). A new set of EST-derived simple sequence repeat (SSR) markers developed from 600 SSRcontaining ESTs of sorghum selected based on their homology with 12 rice chromosomes were mapped across sorghum linkage groups, mostly to regions exhibiting synteny between rice and sorghum. This demonstrates the use of rice-sorghum synteny information for the targeted development of markers to saturate the linkage maps of related species (Ramu et al. 2009).

Comparative mapping of 327 eSSR markers revealed substantial amounts of sequence orthology and synteny between foxtail millet and sorghum (~68 %), maize (~61 %), and rice (~42 %) chromosomes, suggesting the occurrence of the nested chromosome fusion, a characteristic of grass genome evolution (Kumari et al. 2013). Similarly, the synteny relationships among the genomes of foxtail millet and other related species was established by the comparative *in silico* mapping of 15,573 SSR markers of foxtail millet against the mapping data of sorghum, maize, and rice (Pandey et al. 2013). The presence of greater synteny of certain chromosomes of sugarcane to sorghum than others was revealed by the comparative mapping study by Aitken et al. (2014) in which diversity array technology (DArT), single nucleotide polymorphism (SNP), and EST-SSR markers were used. Good collinearity was observed in four out of eight homology groups (HGs), whereas four major chromosome rearrangements were observed between the other four HGs, two of which were chromosomal condensations leading to the reduction in the basic chromosome number of sugarcane from x = 10 to x = 8.

In addition to the use of genetic maps for understanding the synteny between sorghum and other related crop species, the information on the mapped QTL or genes was also used in several studies. One such example is the aluminum tolerance (AltSB) in sorghum. Even though a significant macrosynteny was observed for DNA markers associated with putative orthologous Al tolerance loci in the group 4 chromosomes between Triticeae (wheat, barley, and rye) and sorghum, the AltSB locus was mapped towards the end of chromosome 3 in sorghum and was more likely to be analogous to the Al tolerance QTL on chromosome 1 of rice as revealed by intertribal map comparisons (Magalhaes et al. 2004). Another study by McIntyre et al. (2005) identified several clusters of resistant gene analogues (RGAs) that were syntenic between sugarcane and sorghum, the prominent ones being three RGAs associated with brown rust that were mapped to the same linkage group in sorghum. Again, while comparing sorghum with sugarcane, Ritter (2007) concluded that the sorghum chromosomes (SBI-01, SBI-03, and SBI-05) possessing QTL for sugar-related traits, also contained sugarcane SSRs from three homology groups (2, 3, and 4), which possess a robust QTL for sugar-related traits. This resulted in the identification of similar loci in sorghum and sugarcane that are associated with sugar-related traits. A comparison of rice and sorghum revealed an inverse synteny relationship for a majority of the Ca²⁺ transporter genes present on Chr 1 and Chr 3 and these transporter proteins are highly conserved between these two species (Goel et al. 2011).

Three heterotic trait loci (HTL) with synergistic intralocus effects for grain yield heterosis were identified in sorghum by Ben-Israel et al. (2012). Among these, two exhibited synteny with an overdominant QTL for grain yield reported earlier in maize. Resistance to grain shattering in Sorghum propinguum, a wild relative of sorghum is conferred by a WRKY transcription factor (SpWRKY), and the YABBY locus confers shattering resistance in sorghum and other cereals. However, the shattering allele (SpWRKY) might have evolved recently in the wild relative and lies only 300 kb apart from the YABBY locus (Tang et al. 2013). Synteny analysis of 19 branching-related genes of rice revealed eight homologues in sorghum present regions within the in syntenic identified branching-related QTL regions on chromosomes 1, 3, 7, and 8 (Kong et al. 2014). Another synteny analysis by de Setta et al. (2014) revealed that the larger size of the sugarcane genome relative to the sorghum genome is mainly due to the accumulation of transposable elements and other uncharacterized intronic and intergenic regions.

4.2 Synteny Based on Whole Genome

Model genomes are the genomes of organisms possessing a wealth of biological data, which makes them examples for the study of other species and/or natural phenomena that are otherwise difficult to study directly. Arabidopsis thaliana (mouse-ear cress) is a dicot plant and a popular model organism in plant biology and also the first plant genome to be sequenced (The Arabidopsis Genome Initiative 2000) and extensively used for dissecting the genetic, cellular, and molecular biology of flowering plants. The Poaceae is an important family of agricultural importance inasmuch as it includes staple food crops such as rice, maize, wheat, barley, and sorghum, as well as industrially important grasses such as switchgrass and Miscanthus that are useful for lignocellulose biomass production. Rice is a model species of monocot plant, whereas maize is a model organism for basic and fundamental research as well as for studying domestication, epigenetics, evolution, chromosome structure, and transposable elements. Sorghum, being a representative of Saccharinae, is a model organism for biomass plants for starch, sugar, and cellulose. Brachypodium is emerging as a model plant for Triticeae and also for understanding biomass production systems in grass species. Since the sequencing of the rice genome (International Rice Genome Sequencing Project 2005), complete genome sequences of sorghum (Paterson et al. 2009), maize (Schnable et al. 2009), Brachypodium (The International Brachypodium Initiative 2010), barley (The International Barley Genome Sequencing Consortium 2012), and wheat (The International Wheat Genome Sequencing Consortium 2014) have been sequenced. Generally, grasses are an attractive system for comparative genomic studies due to high levels of genome collinearity (Moore et al. 1995) and the plant family with extensively sampled whole-genome sequences (Schnable and Lyons 2011).

Being a tropical grass with C₄ photosynthesis, sorghum is considered an important model for studying the structure, function, and evolution of cereal genomes. Moreover, it is an attractive model for functional genomics studies due to its lower level of gene duplication as compared to cereals such as rice and maize. In spite of the low level of gene duplications, sorghum is much more closely related to complex genomes of maize and sugarcane than rice. Sorghum and maize diverged from a common ancestor ~ 12 Mya (Gaut et al. 1997; Swigonova et al. 2004), whereas rice and the maize/sorghum lineage dates back to \sim 42 Mya (Paterson et al. 2004). Sugarcane is closer to sorghum having similar gene order (Ming et al. 1998) and the lineage dates back to ~ 5 Mya (Sobral et al. 1994). Whole-genome duplication (WGD), commonly known as polyploidy, is a vital component of evolutionary novelties (Ohno 1970; Lynch and Conery 2000; Adams and Wendel 2005; Soltis et al. 2009) and found commonly in the evolution of flowering plants, which have experienced paleopolyploidies (Paterson et al. 2009; Schnable et al. 2009; The International Brachypodium Initiative 2010; Wang et al. 2011; D'Hont et al. 2012; Singh et al. 2013). In Poaceae, genomes of rice and sorghum diverged with the first WGD in the ancestral lineage and subsequent diploidization, throwing conservation of synteny to large stretches of genome involving thousands of orthologous genes (Paterson et al. 2009). Subsequently, since its divergence from sorghum, maize has experienced one WGD (Swigonova et al. 2004) whereas sugarcane has experienced at least two WGDs (Ming et al. 1998).

4.2.1 Sorghum–Rice Synteny

Rice has a unique distinction of being the first monocot plant species whose genome has been sequenced. Being a model crop and belonging to the family Panicoideae of which sorghum is also a member, it will be interesting to study the extent of synteny between these two crop species. Initially, extreme collinearity of sorghum was observed with seven linkage groups of rice in addition to major translocations, which is a characteristic of Panicoideae (Devos and Gale 1997). The conserved sorghum-rice microsynteny was distributed in chromosomal regions excluding heterochromatic (Feltus et al. 2004) and pericentromeric regions (Cheng et al. 2001; Jiao et al. 2005). This lack of conserved synteny in pericentromeric regions of rice and sorghum is due to increased recombination and physical length of chromosomes in sorghum (Bowers et al. 2005). About 19,929 gene models of sorghum in the blocks were collinear with rice whereas only a single copy was retained for 13,667 collinear genes after the shared WGD. However, both these plant species retained copies of 4912 genes and one copy of 1070 genes was lost in sorghum (Paterson et al. 2009). In the same study, a duplicated segment was identified on chromosomes 5 and 8 of sorghum, which was also found in the corresponding segmental duplication on chromosomes 11 and 12 of rice (The Rice Chromosomes 11 and 12 Sequencing Consortia 2005; Wang et al. 2005; Yu et al. 2005). According to Bowers et al. (2005), the sorghum genetic maps represent about 80 % of single-copy genes that exhibited

conserved microsynteny with rice, corresponding to the cytologically demarcated "euchromatin" region. Greater microcollinearity was observed in euchromatic regions as compared to heterochromatic regions and the distribution of conserved microsynteny between these two crop species does not include heterochromatin (Feltus et al. 2004) and pericentromeric regions (Cheng et al. 2001; Jiao et al. 2005). The conservation in gene order also corresponded to ancient WGD regions (Kishimoto et al. 1994; Nagamura et al. 1995; Goff et al. 2002; Paterson et al. 2004; Wang et al. 2005) with 57 % of duplicated regions in rice exhibiting conserved synteny with sorghum contigs (Paterson et al. 2004).

The sequencing of the sorghum genome by Paterson et al. (2009) revealed the conservation of specific domains between sorghum and rice, as follows. First, the frequency of nucleotidebinding-site-leucine-rich-repeat (NBS-LRR) containing proteins in sorghum was only about half that of rice, most of them coding for the CC type of N-terminal domains. However, two sorghum genes (Sb02g005860 and Sb02g036630) possessed the TIR domain whereas the NBS domain was not present in these genes. The abundance and conservation of NBS-LRR genes were observed on sorghum chromosome 5, and its homologue in rice chromosome 11. Second, the C₄ photosynthesis in sorghum was evolved as a result of the reorientation of progenitor genes of the C₃ system and also due to the inclusion and functional divergence of gene duplication of ancient as well as recent origin, which was confirmed by the fact that the solitary C₄ pyruvate orthophosphate dikinase (ppdk) and the phosphenolpyruvate carboxylase kinase (ppck) genes along with two isoforms in sorghum have only a single orthologue in rice. The cell wall biogenesis genes such as CslF and CslH are conserved between sorghum and rice. Last, the conservation of one miRNA and many gene families and their expansion in sorghum as compared to rice may be one of the important factors associated with the drought adaptation in sorghum. This is emphasized by the presence of five homologues of rice miRNA 169g, associated with drought stress,

in sorghum. Abundance of Cytochrome P450 domain-containing genes in sorghum as opposed to rice (326 vs. 228) and also the increased number of copies of gene coding for the enzyme class, Expansins in sorghum than in rice (82 vs. 58) further support this hypothesis.

4.2.2 Sorghum–Maize Synteny

Maize is considered as an excellent model system for fundamental research to understand the inheritance of genes, the gene to chromosome linkage, the mechanism relating cytological crossovers and recombination, and the characteristics of telomeres, epigenetics, and transposition (Bennetzen 2009). Several rounds of genome duplication and an additional WGD event (Blanc and Wolfe 2004; Swigonova et al. 2004) differentiate maize from sorghum, its close relative. However, the gene orders were largely conserved between these two plant species with a limited number of rearrangements (Devos and Gale 1997). A draft genome sequence of the maize genotype B73 published by Schnable et al. (2009) revealed that the size of exons of maize genes were comparable to their orthologous counterparts in sorghum, even though the former possessed large introns due to insertion of repeats (Wei et al. 2009; Haberer et al. 2005). They also found that the genome of sorghum and maize contained similar numbers of gene families, of which, 405 were shared between these two crop species. Visual comparisons revealed a greater extent of coalignment between sorghum and maize, even in centromeres harboring undermethylated repeats as compared to the heterochromatin surrounding them (Palmer et al. 2003; Zhang et al. 2008). Numerous chromosomal disruptions and fusions were associated with the return of the maize genome to a genetically diploid state after the WGD. However, since its divergence from rice, the chromosomal constitution of sorghum resembles two ancestral subgenomes of maize (Wei et al. 2007) due to the occurrence of comparatively few interchromosomal rearrangements (Swigonova et al. 2004) of two subgenomes of maize. The duplicate regions in maize were explained by the cosynteny of its genes with the reference genes shared by sorghum and rice.

According to Abrouk et al. (2010), the genomes of maize and sorghum evolved from an intermediate ancestor with 12 chromosomes through two chromosomal fusions resulting in a Panicoideae ancestor (n = 10). Maize and sorghum subsequently evolved independently from this ancestor. Although the sorghum genome organization was similar to the ancestral genome (n = 10), the maize genome underwent a WGD event, resulting in an intermediate genome (n = 20) followed by numerous chromosomal fusions leading to the current genome structure (n = 10). The sequencing of the maize genome also helped in the identification of the origin of the duplicated regions in comparison with sorghum, which also diverged from the common ancestor. The original duplicated regions in the maize genome were reconstructed based on its orthology to the sorghum chromosomes by Schnable et al. (2011) using whole-genome dot plots. Because inversions and intrachromosomal rearrangements are considered to occur more commonly between different chromosomes, the maize chromosomal segments orthologous to the same sorghum chromosome might have been acquired from the same chromosome in the tetraploid ancestor. Both full ancestral copies in the maize genome were reconstructed for the five sorghum chromosomes but only one full ancestral copy was reconstructed for the remaining five chromosomes of sorghum.

4.2.3 Sorghum–Sugarcane Synteny

Sugarcane is an important biofuel crop belonging to the Saccharinae subtribe of which sorghum is also an important member, exhibiting remarkable characteristics associated with bioenergy production. Comparative mapping of 17 out of 31 sugarcane RGAs in sorghum revealed synteny of several RGA clusters (McIntyre et al. 2005). Three sugarcane RGAs associated with brown rust resistance are mapped to the same linkage group in sorghum: one is mapped to a region containing a major QTL for rust resistance in sorghum, and the remaining two are mapped to another region. A comparison of 454 pyrosequences of 20 bacterial artificial chromosomes (BACs) of sugarcane selected by the hybridization of 1961 single-copy sorghum probes with sorghum sequences revealed that a mean of 95.2 % sequence identity was shared by the genic regions of the sugarcane BACs, and about 53.1 % of them were aligned with the sorghum sequence (Wang et al. 2010).

Alignment of 378 bidirectional BAC end sequences (BESs) corresponding to 42 BACs of sugarcane to the sorghum genome sequence by Figueira et al. (2012) revealed that about 84 BESs were aligned with at least one of the chromosomes of the sorghum genome in a concordant manner (Class I), confirming the presence of sugarcane/sorghum synteny. However, a set of 88 BESs were aligned to the same sorghum chromosomes in a discordant manner in the same orientation, indicating that these sugarcane genomic regions might have been inverted, expanded, or reduced during the divergence of sugarcane/sorghum. Sugarcane chromosomes exhibited varied levels of synteny with sorghum (Aitken et al. 2014). They noticed a good collinearity for four out of the eight homology groups (HGs) between these two crop species, and four major chromosomal rearrangements were observed between the remaining HGs of sugarcane and sorghum. Among these, two were condensations resulting in the reduction of the basic chromosome number (x) of sugarcane from 10 to 8. Among the sugarcane HGs, HG1, HG3, HG4, and HG8 were highly syntenic to Sb4, Sb3, Sb1, and Sb8, respectively.

A total of 349 unique genes and 228 intergenic regions were identified in sorghum by de Setta et al. (2014) from 122 synteny blocks from 98 BACs of sugarcane. Even though the number of bases of exons was similar in sugarcane (0.446 Mb) and sorghum (0.449 Mb), the synteny blocks were 3.533 and 1.990 Mb long in these crops, respectively. This indicated that introns, the promoter, and intergenic regions may be the reason behind the 1.543 Mb larger syntenic region in sugarcane as compared to sorghum. In addition, the repeat content in sugarcane was more than double that of sorghum, which accounted for the expansion of the sugarcane genome, especially transposable elements. The de novo transcriptome assembly of six genotypes of sugarcane used in biparental crosses by Cardoso-Silva et al. (2014) resulted in 72,269 unigenes, which exhibited significant similarity to >28,788 proteins with sorghum. This unigene set also included 5272 unigenes, the majority of them probably the genes that are not described in sugarcane.

4.2.4 Sorghum–Foxtail Millet Synteny

A draft genome sequence of foxtail millet published by Zhang et al. (2012) revealed that about 32,701 genes among the 38,801 genes predicted in the draft genome using an integrated annotation pipeline, exhibited homology with that of sorghum, which accounted for 84.3 %. A total of 19 large collinear blocks was identified between foxtail millet and sorghum genomes, which indicated the presence of 72.1 % collinearity between them. The presence of such a high conserved collinearity confirmed a close evolutionary relationship between sorghum and foxtail millet. With respect to the three nested chromosome fusions in foxtail millet in relation to rice, chromosomes 2, 3, and 9 of foxtail millet were collinear with chromosomes 7 and 9, 5 and 12, and 3 and 10 of rice, respectively. Among these, two were also involved in the evolution of sorghum, indicating that these two fusion events might have occurred prior to the divergence of sorghum and foxtail millet. However, the fusion event involving chromosomes 8 and 9 of sorghum with chromosome 3 of foxtail millet might have occurred after divergence of foxtail millet from sorghum. The phylogenetic analysis among the grasses revealed that the foxtail millet diverged from sorghum and maize ~ 27 Mya and the WGD in foxtail millet preceded this event. About 24,722 (65.2 %) genes of foxtail millet were in collinear blocks with the genes of sorghum. Analysis of the carbonic anhydrase genes involved in the CO₂-concentrating process of C₄ plants revealed that a gene cluster was formed by the CAa and CAB genes on chromosome 5 (\sim 27 Mb) in a collinear block with their homologous counterparts in chromosome 3 of sorghum (~ 57.3 Mb). In the low-recombination regions, a clustered 155-bp repeat unit was identified, which exhibited sequence similarity to the 140-bp centromere elements in sorghum (Murat et al. 2010). This repeat unit is likely to be a constitutive, centromere-related element.

4.2.5 Sorghum–Brachypodium Synteny

Brachypodium, is a wild annual grass belonging to the third most economically important subfamily of Poaceae, namely, Pooideae. The availability of a complete genome sequence is a valuable functional genomics resource for the grasses, which also allows the whole-genome comparisons of the members of the other two economically important subfamilies of Poaceae: rice, maize, sorghum, sugarcane, and millet. A comparison of the whole-genome sequence of Brachypodium (The International Brachypodium Initiative 2010) to that of the sorghum genome resulted in revealing the valuable information on the extent of synteny between these two plant species. Phylogenetic trees constructed using 62 gene families from sorghum revealed that the distribution of genes in Brachypodium was similar to that of sorghum, highlighting the importance of Brachypodium for the functional genomics studies in grasses. The evolutionary relationship between Brachypodium and sorghum determined using the mean synonymous substitution rates of gene pairs that were orthologous indicated that Brachypodium diverged from sorghum 45-60 Mya. Fourteen major syntenic interruptions were identified between Brachypodium and rice/sorghum, which might have occurred due to the nested wholechromosome insertions in centromeric regions (Kellogg 2001; Srinivasachary et al. 2007; Luo et al. 2009). Similar nested insertions were also observed in sorghum (Luo et al. 2009). Four of the relatively large gene families of Brachypodium exhibited greater synteny with sorghum although two (NBS-LRR and F-box) were not in syntenic order, consistent with the rapid diversification of these two gene families (Meyers et al. 2003). The Bd5S portion of the Brachypodium genome acquires retrotransposons by

replication, loses few by recombination, and this along with Sb6S also houses the fewest possible collinear genes.

4.2.6 Sorghum–Bamboo Synteny

Bamboos are woody plants belonging to the Poaceae (subfamily Bambusoideae), family which also includes crops such as rice, maize, sorghum, and other cereals. Bamboos are considered as a unique member of the grass family inasmuch as they are woody plants and flower only once. Greater synteny was noticed between the bamboo BAC sequence GQ252886 and an orthologous region on sorghum chromosome 4 by Gui et al. (2010). Even though the putative kinase gene (Sb04g030710) in sorghum exhibited high similarity with Gene 6 of bamboo, only the 3' region was retained in sorghum and the 5' region was found to be pseudo due to the presence of in-dels/mutations. Similarly, a ~ 4 Kb potential insertion was observed in the gene of sorghum (Sb07g027320) that is syntenic to the bamboo gene (Gene 1 in GQ252869). Apart from rice, which is closely related to bamboo and considered to be the best reference genome for the comparative genomic studies in bamboo, the availability of complete genome sequences of sorghum (Paterson et al. 2009) offers an additional reference genome for bamboo.

5 Emerging Trends in Synteny Analysis

Even though many genomes of grass species belonging to the Poaceae family have been sequenced, a comparative analysis of their transcriptomes has been lacking, thereby limiting the information on the evolution and regulation of the core transcriptome of this family as well as the genes that are specific to this lineage. The recent emergence of high-throughput next-generation transcriptome sequencing technology is superior over earlier adopted expression profiling methods and provides better opportunities for the complete analysis of global gene expression patterns (Marioni et al. 2008; Nagalakshmi et al. 2008; Wang et al. 2009; Costa et al. 2010; Davidson et al. 2011).

In a first of its kind study on comparative transcriptomics of three Poaceae species, Davidson et al. (2012) identified a large number of syntenic gene pairs between rice and sorghum (13,033) compared to Brachypodium and rice (10,805) and Brachypodium and sorghum (9404). However, very few synteny blocks and largest average block size were observed between rice and sorghum, compared to Brachypodium and rice, and Brachypodium and sorghum. These observations highlight the karyotypic changes in the lineages of Brachypodium and sorghum involving multiple chromosome fusions and genome rearrangements compared to the 12-chromosome ancestral monocot genome, similar to rice (Salse et al. 2009; The International Brachypodium Initiative 2010). The study also revealed that orthologous genes upregulated in the physiologically similar tissues (leaves, anthers, and embryo) are more highly conserved than those in compound tissues (whole flowers and seeds). They observed that relatively small proportions of lineage-specific genes contribute to reproductive expression phenotypes compared with multitaxa genes, and that significant proportions of orthologous genes have been recruited to perform lineage-specific functions. The study further illustrated that genomic collinearity and conservation of expression patterns among orthologous gene pairs between species are correlated.

The genetic, phenotypic, and ecological diversity among plants is presumed to be due to the repeated polyploidization followed by diploidization through genomewide fractionation and structural rearrangements (Bowers et al. 2003; Blanc and Wolfe 2004; Adams and Wendel 2005; Freeling and Thomas 2006; Fawcett et al. 2009; Freeling 2009; Schnable et al. 2009; Van de Peer et al. 2009; Paterson et al. 2010;). Earlier, the analysis of WGD was phylogenetic and mostly based on the distribution of synonymous substitution rates (Ks) between duplicated gene pairs (Lynch and Conery 2000; Blanc and Wolfe 2004) or gene family tree topology

(Bowers et al. 2003). In this approach, the dating of WGD based on discriminating duplication and speciation tree topologies (Bowers et al. 2003) was affected by limited EST sampling data and variation in lineage evolutionary rate (Tang et al. 2008a). The more recent phylogenomic approach considers temporal signals whereas the synteny approach considers spatial signals (conservation of gene position and order) to identify WGD (Vandepoele et al. 2002; Haas et al. 2004; Tang et al. 2008b). However, integration of temporal and spatial signals is considered as it also integrates studies of genome structure and molecular evolution.

6 Future Prospects

The majority of the computational resources available for synteny analysis use genes as conserved sequence markers. However, the rapid sequencing of the plant genomes through next-generation sequencing offers excellent opportunity to compare complete genomes at once to achieve a better understanding of the large-scale structural features of genomes brought about by evolutionary events such as duplications, rearrangements, recombination, etc. This approach uses the maximum available data analysis. Compared for the to synteny block-based analysis, whole-genome-based synteny analysis is computationally challenging and warrants refinement in the existing alignment and visualization tools. Stringent sequence alignment and statistical validation are extremely crucial to evaluate accurately whether the identified association between two or more genes of the same order on different chromosomes is by chance or due to conserved collinearity. Even though many algorithms and effective visualization tools are available in the public databases, these tools lack statistical testing in confirming the robustness of the relationships revealed by aligned sequences, which will immensely help in the tracking of the evolutionary mechanisms.

References

- Abrouk M, Murat F, Pont C, Messing J, Jackson S, Faraut T, Tannier E, Plomion C, Cooke R, Feuillet C, Salse J (2010) Palaeogenomics of plants: synteny-based modelling of extinct ancestors. Trends Plant Sci 15(9):479–487
- Adams KL, Wendel JF (2005) Polyploidy and genome evolution in plants. Curr Opin Plant Biol 8:135–141
- Aitken KS, McNeil MD, Berkman PJ, Hermann S, Kilian A, Bundock PC, Li J (2014) Comparative mapping in the Poaceae family reveals translocations in the complex polyploidy genome of sugarcane. BMC Plant Biol 14:190
- Ben-Israel I, Kilian B, Nida H, Fridman E (2012) Heterotic trait locus (HTL) mapping identifies intra-locus interactions that underlie reproductive hybrid vigor in *Sorghum bicolor*. PLoS ONE 7(6):e38993
- Bennetzen JL (2000) Comparative sequence analysis of plant nuclear genomics: microcolinearity and its many exceptions. Plant Cell 12:1021–1029
- Bennetzen JLH, Sarah C (2009) Handbook of maize, genetics and genomics. XII:800–894
- Binelli G, Gianfranceschi L, Pe ME, Taramino G, Busso C, Stenhouse J, Ottaviano E (1992) Similarity of maize and sorghum genomes as revealed by maize RFLP probes. Theor Appl Genet 84:10–16
- Blanc G, Wolfe KH (2004) Widespread paleopolyploidy in model plant species inferred from age distributions of duplicate genes. Plant Cell 16:1667–1678
- Blom J, Albaum S, Doppmeier D, Puhler A, Vorholter FJ, Zakrzewski M, Goesmann A (2009) EDGAR: a software framework for the comparative analysis of prokaryotic genomes. BMC Bioinform 10:154
- Bowers JE, Chapman BA, Rong J, Paterson AH (2003) Unravelling angiosperm genome evolution by phylogenetic analysis of chromosomal duplication events. Nature 422(6930):433–438
- Bowers JE, Arias MA, Asher R, Avise JA, Ball RT, Brewer GA, Buss RW, Chen AH, Edwards TM, Estill JC, Exum HE, Goff VH, Herrick KL, James Steele CL, Karunakaran S, Lafayette GK, Lemke C, Marler BS, Masters SL, McMillan JM, Nelson LK, Newsome GA, Nwakanma CC, Odeh RN, Phelps CA, Rarick EA, Rogers CJ, Ryan SP, Slaughter KA, Soderlund CA, Tang H, Wing RA, Paterson AH (2005) Comparative physical mapping links conservation of microsynteny to chromosome structure and recombination in grasses. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 102(37):13206–13211
- Brendel V, Kurtz S, Pan X (2007) Visualization of syntenic relationships with SynBrowse. Methods Mol Biol 396:153–163
- Cai B, Yang X, Tuskan GA, Cheng ZM (2011) MicroSyn: a user friendly tool for detection of microsynteny in a gene family. BMC Bioinform 12:79

- Cardoso-Silva CB, Costa EA, Mancini MC, Balsalobre TW, Canesin LE, Pinto LR, Carneiro MS, Garcia AA, de Souza AP, Vicentini R (2014) *De Novo* assembly and transcriptome analysis of contrasting sugarcane varieties. PLoS ONE 9(2):e88462
- Carver TJ, Rutherford KM, Berriman M, Rajandream MA, Barrell BG, Parkhill J (2005) ACT: the Artemis Comparison Tool. Bioinformatics 21(16):3422–3423
- Cheng ZK, Buell CR, Wing RA, Gu MH, Jiang JM (2001) Toward a cytological characterization of the rice genome. Genome Res 11:2133–2141
- Choi HK, Kim D, Uhm T, Limpens E, Lim H, Mun JH, Kalo P, Penmetsa RV, Seres A, Kulikova O, Roe BA, Bisseling T, Kiss GB, Cook DR (2004) A sequence-based genetic map of *Medicago truncatula* and comparison of marker colinearity with *M. sativa*. Genetics 166:1463–1502
- Costa V, Angelini C, De Feis I, Ciccodicola A (2010) Uncovering the complexity of transcriptomes with RNA-Seq. J Biomed Biotechnol 2010:853916
- Crabtree J, Angiuoli SV, Wortman JR, White OR (2007) Sybil: methods and software for multiple genome comparison and visualization. Methods Mol Biol 408:93–108
- Davidson RM, Hansey CN, Gowda M, Childs KL, Lin H, Vaillancourt B, Sekhon RS, de Leon N, Kaeppler SM, Jiang N, Robin Buell C (2011) Utility of RNA sequencing for analysis of maize reproductive transcriptomes. Plant Genome 4:191–203
- Davidson RM, Gowda M, Moghe G, Lin H, Vaillancourt B, Shiu SH, Jiang N, Robin Buell C (2012) Comparative transcriptomics of three Poaceae species reveals patterns of gene expression evolution. Plant J 71:492–502
- de Setta N, Monteiro-Vitorello CB, Metcalfe CJ, Cruz GM, Del Bem LE, Vicentini R, Nogueira FT, Campos RA, Nunes SL, Turrini PC, Vieira AP, Ochoa Cruz EA, Corrêa TC, Hotta CT, de Mello Varani A, Vautrin S, da Trindade AS, de Mendonça Vilela M, Lembke CG, Sato PM, de Andrade RF, Nishiyama MY Jr, Cardoso-Silva CB, Scortecci KC, Garcia AA, Carneiro MS, Kim C, Paterson AH, Bergès H, D'Hont A, de Souza AP, Souza GM, Vincentz M, Kitajima JP, Van Sluys MA (2014) Building the sugarcane genome for biotechnology and identifying evolutionary trends. BMC Genom 15:540
- Derrien T, Andre C, Galibert F, Hitte C (2007) AutoGRAPH: an interactive web server for automating and visualizing comparative genome maps. Bioinformatics 23(4):498–499
- Devos KM, Gale MD (1997) Comparative genetics in the grasses. Plant Mol Biol 35:3–15
- D'Hont A, Denoeud F, Aury JM, Baurens FC, Carreel F, Garsmeur O, Noel B, Bocs S, Droc G, Rouard M, Da Silva C, Jabbari K, Cardi C, Poulain J, Souquet M, Labadie K, Jourda C, Lengellé J, Rodier-Goud M, Alberti A, Bernard M, Correa M, Ayyampalayam S, Mckain MR, Leebens-Mack J, Burgess D, Freeling M, Mbéguié-A-Mbéguié D, Chabannes M, Wicker T, Panaud O, Barbosa J, Hribova E, Heslop-Harrison P,

Habas R, Rivallan R, Francois P, Poiron C, Kilian A, Burthia D, Jenny C, Bakry F, Brown S, Guignon V, Kema G, Dita M, Waalwijk C, Joseph S, Dievart A, Jaillon O, Leclercq J, Argout X, Lyons E, Almeida A, Jeridi M, Dolezel J, Roux N, Risterucci AM, Weissenbach J, Ruiz M, Glaszmann JC, Quétier F, Yahiaoui N, Wincker P (2012) The banana (*Musa acuminata*) genome and the evolution of monocotyledonous plants. Nature 488:213–217

- Drillon G, Carbone A, Fischer G (2014) SynChro: a fast and easy tool to reconstruct and visualize synteny blocks along eukaryotic chromosomes. PLoS ONE 9 (3):e92621
- Drosophila 12 Genomes Consortium (2007) Evolution of genes and genomes on the *Drosophila* phylogeny. Nature 450:203–218
- Dufour P, Grivet L, D'Hont A, Deu M, Trouche G, Glaszmann JC, Hamon P (1996) Comparative genetic mapping between duplicated segments on maize chromosomes 3 and 8 and homoeologous regions in sorghum and sugarcane. Theor Appl Genet 92:1024– 1030
- Fawcett JA, Maere S, Van de Peer Y (2009) Plants with double genomes might have had a better chance to survive the Cretaceous-Tertiary extinction event. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 106:5737–5742
- Feltus FA, Wan J, Schulze SR, Estill JC, Jiang N, Paterson AH (2004) An SNP resource for rice genetics and breeding based on subspecies *indica* and *japonica* genome alignments. Genome Res 14:1812–1819
- Fernandez AC, Galeano CH, Cichy K, Blair MW (2012) MapSynteny: creating images of synteny. In: Proceedings of international plant and animal genome conference XX, 14–18 January 2012, San Diego, CA, USA
- Figueira TRS, Okura V, da Silva FR, da Silva MJ, Kudrna D, Ammiraju JSS, Talag J, Wing R, Arruda P (2012) A BAC library of the SP80–3280 sugarcane variety (*Saccharum* sp.) and its inferred microsynteny with the sorghum genome. BMC Res Notes 5:185
- Freeling M, Thomas BC (2006) Gene-balanced duplications, like tetraploidy, provide predictable drive to increase morphological complexity. Genome Res 16:805–814
- Freeling M (2009) Bias in plant gene content following different sorts of duplication: tandem, whole-genome, segmental, or by transposition. Annu Rev Plant Biol 60:433–453
- Freeling M, Subramaniam S (2009) Conserved noncoding sequences (CNSs) in higher plants. Curr Opin Plant Biol 12:126–132
- Gaut BS, Clark LG, Wendel JF, Muse SV (1997) Comparisons of the molecular evolutionary process at *rbcL* and *ndhF* in the grass family (Poaceae). Mol Biol Evol 14(7):769–777
- Ghiurcuta CG, Moret BME (2014) Evaluating syntemy for improved comparative studies. Bioinformatics 30:i9– i18
- Goel A, Taj G, Pandey D, Gupta S, Kumar A (2011) Genome-wide comparative *in silico* analysis of

calcium transporters of rice and sorghum. Genom Proteom Bioinform 9(4-5):138-150

- Goff SA, Ricke D, Lan TH, Presting G, Wang R, Dunn M, Glazebrook J, Sessions A, Oeller P, Varma H, Hadley D, Hutchison D, Martin C, Katagiri F, Lange BM, Moughamer T, Xia Y, Budworth P, Zhong J, Miguel T, Paszkowski U, Zhang S, Colbert M, Sun WL, Chen L, Cooper B, Park S, Wood TC, Mao L, Quail P, Wing R, Dean R, Yu Y, Zharkikh A, Shen R, Sahasrabudhe S, Thomas A, Cannings R, Gutin A, Pruss D, Reid J, Tavtigian S, Mitchell J, Eldredge G, Scholl T, Miller RM, Bhatnagar S, Adey N, Rubano T, Tusneem N, Robinson R, Feldhaus J, Macalma T, Oliphant A, Briggs S (2002) A draft sequence of rice genome (*Oryza sativa* L. ssp. *japonica*). Science 296:92–100
- Gregory SG, Sekhon M, Schein J, Zhao S, Osoegawa K, Scott CE, Evans RS, Burridge PW, Cox TV, Fox CA, Hutton RD, Mullenger IR, Phillips KJ, Smith J, Stalker J, Threadgold GJ, Birney E, Wylie K, Chinwalla A, Wallis J, Hillier L, Carter J, Gaige T, Jaeger S, Kremitzki C, Layman D, Maas J, McGrane R, Mead K, Walker R, Jones S, Smith M, Asano J, Bosdet I, Chan S, Chittaranjan S, Chiu R, Fjell C, Fuhrmann D, Girn N, Gray C, Guin R, Hsiao L, Krzywinski M, Kutsche R, Lee SS, Mathewson C, McLeavy C, Messervier S, Ness S, Pandoh P, Prabhu AL, Saeedi P, Smailus D, Spence L, Stott J, Taylor S, Terpstra W, Tsai M, Vardy J, Wye N, Yang G, Shatsman S, Ayodeji B, Geer K, Tsegaye G, Shvartsbeyn A, Gebregeorgis E, Krol M, Russell D, Overton L, Malek JA, Holmes M, Heaney M, Shetty J, Feldblyum T, Nierman WC, Catanese JJ, Hubbard T, Waterston RH, Rogers J, de Jong PJ, Fraser CM, Marra M, McPherson JD, Bentley DR (2002) A physical map of the mouse genome. Nature 418:743-750
- Gui YJ, Zhou Y, Wang Y, Wang S, Wang SY, Hu Y, Bo SP, Chen H, Zhou CP, Ma NX, Zhang TZ, Fan LJ (2010) Insights into the bamboo genome: syntenic relationships to rice and sorghum. J Integr Plant Biol 52(11):1008–1015
- Haas BJ, Delcher AL, Wortman JR, Salzberg SL (2004) DAGchainer: a tool for mining segmental genome duplications and synteny. Bioinformatics 20 (18):3643–3646
- Haberer G, Young S, Bharti AK, Gundlach H, Raymond C, Fuks G, Butler E, Wing RA, Rounsley S, Birren B, Nusbaum C, Mayer KF, Messing J (2005) Structure and architecture of the maize genome. Plant Physiol 139:1612–1624
- Hulbert SH, Richter TE, Axtell JD, Bennetzen JL (1990) Genetic mapping and characterization of sorghum and related crops by means of maize DNA probes. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 87:4251–4255
- International Rice Genome Sequencing Project (2005) The map-based sequence of the rice genome. Nature 436:793800
- Jean G, Nikolski M (2011) SyDiG: uncovering synteny in distant genomes. Int J Bioinform Res Appl 7(1):43–62

- Jiao Y, Jia P, Wang X, Su N, Yu S, Zhang D, Ma L, Feng Q, Jin Z, Li L, Xue Y, Cheng Z, Zhao H, Han B, Deng XW (2005) A tiling microarray expression analysis of rice chromosome 4 suggests a chromosome level regulation of transcription. Plant Cell 17:1641– 1657
- Kellogg EA (2001) Evolutionary history of the grasses. Plant Physiol 125:1198–1205
- Kishimoto N, Higo H, Abe K, Arai S, Saito A, Higo K (1994) Identification of duplicated segment in rice chromosomes 1 and 5 by linkage analysis of cDNA markers of known function. Theor Appl Genet 88:722–726
- Klein PE, Klein RR, Vrebalov J, Mullet JE (2003) Sequence-based alignment of sorghum chromosome 3 and rice chromosome 1 reveals extensive conservation of gene order and major chromosomal re-arrangement. Plant J 34:605–621
- Kong W, Guo H, Goff VH, Lee TH, Kim C, Paterson AH (2014) Genetic analysis of vegetative branching in sorghum. Theor Appl Genet 127(11):2387–2403
- Krzywinski M, Schein J, Birol I, Connors J, Gascoyne R, Horsman D, Jones SJ, Marra MA (2009) Circos: an information aesthetic for comparative genomics. Genome Res 19:1639–1645
- Ku HM, Liu J, Doganlarand S, Tanksley SD (2001) Exploitation of *Arabidopsis*-tomato synteny to construct a high resolution map of the ovate-containing region in tomato chromosome 2. Genome 44:470–475
- Kumar S, Mohan A, Balyan HS, Gupta PK (2009) Orthology between genomes of *Brachypodium*, wheat and rice. BMC Res Notes 2:93
- Kumari K, Muthamilarasan M, Misra G, Gupta S, Subramanian A, Parida SK, Chattopadhyay D, Prasad M (2013) Development of e-SSR markers in *Setaria italica* and their applicability in studying genetic diversity, cross transferability and comparative mapping in millet and non-millet species. PLoS ONE 8(6):e67742
- Luo MC, Deal KR, Akhunov ED, Akhunova AR, Anderson OD, Anderson JA, Blake N, Clegg MT, Coleman-Derr D, Conley EJ, Crossman CC, Dubcovsky J, Gill BS, Gu YQ, Hadam J, Heo HY, Huo N, Lazo G, Ma Y, Matthews DE, McGuire PE, Morrell PL, Qualset CO, Renfro J, Tabanao D, Talbert LE, Tian C, Toleno DM, Warburton ML, You FM, Zhang W, Dvorak J (2009) Genome comparisons reveal a dominant mechanism of chromosome number reduction in grasses and accelerated genome evolution in Triticeae. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 106:15780– 15785
- Lynch M, Conery JS (2000) The evolutionary fate and consequences of duplicate genes. Science 290:1151– 1155
- Lyons E, Pedersen B, Kane J, Freeling M (2008) The value of nonmodel genomes and an example using SynMap within CoGe to dissect the hexaploidy that predates rosids. Trop Plant Biol 1(3–4):181–190
- Magalhaes JV, Garvin DF, Wang Y, Sorrells ME, Klein PE, Schaffert RE, Li L, Kochian LV (2004)

Comparative mapping of a major aluminum tolerance gene in sorghum and other species in the poaceae. Genetics 167(4):1905–1914

- Mahalakshmi V, Ortiz R (2001) Plant genomics and agriculture: From model organisms to crops, the role of data mining for gene discovery. Elec J Biotechnol 4 (3):1–10
- Marioni JC, Mason CE, Mane SM, Stephens M, Gilad Y (2008) RNA-seq: an assessment of technical reproducibility and comparison with gene expression arrays. Genome Res 18:1509–1517
- McClean PE, Mamidi S, McConnell M, Chikara S, Lee R (2010) Synteny mapping between common bean and soybean reveals extensive blocks of shared loci. BMC Genom 11:184
- McIntyre CL, Casu RE, Drenth J, Knight D, Whan VA, Croft BJ, Jordan DR, Manners JM (2005) Resistance gene analogues in sugarcane and sorghum and their association with quantitative trait loci for rust resistance. Genome 48(3):391–400
- Melake-Berhan A, Hulbert SH, Butler LG, Bennetzen JL (1993) Structure and evolution of the genomes of *Sorghum bicolour* and *Zea mays*. Theor Appl Genet 86:598–604
- Meyer M, Munzner T, Pfister H (2009) MizBee: a multiscale synteny browser. IEEE Trans Vis Comput Graph 15(6):897–904
- Meyers BC, Kozik A, Griego A, Kuang H, Michelmore RW (2003) Genome-wide analysis of NBS-LRR-encoding genes in *Arabidopsis*. Plant Cell 15:809–834
- Ming R, Liu SC, Lin YR, da Silva J, Wilson W, Braga D, van Deynze A, Wenslaff TF, Wu KK, Moore PH, Burnquist W, Sorrells ME, Irvine JE, Paterson AH (1998) Detailed alignment of *Saccharum* and *Sorghum* chromosomes: comparative organization of closely related diploid and polyploid genomes. Genetics 150:1663–1682
- Moore G, Devos KM, Wang Z, Gale MD (1995) Cereal genome evolution. Grasses, line up and form a circle. Curr Biol 5:37–739
- Murat F, Xu JH, Tannier E, Abrouk M, Guihot N, Pont C, Messing J, Salse J (2010) Ancestral grass karyotype reconstruction unravels new mechanisms of genome shuffling as a source of plant evolution. Genome Res 20:1545–1557
- Nadeau J, Taylor B (1984) Lengths of chromosomal segments conserved since divergence of man and mouse. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 81:814–818
- Nagalakshmi U, Wang Z, Waern K, Shou C, Raha D, Gerstein M, Snyder M (2008) The transcriptional landscape of the yeast genome defined by RNA sequencing. Science 320:1344–1349
- Nagamura Y, Inoue T, Antonio BA, Shimano T, Kajiya H, Shomura A, Lin SY, Kuboki Y, Harushima Y, Kurata N, Minobe Y, Yano M, Sasaki T (1995) Conservation of duplicated segments between rice chromosome 11 and chromosome 12. Breed Sci 45:373–376

- Nussbaumer T (2014) CrowsNest: a tool to visualize synteny between plant genomes including recently published cereal genomes of *Aegilops tauschii* and *Hordeum vulgare*. In: Proceedings of the international plant and animal genome conference XXII, 11–15 January 2014, San Diego, CA, USA
- Ohno S (1970) Evolution by gene duplication. Springer, New York
- Palmer LE, Rabinowicz PD, O'Shaughnessy AL, Balija VS, Nascimento LU, Dike S, de la Bastide M, Martienssen RA, McCombie WR (2003) Maize genome sequencing by methylation filtration. Science 302(5653):2115–2117
- Pan X, Stein L, Brendel V (2005) SynBrowse: a synteny browser for comparative sequence analysis. Bioinformatics 21(17):3461–3468
- Pandey G, Misra G, Kumari K, Gupta S, Parida SK, Chattopadhyay D, Prasad M (2013) Genome-wide development and use of microsatellite markers for large-scale genotyping applications in foxtail millet [Setaria italica (L.)]. DNA Res 20:197–207
- Paterson AH, Lin YR, Li Z, Schertz KF, Doebley JF, Pinson SRM, Liu SC, Stansel JW, Irvine JE (1995) Convergent domestication of cereal crops by independent mutations at corresponding genetic loci. Science 269:1714–1718
- Paterson AH, Bowers JE, Chapman BA (2004) Ancient polyploidization predating divergence of the cereals, and its consequences for comparative genomics. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 101(26):9903–9908
- Paterson AH, Bowers JE, Bruggmann R, Dubchak I, Grimwood J, Gundlach H, Haberer G, Hellsten U, Mitros T, Poliakov A, Schmutz J, Spannagl M, Tang H, Wang X, Wicker T, Bharti AK, Chapman J, Feltus FA, Gowik U, Grigoriev IV, Lyons E, Maher CA, Martis M, Narechania A, Otillar RP, Penning BW, Salamov AA, Wang Y, Zhang L, Carpita NC, Freeling M, Gingle AR, Hash CT, Keller B, Klein P, Kresovich S, McCann MC, Ming R, Peterson DG, Mehboob-ur-Rahman Ware D, Westhoff P, Mayer KF, Messing J, Rokhsar DS (2009) The Sorghum bicolor genome and the diversification of grasses. Nature 457:551–556
- Paterson AH, Freeling M, Tang H, Wang X (2010) Insights from the comparison of plant genome sequences. Annu Rev Plant Biol 61:349–372
- Peng Y, Schertz KF, Cartinhour S, Hart GE (1999) Comparative genome mapping of *Sorghum bicolor* (L.) Moench using an RFLP map constructed in a population of recombinant inbred lines. Plant Breed 118:225–235
- Pereira MG, Lee M, Bramel-Cox P, Woodman W, Doebley J, Whitkus R (1994) Construction of an RFLP map in sorghum and comparative mapping in maize. Genome 37(2):236–243
- Ramu P, Kassahun B, Senthilvel S, Kumar CA, Jayashree B, Folkertsma RT, Reddy LA, Kuruvinashetti MS, Haussmann BIG, Hash CT (2009) Exploiting rice-sorghum synteny for targeted development of EST-SSRs to enrich the sorghum

genetic linkage map. Theor Appl Genet 119:1193-1204

- Renwick JH (1971) The mapping of human chromosomes. Ann Rev Gen 5:81–120
- Revanna KV, Chiu CC, Bierschank E, Dong Q (2011) GSV: a web-based genome synteny viewer for customized data. BMC Bioinformatics 12:316
- Richter DC, Schuster SC, Huson DH (2007) OSLay: optimal syntenic layout of unfinished assemblies. Bioinformatics 23:1573–1579
- Ritter KB (2007) An investigation into the genetics and physiology of sugar accumulation in sweet sorghum as a potential model for sugarcane. PhD Thesis, School of Land, Crop and Food Sciences, University of Queensland, Australia
- Salse J, Piegu B, Cooke R, Delseny M (2002) Synteny between Arabidopsis thaliana and rice at the genome level: a tool to identify conservation in ongoing rice genome sequencing project. Nucleic Acids Res 30:2316–2328
- Salse J, Piegu B, Cooke R, Delseny M (2004) New in silico insight into the synteny between rice (Oryza sativa L.) and maize (Zea mays L.) highlights reshuffling and identifies new duplications in the rice genome. Plant J 38:396–409
- Salse J, Abrouk M, Bolot S, Guilhot N, Courcelle E, Faraut T, Waugh R, Close TJ, Messing J, Feuillet C (2009) Reconstruction of monocotelydoneous proto-chromosomes reveals faster evolution in plants than in animals. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 106:14908–14913
- Schnable JC, Lyons E (2011) Comparative genomics with maize and other grasses: from genes to genomes. Maydica 56:77–93
- Schnable JC, Springer NM, Freeling M (2011) Differentiation of the maize subgenomes by genome dominance and both ancient and ongoing gene loss. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 108(10):4069–4074
- Schnable PS, Ware D, Fulton RS, Stein JC, Wei F, Pasternak S, Liang C, Zhang J, Fulton L, Graves TA, Minx P, Reily AD, Courtney L, Kruchowski SS, Tomlinson C, Strong C, Delehaunty K, Fronick C, Courtney B, Rock SM, Belter E, Du F, Kim K, Abbott RM, Cotton M, Levy A, Marchetto P, Ochoa K, Jackson SM, Gillam B, Chen W, Yan L, Higginbotham J, Cardenas M, Waligorski J, Applebaum E, Phelps L, Falcone J, Kanchi K, Thane T, Scimone A, Thane N, Henke J, Wang T, Ruppert J, Shah N, Rotter K, Hodges J, Ingenthron E, Cordes M, Kohlberg S, Sgro J, Delgado B, Mead K, Chinwalla A, Leonard S, Crouse K, Collura K, Kudrna D, Currie J, He R, Angelova A, Rajasekar S, Mueller T, Lomeli R, Scara G, Ko A, Delaney K, Wissotski M, Lopez G, Campos D, Braidotti M, Ashley E, Golser W, Kim H, Lee S, Lin J, Dujmic Z, Kim W, Talag J, Zuccolo A, Fan C, Sebastian A, Kramer M, Spiegel L, Nascimento L, Zutavern T, Miller B, Ambroise C, Muller S, Spooner W, Narechania A, Ren L, Wei S, Kumari S, Faga B, Levy MJ, McMahan L, Van Buren P, Vaughn MW, Ying K, Yeh CT, Emrich SJ, Jia Y, Kalyanaraman A, Hsia AP, Barbazuk WB, Baucom RS, Brutnell TP, Carpita NC, Chaparro C, Chia JM,

- Deragon JM, Estill JC, Fu Y, Jeddeloh JA, Han Y, Lee H, Li P, Lisch DR, Liu S, Liu Z, Nagel DH, McCann MC, SanMiguel P, Myers AM, Nettleton D, Nguyen J, Penning BW, Ponnala L, Schneider KL, Schwartz DC, Sharma A, Soderlund C, Springer NM, Sun Q, Wang H, Waterman M, Westerman R, Wolfgruber TK, Yang L, Yu Y, Zhang L, Zhou S, Zhu Q, Bennetzen JL, Dawe RK, Jiang J, Jiang N, Presting GG, Wessler SR, Aluru S, Martienssen RA, Clifton SW, McCombie WR, Wing RA, Wilson RK (2009) The B73 maize genome: complexity, diversity, and dynamics. Science 326:1112–1115
- Shultz JL, Ray JD, Lightfoot DA (2007) A sequence based synteny map between soybean and *Arabidopsis thaliana*. BMC Genom 8:8
- Simillion C, Janssens K, Sterck L, Van de Peer Y (2008) i-ADHoRe 2.0: an improved tool to detect degenerated genomic homology using genomic profiles. Bioinformatics 24(1):127–128
- Singh R, Ong-Abdullah M, Low ET, Manaf MA, Rosli R, Nookiah R, Ooi LC, Ooi SE, Chan KL, Halim MA, Azizi N, Nagappan J, Bacher B, Lakey N, Smith SW, He D, Hogan M, Budiman MA, Lee EK, DeSalle R, Kudrna D, Goicoechea JL, Wing RA, Wilson RK, Fulton RS, Ordway JM, Martienssen RA, Sambanthamurthi R (2013) Oil palm genome sequence reveals divergence of interfertile species in old and new worlds. Nature 500:335–339
- Sinha AU, Meller J (2007) Cinteny: flexible analysis and visualization of synteny and genome rearrangements in multiple organisms. BMC Bioinform 8:82
- Sobral BWS, Braga DPV, LaHood ES, Keim P (1994) Phylogenetic analysis of chloroplast restriction enzyme site mutations in the Saccharinae griseb. subtribe of the Andropogoneae Dumort. tribe. Theor Appl Genet 87(7):843–853
- Soderlund C, Nelson W, Shoemaker A, Paterson A (2006) SyMAP: A system for discovering and viewing syntenic regions of FPC maps. Genome Res 16(9):1159–1168
- Soderlund C, Nelson W, Shoemaker A, Paterson A (2011) SyMAP v3.4: a turnkey syntemy system with application to plant genomes. Nucleic Acids Res 39(10):e68
- Soltis DE, Albert VA, Leebens-Mack J, Bell CD, Paterson AH, Zheng C, Sankoff D, Depamphilis CW, Wall PK, Soltis PS (2009) Polyploidy and angiosperm diversification. Am J Bot 96:336–348
- Srinivas G, Satish K, Murali Mohan S, Nagaraja Reddy R, Madhusudhana R, Balakrishna D, Venkatesh Bhat B, Howarth CJ, Seetharama N (2008) Development of genic-microsatellite markers for sorghum staygreen QTL using a comparative genomic approach with rice. Theor Appl Genet 117:283–296
- Srinivasachary Dida MM, Gale MD, Devos KM (2007) Comparative analyses reveal high levels of conserved colinearity between the finger millet and rice genomes. Theor Appl Genet 115:489–499
- Swigonova Z, Lai J, Ma J, Ramakrishna W, Llaca V, Bennetzen JL, Messing J (2004) Close split of sorghum and maize genome progenitors. Genome Res 14 (10):1916–1923
- Tang H, Wang X, Bowers JE, Ming R, Alam M, Paterson AH (2008a) Unraveling ancient hexaploidy through multiply-aligned angiosperm gene maps. Genome Res 18:1944–1954
- Tang H, Bowers JE, Wang X, Ming R, Alam M, Paterson AH (2008b) Synteny and collinearity in plant genomes. Science 320:486–488
- Tang H, Lyons E, Pedersen B, Schnable JC, Paterson AH, Freeling M (2011) Screening synteny blocks in pairwise genome comparisons through integer programming. BMC Bioinformatics 12:102
- Tang H, Cuevas HE, Das S, Sezen UU, Zhou C, Guo H, Goff VH, Ge Z, Clemente TE, Paterson AH (2013) Seed shattering in a wild sorghum is conferred by a locus unrelated to domestication. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 110(39):15824–15829
- The Arabidopsis Genome Initiative (2000) Analysis of the genome sequence of the flowering plant *Arabidopsis thaliana*. Nature 408:796–815
- The International Barley Genome Sequencing Consortium (2012) A physical, genetic and functional sequence assembly of the barley genome. Nature 491:711–716
- The International Brachypodium Initiative (2010) Genome sequencing and analysis of the model grass *Brachypodium distachyon*. Nature 463:763–768
- The International Wheat Genome Sequencing Consortium (2014) A chromosome-based draft sequence of the hexaploid bread wheat (*Triticum aestivum*) genome. 345(6194):1251788
- The Rice Chromosomes 11 and 12 Sequencing Consortia (2005) The sequence of rice chromosomes 11 and 12, rich in disease resistance genes and recent gene duplications. BMC Biol 3:20
- Timms L, Jimenez R, Chase M, Lavelle D, McHale L, Kozik A, Lai Z, Heesacker A, Knapp S, Rieseberg L, Michelmore R, Kesseli R (2006) Analyses of synteny between *Arabidopsis thaliana* and species in the Asteraceae reveal a complex network of small syntenic segments and major chromosomal rearrangements. Genetics 173:2227–2235
- Ureta-Vidal A, Ettwiller L, Birney E (2003) Comparative genomics: genomewide analysis in metazoan eukaryotes. Nat Rev Genet 4:251–262
- Vandepoele K, Saeys Y, Simillion C, Raes J, Van De Peer Y (2002) The automatic detection of homologous regions (ADHoRe) and its application to microcolinearity between Arabidopsis and rice. Genome Res 12:1792–1801
- Van de Peer Y, Maere S, Meyer A (2009) The evolutionary significance of ancient genome duplications. Nat Rev Genet 10:725–732
- Ventelon M, Deu M, Garsmeur O, Doligez A, Ghesquière A, Lorieux M, Rami JF, Glaszmann JC, Grivet L (2001) A direct comparison between the genetic maps of sorghum and rice. Theor Appl Genet 102:379–386
- Vergara C, Caraballo L, Mercado D, Jimenez S, Rojas W, Rafaels N, Hand T, Campbell M, Tsai YJ, Gao L, Duque C, Lopez S, Bedoya G, Ruiz-Linares A, Barnes KC (2009) African ancestry is associated with risk of asthma and high total serum IgE in a

population from the Caribbean Coast of Colombia. Hum Genet 125:565–579

- Vergara IA, Chen H (2010) Large synteny blocks revealed between *Caenorhabditis elegans* and *Caenorhabditis briggsae* genomes using OrthoCluster. BMC Genom 11:516
- Wang Z, Gerstein M, Snyder M (2009) RNA-Seq: a revolutionary tool for transcriptomics. Nat Rev Genet 10:57–63
- Wang H, Su Y, Mackey AJ, Kraemer ET, Kissinger JC (2006) SynView: a GBrowse-compatible approach to visualizing comparative genome data. Bioinformatics 22:2308–2309
- Wang XY, Shi XL, Hao BL, Ge S, Luo JC (2005) Duplication and DNA segmental loss in the rice genome: Implications for diploidization. New Phytol 165:937–946
- Wang J, Roe B, Macmil S, Yu Q, Murray JE, Tang H, Chen C, Najar F, Wiley G, Bowers J, Van Sluys MA, Rokhsar DS, Hudson ME, Moose SP, Paterson AH, Ming R (2010) Microcollinearity between autopolyploid sugarcane and diploid sorghum genomes. BMC Genom 11:261
- Wang X, Wang H, Wang J, Sun R, Wu J, Liu S, Bai Y, Mun JH, Bancroft I, Cheng F, Huang S, Li X, Hua W, Wang J, Wang X, Freeling M, Pires JC, Paterson AH, Chalhoub B, Wang B, Hayward A, Sharpe AG, Park BS, Weisshaar B, Liu B, Li B, Liu B, Tong C, Song C, Duran C, Peng C, Geng C, Koh C, Lin C, Edwards D, Mu D, Shen D, Soumpourou E, Li F, Fraser F, Conant G, Lassalle G, King GJ, Bonnema G, Tang H, Wang H, Belcram H, Zhou H, Hirakawa H, Abe H, Guo H, Wang H, Jin H, Parkin IA, Batley J, Kim JS, Just J, Li J, Xu J, Deng J, Kim JA, Li J, Yu J, Meng J, Wang J, Min J, Poulain J, Wang J, Hatakeyama K, Wu K, Wang L, Fang L, Trick M, Links MG, Zhao M, Jin M, Ramchiary N, Drou N, Berkman PJ, Cai Q, Huang Q, Li R, Tabata S, Cheng S, Zhang S, Zhang S, Huang S, Sato S, Sun S, Kwon SJ, Choi SR, Lee TH, Fan W, Zhao X, Tan X, Xu X, Wang Y, Qiu Y, Yin Y, Li Y, Du Y, Liao Y, Lim Y, Narusaka Y, Wang Y, Wang Z, Li Z, Wang Z, Xiong Z, Zhang Z; Brassica rapa Genome Sequencing Project Consortium (2011) The genome of the mesopolyploid crop species Brassica rapa. Nat Genet 43(10):1035-1039
- Wang Y, Tang H, Debarry JD, Tan X, Li J, Wang X, Lee TH, Jin H, Marler B, Guo H, Kissinger JC, Paterson AH (2012) MCScanX: a toolkit for detection and evolutionary analysis of gene synteny and collinearity. Nucleic Acids Res 40(7):e49
- Wei F, Coe E, Nelson W, Bharti AK, Engler F, Butler E, Kim H, Goicoechea JL, Chen M, Lee S, Fuks G, Sanchez-Villeda H, Schroeder S, Fang Z, McMullen M, Davis G, Bowers JE, Paterson AH, Schaeffer M, Gardiner J, Cone K, Messing J, Soderlund C, Wing RA (2007) Physical and genetic structure of the maize genome reflects its complex evolutionary history. PLoS Genet 3(7):e123

- Wei F, Zhang J, Zhou S, He R, Schaeffer M, Collura K, Kudrna D, Faga BP, Wissotski M, Golser W, Rock SM, Graves TA, Fulton RS, Coe E, Schnable PS, Schwartz DC, Ware D, Clifton SW, Wilson RK, Wing RA (2009) The physical and genetic framework of the maize B73 genome. PLoS Genet 5(11): e1000715
- Wei L, Liu Y, Dubchak I, Shon J, Park J (2002) Comparative genomics approaches to study organism similarities and differences. J Biomed Inform 35 (2):142–150
- Whitkus R, Doebley J, Lee M (1992) Comparative genome mapping of sorghum and maize. Genetics 132:1119–1130
- Yu J, Wang J, Lin W, Li S, Li H, Zhou J, Ni P, Dong W, Hu S, Zeng C, Zhang J, Zhang Y, Li R, Xu Z, Li S, Li X, Zheng H, Cong L, Lin L, Yin J, Geng J, Li G, Shi J, Liu J, Lv H, Li J, Wang J, Deng Y, Ran L, Shi X, Wang X, Wu Q, Li C, Ren X, Wang J, Wang X, Li D, Liu D, Zhang X, Ji Z, Zhao W, Sun Y, Zhang Z, Bao J, Han Y, Dong L, Ji J, Chen P, Wu S, Liu J, Xiao Y, Bu D, Tan J, Yang L, Ye C, Zhang J, Xu J, Zhou Y, Yu Y, Zhang B, Zhuang S, Wei H, Liu B, Lei M, Yu H, Li Y, Xu H, Wei S, He X, Fang L, Zhang Z, Zhang Y, Huang X, Su Z, Tong W, Li J, Tong Z, Li S, Ye J, Wang L, Fang L, Lei T, Chen C, Chen H, Xu Z, Li H, Huang H, Zhang F, Xu H, Li N, Zhao C, Li S, Dong L, Huang Y, Li L, Xi Y, Qi Q, Li W, Zhang B, Hu W, Zhang Y, Tian X, Jiao Y, Liang X, Jin J, Gao L, Zheng W, Hao B, Liu S,

Wang W, Yuan L, Cao M, McDermott J, Samudrala R, Wang J, Wong GK, Yang H (2005) The genomes of *Oryza sativa*: a history of duplications. PLoS Biol 3: e38

- Zeng X, Pei J, Vergara IA, Nesbitt MJ, Wang K, Chen N (2008) OrthoCluster: A new tool for mining syntenic blocks and applications in comparative genomics. In: Proceedings of the 11th international conferences on extending database technology (EDBT'08), Nantes, France, 25–30 March 2008
- Zhang W, Lee HR, Koo DH, Jiang J (2008) Epigenetic modification of centromeric chromatin: hypomethylation of DNA sequences in the CENH3-associated chromatin in *Arabidopsis thaliana* and maize. Plant Cell 20:25–34
- Zhang G, Liu X, Quan Z, Cheng S, Xu X, Pan S, Xie M, Zeng P, Yue Z, Wang W, Tao Y, Bian C, Han C, Xia Q, Peng X, Cao R, Yang X, Zhan D, Hu J, Zhang Y, Li H, Li H, Li N, Wang J, Wang C, Wang R, Guo T, Cai Y, Liu C, Xiang H, Shi Q, Huang P, Chen Q, Li Y, Wang J, Zhao Z, Wang J (2012) Genome sequence of foxtail millet (*Setaria italica*) provides insights into grass evolution and biofuel potential. Nat Biotechnol 30:549–554
- Zhu H, Kim DJ, Baek JM, Choi HK, Ellis LC, Kuester H, McCombie WR, Peng HM, Cook DR (2003) Syntenic relationships between *Medicago truncatula* and *Arabidopsis* reveal extensive divergence of genome organization. Plant Physiol 131:1018–1026

Association Mapping and Genomic Selection—Where Does Sorghum Stand?

7

Pawan L. Kulwal

Abstract

Sorghum is cultivated as a staple cereal crop in the semi-arid regions of the world. Because of its drought-tolerance ability and high biomass production, it is preferred over other crops for fodder production. In addition to its use as fodder, it is also being used as a bioenergy crop as well as a sugar crop in sweet sorghum. In the last few years, because of advances in genomic techniques, large numbers of molecular markers have been developed in sorghum, which has enabled identification of several quantitative trait loci (QTLs) for various traits using different biparental mapping populations. However, deployment of these identified QTLs in a sorghum improvement program is still lacking as the genetic background in which they were identified does not always represent the breeding program. In recent years the newer approaches of quantitative genetics including association mapping (AM) and genomic selection (GS) has not only facilitated identification of QTLs in diverse genetic backgrounds but also the utilization of all these QTLs in genomic prediction in many crops. This has become possible due to the advancements in the area of computational biology. However, despite the availability of large genomic resources, the progress made in terms of numbers of studies related to AM and GS in sorghum are few, which is in contrast to the situation in other crops such as maize, wheat, and rice. This offers the opportunity for the application of these techniques in a sorghum improvement program. The progress made thus far and the scope available for the use of these two approaches in sorghum is discussed in detail in this chapter.

1 Introduction

Over the years, identification of loci controlling quantitative traits (QTLs) in a biparental mapping population and deployment of the QTLlinked marker(s) for use in marker-assisted

P.L. Kulwal (🖂)

State Level Biotechnology Centre, Mahatma Phule Agricultural University, Rahuri 413 722, MS, India e-mail: pawankulwal@gmail.com

selection (MAS) has been a common practice in crop improvement programs in crops including sorghum. Large numbers of QTLs for various traits have been identified in sorghum in different genetic backgrounds using this approach (Zou et al. 2013; Reddy et al. 2014; Wang et al. 2014) and some of these major QTLs and linked markers have also been used successfully in sorghum improvement (Franks and Mayor 2014; Mohamed et al. 2014). Further details about QTL mapping are available in earlier chapters. However, in the era of genomics the newer approaches of quantitative genetics including association mapping (AM) and genomic selection (GS) are becoming an integral part not only of animal breeding, but also in plants as well (Kulwal et al. 2012a). This has been made possible with the availability of a large number of molecular markers and the advances in the high-throughput and cost-effective genotyping technologies as well as progress in the area of computational analysis. The progress of these techniques in different crops has been unprecedented. Both these approaches of AM and GS are being used in many cereals including wheat, maize, rice, barley, and many other crops and have offered new insights into the genetics of different traits of economic importance (Crossa et al. 2010; Kulwal et al. 2012b; Poland et al. 2012; Gupta et al. 2013; Bentey et al. 2014; Xu et al. 2014; Sallam et al. 2015). Although the draft genome sequence of this important crop was published in 2009 (Paterson et al. 2009) and also despite the availability of genomic resources (Mace et al. 2013), the pace of studies including AM in general and GS in particular did not progress much in this crop. This is in contrast to other cereals such as maize and wheat. With its relatively smaller, diploid, and completely sequenced genome, sorghum is highly amenable to genomics-based breeding approaches (Bekele et al. 2013). In this chapter, the status of the AM and GS studies in sorghum is reviewed and the future possibilities for use of these techniques are also discussed.

2 Association Mapping

Association mapping, also known as linkage disequilibrium (LD) mapping, is a method of marker-trait (phenotype-genotype) finding associations (MTA) based on historic recombinations. Because of its ability to use the natural diversity and to search for functional variation in a broader germplasm, AM is becoming popular over the commonly used biparental QTL mapping and has specific advantages over the latter. These advantages have been discussed and explained in greater detail in several review articles (Zhu et al. 2008; Gupta et al. 2014). Although well-planned AM studies have been carried out in many crop plants, the majority being in maize, there are not very many reports of these studies in a crop such as sorghum. The pace with which these studies are being conducted has gained momentum only in the last 5 years and several aspects of sorghum breeding including morphological traits, grain quality parameters, biochemical factors, and biotic and abiotic stress tolerance have been studied. Details of these studies are given in Table 1. The initial studies were mostly aimed at finding population structure and the genetic diversity in a set of sorghum germplasm (Caniato et al. 2011; Bouchet et al. 2012). Association mapping can be carried out following either the approach of whole-genome AM or the candidate gene (CG)based AM. The choice between these approaches depends upon the objective of the study as well as the genetic information available about the trait under study (Gupta et al. 2014). Both types of studies have been conducted in sorghum (Table 1).

2.1 Genomewide Association Mapping

Genomewide AM, also commonly called genomewide association study (GWAS), is often utilized when one is interested in finding all

Sr. No.	Trait	Lines used	Marker type	No. of markers used	Reference				
Genomewide studies									
1.	Eight morphological traits	377 diverse lines representing all major cultivated races	SSR	47	Casa et al. (2008)				
2.	Brix, plant height	Diverse panel of 125 sorghums (mostly sweet)	SSRs + SNPs	47 + 322	Murray et al. (2009)				
3.	26 morphological traits	107 accessions from 27 countries	SSR	98	Shehzad et al. (2009)				
4.	Saccharification yield	202 accessions from the mini-core collection	SSR	703	Wang et al. (2011)				
5.	Plant height, maturity	Mini-core collection of 242 accessions	SSR	703	Upadhyaya et al. (2012a)				
6.	Kernel weight, tiller number	Mini-core collection	SSR	43	Upadhyaya et al. (2012b)				
7.	Plant height	216 accessions of the mini-core collection	SSR	703	Wang et al. (2012)				
8.	Drought tolerance	151 accessions	SSR	39	Besufekad and Bantte (2013)				
9.	Sugar yield related traits	Synthetic population of 119 genotypes	SSR	51	Lv et al. (2013)				
10.	Plant height, maturity	Mini-core collection	SNPs	14,739	Upadhyaya et al. (2013a)				
11.	Anthracnose resistance	Mini-core collection	SNPs	14,739	Upadhyaya et al. (2013b)				
12.	Saccharification yield	Mini-core collection	SNPs	14,739	Wang et al. (2013)				
13.	Plant height components, inflorescence architecture	971 worldwide accessions	SNPs	265,487	Morris et al. (2013a)				
14.	Flavonoid pigmentation traits	336 diverse accessions	SNPs (GBS)	265,487	Morris et al. (2013b)				
15.	Grain polyphenol concentration	Global sorghum diversity panel of 381 genotypes	SNPs	404,628	Rhodes et al. (2014)				

 Table 1
 Details of genomewide association mapping studies carried out in sorghum

139

(continued)

Sr. No.	Trait	Lines used	Marker type	No. of markers used	Reference
Candida	te gene-based studies				
16.	Photoperiod flowering time	219 inbred accessions mainly of the guinea race	SNPs	In the region of 6 genes	Bhosale et al. (2012)
17.	Kernel hardness, kernel weight, kernel diameter, crude protein, fat, P, acid detergent fiber, starch, and total digestible nutrients	Diverse panel of 300 sorghum accessions	Genomewide SNPs	1290 (genome wide) + 333 (candidate gene based)	Sukumaran et al. (2012)
18.	Aluminum tolerance	209 accessions from the landrace + 45 inbred lines	SSR	38	Caniato et al. (2014)
19.	Brassinosteroid and plant architecture	Diverse sorghum collection of 315 accessions	SNPs	263	Mantilla Perez et al. (2014)

 Table 1 (continued)

genomic regions that may be involved in controlling the trait of interest (Gupta et al. 2014). Ideally, in any AM study, a set of diverse genotypes is chosen and genotyped with few unlinked markers (e.g., simple sequence repeat, SSR) from across the genome to find the existing population structure in the set of genotypes used. Knowledge of the underlying population structure can greatly help in reducing the number of spurious associations. In order to increase the suitability and efficiency of the set of genotypes representing diversity at the genotypic and phenotypic levels, community resources and mini-core collections have also been developed in sorghum for AM.

2.1.1 Community Resources and Mini-core Collection for Association Mapping in Sorghum

In one of the first attempts to develop a community resource for AM in sorghum, Casa et al. (2008) assembled a set of 377 sorghum accessions representing all major cultivated races comprising tropical lines from diverse geographic and climatic regions, and important US breeding lines and their progenitors showing substantial morphological variation. Based on the genotyping using 47 SSR marker loci, they reported that models accounting for population structure and kinship performed better than the model that did not (naïve approach). One of the interesting observations made in this study was that the optimal number of subpopulations used to correct for population structure was trait dependent. Similarly, an integrated genomic resource in the form of a nested association mapping (NAM) population was developed in sorghum by developing the backcross populations (BC1F4) derived from 56 different inbred lines (Jordan et al. 2011). Availability of a community resource as in the case of maize (NAM population) and sorghum as above are important for researchers (Mace et al. 2013) as one can use it to phenotype for any additional trait(s) in different environments and can use the available genotypic data to find the MTAs for the trait of interest. Although such community resources are valuable, they do not always represent the global diversity.

A total of more than 37,000 accessions are available in the ICRISAT sorghum genebank,

which offers the choice to select for the desired genotypes for analysis but at the same time makes it difficult to choose appropriately among them. To harness the maximum diversity among this huge set of genotypes, a core and a mini-core collection have also been developed (Upadhyaya et al. 2009). This mini-core collection (1 % of the entire collection) comprising 242 genotypes has been used extensively in the AM studies for various traits (Table 1). It is apparent that the same mini-core collection panel has been phenotyped for various traits and genotyped using different sets of markers, SSRs, and single nucleotide polymorphisms (SNPs) for performing the analysis (see later). Earlier, Dahlberg et al. (2004) also developed a core collection of 3011 accessions from a stock of over 40,000 sorghum accessions maintained at the US National Plant Germplasm System (NPGS). From this lot, a country-specific core collection of 352 accessions representing Sudan was also developed (Dahlberg et al. 2004).

2.1.2 Genomewide Association Mapping Using Mini-Core Collection

Wang et al. (2011) used 202 accessions from the mini-core collection to find significant MTAs for saccharification yield using the pool-based method wherein 703 SSR markers were first tested on the two contrasting pools (high and low) made by mixing DNA from eight genotypes having extreme values for the trait. The polymorphic markers between the pools were only used for genotyping the entire panel. Two markers, one each from chromosomes 2 and 4, were found associated with the trait. These two markers were located in the vicinity of the genes β -glucanase (Bg) and steroid-binding protein (Sbp). Saccharification is an important process in the production of biofuel and identification of significant markers associated with this trait is an important step towards improvement of this trait.

This pool-based method of AM has also been used in another study comprising the entire mini-core collection of 242 sorghum accessions along with the same set of 703 SSR markers as reported by Wang et al. (2011). Using these data, Upadhyaya et al. (2012a) identified a total of five markers associated with plant height and maturity following the pool-based method. The significant markers identified by them were previously reported to be linked with these two traits (plant height and maturity) in different genetic backgrounds. As sorghum is preferred for its fodder, which in turn is positively correlated to plant height and maturity, the results offer the possibility for utilization of these markers in a fodder improvement program. This pool-based two-stage method is simpler and faster and is a form of commonly used bulk segregant analysis (Michelmore et al. 1991). Using a much smaller set of 43 SSR markers and the mini-core collection, Upadhyaya et al. (2012b) identified one marker linked to kernel weight and two markers linked to tiller number in sorghum. Using the same set of 703 SSR markers and a total of 216 accessions of the mini-core collection as used by Upadhyaya et al. (2012a) for plant height, Wang et al. (2012) identified four markers associated with plant height on chromosomes 2, 6, and 9. Only two of the markers identified in this study are the same as reported by Upadhyaya et al. (2012a).

Making use of the same mini-core collection, Upadhyaya et al. (2013a) conducted another AM study for plant height and maturity using a total of 14,739 SNPs. In this study using six different models to evaluate the effects of population structure, a total of six loci linked to height and ten linked to maturity in at least two environments with at least two SNPs in each locus were identified. Of these 16 loci, 14 were present in close proximity to previously mapped height/ maturity QTL in sorghum. Using the same genotypic data, Upadhyaya et al. (2013b) performed AM for anthracnose resistance. Using the mixed linear model (MLM) approach, a total of eight loci linked to resistance for anthracnose were identified, seven of which were found in the vicinity of the disease-resistance genes including the NB-ARC class of R-genes on chromosome 10, hypersensitive response-related genes (autophagy-related protein 3 on chromosome 1 and 4 harpin-induced 1 (Hin1) homologues on chromosome 8), and a RAV

transcription factor (part of *R*-gene pathway), in addition to an oxysterol-binding protein that functions in the nonspecific host resistance, and homologues of menthone:neomethol reductase (MNR) that catalyzes a menthone reduction to produce the antimicrobial neomenthol. Anthracnose is considered to be one of the important destructive diseases of sorghum and the significant markers identified in this study can potentially be useful in offering anthracnose resistance in sorghum.

Later, Wang et al. (2013) used the same AM panel and the marker dataset as above for association analysis of saccharification yield in sorghum and identified seven marker loci that were associated with the trait. Five of these identified loci were syntenic with regions in the maize genome that contain QTLs underlying saccharification yield and cell wall component traits.

In almost all these whole-genome studies based on the mini-core collection, the identified significant SSR markers colocalized with the earlier identified QTLs as well as with the known candidate gene. Although the same mini-core collection with a varying number of genotypes was used in several studies, different numbers of QTLs were identified for the same trait (Table 1). This also explains the reason why AM is rather sensitive so that addition or exclusion of few genotypes from the mini-core collection results in identification of different significant markers. However, the markers, which were found to be consistently associated with the traits in different studies, can be used in the crop improvement program.

2.1.3 Genomewide Association Mapping Using Diverse Collection

In addition to mini-core collection, diverse collections have also been used for AM in sorghum. Sorghum is cultivated for its diversified uses including ethanol production. In order to confirm the major QTL for total stem sugar (Brix), or any of the QTLs for height previously identified in other genetic backgrounds, Murray et al. (2009) performed AM in a diverse panel of 125 sorghums, mostly comprising sweet sorghums. This diverse panel was genotyped with 47 SSRs and 322 SNPs. Three significant associations for height and one for Brix were detected. They also identified three major groupings within the sweet sorghum, each with multiple subgroupings. In another such attempt to identify QTLs for 26 different morphological traits, Shehzad et al. (2009) used a sorghum diversity research set of 107 sorghum accessions from Asia and Africa. Using 98 SSR markers and three different models of association analysis, a total of 14 significant loci were identified to be associated with 12 different traits. Use of different models/criteria to identify QTLs can be an efficient way to detect reliable associations in the genomewide association studies (Gupta et al. 2014).

Drought is considered to be an important yield-limiting factor in sorghum. In order to identify the chromosomal regions associated with drought tolerance, Besufekad and Bantte (2013) conducted an association study in a set of 151 sorghum accessions using 39 SSR markers. A total of four SSR markers were found to be consistently associated with days to 50 % flowering, panicle exsertion, and grain weight per panicle. All four markers were reported to be associated with these traits in other studies. However, details regarding how the drought condition was imposed and how these loci influence drought stress have not been described in this study. Similarly, using a smaller set of a population of 119 genotypes comprising sweet and grain sorghum from China, the United States, and India and a set of 51 SSR markers, Lv et al. (2013) performed AM for three sugar yield-related traits including stalk sugar concentration, fresh stalk weight, and stalk juice weight. Different degrees of LD were observed in different regions, which ranged up to 7.31 cM. They reported four loci to be associated with these three traits, two of which were common for fresh stalk weight and stalk juice weight. However, the method used by them was the general linear model (GLM) which has its own limitations and there are chances that some of these significant associations can be false positive.

A comprehensive study on whole-genome AM for plant height components and inflorescence architecture was published by Morris et al. (2013a), wherein a larger set of 971 worldwide accessions were genotyped using 265,487 SNPs generated following genotyping by sequencing (GBS). Several important loci for plant height and candidate gene for inflorescence architecture were mapped in the study. It was observed that sorghum has a complex population structure because of extensive ancient crop diffusion and can pose a challenge for conducting GWAS of agronomic traits. Using the subset of 336 accessions, another study was carried out on flavonoid pigmentation traits with the same set of markers (Morris et al. 2013b). It was found that for this trait GLMs could not precisely map tan1-a, a known loss-of-function allele of the Tannin1 gene, with either a small (n = 142) or large association panel (n = 336). It was also found that controlling for population structure either using the Q matrix in GLM or using MLM can identify the association. It was also observed that a compressed MLM performs worse than the naïve GLM (Morris et al. 2013b).

In a rather interesting study, Rhodes et al. (2014) quantified the natural variation of healthpromoting compounds including total phenols, proanthocyanidins, and 3-deoxyanthocyanidins in a global sorghum diversity panel of 381 genotypes. Of these, 308 accessions were from the Sorghum Association Panel (SAP) and an additional 73 accessions were selected based on the presence of pigmented testa using the US National Plant Germplasm System's Germplasm Resources Information Network. The GWAS study with 404,628 SNP markers identified novel QTLs (24 significant associations) for these traits, some of which colocalized with homologues of flavonoid pathway genes from other plants. This study is a comprehensive one as a large number of SNP markers were used and the identified QTLs were colocalized with the known genes.

From the whole-genome AM studies carried out in sorghum thus far (Table 1), it is observed that in the majority of these studies, either the number of markers used or the number of genotypes studied or both are very low, except for the studies employing a few thousand SNP markers. Moreover, in the majority of these studies, fewer SSR markers were used for analysis. Use of fewer genotypes and markers definitely influences the results of any AM study.

2.2 Candidate Gene-Based Association Mapping

In contrast to the whole-genome AM, where markers from across the genome are used to find the significant MTAs, candidate gene-based AM focuses on a particular gene to find the causal polymorphism. However, the major limitation with this approach is that in order to choose a potential candidate gene for study, researchers must already have an understanding of the mechanisms underlying the trait of interest. In recent years, candidate gene-based AM studies are preferred over the whole-genome studies because of their associated advantages (Gupta et al. 2014). Few candidate gene-based AM studies have been carried out in sorghum (Table 1).

Flowering time is a very important adaptive trait in any crop. In order to study the effect of polymorphisms within the genes putatively relavariation in flowering time on ted to photoperiod-sensitive flowering in sorghum, a total of six genes were studied in a set of 219 sorghum accessions mainly of the guinea race from West and Central Africa (Bhosale et al. 2012). These six genes include CRYPTO-CHROME1 and 2 (Cry1 and Cry 2), LATE ELONGATED HYPOCOTYL (LHY), GIGANTEA (GI), HEADING DATE 6 (HD6) and Dwarf8 (SbD8). Significant associations between several SNPs with photoperiod response index for the genes CRY1-b1 and GI were detected in this study. These significant markers could be utilized for development of functional markers for MAS in sorghum aimed at identifying genotypes having specific sensitivities to photoperiod.

Using the diverse panel of 300 sorghum accessions which included 251 lines from the sorghum conversion program as described by Casa et al. (2008) and 49 important breeding lines and their progenitor from the United States, Sukumaran et al. (2012) conducted both whole genome as well as candidate gene-based AM study for 10 different grain quality traits. Of the 333 SNPs from the candidate gene regions used, a total of eight significant MTAs were detected including one SNP each in genes, namely starch synthase *IIa* (*SSIIa*) and starch synthase *IIb* (*SSIIb*) for kernel hardness (KH) and starch content, respectively, whereas one SNP in loci *pSB1120* was associated with starch content.

Sorghum is primarily cultivated in the tropical and subtropical regions of the world and the soils of these regions are known to be acidic and have a higher concentration of aluminum (Al) causing aluminum toxicity. Therefore Al toxicity represents a major constraint for crop production worldwide leading to significant yield losses (Caniato et al. 2011). Using a set of 252 accessions comprising 209 landraces and 45 inbred lines that are frequently used in breeding programs in the United States and Brazil, Caniato et al. (2014) performed the CG-based AM in the 24.6 kb region of chromosome 3 where the Alt_{SB} locus conferring Al tolerance is located. The result suggested that LD in the Alt_{SB} locus decreased much faster than the one reported in earlier studies in sorghum. The analysis further suggested the recent origin of Al tolerance mutations within Alt_{SB}. Similarly, Mantilla Perez et al. (2014) used the candidate gene approach in a diverse sorghum collection of 315 accessions to assess MTAs between brassinosteroid (BR) biosynthesis and signaling genes and six plant architecture traits. Out of the total of 263 SNPs from 26 BR genes that were tested, 73 SNPs were associated significantly with the phenotypes of interest and 18 of these were associated with more than one trait.

Although candidate gene-based AM studies have been conducted in sorghum and offered information about the key genes involved in controlling these traits, more such studies for various other traits are needed to unravel the genetics of these traits for their further utilization in allele mining programs.

3 Genomic Selection

The identification of specific genomic regions for the trait of interest using any of the QTL mapping approaches (either biparental or GWAS) and the use of the marker, which is linked to the desired QTL, is an important part of a MAS program. However, over the years it was found that the majority of the identified QTLs either through biparental mapping population or in a set of germplasm explained a relatively small proportion of the genetic variation for a quantitative trait. This little variation for the trait of interest was not expected to result in a significant increase in the rate of genetic improvement (Nicholas 2006) and therefore MAS has been less effective than was initially thought in the crop and animal improvement programs (Hayes and Goddard 2010). The use of MAS in plant breeding mostly has been constrained to simple monogenic traits (Xu and Crouch 2008) and the current MAS methods are better suited for manipulating a few major-effect genes rather than many small-effect genes (Dekkers and Hospital 2002). However, in nature, the majority of the traits of economic importance including yield are polygenic in nature and show poor heritability.

The two important points that limit the successful application of MAS are (i) QTLs that are detected using biparental populations through interval mapping are relevant only for those breeding programs which involve parents that differ for the QTL thus detected and therefore their application in the breeding program involving broader germplasm is mostly limited (Gupta et al. 2014); and (ii) statistical methods used to identify target loci and implement MAS have been inadequate for improving polygenic traits (Heffner et al. 2009). Moreover, for identifying a QTL with sufficiently larger effect by way of increasing the size of the population is not always feasible owing to the higher cost of phenotyping. This makes it necessary to use an alternative approach where the information from a large number of genetic markers is used simultaneously in the breeding programs. This

potential application of genomewide genetic marker information was originally proposed by Meuwissen et al. (2001) for use in animal breeding.

Genomic selection (GS) is basically a form of MAS, albeit on a larger scale wherein effects of the marker across the entire genome are estimated simultaneously to calculate genomicestimated breeding values (GEBVs; Meuwissen et al. 2001). This is in contrast to the conventional MAS in which a relatively small number of genetic markers linked to the QTL are used in genetic evaluations. The GS involves calculating genomic-estimated breeding values (GEBVs) for a "breeding population" having only genotypic data based on a model that was trained from a "training population," having both genotypic and phenotypic data (Meuwissen et al. 2001). As the individuals from the breeding population are advanced based on the GEBVs, it is necessary to maximize the accuracy of the prediction, which in turn is positively influenced by the association of the training population with that of the selection candidates.

The technique of GS, which was originally proposed for use in livestock breeding (Meuwissen et al. 2001), does not depend on the prior knowledge of QTL effects. In other words, GS is different from MAS as in the latter case, only selected QTLs and the linked markers are used in the selection program. As all the markers are treated as QTLs, and the effect of all the markers is taken for calculating GEBVs, GS offers more promise than the MAS in plant breeding due to increased prediction accuracy of the models. The efficiency of predicting superior lines using GS is dependent upon several factors including the relationship between the training and the breeding populations, the number of generations that separate them, heritability of the trait(s), type and number of markers used, and the accuracy of phenotyping (Varshney et al. 2014).

The availability of thousands of genomewide molecular markers has made possible the use of GS for prediction of genetic values (GEBVs) in plants (e.g., Bernardo and Yu 2007; Piepho 2009; Crossa et al. 2010; Jannink et al. 2010). The results from the GS studies carried out thus far in different crops indicate that it can be an effective strategy for selecting among lines whose phenotypes have yet to be observed in the plant breeding programs. Based on these findings and the choice among different GS models, one can use the appropriate model for increasing the efficiency of the GS in sorghum breeding.

Empirical studies on GS carried out in important cereals such as maize and wheat have greatly facilitated the refinement of this technique for its successful application in crop improvement programs (Poland et al. 2012; Crossa et al. 2014; Lado et al. 2014). Although a lot of progress has been made in terms of genomic resources, computational tools involving the choice of appropriate model, reduction in the computational complexity of the analyses, minimum size of the training population, and other factors influencing GS (Desta and Ortiz 2014; Hickey et al. 2014), the progress of GS studies in sorghum is not encouraging. In fact there is no full-length published report thus far on GS in sorghum. This offers an opportunity for the use of GS in sorghum improvement, both in the public and private sectors. The approach of GS can potentially reshape the way plant breeding is being done by way of increasing genetic gains through appropriate prediction models thereby reducing the time required for the development of new cultivars through early selection. However, efforts are going on and some of them include: (i) in a recent study on GS for biomass traits a global collection of 976 sorghum accessions were genotyped using 0.72 million SNPs generated using GBS. Of this total collection, 300 most representative accessions were phenotyped for biomass-related traits and prediction models were established to predict the biomass-related traits of the remaining untested germplasm (Yu et al. 2014). As sorghum is cultivated for alternate uses including ethanol production, the study of biomass-related traits is an important aspect. More such studies are expected to yield better understanding of the prediction models to be used in the GS program in sorghum. There is no doubt that GS is a promising technique for crop improvement in the years to come and can revolutionize the way plant breeding is being practiced. This will be benefited immensely by the availability of the high-throughput phenomics platforms.

4 Conclusions

Sorghum is an important crop for the resource-poor farmers of the tropical and subtropical regions of the world. Because of its drought-tolerance ability and varying uses, it is preferred over several other crops by marginal farmers. A huge wealth of germplasm accessions is available in this crop and in order to harness the potential of maximum diversity, a set of core and mini-core collections as well as community resources are also available. The advances in the genomics approaches and the constantly decreasing genotyping costs accompanied with new computational tools have offered immense scope and opened new avenues for AM and GS to be practiced in sorghum in the coming years. Successful utilization of these techniques in other crops including maize and wheat offers a lot of scope for their use in public as well as private sector sorghum improvement programs. This will be benefited with the high-throughput phenotyping platforms. As sorghum is used for diversified purposes, there is no doubt that AM and GS are going to be used a great deal in the sorghum improvement program.

References

- Bekele WA, Wieckhorst S, Friedt W, Snowdon RJ (2013) High-throughput genomics in sorghum: from whole genome resequencing to a SNP screening array. Plant Biotechnol J 11:1112–1125
- Bentley AR, Scutari M, Gosman N, Faure S, Bedford F et al (2014) Applying association mapping and genomic selection to the dissection of key traits in elite European wheat. Theor Appl Genet 127:2619– 2633
- Bernardo R, Yu J (2007) Prospects for genomewide selection for quantitative trait in maize. Crop Sci 47:1082–1090

- Besufekad Y, Bantte K (2013) Evaluation and association mapping for drought tolerance in sorghum [Sorghum bicolor (L.) Moench]. Glob J Sci Front Res Agric Vet 13:49–54
- Bhosale SU, Stich B, Rattunde HFW, Weltzien E, Haussmann BIG et al (2012) Association analysis of photoperiodic flowering time genes in west and central African sorghum [Sorghum bicolor (L.) Moench]. BMC Plant Biol 12:32
- Bouchet S, Pot D, Deu M, Rami J-F, Billot C et al (2012) Genetic structure, linkage disequilibrium and signature of selection in sorghum: lessons from physically anchored DArT markers. PLoS ONE 7(3):e33470
- Caniato FF, Guimaraes CT, Hamblin M, Billot C, Rami J-F et al (2011) The relationship between population structure and aluminum tolerance in cultivated sorghum. PLoS ONE 6(6):e20830
- Caniato FF, Hamblin MT, Guimaraes CT, Zhang Z, Schaffert RE et al (2014) Association mapping provides insights into the origin and the fine structure of the sorghum aluminum tolerance locus, *Alt_{SB}*. PLoS ONE 9(1):e87438. doi:10.1371/journal.pone. 0087438
- Casa AM, Pressoir G, Brown PJ, Mitchell SE, Rooney WL, Tuinstra MR, Franks CD, Kresovich S (2008) Community resources and strategies for association mapping in sorghum. Crop Sci 48:30–40
- Crossa J, Campos de Los G, Perez P, Gianola D, Burgueno J, et al. (2010) Prediction of genetic values of quantitative traits in plant breeding using pedigree and molecular markers. Genetics 186:713–724
- Crossa J, Perez P, Hickey J, Burgueno J, Ornella L, Ceron-Rojas J, Zhang X, Dreisigacker S, Babu R, Li Y, Bonnett D, Mathews K (2014) Genomic prediction in CIMMYT maize and wheat breeding programs. Heredity 112:48–60
- Dahlberg JA, Burke JJ, Rosenow DT (2004) Development of a sorghum core collection: refinement and evaluation of a subset from Sudan. Econ Bot 58:556–567
- Dekkers JCM, Hospital F (2002) The use of molecular genetics in the improvement of agricultural populations. Nat Rev Genet 3:22–32
- Desta ZA, Ortiz R (2014) Genomic selection: genome wide prediction in plant improvement. Trends Plant Sci 19:592–601
- Franks CD, Mayor MLM (2014) Molecular breeding. In: Wang Y-H, Upadhyaya HD, Kole C (eds) Genetics, genomics and breeding of sorghum. CRC Press, Boca Raton (USA), London (UK), New York (USA), pp 169–181
- Gupta PK, Kulwal PL, Mir RR (2013) QTL mapping: methodology and applications in cereal breeding. In: Gupta PK, Varshney RK (eds) Cereal genomics II. Springer, Dordrecht, The Netherlands, pp 275–318
- Gupta PK, Kulwal PL, Jaiswal V (2014) Association mapping in crop plants: opportunities and challenges. Adv Genet 85:109–147

- Hayes B, Goddard ME (2010) Genome-wide association and genomic selection in animal breeding. Genome 53:876–883
- Heffner EL, Sorrells ME, Jannink J-L (2009) Genomic selection for crop improvement. Crop Sci 49:1–12
- Hickey JM, Dreisigacker S, Crossa J, Hearne S, Babu R et al (2014) Evaluation of genomic selection training population designs and genotyping strategies in plant breeding programs using simulation. Crop Sci 54:1476–1488
- Jannink J-L, Lorenz AJ, Iwata H (2010) Genomic selection in plant breeding: from theory to practice. Brief Funct Genom 9:166–177
- Jordan DR, Maceb ES, Cruickshank AW, Hunt CH, Henzell RG (2011) Exploring and exploiting genetic variation from unadapted sorghum germplasm in a breeding program. Crop Sci 51:1444–1457
- Kulwal PL, Mahendar T, Varshney RK (2012a) Genomics interventions in crop breeding for sustainable agriculture. Encyclo Sustain Sci Technol 1:2527–2540
- Kulwal P, Ishikawa G, Benscher D, Feng Z, Yu L-X, Jadhav A, Mehetre S, Sorrells ME (2012b) Association mapping for pre-harvest sprouting resistance in white winter wheat. Theor Appl Genet 125:793–805
- Lado B, Matus I, Rodríguez A, Inostroza L, Poland J, Belzile F, del Pozo A, Quincke M, von Zitzewitz J (2014) Increased genomic prediction accuracy in wheat breeding through spatial adjustment of field trial data. G3: genes genomes genet. doi:10.1534/g3. 113.007807
- Lv P, Ji G, Han Y, Hou S, Li S, Ma X, Du R, Liu G (2013) Association analysis of sugar yield-related traits in sorghum [Sorghum bicolor (L.)]. Euphytica 193:419–431
- Mace ES, Tai S, Gilding EK, Li Y, Prentis PJ et al (2013) Whole-genome sequencing reveals untapped genetic potential in Africa's indigenous cereal crop sorghum. Nat Commun 4:2320. doi:10.1038/ncomms3320
- Mantilla Perez MB, Zhao J, Yin Y, Hu J, Salas Fernandez MG (2014) Association mapping of brassinosteroid candidate genes and plant architecture in a diverse panel of *Sorghum bicolor*. Theor Appl Genet 127:2645–2662
- Meuwissen THE, Hayes BJ, Goddard ME (2001) Prediction of total genetic values using genome-wide dense marker maps. Genetics 157:1819–1829
- Michelmore WR, Paran I, Kesseli RV (1991) Identification of marker linked to disease resistance genes by bulked segregant analysis, a rapid method to detect the markers in specific genetic region by using the segregating population. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 88:9828–9983
- Mohamed A, Ali R, Elhassan O, Suliman E, Mugoya C, Masiga CW, Elhusien A, Hash CT (2014) First products of DNA marker-assisted selection in sorghum released for cultivation by farmers in sub-Saharan Africa. J Plant Sci Mol Breed 3. doi:10. 7243/2050-2389-3-3
- Morris GP, Ramu P, Deshpande SP, Hash CT, Shah T, Upadhyaya HD, Lizarazu OR, Brown PJ,

Acharya CB, Mitchell SE, Harriman J, Glaubitz JC, Buckler ES, Kresovich S (2013a) Population genomic and genome-wide association studies of agroclimatic traits in sorghum. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 110:453–458

- Morris GP, Rhodes DH, Brenton Z, Ramu P, Thayil VM, Deshpande S, Hash CT, Acharya C, Mitchell SE, Buckler ES, Yu J, Kresovich S (2013b) Dissecting genome-wide association signals for loss-of-function phenotypes in sorghum flavonoid pigmentation traits. G3: genes genomes genet 3:2085–2094
- Murray SC, Rooney WL, Hamblin MT, Mitchell SE, Kresovich S (2009) Sweet sorghum genetic diversity and association mapping for brix and height. Plant Genome 2:48–62
- Nicholas FW (2006) Discovery, validation and delivery of DNA markers. Aust J Exp Agri 46:155–158
- Paterson AH, Bowers JE, Bruggmann R, Dubchak I, Grimwood J et al (2009) The sorghum bicolor genome and the diversification of grasses. Nature 457:551–556
- Piepho HP (2009) Ridge regression and extensions for genome wide selection in maize. Crop Sci 49:1165– 1176
- Poland J, Endelman J, Dawson J, Rutkoski J et al (2012) Genomic selection in wheat breeding using genotyping-by-sequencing. Plant Genome 5:103–113
- Reddy NRR, Madhusudhana R, Murali Mohan S, Seetharama N, Patil JV (2014) Detection and validation of stay-green QTL in post-rainy sorghum involving widely adapted cultivar, M35-1 and a popular stay-green genotype B35. BMC Genom 15:909
- Rhodes DH, Hoffmann L Jr, Rooney WL, Ramu P, Morris GP, Kresovich S (2014) Genome-wide association study of grain polyphenol concentrations in global sorghum [Sorghum bicolor (L.) Moench] germplasm. J Agric Food Chem 62:10916–10927
- Sallam AH, Endelman JB, Jannink J-L, Smith KP (2015) Assessing genomic selection prediction accuracy in a dynamic barley breeding population. Plant genome 8. doi:10.3835/plantgenome2014.05.0020
- Shehzad T, Iwata H, Okuno K (2009) Genome-wide association mapping of quantitative traits in sorghum (Sorghum bicolor (L.) Moench) by using multiple models. Breed Sci 59:217–227
- Sukumaran S, Xiang W, Bean SR, Pedersen JF, Kresovich S, Tuinstra MR, Tesso TT, Hamblin MT, Yu J (2012) Association mapping for grain quality in a diverse sorghum collection. Plant Genome 5:126–135
- Upadhyaya HD, Pundir RPS, Dwivedi SL, Gowda CLL, Reddy VG, Singh S (2009) Developing a mini core collection of sorghum for diversified utilization of germplasm. Crop Sci 49:1769–1780
- Upadhyaya HD, Wang Y-H, Sharma S, Singh S (2012a) Association mapping of height and maturity across five environments using the sorghum mini core collection. Genome 55:471–479
- Upadhyaya HD, Wang Y-H, Sharma S, Singh S, Hasenstein KH (2012b) SSR markers linked to kernel weight and tiller number in sorghum identified by association mapping. Euphytica 187:401–410

- Upadhyaya HD, Wang Y-H, Gowda CLL, Sharma S (2013a) Association mapping of maturity and plant height using SNP markers with the sorghum mini core collection. Theor Appl Genet 126:2003–2015
- Upadhyaya HD, Wang Y-H, Sharma R, Sharma S (2013b) Identification of genetic markers linked to anthracnose resistance in sorghum using association analysis. Theor Appl Genet 126:1649–1657
- Varshney RK, Terauchi R, McCouch SR (2014) Harvesting the promising fruits of genomics: applying genome sequencing technologies to crop breeding. PLoS Biol 12(6):e1001883
- Wang Y-H, Poudel DD, Hasenstein KH (2011) Identification of SSR markers associated with saccharification yield using pool-based genome-wide association mapping in sorghum. Genome 54:883–889
- Wang Y-H, Bible P, Loganantharaj R, Upadhyaya HD (2012) Identification of SSR markers associated with height using pool-based genome-wide association mapping in sorghum. Mol Breed 30:281–292
- Wang Y-H, Acharya A, Burrell AM, Klein RR, Klein PE, Hasenstein KH (2013) Mapping and candidate genes associated with saccharification yield in sorghum. Genome 56:659–665
- Wang Y-H, Burow GB, Burke JJ (2014) Genetic mapping of abiotic stress responses in sorghum. In: Wang Y-H,

Upadhyaya HD, Kole C (eds) Genetics, genomics and breeding of sorghum. CRC Press, Boca Raton (USA), London (UK), New York (USA), pp 182–197

- Xu Y, Crouch JH (2008) Marker-assisted selection in plant breeding: from publications to practice. Crop Sci 48:391–407
- Xu S, Zhu D, ZhangQ (2014) Predicting hybrid performance in rice using genomic best linear unbiased prediction. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 111:12456– 12461
- Yu X, Li X, Wu Y, Mitchell SE, Roozeboom KL, Wang D, Bernardo R, Wang M, Pederson GA, Tesso TT, Yu J (2014) Genomic selection of biomass traits in a global collection of 976 sorghum accessions. In: Proceedings of the international plant and animal genome conference XXII, San Diego, CA, USA, p 011
- Zhu C, Gore M, Buckler ES, Yu J (2008) Status and prospects of association mapping in plants. Plant Genome 1:5–20
- Zou G, Zhai G, Feng Q, Yan S, Wang A, Zhao Q, Shao J, Zhang Z, Zou J, Han B, Tao Y (2012) Identification of QTLs for eight agronomically important traits using an ultra-high-density map based on SNPs generated from high-throughput sequencing in sorghum under contrasting photoperiods. J Exp Bot. doi:10.1093/jxb/ ers205

Genomics Approaches to Biotic Stress Resistance

Guoqing Liu, Yucui Han, Yanmiao Jiang, Yueying Wang, Peng Lv and Haiquan Li

Abstract

Sorghum productivity around the world is influenced by a wide array of biotic and abiotic constraints, some of which cause significant economic losses. Great efforts have been made in the past to improve plant resistance to biotic stresses such as insect pests, diseases, and parasitic weeds through breeding and genetic engineering. However, limited success has been achieved owing to the genetic complexity of stress responses. The application of marker-assisted breeding and transgenics will help to address this challenge more effectively. Genomic approaches such as high-throughput sequencing and large-scale genotyping technologies have been used in germplasm diversity analysis, genetic linkage mapping, association studies, and marker-assisted selection to improve sorghum biotic stress resistance. This chapter presents genomics-assisted methods that have helped in understanding diversity in sorghum germplasm resources and resistance against major insect pests, diseases, and parasitic weeds. Furthermore, the chapter deals with the progress in identification and deployment of gene and quantitative trait locus (QTL) for biotic stress resistance.

Y. Wang

Sorghum is affected by various biotic factors including insect pests, diseases, and parasitic weeds. Nearly 150 species of insect pests have been reported in sorghum, of which sorghum shoot-fly (*Atherigona soccata*), aphids (*Melanaphis sacchari*, *Melanaphis sacchari*, and *Rhopalosiphum maidis*), and sorghum midge (*Stenodiplosis sorghicola*) are the major pests worldwide. The pest management systems rely on an array of different control approaches:

G. Liu $(\boxtimes) \cdot Y$. Han $\cdot Y$. Jiang $\cdot P$. Lv \cdot H. Li Institute of Millet Crops, Hebei Academy of Agricultural & Forestry Sciences/Key Laboratory of Minor Crops in Hebei, Shijiazhuang 050035, Hebei, China

e-mail: guoqingliu@hotmail.com

College of Life Sciences, Agricultural University of Hebei, Baoding 071001, Hebei, China

¹ Introduction

 $[\]ensuremath{\mathbb{C}}$ Springer International Publishing AG 2016

S. Rakshit and Y.-H. Wang (eds.), *The Sorghum Genome*, Compendium of Plant Genomes, DOI 10.1007/978-3-319-47789-3_8

genetic, physical, chemical, cultural, and biological, among others. Diseases either alone or in combination cause significant economic losses annually (Thakur et al. 2011). The most important diseases affecting sorghum productivity

annually (Thakur et al. 2011). The most important diseases affecting sorghum productivity around the world are the grain molds, downy mildew (Peronosclerospora sorghi), and sorghum rust (Puccinia purpurea). Among the parasitic weeds, Striga spp. is the most limiting biotic constraint for sorghum production throughout most of Africa. Yield losses due to Striga might reach up to 100 % in heavily infested soils. Striga management is difficult, although a number of control measures such as crop rotation, intercropping, transplanting, soil and water management, and hand weeding have been suggested. Host-plant resistance has been an effective means to manage the biotic constraints reducing yield losses in sorghum.

2 Host-Plant Resistance to Insect Pests

2.1 Aphids

The family Aphididae comprises more than 4300 species, all of which are specialized to feed on phloem sap. Aphids feed specifically from the sieve element and cause damage by draining plant nutrients. They also are major vectors of plant viruses. They are crucial agricultural pests injuring nearly all cultivated crops, and almost every major crop is a host for at least one aphid species, some of which are among the world's most serious agricultural pests (Goggin 2007). Greenbug (*Schizaphis graminum*), sorghum aphid (*Melanaphis sacchari*), and corn leaf aphid (*Rhopalosiphum maidis*) are the predominant aphid species damaging sorghum growth.

Greenbug is the most predominant insect pest in the sorghum fields and causes significant loss of the crop worldwide. It sucks juice from and injects toxins into sorghum plant tissues and consequently causes damage to the plants. As a result of adaptation, various biotypes of greenbugs have evolved, and four greenbug biotypes (C, E, I, and K) have been identified as damaging sorghum (Katsar et al. 2002). Among these, biotype I is of economic importance because it causes significant losses in sorghum yield (Harvey et al. 1991; Teetes and Pendleton 2000). Host-plant resistance has been proven as one of the most effective means of managing greenbug. Considerable progress has been made in screening for resistance to greenbugs. Some germplasm materials resistant to greenbug have been identified, of which 43 were resistant to biotype I (Andrews et al. 1993; Katsar et al. 2002; Huang 2006; Wu et al. 2006; Dogramaci et al. 2007; Peterson et al. 2009), 15 were resistant to biotype E (Johnson et al. 1981; Porter et al. 1982; Dixon et al. 1990; Dogramaci et al. 2007), 11 to biotype C (Schuster and Starks 1973; Araya 2001), and one to biotype K (Katsar et al. 2002) with different resistance mechanisms including antixenosis, antibiosis, and tolerance. Recently, the development of new genomic tools such as genome sequencing, quantitative trait locus (QTL) mapping, DNA microarrays, RNA-sequencing, real-time PCR, protein expression profiling, and bioinformatics allow more indepth knowledge about the genetics of host defense and mechanisms involved in host-plant resistance to insect pests (Huang 2014). To date, six independent QTL mapping experiments have been conducted in sorghum to identify greenbug resistance to four different biotypes (Table 1; Agrama et al. 2002; Katsar et al. 2002; Nagaraj et al. 2005; Wu et al. 2007; Wu and Huang 2008; Punnuri et al. 2013). Some major QTLs from different resistance sources accounting for approximately or above 30 % of the phenotypic variation for the resistance to greenbug have been identified. Of these, a QTL designated as SbAGA01 from resistant source GBIK accounted for 29.1 and 38.4 % of the observed genetic variation in sorghum resistant to greenbug biotypes I and K, respectively (Agrama et al. 2002). Katsar et al. (2002) reported one to three QTL(s) expressing resistance to greenbug biotype E in each resistant source Tx2783. The QTLs on SBI-09 and SBI-08 accounted for 41 and 49 % of the variation, respectively. PI 550607, another strong resistance source, contained a QTL on SBI-09 accounting for 26 % of the total resistance to greenbug biotype E. A QTL derived from the sorghum accession PI

Combination	Population and size	Biotype	Gene symbol	Chr.	Linked marker	PVE (%)	Reference
PI550610/Westland	F ₂ , 277	I	QSsgr-09-01	SBI-09	Xtxp289, Xtxp358	54.5-80.3	Wu and Huang
Α			QSsgr-09-02	SBI-09	Xtxp67–Xtxp230	1.3-5.9	(2008)
GBIK/Redlan	RIL, 93	I, K		SBI-01	B18-885	5.6-38.4	Agrama et al.
				SBI-02	OPC01-880		(2002)
				SBI-03	Sb5-214		
				SBI-04	Sb1-10		
				SBI-09	SbAGB03		
				SBI-09	Sb6-84		
				SBI-10	SBAGA01		
				SBI-05	OPA08-1150		
				SBI-05	OPB12-795		
96-4121/Redlan	RILs, 88	I, K	VIS-GBK1	SBI-04	Xtxp12	9–19.6	Nagaraj et al.
			VIS-GBK2	SBI-04	Xcup20		(2005)
			VIS-GBK5	SBI-05	Xtxp335	-	
			VIS-GB18	SBI-04	Sb1-10	-	
			SPA-I2	SBI-05	Xtxp43	-	
			SPA-I2	SBI-05	Xtxp85	-	
			SPA-K2	SBI-05	Xtxp335	_	
			SPA-K2	SBI-05	Xtxp204		
BTx623/S. propinquum	F ₃ , 370	N/A	Ssg1	SBI-09	pSB347	4.58-78.74	Katsar et al. (2002)
Tx2737/BTx623	F ₃ , 489	С	Ssg2	SBI-08	CSU030		
Tx2783/IS7173C	F ₃ , 203	С, Е	Ssg3	SBI-05	pSB089, pSB262		
RTx430/PI550607	F ₃ , 195	C, E, I,	Ssg4	SBI-03	pSB443		
		K	Ssg5	SBI-04	pSB107	-	
			Ssg6	SBI-10	RZ144	-	
			Ssg7	SBI-06	pSB314		
			Ssg8	SBI-07	BCD98		
			Ssg9	SBI-08	CD0580		
PI550610/Weatland A	F _{2:3} , 233	Е		SBI-09	Xtxp358, Xtxp289	58.5-84.8	Wu et al. (2007)
PI607900/BTx623	F ₂ , 371	I	Qstsgr- sbi09ii	SBI-09	Starssbem286– Starssbnm93	39.8	Punnuri et al. (2013)
			Qstsgr- sbi09iii	SBI-09	Starssbem298– Starssbnm102	34.7	-
			Qstsgr- sbi09i	SBI-09	Starssbnm93– Starssbem296	64.7-82.4	1
			Qstsgr- sbi09iv	SBI-09	Starssbnm78– Starssbnm81	17.3–17.6	-
				SBI03B	Xtxp16– Starssbem162	1	
				SBI03B	Starssbem162– Starssbem265	1.3	

 Table 1
 Identified QTLs resistant to greenbug

550610, QSsgr-09-01, accounting for approximately 55-80 % of the phenotypic variation for the resistance to greenbug biotype I was identified by Wu and Huang (2008). A major QTL derived from PI 550610 (resistant to greenbug biotype E) on SBI-09 has been identified. The major QTL accounted for 58.5, 78.1, 83.8, and 84.8 % of the observed variation in resistance to greenbug biotype E measured at 7, 12, 17, and 21 days after infestation, respectively (Wu et al. 2007). Four major QTLs on chromosome 9 from PI 607900 resistant to greenbug biotype I were identified. These QTLs collectively accounted for 34.7-82.4 % of the phenotypic variance in greenbug resistance. Among them Qstsgr-sbi09i could explain 64.7, 67.0, and 82.4 % of the resistance variation at 10, 14, and 21 days, respectively. Another two major QTLs, sbi09ii and sbi09iii, could explain 39.8 and 34.7 % phenotypic variance, respectively, after seven days infestation (Punnuri et al. 2013). The above R-QTL linked markers are useful to screen more resistant genotypes. Furthermore, the markers tagged to QTL regions can be used to enhance the sorghum breeding program for greenbug resistance through marker-assisted selection (MAS) and map-based cloning (MBC).

Sorghum aphid or sugarcane aphid is another major insect pest causing serious damage to sorghum and sugarcane (Van den Berg 2002; Singh et al. 2004; Wei et al. 2016). Various sources of M. sacchari resistance in sorghum have been identified including germplasm accessions (38), parental A/B-lines (27) and R-lines (29), and agronomic elite lines/ experimental varieties (69) from all over the world (Singh et al. 2004). Approximately 5000 varieties were screened by artificial inoculation for aphid tolerance in China. Five accessions, 5-27, Niangaoliang, Daluochui gaoliang, Jinsuigaoliang, and Hongkesanma showed some resistance to aphids (Lu and Dahlberg 2001). Recently, Armstrong et al. (2015) reported some newly identified resistant sources that could be utilized in breeding programs that develop agronomically acceptable sorghums. Unlike the biotype differentiation of greenbug, M. sacchari is distributed worldwide, and has one of the lowest known rates of genetic diversity. There is no significant differentiation identified in China (Li et al. 2014) and worldwide (Nibouche et al. 2014).

Recently a dominant gene (*RMES1*) conferring resistance to *M. sacchari* has been found in a grain sorghum variety Henong 16 (HN16). It resided between two markers *Sb6m2650* and *Sb6rj2776* on SBI-06, which delimited a chromosomal region of about 126 kb containing five predicted genes (Wang et al. 2013). The nearest flanking markers (*Sb6rj2776* and *Sb6m2650*) being 1 and 2 cM, respectively, away from *RMES1*, could accelerate the use of this important gene in MAS for breeding *M. sacchari* resistance in sorghum and should finally lead to gene isolation by MBC.

Corn leaf aphid, R. maidis, is a frequent problem on sorghum at the harvesting stage, a time when chemical control is very difficult and uneconomical. Both nymphs and adults suck the plant sap and cause yellowish mottling of the leaves. A high population of aphids covering the panicle and surrounding leaves can reduce grain filling. Additionally, corn leaf aphid can transmit damaging plant mosaic and dwarf viruses that can cause yield losses (Singh and Grewal 1999; Hemmati and Abbasi 2000). Sorghum genotypes with resistance to aphids would be an extremely valuable way to control this pest. To date, 47 sorghum germplasm accessions resistant to corn leaf aphid have been identified from Sudan, Iran, Argentina, the United States, and India (Pathak and Painter 1958; Gahukar 1993; Singh and Grewal 1999; Hemmati and Abbasi 2000; Fonseca et al. 2005).

Thus far there has been no systemic study to investigate the genetic model or molecular mechanism underlying corn leaf aphid resistance in sorghum. In maize, some studies revealed that aphid resistance was recessive. Two resistance loci, *aph* on maize chromosome 10 (Coe et al. 1988; So et al. 2010) and *aph2* on the short arm of chromosome 2 (Lu and Brewbaker 1999), have been identified. Recently two QTLs have been found on maize chromosomes 4 and 6, respectively, and at least two separate defense mechanisms accounting for the higher level of corn leaf aphid resistance were proposed (Betsiashvili et al. 2015).

2.2 Shoot-Fly

Sorghum shoot-fly, Atherigona soccata, is one of the major insect pests of sorghum grown in Africa, Asia, and Mediterranean Europe. In India, the losses due to damage by the sorghum shoot-fly have been estimated to be as high as 90 % of grain and 45 % of fodder yield (Sukhani and Jotwani 1980). Shoot-fly infests sorghum seedlings from 7 days after emergence (DAE) to 30 DAE. Female shoot-fly has just a 30-day life span and lays eggs on the third to sixth basal leaves parallel to the leafmidrib. The egg hatches into a maggot in 1-2 days; then the maggot enters the central leafwhorl of the seedling where it makes an incision on the central leaf. The maggot cuts the seedling growing point, and feeds on the decaying tissue of the central whorl, which causes desiccation and death of the whorl leaf, and forms a typical deadheart (Riyazaddin et al. 2015).

Shoot-fly resistance in sorghum was classified into three components including antixenosis for oviposition, antibiosis, and tolerance. Some morphological, biochemical, and genetic factors including seedling leafblade glossiness, seedling leafblade trichome density, seedling vigor, and leafsheath pigmentation are positively associated with shoot-fly resistance (Tarumoto 2005). Deadhearts, plants with eggs, leaf glossiness, trichomes on the abaxial surface of the leaf, and leafsheath pigmentation can be used as marker traits to select for resistance to shoot-fly in sorghum (Dhillon et al. 2005). The marker traits of a number of sorghum germplasm materials have been evaluated and some shoot-fly resistant sources identified, such as ICSH 705, ICSV 702, ICSV 705, ICSV 708, IS 923, IS 1054, IS 1057, IS 1071, IS 1082, IS 1096, IS 2146, IS 2205, IS 2312, IS 2394, IS 4663, IS 4664, IS 5072, IS 5470, IS 5636, IS 18369, IS 18551, PS 21318, PS 30715-1, PS 35805, SFCR 125, and SFCR

151. Some of them are being used for shoot-fly resistance breeding programs (Dhillon et al. 2005; Chamarthi et al. 2011; Kumar et al. 2014).

Studies on the genetics of shoot-fly resistance suggested that resistance is complex and polygenically inherited (Halalli et al. 1982) with predominantly additive gene effects (Madhusudhana 2015). QTLs associated with the above traits showing shoot-fly resistance were identified from resistant line IS 18551 on chromosomes SBI-01, SBI-03, SBI-04, SBI-05, SBI-06, SBI-07, SBI-09, and SBI-10 (Sajjanar 2002; Folkertsma et al. 2003; Deshpande 2005; Mehtre 2006; Satish et al. 2009, 2012b). Using another shoot-fly resistance source IS2122, Aruna et al. (2011) mapped QTLs on chromosomes SBI-01, SBI-02, SBI-03, SBI-04, SBI-06, SBI-07, SBI-09, and SBI-10. Thus shoot-fly resistance loci were found on all 10 chromosomes of sorghum except SBI-08 (Table 2). The key QTLs on SBI-05 (for leaf glossiness) and SBI-10 (trichome density, oviposition, deadhearts, and seedling leafblade glossiness) have been further saturated with new markers, and several putative candidate gene-based markers have been identified (Satish et al. 2012b; Kiranmayee et al. 2015). An orthologous insect resistance gene Cysteine protease-Mir1 (XnhsbmSFC34/SBI-10) was significantly associated with major QTLs for all traits (except seedling vigor) explaining 22.1 % of the phenotypic variation for deadhearts percentage. Similarly, a nucleotide binding site-leucine-rich repeat (NBS-LRR) gene (XnhsbmSFCILP2/SBI-10), involved in rice brown planthopper resistance, was associated with deadhearts percentage and number of eggs β-1,3-glucanase (XnhsbmSFC4/ plant. per SBI-10), involved in aphid and brown planthopper resistance, was associated with deadhearts percentage and leaf glossiness (Satish et al. 2012b). Recently, average physical map positions for glossiness and trichome density QTLs on SBI-10 from earlier studies were reduced to 2 Mb and 800 kb. Candidate genes Glossy15 (Sb10g025053) and ethylene zinc finger protein (Sb10g027550) falling in support

Trait	Combination	Population	Gene symbol	Chromosome	Linked marker	PVE %	Reference
Leaf glossiness	IS18551/296B	RIL, 254		SBI-01	Xtxp248–Xtxp316	3.8	Apotikar et al. (2011)
	296B/IS18551	RIL, 168	QGs.dsr-3	SBI-03	Xtxp59–Xtxp336	10.1	Satish et al. (2009)
			QGs.dsr-5	SBI-05	Xtxp65–Xtxp30	14	
			QGs.dsr-6	SBI-06	GlumeT-Mrco	8.4	
			QGs.dsr-10	SBI-10	Xnhsbm1043– Xgap1	7.6	
	27B/IS2122	RIL, 210	QGs.dsr-1	SBI-01	Xtxp357–Xtxp32	5.9	Aruna et al.
			QGs.dsr-2	SBI-02	Xisp10336–Xtxp1	7.6	(2011)
			QGs.dsr-4.1	SBI-04	Xtxp24–Xtxp41	5.7	_
			QGs.dsr-4.2	SBI-04	Xcup20–Xtxp343	7.5	-
			QGs.dsr-10	SBI-10	Xtxp320–Xcup16	14.7	_
Seedling	296B/IS18551	RIL, 168	QSv.dsr-3	SBI-03	Xtxp59–Xtxp336	11.8	Satish et al. (2009)
vigor			QSv.dsr-6.1	SBI-06	Dsenhsbm2–Xtxp6	8.6	
			QSv.dsr-6.2	SBI-06	Xtxp145–Xtxp274	7.4	
			QSv.dsr-10	SBI-10	Xnhsbm1011– Xgap1	7.7	
	27B/IS2122	RIL, 210	QSv.dsr-1.1	SBI-01	gpsb3-Xtxp357	7.9	Aruna et al. (2011)
			QSv.dsr-1.2	SBI-01	Xcup6–Xtxp302	4.9	
			QSv.dsr-2	SBI-02	Xisep1145–Xtxp197	5.1	
			QSv.dsr-9	SBI-09	Xisp102271– Xtxp101	7.1	
			QSv.dsr-10	SBI-10	Xisep0625–Xgap1	5.9	
Oviposition	IS18551/296B	RIL, 254		SBI-01	Xtxp248–Xtxp316	6	Apotikar et al. (2011)
	296B/IS18551	RIL, 168	QEg21.dsr-1	SBI-01	Xcup24– Dsenhsbm64	8.3	Satish et al. (2009)
			QEg21.dsr-7	SBI-07	Xtxp36–Xtxp312	6.7	
			QEg21.dsr-9	SBI-09	Xcup02–Xtxp355	5	
			QEg21.dsr-10	SBI-10	Xnhsbm1044– Xnhsbm1013	19	
			QEg28.dsr-5	SBI-05	Xtxp65–Xtxp30	7.2	
			QEg28.dsr-7	SBI-07	Xtxp36–Xtxp312	6.7	
			QEg28.dsr-10	SBI-10	Xnhsbm1044– Xnhsbm1013	16.1	

 Table 2
 Details of identified shoot-fly resistance loci in sorghum

(continued)

Table 2	(continu	ed)
---------	----------	-----

Trait	Combination	Population	Gene symbol	Chromosome	Linked marker	PVE %	Reference
Deadheart	IS18551/296B	RIL, 254		SBI-01	Xtxp248–Xtxp316	6.3	Apotikar et al. (2011)
	296B/IS18551	RIL, 168	QDh.dsr-5	SBI-05	Xtxp65–Xtxp30	6	Satish et al. (2009)
			QDh.dsr-9	SBI-09	Xcup02–Xtxp355	8	
			QDh.dsr-10.1	SBI-10	Xtxp217–SvPEPcA	8.8	
			QDh.dsr-10.2	SBI-10	Xnhsbm1033– Xcup16	11.4	
			QDh.dsr-10.3	SBI-10	Xnhsbm1044– Xnhsbm1013	15	
			QDh.dsr-10.4	SBI-10	Xnhsbm1043– Xgap1	5.5	
	27B/IS2122	RIL, 210	QDh.dsr-1.1	SBI-01	Xisp10322– Xtxp316	8	Aruna et al. (2011)
			QDh.dsr-1.2	SBI-01	Xisp10314–Xtxp20	5	
			QDh.dsr-2	SBI-02	Xisp10336–Xtxp1	6.4	
			QDh.dsr-6.1	SBI-06	Xisep0432–Xtxp45	5.4	
			QDh.dsr-6.2	SBI-06	Xisp10347–gpsb18	7.5	
			QDh.dsr-7.1	SBI-07	Xcup70–Xgap342	7.1	
			QDh.dsr-7.2	SBI-07	Xtxp278– Xisp10233	9.8	
			QDh.dsr-9	SBI-09	Xtxp101–Xcup21	6.4	
			QDh.dsr-10.1	SBI-10	Xtxp320–Trit	12.8	
			QDh.dsr-10.2	SBI-10	Xisep0625–Xgap1	9.4	
Adaxial trichome	296B/IS18551	RIL, 168	QTdu. dsr-10.1	SBI-10	Xnhsbm1044– Xnhsbm1013	15.7	Satish et al. (2009)
density			QTdu. dsr-10.2	SBI-10	Xnhsbm1043– Xgap1	33	
			QTdl.dsr-1.1	SBI-01	Xtxp32–Xtxp88	8.8	
			QTdl.dsr-1.2	SBI-01	Dsenhsbm80– Xtxp302	5.3	-
			QTdl.dsr-4	SBI-04	Xcup48– Ungnhsbm32	8.5	
			QTdl.dsr-6	SBI-06	Xtxp317–Xtxp274	5.2	
			QTdl.dsr-10.1	SBI-10	Xnhsbm1048– Xnhsbm1013	15.1	
			QTdl.dsr-10.2	SBI-10	Xnhsbm1043– Xgap1	22.7	
	27B/IS2122	RIL, 210	QTdu.dsr-7	SBI-07	Xcup57–Xtxp99	4.3	Aruna et al.
			QTdu.dsr-10	SBI-10	Xtxp320–Xcup16	44.1	(2011)
			QTdl.dsr-3	SBI-03	Xtxp70–Xtxp48	5	
			QTdl.dsr-10.1	SBI-10	Xgap1–Xtxp320	24.1	
			QTdl.dsr-10.2	SBI-10	Xtxp320–Trit	12.7	

intervals for glossiness and trichome density QTLs have been identified (Kiranmayee et al. 2015).

With the identification of resistance trait linked markers, marker-assisted introgression of such important shoot-fly resistance QTLs for trichome density, nonpreference, and deadhearts using SSR markers *Xnhsbm1044* and *Xnhsb-m1013* on SBI-10 and for leaf glossiness on SBI-05 using *Xtxp65* and *Xtxp30* SSRs into commercially important but shoot-fly susceptible seed parents, 296B and 27B from the resistance donor parent IS18551, have been successfully initiated (Madhusudhana et al. 2012).

2.3 Midge

Sorghum midge, *Stenodiplosis sorghicola*, is the most damaging pest of grain sorghum widely distributed in Asia, Australia, Africa, the Americas, and Mediterranean Europe (Madhusudhana 2015). At flowering time, female midges oviposit into spikelets, and the larvae feed on the ovary during the following two weeks, resulting in failure of kernel development and production of empty or chaffy spikelets. The damaged panicles present a blasted appearance.

Host-plant resistance is an effective means of keeping midge populations below economic threshold levels. Nonpreference and antibiosis are the major components of host-plant resistance to sorghum midge. Resistance to midge is governed largely by additive gene action, although nonadditive gene actions may also be involved (Sharma and Vidyasagar 1994). A number of midge-resistant sources have been identified in the wild relatives of sorghum including S. amplum, S. bulbosum, and S. angustumthe, and in the cultivated germplasm (Sharma et al. 1993; Sharma and Franzmann 2001; Sharma et al. 2003). ICSV 197, ICSV 745, ICSV 735, ICSV 758, and ICSV 88032 have high yield potential and at the same time high midge resistance (Agrawal et al. 1987, 1996; Sharma and Vidyasagar 1994; Agrawal et al. 2005; Sharma et al. 2005). Several seed parents, ICSA-/B-488 to 544, with midge resistance have been developed

for producing midge-resistant hybrids (Reddy et al. 2007).

QTLs associated with two of the different mechanisms of midge resistance, antixenosis and antibiosis, were identified in a recombinant inbred (RI) population from a cross of sorghum lines ICSV745 and 90562. Two genetic regions located on separate linkage groups were found to be associated with antixenosis and explained 12 and 15 %, respectively, of the total variation in egg numbers/spikelet laid in a cage experiment. One region was significantly associated with antibiosis and explained 34.5 % of the variation of the difference of egg and pupal counts in the RI population (Tao et al. 2003).

3 Host-Plant Resistance to Disease

3.1 Rust

Sorghum rust (Puccinia purpurea) is widely distributed and occurs in almost all sorghum-growing areas of the world and reduces forage quality and grain yield. In Australia, the Philippines, and India, yield losses due to rust as high as 13.1, 30, and 50 %, respectively, have been reported (Anon 2002; White et al. 2012). This disease is important because its presence predisposes sorghum to other major disease problems, such as the Fusarium stalk rots, charcoal rot, and grain molding (Frederiksen 1986). Severe rust infection also contributes to lodging by reducing leaf area and increasing plant stress (Ryley et al. 2002). Yield losses associated with rust have been reported in Malawi, Swaziland, Tanzania, Zambia, Zimbabwe, Argentina, and Brazil (Tarr 1962; Anon 2002). Two pathotypes of P. purpurea were reported in Hawaii (Bergquist 1974). Recently in Australia four putative pathotypes were tested, of which Pathotypes 1 and 3 were the most common (White et al. 2015).

Availability of adequate genetic variation is a prerequisite for genetic improvement of any crop species. Eight sorghum accessions from either South Africa or Africa were identified to be highly resistant to rust (Wang et al. 2006). Sharma et al. (2012) evaluated 242 germplasm accessions to identify sources of resistance to foliar diseases, six accessions including IS 473 (guinea-kafir from the US), IS 23521 (guinea-caudatum from Ethiopia), IS 23684 (guinea from Mozambique), IS 24503 (bicolor from South Africa), IS 26737 (kafir from South Africa), and IS 33023 (guinea from Tanzania) showed resistance in both the greenhouse and field screens.

The genetics of host-pathogen interactions for sorghum rust have been investigated in a few studies and genetic analyses from different populations indicated that the resistance was controlled by a simple dominant gene Pu (Coleman and Dean 1961), more than one gene (Patil-Kulkarni et al. 1972), three major genes (Rana et al. 1976), or by multiple QTLs with small effects (Tao et al. 1998; Upadhyaya et al. 2013; Wang et al. 2014). By phenotyping 160 random RI lines (RILs) developed from a cross between QL39 and QL41, Tao et al. (1998) determined four QTLs for rust resistance on chromosomes SBI-01, SBI-02, SBI-03, and SBI-08 explaining 16-42 % of trait variation in the population. The major QTL associated with an allele from QL41 on SBI-08 accounting for 42 % of trait variation is believed to be the Pugene (Madhusudhana 2015). This genomic region of sorghum has been shown to be orthologous to the maize chromosome 10S, where Rp1-D is located (McIntyre et al. 2005). Conservation of gene function in this genomic region for rust resistance among sorghum, maize, and sugarcane has been established (McIntyre et al. 2005). Because different rust species cause rust in these three plants (P. sorghi in maize, P. purpurea in sorghum, and P. melanocephala in sugarcane), the nature of the conserved function is supposed that the products of resistance genes interact with pathogen avirulence proteins. It is also possible that common avirulence determinants may be recognized in maize, sorghum, and sugarcane rust fungi. Alternatively, R (resistance) gene conservation may reflect conserved signaling motifs that activate downstream resistance mechanisms (McIntyre et al. 2005). Recently, an ancestral gene family containing the maize Rp1-D gene (GRMZM5G879178), sorghum genes Rp1-dp3(Sb03g036450) and rph1-3 (Sb08g002410) for rust resistance, and the rice Pi37 (Os01g57310) gene for resistance to rice blast disease was also identified, which had an effector response that conferred resistance to multiple pathogens across species (Mace et al. 2014). In an association mapping analysis, Upadhyaya et al. (2013) identified five SNP loci associated with rust resistance, two of which contained the rust resistance gene Rp1-D and to the wheat rust resistance gene Lr1. The remaining loci contained genes important in defense responses.

A combination of conventional QTL analysis and genomewide association analysis (GWAS) was used to determine the genetic architecture of leaf rust resistance in sorghum using three biparental mapping populations (S2: 119 F₅ RILs developed from the cross between ICSV745 and R890562-1-2; S4: 246 F₅ RILs derived from the IS8525/R931945-2-2; S7: 214 BC1F4 RILs derived from crossing S. bicolor subsp. verti*cilliflorum* and the recurrent parent R931945-2-2) and a set of elite breeding lines (association mapping set: 150 genotypes) phenotyped in hybrid combination with multiple testers (Wang et al. 2014). All populations were phenotyped not only for rust infection response, but also for height and maturity. In population S2, two highly significant and three suggestive rust resistance QTLs have been detected on chromosomes SBI-08-II, SBI-02, SBI-06-I, SBI-05, and SBI-08-I, respectively. Individual OTLs explained between 5.6 and 18.5 % of phenotypic variation in response to rust, with a cumulative total of 53.7 %. In population S4, a total of nine including one highly significant, three significant, and five suggestive QTLs for rust resistance were identified on six chromosomes, SBI-01, SBI-02, SBI-03, SBI-04, SBI-09, and SBI-10. Individual QTLs explained between 2.5 and 10.4 % of phenotypic variation, with a cumulative total of 42.1 %. In population S7, 15 genomic regions were detected with significant marker trait associations on eight chromosomes. Furthermore, four genomic regions were detected with highly significant marker trait associations. In the association mapping set, 52 genomic regions were identified with suggestive marker trait associations in at least one of the six tester/location combinations, with over half (28) identified as significant in two or more of the tester/location combinations. A total of 64 significant or highly significant QTLs and 21 suggestive QTLs for rust resistance were identified and projected onto a consensus map, in addition to the 11 previously reported QTLs for rust resistance (Tao et al. 1998; Mohan et al. 2010; Upadhyaya et al. 2013), of which 10 are colocated, representing a total of 56 unique regions. Thus rust resistance QTLs were identified on all sorghum chromosomes (Wang et al. 2014). Of the 56 unique genomic regions, 30 were categorized as being unique to rust, whereas 26 were not unique to rust, and colocated with either height, maturity, or stay-green QTLs identified in the same population. Rust QTLs that are not associated with maturity and height are enriched for defense-related gene families. The major nucleotide binding site (NBS) encoding rust resistance gene Rph1-2, homologous with the maize *Rp1-D* gene colocated with QTL from the S2 population (QRustR_S2_8.1) and the association mapping set (QRustR_AYT_8.1). Of the 52 rust resistance QTLs identified in maize, over 80 % (42) collocated with rust QTLs identified in sorghum. Additionally, the wheat rust resistance gene, Lr34, previously described by Suenaga et al. (2003), collocated with QTL from the S4 population (QRustR_S4_1.1) and the AYT association mapping set (QRustR_AYT_1.3) (Wang et al. 2014).

3.2 Grain Mold

Grain mold (GM) is a major disease of sorghum that affects grain production and quality. It is particularly severe to sorghum cultivars maturing during the rainy season in humid tropical and subtropical areas (Thakur et al. 2006). It is caused by a complex of fungal pathogens including more than 40 genera of fungi (Navi et al. 1999). The major fungi associated with early infection events are *Fusarium* spp., *Curvularia lunata, Alternaria* *alternata*, and *Phoma sorghina* (Thakur et al. 2003, 2006). Of these, *F. moniliforme* is the most predominant and most damaging fungal pathogen of sorghum grain worldwide. Production loss ranges from 30 to 100 %, depending on cultivar, time of flowering, and prevailing weather conditions from flowering to harvesting (Singh and Bandyopadhyay 2000).

Bandyopadhyay et al. (1988) reported 156 of the 7132 sorghum accessions screened during the period from 1980 to 1985 at Patancheru, India, to resistant to grain mold. Fifty grain be mold-resistant sorghum accessions from а mini-core, which represents a wide diversity of race types, morphological traits, agronomic desirability, and geographical distribution have been identified (Sharma et al. 2010). These would be desirable sources of resistance for a sorghum breeding program although genetic mechanisms governing grain mold resistance in sorghum are still poorly understood. Among different races constituting the sorghum mini-core, maximum mold resistant accessions were of bicolor type (14 of the 15 screened). The resistance in the bicolor accessions might be due to loose panicles and dark grain color. None of the 14 durra-type accessions (compact panicle) screened had resistance to grain mold (Sharma et al. 2010). It was also reported that the resistance to sorghum GM was associated with a high concentration of phenolic compounds (apigeninidin, flavan-4-ols, and tannin), kernel hardness, and pericarp color (Menkir et al. 1996).

The complexity of pathogens makes the isolation of the resistance gene very difficult. Just a few QTLs and markers were reported to be associated with GM resistance. Klein et al. (2001) reported five QTLs located on chromosomes SBI-04, SBI-06, SBI-07, SBI-09, and SBI-10 in an F₅ mapping population derived from a cross of Sureño and RTx430. Grain mold incidence was affected by five QTLs each accounting for between 10 and 23 % of the phenotypic variance (Table 3). Recently two loci associated with grain mold resistance have been identified in a sorghum mini-core of 242 accessions that had been evaluated for grain mold resistance in the field for 2 years by applying 14,739 SNP markers (Upadhyaya et al. 2013).

Linked maker	Chromosome	PVE %	Reference
Xtxp12	SBI-04	12.4	Klein et al. (2001)
Xtxa10062	SBI-07	21.5	
Xtxa10057	SBI-09	11.3	
Xtxa1047	SBI-10	10	
Xtxp95	SBI-06	13.3	
Chr8_8997626	SBI-08	-	Upadhyaya et al. (2013)
Chr2_5600094	SBI-02	-	

Table 3 QTL isolatedresistance to grain mold

Among the two loci linked to grain mold resistance, one contained a NB-ARC-LRR class of R gene (Sb02g004900) that shares 37 % identity and 57 % similarity to the nonhost resistance gene of maize, Rxo1. Knockout of Rxo1 in maize abolishes its resistance to the rice pathogen Xanthomonas oryzae pv. oryzicola, which causes bacterial streak disease, whereas overexpression confers resistance to both X. oryzae pv. oryzicola and the unrelated pathogen Burkholderia andropogonis, which causes bacterial stripe in sorghum and maize (Zhao et al. 2005). This finding suggests that Rxo1 plays an important role in both host and nonhost resistance which is relevant in defense against multiple pathogens such as in grain mold (Upadhyaya et al. 2013).

3.3 Downy Mildew

Sorghum downy mildew (SDM), caused by Peronosclerospora sorghi (Butler 1907), results in serious production losses to sorghum in zones where the disease is prevalent (Odvody and Frederiksen 1984; Pande et al. 1997; Craig 2000; Perumal et al. 2006; Thakur et al. 2007; Perumal et al. 2008). There are some other Peronosclerospora species that can attack sorghum, including P. maydis, P. sacchari, P. philippinensis (Bonde and Peterson 1983), and P. heteropogoni (Nair et al. 2004). The pathogen was first discovered in Africa and Asia and then probably introduced into America in the late 1950s (Frederiksen 1980). It has been reported that SDM may cause up to 78 % yield losses in India (Thakur and Mathur 2002) and 11.7 % in Africa (Bock et al. 1998). Cultural practices can significantly reduce downy mildew incidence (Frederiksen 1980; Schuh et al. 1987; Pande et al. 1997). Metalaxyl or fosetyl-Al applied as seed treatment can provide effective chemical control of SDM (Odvody and Frederiksen 1984).

Five SDM pathotypes (P1–P5) have been identified (Craig and Frederiksen 1980, 1983; Fernandes and Schaffert 1983; Sifuentes and Frederiksen 1988; Craig and Odvody 1992). These pathotypes can be controlled by metalaxyl seed treatment. However, from 2001, SDM appeared in some sorghum fields in south Texas causing serious yield losses (Isakeit et al. 2003). The new SDM pathotype, pathotype 6 (P6) made the metalaxyl seed treatment ineffective (Isakeit and Jaster 2005). This led to use of germplasms having broad-spectrum disease resistance to SDM.

The resistance to SDM may have regional characteristics. Some African resources showed resistance to SDM in the Americans. Three accessions PI 282860, PI 282864, and PI 563505 from Chad showed high levels of downy mildew resistance in Mexico and Texas, whereas PI 282843, PI 282877, PI 549196, and PI 563438 also from Chad exhibited high levels of resistance to the disease in Texas. Accessions PI 297210, PI 576386, and PI 576395 from Uganda also showed downy mildew resistance in Mexico and Texas. So the sorghum accessions from Chad and Uganda can be utilized for downy mildew resistance breeding in Mexico or Texas (Prom et al. 2010). Accessions PI 609151 and PI 609442 from Mali had high levels of SDM resistance at one Mexican location and two US locations. Malian accession PI 612815 also had a moderate resistant reaction to SDM in two of the three locations. Accession PI 522108 from Gambia was resistant in Mexico but susceptible in Louise, Texas, United States. The reaction of the 10 lines used as differentials suggested the presence of a pathotype in Mexico that differed from those in the United States (Prom et al. 2015).

A new resistance gene can be found in wild and weedy sorghums. Forty-five of the wild accessions belonging to sections Heterosorghum, Chaetosorghum stiposorghum, and Parasorghum remained downy mildew free, whereas two accessions of Parasorghum, IS 18951 (S. purpureosericeum) and IS 23177 (S. versicolor), developed about 3 % downy mildew. Some new germplasms were identified to be resistant to newly appeared pathotypes. The sorghum germplasm lines Tx3301 through Tx3360 (Reg. No. GP-733 to GP-792, PI 668030 to PI 668089) are resistant to pathotypes 3 and 6 of Peronosclerospora sorghi (Rosenow et al. 2014).

The research about the resistance mechanism and resistance gene of SDM was relatively lagging. Gowda et al. (1995) found that it was controlled by a single dominant allele from a population derived from a cross of RT7080 × SC414. The gene from SC414 showed resistance to pathotypes P1, P2, and P3. Two random amplified polymorphic DNA (RAPD) markers (PAL₃₆₀ and OPQ8₅₁₀) were found to be linked to the resistance gene. Oh et al. (1996) showed that SC325 was resistant to pathotypes P1 and P3. The resistance gene was controlled by a single dominant allele which was linked to two RFLP markers, 5.0 cM to *pSbTXS552* and 7.9 cM to *pSbTXS361*.

4 Host-Plant Resistance to Parasitic Weed

4.1 Striga

The witch weed (*Strigas* sp.) is a devastating parasitic weed for various crops in Africa and parts of Asia (Timko et al. 2012). It is the most limiting biotic constraint for sorghum production by small farmers in rainfed agricultural areas of

the semi-arid tropics (Satish et al. 2012a). Crop yield losses due to *Striga* might reach up to 100 % in heavily infested soils (Ejeta and Butler 1993).

Striga management is difficult because of the complex host-parasite interactions, the large number of seeds produced by Striga plants with prolonged viability, and special germination and development requirements (Pieterse and Pesch 1983; Mohamed 2002). Although a number of Striga control measures such as crop rotation, intercropping, transplanting, soil and water management, use of fertilizers, and hand weeding have been suggested, resistant crop cultivars have been recognized as the most cost-effective method and are compatible with low input systems (Joel et al. 2007). To date, some Strigaresistant sorghum cultivars have been identified such as N13, SRN39, Framida, 555, ICSVs, SRN39 derivatives (P401–P409), Soumalemba (IS15401), SeguetanaCZ, CMDT45, P9401, P9403, PSL5061, P9401, P9403, and PSL5061 (Teka 2014). Significant progress has also been made to identify molecular markers associated with *Striga* resistance (Table 4; Mohamed et al. 2003; Haussmann et al. 2004; Grenier et al. 2007; Satish et al. 2012a). Details of sorghum used for foreground selection SSRs for marker-assisted backcrossing of Striga resistance QTLs are available (Santosh et al. 2013). Among the above QTL studies, Haussmann et al. (2004) conducted a QTL analysis of field resistance to Striga using two RIL populations derived from a cross between IS9830, a low germination stimulant producer, and E36-1, a susceptible genotype (RIL-1); and N13 (mechanical resistance) and E36-1 (RIL-2). Composite interval mapping revealed eleven QTLs and nine QTLs in the RIL-1 and RIL-2, respectively. Five QTLs were common to both populations with the resistance alleles deriving from IS 9830 or N13. Satish et al. (2012a) fine-mapped one single recessively inherited gene, lgs (low germination stimulant) on sorghum chromosome SBI-05 towards the distal end, which would be an excellent candidate for MAS. The use of molecular markers to breed for Striga resistance in sorghum has recently been shown to be successful (Gammar

Resistance source	Gene/QTL	Resistance mechanism	Chromosome	Reference
PQ434 (S.bicolor ssp. drummondii)	Lhf	Low haustorial inducing factors producing	SBI-09	Grenier et al. (2007)
S. arundinaceum	HR1	Hypersensitive response	SBI-02	Mohamed et al. (2003)
S. arundinaceum	HR2	Hypersensitive response	SBI-05	Grenier et al. (2007)
IS9830	11 QTLs	Low germination stimulant	SBI-01, 02, 03, 04, 06, 09, 10	Haussmann et al. (2004)
N13	9 QTLs	Mechanical resistance	SBI-01, 02, 03, 04, 06, 07	Haussmann et al. (2004)
SRN39	lgs	Low germination stimulant	SBI-05	Satish et al. (2012a)

Table 4 QTLs identified for *Striga* resistance from different sources in sorghum

and Mohamed 2013; Mohamed et al. 2014; Yohannes et al. 2015; Ngugi et al. 2016). Two or more major QTLs derived from N13 (*Striga* resistant) have been successfully transferred into three farmer-preferred elite sorghum cultivars: Tabat, Wad Ahmed, and AG-8 (*Striga* susceptible) through MAS. Field evaluation revealed that newly bred lines were *Striga* resistant and agronomically superior with yields ranging from 180 to 298 % higher relative to their recurrent parents, which are the first products of MAS in sorghum released for cultivation by farmers in sub-Saharan Africa (Mohamed et al. 2014).

Understanding of host-plant Striga resistance and its genetic basis is an essential prerequisite for breeding programs. It has been suggested that Striga resistance in sorghum might be caused by different factors including low germination stimulant activity, low haustorial initiation activity, hypersensitive reactions, and incompatibility (Ejeta 2007). The first resistance gene to Striga was identified and cloned in cowpea (Li and Timko 2009). The cowpea cultivar B301 showed resistance to race 3 (SG3) of S. gesnerioides, which was characterized by an inability of the parasite to penetrate the endodermis and necrosis of host tissue at the point of attachment. The full-length of the gene sequence predicted a CC-NBS-LRR R protein (named RSG3-301). Rgenes recognize, directly or indirectly, pathogen effectors (often termed Avr genes) to trigger plant defense responses which indicated that plants, like pathogens and some insect pests, may influence plant defense mechanisms in similar ways. Meanwhile, efforts have been made to elucidate the molecular events underlying Striga infection using next-generation sequencing and conventional sequencing technology (Spallek et al. 2013). The genome size of S. hermonthica was estimated to be 1801 Mbp (\pm 321 Mbp), which is approximately 14 times that of Arabidopsis (Yoshida et al. 2010). Also the Parasitic Plant Genome Project (PPGP) is carrying out the comparative functional genomic analysis of parasitic plants in order to discover the genomewide changes that led to the establishment of the parasitic lifestyle and the changes that resulted as a consequence of adoption of the parasitic lifestyle (http://ppgp.huck.psu.edu/).

5 Prospects

Over the last two decades, much progress has been made in the field of sorghum biotechnology both towards transgenic research and DNA marker studies including genomics (Rakshit and Patil 2014). For example, with the help of marker-assisted backcrossing, three to four QTLs were successfully transferred from a donor line N13 into a farmer-preferred sorghum variety for *Striga* resistance (Ngugi et al. 2016). Great progress has been made in the sequencing technologies and bioinformatics at an exponentially reduced cost, which led to a revolution in the field of genotyping technologies. Restriction-associated DNA sequencing (RAD-seq) and genotyping by sequencing (GBS) have emerged as powerful genotyping platforms, which are capable of identifying, sequencing, and genotyping thousands of markers across almost any genome of interest and number of individuals in a population (Bhatia et al. 2013). The newly developed genomic approaches would rapidly accelerate applications to many different research areas ranging from marker discovery, genetic diversity, and linkage/association mapping to genomic selection, physical mapping, gene discovery, and genomic-assisted breeding to improve biotic stress resistance in sorghum.

References

- Agrama H, Widle G, Reese J, Campbell L, Tuinstra M (2002) Genetic mapping of QTLs associated with greenbug resistance and tolerance in *Sorghum bicolor*. Theor Appl Genet 104(8):1373–1378
- Agrawal B, Sharma H, Leuschner K (1987) Registration of 'ICSV 197'midge resistant sorghum cultivar. Crop Sci 27(6):1312–1313
- Agrawal B, Sharma H, Abraham C, Nwanze K, Reddy B, Stenhouse J (1996) Registration of ICS 88019 and ICS 88020 midge-resistant grain sorghum A and B parental lines. Crop Sci 36(3)
- Agrawal B, Sharma H, Abraham C, Stenhouse J (2005) Registration of ICSV 88032: a high yielding line resistant to sorghum midge, *Stenodiplosis sorghicola*. Int Sorghum Millet Newsl 46:43–46
- Andrews DJ, Bramel-Cox PJ, Wilde GE (1993) New sources of resistance to greenbug, biotype I, in sorghum. Crop Sci 33(1):198–199
- Anon (2002) Crop protection compendium, global module. 4th version. Commonwealth Agricultural Bureau International, Wallingford, UK
- Apotikar D, Venkateswarlu D, Ghorade R, Wadaskar R, Patil J, Kulwal P (2011) Mapping of shoot fly tolerance loci in sorghum using SSR markers. J Genet 90(1):59–66
- Araya E (2001) Insects that feed on resistant crops. University of Chile. http://mazinger.sisib.uchile.cl/ reposi-torio/lb/ciencias_agronomicas/arayaj01/p1/
- Armstrong JS, Rooney WL, Peterson GC, Villenueva RT, Brewer MJ, Sekula-Ortiz D (2015) Sugarcane aphid (Hemiptera: Aphididae): host range and sorghum resistance including cross-resistance from greenbug sources. J Econ Entomol 108(2):576–582
- Aruna C, Bhagwat V, Madhusudhana R, Sharma V, Hussain T, Ghorade R, Khandalkar H, Audilakshmi S, Seetharama N (2011) Identification and validation of genomic regions that affect shoot fly resistance in sorghum [Sorghum bicolor (L.) Moench]. Theor Appl Genet 122(8):1617–1630

- Bandyopadhyay R, Mughogho L, Prasada Rao K (1988) Sources of resistance to sorghum grain molds. Plant Dis 72(6):504–508
- Bergquist R (1974) The determination of physiologic races of sorghum rust in Hawaii. Proc Am Phytopathol Soc 1:67–70
- Betsiashvili M, Ahern KR, Jander G (2015) Additive effects of two quantitative trait loci that confer *Rhopalosiphum maidis* (corn leaf aphid) resistance in maize inbred line Mo17. J Exp Bot 66(2):571–578
- Bhatia D, Wing RA, Singh K (2013) Genotyping by sequencing, its implications and benefits. Crop Improv 40(2):101–111
- Bock C, Jeger M, Mughoho L, Cardwell K, Adenle V, Mtisi E, Akpa A, Kaula G, Mukasambina D, Blair-Myers C (1998) Occurrence and distribution of *Peronosclerospora sorghi* [Weston and Uppal (Shaw)] in selected countries of West and Southern Africa. Crop Protec 17 (5):427–439
- Bonde M, Peterson G (1983) Comparison of host ranges of *Peronsclerospora philippinensis* and *P. sacchari*. Phytopathology 73(6):875–878
- Butler EJ (1907) Some diseases of cereals caused by Sclerospora graminicola. Mem Dept Agric India 2(1):1–24
- Chamarthi S, Sharma H, Sahrawat K, Narasu L, Dhillon M (2011) Physico-chemical mechanisms of resistance to shoot fly, *Atherigona soccata* in sorghum *Sorghum bicolor*. J Appl Entomol 135(6):446–455
- Coe Jr E, Neuffer M, Hoisington D, Sprague G, Dudley J (1988) The genetics of corn. American Society of Agronomy, Crop Science Society of America, and Soil Science Society of America, Madison, WI, USA
- Coleman O, Dean JL (1961) The inheritance of resistance to rust in sorgo. Crop Sci 1(2):152–154
- Craig J (2000) Sorghum downy mildew. In: Frederiksen RA, Odvody GN (eds). Compendium of sorghum diseases, 2nd ed. American Phytopathological Society, St Paul, USA, pp 25–27
- Craig J, Frederiksen R (1980) Pathotypes of Peronosclerospora sorghi. Plant Dis 64(8):778–779
- Craig J, Frederiksen R (1983) Differential sporulation of pathotypes of *Peronosclerospora sorghi* on inoculated sorghum. Plant Dis 67(3):278–279
- Craig J, Odvody G (1992) Current status of sorghum downy mildew control. Sorghum and millet diseases: a second world review Patancheru, Índia: international crops research institute for the semi-arid tropics, Patancheru, India, pp 213–217
- Deshpande SP (2005) QTL analysis for shoot fly resistance in sorghum (*Sorghum bicolor* (L.) Moench). PhD Dissertation, Marathwada Agricultural University, Parbhani, Maharashtra, India
- Dhillon M, Sharma H, Singh R, Naresh J (2005) Mechanisms of resistance to shoot fly, *Atherigona soccata* in sorghum. Euphytica 144(3):301–312
- Dixon A, Bramel-Cox P, Harvey T (1990) Diallel analysis of resistance in sorghum to greenbug Biotype E: antibiosis and tolerance. Crop Sci 30(5):1055–1059
- Dogramaci M, Mayo Z, Wright R, Reese J (2007) Categories of resistance, antibiosis and tolerance, to

biotype I greenbug (*Schizaphis graminum* (Rondani) Homoptera: Aphididae) in four sorghum (*Sorghum bicolor* (L.) Moench. Poales: Gramineae) hybrids. J Kansas Entomol Soc 80(3):183–191

- Ejeta G (2007) Breeding for resistance in sorghum: exploitation of an intricate host-parasite biology. Crop Sci 47 (Suppl_3):S-216-S-227
- Ejeta G, Butler LG (1993) Host plant resistance to Striga. International Crop Science, ICrop Science Society of America, Madison, USA, pp 561–569
- Fernandes F, Schaffert R (1983) The reaction of several sorghum cultivars to a new race of sorghum downy mildew (*Peronosclerospora sorghi*) in southern Brazil in 1982–1983. In: Agronomy abstracts. American Society of Agronomy, Madison, WI, USA
- Folkertsma R, Sajjanar G, Reddy B, Sharma H, Hash C (2003) Genetic mapping of QTL associated with sorghum shoot fly (*Atherigona soccata*) resistance in sorghum (*Sorghum bicolor*). In: Final abstracts guide, plant and animal genome XI conference, San Diego, CA, USA, P42
- Fonseca A, Cruz L, Carvalho C, Souza B (2005) Resistance of sorghum genotypes to the aphid *Rhopalosiphum maidis* (FITCH, 1856) (Hemiptera: Aphididae): II. no choice test. Revista Brasileira de Milho e Sorgo 4(3):323–334
- Frederiksen RA (1980) Sorghum downy mildew in the United States: overview and outlook. Plant Dis 64(903):8
- Frederiksen R (1986) Compendium of sorghum disease. American Phytopathological Society, St. Paul, p 23
- Gahukar R (1993) Infestation levels of improved sorghum cultivars with *Rhopalosiphum maidis* fitch and *Eublemma gayneri* Roths. in Senegal. Trop Agric (Trinidad and Tobago) 70:185
- Gammar Y, Mohamed A (2013) Introgression of *Striga* resistance genes into a sudanese sorghum cultivar. Tabat, using marker-assisted selection (MAS). Greener J Agric Sci 3:550–556
- Goggin FL (2007) Plant–aphid interactions: molecular and ecological perspectives. Curr Opin Plant Biol 10 (4):399–408
- Gowda PB, Frederiksen RA, Magill CW, Xu GW (1995) DNA markers for downy mildew resistance genes in sorghum. Genome 38(4):823–826
- Grenier C, Ibrahim Y, Haussmann BI, Kiambi D, Ejeta G (2007) Marker-assisted selection for *Striga* resistance in sorghum. In: Ejeta G, Gressel J (eds). Integrating new technologies for *Striga* control: towards ending the witch-hunt. World Scientific, Singapore, pp 159–172
- Halalli M, Gowda B, Kulkarni K, Goud J (1982) Inheritance of resistance to shoot fly (*Atherigona* soccata Rond.) in sorghum (Sorghum bicolor L. Moench). SABRAO J 14(2):165–170
- Harvey T, Kofoid K, Martin T, Sloderbeck P (1991) A new greenbug virulent to E-biotype resistant sorghum. Crop Sci 31(6):1689–1691
- Haussmann B, Hess D, Omanya G, Folkertsma R, Reddy B, Kayentao M, Welz H, Geiger H (2004) Genomic regions influencing resistance to the parasitic

weed *Striga* hermonthica in two recombinant inbred populations of sorghum. Theor Appl Genet 109 (5):1005–1016

- Hemmati F, Abbasi M (2000) Field evaluation of sorghum accessions for resistance to corn leaf aphid in Iran. Int Sorghum Millets Newsl 41:47–49
- Huang Y (2006) Evaluating sorghum germplasm for resistance to greenbug (*Schizaphis graminum*) biotype I. In: Sorghum improvement conference of North America, Lubbock, USA; International Crops Research Institute for the Semi-Arid Tropics (ICRI-SAT), Patancheru, India
- Huang Y (2014) Genetic and genomic studies of host-plant resistance to greenbug in sorghum. In: Plant and animal genome XXII conference, San Diego, CA, USA
- Isakeit T, Jaster J (2005) Texas has a new pathotype of *Peronosclerospora sorghi*, the cause of sorghum downy mildew. Plant Dis 89(5):529
- Isakeit T, Odvody G, Jahn R, Deconini L (2003) Peronosclerospora sorghi resistant to metalaxyl treatment of sorghum seed in texas. Phytopathology 93: S39
- Joel D, Hershenhorn J, Eizenberg H, Aly R, Ejeta G, Rich P, Ransom J, Sauerborn J, Rubiales D (2007) Biology and management of weedy root parasites. Hortic Tural Rev Westport Then New York 33:267
- Johnson J, Teetes G, Phillips J, Riggs V (1981) Resistance to biotype E greenbug in sorghum. Sorghum Newsl 24:84
- Katsar CS, Paterson AH, Teetes GL, Peterson GC (2002) Molecular analysis of sorghum resistance to the greenbug (Homoptera: Aphididae). J Econ Entomol 95(2):448–457
- Kiranmayee K, Hash CT, Deshpande SP, Varaprasad K, Kishor P (2015) Biotechnological approaches to evolve sorghum (*Sorghum bicolor* (L.) Moench) for drought stress tolerance and shoot fly resistance. Curr Trends Biotechnol Pharm 9 (3):281–292
- Klein R, Rodriguez-Herrera R, Schlueter JA, Klein P, Yu Z, Rooney W (2001) Identification of genomic regions that affect grain-mould incidence and other traits of agronomic importance in sorghum. Theor Appl Genet 102(2–3):307–319
- Kumar AA, Gorthy S, Sharma HC, Huang Y, Sharma R, Reddy BV (2014) Understanding genetic control of biotic stress resistance in sorghum for applied breeding. In: Wang Y-H, Upadhyaya HD, Kole C (eds) Genetics, genomics and breeding of sorghum. CRC Press, Boca Raton (USA), London (UK), New York (USA), pp 202–203
- Li J, Timko MP (2009) Gene-for-gene resistance in *Striga*-cowpea associations. Science 325(5944):1094
- Li RG, Han YC, Lu P, Du RH, Liu GQ (2014) Molecular characterization of aphids infesting sorghum in China. Res Crops 15(1):84–89
- Lu X, Brewbaker J (1999) Molecular mapping of QTLs conferring resistance to *Sphacelotheca reiliana* (Kühn) clint. Maize Genet Coop Newsl 73:36

- Lu Q, Dahlberg JA (2001) Chinese sorghum genetic resources. Econ Bot 55(3):401–425
- Mace E, Tai S, Innes D, Godwin I, Hu W, Campbell B, Gilding E, Cruickshank A, Prentis P, Wang J (2014) The plasticity of NBS resistance genes in sorghum is driven by multiple evolutionary processes. BMC Plant Biol 14(1):253
- Madhusudhana R (2015) Application of DNA markers for genetic improvement In: Madhusudhana R, Rajendrakumar P, Patil J (eds) Sorghum molecular breeding. Springer, India, pp 81–85
- Madhusudhana R, Balakrishna D, Rajendrakumar P, Seetharama N, Patil J (2012) Molecular characterization and assessment of genetic diversity of sorghum inbred lines. Afr J Biotechnol 11(90):15626–15635
- McIntyre C, Casu R, Drenth J, Knight D, Whan V, Croft B, Jordan D, Manners J (2005) Resistance gene analogues in sugarcane and sorghum and their association with quantitative trait loci for rust resistance. Genome 48(3):391–400
- Mehtre SP (2006) Genetic diversity analysis, QTL mapping and marker-assisted selection for shoot fly resistance in sorghum [Sorghum bicolor (L,) Moench]. Ph.D dissertation, Marathwada Agricultural University, Parbhani, Maharashtra, India
- Menkir A, Ejeta G, Butler L, Melakeberhan A (1996) Physical and chemical kernel properties associated with resistance to grain mold in sorghum. Cereal Chem 73(5):613–617
- Mohamed AH (2002) Identification and characterization of genetic variants in sorghum for specific mechanisms of *Striga* resistance. PhD thesis. Purdue University, West Lafayette, IN, USA
- Mohamed A, Ellicott A, Housley T, Ejeta G (2003) Hypersensitive response to infection in. Crop Sci 43 (4):1320–1324
- Mohamed A, Ali R, Elhassan O, Suliman E, Mugoya C, Masiga CW, Elhusien A, Hash CT (2014) First products of DNA marker-assisted selection in sorghum released for cultivation by farmers in sub-saharan Africa. J Plant Sci Mol Breed 3(1):3
- Mohan SM, Madhusudhana R, Mathur K, Chakravarthi D, Rathore S, Reddy RN, Satish K, Srinivas G, Mani NS, Seetharama N (2010) Identification of quantitative trait loci associated with resistance to foliar diseases in sorghum [Sorghum bicolor (L.) Moench]. Euphytica 176(2):199–211
- Nagaraj N, Reese JC, Tuinstra MR, Smith CM, Amand PS, Kirkham M, Kofoid KD, Campbell LR, Wilde GE (2005) Molecular mapping of sorghum genes expressing tolerance to damage by greenbug (Homoptera: Aphididae). J Econ Entomol 98(2):595–602
- Nair SK, Prasanna B, Rathore R, Setty T, Kumar R, Singh N (2004) Genetic analysis of resistance to sorghum downy mildew and Rajasthan downy mildew

in maize (Zea mays L.). Field Crop Res 89(2):379-387

- Navi S, Bandyopadhyay R, Hall A, Bramel-Cox P (1999) A pictorial guide for the identification of mold fungi on sorghum grain, vol 59. International Crops Research Institute for Semi Arid Tropics, Patancheru, India
- Ngugi K, Ngugi AJ, Osama S, Mugoya C (2016) Combating *Striga* weed in sorghum by transferring resistance quantitative trait loci through molecular marker assisted introgression. J Plant Breed Genet 3 (3):67–76
- Nibouche S, Fartek B, Mississipi S, Delatte H, Reynaud B, Costet L (2014) Low genetic diversity in *Melanaphis sacchari* aphid populations at the worldwide scale. PLoS One 9(8):e106067
- Odvody G, Frederiksen R (1984) Use of systemic fungicides metalaxyl and fosetyl-Al for control of sorghum downy mildew in corn and sorghum in South Texas. I: seed treatment. Plant Dis 68(7):604–607
- Oh B-J, Frederiksen RA, Magill CW (1996) Identification of RFLP markers linked to a gene for downy mildew resistance (Sdm) in sorghum. Can J Bot 74(2):315– 317
- Pande S, Bock C, Bandyopadhyay R, Narayana Y, Reddy B, Lenne J, Jeger M (1997) Downy mildew of sorghum. Information bulletin no. 51, international crops research institute for the semi-arid tropics, Patancheru 502 324, Andhra Pradesh, India
- Pathak M, Painter RH (1958) Differential amounts of material taken up by four biotypes of corn leaf aphids from resistant and susceptible sorghums. Ann Entomol Soc Am 51(3):250–254
- Patil-Kulkarni B, Puttarudrappa A, Kajjari N, Goud J (1972) Breeding for rust resistance in sorghum. Indian Phytopathology 25(1):166–168
- Perumal R, Isakeit T, Menz M, Katile S, No EG, Magill CW (2006) Characterization and genetic distance analysis of isolates of *Peronosclerospora sorghi* using AFLP fingerprinting. Mycol Res 110 (4):471–478
- Perumal R, Nimmakayala P, Erattaimuthu SR, Reddy UK, Prom LK, Odvody GN, Luster DG, Magill CW (2008) Simple sequence repeat markers useful for sorghum downy mildew (*Peronosclerospora sorghi*) and related species. BMC Genet 9 (1):1
- Peterson G, Schaefer K, Pendleton B (2009) Registration of 16 sorghum germplasm lines. J Plant Registr 3 (2):203–205
- Pieterse A, Pesch C (1983) The witchweeds (*Striga* spp.) —a review. Abstr Trop. Agric (Netherlands) 9:9–34
- Porter K, Peterson G, Vise O (1982) A new greenbug biotype. Crop Sci 22(4):847–850

- Prom L, Montes-Garcia N, Erpelding J, Perumal R, Medina-Ocegueda S (2010) Response of sorghum accessions from Chad and Uganda to natural infection by the downy mildew pathogen, *Peronosclerospora sorghi* in Mexico and the USA/Reaktion von tschadischen und ugandischen Sorghum-Akzessionen auf natürliche Infektionen mit dem Erreger des Falschen Mehltaus, Peronosclerospora sorghi, in Mexiko und den USA. J Plant Dis Protect 2–8
- Prom LK, Perumal R, Montes-Garcia N, Isakeit T, Odvody GN, Rooney WL, Little CR, Magill C (2015) Evaluation of Gambian and Malian sorghum germplasm against downy mildew pathogen, *Peronosclerospora sorghi*, in Mexico and the USA. J Gen Plant Pathol 81(1):24–31
- Punnuri S, Huang Y, Steets J, Wu Y (2013) Developing new markers and QTL mapping for greenbug resistance in sorghum [Sorghum bicolor (L.) Moench]. Euphytica 191(2):191–203
- Rakshit S, Patil J (2014) Sorghum. In: Chopra V (ed) Breeding field crops II: advances. Studium Press Pvt. Ltd., India, pp 79–96
- Rana B, Tripathi D, Rao N (1976) Genetic analysis of some exotic × Indian crosses in sorghum XV. Inheritance of resistance to sorghum rust. Indian J Genet Plant Breed 36(2):244–249
- Reddy B, Sharma H, Thakur R, Ramesh S, Kumar A (2007) Characterization of ICRISAT-bred sorghum hybrid parents (set II). Int Sorghum Millets Newsl 48:1–123
- Riyazaddin M, Kishor K, Polavarapu B, Ashok Kumar A, Reddy BV, Munghate RS, Sharma HC (2015) Mechanisms and diversity of resistance to sorghum shoot fly *Atherigona soccata*. Plant Breed 134(4):423–436
- Rosenow D, Odvody G, Frederiksen R, Schaefer K, Collins S, Remmers J, Peterson G, Woodfin C, Rooney W (2014) Registration of Tx3301 through Tx3360 sorghum germplasms with resistance to downy mildew. J Plant Reg 8(1):90–95
- Ryley M, Persley D, Jordan D, Henzell R (2002) Status of sorghum and pearl millet diseases in Australia. In: Leslie J (ed) Sorghum and millet diseases. Iowa State University Press, Ames, IA, USA, pp 441–448
- Sajjanar G (2002) Genetic analysis and molecular mapping of components of resistance to shoot fly (Atherigona soccata) in sorghum [Sorghum bicolor (L.) Moench.]. PhD Thesis, University of Agricultural Sciences, Dharwad, India
- Santosh D, Abdalla M, Charles Thomas Hash J (2013) Molecular breeding for *Striga* resistance in sorghum. In: Rajeev V, Roberto T (eds) Translational genomics for crop breeding. John Wiley & Sons, New York, USA
- Satish K, Srinivas G, Madhusudhana R, Padmaja P, Reddy RN, Mohan SM, Seetharama N (2009) Identification of quantitative trait loci for resistance to shoot fly in sorghum [Sorghum bicolor (L.) Moench]. Theor Appl Genet 119(8):1425–1439

- Satish K, Gutema Z, Grenier C, Rich PJ, Ejeta G (2012a) Molecular tagging and validation of microsatellite markers linked to the low germination stimulant gene (*lgs*) for *Striga* resistance in sorghum [*Sorghum bicolor* (L.) Moench]. Theor Appl Genet 124 (6):989–1003
- Satish K, Madhusudhana R, Padmaja P, Seetharama N, Patil J (2012b) Development, genetic mapping of candidate gene-based markers and their significant association with the shoot fly resistance quantitative trait loci in sorghum [Sorghum bicolor (L.) Moench]. Mol Breed 30(4):1573–1591
- Schuh W, Jeger MJ, Frederiksen RA (1987) The influence of soil temperature, soil moisture, soil texture, and inoculum density on the incidence of sorghum downy mildew. Phytopathology 77(2):125–128
- Schuster D, Starks K (1973) Greenbugs: components of host-plant resistance in sorghum. J Econ Entomol 66 (5):1131–1134
- Sharma H, Franzmann B (2001) Host-plant preference and oviposition responses of the sorghum midge, *Stenodiplosis sorghicola* (Coquillett)(Dipt., Cecidomyiidae) towards wild relatives of sorghum. J Appl Entomol 125(3):109–114
- Sharma H, Vidyasagar P (1994) Antixenosis component of resistance to sorghum midge, *Contarinia sorghicola* Coq. in *Sorghum bicolor* (L.) Moench. Ann Appl Biol 124(3):495–507
- Sharma H, Vidyasagar P, Subramanian V (1993) Antibiosis component of resistance in sorghum to sorghum midge, *Contarinia sorghicola*. Ann Appl Biol 123 (3):469–483
- Sharma H, Venkateswarulu G, Sharma A (2003) Environmental factors influence the expression of resistance to sorghum midge, *Stenodiplosis sorghicola*. Euphytica 130(3):365–375
- Sharma H, Reddy BV, Dhillon M, Venkateswaran K, Singh B, Pampapathy G, Folkertsma R, Hash C, Sharma K (2005) Host plant resistance to insects in sorghum: present status and need for future research. Int Sorghum Millets Newsl 46:36–43
- Sharma R, Rao V, Upadhyaya H, Reddy VG, Thakur R (2010) Resistance to grain mold and downy mildew in a mini-core collection of sorghum germplasm. Plant Dis 94(4):439–444
- Sharma R, Upadhyaya H, Manjunatha S, Rao V, Thakur R (2012) Resistance to foliar diseases in a mini-core collection of sorghum germplasm. Plant Dis 96(11):1629–1633
- Sifuentes J, Frederiksen R (1988) Inheritance of resistance to pathotypes 1, 2, and 3 of *Peronosclerospora sorghi* in sorghum. Plant Dis 72(4):332–333
- Singh S, Bandyopadhyay R (2000) Grain mold. In: Frederiksen R, Odvody G (eds) Compendium of sorghum diseases. American Phytopathological Society, St. Paul, MN, USA, pp 38–40

- Singh S, Grewal R (1999) Evaluation of sorghum genotypes for relative resistance to corn leaf aphid, *Rhopalosiphum maidis*. In: Sorghum improvement conference of North America, Abernathy, USA; International Crops Research Institute for the Semi-Arid Tropics (ICRISAT), Patancheru, India
- Singh B, Padmaja P, Seetharama N (2004) Biology and management of the sugarcane aphid, *Melanaphis* sacchari (Zehntner) (Homoptera: Aphididae), in sorghum: a review. Crop Protec 23(9):739–755
- So Y-S, Ji HC, Brewbaker JL (2010) Resistance to corn leaf aphid (*Rhopalosiphum maidis* Fitch) in tropical corn (*Zea mays* L.). Euphytica 172(3):373–381
- Spallek T, Mutuku M, Shirasu K (2013) The genus *Striga*: a witch profile. Mol Plant Pathol 14(9):861– 869
- Suenaga K, Singh R, Huerta-Espino J, William H (2003) Microsatellite markers for genes Lr34/Yr18 and other quantitative trait loci for leaf rust and stripe rust resistance in bread wheat. Phytopathology 93(7):881– 890
- Sukhani T, Jotwani M (1980) Efficacy of some newer systemic insecticides for the control of sorghum shootfly, *Atherigona soccata Rondani*. Indian J Entomol 42(1):76–81
- Tao Y, Jordan D, Henzell R, McIntyre C (1998) Identification of genomic regions for rust resistance in sorghum. Euphytica 103(3):287–292
- Tao Y, Hardy A, Drenth J, Henzell R, Franzmann B, Jordan D, Butler D, McIntyre C (2003) Identifications of two different mechanisms for sorghum midge resistance through QTL mapping. Theor Appl Genet 107(1):116–122
- Tarr S (1962) Diseases of sorghum sudan grass and broom corn. Commonwealth Agricultural Bureaux, Oxford, UK
- Tarumoto I (2005) Glossiness of leaf blades in sorghum (Sorghum bicolor L. Moench); its visual and ultrastructural studies. Jpn Agr Res Q 39(3):153–160
- Teetes G, Pendleton B (2000) Insect pests of sorghum. In: Smith C, Frederiksen R (eds) Sorghum: origin, history, technology, and production. John Wiley & Sons, New York, USA, pp 463–466
- Teka HB (2014) Advance research on *Striga* control: a review. Afr J Plant Sci Rep 8(11):492–506
- Thakur R, Mathur K (2002) Downy mildews of India. Crop Protec 21(4):333–345
- Thakur R, Rao V, Navi SS, Garud T, Agarkar G, Bhat B (2003) Sorghum grain mold: variability in fungal complex. Int Sorghum Millet Newsl 44:104–108
- Thakur R, Reddy B, Indira S, Rao V, Navi S, Yang X, Ramesh S (2006) Sorghum grain mold. In: Information bulletin. International Crops Research Institute for the Semi-Arid Tropics, Patancheru, Andhra Pradesh, India, p 32
- Thakur R, Reddy BV, Mathur K (2007) Screening techniques for sorghum diseases. In: Information:

bulletin No. 76. International Crops Research Institute for the Semi-Arid Tropics, Patancheru, Andhra Pradesh, India

- Thakur J, Prinja S, Garg CC, Mendis S, Menabde N (2011) Social and economic implications of noncommunicable diseases in India. Indian J Commun Med 36(5):13–22
- Timko MP, Huang K, Lis KE (2012) Host resistance and parasite virulence in *Striga*-host plant interactions: a shifting balance of power. Weed Sci 60(2):307–315
- Upadhyaya HD, Wang Y-H, Sharma R, Sharma S (2013) SNP markers linked to leaf rust and grain mold resistance in sorghum. Mol Breed 32(2):451–462
- Van den Berg J (2002) Status of resistance of sorghum hybrids to the aphid, *Melanaphis sacchari* (Zehntner) (Homoptera: Aphididae). J Plant Soil (South Africa) 19(3):151–155
- Wang ML, Dean R, Erpelding J, Pederson G (2006) Molecular genetic evaluation of sorghum germplasm differing in response to fungal diseases: rust (*Puccinia purpurea*) and anthracnose (*Collectotrichum graminicola*). Euphytica 148(3):319–330
- Wang F, Zhao S, Han Y, Shao Y, Dong Z, Gao Y, Zhang K, Liu X, Li D, Chang J (2013) Efficient and fine mapping of *RMES1* conferring resistance to sorghum aphid *Melanaphis sacchari*. Mol Breed 31 (4):777–784
- Wang X, Mace E, Hunt C, Cruickshank A, Henzell R, Parkes H, Jordan D (2014) Two distinct classes of QTL determine rust resistance in sorghum. BMC Plant Biol 14(1):1
- Wei C, Hincapie MA, Larsen N, Nuessly G, Rott PC (2016) First report of Sugarcane yellow leaf virus infecting grain sorghum (Sorghum bicolor) in the United States. Plant Dis (ja)
- White JA, Ryley MJ, George DL, Kong GA, White SC (2012) Yield losses in grain sorghum due to rust infection. Austral Plant Pathol 41(1):85–91
- White J, Ryley M, George D, Kong G (2015) Identification of pathotypes of the sorghum rust pathogen, *Puccinia purpurea*, in Australia. Austral Plant Pathol 44(1):1–4
- Wu Y, Huang Y (2008) Molecular mapping of QTLs for resistance to the greenbug *Schizaphis graminum* (Rondani) in *Sorghum bicolor* (Moench). Theor Appl Genet 117(1):117–124
- Wu Y, Huang Y, Tauer C, Porter DR (2006) Genetic diversity of sorghum accessions resistant to greenbugs as assessed with AFLP markers. Genome 49(2):143– 149
- Wu Y, Huang Y, Porter DR, Tauer C, Hollaway L (2007) Identification of a major quantitative trait locus conditioning resistance to greenbug biotype E in sorghum PI 550610 using simple sequence repeat markers. J Econ Entomol 100(5):1672–1678
- Yohannes T, Tesfamichael A, Kiambi D, Folkertsma R, Hash CT, Ngugi K, Mutitu E, Abraha N,

Weldetsion M, Mugoya C (2015) Marker-assisted introgression improves *Striga* resistance in an eritrean farmer-preferred sorghum variety. Field Crop Res 173:22–29

Yoshida S, Ishida JK, Kamal NM, Ali AM, Namba S, Shirasu K (2010) A full-length enriched cDNA library and expressed sequence tag analysis of the parasitic weed, *Striga hermonthica*. BMC Plant Biol 10(1):55

Zhao B, Lin X, Poland J, Trick H, Leach J, Hulbert S (2005) A maize resistance gene functions against bacterial streak disease in rice. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 102(43):15383–15388

Genomic Approaches for Abiotic Stress Tolerance in Sorghum

9

Santosh Deshpande, Sujay Rakshit, K.G. Manasa, Sarita Pandey and Rajeev Gupta

Abstract

Although sorghum is a crop grown under harsh environments, its productivity is adversely affected by various abiotic stresses including drought, temperature extremes, low fertility, and mineral toxicity among others. In recent years a large number of genetic and genomic resources have become available in sorghum, which provide researchers opportunities to relate sequence variations with phenotypic traits of interest and their utilization in sorghum improvement programs. The application of the molecular marker and genomic technologies has shown promise for efficient breeding. However, very few successful examples are available in the public domain of research in this direction. Some of these successes specifically related to application of molecular marker technologies for improving abiotic stresses are explained in this chapter. With advances next-generation recent in sequencing technologies and high-throughput phenotyping platforms/technologies, utilizing the new/advanced mapping populations such as nested-association mapping (NAM), backcross-derived NAM has shown great potential. These recent advancements will be the drivers for integration of genomics technologies in routine breeding programs in the immediate future.

1 Introduction

Sorghum [Sorghum bicolor L. (Moench)] is vital to the food security of many of the world's poorest people living in fragile agroecological zones. Sorghum is produced by about 100 countries in the world and mainly used as staple food in parts of Asia and Africa, whereas in the United States, Mexico, and Australia it is used as a major feed crop (Rakshit et al. 2014). The genome of sorghum is unique as there is only $\sim 3 \%$ differential sorghum–rice gene loss

International Crops Research Institute for the Semi-Arid Tropics (ICRISAT), Patancheru 502 324, Telangana, India e-mail: s.deshpande@cgiar.org

S. Deshpande (\boxtimes) · K.G. Manasa · S. Pandey · R. Gupta

S. Rakshit ICAR-Indian Institute of Millets Research, Rajendranagar, Hyderabad, Telangana, India

[©] Springer International Publishing AG 2016

S. Rakshit and Y.-H. Wang (eds.), *The Sorghum Genome*, Compendium of Plant Genomes, DOI 10.1007/978-3-319-47789-3_9

and comparatively less structural rearrangement for sorghum-rice in 50 million years than sorghum-maize rearrangement (with genome duplication events) in ~ 15 million years in evolutionary lineage (Bowers et al. 2003). The sorghum karyotype shows 70 million years of "abstinence" from genome duplication. Researchers have exploited this great opportunity to study functions of sorghum genes which may still resemble those of the common cereal ancestor. Accordingly, the sequenced \sim 740 Mb sorghum genome (Paterson et al. 2009) is a logical complement to that of Oryza (rice) for grass functional genomics.

In addition to its importance as a model crop, sorghum is the most drought-resistant among the world's top five cereal crops, and an important dual-purpose crop. Sorghum cultivation ranges from the equator (approximately 50° latitude) to elevations of 2500 m (Rao et al. 2015). Sorghum is exceptionally tolerant to low input levels (especially in West Africa), which is an important characteristic for the areas receiving little rainfall. Thus, sorghum plays a vital role in feeding the world's most vulnerable population under the context of increasing demand for limited fresh water supply, increasing use of marginal farmland, and climatic trends. These interesting facts about sorghum along with recent advances in genomics with the advent of the next-generation sequencing (NGS) platforms for genotyping, expression studies, and highthroughput phenotyping facilities make it a model plant species not only to study evolutionary relationships across other grass species but also to help understand the mechanisms and functions of the genome that will lead to better adaptation to climate change, especially for abiotic stresses such as drought, salinity, cold tolerance, and nutrient use efficiency. This is more relevant in the current scenario where global food production has to be increased by 70 % in the background of ever-shrinking cultivable land and water resources (MacIntyre et al. 2009), and increased incidences of environmental extremes such as floods, drought, and extreme temperatures (Mickelbart et al. 2015). Wang et al. (2014a, b) made a detailed review of the status of abiotic stress genomics in sorghum vis-à-vis other cereals, and Anami et al. (2015) reviewed biotic and abiotic stress resistance with specific reference to sweet sorghum. In this chapter, efforts have been made to update the status in this area, keeping the developments in perspective.

2 Stay-Green as a Post-flowering Drought Tolerance Trait

2.1 Importance of Stay-Green

Among the various abiotic stress factors affecting crop growth and productivity, water stress is the single greatest factor and this will be the most important factor under a changed climatic regime (Araus et al. 2002). The impact of drought may largely be addressed through genetic improvement for drought response (Mutava et al. 2011a, b). In sorghum, two distinct drought-stress responses have been identified based on the time of occurrence: a pre-flowering drought response occurring prior to anthesis and a post-flowering drought response during the grain-filling stage (Harris et al. 2007). Even though a number of commonly grown cultivars show tolerance at the pre-anthesis stage, they are not tolerant at post-anthesis stages (Sanchez et al. 2002), which is of more economic consequence. Post-flowering drought susceptibility symptoms are characterized by premature leaf and plant senescence, stalk lodging, charcoal rot, and reduction in seed sizes (Rosenow and Clark 1995). Retention of green leaf area during the grain-filling stage has been found to be associated with post-flowering drought tolerance in sorghum (Rakshit et al. 2016). This capacity of certain genotypes in sorghum is referred as the "stay-green" phenotype, and is one of the most well-characterized and utilized traits in sorghum improvement (Rosenow and Clark 1982; Borrell et al. 2000a, b; Borrell and Hammer 2000; Rakshit et al. 2016). The expression of stay-green has been reported to improve the quality of crop residues (van Oosterom et al. 1996), support the continuation of carbon fixation and supply of starch to the sink (McBee

et al. 1983), prevent premature death and lodging of crop (Rosenow and Clark 1982), sustain grain filling under water stress (Rosenow et al. 1983), and improve grain yield under moisture stress (Borrell and Douglas 1996). Even though some progress has been reported in identification of underpinning factors stay-green expression (Vadez et al. 2011; Kholová et al. 2014), understanding the genetic regulation of the mechanisms that lead to the expression of the stay-green phenotype in sorghum is incomplete. Early works considered the benefit of stay-green in terms of extending the period during which a leaf could actively fix carbon (McBee et al. 1983). Subsequently, it was related to the carbon economy of the plant, addressing the nitrogen status of the plant and, in particular, the balance between nitrogen demand and nitrogen capture (Borrell et al. 2001). Owing to its importance as a most widely characterized drought tolerance component trait in sorghum breeding, several quantitative trait locus (QTL) mapping studies (Tuinstra et al. 1997; Crasta et al. 1999; Subudhi et al. 2000; Tao et al. 2000; Xu et al. 2000; Kebede et al. 2001; Haussmann et al. 2002; Sanchez et al. 2002; Harris et al. 2007; Srinivas et al. 2009; Habyarimana et al. 2010; Sabadin et al. 2012) for stay-green are reported in sorghum and are well documented (Mace and Jordan 2010; Kiranmayee et al. 2015). There are several well-documented reviews about the progress of research on stay-green in sorghum (Vadez et al. 2013; Wang et al. 2014a, b).

2.2 QTL Analysis for Stay-Green and Associated Root Traits

Overall, seven sources of the stay-green trait have thus far been used for identification of QTLs for this phenotype, and these are B35 (Tuinstra et al. 1997; Crasta et al. 1999; Subudhi et al. 2000; Xu et al. 2000; Sanchez et al. 2002; Harris et al. 2007), E36-1 (Haussmann et al. 2002), QL41 (Tao et al. 2000), SC56 (Kebede et al. 2001), 296B (Srinivas et al. 2009), SC283 (Sabadin et al. 2012), and SDS 1948-3 (Habyarimana et al. 2010). Among these, the most commonly used source is B35 [BTx642, a BC1 derivative of IS12555, a durra sorghum from Ethiopia (Rosenow et al. 1983)]. All studies showed that stay-green is quantitatively inherited, and the QTLs varied across environments and years. However, six major stay-green QTLs, stgC (SBI-01), stg3A and stg3B (on SBI-02), stg1 and stg2 (on SBI-03), and stg4 (on SBI-05) have been detected across several studies (Tuinstra et al. 1997; Crasta et al. 1999; Subudhi et al. 2000; Tao et al. 2000; Xu et al. 2000; Haussmann et al. 2002; Sanchez et al. 2002; Harris et al. 2007). Although the mapped QTLs are from different mapping populations, their physical positions are consistent across the maps (Wang et al. 2014a, b). A simple sequence repeat (SSR) framework map aligned to sorghum genome assembly and the consensus QTL intervals for stay-green traits from these studies (Mace and Jordan 2011a, b) are integrated (Fig. 1; http:// cmap.icrisat.ac.in/cmap/) for selecting additional markers in the intervals, especially to support introgression work. Many studies have attempted to use the identified stay-green QTLs for develdrought-tolerant oping cultivars through marker-assisted backcrossing (Kassahun et al. 2010; Jordan et al. 2012; Vadez et al. 2013).

Root traits are assumed to play a major role towards improved drought tolerance. (For details refer to Chap. 11.) The nodal root angle in sorghum is hypothesized to influence both horizontal and vertical exploration of roots in the soil (Kato et al. 2006; Hammer et al. 2009; Singh et al. 2010; Mace et al. 2012). A putative association between narrow root angle and moderate to high levels of stay-green was made while studying genetic diversity for nodal root angle in a set of 44 diverse sorghum genotypes (Singh et al. 2011). As sorghum produces only one seminal root and the major root system forms nodal root axes, the root angle measured on nodal roots, the first flush of which appears approximately at the five-leaf stage, is suggested to be the most important parameter (Singh et al. 2010). Thus, small soil-filled root chambers can be used effectively to grow plants for a few






Fig. 1 Consensus QTL intervals for stay-green QTLs from Mace and Jordan (2011a, b) aligned to physically aligned SSRs (vertical bars indicate QTL interval tracks; red tracks for maturity genes/QTLs; aqua for panicle

traits, and grey tracks for stay-green). **a** QTL tracks for sorghum chromosome SBI-01 to SBI-05. **b** QTL tracks for sorghum chromosome SBI-06 to SBI-10

weeks to study the nodal root angles (Singh et al. 2010, 2012). A seedling root angle tends to have medium to high heritability (Mace et al. 2012; Singh et al. 2011). Using the rapid root angle screening strategy, Mace et al. (2012) identified four QTLs for nodal root angle in sorghum, explaining 29.78, 11.65, 10.01, and 6.72 % of total phenotypic variation, respectively. These were further confirmed in a backcross-derived

nested association mapping population. Three of the four identified QTLs showed homology to previously identified root angle QTL in rice and maize, whereas all four QTLs colocalized with previously identified QTL for stay-green in sorghum. This has opened up the scope to use these reported QTLs towards developing sorghum genotypes with better rooting systems, making them water- and nutrient-efficient genotypes. The

Chromosome	Trait	QTL	Physical po	Physical position		
no.			Starting point	Ending point	SNP	
SB01	Shoot dry weight	qSDW1_1 [#]	59236915	64917463	75	
SB02	Stay-green	Stg3 [@]	26010527	28923791	42	
	Root dry weight	qRDW1_2 [#]	71213786	77627131	124	
SB03	Stay-green	Stg2 [@]	19344798	22773106	35	
	Stay-green	Stg1 [@]	25307987	25969626	5	
SB05	Stay-green	Stg4 [@]	5166739	12984849	111	
	Nodal root angle	qRA1_5#	13464752	45972507	278	
	Root dry weight, Shoot dry weight	qRDW1_5 [#]	50053880	51943001	15	
	Nodal root angle	qRA2_5#	54167643	55807231	28	
SB08	Nodal root angle	qRA1_8#	8026484	41653341	358	
	Root dry weight, Total leaf area	qRDW1_8, qTLA1_8, qTLA2_8 [#]	47089939	50926404	66	
	Total leaf area	qTLA3_8 [#]	54033969	54997392	20	
SB10	Bloom	BLMC ^{\$}	56693	11980745	257	
	Nodal root angle	qRA1_10 [#]	57009865	58763524	25	

Table 1 SNPs associated with drought-related QTLs (Sujay Rakshit personal communication unpublished data)

^{\$}Burow et al. (2009); [#]Mace et al. (2012); [@]Srinivas et al. (2008)

projection of the six additional significant marker-trait associations for nodal root angle identified in the association mapping study identified that five out of six (83 %) of these new potential QTLs were also found to colocate with regions of the genome containing previously mapped stay-green QTLs (Mace et al. 2012).

In a recent study at the ICAR-Indian Institute of Millets Research, Hyderabad, India, a reference set for drought study comprising 96 genotypes has been developed through a combination of detailed multilocation drought response phenotyping of 258 diverse sorghum genotypes and their molecular diversity analysis using 39 polymorphic SSR markers (Rakshit et al. 2014). Through double digest restrictionsite associated DNA ddRAD sequencing of this reference set, 235,009 genomewide single nucleotide polymorphisms (SNPs) have been identified, 1439 of which fall within the coordinates of reported QTLs associated with drought tolerance in sorghum (Table 1; Sujay Rakshit unpublished data).

2.3 Stay-Green QTL Introgression: Successes and Lessons Learned

The initial introgression work carried out at ICRISAT, Patancheru, India, has further dissected the genetic function of the stay-green QTLs. These studies suggest that stg3A and stg3B QTLs are responsible for transpiration efficiency and vapor pressure deficit response, and are also found to be most stable across several genetic backgrounds and across years (personal communication: Santosh Deshpande). The marker-assisted backcross (MABC) research at ICRISAT till the late 2000s were based on SSRs alone (Vadez et al. 2013), and a very large QTL interval that almost covered the complete chromosome arm was used. These datasets are publically available (www.icrisat/cmap/ac.in). With progress in the understanding of the genetic regulation of the stay-green phenotype in sorghum, the current introgression of genomic regions involved in expression of the stay-green

phenotype will further lead a well-targeted manipulation of individual components. For instance, it is reported that B35 donor parent alleles at stay-green QTL stg1 contribute to increased water extraction by the moderately senescent caudatum line, S35 (Vadez et al. 2011); however, stg1 failed to show the same phenomenon in the genetic background of the highly senescent durra line, R16 (Vadez et al. 2011). Therefore, it is necessary to identify better donors for each of the component traits of the stay-green phenotype, which may vary with the genetic backgrounds, specific soil, water, and temperature regimes in which improved drought tolerance is desired. Among the investigated six QTLs, stg3A and stg3B QTLs are more stable across genetic backgrounds and environments. The stg3A and stg3B QTLs are located next to each other on SBI-02, and the mesocarp gene, Z, which governs the grain seed coat color, is located between the two QTL intervals (Mace and Jordan 2010). This poses a problem in selection for grain color coupled with stay-green traits. Similarly, location of the maturity gene Ma_5 , just after the *stg3B* interval, also adversely affects fixation of the flowering time (Kim 2003). QTL analysis (Srinivas et al. 2008, 2009) along with in silico studies (Ramu et al. 2010) helped to add several SSRs in the region represented by the mentioned QTLs (Table 2). By exploiting existing backcross generations in ongoing MABC projects, the QTL interval for stg3A and

Table 2 A list of SSRs available for stg3A and stg3B QTL region including the original SSRs listed in Vadez et al.(2013)

S. no.	Locus	Stay-green QTL details	Chromosome	Physical position (Mbp)	SSR amplicon size
1	Xtxp013	Stg3A	SBI-02	55.95	119
2	Xiabtp193	Stg3A	SBI-02	56.08	218
3	Dsenhsbm055	Stg3A	SBI-02	56.79	-
4	Dsenhsbm025	Stg3A	SBI-02	56.86	-
5	m13_Xtxp304	Stg3A	SBI-02	57.04	-
6	Xtxp298	Stg3A	SBI-02	57.08	199
7	Stg3a_1	Stg3A	SBI-02	57.17	189
8	Stg3a_2	Stg3A	SBI-02	57.28	442
9	Stg3a_3	Stg3A	SBI-02	57.60	114
10	Stg3a_4	Stg3A	SBI-02	57.70	294
11	Stg3a_5	Stg3A	SBI-02	57.76	197
12	Xisp 280	Stg3A	SBI-02	57.76	-
13	Xisp10278	Stg3A	SBI-02	57.77	-
14	Stg3a_6	Stg3A	SBI-02	57.87	267
15	Stg3a_7	Stg3A	SBI-02	58.13	154
16	XSbAGB03	Stg3A	SBI-02	58.13	144
17	Stg3a_8	Stg3A	SBI-02	58.20	216
18	Stg3a_9	Stg3A	SBI-02	58.33	188
19	Dsenhsbm108	Stg3A	SBI-02	58.43	-
20	Stg3a_10	Stg3A	SBI-02	58.56	212
21	Stg3a_11	Stg3A	SBI-02	58.61	134
22	Xiabtp391	Stg3A	SBI-02	58.87	403

(continued)

S. no.	Locus	Stay-green QTL details	Chromosome	Physical position (Mbp)	SSR amplicon size
23	Xiabtp265	Stg3A	SBI-02	58.91	246
24	Stg3a_12	Stg3A	SBI-02	58.95	166
25	Stg3a_13	Stg3A	SBI-02	59.07	166
26	Xcup63	Stg3A	SBI-02	59.10	145
27	Xtxp464	Stg3A	SBI-02	59.20	140
28	Xiabtp80	Stg3A	SBI-02	59.20	176
29	Stg3a_14	Stg3A	SBI-02	59.75	153
30	Stg3a_15	Stg3A	SBI-02	59.82	201
31	Stg3a_16	Stg3A	SBI-02	59.88	156
32	Stg3a_17	Stg3A	SBI-02	59.95	253
33	Stg3a_18	Stg3A	SBI-02	59.97	204
34	msbcir339	Stg3A	SBI-02	60.19	176
35	Stg3a_19	Stg3A	SBI-02	60.19	131
36	Stg3a_20	Stg3A	SBI-02	60.21	202
37	Stg3a_21	Stg3A	SBI-02	60.23	227
38	Stg3a_22	Stg3A	SBI-02	60.28	208
39	Stg3a_23	Stg3A	SBI-02	60.28	176
40	Stgnhsbm34	Stg3A	SBI-02	60.44	-
41	Xtxp214	Stg3A	SBI-02	60.44	220
42	Xtxp445	Stg3A	SBI-02	60.45	238
43	Xcup29	Stg3A	SBI-02	60.45	191
44	Stg3a_24	Stg3A	SBI-02	60.46	125
45	Stg3a_25	Stg3A	SBI-02	60.48	224
46	Stg3a_26	Stg3A	SBI-02	60.51	162
47	Xtxp466	Stg3A	SBI-02	60.65	159
48	Xtxp465	Stg3A	SBI-02	60.67	177
49	Xiabtp509	Stg3A	SBI-02	60.82	240
50	Stg3a_27	Stg3A	SBI-02	60.84	103
51	Xtxp430	Stg3A	SBI-02	61.09	158
52	Xtxp430	Stg3A	SBI-02	61.09	158
53	Xsbarslbk2.61	Stg3A	SBI-02	61.09	-
54	Stg3a_28	Stg3A	SBI-02	61.13	221
55	Stg3a_29	Stg3A	SBI-02	61.13	113
56	Xisep0934	Stg3A	SBI-02	61.22	196
57	Stg3a_30	Stg3A	SBI-02	61.26	148
58	Stg3a_31	Stg3A	SBI-02	61.33	169
59	Xtxp001	Stg3A	SBI-02	61.37	211
60	Stg3a_32	Stg3A	SBI-02	61.37	184

Table 2 (continued)

(continued)

S. no.	Locus	Stay-green QTL details	Chromosome	Physical position (Mbp)	SSR amplicon size
61	Stg3a_33	Stg3A	SBI-02	61.47	99
62	Dsenhsbm032	Stg3A	SBI-02	61.47	-
63	Xisep0926	Stg3A	SBI-02	61.54	191
64	Xtxp056	Stg3A	SBI-02	61.57	347
65	Stgnhsbm35	Stg3A	SBI-02	61.66	242
66	Stg3a_34	Stg3A	SBI-02	61.83	268
67	Stg3a_35	Stg3A	SBI-02	61.84	146
68	Stgnhsbm36	Stg3A	SBI-02	61.95	180
69	Stg3a_36	overlap region	SBI-02	62.13	212
70	Stg3a_37	overlap region	SBI-02	62.29	186
71	Xisep0913	overlap region	SBI-02	62.40	208
72	Xisp10336	overlap region	SBI-02	62.69	-
73	Xisp 336	overlap region	SBI-02	62.69	-
74	Xisep0941	overlap region	SBI-02	63.12	188
75	Dsenhsbm045	overlap region	SBI-02	63.13	-
76	Stgnhsbm31	overlap region	SBI-02	63.13	-
77	Xiabtp231	overlap region	SBI-02	63.13	159
78	Stgnhsbm39	overlap region	SBI-02	63.20	-
79	Xtxp286	overlap region	SBI-02	63.39	-
80	Xgap84	overlap region	SBI-02	63.39	-
81	Stgnhsbm40	overlap region	SBI-02	63.44	-
82	Xisep0938	overlap region	SBI-02	63.44	205
83	Xisep0938	overlap region	SBI-02	63.44	-
84	Xiabtp226	overlap region	SBI-02	63.49	283
85	Xcup41	overlap region	SBI-02	63.62	231
86	Stgnhsbm42	overlap region	SBI-02	64.87	-
87	Xisep0849	overlap region	SBI-02	64.91	-
88	Xisp10334	overlap region	SBI-02	65.28	-
89	Xisep0944	overlap region	SBI-02	65.30	-
90	Xisep0939	overlap region	SBI-02	65.48	-
91	Xisep1022	overlap region	SBI-02	65.48	-
92	Xisep0942	overlap region	SBI-02	65.83	-
93	Xisep0910	overlap region	SBI-02	65.95	194
94	Xgpsb128	overlap region	SBI-02	66.17	285
95	Ungnhsbm49	overlap region	SBI-02	67.12	-
96	XmSbCIR187	overlap region	SBI-02	67.19	-
97	Xtxp348	overlap region	SBI-02	67.32	-
98	Xisep0935	overlap region	SBI-02	67.41	-

Table 2 (continued)

(continued)

S. no.	Locus	Stay-green QTL details	Chromosome	Physical position (Mbp)	SSR amplicon size
99	Xisp10200	Stg3B	SBI-02	67.80	_
100	Xiabtp323	Stg3B	SBI-02	68.22	191
101	Dsenhsbm015	Stg3B	SBI-02	68.22	_
102	Xtxp428	Stg3B	SBI-02	68.39	213
103	Xisp10259	Stg3B	SBI-02	68.39	-
104	Xisp 259	Stg3B	SBI-02	68.39	-
105	Xiabtp397	Stg3B	SBI-02	68.69	188
106	Xtxp429	Stg3B	SBI-02	68.85	214
107	Stg3b_1	Stg3B	SBI-02	69.31	152
108	Stg3b_2	Stg3B	SBI-02	69.61	209
109	Xtxp100	Stg3B	SBI-02	69.64	116
110	Stg3b_3	Stg3B	SBI-02	70.09	188
111	Stg3b_4	Stg3B	SBI-02	70.20	164
112	Xtxp207	Stg3B	SBI-02	70.26	184
113	Xtxp007	Stg3B	SBI-02	70.26	230
114	Xcup26	Stg3B	SBI-02	70.26	220
115	Stg3b_5	Stg3B	SBI-02	70.42	188
116	Stg3b_6	Stg3B	SBI-02	70.60	99
117	Stg3b_7	Stg3B	SBI-02	70.66	175
118	Stg3b_8	Stg3B	SBI-02	70.67	151
119	Xisep0733	Stg3B	SBI-02	70.75	330
120	Stg3b_9	Stg3B	SBI-02	70.85	225
121	Xiabtp190	Stg3B	SBI-02	70.89	215
122	Xisep0841	Stg3B	SBI-02	70.89	215
123	Xiabtp388	Stg3B	SBI-02	71.03	129
124	Xtxp296	Stg3B	SBI-02	71.11	168
125	Stg3b_10	Stg3B	SBI-02	71.20	277
126	Stg3b_11	Stg3B	SBI-02	71.43	219
127	Xiabtp484	Stg3B	SBI-02	71.60	117
128	Xiabtp205	Stg3B	SBI-02	71.79	165
129	Xiabtp076	Stg3B	SBI-02	72.17	292
130	Xiabtp317	Stg3B	SBI-02	72.33	236
131	Xcup40	Stg3B	SBI-02	75.36	193
132	Stg3b_1	Stg3B	SBI-02	77.29	140
133	Xtxp019	Stg3B	SBI-02	-	-
134	Xtxp008	Stg3B	SBI-02	-	_

Table 2 (continued)

stg3B QTL has been reduced. At ICRISAT additional efforts are currently being made to identify SNPs representing this region of the genome and currently a set of \sim 70 SNPs from genic regions have already been identified (Santosh Deshpande, personal communication).

These additional SSRs facilitate not only the selection for the stay-green QTLs independently but also for stringent mesocarp color in segregating populations. Similarly, as elaborated earlier, a major nodal root angle QTL distal to stg3B (Mace et al. 2012) has provided further opportunities for improvement of drought tolerance by selecting these QTLs simultaneously or in combination. The QTL intervals reported by Vadez et al. (2013) also overlap this root angle QTL within the stg3B region. This in turn is an opportunity to evaluate the available introgression lines (Vadez et al. 2011) for the combined effort of stay-green QTL(s) and root angle QTL in different combinations. Recent advances in the area of accurate and precise phenotyping platforms are adding values to dissect complex traits such as stay-green. Vadez et al. (2011) utilized the lysimeter-based estimations for the mechanism responsible for stg3A and stg3B as water-use efficiency under water-limited conditions and vapor pressure deficit for better transpiration efficiency. These traits help direct trait value measurement rather than stay-green expression. But they are cumbersome to measure for a large breeding or segregating population. At ICRISAT. a high-throughput phenotyping platform called the "LeasyScan" facility has been established to measure leaf area in a quicker way to access the dynamics of leaf development and leaf conductance (Vadez et al. 2015). This further helps to develop an early stage assay for screening the large breeding populations. The technique is based on a novel 3D scanning technique to capture leaf area development continuously, increasing imaging throughput and analytical scales by combining gravimetric transpiration measurements. Utilization of these new phenotyping advances has a great scope for high-throughput trait screening and breeding selections in large breeding populations.

3 Aluminum (Al) Tolerance

3.1 Importance and Mechanism of Al-Tolerance

Soil acidity imposes one of the most severe constraints on crop productivity in the tropics and subtropics (Wang et al. 2014a, b). Many tropical soils are acidic because percolating rainwater leaches the cations such as calcium, magnesium, and potassium, which are replaced by aluminum (Al), manganese, and hydrogen, leading to toxic levels of these elements (Rao et al. 1993). In acidic soils, particularly at pH below 5, Al is solubilized into ionic forms (Al^{3+}) and this leads to phosphorus (P) deficiency as P is fixed as aluminum phosphate (a highly insoluble and unavailable form to plants; Rao et al. 1993). Plants growing in Al toxicity display stunted growth and become susceptible to drought (Marschner 1991; Kochian et al. 2004; Wang et al. 2014a, b). This happens mainly due to inhibition of cell division, cell elongation, or both under low availability of P leading to poor root growth (Delhaize et al. 2004, 2009; Magalhaes et al. 2004). Al toxicity is the single most important factor affecting crop production on 2/3 of the acid soil affected area (Eswaran et al. 1997), and it is a major constraint for sorghum production in tropical and subtropical regions (Doumbia et al. 1993, 1998). Plant adaptation to acid soils is mainly through tolerance and avoidance, of which avoidance occurs more commonly. Avoidance is achieved either through changes in the rhizosphere ecology such as increase in pH through root exudates or release of chelators for Al (such as citrate or malate), or increase in root surface area via mycorrhizae (Marschner 1991).

3.2 Genes for Al-Tolerance in Sorghum

Al tolerance in sorghum is controlled by a single gene (*AltSB/SbMATE*) in a cross between tolerant, SC283, and sensitive, BR007, which has been mapped to sorghum chromosome 3 (Magalhaes et al. 2004). Positional cloning identified a gene coding for an aluminumactivated citrate transporter, which is a member of the multidrug and toxic compound extrusion (MATE) family, the causal component leading Al tolerance (Magalhaes et al. 2007). Markers from this region have been deployed by breeders to introgress favorable SbMATE alleles in susceptible sorghum genotypes (Anami et al. 2015). SbMATE expression is reported to be induced with time of exposure to Al and the expression is higher in the root apex compared to the rest of the root (Magalhaes et al. 2007). The region 1-3 mm behind the root tip where transition from cell division to cell elongation occurs was reported to be the most sensitive area (Sivaguru et al. 2013). After exposure to Al, sensitive genotypes accumulate several-fold more Al in their root apex compared to Al-tolerant genotypes (Delhaize et al. 1993). The coding region of SbMATE is identical between Al-tolerant and Al-sensitive genotypes. However, the second intron of SbMATE shows polymorphism between the two types. In the promoter region of SbMATE, a tourist-like miniature inverted repeat transposable element (MITE) transposon has been reported, whose repeat numbers are observed to be positively correlated with Al tolerance (Magalhaes et al. 2007). With this it is assumed that the causative mutations underlying aluminum tolerance may have a regulatory nature (Anami et al. 2015).

4 QTL/Marker Analysis for Other Abiotic Stresses

4.1 Early-Season Cold Tolerance

Sorghum, in general, cannot grow well under soil temperature below 15 °C. However, if early-season cold tolerance can be induced in sorghum cultivars, the area under it can be extended to more northern latitudes, and may allow early planting, particularly in the United States (Yu and Tuinstra 2001). Under this situation, improved emergence and early-season vigor needed. which will are ensure

establishment of better crop stand, and prevent loss of seedlings due to cold. The "Kaoliangs" sorghum germplasm from temperate regions of China shows better cold tolerance than tropical germplasm (Cisse and Ejeta 2003). Thus, this particular germplasm is a promising source for improvement of cold tolerance (Yu and Tuistra 2001; Franks et al. 2006). However, these germplasms are in general not agronomically promising, and thus require extensive backcrossing to transfer cold tolerance in the breeding program. Gunaratna (2002) found that genetic control of seedling vigor traits under cold stress and under optimal temperatures is similar. In order to identify QTLs for seedling vigor traits under cold stress, Knoll et al. (2008) developed a recombinant inbred line (RIL) population of 153 RILs from a cross between cold-tolerant Chinese Kaoliang "Shan Qui Red" (SQR) and a cold stress-susceptible African caudatum SRN39. They could identify two QTLs for germination. One among them on linkage group SBI-03a was significant under cold and optimal temperature. The other, on SBI-07b, was contributed by SQR, and showed higher significance under cold temperatures. They also identified a region on SBI-01a from SQR, favoring seedling emergence and seedling vigor under early and late field plantings. Knoll and Ejeta (2008) further demonstrated favorable effects of SQR alleles towards seedling vigor and/or emergence in two new populations. Subsequently, Burow et al. (2011) reported an additional 16 QTLs for cold germinability, field emergence, and early seedling vigor in a mapping population consisting of 171 RILs derived from the cross between RTx430 (cold-sensitive) and PI610727 (cold-tolerant) using 141 SSR markers. The most promising region for improving field emergence identified in this study is located on SBI-01. Other QTL-rich regions were located on SBI-03, SBI-04, SBI-06, SBI-08, and SBI-09. Utilizing a genetic map based on an F₈ RIL population reported by Shiringani et al. (2010) and by phenotyping a subset of the same population for cold tolerance, Bekele et al. (2013) identified highly interactive epistatic QTL hotspots having a significant effect on prolonged chilling survival. The 180

major QTL regions on chromosome SBI06 harbor candidate genes that govern tolerance to abiotic stress. They identified several genes conferring maintenance of cell division and growth under early chilling stress within QTL hotspot regions, which can be a potential candidate for breeding cold tolerance.

In sorghum, a higher respiration rate has been correlated with higher germination under cold stress (Balota et al. 2010). Washburn et al. (2013) correlated a rhizome formation trait to overwintering ability of sorghum. The phenomenon of overwintering and rhizomatousness are reported to be controlled by seven QTLs (Paterson et al. 1995; Washburn et al. 2013) that were identified in a mapping population of BTx623/S. propeinquum. The ability of sorghum to overwinter and form rhizome has been suggested to be useful for biofuel sorghum production (Anami et al. 2015).

Through a differentially expressed gene (DEG) analysis between contrasting genotypes, HongkeiZi (cold tolerant) and BTx623 (cold sensitive), Chopra et al. (2015) identified 41,603 SNPs. They could validate 89 % of the 114 selected SNPs using endpoint genotyping technology. By combining expression profile data and gene-based SNP information they generated a searchable database, which turned out to be an important resource for sorghum cold stress genomics research (http://www.csrl.ars.usda.gov/ psgd/index-sorghum.aspx.html). All these markers are important resources to introgress cold tolerance in sorghum. Recently Upadhyaya et al. (2016) conducted association mapping in a sorghum mini-core collection (Upadhyaya et al. 2009) using 162,177 SNPs and identified only one marker locus (Locus 7-2) to be significantly associated with low-temperature germination and none with vigor. The Locus 7-2 was found to represent field early-emergence QTL flanked by Xtxp278 and Xtxp295 (Burow et al. 2011). The locus was found next to three overlapping emergence QTLs close to sPb-5796 (Fiedler et al. 2012). Furthermore, the syntenic region of this locus colocalizes with two cold-tolerance rice QTLs, and it is found that when its wheat homologue is overexpressed in tobacco, cold-tolerance and germination rate are increased.

4.2 Salinity Tolerance

Salinity is also an emerging problem in sorghum cultivation in different parts of the world. It has been reported that upon Na⁺ stress a high-affinity potassium transporter gene family in sorghum, SbHKT1;4, strongly upregulated is in salt-tolerant sorghum genotypes, leading to better Na⁺/K⁺ ratio and optimum plant growth (Wang et al. 2014b). A total of 38 QTLs influencing salt tolerance has been reported from an RIL population comprising 181 lines derived from a cross Shihong137/L-Tian (Wang et al. 2014a). Out of these, six are reported to be major QTLs explaining above 10 % phenotypic variation. Studies suggested that the mechanism of salt tolerance at the germination and seedling stages is different. Further research in this direction is essential before deploying the identified QTLs in MAS.

4.3 Nitrogen Use Efficiency

The demand for nitrogen (N) fertilizer in agriculture across the globe currently stands at ~ 110 million metric tons per year and is projected to reach up to ~ 250 million metric tons by the year 2050 (www.fao.org). Because of the high mobility of nitrate in the soil, up to 50 %of applied N is lost by the processes of leaching, runoff, and denitrification. This not only increases the cost of crop production but also adds to the pollution of the groundwater and adversely affects the soil structure. The process has detrimental effects on the environment by increasing greenhouse gases such as nitric oxide in the atmosphere. Hence, developing crop varieties with improved N absorption and utilization can mitigate these problems of modern agriculture. Sorghum is predominantly cultivated under low fertility conditions, particularly in Africa and Asia. However, in developed countries it is cultivated under high fertility conditions. Significant genotypic differences in terms of nitrogen-use efficiency (NUE) have been reported in sorghum (Maranville et al. 1980; Youngquist et al. 1992). Expression analysis between four low-N tolerant sorghum genotypes (San Chi San, China17, KS78, and high-NUE bulk) and three sensitive genotypes (CK60, BTx623, and low-NUE bulk) under of low-N (LN, 0 kg ha⁻¹) and normal N $(NN, 100 \text{ kg ha}^{-1})$ regimes revealed that in sensitive genotypes, N-stress increased the abundance of DEG-transcripts associated with stress responses including oxidative stress, whereas the tolerant genotypes produced greater root mass for efficient uptake of nutrients (Gelli et al. 2014). Higher abundance of transcripts related to high-affinity nitrate transporters (NRT2.2, NRT2.3, NRT2.5, and NRT2.6) and lysine histidine transporter 1 (LHT1) were detected in tolerant genotypes, which indicates possible improved uptake of inorganic and organic forms of nitrogen by these genotypes. Higher abundance of SEC14 cytosolic factor family protein transcript in tolerant genotypes could lead to increased membrane stability and tolerance to N-stress.

Gelli et al. (2016) sequenced a population of 131 RILs derived from a cross between CK60 (inefficient N user) and China17 (efficient N user) using GbS. Following the composite interval mapping (CIM) technique using 642 polymorphic SNPs they could identify 38 QTLs for 11 agronomic traits under normal (100 kg ha^{-1}) and no N application condition on chromosomes 1, 5, 6, 7, and 9. Phenotypic variation explained by each QTL ranged from 6.2-50.8 %. Using Illumina RNA sequencing on seedling root tissues they could identify 726 differentially expressed transcripts between the parents. Among these 108 were mapped close to the QTL regions. Differentially expressed transcripts were related to nitrogen metabolism (Ferredoxin-nitrate reductase), glycolysis (Phosphofructo-2-kinase), seed storage proteins, plant hormone metabolism, and membrane transport. The study indicated that the differentially expressed transcripts underlying

the pleiotropic QTL regions could be potential targets for improving sorghum performance under limited N fertilizer through marker-assisted selection.

5 Molecular Insight into Abiotic Stress Response

5.1 Noncoding RNAs

MicroRNAs (miRNAs) have been associated with regulations of different classes of genes across plant species. Pasini et al. (2014) reported upregulation of miRNA associated with the regulation of transcription, signal transduction, carbon metabolism, detoxification, osmoprotection mechanisms, and stability of protein membranes upon imposition of low moisture stress in four-leaf-old sorghum genotype, IS1945. The study suggested the possible utility of these drought-related genes in identifying drought-tolerant sorghum lines. In fact, miRNA 169 g, as reported to be upregulated under drought stress in rice, has five sorghum homologues (Zhao et al. 2007). Qi et al. (2013) also reported long noncoding RNAs (lncRNAs) from foxtail millet in response to drought stress, having sequence conservation and collinearity with sorghum. Through an in silico study, Ram and Sharma (2013) further indicated a probable role of miRNAs in water stress response in sorghum.

5.2 Role of Genes Governing Auxin and Transcription Factors

Over 50 differentially expressed droughtresponsive gene orthologues with enriched ABREs and CGTCA-motifs or motifs responsive to ABA specific to sorghum have been identified (Dugas et al. 2011). A large number of auxin-related gene families including *SbGH3*, *SbLBD*, *SbIAA1*, *SbGH3-13*, *SbLBD32*, and others have been reported that are highly induced by salt or drought stress (Wang et al. 2010). Moisture stress has been observed to trigger upregulation of transcription factor genes of MADS-box, Auxin Responsive Factors, Heme Activator Protein 2, and so on, specifically in root tissues (Aglawe et al. 2012). Sorghum auxin transporters have been observed to be up- or downregulated in response to abiotic stresses, depending on the class of transporters (Shen et al. 2010).

Over 100 ethylene response factor (ERF) genes have been reported in sorghum (SbERF), which have been grouped into 12 classes (A-1 to A-6 and B-1 to B-6) on the basis of sequence homology (Yan et al. 2013). The ERF superfamily plays an important role in both abiotic and biotic stress response in plant systems. In addition to ERF, chloroplast glutathione reductase (cpGRs), G-protein complexes, drought response element-binding (DREB) proteins, and SbEST are reported to play very important roles in abiotic stress responses not only in sorghum but in other plant species as well. In a recent study, Chopra et al. (2015) identified a total of 1910 DEGs under cold and control temperature from cold-tolerant genotype HongkeZi and cold-sensitive genotype BTx623. They could identify TFs including DREB, C-repeat binding factors, and ERF TFs to be upregulated under cold stress in tolerant genotype HongkeZi. They also identified specific genes such as plant cytochromes, glutathione s-transferases, and heat shock proteins to be differentially regulated under cold stress between cold-tolerant and susceptible genotypes.

5.3 Role of Compatible Solutes

Betaise aldehyde dehydrogenase (*BADH1* and *BADH15*) is reported to be induced in response to moisture deficit leading to accumulation of glycine betaine (Wood et al. 1996). *SbGRRNP* (glycine-rich RNA-binding protein) expression is regulated by salinity and ABA, as well as blue and red light (Aneeta et al. 2002). This suggests that in sorghum a possible crosstalk between abiotic stress and light signal may exist. By engineering higher mannitol synthesis, Maheswari et al. (2010) could induce salinity tolerance in transgenic sorghum cv. SPV462. Studies further suggest that *SbP5CS1* and *SbP5CS2* are

upregulated in response to drought, salt, and jasmonic acid treatment (Su et al. 2011). These two are important regulatory genes controlling proline synthesis. Thus, the study suggested a role of proline biosynthesis in imparting abiotic stress tolerance. All the above reports suggest the possibility to develop abiotic stress-tolerant genotypes by modulating the role of these genes, transcription factors, or miRNAs either through the transgenic route or through genome editing.

6 Next-Generation Sequencing (NGS) Tools and Next-Generation Populations

When combined with high-throughput and precise phenotyping platforms developed at ICRI-SAT (Vadez et al. 2015), NGS technologies provide a powerful and rapid tool for identifying the genetic basis of agriculturally important traits and for predicting the breeding value of individuals in a plant breeding population (Varshney et al. 2014). Next-generation populations such as nested-association mapping (NAM) populations (Yu et al. 2008; Buckler et al. 2009) and backcross-derived NAM (BCNAM) populations (Jordan et al. 2012) are two most potent next-generation populations to dissect genomics of complex traits. All these new tools play a major role in advancing breeding efficiencies by simultaneously aiding genetic studies and also providing access to new variability in comparatively elite backgrounds. These new-generation populations are required for linking phenotypic variations with sequence variations at high resolution. The BCNAM scheme was already well established by Jordan et al. (2011) to benefit both trait mapping and infusing diversity that was not accessible previously in the traditional plant breeding populations. In combination with genomewide sequencing approaches, these populations provide access to insights into the genetic architecture of important traits (Yang et al. 2014a, b). The major limitation in implementing these new advances routinely in the breeding programs is lack of data management skills and database resources. In terms of applications of these tools in molecular breeding, the NGS-based genotyping platforms such as genotypingby-sequencing (GbS) have the potential for background selection in traditional introgression breeding and genomic selection (GS) which is an emerging methodology in modern breeding programs. The main advantage and driving force for its implementation are availability of low-cost high-throughput genotyping platforms and access to high-throughput phenotyping facilities. These in turn feed the improved capacities of performance prediction of individual genotypes for quantitative traits. The genomic selection, to realize its full potential, will need to address specific issues related to the theory of GS such as design of training populations, predicting efficacy under an altered marker and population variable scenario, and an approach for integration of GS in ongoing breeding schemes (both in scale and dimension). Similarly, considering the different level of advancement of constituent technologies involved in GS, an appropriate resource investment strategy for every single breeding program needs to be developed for maximizing the returns in terms of genetic gain.

7 Future Prospects

Sorghum is an important failsafe crop providing food-feed-fodder-fuel to most of the resource-poor farming communities in drylands where it is a staple crop. The wide repertoire of germplasm, genetic, genomic, and breeding information/resources positions sorghum as one of the C₄-model crop species. Advancement in NGS, high-throughput phenotyping, and recent developments in advanced breeding populations will drive the new cycle of genetic gain in sorghum across agroecological zones. The sorghum research community has access to large genetic (germplasm with unique traits) and genomic (SSRs, SNPs, high-density genetic maps, genmany ome sequence) resources, and QTLs/candidate genes associated with agronomic traits are known in sorghum. These marker-trait associations need to be validated

independently in breeding populations and suitable marker assays such as the KASPar SNP assay need to be generated. The integration of these new tools along with new-generation breeding populations will further help accumulate the required information to develop the framework for implementing genomic selection for sorghum improvement and thus historical division between breeding and genomics will become increasingly blurred.

References

- Aglawe SB, Fakrudin B, Patole CB, Bhairappanavar SB, Koti RV, Krishnaraj PU (2012) Quantitative RT-PCR analysis of 20 transcription factor genes of MADS, ARF, HAP2, MBF and HB families in moisture stressed shoot and root tissues of sorghum. Physiol Mol Biol Plants 18(4):287–300
- Anami SE, Zhang LM, Xia Y, Zhang YM, Liu ZQ, Jing HC (2015) Sweet sorghum ideotypes: genetic improvement of stress tolerance. Food Energy Secur 4 (1):3–24
- Aneeta, Sanan-Mishra N, Tuteja N, Kumar Sopory S (2002) Salinity- and ABA-induced up-regulation and light-mediated modulation of mRNA encoding glycine-rich RNA-binding protein from Sorghum bicolor. Biochem Biophys Res Commun 296:1063– 1068
- Araus JL, Slafer GA, Reynolds MP, Royo C (2002) Plant breeding and drought in C3 cereals: what should we breed for? Ann Bot 89(7):925–940
- Balota M, Payne W, Veeragoni S, Stewart B, Rosenow D (2010) Respiration and its relationship to germination, emergence, and early growth under cool temperatures in sorghum. Crop Sci 50:1414–1422
- Bekele WA, Wieckhorst S, Friedt W, Snowdon RJ (2013) High-throughput genomics in sorghum: from whole-genome resequencing to a SNP screening array. Plant Biotechnol J 11(9):1112–1125
- Borrell A, Hammer G, Oosterom E (2001) Stay-green: a consequence of the balance between supply and demand for nitrogen during grain filling? Ann Appl Biol 138(1):91–95
- Borrell AK, Hammer GL (2000) Nitrogen dynamics and the physiological basis of stay-green in sorghum. Crop Sci 40(5):1295–1307
- Borrell AK, Hammer GL, Douglas AC (2000a) Does maintaining green leaf area in sorghum improve yield under drought? I. Leaf growth and senescence. Crop Sci 40(4):1026–1037
- Borrell AK, Hammer GL, Henzell RG (2000b) Does maintaining green leaf area in sorghum improve yield under drought? II. Dry matter production and yield. Crop Sci 40(4):1037–1048

- Borrell AK, Douglas ACL (1996) Maintaining green leaf area in grain sorghum increases yield in a water-limited environment. In: Proceedings of the third australian sorghum conference. Melbourne, Australian Institute of Agricultural Science, Occasional Publication (No. 93), pp 323–326
- Bowers JE, Abbey C, Anderson S, Chang C, Draye X, Hoppe AH, Jessup R, Lemke C, Lennington J, Li Z, Lin YR (2003) A high-density genetic recombination map of sequence-tagged sites for sorghum, as a framework for comparative structural and evolutionary genomics of tropical grains and grasses. Genetics 165(1):367–386
- Buckler ES, Holland JB, Bradbury PJ, Acharya CB, Brown PJ, Browne C, Ersoz E, Flint-Garcia S, Garcia A, Glaubitz JC, Goodman MM (2009) The genetic architecture of maize f owering time. Science 325:714–718
- Burow G, Burke JJ, Xin Z, Franks CD (2011) Genetic dissection of early- season cold tolerance in sorghum (Sorghum bicolor (L.) Moench). Mol Breed 28:391–402
- Burow GB, Franks CD, Acosta-Martinez V, Xin Z (2009) Molecular mapping and characterization of BLMC, a locus for profue wax (bloom) and enhanced cuticular features of Sorghum (Sorghum bicolor(L.) Moench.). Theor Appl Genet 118:423–431
- Chopra R, Burow G, Hayes C, Emendack Y, Xin Z, Burke J (2015) Transcriptome profiling and validation of gene based single nucleotide polymorphisms (SNPs) in sorghum genotypes with contrasting responses to cold stress. BMC Genom 16(1):1
- Cisse ND, Ejeta G (2003) Genetic variation and relationships among seedling vigor traits in sorghum. Crop Sci 43(3):824–828
- Crasta OR, Xu WW, Rosenow DT, Mullet J, Nguyen HT (1999) Mapping of post-flowering drought resistance traits in grain sorghum: association between QTLs influencing premature senescence and maturity. Mol Gen Genet 262(3):579–588
- Delhaize E, Craig S, Beaton CD, Bennet RJ, Jagadish VC, Randall PJ (1993) Aluminum tolerance in wheat (*Triticum aestivum* L.)(I. Uptake and distribution of aluminum in root apices). Plant Physiol 103(3):685– 693
- Delhaize E, Ryan PR, Hebb DM, Yamamoto Y, Sasaki T, Matsumoto H (2004) Engineering high-level aluminum tolerance in barley with the ALMT1 gene. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 101(42):15249–15254
- Delhaize E, Taylor P, Hocking PJ, Simpson RJ, Ryan PR, Richardson AE (2009) Transgenic barley (Hordeum vulgare L.) expressing the wheat aluminium resistance gene (TaALMT1) shows enhanced phosphorus nutrition and grain production when grown on an acid soil. Plant Biotechnol J 7(5):391–400
- Doumbia MD, Hossner LR, Onken AB (1993) Variable sorghum growth in acid soils of subhumid West Africa. Arid Land Res Manag 7(4):335–346
- Doumbia MD, Hossner LR, Onken AB (1998) Sorghum growth in acid soils of West Africa: variations in soil

chemical properties. Arid Land Res Manage 12 (2):179–190

- Dugas DV, Monaco MK, Olson A, Klein RR, Kumari S, Ware D, Klein PE (2011) Functional annotation of the transcriptome of Sorghum bicolor in response to osmotic stress and abscisic acid. BMC Genom 12(1):1
- Eswaran H, Reich P, Beinroth F (1997) Global distribution of soils with acidity. In: Moniz AC, Furlani AMC, Schaffert RE, Fageria NK, Rosolem CA, Cantarella H (eds) Plant-soil interactions at low pH. Brazilian Soil Science Society, pp. 159–164
- Fiedler K, Bekele WA, Friedt W, Snowdon R, Stützel H, Zacharias A, Uptmoor R (2012) Genetic dissection of the temperature dependent emergence processes in sorghum using a cumulative emergence model and stability parameters. Theor Appl Genet 125(8):1647– 1661
- Franks TK, Powell KS, Choimes S, Marsh E, Iocco P, Sinclair BJ, Ford CM, Van Heeswijck R (2006) Consequences of transferring three sorghum genes for secondary metabolite (cyanogenic glucoside) biosynthesis to grapevine hairy roots. Transgen Res 15 (2):181–195
- Gelli M, Duo Y, Konda AR, Zhang C, Holding D, Dweikat I (2014) Identification of differentially expressed genes between sorghum genotypes with contrasting nitrogen stress tolerance by genome-wide transcriptional profiling. BMC Genom 15(1):1
- Gelli M, Mitchell SE, Liu K, Clemente TE, Weeks DP, Zhang C, Holding DR, Dweikat IM (2016) Mapping QTLs and association of differentially expressed gene transcripts for multiple agronomic traits under different nitrogen levels in sorghum. BMC Plant Biol 16 (1):1
- Gunaratna N (2002) Early season cold tolerance in sorghum. MS Thesis, Purdue University, West Lafayette, IN, USA
- Habyarimana E, Lorenzoni C, Busconi M (2010) Search for new stay-green sources in *Sorghum bicolor* (L.) Moench. Maydica 55(3):187
- Hammer GL, Dong Z, McLean G, Doherty A, Messina C, Schussler J, Zinselmeier C, Paszkiewicz S, Cooper M (2009) Can changes in canopy and/or root system architecture explain historical maize yield trends in the US corn belt? Crop Sci 49(1):299–312
- Harris K, Subudhi PK, Borrell A, Jordan D, Rosenow D, Nguyen H, Klein P, Klein R, Mullet J (2007) Sorghum stay-green QTL individually reduce post-flowering drought-induced leaf senescence. J Exp Bot 58 (2):327–338
- Haussmann B, Mahalakshmi V, Reddy B, Seetharama N, Hash C, Geiger H (2002) QTL mapping of stay-green in two sorghum recombinant inbred populations. Theor Appl Genet 106(1):133–142
- Jordan DR, Hunt CH, Cruickshank AW, Borrell AK, Henzell RG (2012) The relationship between the stay-green trait and grain yield in elite sorghum hybrids grown in a range of environments. Crop Sci 52(3):1153–1161

- Jordan DR, Mace ES, Cruickshank AW, Hunt CH, Henzell RG (2011) Exploring and exploiting genetic variation from unadapted sorghum germplasm in a breeding program. Crop Sci 51(4):1444–1457
- Kassahun B, Bidinger FR, Hash CT, Kuruvinashetti MS (2010) Stay-green expression in early generation sorghum [Sorghum bicolor (L.) Moench] QTL introgression lines. Euphytica 172(3):351–362
- Kato Y, Kamoshita A, Yamagishi J, Abe J (2006) Growth of three rice (*Oryza sativa* L.) cultivars under upland conditions with different levels of water supply. Plant Prod Sci 9(4):422–434
- Kebede H, Subudhi PK, Rosenow DT, Nguyen HT (2001) Quantitative trait loci influencing drought tolerance in grain sorghum (Sorghum bicolor L. Moench). Theor Appl Genet 103(2–3):266–276
- Kholová J, Murugesan T, Kaliamoorthy S, Malayee S, Baddam R, Hammer GL, McLean G, Deshpande S, Hash CT, Craufurd PQ, Vadez V (2014) Modelling the effect of plant water use traits on yield and stay-green expression in sorghum. Funct Plant Biol 41 (11):1019–1034
- Kim JS (2003) Genomic analysis of sorghum by fluorescence in situ hybridisation. Texas A&M University, College Station, TX, USA
- Kiranmayee KNS, Hash CT, Deshpande SP, Varaprasad KVGK, Kishor PB (2015) Biotechnological approaches to evolve sorghum (*Sorghum bicolor* (L.) Moench) for drought stress tolerance and shoot fly resistance. Curr Trends Biotechnol Pharm 9(3):281– 292
- Knoll J, Ejeta G (2008) Marker-assisted selection for early-season cold tolerance in sorghum: QTL validation across populations and environments. Theor Appl Genet 116(4):541–553
- Knoll J, Gunaratna N, Ejeta G (2008) QTL analysis of early-season cold tolerance in sorghum. Theor Appl Genet 116(4):577–587
- Kochian LV, Hoekenga OA, Pineros MA (2004) How do crop plants tolerate acid soils? Mechanisms of aluminum tolerance and phosphorous efficiency. Annu Rev Plant Biol 55:459–493
- Mace ES, Jordan DR (2010) Location of major effect genes in sorghum (Sorghum bicolor (L.) Moench). Theor Appl Genet 121(7):1339–1356
- Mace ES, Jordan DR (2011a) Integrating sorghum whole genome sequence information with a compendium of sorghum QTL studies reveals uneven distribution of QTL and of gene-rich regions with significant implications for crop improvement. Theor Appl Genet 123(1):169–191
- Mace ES, Jordan DR (2011b) Integrating sorghum whole genome sequence information with a compendium of sorghum QTL studies reveals uneven distribution of QTL and of gene-rich regions with significant implications for crop improvement. Theor Appl Genet 123 (1):169–191
- Mace ES, Singh V, Van Oosterom EJ, Hammer GL, Hunt CH, Jordan DR (2012) QTL for nodal root angle in sorghum (Sorghum bicolor L. Moench) co-locate

with QTL for traits associated with drought adaptation. Theor Appl Genet 124(1):97–109

- MacIntyre BD, Herren HR, Wakhungu J, Watson RT (2009) Agriculture at a crossroads: international assessment of agricultural science and technology for development (IAASTD) global report. IAASTD, Washington DC, USA
- Magalhaes JV, Garvin DF, Wang Y, Sorrells ME, Klein PE, Schaffert RE, Li L, Kochian LV (2004) Comparative mapping of a major aluminum tolerance gene in sorghum and other species in the Poaceae. Genetics 167(4):1905–1914
- Magalhaes JV, Liu J, Guimaraes CT, Lana UG, Alves VM, Wang YH, Schaffert RE, Hoekenga OA, Pineros MA, Shaff JE, Klein PE (2007) A gene in the multidrug and toxic compound extrusion (MATE) family confers aluminum tolerance in sorghum. Nat Genet 39(9):1156–1161
- Maheswari M, Varalaxmi Y, Vijayalakshmi A, Yadav S, Sharmila P, Venkateswarlu B et al (2010) Metabolic engineering using mtlD gene enhances tolerance to water deficit and salinity in sorghum. Biol Plant 54:647–652
- Maranville JW, Clark RB, Ross WM (1980) Nitrogen efficiency in grain sorghum. J Plant Nutr 2(5):577–589
- Marschner H (1991) Mechanisms of adaptation of plants to acid soils. In: Wright RJ, Baligar VC, Murrmann RP (eds) Plant-soil interactions at low pH. Springer, Netherlands, pp 683–702
- McBee GG, Waskom RM, Creelman RA (1983) Effect of senescene on carbohydrates in sorghum during late kernel maturity states. Crop Sci 23(2):372–376
- Mickelbart MV, Hasegawa PM, Bailey-Serres J (2015) Genetic mechanisms of abiotic stress tolerance that translate to crop yield stability. Nat Rev Genet 16 (4):237–251
- Mutava RN, Prasad PVV, Tuinstra MR, Kofoid KD, Yu J (2011a) Characterization of sorghum genotypes for traits related to drought tolerance. Field Crops Res 123 (1):10–18. doi:10.1016/j.fcr.2011.04.006
- Mutava RN, Prasad PVV, Tuinstra MR, Kofoid KD, Yu J (2011b) Characterization of sorghum genotypes for traits related to drought tolerance. Field Crops Research 123(1):10–18
- Pasini L, Bergonti M, Fracasso A, Marocco A, Amaducci S (2014) Microarray analysis of differentially expressed mRNAs and miRNAs in young leaves of sorghum under dry-down conditions. J Plant Physiol 171(7):537–548
- Paterson AH, Bowers JE, Bruggmann R, Dubchak I, Grimwood J, Gundlach H, Haberer G, Hellsten U, Mitros T, Poliakov A, Schmutz J (2009) The Sorghum bicolor genome and the diversification of grasses. Nature 457(7229):551–556
- Paterson AH, Schertz KF, Lin YR, Liu SC, Chang YL (1995) The weediness of wild plants: molecular analysis of genes influencing dispersal and persistence of johnsongrass, *Sorghum halepense* (L.) Pers. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 92(13):6127–6131

- Qi X, Xie S, Liu Y, Yi F, Yu J (2013) Genome- wide annotation of genes and noncoding RNAs of foxtail millet in response to simulated drought stress by deep sequencing. Plant Mol Biol 83:459–473
- Rakshit S, Hariprasanna K, Gomashe S, Ganapathy KN, Das IK, Ramana OV, Dhandapani A, Patil JV (2014) Changes in area, yield gains, and yield stability of sorghum in major sorghum-producing countries, 1970 to 2009. Crop Sci 54(4):1571–1584
- Rakshit S, Swapna M, Dalal M, Sushma G, Ganapathy KN, Dhandapani A, Karthikeyan M, Talwar HS (2016) Post-flowering drought stress response of post-rainy sorghum genotypes. Indian J Plant Physiol 21(1):8–14
- Ram G, Sharma AD (2013) In silico analysis of putative miRNAs and their target genes in sorghum (Sorghum bicolor). Int J Bioinformat Res Applicat 9(4):349–364
- Ramu P, Deshpande SP, Senthilvel S, Jayashree B, Billot C, Deu M, Reddy LA, Hash CT (2010) In silico mapping of important genes and markers available in the public domain for efficient sorghum breeding. Mol Breed 26(3):409–418
- Rao IM, Zeigler RS, Vera R, Sarkarung S (1993) Selection and breeding for acid-soil tolerance in crops. Bioscience 43(7):454–465
- Rao PS, Prakasham RS, Rao PP, Chopra S, Jose S (2015) Sorghum as a sustainable feedstock for biofuels. In: Shibu J, Thallada B (eds.) Biomass and biofuels: advanced biorefineries for sustainable production and distribution. CRC Press 2015, Pages 27–48, Print ISBN: 978–1-4665-9531-6, eBook ISBN: 978-1-4665-9532-3
- Rosenow DT, Clark LE (1982) Drought tolerance in sorghum [through breeding]. In: Proceedings of the 37th annual corn and sorghum industry research conference-American Seed Trade Association, Corn and Sorghum Division, Corn and Sorghum Research Conference, Chicago, IL, USA, pp 18–30
- Rosenow DT, Quisenberry JE, Wendt CW, Clark LE (1983) Drought tolerant sorghum and cotton germplasm. Agric Water Manag 7(1):207–222
- Rosenow DT, Clark LE (1995) December. Drought and lodging resistance for a quality sorghum crop. In: Proceedings of the 5th annual corn and sorghum industry research conference (Chicago, IL, 6–7 December 1995), American Seed Trade Association, Chicago, IL, USA, pp 82–97
- Sabadin PK, Malosetti M, Boer MP, Tardin FD, Santos FG, Guimaraes CT, Gomide RL, Andrade CLT, Albuquerque PEP, Caniato FF, Mollinari M (2012) Studying the genetic basis of drought tolerance in sorghum by managed stress trials and adjustments for phenological and plant height differences. Theor Appl Genet 124(8):1389–1402
- Sanchez AC, Subudhi PK, Rosenow DT, Nguyen HT (2002) Mapping QTLs associated with drought resistance in sorghum (*Sorghum bicolor* L. Moench). Plant Mol Biol 48(5–6):713–726
- Shen C, Bai Y, Wang S, Zhang S, Wu Y, Chen M, Jiang D, Qi Y (2010) Expression profile of PIN,

AUX/LAX and PGP auxin transporter gene families in Sorghum bicolor under phytohormone and abiotic stress. FEBS J 277(14):2954–2969

- Shiringani AL, Frisch M, Friedt W (2010) Genetic mapping of QTLs for sugar-related traits in a RIL population of *Sorghum bicolor* L. Moench. Theor Appl Genet 121(2):323–336
- Singh V, van Oosterom EJ, Jordan DR, Messina CD, Cooper M, Hammer GL (2010) Morphological and architectural development of root systems in sorghum and maize. Plant Soil 333(1–2):287–299
- Singh V, van Oosterom EJ, Jordan DR, Hunt CH, Hammer GL (2011) Genetic variability and control of nodal root angle in sorghum. Crop Sci 51(5)
- Singh V, van Oosterom EJ, Jordan R, Hammer GL (2012) Genetic control of root angle in sorghum and its implication in water extraction. Eur J Agron 42: 3–10
- Sivaguru M, Liu J, Kochian LV (2013) Targeted expression of SbMATE in the root distal transition zone is responsible for sorghum aluminum resistance. Plant J 76(2):297–307
- Srinivas G, Satish K, Madhusudhana R, Seetharama N (2009) Exploration and mapping of microsatellite markers from subtracted drought stress ESTs in *Sorghum bicolor* (L.) Moench. Theor Appl Genet 118(4):703–717
- Srinivas G, Satish K, Mohan SM, Reddy RN, Madhusudhana R, Balakrishna D, Bhat BV, Howarth CJ, Seetharama N (2008) Development of genicmicrosatellite markers for sorghum staygreen QTL using a comparative genomic approach with rice. Theor Appl Genet 117(2):283–296
- Su M, Li X-F, Ma X-Y, Peng X-J, Zhao A-G, Cheng L-Q et al (2011) Cloning twoP5CS genes from bioenergy sorghum and their expression profi les under abiotic stresses and MeJA treatment. Plant Sci 181:652–659
- Subudhi PK, Rosenow DT, Nguyen HT (2000) Quantitative trait loci for the stay green trait in sorghum (Sorghum bicolor L. Moench): consistency across genetic backgrounds and environments. Theor Appl Genet 101(5–6):733–741
- Tao YZ, Henzell RG, Jordan DR, Butler DG, Kelly AM, McIntyre CL (2000) Identification of genomic regions associated with stay green in sorghum by testing RILs in multiple environments. Theor Appl Genet 100 (8):1225–1232
- Tuinstra MR, Grote EM, Goldsbrough PB, Ejeta G (1997) Genetic analysis of post-flowering drought tolerance and components of grain development in *Sorghum bicolor* (L.) Moench. Mol Breed 3(6):439–448
- Upadhyaya HD, Pundir RPS, Dwivedi SL, Gowda CLL, Reddy VG, Singh S (2009) Developing a mini core collection of sorghum for diversified utilization of germplasm. Crop Sci 49(5):1769–1780
- Upadhyaya HD, Wang YH, Sastry DV, Dwivedi SL, Prasad PV, Burrell AM, Klein RR, Morris GP, Klein PE (2016) Association mapping of germinability and seedling vigor in sorghum under controlled low-temperature conditions. Genome 59(2):137–145
- Vadez V, Deshpande S, Kholova J, Ramu P, Hash CT (2013) Molecular breeding for stay-green: progress

and challenges in sorghum. In: Translational genomics for crop breeding: abiotic stress, yield and quality. Wiley Inc., pp. 125–141. ISBN 9781118728482

- Vadez V, Deshpande SP, Kholova J, Hammer GL, Borrell AK, Talwar HS, Hash CT (2011) Stay-green quantitative trait loci's effects on water extraction, transpiration efficiency and seed yield depend on recipient parent background. Funct Plant Biol 38 (7):553–566
- Vadez V, Kholová J, Hummel G, Zhokhavets U, Gupta SK, Hash CT (2015) LeasyScan: a novel concept combining 3D imaging and lysimetry for high-throughput phenotyping of traits controlling plant water budget. J Exp Bot 251
- Van Oosterom EJ, Jayachandran R, Bidinger FR (1996) Diallel analysis of the stay-green trait and its components in sorghum. Crop Sci 36(3):549–555
- Varshney RK, Terauchi R, McCouch SR (2014) Harvesting the promising fruits of genomics: applying genome sequencing technologies to crop breeding. PLoS Biol 12(6):e1001883
- Wang H, Chen G, Zhang H, Liu B, Yang Y, Qin L, Chen E, Guan Y (2014a) Identification of QTLs for salt tolerance at germination and seedling stage of *Sorghum bicolor* L. Moench. Euphytica 196(1):117– 127
- Wang TT, Ren ZJ, Liu ZQ, Feng X, Guo RQ, Li BG et al (2014b) SbHKT1; 4, a member of the high- affi nity potassium transporter gene family from *Sorghum bicolor*, functions to maintain optimal Na+/K+ balance under Na + stress. J Integr Plant Biol 56:315– 332
- Wang S, Bai Y, Shen C, Wu Y, Zhang S, Jiang D, Guilfoyle TJ, Chen M, Qi Y (2010) Auxin-related gene families in abiotic stress response in *Sorghum bicolor*. Funct Integr Genom 10(4):533–546
- Washburn JD, Murray SC, Burson BL, Klein RR, Jessup RW (2013) Targeted mapping of quantitative trait locus regions for rhizomatousness in chromosome

SBI-01 and analysis of overwintering in a *Sorghum* bicolor \times S. propinguum population. Mol Breed 31 (1):153–162

- Wood AJ, Saneoka H, Rhodes D, Joly RJ, Goldsbrough PB (1996) Betaine aldehyde dehydrogenase in sorghum (molecular cloning and expression of two related genes). Plant Physiol 110:1301–1308
- Xu W, Subudhi PK, Crasta OR, Rosenow DT, Mullet JE, Nguyen HT (2000) Molecular mapping of QTLs conferring stay-green in grain sorghum (*Sorghum bicolor* L. Moench). Genome 43(3):461–469
- Yan H, Hong L, Zhou Y, Jiang H, Zhu S, Fan J et al (2013) A genome- wide analysis of the ERF gene family in sorghum. Genet Mol Res 12:2038–2055
- Yang R, Yang T, Zhang H, Qi Y, Xing Y, Zhang N, Li R, Weeda S, Ren S, Ouyang B, Guo YD (2014a) Hormone profiling and transcription analysis reveal a major role of ABA in tomato salt tolerance. Plant Physiol Biochem 77:23–34
- Yang W, Guo Z, Huang C, Duan L, Chen G, Jiang N, Fang W, Feng H, Xie W, Lian X, Wang G (2014b) Combining high-throughput phenotyping and genome-wide association studies to reveal natural genetic variation in rice. Nat Commun 5
- Youngquist JB, Bramel-Cox P, Maranville JW (1992) Evaluation of alternative screening criteria for selecting nitrogen-use efficient genotypes in sorghum. Crop Sci 32(6):1310–1313
- Yu J, Tuinstra MR (2001) Genetic analysis of seedling growth under cold temperature stress in grain sorghum. Crop Sci 41(5):1438–1443
- Yu JM, Holland JB, McMullen MD, Buckler ES (2008) Genetic design and statistical power of nested association mapping in maize. Genetics 178:539–551
- Zhao B, Liang R, Ge L, Li W, Xiao H, Lin H, Ruan K, Jin Y (2007) Identification of drought-induced micro-RNAs in rice. Biochem Biophys Res Commun 354 (2):585–590

Genomic Approaches for Improving **10** Grain Quality of Sorghum

Stephen R. Mudge, Bradley C. Campbell, Nurazilah B. Mustapha and Ian D. Godwin

Abstract

Sorghum grain provides an important calorific source for millions of people living in developing countries and is a principal animal feed and source of gluten-free flour for the livestock and food processing industries of developed nations. A versatile grain, sorghum is also widely utilized in the production of alcoholic beverages in countries such as China and several countries in sub-Saharan Africa, where the liquor baijiu and beer are a major end-use, respectively. Renowned as a hardy crop, sorghum is relatively drought tolerant and can be grown on marginal lands and is adaptable to a wide range of environmental conditions, giving this species particular advantages over other cereals. Despite its inherent benefits, sorghum has not proven to be a major alternative to the other notable cereals such as wheat and maize, due to significant problems concerning the low amount of specific essential amino acids, for example, lysine, lower protein content, lower starch digestibility, and smaller grain size, which has implications for the traits mentioned above as well as acting as an impediment to efficient grain handling in cereal-processing industries. The challenges in enhancing sorghum grain quality are not insurmountable and great strides have already been achieved in a relatively short time via scientific breeding to enhance grain yield and provide abiotic and biotic stress resistance. As the sorghum market has matured, demand for higher quality grain, whether for alcohol production or animal and human consumption, is increasing. Although yield and disease resistance are still the primary focus of breeders, advances in genomics, online bioinformatic data repositories, high-throughput phenotypic screening such as near-infrared reflectance (NIR), and the increasing affordability of

S.R. Mudge \cdot B.C. Campbell \cdot N.B. Mustapha \cdot I.D. Godwin (\boxtimes)

School of Agriculture and Food Sciences, The University of Queensland, Brisbane, QLD 4072, Australia e-mail: i.godwin@uq.edu.au

© Springer International Publishing AG 2016

S. Rakshit and Y.-H. Wang (eds.), *The Sorghum Genome*, Compendium of Plant Genomes, DOI 10.1007/978-3-319-47789-3_10 next-generation sequencing, have allowed breeders to incorporate improved grain quality parameters into their programs. This chapter elaborates recent advances in genomics that have provided researchers with the tools to solve several of the issues surrounding grain quality in sorghum as well as future directions for experimentation.

1 Introduction

Global demand for food is set to grow well into the twenty-first century where the human population has been projected to reach 9.6 billion by the year 2050 (Gerland et al. 2014). The focus on food security is not only to increase the food supply but also to improve food quality, especially in relation to nutritional value (Godfray et al. 2010). Sorghum [Sorghum bicolor (L.) Moench] being the fifth most important cereal crop in the world after wheat, rice, maize, and barley, is the dietary staple for more than 500 million people in 30 countries and is grown over 40 million hectares of land in up to 105 countries with an estimated production of around 60 million metric tons in 2012-2013 (http://www. fas.usda.gov/psdonline/psdHome.aspx, Rakshit et al. 2014).

Genetic studies and molecular breeding approaches require genomic resources such as molecular markers, genetic maps, and sequence information, which are readily available for sorghum because of its small diploid genome and role as a model crop species for C₄ plants (Ritter et al. 2008). From the extensive use of mapping and breeding populations through to the development of nested associated mapping (NAM; Mace et al. 2013a) and mutant (Xin et al. 2008) resources, the tools available for genetic trait dissection are improving constantly in sorghum (Luo et al. 2016).

The implication of genomic approaches to fill gaps in knowledge about plants has proven useful for both a basic understanding of plants and as a means to devise strategies to improve crop plant species. Here we present and discuss specific examples where the implementation of genomics tools has advanced knowledge dramatically, particularly in relation to grain quality. Although genomics-level approaches have only recently been applied to sorghum, where the first draft genome was published in 2009 (Paterson et al. 2009), extensively resequenced in 2013 (Mace et al. 2013b), and analyzed via a spate of high-density genotyping by sequencing (GBS) publications (Morris et al. 2013; Wang et al. 2014; Mindaye et al. 2015), it is anticipated that new datasets will continually be produced as our understanding of sorghum biology evolves.

2 Application of Sorghum Grain in Food Products

Cultivated sorghum in Africa and Asia is mostly used for human consumption providing millions of people with dietary starch, proteins, vitamins, and minerals. Equipped with many notable attributes including adaptation to drought, waterlogging, and saliferous soils, sorghum plays an important role in the food security of people in arid and semi-arid regions (Belton and Taylor 2004).

Sorghum is consumed as whole grain or as flour for a broad range of dishes and beverages. In parts of Africa, grain sorghum is ground into flour and processed into thin or thick porridges. Fermented sorghum bread called kisra (Sudan) or injera (Ethiopia) is the staple diet in the Horn of Africa where sorghum was first domesticated (Tinay et al. 1979; Belton and Taylor 2004). Similarly in India, sorghum grain is consumed in several forms such as unleavened bread called roti, boiled grain, and also thick and thin porridge (http://www.fao.org/). Other foods incorporating sorghum grain are tortillas (Latin America), couscous (Africa), traditional infant porridge called nasha (Sudan), and baked products (United States, Japan, Africa; Dicko et al. 2006). Furthermore, in some African countries, instant baby porridge that is made from precooked sorghum flours with added vitamins and proteins is commercially available.

Sorghum is also a chief ingredient for the production of beer and alcoholic beverages in China and several African countries (Dicko et al. 2006; Taylor et al. 2006). The opaque beers of Southern Africa and malted dark beers found in West Africa are examples of alcoholic beverages produced in sub-Saharan Africa. In other developed countries such as the United States, parts of Southern America, and Australia, sorghum grain is mainly used for animal feed. The grain is fed milled or steam flaked to livestock as a major energy source (Godwin 2004). However, there is an increasing demand for the utilization of sorghum grain as human food in developed and developing countries, partly caused by the cereal's nongluten attributes that provide a cereal alternative to people suffering from gluten allergies (Pontieri et al. 2013). In fact, sorghum grain can be processed into gluten-free bread (with addition of 20-50 % sorghum flour to the wheat flour), cookies, cereals, pasta, and snacks.

The other increasing focus upon whole grain sorghum is its low glycemic index (GI) and human health attributes. Compared to cereals such as wheat or rice, all sorghum-based food products display significantly lower GI and glycemic load (GL) which may help in decreasing post-prandial blood glucose levels and aid in the prevention and control of diabetes (Prasad et al. 2015).

In addition to providing a source of starch and protein, sorghum grain is an important source of more than 20 micronutrients (BSTID-NRC 1996; Dicko et al. 2006). It is a richer source of several B vitamins (pantothenic acid, niacin, folate, and biotin) than maize (BSTID-NRC 1996), and provides higher levels of iron and zinc than rice (Dicko et al. 2006; Chan et al. 2007). Furthermore, recent studies suggest that future increases in iron and zinc should be achievable through breeding programs (Hariprassana et al. 2014; Badigannavar et al. 2016). For further details readers may refer to Chap. 4.

3 Nutritional Constraints of Sorghum Grain

Despite the potential of sorghum to be a leading crop to ensure food security for people in the least developed world and its potential as a raw material for many industrial applications, its grain still suffers from nutritional deficiencies, which make it inferior to the other major cereals. For instance, direct comparisons between maize and sorghum show that sorghum grain is remarkably similar in its nutritional profile in terms of structure and chemical composition; however, sorghum is known to have deficiencies in some essential amino acids such as lysine, tryptophan, threonine, and methionine (Wu et al. 2009). These amino acids are essential for human growth and development and particularly important for people in poorer regions where sources of nutritious food are limited. Added to this, digestibility of sorghum grain is lower than that of maize and other cereal species, especially when cooked (Duodu et al. 2003). Several studies have shown that proteins of wet cooked sorghum are significantly less digestible than the proteins of other similarly cooked cereals (Axtell et al. 1981; Maclean et al. 1981; Duodu et al. 2003). There are several factors contributing to poor protein and starch digestibility in sorghum including the extent of protein-starch interactions, type of starch, physical form of starch granules, degree of disulphide bond crosslinking of the sorghum storage proteins, as well as the large presence of tannins in certain sorghum cultivars (Rooney and Pflugfelder 1986; Duodu et al. 2003).

The most abundant component of the dry grain is starch. Starch is stored as crystalline or semicrystalline water-insoluble granules with an internal lamellar structure packed within the endosperm, consisting of two types of glucan polymers, plus trace amounts of lipids and proteins (Buleon et al. 1997). The two principal components of starch in sorghum grains are amylose and amylopectin, which differ in degree of polymerization (DP) of glucan chains and frequency of branches. The length of glucan chains and the proportion of amylose and amylopectin molecules are the important factors that affect the size, structure, and function of starch (Charles et al. 2005).

Amylose consists of linear glucan polymer, composed of α -(1 \rightarrow 4) linked glucose residues, with approximately one branch of α -(1 \rightarrow 6) linkages for every 1000 glucose residues (Takeda et al. 1986, 1987). Amylose has a molecular weight of around 100 kDa and is only 20 to 30 % of total starch compared with amylopectin (Buleon et al. 1997). Amylopectin is a larger molecule with a molecular weight of around 104-106 kDa and has frequent branches, consisting of hundreds of short α -(1 \rightarrow 4) glucan chains joined together by an α -(1 \rightarrow 6) linkage (Buleon et al. 1997). Branch points are more frequent with approximately one per every 20 glucose residues in amylopectin (Takeda et al. 1987).

There are three parts of sorghum kernel: outer pericarp, embryo (germ), and storage tissue (endosperm; Rooney et al. 1981). Endosperm is made up of the outermost aleurone layer, peripheral layer (subaleurone), corneous, and floury areas (Rooney et al. 1981; Wong et al. 2009). The distribution of starch granules within aleurone cells is limited but the presence of autolytic enzymes such as amylases and protein inhibitors, as well as water-soluble vitamins, minerals, and spherical bodies containing protein and lipid are abundant.

Compared to maize, sorghum has a bigger fraction of peripheral endosperm and this section of sorghum grain is particularly dense, hard, and resistant to water penetration and digestion as well as to enzymatic degradation (Rooney and Pflugfelder 1986). The peripheral endosperm is located beneath the aleurone layer and the corneous endosperm is located beneath the

peripheral endosperm. The largely packed starch granules contained within both of these endosperm layers are surrounded by numerous protein bodies that are embedded in a dense matrix of dried endosperm cells. The matrix, comprised mainly of protein and carbohydrates, is relatively resistant to water and hydrolytic enzymes. Compared with starch granules present in the peripheral and corneous endosperm, starch granules contained within the floury endosperm are the highest in numbers and are more accessible to enzymatic hydrolysis (Rooney et al. 1981; Wong et al. 2010).

Typically in sorghum grain, starch is composed of a mixture of 30 % amylose and 70 % amylopectin (Rooney and Pflugfelder 1986). However, phenotypes associated with endosperm starch lacking amylose have been recognized in sorghum (Karper 1933). In these varieties the endosperm resembles hard opaque wax and is thus referred to as "waxy" (Wong et al. 2010). This condition is due to a lack or inactive function of granule-bound starch synthase (GBSS), an enzyme that synthesizes amylose (Pedersen et al. 2007). Starch granules and the protein matrix that surround them are more digestible in waxy sorghum compared with the nonwaxy grains (Rooney and Pflugfelder 1986).

Protein typically makes up about 12 % of grain dry weight (Wong et al. 2010) although this varies among cultivars. The major class of protein is the seed storage proteins (prolamins), which are deposited as protein bodies approximately 1-2 µm in diameter. The prolamins of sorghum are named kafirins (Shull et al. 1992) and include alpha (α), beta (β), gamma (γ), and delta (δ) kafirin families. Of these, α -kafirin encompasses about 80 % of total kafirins, and is concentrated in the core of the protein body whereas β - and γ -kafirins are primarily found at the surface of the protein body (Shull et al. 1992; Oria et al. 2000). Cysteine-rich β - and γ -kafirins are linked together by disulphide bonds between themselves, as well as with α -kafirin forming oligomers of polypeptide. The formation of disulphide crosslinked protein oligomers and polymers increases with cooking. These enzymatically resistant protein polymers prevent access to and restrict digestion of the more digestible and centrally located α -kafirin within the protein body (Oria et al. 2000; Duodu et al. 2003). Highly digestible protein is shown to have better nutritional value because it provides more amino acids for absorption after proteolysis than protein with lower digestibility (Blackburn 1981; Duodu et al. 2003).

4 Power of Omics Methodologies

The real power of omics-level methodologies to define gene-protein-trait relations becomes clear when it is coupled with an integrated approach targeted at the genomic, transcriptomic, and proteomic levels. Several pertinent examples involving sorghum exist in the literature such as the work of Cremer and others, who utilized the published gene set of sorghum alongside 2D protein electrophoresis and MALDI-TOF protein fingerprinting to determine the allelic variation at the kafirin loci and to determine the effects of this genetic diversity on protein expression (Cremer et al. 2014a). Their results highlighted reductions in alcohol-soluble protein in β-kafirin null lines as well as a range of redox active proteins affecting storage protein biochemistry. They concluded that redox states of endosperm proteins, of which kafirins are a subset, could affect quality traits in addition to the expression of proteins with direct implications for sorghum's value in food, feedstock, and biomaterial usages. Likewise, Campbell et al. (2015) linked the allergenic components of the S. halepense (Johnsongrass) pollen transcriptome to that of the actual Johnsongrass pollen proteome and identified immunologically relevant allergens that elicit hay fever. Environmental monitoring of allergenic components by measurement of sequence tags in air samples and the development of allergic rhinitis therapeutics is expected to arise from such work.

More recently, a comprehensive analysis linking sorghum grain genomics and transcriptomics explored the role of domestication and human selection upon sorghum grain starch synthesis and its implications for current breeding programs and the desire to improve sorghum grain quality and yield (Campbell et al. 2016). They determined that many genes within the primary starch synthesis pathway had a clear reduction in nucleotide diversity between the landraces and wild lines demonstrating that the ancestral effects of domestication are still clearly distinguishable. Furthermore, the allelic diversity present within a number of starch synthesis loci, including the identification of nonsynonymous single nucleotide polymorphisms (SNPs), providing researchers with an opportunity to conduct further starch structural studies and enhance our understanding of starch synthesis.

Quantitative trait locus (QTL) analysis has been an informative tool for breeding programs and functional genetics. A disadvantage of the approach is that the availability of markers, rates of recombination in the vicinity of a QTL, and the feasibility of handling the required population size, limit resolution of a QTL interval. Genotype by sequencing (GbS) marker systems such as diversity array technique sequencing (DArTseq), coupled with genomewide association studies (GWAS) is the next-generation sequencing (NGS) equivalent of QTL analysis for traits of interest. Numerous studies employing GbS and GWAS analysis to dissect various genetic traits now exist for sorghum (Morris et al. 2013; Hayes et al. 2015; Wang et al. 2014). Generating very high marker densities (tens of thousands of markers) with known physical locations within the genome, GbS technology is targeted at high-resolution mapping and detailed genetic dissection of traits. As in QTL analysis, GWAS begins with the identification of lines that possess contrasting phenotypes for the trait of interest. No prior set of markers is required to facilitate GWAS, as linkage of traits to genomic regions should harbor polymorphisms between the lines being compared that are useful as "markers". GWAS overcomes the main limitations of traditional QTL analysis which is that only allelic diversity that segregates between the parents of a particular F₂ cross or within the recombinant inbred line (RIL) population can be assayed and the amount of recombination that occurs during the creation of the RIL population places a limit on the mapping resolution (Korte and Farlow 2013).

5 Genomics of Starch Synthesis and Improvement

5.1 Improving Grain Quality: Engineering Increased Grain Size

As a crop, sorghum delivers lower yields than the other major cereals. This is primarily due to the smaller grain size of sorghum (100-seed weight 2.5-3.5 g). As indicated above, starch is the major component of sorghum grain, and hence it follows that if starch production is enhanced it will lead to increased grain size. The process of grain filling (which determines grain weight) in wheat and barley is typically sink-limited rather than source-limited except under extreme stress conditions, implying that there is potential to increase sink strength without the need to increase photosynthetic capacity (Serrago et al. 2013). Several candidate genes have been identified that have the potential to increase starch levels in grain through transgenic approaches. The recent development of an efficient transformation system for sorghum (Liu et al. 2014) makes transgenic approaches a promising strategy to increase seed weight and in turn grain yield in sorghum. For further detail readers may refer to Chap. 12.

A simplified version of the metabolic pathway for starch biosynthesis in cereal endosperm is shown in Fig. 1. The step with the greatest flux control in this pathway is the conversion of glucose-1-phosphate and ATP into ADP-glucose and pyrophosphate. The process is catalyzed by the enzyme ADP-glucose pyrophosphorylase (AGPase). AGPase is, therefore, an obvious candidate for overexpression in order to upregulate starch biosynthesis. In most plant tissues (both source and sink) AGPase is localized in plastids. However, in cereal endosperms there is an additional cytosolic form that produces approximately 85-95 % of the ADP-glucose that is used for starch synthesis in the endosperm (Denver et al. 1996; Thorbjørnsen et al. 1996). This cytosolic form has been another target for studies aiming to upregulate starch biosynthesis in cereal seeds.

AGPase is a heterotetrameric enzyme made up of two large subunits and two small subunits (Tuncel and Okita 2013). In maize, the cytosolic forms of the large and small subunits are encoded by the genes Shrunken2 and Brittle2, respectively. The sorghum genome contains close homologues of these genes, which are strongly expressed during grain filling (Campbell et al. 2016). Transgenic approaches have been used to overexpress the shrunken2 gene in several cereals other than sorghum, including maize (e.g., Wang et al. 2007; Li et al. 2011; Hannah et al. 2012), wheat (e.g., Smidansky et al. 2002, 2007; Kang et al. 2013), and rice (e.g., Smidansky et al. 2003; Lee et al. 2010). Enhanced versions of the shrunken2 gene harboring naturally occurring mutations that result in increased seed weight due to reduced inhibition of the enzyme by inorganic phosphate (Giroux et al. 1996) and increased thermostability (Greene and Hannah 1998) have been typically used in these studies. The general transgenic strategy with these candidate genes has been to express the transgenes under the control of an endosperm-specific promoter. Interestingly, the choice of endosperm-specific promoter has been important in determining the phenotype that is obtained. When seed-storage protein promoters were used (such as maize zein promoters or wheat and rice glutellin promoters), the resulting transgenic plants showed that seed sizes increased by 11-33 % (Wang et al. 2007; Lee et al. 2010; Li et al. 2011). However, when the shrunken2 promoter was used, yield increases (of up to 64 %) were due to increased seed number rather than increased seed size (Smidansky et al. 2002, 2003, 2007; Hannah et al. 2012). Subsequent analysis in maize has shown that although the shrunken2 promoter is predominantly expressed in endosperm, it is also expressed in floral meristems and in ovary wall tissue (Chrimes et al. 2005; Hannah et al. 2012). The upregulation of AGPase (and therefore at least transient accumulation of starch) in these "off-target" tissues presumably leads to enhanced floral initiation and/or reduced abortion of seeds that have already set, which in turn results in the observed increase in seed number. In most of the above studies, only a



Fig. 1 An overview of the starch biosynthesis pathway in cereal endosperm. *Solid arrows* show the conventional pathway, while *dashed arrows* show an alternative pathway for ADPGlc synthesis mediated by SuSy. The cytosol is shown in *blue*, and the amyloplast is shown in *yellow*. Key enzymes mentioned in the text are shown in *green: SWEET*, member of the *SWEET* transporter family; *SuSy*, sucrose synthase; *Sh2*, Shrunken2 (large subunit of AGPase); *Bt2*, Brittle2 (small subunit of AGPase); *Bt1*, Brittle1 (amyloplastic ADPGlc transporter); *SS*, starch synthase; *SBE*, starch branching enzymes; *ISO*, isoamylase; *PULL*, pullulanase; *Wxy*, Waxy (granule-bound starch synthase). Key intermediates include: UDPG, uridine-diphosphate-glucose; D-Fru, D-fructose; F6P, fructose-6-phosphate; G6P, glucose-6-phosphate; G1P, glucose-1-phosphate; ADPGlc, Adenosine-diphosphate-glucose

single subunit of AGPase was overexpressed. Inasmuch as the enzyme consists of two subunits, it would be expected that overexpression of both subunits simultaneously would lead to greater yield increases than overexpression of just a single subunit, which was indeed observed in maize (Li et al. 2011).

As indicated above, the rate-limiting step for starch biosynthesis in endosperm is the production of ADP-glucose by AGPase. When AGPase is overexpressed in transgenic plants, however, there is evidence that the rate-limiting step switches to the subsequent step, which is the transport of ADP-glucose into the amyloplast (Fig. 1). This evidence comes from the fact that the increase in seed weight is less than the increase in ADP-glucose levels in these transgenic plants (Nagai et al. 2009). The amyloplast ADP-glucose transporter in cereal grain is encoded by the homologues of the maize *brittle1* gene (Bowsher et al. 2007; Kirchberger et al. 2007), and sorghum contains a near identical homologue of this gene. It might be expected, therefore, that maximum yield increase would be obtained in transgenic plants that overexpress both AGPase subunits and the amyloplastic ADP-glucose transporter in endosperm tissues. This is yet to be achieved.

In most of the examples cited above, the analysis of AGPase-overexpressing transgenic plants was done under controlled glasshouse conditions. In two cases, however, transgenic plants were tested under field conditions. In the transgenic first, wheat plants expressing enhanced shrunken2 under the control of the shrunken2 promoter showed increased seed number only when grown under nonlimiting conditions (low density with irrigation; Meyer et al. 2007). This is contrary to the findings of Serrago et al. (2013) described above. A subsequent report investigating transgenic maize expressing the same transgene showed that significant increases in yield under field conditions were dependent on elevated temperatures (>33 $^{\circ}$ C) during the first four days after pollination (Hannah et al. 2012). It is not clear whether such elevated temperatures occurred in the trials conducted by Meyer et al. (2007). The requirement for elevated temperatures perhaps fits well with relatively high heat and drought tolerance of sorghum and its importance in the semi-arid tropics. More examples of field testing of cereals engineered to overexpress AGPase will be required in order to determine how agronomically useful this strategy may be.

Another two genes that are worth mentioning here as potential targets for overexpression in sorghum grain in order to increase grain size are *sucrose synthase* (*SuSy*) and the recently described *SWEET* sugar transporters from maize and rice (Eom et al. 2015). The interest in *SuSy* stems from an alternative (or additional) model for starch synthesis, in which *SuSy* (rather than AGPase) plays a key role in the production of ADP-glucose (see for review Bahaji et al. 2014). This model does not yet seem to have gained widespread support; however, it has recently been demonstrated that overexpression of *SuSy* in wheat endosperm leads to increased levels of ADP-glucose and starch (Li et al. 2013). *SWEET*s are a novel, recently described family of sugar transporters that includes both sucrose and hexose transporters (see, for review, Eom et al. 2015). Very recent work in maize and rice indicate that one member of this family is expressed in the basal endosperm transfer layer, and is involved in grain filling (Sosso et al. 2015). It follows, therefore, that upregulation of the sorghum homologue of these genes may lead to increased carbohydrate import into the grain and subsequent increases in starch production.

5.2 Improving Grain Quality: Engineering Starch with Health Benefits

As indicated above, sorghum grains typically contain about 30 % amylose and 70 % amylopectin (although these ratios differ among cultivars). This starch component provides a major source of calories in the human diet, but in recent years there is increasing evidence that the ratio of amylose to amylopectin has a big influence on digestibility within the human gastrointestinal tract. In particular, high proportions of amylose in grain lead to higher proportions of so-called "resistant starch" (which remains undigested in the small intestine and enters the large intestine in an intact form), which in turn leads to a reduced post-prandial glucose response and therefore a reduced GI (e.g., Granfeldt et al. 1995; Åkerberg et al. 1998; Behall and Hallfrisch 2002; Hallström et al. 2011). Increasing the amylose content of cereal grains (including sorghum) is, therefore, attracting interest particularly in developed nations where levels of obesity (and associated health issues) are reaching epidemic proportions.

As shown in Fig. 1, the synthesis of amylopectin is controlled by multiple isoforms of starch synthases and starch branching enzymes, and therefore these enzymes are obvious candidates for downregulation in order to alter the amylose:amylopectin ratio in transgenic plants. Indeed, natural *amylose extender (ae)* mutants of maize, which have elevated amylose levels in grain, have been shown to lack activity of starch branching enzyme SBEIIb, which is the major isoform of this enzyme in maize (Hedman and Boyer 1982). A number of studies in cereals have demonstrated increased amylose following downregulation of starch branching enzymes. The first of these used RNAi constructs targeting the SBEIIa and SBEIIb genes in bread wheat (Regina et al. 2006). The construct targeting *SBEIIb* effectively downregulated **SBEIIb** expression but did not show any effect on starch composition. The construct targeting SBEIIa, however, resulted in the downregulation of both SBEIIa and SBEIIb, and resulted in amylose accumulation to >70 % in grains. Furthermore, the authors recorded positive effects on gastrointestinal health in rats that were fed with the high amylose grain. The SBEIIa gene was also effectively downregulated in durum wheat, resulting in accumulation of amylose up to 75 % (Sestili et al. 2010). In barley, RNA-mediated silencing of the SBAIIa or SBEIIb genes alone recorded little impact on amylose:amylopectin levels, but simultaneous downregulation of both by >80 % led to accumulation of >70 % amylose (Regina et al. 2010).

From the above studies it is evident that the starch branching enzyme isoforms that need to be targeted are species dependent. This predominantly reflects differences in the expression level of the isoforms. For instance, in maize grain there is approximately 50 times more *SBEIIb* than *SBEIIa* (Gao et al. 1997) and therefore, mutations of *SBEIIb* give rise to the *ae* phenotype. In contrast, wheat grain has approximately fourfold higher expression of *SBEIIa* compared to *SBEIIb* (Regina et al. 2005) and therefore, *SBEIIa* is a more effective target. In barley, there is approximately equal expression of these two genes (Sun et al. 1998) and both need to be downregulated in order to obtain the *ae* phenotype.

The *SBEI* gene has also been a target for downregulation in tandem with *SBEII* isoforms. For instance, transgenic rice with almost 65 % amylose was generated using a double antisense construct targeting both *SBEI* and *SBEIIb*, and these high amylose grains led to improved indices of animal health when fed to rats (Zhu et al. 2012). These feeding trials confirm the observations of Regina et al. (2006) described above. The most extreme result was obtained in barley engineered to simultaneously downregulate all three SBE isoforms (*SBEI*, *SBEIIa*, and *SBEIIb*), which resulted in grain that accumulated only amylose (Carciofi et al. 2012).

A common effect in the studies described above is a reduction in grain weight in transgenic lines with enhanced amylose levels resulting from downregulation of SBE. A recent study in maize suggests that this yield penalty can be overcome by simultaneously overexpressing AGPase subunits, sucrose synthase, and granule-bound starch synthase (to direct more carbon into the starch biosynthesis) and downregulating *SBE* isoforms (Jiang et al. 2013).

5.3 Starch Debranching Enzymes

The starch debranching enzymes include isozymes of isoamylase, and a single locus of pullulanase (known as limit dextrinase in wheat and barley). The functional role of the starch debranching enzyme, pullulanase, and its influence upon starch structural properties is not well understood. Knockout mutations for this gene in maize and rice have not revealed clear grain phenotypes (Dinges et al. 2003; Fujita et al. 2009), but a distinct relationship between a particular pullulanase allelic variant and increased sorghum grain digestibility has been demonstrated (Gilding et al. 2013). The common allele, known as SbPUL-GD, is found in approximately 90 % of cultivated sorghums. Another allele, SbPUL-RA, differs from the common allele at only two amino acid residues in the N-terminal end of the resultant protein. It has been established that in genotypes homozygous for SbPUL-RA there is a twofold increase in enzyme activity in both leaves and developing endosperm. This has been shown to be a result of enzyme activity and there is no difference in gene expression (Gilding et al. 2013; Campbell et al. 2016). No clear connection between the high digestibility allele type (*SbPUL-RA*) and end use has been established; however, there is a well-defined partition in the gene tree between genotypes carrying this allele and the others carrying its less digestible counterpart (*SbPUL-GD*) as a result of balancing selection acting upon this gene during domestication and subsequent modern plant breeding (Gilding et al. 2013; Campbell et al. 2016).

6 Genomics of Seed Storage Proteins

The major sorghum seed storage proteins are the prolamin family of kafirins, which share a high level of homology with the maize zein family (Garratt et al. 1993; Watterson et al. 1993). The kafirins are stored in discrete protein bodies in the endosperm (Shewry and Halford 2002), and these bodies tend to form a very tight matrix around the starch granules (Hamaker and Bugusu 2003), particularly so in the outer peripheral and vitreous endosperm.

The most abundant of these prolamins are the α -kafirins, encoded by a multigene family (Xu and Messing 2008) and generally making up 70 % of the prolamin content (Hamaker et al. 1995). The remainder of the prolamins are the β and γ -kafirins, which have moderate to high methionine and cysteine contents, with a high level of disulphide bonds, rendering them highly protease resistant. There is also a quite minor component, the δ -kafirins which comprise less than 1 % of total seed protein (Izquierdo and Godwin 2005). Within the protein bodies, the β and γ -kafirins are predominantly on the periphery, where their high level of inter- and intramolecular disulphide bonds make overall protein digestibility lower than other cereals (Oria et al. 2000; Belton et al. 2006; Emmambux and Taylor 2009).

Genomics approaches to understand and improve the nutritional quality of sorghum grain have shown allelic variation for the kafirins. Laidlaw et al. (2010) showed considerable allelic diversity for the β - and γ -kafirins, but only two major allele classes for the δ -kafirins. Interestingly, this study revealed the presence of lines with a β -kafirin null allele, with a frameshift insertion leading to a premature stop codon, which is shown to be under balancing selection in a diverse range of sorghum germplasm (Frere et al. 2011). Proteomic and end-use analysis showed that the diverse kafirin alleles have a significant impact on grain digestibility (Cremer et al. 2014a), which also had an impact on ethanol conversion efficiency (Cremer et al. 2014b) and dough qualities (Shewaygra et al. 2012).

A point mutation in the signal peptide of an α -kafirin gene results in an aberrant periphery of the sorghum protein body, leading to enhanced digestability (Wu et al. 2013). Furthermore, this indirectly led to increased lysine content due to an increased proportion of non-kafirin proteins. Lysine is the most limiting amino acid in cereals, and sorghum has the lowest lysine content among the major cereal grains (Henley et al. 2010).

7 Genomics of Nonstarch Polysaccharides

Nonstarch polysaccharides (NSP) is the term given to polysaccharides other than starch that generally form the primary constituents of cell walls and are concentrated more abundantly in the outer rather than inner layers of grains. From a nutritional perspective, NSPs form one of the core components of dietary fiber, which has been strongly associated with enhanced health effects (Nugent 2005a, b). Dietary fiber is known to influence the extent and rate to which blood glucose increases after consumption of a carbohydrate food. A significant health benefit of dietary fiber is the ability to lower the glycemic response of the foods in which it is a major constituent. Foods rich in dietary fiber release glucose more slowly into the bloodstream which is relevant towards the prevention of disorders such as diabetes, obesity, and gastrointestinal cancer (Topping 2007; Babio et al. 2010). Additionally, a higher level of soluble

polysaccharides in a biofuel feedstock improves saccharification to provide more fermentable sugars for conversion into bioethanol (Lin and Tanaka 2006).

NSPs are structural polysaccharides as opposed to starch, which is chiefly a storage polysaccharide. The most common types of NSP are cellulose, arabinoxylan, and $(1 \rightarrow 3)$, $(1 \rightarrow 4)$ - β -D-glucan (β -glucan). Arabinoxylans are 1–4 linked β -D-xylopyranosyls, which can be substituted at the O-2 and/or O-3- atomic positions with α -L-arabinofuranose (Verbruggen et al. 1993), whereas the β -glucans are soluble NSPs of glucose chains linked via mixed β -(1,3)and β -(1,4)-glycosidic linkages (Lazaridou and Biliaderis 2007). These structural molecules are central to the cell wall matrix of cereals, which when combined with lignins, cell wall proteins, and polyphenolic substances, results in a firm, inextensible cell wall.

The proportion of NSPs within cell walls of grain varies among species and between tissues within the grain itself. Wheat, barley, and oats contain upwards of 10 % w/w NSPs such as β-glucan and arabinoxylans (Collins et al. 2010), in contrast to sorghum grain which comprises only 3.4-7.3 % w/w (Bach Knudsen et al. 1988; Verbruggen et al. 1993). Specifically, the amounts of β -glucan found within cereal species (wholegrain flour) can range from 4 to 10 % (w/w) in barley and oats, through approximately 1 % (w/w) in maize and wheat, and as low as 0.1-0.4 % (w/w) in sorghum and rice (Collins et al. 2010; Niba and Hoffman 2003; Betts et al. 2015). Estimates of arabinoxylan amounts in total grain range from 4 to 9 % w/w in wheat, but drop to around 2-5 % w/w in rice and maize (Collins et al. 2010). The most recent estimates for arabinoxylan content in sorghum ranges from 1.5 to 3.6 % w/w (Betts et al. 2015).

High β -glucan and arabinoxylan levels have been demonstrated to increase the risk of disease in poultry due to the sticky feces produced when birds are fed grain diets (Bedford and Morgan 1996). Furthermore, β -glucans and arabinoxylan, particularly from barley, can likewise create problems for the brewing industry by increasing the haze produced in beer (Jadhav et al. 1998). The objective to manipulate NSPs as an important grain quality trait largely depends on the possible end use intended for the sorghum grain. In the context of manipulating NSPs towards the goal of creating sorghum as a useful functional food with human health benefits, lines recognized with high β -glucan, high soluble NSP, high protein, and low starch content would be desirable. Conversely, sorghum genotypes with reduced NSP levels, more digestible protein, and higher starch contents would be ideal for livestock feeds. The manipulation of NSPs with regard to the biofuel industry would see sorghum grain with higher levels of soluble polysaccharides, such as β -glucan, which would aid the process of saccharification, providing more fermentable sugars for conversion into bioethanol. And with respect to the brewing industry, lower amounts of viscous polysaccharides are preferred for beer making.

Betts et al. (2015) examined the influence of environment vis-à-vis genetic variation on β-glucan and arabinoxylan levels in grain sorghum by testing 10 genotypes across five environments. Genotype was the dominant source of variation for both β -glucan and arabinoxylan content (69-74 %), with environment responsible for only 5–14 %. These results also mirrored the $G \times E$ effects on sorghum grain popping ability (Rooney and Rooney 2013). All these studies suggest significant genetic influence on cell wall composition in sorghum grain. It also means that utilization of genotypic variation in breeding programs of wild genotypes and landraces from diverse geographic origins may make a positive contribution to altering NSP levels in sorghum. Towards this goal, deployment of rapid and inexpensive phenotyping technologies such as near-infrared reflectance (NIR) spectroscopy assume much significance (Blakeney and Flinn 2005). Another avenue for altering the levels of NSPs is through the utilization of transformation technology. In addition to the standard manipulation techniques such as overexpression or RNAi, new technology such as CRISPR/Cas9 (Mali et al. 2013), offers a unique opportunity.

The search for candidate genes involved in arabinoxylan synthesis identified genes in the glycosyl transferase (GT) families, including GT43, GT47, and particularly GT61 (Mitchell et al. 2007; Pellny et al. 2012). Although there have been no bioinformatics or genetic studies to date concerning possible candidate genes of sorghum involved in arabinoxylan synthesis, substantive evidence has been displayed in other cereals. Clear proof of function of candidate genes from the GT61 family of rice and wheat was shown when particular genes from the GT61 family led to the addition of α -(1,3) linked arabinofuranose to xylan in Arabidopsis, which otherwise lacks arabinosylation ability. This showed that these genes encode α -(1,3)-arabinosyltransferase activity (Anders et al. 2012). In a separate study, Chiniquy et al. (2012) demonstrated that a rice member of the GT61 family, called XAX1, was responsible for adding the Xylp- $(1 \rightarrow 2)$ - α -Arafxylose residues in $(1 \rightarrow 3)$ substitutions. Furthermore, suppression of wheat GT61 (TaXAT1) resulted in a 70-80 % decrease in the amount of α -(1,3) linked arabinofuranose in arabinoxylan of mature starchy endosperm (Anders et al. 2012), whereas suppression of GT43 (TaGT43_2) or GT47 (TAGT47_2) genes reduced the total amount of arabinoxylan in wheat endosperm walls by 50 % (Lovegrove et al. 2013). In both studies, these dramatic physical changes to the endosperm cell wall of these transgenic genotypes did not affect average grain weight or germination.

In contrast, the genes involved in the biosynthesis of β -glucans are now well characterized and are linked to the cellulose synthase-like (*Csl*) family of genes that includes members of the *CslF* and *CslH* clades of the cellulose synthase gene superfamily. In particular, the *CslF6* gene of barley when transformed into *A. thaliana* resulted in the biosynthesis of β -glucans in the cell walls of transgenic plants (Burton et al. 2006; Doblin et al. 2009), whereas in wheat downregulation of this gene resulted in

a marked decrease of β -glucan in the endosperm (Nemeth et al. 2010). In fact, when the CslF6 gene of barley was overexpressed by an endosperm-specific promoter, the resultant transgenics had an increase of more than 80 % of β -glucan levels in the grain (Burton et al. 2011). Furthermore, a mutant barley line with a lesion in the CslF6 gene had no β -glucan content in its grain (Taketa et al. 2012). Transcript profiling of orthologues from the Csl family in sorghum across several tissues has revealed that CslF6 transcripts predominate in these tissues and are likely responsible for β-glucan synthesis (Ermawar et al. 2015).

8 Future Directions

The science of molecular genetics and its application to plant breeding and biotechnology has finally achieved a level of technological sophistication and genomewide scope such that the analysis of genes and their respective functions can be affordably carried out by institutions without multimillion dollar budgets. Sorghum's small diploid genome and role as a model crop species for C₄ plants has meant that a plethora of genetic resources, online genomic databases, and advanced breeding populations (NAM, MAGIC) have become available to public research institutions and breeding programs worldwide. In conjunction with these bioinformatics resources, successful development and employment of sorghum transformation technology has become a reality and has allowed thorough characterization of genes and their respective functions. The future combination of genomic level sequencing encompassing diverse African germplasm with CRISPR/Cas9 technology that can specifically silence or manipulate numerous genes, means that the task of assigning function to the tens of thousands of uncharacterized genes within the sorghum genome is now conceivable and the goal of improving sorghum quality can be readily attained.

References

- Åkerberg A, Liljeberg H, Bjorck I (1998) Effects of amylose/amylopectin ratio and baking conditions on resistant starch formation and glycaemic indicies. J Cereal Sci 28:71–80
- Anders N, Wilkinson MD, Lovegrove A, Freeman J, Tryfona T, Pellny TK et al (2012) Glycosyltransferases in family 61 mediate arabinofuranosyl transfer on to xylan in grasses. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 109:989–993
- Axtell JD, Kirleis AW, Hassen MM, d'Croz Mason N, Mertz ET, Munck L (1981) Digestibility of sorghum proteins. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 78:1333–1335
- Badigannavar A, Girish G, Ramachandran V, Ganapathi TR (2016) Genotypic variation for seed protein and mineral content among post-rainy season-grown sorghum genotypes. Crop J 4:61–67
- Babio N, Balanza R, Basulto J, Bullo M, Salas-Salvado J (2010) Dietary fibre: influence on body weight, glycemic control and plasma cholesterol profile. Nutr Hospital 25:327–340
- Bach Knudsen K, Munck L, Eggum B (1988) Effect of cooking, pH and polyphenol level on carbohydrate composition and nutritional quality of a sorghum (*Sorghum bicolor* (L.) Moench) food, ugali. Br J Nutr 59:31e47
- Bahaji A, Li J, Sanchez-Lopez AM, Baroja-Fernandez E, Munoz FJ, Ovecka M, Almagro G, Montero M, Ezquer I, Etxeberria E, Pozueta-Romero J (2014) Starch biosynthesis, its regulation and biotechnological approaches to improve crop yields. Biotechnol Adv 32:87–106
- Bedford MR, Morgan AJ (1996) The use of enzymes in poultry diets. Worlds Poult Sci J 52:61–68. doi:10. 1079/WPS19960007
- Behall KM, Hallfrisch J (2002) Plasma glucose and insulin reduction after consumption of breads varying in amylose content. Eur J Clin Nutr 56:913–920
- Belton PS, Delgadillo I, Halford NG, Shewry PR (2006) Kafirin structure and functionality. J Cereal Sci 44:272–286
- Belton PS, Taylor JR (2004) Sorghum and millets: protein sources for Africa. Trends Food Sci Technol 15:94–98
- Betts NS, Fox GP, Kelly AM, Cruickshank AW, Lahnstein J, Henderson M, Jordan DR, Burton RA (2015) Non-cellulosic cell wall polysaccharides are subject to genotype x environment effects in sorghum (Sorghum bicolor) grain. J Cereal Sci 63:6364–6371
- Blackburn N (1981) Protein digestibility and absorption: effects of fibre, and the extent of individual variation. Jt FAO/WHO/UNU Expert Consult Energy Protein Requir 15
- Blakeney AB, Flinn PC (2005) Determination of non-starch polysaccharides in cereal grains with near-infared reflectance spectroscopy. Mol Nutr Food Res 49:546–550
- Bowsher CG, Scrase-Field EFAL, Esposito S, Emes MJ, Tetlow IJ (2007) Characterisation of ADP-glucose

transport across the cereal endosperm amyloplast envelope. J Exp Bot 58:1321–1332

- BSTID-NRC (Board on Science and Technology for International Development, Office of International Affairs, National Research Council, USA) (1996) Sorghum. In: Lost crops of africa, vol 1. Grains. National Academy of Sciences, pp 127–144
- Buleon A, Gallant DJ, Bouchet B, Mouille G, D'Hulst C, Kossman J, Ball S (1997) Starches from A to C (*Chlamydomonas reinhardtii* as a model microbial system to investigate the biosynthesis of the plant amylopectin crystal. Plant Physiol 115:949–957
- Burton RA, Collins HM, Kibble NAJ, Smith JA, Shirley NJ, Jobling SA et al (2011) Over-expression of specific HvCsIF cellulose synthase-like genes in transgenic barley increases the levels of cell wall (1,3;1,4)-β-D-glucans and alters their fine structure. Plant Biotechnol J 9:117–135
- Burton RA, Wilson SM, Hrmova M, Harvey AJ, Shirley NJ, Medhurst A, Stone BA, Newbigin EJ, Bacic A, Fincher GB (2006) Cellulose synthase-like CsIF genes mediate the synthesis of cell wall (1,3;1,4)beta-D-glucans. Science 311:1940e1942
- Campbell BC, Gilding EK, Timbrell V, Guru P, Loo D et al (2015) Total transcriptome, proteome, and allergome of Johnson grass pollen, which is important for allergic rhinitis in subtropical regions. J Allergy Clin Immunol 135:133–142
- Campbell BC, Gilding EK, Mace ES, Tai S, Tao Y, Prentis PJ, Thomelin P, Jordan DR, Godwin ID (2016) Domestication and the storage starch biosynthesis pathway: signatures of selection from a whole sorghum genome sequencing strategy. Plant Biotechnol J. doi:10.1111/pbi.12578
- Carciofi M, Blennow A, Jensen SL, Shaik SS, Henriksen A, Buleon A, Holm PB, Hebelstrup KH (2012) Concerted suppression of all starch branching enzyme genes in barley produces amylose-only starch granules. BMC Plant Biol 12:223
- Chan SSL, Ferguson EL, Bailey K, Fahmida U, Harper TB, Gibson RS (2007) The concentrations of iron, calcium, zinc and phytate in cereals and legumes habitually consumed by infants living in East Lombok, Indonesia. J Food Comp Anal 20:609–617
- Charles AL, Chang YH, Ko WC, Sriroth K, Huang TC (2005) Influence of amylopectin structure and amylose content on the gelling properties of five cultivars of cassava starches. J Agric Food Chem 53:2717–2725. doi:10.1021/jf048376+
- Chiniquy D, Sharma V, Schultink A, Baidoo EE, Rautengarten C, Cheng K, Carroll A, Ulvskov P, Harholt J, Keasling JD (2012) XAX1 from glycosyltransferase family 61 meduates xylosyl transfer to rice xylan. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 109:17117–17122
- Chrimes D, Rogers HJ, Francis D, Jones HD, Ainsworth C (2005) Expression of fission yeast cdc25 driven by the wheat ADP-glucose pyrophosphorylase large subunit promoter reduces pollen viability and prevents transmission of the transgene in wheat. New Phytol 166:185–192

- Collins HM, Burton RA, Topping Dl, Liao M-L, Bacic A, Fincher GB (2010) Variability in fine structures of noncellulosic cell wall polysaccharides from cereal grains: potential importance in human health and nutrition. Cereal Chem 87, 272e282
- Cremer JE, Bean SR, Tilley MM, Ioerger BP, Ohm JB et al (2014a) Grain sorghum proteomics: integrated approach toward characterization of endosperm storage proteins in kafirin allelic variants. J Agric Food Chem 62:9819–9831
- Cremer JE, Liu L, Bean SR, Ohm JB, Tilley M, Wilson JD, Kaufman RC, Vu TH, Gilding EK, Godwin ID, Wang D (2014b) Impacts of kafirin allelic diversity, starch content and digestibility on ethanol conversion efficiency in sorghum. Cereal Chem 91:218–227
- Denyer K, Dunlap F, Thorbjørnsen T, Keeling P, Smith AM (1996) The major form of ADP-glucose in maize (*Zea mays* L.) endosperm is extra-plastidial. Plant Physiol 112:779–785
- Dicko MH, Gruppen H, Traoré AS, Voragen AGJ, van Berkel WJH (2006) Sorghum grain as human food in Africa: relevance of content of starch and amylase activities. Afr J Biotechnol 5:384–395
- Dinges JR, Colleoni C, James MG, Myers AM (2003) Mutational analysis of the pullulanase-type debranching enzyme of maize indicates multiple functions in starch metabolism. Plant Cell 15:666–680
- Doblin MS, Pettolino FA, Wilson SM, Campbell R, Burton RA, Fincher GB (2009) A barley cellulose synthase-like CSLH gene mediates (1,3;1,4)β-D-glucan synthesis in transgenic Arabidopsis. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 106:5996–6001
- Duodu K, Taylor JR, Belton P, Hamaker B (2003) Factors affecting sorghum protein digestibility. J Cereal Sci 38:117–131
- El Tinay AH, Gadir AMA, El Hidai M (1979) Sorghum fermented kisra bread. I—nutritive value of kisra. J Sci Food Agri 30:859–863
- Emmambux MN, Taylor JRN (2009) Properties of heat-treated sorghum and maize meal and their prolamin proteins. J Agric Food Chem 57:1045–1050
- Eom J-S, Chen L-Q, Sosso D, Julius BT, Lin IW, Qu X-Q, Braun DM, Frommer WB (2015) SWEETs, transporters for intracellular and intercellular sugar translocation. Curr Op Plant Biol 25:53–62
- Ermawar RA, Collins HM, Byrt CS, Betts NS, Henderson M, Shirley NJ, Schwerdt J, Lahnstein J, Fincher GB, Burton RA (2015) Distribution, structure and biosynthetic gene families of (1,3;1,4)-b-glucan in *Sorghum bicolor*. J Integr Biol 57:429–445
- Frere CH, Prentis PJ, Gilding AK, Mudge AM, Cruickshank A, Godwin ID (2011) Lack of low frequency variants masks patterns of non-neutral evolution following domestication. PLoS ONE 6(8):e23041
- Fujita N, Toyosawa Y, Utsumi Y, Higuchi T, Hanashiro I, Ikegami A, Akuzawa S, Yoshida M, Mori A, Inomata K (2009) Characterisation of pullulanase

(PUL) mutants of rice (*Oryza sativa* L.) and the function of PUL on starch biosynthesis in the developing rice endosperm. J Exp Bot 60:1009–1023

- Gao M, Fisher DK, Kim K-N, Boyer CD, Guiltinan MJ (1997) Independent genetic control of maize starch branching enzymes IIa and IIb: isolation and characterisation of Sbe2a cDNA. Plant Physiol 114:69–78
- Garratt R, Oliva G, Caracelli I, Leite A, Arruda P (1993) Studies of the zein-like α-prolamins based on an analysis of amino acid sequences: implications for their evolution and three-dimensional structure. Proteins 15:88–99
- Gerland P, Raftery AE, Sevčíková H, Li N, Gu D, Spoorenberg T, Alkema L, Fosdick BK, Chunn J, Lalic N, Bay G, Buettner T, Heilig GK, Wilmoth J (2014) World population stabilization unlikely this century. Science 346:234–237
- Gilding EK, Frere CH, Cruickshank A, Rada AK, Prentis PJ, Mudge AM, Mace ES, Jordan DR, Godwin ID (2013) Allelic variation at a single gene increases food value in a drought-tolerant staple cereal. Nat Commun 4:1483
- Giroux MJ, Shaw J, Barry G, Cobb BG, Greene T, Okita T (1996) A single gene mutation that increases maize seed weight. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 93:5824– 5829
- Godfray HCJ, Beddington JR, Crute IR, Haddad L, Lawrence D et al (2010) Food security: the challenge of feeding 9 billion people. Science 327:812–818
- Godwin ID (2004) Sorghum genetic engineering: current status and prospects. In: Seetharama N, Godwin ID (eds) Sorghum tissue culture and transformation. Science Publisher, Enfield, NH, USA, pp 1–8
- Granfeldt Y, Drews A, Bjorck I (1995) Arepas made from high amylose corn flour produce favourable low glucose and insulin responses in healthy humans. J Nutr 125:459–465
- Greene TW, Hannah LC (1998) Enhanced stability of maize endosperm ADP-glucose pyrophosphorylase is gained through mutants that alter subunit interactions. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 95:13342–13347
- Grenier C, Ejeta G (2005) Sorghum and its weedy hybrids. In: Gressel J (ed) Crop ferality and volunteerism. CRC Press, Boca Raton, FL, USA, pp 123– 135
- Hallström E, Sestili F, Lafiandra D, Bjorck I, Ostman E (2011) A novel wheat variety with elevated content of amylose increases resistant starch formation and may beneficially influence glycaemia in healthy subjects. Food Nutr Res 55:7074
- Hamaker BR, Bugusu BA (2003) Overview: sorghum proteins and food quality. In: Belton PS, Taylor JRN (eds) Workshop on the proteins of sorghum and millets: enhancing nutritional and functional properties for africa (AFRIPRO), pp 2–4. Available via Afripro Conference Proceedings, www.afripro.org.uk
- Hamaker BR, Mohamed AA, Habben JE, Huang CP, Larkins BA (1995) Efficient procedure for extracting

maize and sorghum kernel proteins reveals higher prolamin contents than the conventional method. Cereal Chem 72:583–588

- Hannah LC, Futch B, Bung J, Shaw J, Boehlein S, Stewart JD, Beiriger R, Georgelis N, Greene T (2012) A *shrunken-2* transgene increases maize yield by acting in maternal tissues to increase the frequency of seed development. Plant Cell 24:2352–2363
- Hariprasanna K, Agte V, Elangovan M, Patil JV (2014) Genetic variability for grain iron and zinc content in cultivars, breeding lines and selected germplasm accessions of sorghum (*Sorghum bicolor* (L.) Moench]. Indian J Genet Plant Breed 74:42–49
- Hayes CM, Burow GB, Brown PJ, Thurber C, Xin ZG, Burke, JJ (2015) Natural variation in synthesis and catabolism genes influences dhurrin content in sorghum. Plant Genome 8. doi:10.3835/ plantgenome2014.09.0048
- Hedman KD, Boyer CD (1982) Allelic studies of the Amylose-Extender locus of Zea mays: levels of the starch branching enzymes. Biochem Genet 20:483– 492
- Henley EC, Taylor JRN, Obukosia SD (2010) The importance of dietary protein in human health: combating protein deficiency in sub-Saharan Africa through transgenic biofortified sorghum. In: Taylor SL (ed) Advances in food and nutrition research, vol 60., Academic PressSan Diego, CA, USA, pp 21–52
- Izquierdo L, Godwin ID (2005) Molecular characterization of a novel methionine-rich delta-kafirin seed storage protein gene in sorghum (*Sorghum bicolor* L.). Cereal Chem 82:706–710
- Jadhav SJ, Lutz SE, Ghorpade VM, Salunkhe DK (1998) Barley: chemistry and value-added processing. Crit Rev Food Sci Nutr 38:123–171
- Jiang L, Yu X, Qi X, Yu Q, Deng S, Bai B, Li N, Zhang A, Zhu C, Liu B, Pang J (2013) Multigene engineering of starch biosynthesis in maize endosperm increases the total starch content and the proportion of amylose. Transgen Res 22:1133–1142
- Kang G, Liu G, Peng X, Wei L, Wang C, Zhu Y, Ma Y, Jiang Y, Guo T (2013) Increasing the starch content and grain weight of common wheat by overexpression of the cytosolic APGase large subunit gene. Plant Physiol Biochem 73:93–98
- Korte A, Farlow A (2013) The advantages and limitations of trait analysis with GWAS: a review. Plant Methods 9:29
- Karper RE (1933) Inheritance of waxy endosperm in sorghum. J Hered 24:257–262
- Kirchberger S, Leroch M, Huynen MA, Wahl M, Neuhaus HE, Tjaden J (2007) Molecular and biochemical analysis of the plastidic ADP-glucose transporter (ZmBT1) from Zea mays. J Biol Chem 282:22481–22491
- Laidlaw HKC, Mace ES, Williams SB, Sakrewski K, Mudge AM, Prentis PJ, Jordan DR, Godwin ID (2010) Allelic variation of the β -, γ - and δ -kafirin genes in diverse *Sorghum* genotypes. Theor Appl Genet 121:1227–1237

- Lazaridou A, Biliaderis CG (2007) Molecular aspects of cereal b-glucan functionality:physical properties, technological applications and physiological effects. J Cereal Sci 46:101e118
- Lee S-M, Lee Y-H, Kim H, Seo S, Kwon S et al (2010) Characterisation of the potato *upreg1* gene, encoding a mutated ADP-glucose pyrophosphorylase large subunit, in transformed rice. Plant Cell Tiss Org Cult 102:171–179
- Li J, Baroja-Fernandez E, Bahaji A, Munoz FJ, Ovecka M, Montero M, Semsa MT, Alonso-Casajus N, Almagro G, Sanchez-Lopez AM, Hidalso M, Zamarbide M, Pozuate-Romero J (2013) Enhancing sucrose synthase activity results in increased levels of starch and ADP-glucose in maize (*Zea mays* L.) seed endosperms. Plant Cell Physiol 54:282–294
- Li N, Zhang S, Zhao Y, Li B, Zhang J (2011) Overexpression of AGPase genes enhances seed weight and starch content in transgenic maize. Planta 233:241–250
- Lin Y, Tanaka S (2006) Ethanol fermentation from biomass resources: current state and prospects. Appl Microbiol Biotechnol 69:627–642
- Liu G, Campbell BC, Godwin ID (2014) Sorghum genetic transformation by particle bombardment. In: Henry RJ, Furtado A (eds) Cereal genomics: methods and protocols, methods in molecular biology, vol 1099, pp 219–234
- Lovegrove A, Wilkinson MD, Freeman F, Pellny TK, Tosi P, Saulnier L, Shewry PR, Mitchell RAC (2013) RNA interference suppression of genes in glycosyl transferase families 43 and 47 in wheat starchy endosperm causes large decreases in arabinoxylan content. Plant Physiol 163:95e107
- Luo H, Zhao W, Wang Y, Xia Y, Wu X, Zhang L, Tang B, Zhu J, Fang L, Du Z, Bekele WA, Tai S, Jordan DR, Godwin ID, Snowdon RJ, Mace ES, Jing HC, Luo J (2016) SorGSD: a sorghum genome SNP database. Biotech Biofuels 9:6. doi:10.1186/ s13068-015-0415-8
- Mace ES, Hunt CH, Jordan DR (2013a) Supermodels: sorghum and maize provide mutual insight into the genetics of flowering time. Theor Appl Genet 126:1377–1395
- Mace ES, Tai S, Gilding EK, Li Y, Prentis PJ et al (2013b) Whole-genome sequencing reveals untapped genetic potential in Africa's indigenous cereal crop sorghum. Nat Comm 4:2320. doi:10.1038/ ncomms3320
- Maclean WC, Lopez De Romana G, Placko RP, Graham GG (1981) Protein quality and digestibility of sorghum in preschool children: balance studies and plasma free amino acids. J Nutr 111:1928–1936
- Mali P, Esvelt KM, Church GM (2013) Cas9 as a versatile tool for engineering biology. Nat Methods 10:957– 963
- Meyer FD, Talbot LE, Martin JM, Lanning SP, Greene TW, Giroux MJ (2007) Field evaluation of transgenic wheat expressing a modified ADP-glucose

pyrophosphorylase large subunit. Crop Sci 47:336–342

- Mindaye TT, Mace ES, Godwin ID, Jordan DR (2015) Genetic differentiation analysis for the identification of complementary parental pools for sorghum hybrid breeding in Ethiopia. Theor Appl Genet 128:1765– 1775
- Mitchell RAC, Dupree P, Shewry PR (2007) A novel bioinformatics approach identifies candidate genes for the synthesis and feruloylation of arabinoxylan. Plant Physiol 144:43e53
- Morris GP, Ramu P, Deshpande SP, Hash CT, Shah T, Upadhyaya HD, Riera-Lizarazu O, Brown PJ, Acharya CB, Mitchell SE, Harriman J, Glaubitz JC, Buckler ES, Kresovich S (2013) Population genomic and genome-wide association studies of agroclimatic traits in sorghum. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 11-:453– 458
- Nagai YS, Sakulsingharoj C, Edwards GE, Satoh H, Greene TW, Blakeslee B, Okita TW (2009) Control of starch synthesis in cereals: metabolite analysis of transgenic rice expressing an up-regulated cytoplasmic ADP-glucose pyrophosphorylase in developing seeds. Plant Cell Physiol 50:635–643
- Nemeth C, Freeman J, Jones HD, Sparks C, Pellny TK, Wilkinson MD, Dunwell J, Andersson AAM, Aman P, Guillon F, Saulnier L, Mitchell RAC, Shewry PR (2010) Down-regulation of the CSLF6 gene results in decreased (1,3;1,4)-beta-D-glucan in endosperm of wheat. Plant Physiol 152, 1209e1218
- Niba LL, Hoffman J (2003) Resistant starch and b-glucan levels in grain sorghum (*Sorghum bicolor* M.) are influenced by soaking and autoclaving. Food Chem 81, 113e118
- Nugent AP (2005) Health properties of resistant starch. Nutr Bull 30:27e54
- Nugent AP (2005b) Health properties of resistant starch. Br Nutr Foundation Nutr Bull 30:27–54
- Oria MP, Hamaker BR, Axtell JD, Huang CP (2000) A highly digestible sorghum mutant cultivar exhibits a unique folded structure of endosperm protein bodies. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 97:5065–5070
- Paterson AH, Bowers JE, Bruggmann R, Dabchak I, Grimwood J et al (2009) The *Sorghum bicolor* genome and the diversification of grasses. Nature 457:551–556
- Pedersen JF, Graybosch RA, Funnell DL (2007) Occurrence of the *waxy* alleles *wxa* and *wxb* in waxy sorghum plant introductions and their effect on starch thermal properties. Crop Sci 47:1927–1933
- Pellny TK, Lovegrove A, Freeman J, Tosi P, Love CG, Knox JP et al (2012) Cell walls of developing wheat starchy endosperm: comparison of composition and RNA-Seq transcriptome. Plant Physiol 158:612–627
- Pontieri P, Mamone G, De Caro S, Tuinstra MR, Roema E et al (2013) Sorghum, a healthy and gluten-free food for celiac patients as demonstrated by genome, biochemical, and immunochemical analyses. J Agric Food Chem. doi:10.1021/jf304882k

- Prasad MP, Rao BD, Kalpana K, Rao MV, Patil JV (2015) Glycaemic index and glycaemic load of sorghum products. J Sci Food Agri 95:1626–1630
- Regina A, Bird A, Topping D, Bowden S, Freeman J, Barsby T, Kosar-Hashemi B, Li Z, Rahman S, Morell M (2006) High amylose wheat generated by RNA interference improves indices of large-bowel heath in rats. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 103:3546–3551
- Rakshit S, Hariprasanna K, Gomashe S, Ganapathy KN, Das IK, Ramana OV, Dhandapani A, Patil JV (2014) Changes in area, yield gains, and yield stability of sorghum in major sorghum-producing countries, 1970 to 2009. Crop Sci 54(4):1571–1584
- Regina A, Kosar-Hashemi B, Li Z, Pedler A, Mukai Y, Yamamoto M, Gale K, Sharp PJ, Morell MK, Rahman S (2005) Starch branching enzyme IIb in wheat is expressed at low levels in the endosperm compared to other cereals and encoded at a non-syntenic locus. Planta 222:899–909
- Regina A, Kosar-Hashemi B, Ling S, Li Z, Rahman S, Morell M (2010) Control of starch branching in barley defined through differential RNAi suppression of starch branching enzyme IIa and IIb. J Exp Bot 61:1469–1482
- Ritter KB, McIntyre CL, Jordan DR, Chapman SC, Mace ES, Godwin ID (2008) Identification of QTL for sugar-related traits in sweet x grain sorghum (*Sor-ghum bicolor* L. Moench) inbred population. Mol Breed 22:376–384
- Rooney LW, Pflugfelder RL (1986) Factors affecting starch digestibility with special emphasis on sorghum and corn. J Anim Sci 63:1607–1623
- Rooney LW, Miller FR, Mertin JV (1981) Variation in the structure and kernel characteristics of sorghum. Proc Int Sym Sorghum Grain Qual, ICRISAT, Patancheru, India, pp 143–162
- Rooney TE, Rooney WL (2013) Genotype and environment effects on the popping characteristics of grain sorghum. J Crop Improv 27:460–468
- Serrago RA, Alzueta I, Savin R, Slafer GA (2013) Understanding grain yield responses to source-sink ratios during grain filling in wheat and barley under contrasting environments. Field Crops Res 150:42–51
- Sestili F, Janni M, Doherty A, Botticella E, D'Ovidio R, Masci S, Jones HD, Lafiandra D (2010) Increasing the amylose content of durum wheat through silencing of the SBEIIa genes. BMC Plant Biol 10:144
- Shewayrga H, Sopade PA, Jordan DR, Godwin ID (2012) Characterisation of grain quality in diverse sorghum germplasm using a Rapid Visco-Analyzer and near infrared reflectance spectroscopy. J Sci Food Agri 92:1402–1410
- Shewry PR, Halford NG (2002) Cereal seed storage proteins: structures, properties and role in grain utilization. J Exp Bot 53:947–958
- Shull JM, Watterson JJ, Kirleis AW (1992) Purification and immunocytochemical localization of kafirins in *Sorghum bicolor* (L. Moench) endosperm. Protoplasma 171:64–74

- Smidansky ED, Clancy M, Meyer FD, Lanning SP, Blake NK, Talbert LE, Giroux MJ (2002) Enhanced ADP-glucose pyrophosphorylase activity in wheat endosperm increases seed yield. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 99:1724–1729
- Smidansky ED, Martin JM, Hannah LC, Fischer AM, Giroux MJ (2003) Seed yield and plant biomass increases are conferred by deregulation of endosperm ADP-glucose pyrophosphorylase. Planta 216:656–664
- Smidansky ED, Meyer FD, Blakeslee B, Weglarz TE, Greene TW, Giroux MJ (2007) Expression of a modified ADP-glucose pyrophosphorylasae large subunit in wheat seeds stimulates photosynthesis and carbon metabolism. Planta 225:965–976
- Sosso D, Luo D, Li Q-B, Sasse J, Yang J, Gendrot G, Suzuki M, Kock KE, McCarty DR, Chourey PS, Rogowsky PM, Ross-Ibarra J, Yang B, Frommer WB (2015) Seed filling in domesticated maize and rice depends on SWEET-mediated hexose transport. Nat Genet 47:1489–1496
- Sun C, Sathish P, Ahlandsberg S, Jansson C (1998) The two genes encoding starch-branching enzymes IIA and IIb are differentially expressed in barley. Plant Physiol 118:37–49
- Takeda Y, Hizukuri S, Juliano BO (1986) Purification and structure of amylose from rice starch. Carbohydr Res 148:299–308
- Takeda Y, Hizukuri S, Juliano BO (1987) Structures of rice amylopectins with low and high affinities for iodine. Carbohydr Res 168:79–88
- Taketa S, Yuo T, Tonooka T, Tsumuraya Y, Inagaki Y, Haruyama N et al (2012) Functional characterization of barley betaglucan less mutants demonstrates a unique role for CsIF6 in (1,3;1,4)-β-D-glucan biosynthesis. J Exp Biol 63:381–392
- Taylor JRN, Schober TJ, Bean SR (2006) Novel food and non-food uses for sorghum and millets. J Cereal Sci 44:252–271
- Thorbjørnsen TP, Denyer K, Olsen O-A, Smith AM (1996) Distinct isoforms of ADPglucose pyrophosphorylase occur inside and outside the amyloplast in barley endosperm. Plant J 10:243–250
- Topping D (2007) Cereal complex carbohydrates and their contribution to human health. J Cereal Sci 46:220–229
- Tuncel A, Okita TW (2013) Improving starch yield in cereals by over-expression of ADPglucose purophosphorylase: expectations and unanticipated results. Plant Sci 211:52–60
- Verbruggen MA, Beldman G, Voragen AGJ, Hollemans M (1993) Water-unextractable cell wall material

from sorghum: isolation and characterization. J Cereal Sci 17, 71e82

- Wang X, Mace E, Hunt C, Cruickshank A, Henzell R, Parkes H, Jordan D (2014) Two distinct classes of QTL determine rust resistance in sorghum. BMC Plant Biol 1:366–379
- Wang Z, Chen X, Wang J, Liu T, Liu Y, Zhao L, Wang G (2007) Increasing maize seed weight by enhancing the cytoplasmic ADP-glucose pyrophosphorylase activity in transgenic maize plants. Plant Cell Tiss Org Cult 88:83–92
- Watterson JJ, Shull JM, Kirleis AW (1993) Quantitation of α-, β-, and γ-kafirins in vitreous and opaque endosperm of *Sorghum bicolor*. Cereal Chem 70:452– 457
- Wong JH, Lau T, Cai N, Singh J, Pedersen JF et al (2009) Digestibility of protein and starch from sorghum (*Sorghum bicolor*) is linked to biochemical and structural features of grain endosperm. J Cereal Sci 49:73–82
- Wong JH, Marx DB, Wilson JD, Buchanan BB, Lemaux PG, Pedersen JF (2010) Principal component analysis and biochemical characterization of protein and starch reveal primary targets for improving sorghum grain. Plant Sci 179:598–611
- Wu Y, Yuan L, Guo X, Holding DR, Messing J (2013) Mutation in the seed storage protein kafirin creates a high-value food trait in sorghum. Nat Comm 4:2217. doi:10.1038/ncomms3217
- Wu XR, Folk WR, Mutisya J (2009) Modification of sorghum seed composition to improve health and nutrition of small farmholders. In: Krishnan H (ed) Modification of seed composition to promoter health and nutrition, american society for agronomy/crop science society of america/soil science society of america, agronomy monograph 51. Madison, WI, USA, pp 263–269
- Xin ZG, Wang ML, Barkley NA, Burow G, Franks C, Pederson G, Burke J (2008) Applying genotyping (TILLING) and phenotyping analyses to elucidate gene function in a chemically induced sorghum mutant population. BMC Plant Biol 8:103. doi:10. 1186/1471-2229-8-103
- Xu JH, Messing J (2008) Organization of the prolamin gene family provides insight into the evolution of the maize genome and gene duplications in grass species. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 105:14330–14335
- Zhu L, Gu M, Meng X, Cheung SCK, Yu H, Huang J, Sun Y, Shi Y, Lui Q (2012) High amylose rice improves indices of animal health in normal and diabetic rats. Plant Biotechnol J 10:353–362

Genetic Manipulation of Root System Architecture to Improve Drought Adaptation in Sorghum

Dinesh Joshi, Vijaya Singh, Erik van Oosterom, Emma Mace, David Jordan and Graeme Hammer

Abstract

Drought is one of the most important abiotic stresses and severely affects global agricultural production. Root system architecture (RSA) is the key determinant of water acquisition under moisture stress, and therefore has utility in breeding for drought tolerance in sorghum. Various components of RSA are known to influence drought tolerance in sorghum without any negative impact on yield. The growth angle of nodal roots is an important target trait for improving drought tolerance. Genetic variation for nodal root angle has been reported in sorghum, and this has been associated with grain yield under drought stress. Rapid advances in sorghum genomics have led to the identification of various quantitative trait loci (QTL) governing RSA, but the accuracy and preciseness in identification of QTL is the major hindrance in development of drought-tolerant cultivars through genetic manipulation of root traits. Hence, the complex genetic control of RSA and the lack of a high-throughput phenotyping platform have hampered integration of selection for RSA in breeding programs. These limitations can be overcome by designing a robust phenotyping platform

D. Joshi (🖂)

ICAR-Indian Grassland and Fodder Research Institute, Jhansi 284003, UP, India e-mail: dinesh.pbl@gmail.com

V. Singh \cdot E. van Oosterom \cdot G. Hammer Queensland Alliance for Agriculture and Food Innovation, The University of Queensland, St Lucia, Australia

E. Mace

Department of Agriculture and Fisheries, Hermitage Research Station, Warwick, QLD 4370, Australia

D. Jordan

Queensland Alliance for Agriculture and Food Innovation, The University of Queensland, Hermitage Research Station, Warwick, QLD 4370, Australia

© Springer International Publishing AG 2016 S. Rakshit and Y.-H. Wang (eds.), *The Sorghum Genome*, Compendium of Plant Genomes, DOI 10.1007/978-3-319-47789-3_11 11

that can maximize heritability and repeatability of RSA. Inclusion of the extensive phenotyping information with the recently developed genomic resources of sorghum will lead to mining of alleles that govern RSA and tailor a cultivar harboring genes for RSA that improve sorghum production under drought stress. This chapter provides an overview of the latest developments in RSA research in sorghum and gives direction to future breeding strategies to enhance the genetic gain for root traits.

1 Introduction

Drought is one of the most important abiotic stresses that can severely affect crop production by preventing plants from expressing their full yield potential (Mitra 2001). Moisture stress alone causes 70 % of agricultural yield loss across the globe (Jha et al. 2014). Worldwide, sorghum [Sorghum bicolor (L.) Moench] is the fifth most important cereal crop after wheat, rice, maize, and barley. Sorghum is predominantly cultivated in dryland areas of the world due to its good adaptation to moisture-limited environments. World sorghum production has had a slight increase from 60-65 metric tons over the past decade (Mutava et al. 2012), in spite of reduction in area to the tune of 154,000 ha year⁻¹ (Rakshit et al. 2014). However, predictions of increased frequency of drought as a result of accelerated climate change (IPCC 2012) may adversely affect its yield potential in the semi-arid tropics, imposing a threat to the food security in these regions. Therefore, genetic improvement of sorghum is necessary for drought adaptation in variable climatic conditions and this has been the major focus of sorghum breeding programs around the world.

Because of the unpredictable nature of the timing and intensity of occurrence of drought stress, breeding for drought tolerance has always been a challenging task for sorghum. Past efforts to improve drought tolerance in sorghum were largely focused on genetic and physiological aspects of aboveground plant parameters, namely stay-green (Rosenow et al. 1983; Tuinstra et al. 1996; Sanchez et al. 2002; Vadez et al. 2011; Jordan et al. 2012; Borrell et al. 2014),

photosynthetic parameters (Tingting et al. 2010; Li et al. 2011), canopy temperature and leaf rolling (Blum et al. 1989; Mutava et al. 2012), and osmotic adjustment (Girma 1989; Girma and Krieg 1992; Patil and Ravikumar 2011). However, very few efforts have been made to improve the root system architecture (RSA), which is the key determinant of the ability of a plant to access water and nutrients to support shoot growth in moisture stress conditions. Studying the root system is complex, tedious, and expensive compared with aboveground components.

RSA refers to the spatial and temporal configuration of roots in the soil and is used to describe the shape and structure of root systems (de Dorlodot et al. 2007). In cereals, RSA is of fundamental importance to soil exploration and belowground resource acquisition, which ultimately determines the yield potential of cultivars drought-prone environments. Simulation in studies on maize suggested that manipulation of RSA and associated soil water capture are the main reasons for increasing yield trend of the US corn belt (Hammer et al. 2009). Likewise, studies on wheat demonstrated that selection for narrow root angle and higher number of seminal roots could significantly improve the water capture mechanism in dryland cropping regions (Asseng and Turner 2007; Manschadi et al. 2008; Lilley and Kirkegaard. 2011). Taking into account the ample genetic variability in root traits in different crops (e.g., rice, Kato et al. 2006; wheat, Manschadi et al. 2008; Nakhforoosh et al. 2015; sorghum, Singh et al. 2011), it can be expected that genetic manipulation of RSA is a feasible agronomic option to improve drought adaptation of sorghum. With the aid of high-throughput root phenotyping platforms and advanced genotyping tools, genes related to root morphological characteristics and physiological functions can be identified or cloned, which will present an opportunity for further improvement of crop productivity in moisture-limited environments.

Sorghum, by virtue of its adaptation to moisture-limited environments, is known to possess a vertically oriented, uniformly distributed, and deep root system, but very little is known about the role of various RSA component traits in plant adaptation to harsh environments. Nodal roots are particularly important in sorghum as they have a major influence on development of RSA as the plant matures (Blum et al. 1977; Singh et al. 2012). However, genetic control and physiological aspects related to water and nutrient transport via RSA and the nodal root system are barely explored. One reason for the scarcity of data on sorghum root characteristics is the unavailability of a high-throughput phenotyping platform for robust root screening that can be applied on a large scale. Nonetheless, screening techniques for rooting depth, root angle, and distribution have been developed for other cereals (Oyanagi et al. 1993; Bengough et al. 2004; Hargreaves et al. 2009) and combined with the advancement in genotyping tools, this has led to the identification of a number of quantitative trait loci (QTLs) and candidate genes related to root morphological characteristics and physiological functions for those crops. This has opened an opportunity for further improvement of crop productivity in moisture-limited environments through root system modifications. None of these techniques has been applied or tested at the scale of a breeding program, in particular in sorghum. Research at University of Queensland, Australia on the morphology and genetics of sorghum root systems identified genotypic variation in nodal root angle that can inform breeding priorities in selection for RSA (Singh et al. 2010, 2012).

This chapter provides a review of RSA research in sorghum. First, we provide an overview of recent developments in root phenotyping platforms that can thoroughly investigate the structural and functional aspects of RSA.

Second, we provide an overview of cereal root structure with particular reference to sorghum influencing drought tolerance and impact of moisture stress on RSA. Additionally, we provide a critical appraisal of existing genetic variation for root traits and their genetic control. Finally, the prospects of deploying root traits to improve drought tolerance through molecular breeding approaches are discussed.

2 High-Throughput Phenotyping Platforms for Screening Root Architecture

Recent availability of multiallelic resources such as backcross (BC)-nested association mapping (NAM) population (Jordan et al. 2011), which offer power to dissect complex quantitative traits along with advances in genomic resources including development of the consensus genetic map (Mace et al. 2009) and availability of resequencing data (Mace et al. 2013) in sorghum have the potential to provide a thorough insight on genetic control of RSA. Despite rapid advances in sorghum genomics, the scarcity of low-cost and high-throughput phenotyping platforms for screening RSA parameters remains a major obstacle to elucidate the underlying genetic control and to incorporate such traits in breeding programs through marker-assisted selection (MAS). A detailed list of various phenotyping methods utilized for studying the genetic and physiological basis of root traits in cereals is presented in Table 1. Currently, the most widely used methods for RSA phenotyping are those that are carried out in controlled conditions using hydroponics, gel chambers, soil, and other artificial substrates (Clark et al. 2011, 2013; Planchamp et al. 2013). Supported with novel 2D and 3D imaging platforms, these methods allow measurement of root traits with high resolution, precision, and accuracy (van Weele et al. 2003; Bengough et al. 2004; Basu et al. 2007; Clark et al. 2011). These methods have proven their utility in characterization of embryonic seminal roots in cereals (Hund et al. 2009; Planchamp et al. 2013; Richards et al.
2015). However, these methods are of little importance for sorghum as seminal roots do not constitute the major proportion of the mature root system and the postembryonic nodal roots dominate the RSA of mature plants. Furthermore, late appearance of nodal roots (sixth leaf stage, nearly 3 weeks after planting) and the larger size of the root and shoot system at this stage impose restrictions on utilizing these methods for phenotyping nodal roots mainly for genetic mapping studies. Despite their major importance, only few methods are available for phenotyping of nodal roots. The split pot system in wheat (Volkmar 1997) and paper pouch method in maize (Hochholdinger et al. 2004a) were developed to differentiate primary seminal roots from nodal roots. Rostamza et al. (2013) utilized the split pot system adopted from Volkmar et al. (1997) to investigate the effect of varying water supply on nodal roots of sorghum. However, these methods are not suitable for large-scale phenotyping of nodal roots. Singh et al. (2010) proposed a root chamber-based method to screen nodal root angle in sorghum precisely. The root chamber method is a greenhouse-based high-throughput phenotyping platform designed to study nodal roots in sorghum. The phenotyping platform includes specially built root observation chambers (60 cm \times 40 cm \times 3 mm) filled with soil. These chambers support the growth of sorghum plants up to the sixth leaf stage and the transparent Perspex sheets on both sides enable viewing and capturing images of nodal roots. This phenotypic platform has proven its utility in quantifying the genetic variation for nodal root angle across a diverse range of inbred lines and a biparental mapping population (Singh et al. 2011; Mace et al. 2012). Le Marié et al. (2014) proposed a paper based on nondestructive, high-throughput phenotypic method called "rhizoslides" in maize. The advantage of rhizoslides over previously developed paper-based methods is that they allow characterization of nodal roots in cereals by physically separating them from embryonic seminal roots through different layers of rhizoslide sandwich construction. Both root chambers and rhizoslides were designed

primarily to phenotype nodal roots at the seedling stage, which makes them unsuitable to phenotype RSA at the adult plant stage. As an alternative, Traschel et al. (2011) proposed a field-based method "shovelomics", which visually scores post-embryonic root architectural traits at the flowering stage. In shovelomics, roots were excavated by standard shovels, which are capable of removing a soil cylinder of 40 cm diameter and 25 cm depth. After excavation roots were thoroughly washed in water containing a mild detergent to remove soil. The washed roots were visually scored for root angles using a 1 (shallow root angles, 10°) to 9 (steep root angles, 90°) scale. In addition to visual scoring, root angles were measured by placing washed roots on a phenotyping board fitted with a large Significant correlations between protractor. measured and visually scored trait values for growth angles of crown and brace roots confirmed accuracy and reliability of the method. The shovelomics approach has been utilized to quantify visually the excavated structure of the root crown in 218 recombinant inbred lines (RILs) of maize (Traschel et al. 2011). However, manual scoring of RSA traits is prone to error and imposes limitations on both the number of traits measured and number of genotypes screened. Recently, a high-throughput imaging system, which facilitates estimation of root traits based on digital images taken under field conditions was proposed to overcome the problems associated with manual scoring of the shovelomics approach (Bucksch et al. 2014).

Inaccurate phenotyping due to the lack of high-throughput root phenotyping platforms often leads to imprecise QTL identification. Therefore, immediate attention needs to be placed towards developing high-throughput phenotyping methods because it may be the only way to derive valid conclusions. However, each phenotyping method has its own limitations. For instance, extracting the intact roots and avoiding damage to finer components of RSA such as root tip and root hairs is the major problem of field-based screening methods. The currently used controlled environment

Phenotyping method	Screened root traits	Stage for phenotyping	Crop	Reference	
Clear pot method	Seminal root number (SRN), seminal root angle (SRA)	5 DAS (SRA) 11 DAS (SRN)	Wheat	Richard et al. (2015)	
Gellan gum growth method	Median and maximum number of roots, average root radius, specific root length, total surface area, total root length, depth, volume, length distribution, maximum horizontal width, and width-to-depth ratio	14 DAS	Rice	Iyer-Pascuzzi et al. (2010)	
Gel observation chamber method	Root length, elongation rate, longest root, deepest root, SRN, and SRA	9 DAS	Barley, wheat	Bengough et al. (2004), Manschandi et al. (2008)	
Growth pouch method	Axile and lateral root growth, SRA, SRN	3–7 DAS (axile and lateral root growth 20 DAS (SRN and SRA)	Maize, wheat	Hund et al. (2009), Richard et al. (2015)	
Hydroponics	Root thickness, dry root weight, root volume, RLD, primary root growth, total root growth	4 DAS	Rice, maize	Clark et al. (2013)	
Rhizoslides	Embryonic and post-embryonic root traits	20 DAS	Maize	Le Marie et al. (2014)	
Root box method	Number of roots, root length, root thickness, dry root weight	56 DAS	Rice	Kono et al. (1987), Price et al. (2002)	
Root chamber method	Nodal root angle	21 DAS	Sorghum	Singh et al. (2010)	
Root Trak method (X-ray computed tomography)	Maximum root system depth and maximum root system width	21 DAS (maize) 10 DAS (wheat)	Maize, wheat	Mairhofer et al. (2012)	
Soil coring method	Rooting depth, root penetration rate, density, deeper rooting length, and root distribution	At maturity	Wheat	Wasson et al. (2014)	
Shovelomics	Number of brace root whorls, brace root number, brace root angle, brace root branching, crown root number, crown root angle, crown root branching	At flowering	Maize	Trachsel et al. (2011)	
Wax layer method/fabric cover method	Root penetration ability	24 DAS	Rice	Yu et al. (1995), Price et al. (2000)	

Table 1 List of various phenotyping methods used for characterization of RSA in cereals

phenotyping methods are also not an effective solution, because RSA is influenced by various soil parameters that cannot be reproduced in artificial growth systems. Mathematical simulation of RSA with models, which are better equipped to integrate the complex biological, physical, and chemical factors affecting roots in soil, can be utilized as an alternative approach for root phenotyping. Simulation packages, such as *SimRoot* have been specifically designed to study RSA and are capable of integrating soil heterogeneity and plasticity of root responses to soil factors into one mathematical framework (Lynch et al. 1997).

3 Root System Architecture in Cereals

3.1 RSA of Sorghum

Root system development of sorghum passes through the same sequence of events as that of the shoot. The hypocotyl or mesocotyl that emerges from the seed develops into leaves, stems, and reproductive organs and branches of the shoot. Likewise, for the root system, the radicle or primary root emerges first followed by the emergence of secondary roots, nodal roots, and lateral root branches. The structural and functional aspects of root and shoot are quite different, but the growth and development of these two systems are interdependent (Gregory 1983; Klepper et al. 1984).

In general, the RSA of cereals is complex and comprises several root types at various developmental phases. It is primarily composed of post-embryonic embryonic seminal and shoot-born nodal roots (Esau 1977; O' Toole and Bland 1987; Gregory 2006). In other cereals including maize, wheat, and rice, secondary seminal roots emerge about four days after germination, bearing first- and second-order lateral branches (Feldman 1994). Sorghum, however, is characterized by a sole primary seminal root (Singh et al. 2010) that originates as a radicle in the embryo and becomes visible only two or three days after germination. The post-embryonic shoot-born roots emerge from consecutive underground and aboveground nodes of the stem and are called nodal and brace roots, respectively (Hochholdinger et al. 2004a; Singh et al. 2010). Considerable variation has been reported in the timing of emergence of nodal roots in cereals. For example, the nodal root in maize emerges approximately 7 days after germination (second leaf stage), whereas in sorghum it appears approximately 21 days after germination (fifth to sixth leaf stage; Feldman 1994; Singh et al. 2010). Successive flushes of nodal roots emerge from successive stem internodes at a rate that is similar to leaves, such that the total number of nodal roots increases as the shoot grows (Klepper et al. 1984). By contrast, brace roots emerge

much later, approximately 7 weeks after germination (Hochholdinger et al. 2004b).

The root system of sorghum grows around 2-3 cm per day (Dardanelli et al. 1997; Whish et al. 2005; Singh et al. 2010) and its maximum size is reached around anthesis (Gregory 2006). However, some roots survive for only a few days and remain short, whereas others may continue to grow for weeks and grow much longer. Contradictory reports on the functional life of various root types create complications in attempting to understand the development of the root system. For instance, some researchers reported that seminal roots can persist and remain functional throughout the life cycle of the plant (Kiesselbach 1949; Kausch 1967; Kozinka 1977; McCully and Canny 1988; Gregory 2006), whereas others have observed that the primary and other seminal roots die after the development of nodal roots (Lawson and Hanway 1977; O' Toole and Bland 1987; Feldman 1994). In sorghum, the seminal root system generally constitutes only 1-14 % of the mass of the entire root system (Singh 2010). Routley et al. (2003) reported that sorghum nodal roots may grow to depths of 2 m by the initiation of flowering, and can efficiently extract water to a distance of 1.6 m from the plant. Generally, growth of nodal roots ceases after flowering. However, in some of the stay-green sorghum genotypes active growth of nodal roots has been reported up to the grain-filling phase (Robertson et al. 1993).

Anatomical organization of roots has not been well studied in sorghum. It has been observed that sorghum genotypes with large xylem vessel diameter in both seminal and nodal roots were better adapted to drought-prone environments (Amelework et al. 2015). Hochholdinger et al. (2004b) provide a comparative overview of root anatomy of cereals and Arabidopsis. Generally, the cereal roots comprise 8-15 layers of root cortical cells and one endodermal cell layer, whereas the Arabidopsis roots comprise a single endodermal and cortical layer. In cereals, the quiescent center (QC), a central region of the root tip, consists of 800-2000 cells whereas the Arabidopsis QC contains only four cells (Jiang et al. 2003). Lateral roots in cereals originate from pericycle and endodermis cells, whereas in Arabidopsis lateral roots originate only from pericycle cells (Fahn 1990; Beeckman et al. 2001). Vascular cambium, which replaces the dead or old xylem vessels with new ones, is absent in cereal roots, yet is an integral part of dicotyledonous roots. Vascular segmentation offers flexibility over the lack of cambia by forming "safety zones" in cereal roots, which protect them from cavitation and embolism at the root-shoot junction during moisture or freezing stress (Luxova 1986). Functional xylem anatomy reveals that the development of vascular segmentation in the root-shoot junction varies among cereal species. For example, cereal species, namely, rye, wheat, and barley, which develop several seminal roots, exhibit a high degree of vascular segmentation that results in formation of safety zones at the root-shoot junction. On the other hand, sorghum, which typically develops a single primary seminal root, contains unsafe vessels and exhibits a smaller degree of vascular segmentation (Luxova 1989; Aloni and Griffith 1991). Appearance of nodal roots in later stages of plant development provides some flexibility over the lack of vascular cambia in sorghum.

3.2 Genetic Variation for RSA in Sorghum

To a large extent, success of any crop improvement program depends on existing genetic variability in crop germplasm. Keeping this in view, studies were conducted to investigate the extent of genetic variation for root traits in sorghum. For instance, Damodar et al. (1978) observed significant genetic variation for vertical distribution of roots for 11 sorghum genotypes evaluated in moisture-limited environments. Wright et al. (1983) reported greater root length density for drought-tolerant sorghum cultivar E-57 especially 80 cm, below compared with а drought-susceptible sorghum cultivar, TX-671. As a result, the tolerant genotype extracted more water from below 80 cm after the booting stage. Similarly, Irwin et al. (1985) identified two distinct phenotypic classes for root angle in a set of 11 hybrids in sorghum, which included a horizontally oriented and a more vertically oriented nodal root system. However, their study did not relate the structural difference to function. Observation of distinct classes for root orientation among genotypes provides ample scope for its improvement through breeding. Likewise, Singh et al. (2011) observed a wide range of nodal root angle (14°-50°) in a set of 44 inbred lines and 30 hybrids. In addition to nodal root angle, they observed significant genetic variation for root length, root diameter, and root dry weight among the inbreds and hybrids. Interestingly, they observed a weak association between nodal root angle and plant size (root weight, shoot weight, and leaf area). The weak association indicates that nodal root angle and plant size are governed by different mechanisms for drought adaptation to water-limited environments. Mace et al. (2012) also observed a wide range of genetic variation for nodal root angle (14.6°-32.3°) in a set of 141 recombinant inbred lines of sorghum derived from a cross between inbred lines B923296 (narrow root angle, 18.3°) and SC170-6-8 (wide root angle, 32.3°).

In any crop species, landraces offer a great genetic potential for both biotic and abiotic stress tolerance due to their adaptation to wide agroecological niches and they are not subjected to selection over a long period of time. Sorghum landraces by virtue of their wide adaptation to moisture- and nutrient-limited environments offer great scope for genetic manipulation of RSA. Keeping this in view, Ali et al. (2009) investigated the genotypic variation for root traits in local landraces of Pakistani origin and observed considerable genetic variation for dry root weight, which is an important determinant of drought tolerance in sorghum.

Although a vast genetic variation for many drought-adaptive traits has been reported in sorghum, surprisingly very limited work has been done on the RSA. The above-mentioned reports have presented sufficient evidence of genotypic variation for root traits; however, these studies have focused on a limited set of genotypes with a narrow genetic base. Thus an exhaustive search of potential donors to root traits is the foremost step in genetic manipulation of RSA to enhance drought adaptation of sorghum. Given the context, a list of the genotypes identified as a potential source for root traits contributing to drought tolerance in sorghum is presented in Table 2. These sources can be utilized as potent sources for introgressing the quantitative trait loci governing superior root traits to drought-susceptible genotypes.

3.3 Impact of Moisture Stress on RSA of Sorghum

Soil water content strongly influences root morphology, root anatomy, and the overall pattern by which different components of RSA contribute to water transport (Salih et al. 1999). Various authors have studied the impact of moisture stress on the sorghum root system. Nivedita et al. (1992) reported that a gravimetric moisture content of less than 19 % and bulk density of 1.65 g cm^{-3} were detrimental to germination as well as seedling emergence in sorghum and pearl millet under moisture stress. Passioura (1982)

reported that extreme moisture stress imposes a negative effect on RSA by impeding growth and development of nodal roots, which often results in complete crop failure. A contrasting distribution profile of nodal roots under varying soil water regimes has been observed in sorghum. For instance, watering of the top soil around the plant crown can lead to the formation of new nodal roots, whereas the extension rate of existing nodal roots is inhibited (1984). This type of growth pattern ultimately results in a horizontally distributed and shallow RSA. In contrast, a marked reduction in the number of new nodal roots and an increase in the extension rate of existing roots were observed when growing conditions changed from wetter to drier (Jordan et al. 1979), resulting in a more vertically oriented RSA with more uniform root distribution at deep soil layers. Likewise, Pardales and Kono (1990) observed that seminal and nodal roots responded differently to rewatering of stressed sorghum plants, with a significant increase in both the number and length of nodal roots, but no response of seminal roots to rewatering. Rostamaza et al. (2013) performed a comparative analysis of the response of sorghum and pearl

Table 2 Sources of superior root traits contributing drought tolerance in sorghum

RSA component	Source	Reference	
Narrow nodal root angle	R993396, B923296, SC56-14E, BTx642, R931945-2-2, ATx642 × RQL36	Singh et al. (2011)	
Wide nodal root angle	SC999, SC170-6-8, BTx623, ISI2611C, ATx623 × RTx7000	Singh et al. (2011)	
Vertically oriented RSA	Aispuri	Damodar et al. (1978)	
Extensive lateral root development	IS 9673, IS 9183, B 36-1, and IS 9357	Bhan et al. (1973)	
Root length density	FJS-1, FJS-11, FJSS-17, SSM1611, IS16101, SSM249	Ali et al. (2009), Chopart et al. (2008)	
Root weight	AS2752, AS5057, AS4289, MS7819, IS5379, AS8038, AS6616, K3, MS7837, ISI2611C, B923296	Vinodhana and Ganesamurthy (2010), Singh et al. (2011)	
Root thickness	QL 36, SPV 570, SC636-6,	Singh et al. (2011), Rajkumar et al. (2013)	
Higher number of brace roots	Sansui	Li et al. (2014)	
Higher number of primary and secondary roots	IS 1183, IS 1137	Bhan et al. (1973)	

millet nodal roots to varying moisture regimes. The investigation revealed that differences between two species were associated with root branching and nodal root length which influenced the water uptake pattern. Faster root branching rate and increased nodal root length were the key factors for more plastic response of pearl millet than sorghum to moisture stress.

Root elongation rate (RER) is one component of RSA that is strongly affected by a variety of soil factors: water and nutrient availability (Dunbabin et al. 2000), soil temperature (Diggle 1988; Pages and Jordan 1989), and soil bulk density (Clausnitzer and Hopmans 1994). In general, low soil water content inhibits RER (Salim et al. 1965) and leads to thinner roots (Sharp et al. 1988) and poor lateral branching (Stasovski and Peterson 1991). Changes in growth angle of roots have also been observed with varying moisture regime in cereals (Oyanagi et al. 1993). Soil water content along with several other factors therefore can play an important role in modifying root architecture and functioning plant survival and growth for in given environments.

3.4 Key Components of RSA Influencing Drought Tolerance in Sorghum

Various components of RSA in terms of their number, length, diameter, weight, volume, density, surface area, and elongation rate determine the capacity of sorghum genotypes to survive and grow in drought-prone environments. Sorghum genotypes adapted to moisture-limited environments are often characterized by a deep and vigorous root system (Blum et al. 1997). Bibi et al. (2012) assessed the genetic potential of different sorghum accessions to drought tolerance at the seedling stage and reported that root length was the highest contributor towards drought tolerance. Many studies have identified dry root weight and root length density (RLD) as reliable and easiest root components to determine the drought tolerance in sorghum (Nour et al. 1978; Matsuura et al. 1996; Ali et al. 2009).

A study by Robertson et al. (1993) in sorghum indicated a low RLD threshold of 0.2 cm cm^{-3} above which any increase in RLD would not increase water extraction. However, Cherif-Ari et al. (1990) reported a RLD threshold from 0.29 and 0.86 cm cm^{-3} for sorghum genotypes subjected to moisture stress. Thresholds for sorghum are generally below those found for maize, for which values of around $0.5-0.6 \text{ cm cm}^{-3}$ (van Oosterom et al. 2016) and 1.70–2.56 cm cm⁻³ (Aina and Fapohunda 1986) have been reported. Blum and Arkin (1984) observed higher total cumulative root length and RLD for the late as compared to early maturing sorghum genotype under moisture stress. RLD beyond the threshold can indicate excessive dry mass allocation to roots at the expense of reproductive organs, which can negatively affect drought adaptation (van Oosterom et al. 2016).

Apart from these components, spatial distribution of roots and rooting depth are the critical factors for determining the drought-tolerance potential and survival of plants in drought-prone environments. The importance of spatial distribution of roots and rooting depth for crop productivity arises from the fact that soil resources are haphazardly distributed in time and space and are subjected to localized depletion in stress environments (Robinson 1994). This is especially important in crops such as sorghum, as they are frequently grown in moisture-limited environments. Root growth angle is an important determinant of RSA that strongly influences the spatial distribution and rooting depth in sorghum. In fact, the root angle spread at an early growth stage can serve as a useful predictor of the distribution and root biomass at the adult stage (Singh 2010) and may serve as a good reference point for comparison to other environmental conditions. Studies have demonstrated that the vertical distribution pattern of roots as a consequence of narrow root angle enhances the rooting depth, which is important if water availability in the upper soil layers becomes insufficient in terminal drought-stress environments (Manschandi et al. 2008; Hammer et al. 2009; Uga et al. 2011). On the other hand, wide root angle, which results in more horizontally distributed and shallow RSA, is more relevant in skip-row-management systems in water-limited environments (McLean et al. 2003; Whish et al. 2005).

In sorghum, Singh et al. (2012) carried out a thorough investigation to study the effect of nodal root angle on the water extraction pattern of mature sorghum plants. Four inbred lines with contrasting nodal root angle, SC170-6-8, SC636-6, B923296, and R931945-2-2, at the seedling stage were grown up to flowering in large rhizotrons. The root systems of B923296 (narrow angle) and SC170-6-8 (wide angle) showed clear differences in vertical and horizontal distribution of roots at flowering. B923296 had more roots visible against the glass surface of the rhizotrons than SC170-6-8 at 100 cm depth immediately below the plant, whereas SC170-6-8 had more roots visible than B923296 at 80 cm depth, 120 cm away from the plant. These findings suggest that nodal root angle at the seedling stage can affect the spatial distribution of roots of mature plants. Genotypes with narrow root angle potentially increase root distribution at depth, which is important if water availability in the upper soil layers becomes insufficient to enable the crop to complete its life cycle. On the other hand, a genotype with wider root angle but shallower root system may be able to exploit small events of in-season rainfall from the upper soil layer.

The role of xylem vessel diameter has been clearly demonstrated in influencing drought tolerance in cereals. For instance, xylem vessel diameter has been used as an effective selection criterion in spring wheat breeding programs in Australia (Richards and Passioura 1989) and rice breeding programs in Asia (Yambao et al. 1992; Sibounheuang et al. 2006; Abd Allah et al. 2010), where the goal is to improve water acquisition from drying soils. In sorghum, Bawazir and Idle (1989) reported significant genetic variation for xylem vessel conductivity in seminal and nodal roots of nine genotypes in response to moisture stress. Genotypic differences in drought tolerance between sorghum cultivars "Tabat" (susceptible) and "Gadambalia" (tolerant) have been associated with anatomical components of RSA (Salih et al. 1999). As compared to drought-susceptible cultivar Tabat, the RSA of drought-tolerant cultivar Gadambalia was characterized by its ability to produce a smaller number of late metaxylem vessels and presence of sclerenchyma sheath around the vascular system, which reduced the axial water flow during moisture stress. Anatomical traits, root cortical aerenchyma (RCA), cortical cell file number (CCFN), and cortical cell size (CCS), were reported to reduce the metabolic cost of root growth in maize under moisture and nutrient-limited environments (Lynch 2015). Zhu et al. (2010) compared maize recombinant inbred lines (RILs) differing for RCA formation under moisture stress in the field and soil mesocosms in greenhouse. In field conditions, lines with high RCA had high RLD and produced 30 % more shoot biomass at flowering compared with the lines with low RCA. On average, high RCA lines yielded eight times more than low RCA lines. In mesocosms, high RCA lines were characterized by less seminal root respiration, deeper rooting, and greater shoot biomass compared with low RCA lines. These findings suggested that RCA deserves consideration as an important component of RSA to improve drought tolerance in cereal breeding programs. Therefore, there is an urgent need to explore the genetic basis and functional aspects of root anatomical traits in sorghum. Identification of genomic regions governing root anatomical traits would greatly facilitate their use in sorghum breeding programs.

4 Genetic Control of RSA in Sorghum

4.1 Gene Action and Heritability

Prior information on genetic control, prevailing gene action, and estimates of heritability is mandatory for designing a suitable breeding strategy for genetic improvement of any trait. However, information on gene action and heritability of sorghum root traits is very limited. Jordan et al. (1979) showed that root characters, root length, mass, and volume, were polygenically controlled. Vinodhana and Ganesamurthy (2010) reported higher estimates of phenotypic and genotypic coefficient of variation coupled with high broad sense heritability and expected genetic gain for root volume in sorghum. Likewise, high heritability estimates and genetic advance for other traits, namely, root length, number of roots per plant, root fresh weight, root dry weight, and root-to-shoot ratio in sorghum have been reported (Thudi 2004; Ali et al. 2009; Rajkumar et al. 2013). Such high estimates for root traits in sorghum indicate that they are more likely to be controlled by additive gene action and selection will be effective for these traits to improve drought tolerance in sorghum breeding programs. Singh et al. (2011) assessed the inheritance pattern of nodal root angle and dry root weight in a set of 44 inbred lines and 30 hybrids. It was observed that both traits were polygenically controlled and exhibited moderate heritability. Although the heritability of nodal root angle was moderate, its genetic architecture was not simple, as illustrated by the significant specific combining ability (SCA) effects and the high contribution of male and female interactions to the heritability.

Drought tolerance in plants is often associated with the capacity of the roots to absorb available nutrients under moisture-limited environments (Amelework et al. 2015). For instance, Shangguan et al. (2005) reported that hydraulic conductivity of seminal and nodal roots in sorghum was strongly influenced by phosphorus availability under water deficiency. Keeping this in view, efforts were carried out to find the gene action underlying root length, root dry weight, and root/shoot dry weight under low phosphorus availability using the F₂ segregating generation derived from the cross between "B69" and "Numbu" in sorghum (Trikoesoemaningtyas et al. 2015). The investigation elucidated that additive gene action is involved in genetic control of root length, root dry weight, and root/shoot dry weight. In addition to this, high heritability and moderate genotypic coefficient of variation (GCV) indicated that root length and root dry weight can be used as selection criteria in low-P condition at the seedling stage.

In general, high to moderate heritability estimates were reported for the majority of root traits in sorghum. However, heritability estimates were thus far mainly calculated based on replications within homogeneous experimental conditions under a controlled environment (laboratory/ greenhouse). A decreasing trend in heritabilities under low nitrogen condition have been observed for root traits such as root angle and branching density in maize due to the pronounced effect of soil heterogeneity (Cai et al. 2012; Colombi et al. 2015). Therefore, it remains to be elucidated whether heritabilities of root traits stay high in sorghum, when compared across years and soil environments.

4.2 Quantitative Trait Loci (QTLs) Governing RSA

A number of QTLs governing various root traits in cereals have been identified, which can be introgressed into drought-susceptible cultivars through marker-assisted selection (MAS). Among the cereal species, rice has been thoroughly investigated for QTLs controlling RSA and some of them explained up to 50 % of phenotypic variability for root traits (Price et al. 1997, 2000, 2002; Uga et al. 2011). Although various QTLs governing yield and yield components, stay-green, flowering, and maturity under moisture stress have been mapped on 10 linkage groups of sorghum (Sanchez et al. 2002; Borrell et al. 2006), information on QTLs governing RSA is still in its infancy in sorghum. A detailed description of various QTLs governing sorghum RSA is presented in Table 3. Mace et al. (2012) for the first time carried out a comprehensive genetic mapping study to dissect the genetic control of RSA in sorghum. They identified four major QTLs governing nodal root angle and three QTLs controlling root dry weight (Table 3) in a recombinant inbred line (RIL) population derived from a cross between two inbred sorghum lines with contrasting root (B923296/SC170-6-8). angle Interestingly, BLAST analysis revealed that three of the four nodal root angle QTLs were homologous to

Root trait	Mapping population	Markers	Identified QTLs	Linkage group	Phenotypic variation (%)	Reference
Root angle	B923296 × SC170-6-8	377 DArT markers	<i>qRA1_5</i> , <i>qRA2_5</i> , <i>qRA1_8</i> , <i>qRA1_10</i>	LG 5, 8 and 10	58.16	Mace et al. (2012)
Dry root weight	B923296 × SC170-6-8	-	<i>qRDW1_2</i> , <i>qRDW1_5</i> , <i>qRDW1_8</i>	LG 2, 5 and 8	32.08	Mace et al. (2012)
	E36-1 × SPV570	938 markers (270 nongenic nuclear SSRs, 530 EST-SSRs and 138 SNPs)	qRD4	LG 4	9.21	Rajkumar et al. (2013)
Fresh root weight	E36-1 × SPV570	-	qRF4	LG 4	9.21	Rajkumar et al. (2013)
Root length	E36-1 × SPV570	-	qRL4	LG 4	8.33	Rajkumar et al. (2013)
Root volume	E36-1 × SPV570	-	qRV1, qRV4	LG 1 and 4	27.05	Rajkumar et al. (2013)
Number of roots/plant	E36-1 × SPV570	-	qRN1	LG 1	17.87	Rajkumar et al. (2013)
Root/shoot ratio	E36-1 × SPV570	-	qRS10, qRS10.1	LG 10	16.03	Rajkumar et al. (2013)
Number of brace roots	Sansui × Jiliang 2	326 SSR markers	qRT6, qRT7	LG 6 and 7	59.5	Li et al. (2014)

Table 3 Details of different QTLs identified for various root traits in sorghum

previously identified root angle QTLs in rice and maize. The locations of the QTLs identified in the investigation were also projected onto a sorghum consensus map (Mace et al. 2009). Importantly, all four nodal root angle QTLs identified in this study were colocated with previously identified QTLs for stay-green. The colocation of the QTLs indicated the putative genetic association between nodal root angle and the stay-green drought response in sorghum. Furthermore, a putative association between three QTLs governing nodal root angle and grain yield was identified through single marker analysis conducted on yield data recorded in a subset of the mapping population grown in hybrid combination with three different tester lines. Similarly, Rajkumar et al. (2013) reported colocalization of QTL for root volume with QTL for root fresh weight and root dry weight on chromosome number 4 of sorghum. The colocalization of QTLs for root traits in sorghum can assist in their introgression in drought-susceptible cultivars through MAS utilizing the same linked markers. Further association analysis revealed that root-related QTLs identified were quite distinct from the QTLs governing yield component traits identified in the same population. However, a nonsignificant but positive association was observed between root traits and seed yield/plant. It is thus possible to combine grain yield and desirable root traits to enhance productivity under moisture stress.

Root architecture is the key factor in determining the phosphorus uptake of the cereals in harsh environmental conditions (Doumbia et al. 1993, 1998). In rice, a major QTL, phosphorus uptake 1 (Pup1) was mapped on the long arm of chromosome 12 (Heuer et al. 2009). High-resolution mapping of Pup1 locus identified a gene designated phosphorus-starvation tolerance 1 (OsPSTOL1), which is known to increase P uptake through enhancement of early root growth and development under low-P conditions (Gamuyao et al. 2012). Hydraulic conductivity of seminal and nodal roots in sorghum is known to be strongly influenced by phosphorus availability under water deficiency (Shangguan et al. 2005). Hufnagel et al. (2014) investigated the role of SbPSTOL1, an homologous gene of the rice OsPSTOL1 in sorghum on plant performance under low-P conditions. Two association mapping panels-sorghum association panel subset (SAPst) and West African association panel (WAP)-were rigorously phenotyped for P uptake and root morphology in hydroponics, and grain yield under low-P conditions in Brazil and Mali. The investigation elucidated SbPSTOL1 alleles involved in reducing root diameter under low-P condition in hydroponics and increased root surface area in low-P soil. Furthermore, the role of SbPSTOL1 was validated through linkage mapping in a large RIL population derived from the sorghum parents with contrasting root morphology. Interestingly, SbPSTOL1 alleles were colocalized with QTL governing root length, root diameter, and root surface area under low-P conditions in sorghum.

4.3 Marker-Assisted Selection (MAS) for RSA

Genetic studies confirmed that the RSA of sorghum is a complex character, which is controlled not only by major-effect QTLs but also by plenty of minor QTLs exerting smaller effects on the root phenotype. Additionally, the presence of genotype \times environment interactions also hampers the progress of RSA improvement using a conven-Therefore, tional breeding approach. several molecular breeding schemes have been developed recently that have enabled the detailed dissection of the complex root traits. Among various molecular breeding schemes, thus far marker-assisted backcrossing (MABC) in rice (Steele et al. 2006) and advanced backcross QTL (AB-QTL) analysis in barley (Naz et al. 2014) are the methods utilized for incorporation of desirable root traits in different genetic background in cereals. The best evidence of successful utilization of a molecular breeding scheme to pyramid various root traits to improve crop drought tolerance is the development of a highly drought-tolerant cultivar "Birsa Vikas Dhan 111," which is developed by introgressing quantitative trait loci governing deeper rooting length through MABC in rice (Steel et al. 2013). To the best of our knowledge, to date there is no report on marker-assisted introgression of QTLs governing superior root characters to drought-susceptible genotypes in sorghum. The major reason for this is the lack of high-throughput phenotyping platforms for accurate and efficient screening of root traits in large breeding populations (Francia et al. 2005). In addition to this, imprecise QTL identification, inconsistency in validation of QTLs detected in controlled and field conditions, their unstable expression across the populations and environments, and unfavorable epistatic interaction have adversely affected the breeding programs entailing manipulation of RSA through MAS. For these reasons, there have been very few reports on the use of MAS for improvement of RSA in cereal breeding programs and there is no report on marker-assisted introgression of QTLs governing superior root characters to drought-susceptible genotypes in sorghum. A holistic molecular breeding approach combined with rigorous controlled and field-based phenotyping of root traits for genetic manipulation of RSA in sorghum has been proposed (Fig. 1) in this chapter. The approach is followed after the development of high-throughput phenotyping and genotyping methods. The best germplasm sources for an effective screening of root traits are multiparental breeding populations, core and mini-core collections, and diversity



Fig. 1 Overview of molecular breeding approach to manipulate the root system architecture (RSA) in sorghum

panels. This approach combines QTL mapping and genomewide association studies (GWAS) with MAS. Last, this approach involves multilocation field testing of the marker-defined promising genotypes to assess their performance for the ultimate breeding target (grain yield).

5 Summary and Outlook

Genetic manipulation of RSA holds great promise to enhance productivity of sorghum under water deficit. The majority of the RSA components discussed in this chapter have shown genetic variation among crop genotypes, and thus could be integrated in breeding programs. However, quantification of genetic variation and genetic control of root traits is at its beginning stage. Therefore, an exhaustive characterization of diverse germplasm sources, namely core collections, diversity panels, multiparental breeding populations, and landraces, is required for identification of appropriate donors for superior root traits. In addition to the mainstream gene pool, wild species can serve as potential donors for the root traits due to their ability to colonize a wide range of moisture and soil regimes and to withstand harsh and nutrient-limited environments. Potential donors for root traits have been observed in wild species of barley (Grando and Ceccarelli 1995), rice (Liu et al. 2004), and wheat (Reynold et al. 2007; Placido et al. 2013). However, wild sorghum species are still unexplored for root traits. Utility of RSA components such as nodal root angle, dry root weight, and RLD is fairly well established to influence drought tolerance in sorghum. In addition to this, traits such as nodal root angle at the early seedling stage have been suggested as proxy traits to determine drought tolerance of adult sorghum plants. However, a challenging obstacle to the deployment of these RSA components in sorghum breeding is the difficulty in evaluating root phenotypes of a large number of breeding lines or multiparental mapping populations. Therefore, efforts should be directed towards development of robust root screening platforms that are capable of (i) expressing high heritability for the measured component trait, (ii) minimizing the $G \times E$ interaction, (iii) screening the root trait at the early seedling stage to shorten the selection cycle and speed up genetic improvement, and (iv) finally, establishing the genetic correlation between the root trait phenotyped on the platform and ultimate breeding objective.

QTLs have been identified for traits related to root morphology, which has resulted in a great magnitude of knowledge and better understanding of the genetic control of RSA in sorghum. However, the root anatomy of sorghum is very poorly understood at present. Therefore, immediate attention needs to be paid towards identification of genomic regions governing root anatomical phenes, which will greatly facilitate their use in breeding programs. Meta-QTL analysis followed by cloning of QTLs, which are stable across populations and environments, will provide a driving force in molecular breeding for RSA because a cloned QTL can offer a reliable marker for MABC. However, the impact of a cloned QTL or candidate gene underlying the QTL region on plant productivity needs to be tested in a given environment. Furthermore, transformation of the knowledge acquired from genomics-oriented approaches into а drought-tolerant high-yielding cultivar with improved RSA is the most daunting challenge faced by breeders.

Efforts should also be directed towards understanding the physiological mechanisms that control functional aspects of RSA and its impact on crop performance in the field. Understanding the physiological mechanism and signaling behavior of roots in response to stress and subsequent physiological alterations in shoots will certainly assist plant breeding efforts towards RSA improvement in sorghum. Indeed, a multidisciplinary approach is required to integrate growing omics techniques with plant physiology, agronomy, and breeding to improve productivity of sorghum under drought through genetic manipulation of RSA.

References

- Abd Allah AA, Shimaa AB, Zayed BA, Gohary AAE (2010) The role of root system traits in the drought tolerance of rice (*Oryza sativa* L.). Int J Agric Biol Sci 1:83–87
- Aina PO, Fapohunda HO (1986) Root distribution and water uptake patterns of maize cultivars field-grown under different irrigation. Plant Soil 94:257–265
- Ali MA, Niaz S, Abbas A, Sabir W, Jabran K (2009) Genetic diversity and assessment of drought tolerant sorghum landraces based on morph-physiological traits at different growth stages. Plant Omics 2:214– 227
- Aloni R, Griffith M (1991) Functional xylem anatomy in root-shoot junctions of six cereal species. Planta 184:123–129
- Amelework B, Shimelis H, Tongoona P, Laing M (2015) Physiological mechanisms of drought tolerance in sorghum, genetic basis and breeding methods: a review. Afr J Agric Res 10:3029–3040
- Asseng S, Turner NC (2007) Modelling genotype x environment management interactions to improve yield, water use efficiency and grain protein in wheat. In: Spiertz JHJ, Struik PC, Van Laar HH (eds) Scale and complexity in plant systems research: gene–plant– crop relations, vol 21. Wageningen UR Frontis Series, Netherlands, pp 93–103
- Basu P, Pal A, Lynch JP, Brown KM (2007) A novel image anlaysis technique for kinematic study of growth and curvature. Plant Physiol 145:305–316
- Bawazir AA, Idle DB (1989) Drought resistance and root morphology in sorghum. Plant Soil 119:217–221
- Beeckman T, Burssens S, Inze D (2001) The peri-cell-cycle in Arabidopsis. J Exp Bot 52:403–411

- Bengough AG, Gordon DC, Al-Menaie H, Ellis RP, Allan D, Keith R, Thomas WB, Forster BP (2004) Gel observation chamber for rapid screening of root traits in cereal seedlings. Plant Soil 262:63–70
- Bhan U, Singh HG, Singh A (1973) Note on root development as an index of drought resistance in sorghum (Sorghum bicolor (L.) Moench). Indian J Agric Sci 43:828–830
- Bibi A, Sadaqat HA, Tahir MH, Akram HM (2012) Screening of sorghum (*Sorghum bicolor* Var Moench) for drought tolerance at seedling stage in polyethylene glycol. J Anim Plant Sci 22:671–678
- Blum A, Arkin GF (1984) Sorghum root growth and water-use as affected by water supply and growth duration. Field Crops Res 9:131–142
- Blum A, Ritchie JT (1984) Effect of soil surface water content on sorghum root distribution in the soil. Field Crops Res 8:169–176
- Blum A, Arkin GF, Jordan WR (1977) Sorghum root morphogenesis and growth. I. Effect of maturity genes. Crop Sci 17:149–153
- Blum A, Golan G, Golan G (1989) Agronomic and physiological assessments genotypic variation for drought resistance in sorghum. Aust J Agric Res 40:49–61
- Blum A, Golan G, Mayer J, Sinmena B (1997) The effect of dwarfing genes on sorghum grain filling from remobilized stem reserves under stress. Field Crops Res 52:43–54
- Borrell A, Jordan D, Mullet J, Henzell B, Hammer G (2006) Drought adaptation in sorghum. In: Ribaut JM (ed) Drought Adaptation in Cereals. The Haworth Press, Binghamton, pp 335–378
- Borrell AK, Mullet JE, George-Jaeggli B, van Oosterom EJ, Hammer GL, Klein PE, Jordan DR (2014) Drought adaptation of stay-green cereals associated with canopy development, leaf anatomy, root growth and water uptake. J Expt Bot 65:6251–6263
- Bucksch A, Burridge J, York LM, Das A, Nord E, Weitz JS, Lynch JP (2014) Image-based high-throughput field phenotyping of crop roots. Plant Physiol 166:470–486
- Cai H, Chen F, Mi G et al (2012) Mapping QTLs for root system architecture of maize (Zea mays L.) in the field at different developmental stages. Theor Appl Genet 125:1313–1324
- Cherif-Ari O, Housley TL, Ejeta G (1990) Sorghum root length density and the potential for avoiding *Striga parasitia*. Plant Soil 121:67–72
- Chopart JL, Sine B, Dao A, Muller B (2008) Root orientation of four sorghum cultivars: application to estimate root length density from root counts in soil profiles. Plant Root 2:67–75
- Clark RT, MacCurdy RB, Jung JK, Shaff JE, McCouch SR, Aneshansley DJ, Kochian LV (2011) Three-dimensional root phenotyping with a novel

imaging and software platform. Plant Physiol 156:455-465

- Clark RT, Famoso AN, Zhao K, Shaff JE, Craft EJ, Bustamante CD, Mccouch SR, Aneshansley DJ, Kochian LV (2013) High-throughput two-dimensional root system phenotyping platform facilitates genetic analysis of root growth and development. Plant Cell Environ 36:454–466
- Clausnitzer V, Hopmans JW (1994) Simultaneous modelling of transient three-dimensional root growth and soil water flow. Plant Soil 164:299–314
- Colombi T, Kirchgessner N, Le Marie CA, York LM, Lynch JP, Hund A (2015) Next generation shovelomics: set up a tent and REST. Plant Soil 388:1–20
- Damodar R, Rao JVS, Rao NGP (1978) Genetic analysis of some exotic x Indian crosses in sorghum: Genotypic differences for root activity. Indian J Genet 38:421–430
- Dardanelli JL, Bachmeier A, Sereno R, Gil R (1997) Rooting depth and soil water extraction patterns of different crops in a silty loam and Haptustoll. Field Crops Res 54:29–38
- de Dorlodot S, Forster B, Pages L, Price AH, Tuberosa R, Draye X (2007) Root system architecture: opportunities and constraints for genetic improvement of crops. Trends Plant Sci 12:474–481
- Diggle AJ (1988) ROOTMAP-a model in three dimensional coordiantes of the growth and structure of fibrous root system. Plant Soil 105:169–178
- Doumbia MD, Hossner LR, Onken B (1993) Variable sorghum growth in acid soils of sub humid West Africa. Arid Soil Res Rehabil 7:335–346
- Doumbia MD, Hossner LR, Onken AB (1998) Sorghum growth in acid soils of West Africa: variations in soil chemical properties. Arid Soil Res Rehabil 12:179– 190
- Dunbabin V, Diggle AJ, Rengel Z, van Hungten R (2000) Modelling the interactions between water and nutrient uptake and root growth. Plant Soil 239:19–38
- Esau K (1977) Anatomy of seed plants, 2nd edn. Wiley, New York
- Fahn A (1990) Plant anatomy, 4th edn. Pergamon press, Oxford
- Feldman L (1994) The maize root. In: Freeling M, Walbot V (eds) The maize handbook. Springer, New York, pp 29–37
- Francia E, Tacconi G, Crosatti C, Barabaschi D, Bulgarelli, D, Dall'Aglio E et al (2005) Marker assisted selection in crop plants. Plant Cell Tiss Org Cult 82:317–342
- Gamuyao R, Chin JH, Pariasca-Tanaka J, Pesaresi P, Catausan S, Dalid C, Slamet-Loedin I, Tecson-Mendoza EM, Wissuwa M, Heuer S (2012) The protein kinase Pstol1 from traditional rice confers tolerance of phosphorus deficiency. Nature 488:535– 539

- Girma S (1989) Osmotic adjustment: A drought tolerance mechanism in sorghum. Sci Eng 50:4570–4573
- Girma SF, Krieg DR (1992) Osmotic adjustment in sorghum. I. Mechanisms of diurnal osmotic potential changes. Plant Physiol 99:577–582
- Grando S, Ceccarelli S (1995) Seminal root morphology and coleoptile length in wild (*Hordeum vulgare* ssp. *spontaneum*) and cultivated (*Hordeum vulgare* ssp. *vulgare*) barley. Euphytica 86:73–80
- Gregory PJ (1983) Response to temperature in a stand of pearl millet (*Pennisetum typhoides* S. & H.). III. Root development. J Expt Bot 34:744–756
- Gregory PJ (2006) Plant roots. Growth, Activity and Interaction with Soils. Blackwell Publishing, Oxford
- Hammer GL, Dong ZS, McLean G, Doherty A, Messina C, Schussler J, Zinselmeier C, Paszkiewicz S, Cooper M (2009) Can changes in canopy and/or root system architecture explain historical maize yield trends in the U.S. Corn Belt? Crop Sci 49:299–312
- Hargreaves CE, Gregory PJ, Bengough AG (2009) Measuring root traits in Barley (*Hordeum vulgare* ssp. *vulgare* and ssp. *spontaneum*) seedlings using gel chambers, soil sacs and X-ray microtomogrphy. Plant Soil 316:285–297
- Heuer S, Lu X, Chin JH, Tanaka JP, Kanamori H, Matsumoto T, De Leon T, Ulat VJ, Ismail AM, Yano M et al (2009) Comparative sequence analyses of the major quantitative trait locus *phosphorus uptake 1 (Pup1)* reveal a complex genetic structure. Plant Biotechnol J 7:456–471
- Hochholdinger F, Katrin W, Sauer M, Dembonsky D (2004a) Genetic dissection of root formation in maize reveals root-type specific development programmes. Ann Bot 93:359–368
- Hochholdinger F, Park WJ, Sauer M, Woll K (2004b) From weeds to crops: genetic analysis of root development in cereals. Trends Plant Sci 9:42–48
- Hufnagel B, de Sousa SM, Assis L, Guimaraes CT, Leiser W, Azevedo GC, Negri B, Larson BG, Shaff JE, Pastina MM, Barros BA, Weltzien E, Rattunde HFW, Viana JH, Clark RT, Falcão A, Gazaffi R, Garcia AAF, Schaffert RE, Kochian LV, Magalhaes JV (2014) Duplicate and conquer: multiple homologs of PHOSPHORUS-STARVATION TOL-ERANCE1 enhance phosphorus acquisition and sorghum performance on low-phosphorus soils. Plant Physiol 166:659–677
- Hund A, Trachsel S, Stamp P (2009) Growth of axile and lateral roots of maize: I development of a phenotyping platform. Plant Soil 325:335–349
- IPCC (2012) Summary for policymakers. In: Field CB, Barros V, Stocker TF, Qin D, Dokken DJ, Ebi KL, Mastrandrea MD, Mach KJ, Plattner GK, Allen SK, Tignor M, Midgley PM (eds) Managing the risks of extreme events and disasters to advance climate

change adaptation. A special report of working groups I and II of the intergovernmental panel on climate change. Cambridge University Press, Cambridge, UK, and New York, NY, USA, pp 3–21

- Irwin RL, Johnson WC, Elkins CB (1985) Highlights of agricultural Res. 32. No. 1, Albama Agricultural Experiment Station, Auburn University, Albama, USA
- Iyer-Pascuzzi AS, Symonova O, Mileyko Y, Hao Y, Belcher H, Harer J, Weitz JS, Benfey PN (2010) Imaging and analysis platform for automatic phenotyping and trait ranking of plant root systems. Plant Physiol 152:1148–1157
- Jha UC, Chaturvedi SK, Bohra A, Basu PS, Khan MS, Barh D (2014) Abiotic stresses, constraints and improvement strategies in chickpea. Plant Breed 133:163–178
- Jiang K, Meng YL, Feldman LJ (2003) Quiescent center formation in maize roots is associated with an auxin-regulated oxidizing environment. Development 130:1429–1438
- Jordan WR, Miller FR, Morris DE (1979) Genetic variation in root and shoot growth of sorghum in hydroponics. Crop Sci 19–23
- Jordan DR, Mace ES, Cruickshank AW, Hunt CH, Henzell RG (2011) Exploring and exploiting genetic variation from unadapted sorghum germplasm in a breeding program. Crop Sci 51:1444–1457
- Jordan DR, Hunt CH, Cruickshank AW, Borrell AK, Henzell RG (2012) The relationship between the stay-green trait and grain yield in elite sorghum hybrids grown in a range of environments. Crop Sci 52:1153–1161
- Kato Y, Abe J, Kamoshita A, Yamagishi J (2006) Genotypic variation in root growth angle in rice (*Oryza sativa* L.) and its association with deep root development in upland fields with different water regimes. Plant Soil 287:117–129
- Kausch W (1967) Lebensdauer der Primarwurzel von Monokotyledons. Naturwissenschaften 54:475
- Kiesselbach T (1949) The structure and reproduction of corn. Nebrasca Agric Expt Station Res Bullet 161:3– 96
- Klepper B, Belford RK, Rickman RW (1984) Root and shoot development in winter wheat. Agron J 76:117– 122
- Kono Y, Yamauchi A, Nonoyama T, Tatsumi J, Kawamura N (1987) A revised experimental system of root-soil interaction for laboratory work. Environ Contor Biol 25:141–151
- Kozinka V (1977) Primary seminal root, a permanent part of the root system of Zea mays L. Biologia Bratislava 32:779–786
- Lawson WE, Hanway JJ (1977) Corn production. In: sprague G (ed) Corn and corn improvement. American Society of Agronomy Publishers, Madison, WI, USA, pp 625–669

- Le Marié C, Kirchgessner N, Marschall D, Walter A, Hund A (2014) Rhizoslides: paper-based growth system for non-destructive, high-throughput phenotyping of root development by means of image analysis. Plant Methods 10:13. doi:10.1186/1746-4811-10-13
- Li W, Zhang S, Shan L, Egrinya EA (2011) Changes in root characteristics, gas exchange and water use efficiency following water stress and rehydration of Alfalfa and Sorghum. Aust J Crop Sci 5:1521–1532
- Li R, Han Y, Lv P, Du R, Liu G (2014) Molecular mapping of the brace root traits in sorghum (Sorghum bicolor L. Moench). Breed Sci 64:193–198
- Lilley JM, Kirkegaard JA (2011) Benefits of increased soil exploration by wheat roots. Field Crops Res 122:118–130
- Liu L, Lafitte R, Guan D (2004) Wild *Oryza* species as potential sources of drought-adaptive traits. Euphytica 138:149–161
- Luxova M (1986) The hydraulic safety zone at the base of barley roots. Planta 169:465–470
- Luxova M (1989) The vascular system in the roots of barley and its hydraulic aspects. In: Loughman BC, Gasparikova O, Kolek J (eds) Structural and functional aspects of transport in roots. Kluwer Academic Publications, London, pp 15–20
- Lynch JP (2015) Root phenes that reduce the metabolic costs of soil exploration: Opportunities for 21st century agriculture. Plant Cell Environ 38:1775–1784
- Lynch JP, Nielsen KL, Davis RD, Jablokow AG (1997) SimRoot: modelling and visualization of root systems. Plant Soil 188:139–151
- Mace ES, Rami JF, Klein RR, Kilian A, Wenzl P, Xia L, Halloran K, Jordan DL (2009) A consensus map of sorghum that integrates multiple component maps and high-throughput Diversity Array Technology (DArT) marker. BMC Plant Biol 9:1–14
- Mace ES, Singh V, Oosterom EJ, Hammer GL, Hunt CH, Jordan DR (2012) QTL for nodal root angle in sorghum (Sorghum bicolor L. Moench) co-locate with QTL for traits associated with drought adaptation. Theor Appl Genet 124:97–109
- Mace ES, Tai S, Gilding EK, Li Y, Prentis PJ, Bian L, Campbell BC, Hu W, Innes DJ, Han X, Cruickshank A, Dai C, Frère C, Zhang H, Hunt CH, Wang X, Shatte T, Wang M, Su Z, Li J, Lin X, Godwin ID, Jordan DR, Jl Wang (2013) Whole genome sequencing reveals untapped genetic potential in Africa's indigenous cereal crop sorghum. Nat Commun 4:2320
- Mairhofer S, Zappala S, Tracy SR et al (2012) RooTrak: automated recovery of three-dimensional plant root architecture in soil from X-ray microcomputed tomography images using visual tracking. Plant Physiol 158:561–569
- Manschadi AM, Hammer GL, Christopher JT, deVoil P (2008) Genotypic variation in seedling root architectural traits and implications for drought adaptation in wheat (*Triticum aestivum* L). Plant Soil 303:115–129
- Matsuura A, Inanaga S, Sugimoto Y (1996) Mechanism of interspecific differences among four graminaceous

crops in growth response to soil drying. Jpn J Crop Sci 65:352–360

- McCully ME, Canny MJ (1988) Pathways and processes of water and nutrients movements in roots. Plant Soil 111:159–170
- McLean G, Whish J, Routley R, Broad I, Hammer GL (2003) The effect of row configuration on yield reliability in grain sorghum: II. Modelling the effects of row configuration. In: Proceedings of the 11th Australian Agron conference Geelong, VIC, Australia, 2–6 Feb 2003. http://www.regional.org.au/au/asa/ 2003/c/9/mclean.htm. Accessed 29 June 2016. The Regional Institute, Gosford, NSW, Australia
- Mitra J (2001) Genetics and genetic improvement of drought resistance in crop plants. Curr Sci 80:758–763
- Mutava RN (2012) Evaluation of sorghum genotypes for variation in canopy temperature and drought tolerance. PhD Thesis, Kansas State University, Manhattan, Kansas, USA, 163 p
- Nakhforoosh A, Grausgruber H, Kaul HP, Bodner G (2015) Dissection of drought response of modern and underutilized wheat varieties according to Passioura's yield-water framework. Front Plant Sci 6:570
- Naz AA, Arifuzzaman M, Muzammil S, Pillen K, Leon J (2014) Wild barley introgression lines reveal novel QTL alleles for root and related shoot traits in the cultivated barley (*Hordeum vulgare* L.). BMC Genet 15:107
- Nivedita M (1992) Effect of Moisture Status and Bulk Density on Germination and Emergence of Pearl Millet, Sorghum and Groundnut on an Alfisol. MSc Thesis. Andhra Pradesh Agricultural University Hyderabad, India, pp 144
- Nour AM, Weibel DE, Tood GW (1978) Evaluation of root characteristics in grain sorghum. Agron J 70:217– 218
- O' Toole JC, Bland WL (1987) Genotypic variation in crop plant root system. Adv Agron 41:91–145
- Oyanagi A, Nakamoto T, Morita S (1993) The gravitropic response of roots and the shaping of the root system in cereal plants. Environ Exp Bot 33:141–158
- Pages L, Jordan MO (1989) A simulation model of the three-dimensional architecture of the maize root system. Plant Soil 119:147–154
- Pardales JR Jr, Kono Y (1990) Development of sorghum root system under increasing drought stress. Jpn J Crop Sci 59:752–761
- Passioura JB (1982) The role of root system characteristics in the drought resistance of crop plants. In: Holmes JC, Taho WM (eds) Drought resistance in crops with emphasis on rice. International Rice Research Institute, Los Baños, Manila, Philippines, pp 71–82
- Patil BS, Ravikumar RL (2011) Osmotic adjustment in pollen grains: a measure of drought adaptation in sorghum? Curr Sci 100:377–382
- Placido DF, Campbell MT, Folsom JJ, Cui X, Kruger GR, Baenziger PS, Walia H (2013) Introgression of novel traits from a wild Wheat relative improves drought adaptation in wheat. Plant Physiol 161:1806–1819

- Planchamp C, Balmer D, Hund A, Mauch-Mani B (2013) A soil-free root observation system for the study of root-microorganism interactions in maize. Plant Soil 367:605–614
- Price AH, Tomos AD, Virk DS (1997) Genetic dissection of root growth in rice (*Oryza sativa* L) 1: a hydroponic screen. Theor Appl Genet 95:132–142
- Price AH, Steele KA, Moore BJ, Barraclough PB, Clark LJ (2000) A combined RFLP and AFLP linkage map of upland rice used to identify QTLs for root-penetration ability. Theor Appl Genet 100:49–56
- Price AH, Steele KA, Gorham J, Bridges JM, Moore BJ, Evans JL, Richardson P, Jones RGW (2002) Upland rice grown in soil-filled chambers and exposed to contrasting water-deficit regimes: I. Root distribution, water use and plant water status. Field Crops Res 76:11–24
- Rajkumar Fakrudin B, Kavil SP, Girma Y, Arun SS, Dadakhalandar D, Gurusiddesh BH, Patil AM et al (2013) Molecular mapping of genomic regions harbouring QTLs for root and yield traits in sorghum (*Sorghum bicolor* L. Moench). Physiol Mol Biol Plants 19:409–419
- Rakshit S, Hariprasanna K, Gomashe S, Ganapathy KN, Das IK, Ramana OV, Dhandapani A, Patil JV (2014) Changes in area, yield gains, and yield stability of sorghum in major sorghum-producing countries, 1970 to 2009. Crop Sci 54(4):1571–1584
- Reynolds M, Dreccer F, Trethowan R (2007) Drought-adaptive traits derived from wheat wild relatives and landraces. J Exp Bot 58:177–186
- Richard CAI, Lee TH, Susan F, Raeleen J, Karine, C Christopher JT (2015) High-throughput phenotyping of seminal root traits in wheat. Plant Methods 11:13
- Richards RA, Passioura JB (1989) A breeding program to reduce the diameter of the major xylem vessel in the seminal roots of wheat and its effect on grain yield in rain-fed environments. Aust J Agric Res 40:943–950
- Robertson MJ, Fukai S, Ludlow MM, Hammer GL (1993) Water extraction by grain sorghum in a sub-humid environment. II. Extraction in relation to root growth. Field Crop Res 33:99–112
- Robinson D (1994) The responses of plants to no-uniform supplies of nutrients. New Phytol 127:635–674
- Rosenow DT, Quisenberry JE, Wendt CW, Clark LE (1983) Drought tolerant sorghum and cotton germplasm. Agric Water Manag 7:207–222
- Rostamza M, Richards RA, Watt M (2013) Response of millet and sorghum to a varying water supply around the primary and nodal roots. Ann Bot 112:439–446
- Routley R, Broad I, McLean G, Whish J, Hammer G (2003) The effect of row configuration on yield reliability in grain sorghum: I. Yield, water use efficiency and soil water extraction. In: Proceeding of the 11th Australian agronomy conference, Geelong, Australia, 2–6 Feb 2003. www.regional.org.au/au/asa/

2003/c/9/routley.htm. Accessed 29 June 2016. The Regional Institute, Gosford, NSW, Australia

- Salih AA, Ali IA, Lux A, Luxova M, Cohen Y, Sugimoto Y, Inanga S (1999) Rooting, water uptake, and xylem structure adaptation to drought of two sorghum cultivars. Crop Sci 39:168–173
- Salim MH, Todd GW, Schlehuber AM (1965) Root development of wheat, oats and barley under conditions of soil moisture stress. Agron J 57:603–607
- Sanchez AC, Subudhi PK, Rosenow DT, Nguyen HT (2002) Mapping QTLs associated with drought resistance in sorghum (Sorghum bicolor (L) Moench). Plant Mol Biol 48:713–726
- Shangguan ZP, Lei TW, Shao MA, Xue QW (2005) Effect of phosphorous nutrient on the hydraulic conductivity of sorghum (*Sorghum vulgare*) seedling roots under water deficiency. J Integr Plant Biol 47:421–427
- Sharp R, Silk W, Hsiao T (1988) Growth of the maize primary root at low water potentials. I. Spatial distribution of expansive growth. Plant Physiol 87:50–57
- Sibounheuang V, Basnayake J, Fukai S (2006) Genotypic consistency in the expression of leaf water potential in rice (*Oryza sativa* L.). Field Crops Res 97:142–154
- Singh V (2010) Genotypic variability in structure and function of sorghum root systems. PhD Thesis, University of Queensland, Australia, 112 p
- Singh V, van Oosterom EJ, Jordan DR, Messina CD, Cooper M, Hammer GL (2010) Morphological and architectural development of root systems in sorghum and maize. Plant Soil 333:287–299
- Singh V, van Oosterom EJ, Jordan DR, Hunt CH, Hammer GL (2011) Genetic variability and control of nodal root angle in sorghum. Crop Sci 51:2011–2020
- Singh V, van Oosterom EJ, Jordan R, Hammer GL (2012) Genetic control of root angle in sorghum and its implication in water extraction. Eur J Agron 42:3–10
- Stasovski E, Peterson CA (1991) The effects of drought and subsequent rehydration on the structure and vitality of *Zea mays* seedling roots. Can J Bot 69:1170–1178
- Steele KA, Price AH, Shashidhar HE, Witcombe JR (2006) Marker-assisted selection to introgress rice QTLs controlling root traits into an Indian upland rice variety. Theor Appl Genet 112:208–221
- Steele KA, Price AH, Witcombe JR, Shrestha R, Singh BN, Gibbons JM, Virk DS (2013) QTLs associated with root traits increase yield in upland rice when transferred through marker-assisted selection. Theor Appl Genet 126:101–108
- Thudi M (2004) Molecular profiling and phenotyping of root and shoot traits in selected Rabi Sorghum (Sorghum bicolor (L.) Moench) genotypes. MSc Thesis, University of Agricultural Science, Dharwad, Karnataka, India
- Tingting X, Peixi S, Lishan S (2010) Photosynthetic characteristic and water use efficiency of sweet

sorghum under different watering regimes. Pak J Bot 42:3981–3994

- Trachsel S, Kaeppler SM, Brown KM, Lynch JP (2011) Shovelomics: high-throughput phenotyping of maize (*Zea mays* L.) root architecture in the field. Plant Soil 341:75–87
- Trikoesoemaningtyas YS, Didy S, Ardi EWS, Satya N (2015) Estimation of genetic parameters and gene actions of sorghum (*Sorghum bicolor* (L.) Moench) tolerance to low P condition. Int J Agron Agric Res 7:38–46
- Tuinstra MR, Grote EM, Goldsborough PB, Ejeta G (1996) Identification of quantitative trait loci associated with preflowering drought tolerance in sorghum. Crop Sci 36:1337–1344
- Uga Y, Okuno K, Yano M (2011) Dro1, a major QTL involved in deep rooting of rice under upland field conditions. J Exp Bot 62:2485–2494
- Vadez V, Deshpande SP, Kholova J, Hammer GL, Borrell AK, Talwar HS, Hash CT (2011) Stay-green quantitative trait loci's effects on water extraction, transpiration efficiency and seed yield depend on recipient parent background. Funct Plant Biol 38:553– 566
- van Oosterom EJ, Yang Z, Zhang F, Deifel KS, Cooper M, Messina CD, Hammer GL (2016) Genotypic contrast in root system efficiency in maize: potential link to drought adaptation. Funct Plant Biol (in press)
- van Weele d, Jiang HS, Palaniappan KK, Ivanov VB, Palaniappan K, Baskin TI (2003) A new algorithm for computational image analysis of deformable motion at high spatial and temporal resolution applied to root

growth. Roughly uniform elongation in the meristem and also, after an abrupt acceleration, in the elongation zone. Plant Physiol 132:1138–1148

- Vinodhana NK, Ganesamurthy K (2010) Evaluation of morpho-physiological characters in sorghum (Sorghum bicolor (L.) Moench) genotypes under post-flowering drought stress. Elec J Plant Breed 1:585–589
- Volkmar KM (1997) Water stressed nodal roots of wheat: effects on leaf growth. Aust J Plant Physiol 24:49–56
- Wasson AP, Rebetzke GJ, Kirkegaard JA, Christopher J, Richards RA, Watt M (2014) Soil coring at multiple field environments can directly quantify variation in deep root traits to select wheat genotypes for breeding. J Exp Bot 63:3485–3498
- Whish J, Butler G, M C, Cawthray S, Broad I, Carberry P, Hammer GL, McLean G, Routley R, Yeates S (2005) Modelling the effects of row configuration on sorghum in north-eastern Australia. Aust J Agric Res 56:11–23
- Wright G, Smith R, MccWilliam J (1983) Differences between two grain Sorghum genotype in adaptation to drought stress. 1. Crop growth and yield responses. Aust J Agric Res 34:615–626
- Yambao EB, Ingram KT, Real JG (1992) Root xylem influence on the water relations and drought resistance of rice. J Exp Bot 43:925–932
- Yu LX, Ray JD, O Toole JC, Nguyen HT (1995) Use of wax-petrolatum layers for screening rice root penetration. Crop Sci 35:684–687
- Zhu JM, Brown KM, Lynch JP (2010) Root cortical aerenchyma improves the drought tolerance of maize (*Zea mays* L.). Plant Cell Environ 33:740–749

Genetic Transformation for Functional Genomics of Sorghum

12

Monika Dalal

Abstract

Plant transformation is an essential requirement for fundamental research in functional biology and for crop improvement. Sorghum is primarily a recalcitrant crop for tissue culture and transformation. It has taken three decades of painstaking optimization efforts to reach a transformation efficiency of 20 and 30 % through particle bombardment and *Agrobacterium*-mediated genetic transformation in sorghum, respectively. This chapter describes the different variables that were analyzed for the success of tissue culture and transformation in sorghum. These factors include type of explants, culture media, hormone combinations, methods of gene transfer, vectors, selection marker genes, and so on. Furthermore, efforts for deployment of this technique for sorghum improvement in the area of biotic and abiotic stress tolerance, and improvement of nutritional quality are discussed.

1 Introduction

For plant biologists, sorghum acts as a model system for C_4 plants. Its diploid, relatively small (750 Mb) and sequenced genome makes it suitable for comparative genomics and translational research among grasses. The remarkably diverse sorghum germplasm represents a large gene pool for fundamental research and agricultural

exploitation. Primarily there are three ways genetics, genomics, and genetic engineering through which this vast resource can be exploited and understood. However, functional analysis of gene(s) underlying a qualitative or quantitative trait, or those identified through various omic techniques and to modify or introduce a gene, would require an efficient genetic transformation method.

S. Rakshit and Y.-H. Wang (eds.), *The Sorghum Genome*, Compendium of Plant Genomes, DOI 10.1007/978-3-319-47789-3_12

M. Dalal (🖂)

ICAR-National Research Centre on Plant Biotechnology, Pusa, New Delhi 110012, India e-mail: monikadalal@hotmail.com

[©] Springer International Publishing AG 2016

2 The Need for Sorghum Transformation

In the era of next-generation sequencing (NGS), almost every fortnight, a genome is decoded, sequenced, and added to the repertoire of genome sequence databases. The virtue of structural genomics lies in gene discovery, dissecting the pathways and networks of genes and development of markers. The ultimate aim is to understand the fundamental processes of plants and crop improvement. Therefore, post-2000, when the first plant genome was sequenced (The Arabidopsis Genome Initiative 2000), there was a surge of reports on functional analysis of genes and to find the function of almost all the 25,000 genes predicted for the Arabidopsis genome. Fifteen years after release of the Arabidopsis genome sequence, there are many genes with hypothetical functions. Still the unprecedented knowledge of genes and their functions has come from Arabidopsis. This success is attributed to the floral dip method of transformation (Clough and Bent 1998) which revolutionized the genetic transformation and gene discovery in Arabidopsis. Since a facile transformation was made available in this model plant system, a number of genes from other species have been validated for gene function in Arabidopsis.

This validation may hold true for genes that are highly similar or conserved during evolution. In the rice genome, the percentage of such genes that are homologous to Arabidopsis is 71 % out of 37,544 genes (The International Rice Genome Sequence Project 2005). In the sorghum genome about 24%of the genes are grass-specific and 7 % are sorghum-specific (Paterson et al. 2009). Thus in spite of synteny and the presence of highly conserved genes, there are species-specific differences that are yet to be explored. The orthologous genes may acquire additional or distinct functions in addition to their predicted function during the course of evolution. This reiterates the need to analyze the function of the gene in its own biological context. Hence, a simple and efficient method of transformation is a must for analysis of gene function that may be specific to a particular plant species.

In addition, there are areas of crop improvement in sorghum such as insect resistance, modified lignin content and composition, and biofortification that would require molecular breeding as well as biotechnological interventions. The genes for crop improvements may come from other species that are not naturally crossable or these can also be edited or redesigned in their native background (Gaj et al. 2013; Jiang et al. 2013). This has led to renewed interest in developing an efficient method of plant transformation in sorghum. The following sections describe in detail the methods of regeneration, transformation, and transgenic development for improvement of various traits in sorghum.

3 Transient and Stable Transformation

Plant transformation can be of two types, transient and stable. Transient transformation is carried out for short-term study, as a rapid and highthroughput screening process, or for analyzing the subcellular/organelle localization of protein. In the transient method, the heterologous gene is expressed but the gene is not integrated into the genome. These studies can be done in leaf mesophyll cells using protoplasts (Yoo et al. 2007) or in intact plant (Ma et al. 2012), BY2 cell suspension cultures (Brandizzi et al. 2003), onion epidermal cells (Scott et al. 1999), and callus cultures. The most common methods for introducing the DNA into cells for transient expression include direct DNA delivery through particle bombardment, electroporation, Agrobacterium infiltration, and through viral vectors.

In stable transformation, there is integration of the heterologous gene into the host cell genome. This implies that the integrated gene will get replicated as part of the genome and transferred to descendants of the transformed cells (stable cell lines) and through gametes pass to the next generation. The ultimate aim in stable transformation is to generate plants with a uniformly modified genome throughout its plant parts. This facilitates the analysis of gene function and introgression of gene(s) in a crop plant that is heritable.

The success of a genetic transformation or stable transformation depends on several criteria such as (i) a suitable explant, a target tissue for in vitro culture that has competence to regenerate; (ii) a suitable medium that facilitates efficient regeneration, (iii) method of DNA delivery; (iv) vectors and strains (in the case of *Agrobacterium* mediated transformation); and (v) selection of marker to select true transformants efficiently.

4 Sorghum Tissue Culture and Regeneration

Regeneration in tissue culture is a prerequisite for any transformation method. The regeneration relies on totipotency. In plants, many somatic cells, including fully differentiated types have the capacity to regenerate into whole plants. This phenomenon of totipotency depends on competence of the tissue used, that is, its ability to get induced to follow a developmental path or process. Plant cells can regenerate through somatic embryogenesis or organogenesis. In the case of monocots in general and sorghum in particular, somatic embryogenesis has been a most commonly observed phenomenon for regeneration. However, shoot organogenesis has also been reported (Harshavardhan et al. 2002; Nirwan and Kothari 2004).

4.1 Explant

Many sorghum explants were explored for regeneration capability. These include leaf segments (Pola and Saradamani 2006), mature embryo (MacKinnon et al. 1987; Nirwan and Kothari 2004), immature embryo (Casas et al. 1993; Howe et al. 2006; Gurel et al. 2012; Liu and Godwin 2012), immature inflorescence (Cai and Butler 1990; Kaeppler and Pedersen 1996; Casas et al. 1997; Jogeswar et al. 2007), anthers (Kumaravadivel and Rangasamy 1994; Can et al. 1998), and shoot meristem (Seetharama et al. 2000; Harshavardhan et al. 2002; Maheswari et al. 2006; Sai Kishore et al. 2006). Regeneration using mesophyll protoplast (Sairam et al. 1999) and root transverse thin cell layers (tTCLs) has also been reported (Baskaran et al. 2006). Among these explants, immature inflorescence and immature embryo have been found to be most embryogenic in nature. Jogeswar et al. (2007) reported a high frequency of somatic embryogenesis from immature inflorescence (after 50-60 days of sowing) in three different genotypes of sorghum, SPV 462, SPV 839, and M 35-1. A comparison between two explants, that is, immature embryos and inflorescence in five Sorghum sudanense and three S. bicolor genotypes revealed that immature inflorescence had more regeneration potential (46.48 %) than immature embryos (22.35 %) (Gupta et al. 2006). The higher regeneration potential was attributed to a relatively higher proportion of meristematic tissues in the form of floral meristems, rachis, and rachillae in immature inflorescence as compared to only scutellum, the source of meristematic cells in the immature embryo (Gupta et al. 2006). Nevertheless, immature embryos 12-15 days post-anthesis (1-1.5 mm in size) have been found to be more responsive and successful as far as genetic transformation of sorghum is concerned (Gurel et al. 2012; Liu and Godwin 2012). The maintenance and continuous supply of the specific developmental stage of the immature embryo poses a problem. The specific developmental stage provides a narrow window for work: slight deviation can increase variability and decrease the reproducibility. It has been reported that even the source of the embryos had a very significant impact on transformation efficiency. Field-grown embryos were found to have higher transformation frequency а than greenhouse-grown embryos (Zhao et al. 2000).

For genetic transformation, an explant that is easily available, meristematic in nature, and not too development stage specific (as in the case of the immature embryo) would be more ideal. Therefore, shoot meristem that can be conveniently obtained from germinating seeds might be a good option as an explant. Harshavardhan et al. (2002) analyzed the callus induction and regeneration response from the shoot meristem culture of three sorghum genotypes, M 35-1, BTx623, and 296B. Depending on hormone combination in the medium, both direct organogenesis and somatic embryo formation were reported. A 5- to 7-day-old shoot meristem was found to be ideal (>80 %) for induction of multiple shoot bud initials. The regeneration frequencies of the three genotypes were in the range of 85-92 % (Harshavardhan et al. 2002). Multiple shoot induction from shoot meristem was also reported by Sai Kishore et al. (2006). The advantage of using shoot meristem from germinating seeds is that explant is available throughout the year; the chances of somaclonal variation can also be reduced by inducing direct organogenesis and the availability of multiple shoots in turn can take care of poor transformation efficiency of sorghum genotypes. Moreover, it was found that when shoot meristem is used as the explant, the different genotypes show relatively similar frequencies of regeneration. Therefore, it was proposed as a method with the least or no genotypic effect (Zhong et al. 1998; Harshvardhan et al. 2002).

4.2 Culture Medium

Media composition including the phytohormones and additives plays an important role in morphogenesis, developmental path (organogenesis or somatic embryogenesis), and regeneration time of explants. There are three phases in tissue culture: callus induction, regeneration, and rooting. Embryogenic callus cultures in sorghum can be of two morphotypes, compact and friable calli. These two morphotypes differ in morphology, texture, growth rate, and extent of embryo differentiation (Elkonin et al. 1995; Kaeppler and Pedersen 1997). Friable embryogenic callus has a higher growth rate, uniformity, and more easily gives rise to embryogenic cell suspensions than compact embryogenic callus (Elkonin et al. 1995). Addition of high concentrations of proline $(3 \text{ g } 1^{-1})$ and asparagine (2 g l^{-1}) to N6 medium led to friable embryogenic callus formation (Elkonin et al. 1995). The concentration of nitrate (NO_3^-) and its ratio with ammonium (NH_4^+) were shown as the main factors governing the morphotype of sorghum embryogenic callus (Elkonin and Pakhomova 2000). It was proposed that when the ratio of NO_3^-/NH_4^+ is 4:1, which is similar to that of N6 medium, friable embryonic calli are formed whereas at the higher level of NH_4^+ (20.6 mM) with relatively low NO_3^- concentrations, which is characteristic of the MS (Murashige and Skoog 1962) medium, a compact embryonic calli is formed (Elkonin and Pakhomova 2000).

4.3 Hormones and Hormone Combinations

Regeneration in tissue culture is highly dependent on the type of hormone and hormone combinations. Among auxins, 2,4-D (2,4-Dichlorophen oxyacetic) has been more regularly exploited for callus induction and BAP (6-Benzylaminopurine) and TDZ (Phenyl-N'-(1,2,3-thiadiazol-5-yl) urea) have been found to be more regenerative among cytokinins. TDZ is a substituted phenyl urea (N-phenyl-1,2,3-thidiazol-5-ylurea) and exhibits strong cytokinin-like activity similar to that of N6 substituted adenine derivatives (Mok et al. 1982). TDZ (5.0 µM) in combination with BAP (17.72 μ M) and NAA (1.074 μ M) gave rise to multiple bud induction, whereas 17.72 BAP and 2.69 μM NAA led to direct somatic embryogenesis in shoot meristem explants (Harshvardhan et al. 2002). In the case of immature inflorescence, and immature and mature embryo, 2,4-D in the range of 1.5-2.5 mg l^{-1} has been most successful for embryogenic callus induction (Casas et al. 1993, 1997; Nirwan and Kothari 2004; Nguyen et al. 2007; Liu and Godwin 2012). The frequency of embryogenesis was highest with 2,4-D followed by NAA, dicamba, picloram, and 2,4,5-T. A high frequency of globular embryos was induced from immature inflorescence grown on MS medium supplemented with 2.0 mg l^{-1} of 2.4-D and 0.5 mg l^{-1} of kinetin (Jogeswar et al. 2007).

Initially, NAA was used for sorghum root induction (Maralappanavar et al. 2000; Nirwan and Kothari 2003, 2004). A combination of three auxins (NAA, IBA, and IAA; Gao et al. 2005b; Gurel et al. 2009) or three auxins with copper sulphate was found to be good for in vitro sorghum root proliferation and resulted in 100 % survival of plantlets in glasshouse (Liu et al. 2013).

4.4 Additives

One of the major problems especially for embryos as explants is the release of phenolics and black pigmentation that negatively affects the growth and differentiation of tissues. This problem has been addressed either by including additives and antioxidants such as ascorbic acids or by physical treatment of the explants. Addition of 1 % PVPP (polyvinylpolypyrrolidone) and shortening of the subculture period (1-week interval) has been proved to be effective in reducing the phenolics and pigmentation (Zhao et al. 2000; Gao et al. 2005a, b).

The production of black pigments could also be reduced by addition of activated charcoal (AC; 1–5 g l⁻¹) in the callus induction medium. Nguyen et al. (2007) reported that addition of activated charcoal increased the survival of the immature embryo explants from 29 % (without AC) to 80 % (with AC); however, it inhibited the callus formation on surviving immature embryo explants (Nguyen et al. 2007). The inhibitory effect of AC on callus formation was attributed to adsorption of hormones from the medium.

Inclusion of additives such as casein hydrolysate, coconut water, or amino acids such as L-glutamine, proline, and asparagine in medium is a common practice in tissue culture. Casein hydrolysate is a mixture of amino acids, and coconut water has several nutritive factors and is a source of phytohormones. Amino acids are used as a source of organic nitrogen especially for somatic embryogenesis. The addition of proline and asparagine at high concentration $(2-3 \text{ g l}^{-1})$ induces friable calli and reduces pigmentation and phenolics production

(Elkonin et al. 1995; Carvalho et al. 2004). In contrast, Nguyen et al. (2007) found that addition of proline (2 g l^{-1}) increased the production of black pigment in their experiment. There can be several reasons for such variable results. Elkonin et al. (1995) had proposed that the presence of both proline (3 g l^{-1}) and asparagine (2 g l^{-1}) was required for reducing the pigmentation and the positive effect was reported with N6 medium (Elkonin et al. 1995). Moreover, the pigmentation can also be callus morphology dependent with compact embryonic calli more prone to pigmentation (Elkonin et al. 1995) or genotype dependent (Kaeppler and Pederson 1997).

Variable effects of coconut water in the medium were also reported. Addition of coconut water reduced the pigment production and improved callus induction in sorghum genotype P898012 (Carvalho et al. 2004), although there was no positive effect on other genotypes (Kaeppler and Pederson 1996; Nguyen et al. 2007). It is difficult to generalize the effect of complex and natural additives like coconut water. The variability in the composition of coconut water itself can be a major issue, as based on the age of the coconut the composition of the coconut water may differ.

4.5 Physical Treatments

Physical treatment of immature seeds or embryos has been shown to have a positive effect on explant survival and callus formation. A pre-treatment of immature seeds (before dissecting the immature embryo as explants) at 4 °C for 1–3 days resulted in decreased black pigmentation and increased survival of embryos. The pre-treatment for 1 day was found to be optimum, as treatment for more than one day resulted in germination of embryo which reduced the callusing ability (Nguyen et al. 2007). However, no such positive effect of cold treatment was observed on survival or callus induction from P898012 and Tx430. In fact, the cold treatment of spikes for 5 days decreased the frequency of immature embryo survival, callus production, and the expression of GFP (Gurel et al. 2009).

4.6 Genotype Selection

Genotype selection plays an important role in tissue culture as well as transformation. Frequently a genotype that is most responsive to regeneration may not be as efficient for transformation. Therefore, identification of a genotype suitable for both regeneration and transformation is a must. Since the 1990s, several sorghum genotypes have been screened for their response to either regeneration or transformation or both. Among these Tx430 and P898012 have been the most promising genotypes for transformation (Jeoung et al. 2002; Carvalho et al. 2004; Sato et al. 2004; Liu and Godwin 2012; Wu et al. 2014). The accession no. 214856 of the Ethiopian Plant Genetic Resources Center (Addis Ababa) was also reported to be efficient in callus induction and regeneration and was used for particle bombardment (Tadesse et al. 2003). In the Indian context, regeneration in genotypes such as 296B, SSV 84, and M 35-1 has been successful but the regeneration frequency is very low, between 14–18 % (Seetharama et al. 2000). Gupta et al. (2006) screened five S. sudanense and three S. bicolor genotypes using immature embryo and immature inflorescence. The regeneration frequency of S. sudanense was higher (38.91 %) than S. bicolor (26.93 %) and it was proposed that the genotypic effects on regeneration can be minimized by immature inflorescence culture. It was also observed that the extent of variability was more in plant regeneration traits than in callus induction traits (Gupta et al. 2006).

5 Transformation in Sorghum

Agrobacterium tumefaciens, a soil bacterium, has revolutionized the genetic transformation process in plants. Since the first report in the 1980s (Bevan et al. 1983; Fraley et al. 1983; Herrera-Estrella et al. 1983), Agrobacterium has been routinely used for transformation of many plant species. The genus Agrobacterium has a broad host range including many dicots, monocots, and gymnosperms (Gelvin 2003), but initially only dicot plants were considered as the host for *Agrobacterium* and hence monocot plant transformation by *Agrobacterium* progressed at a slow pace. Consequently, alternate methods of transformation were developed such as direct DNA transfer into protoplast and the biolistic method of gene transfer. Moreover, the recalcitrant nature of monocots for regeneration hampered the progress of genetic transformation.

5.1 Transformation by Direct DNA Transfer

In sorghum, the uptake of plasmid DNA by electroporation of sorghum protoplasts and transient expression of chloramphenicol acetyltransferase (CAT) gene was analyzed in 1986 (Ou-Lee et al. 1986). However, the first report of stable integration was published by Battraw and Hall (1991) where direct DNA transfer was carried out by electroporation of sorghum protoplasts and successful integration of NptII or NptII-GUS genes in the genome of resistant calli was shown. In the same year, the biolistic technique for sorghum transformation was first exercised on suspension cell cultures of sorghum by transforming the kanamycin or hygromycin resistance gene along with the GUS reporter gene by Hagio et al. (1991). Subsequently, the first successful transgenic sorghum was developed using particle bombardment of an immature embryo in 1993 (Casas et al. 1993). With this method the initial transformation efficiency of 0.286 % was reported. Later immature inflorescence was also used for sorghum transformation by particle bombardment (Casas et al. 1997). There was almost no significant improvement in transformation efficiency until 2010 as evident from the reported efficiency of 0.545 % in 1998 (Zhu et al. 1998a, b) to 0.77 % in 2010 (Grootbroom et al. 2010). However, efforts were made to optimize the conditions for particle bombardment with respect to choice of explants, promoters, and selection marker. A helium pressure of 1100 or 1300 psi with a target distance of 6 cm gave the highest transient GUS expression for immature embryo and shoot tips (Tadesse et al. 2003). The efficient expression of a gene is also governed by the strength of the promoter. The 35S promoter from cauliflower mosaic virus (CaMV35S) has been the most extensively used promoter for constitutive overexpression of genes. However, it was found that CaMV35S promoter was more suited for dicot species than for monocot species. Therefore, to identify the strong constitutive promoter for expression of heterologous genes in sorghum, a comparative transient GUS expression study with constitutive promoters, namely CaMV35S (dual Cauliflower mosaic virus 35S promoter), Ubi (maize ubiquitin 1), Act1 (rice actin 1), and Adh1 (rice alcohol dehydrogenase 1) was carried out (Hill-Ambroz and Weeks 2001). The expression of *GUS* was very low in the bombarded embryonic tissue and did not reveal any significant difference in the strength of these promoters. Later, Jeoung et al. (2002) carried out transient assays using CaMV35s, Ubi, and HBT promoters using both GUS and GFP as reporter genes. HBT is a chimeric promoter with the 35S enhancer fragment fused to the basal promoter of the C_4 -pyruvate orthophosphate dikinase gene (C4PPDK). The GFP expression by Ubi was highest, followed by CaMV35S, and HBT promoter (Ubi1 > CaMV35S > HBT). The four promoters CaMV35s, Ubi, Act1, and Adh1 analyzed by Hill-Ambroz and Weeks (2001) were compared for transient GUS expression in immature embryos and shoot tips using particle bombardment by Tadesse et al. (2003). Based on the number and size of the blue foci (GUS expression) the strength of the promoters was ranked as ubi1 > act1 D > adh1 > CaMV35S.

The constitutive expression of proteins may not be required and may be undesirable as many a time it results in pleiotropic effects in plants. Moreover, for spatiotemporal-specific genetic modifications it would be essential to have specific promoters. Therefore, to engineer sorghum grain for quality or molecular farming, Ahmad et al. (2012) characterized the promoter of the seed storage α -kafirin gene from sorghum. The α -kafirin promoter (α -kaf) contained endospecificity-determining sperm motifs, prolamin-box, the O2-box 1, CATC, and TATA boxes required for α -kafirin gene expression in sorghum seeds. Two constructs having the GFP reporter gene driven by α -kafirin promoter and constitutive (*Ubiquitin*) promoter were bombarded into various sorghum and sweet corn explants. All the explants bombarded with *Ubi-GFP* showed *GFP* expression, whereas with the α -kaf-GFP construct, *GFP* expression was detected only in seeds. This showed that α -kaf promoter is seed specific and hence can be exploited for seed-specific genetic modifications.

As for the selection marker, initially the NptII selection marker was used (Battraw and Hall 1991; Hagio et al. 1991) but later almost all the reports of the biolistic method of sorghum transformation used Bar as the selection marker gene (Casas et al. 1993, 1997; Zhu et al. 1998a, b). The poor transformation efficiency reported in these cases may be due to the use of Bar as the selection marker. It was shown that regeneration from herbicide-resistant calli gets inhibited due to the release of phenolic substances during (phosphinothricin/bialaphos) herbicide-based selection (Casas et al. 1997; Tadesse et al. 2003), which results in a lower percentage of regenerated plants and hence overall a lower transformation efficiency.

A major leap of 20.7 % transformation efficiency was achieved by Liu and Godwin (2012). The increase in efficiency was attributed to improvement in various aspects of sorghum tissue culture, transformation, and selection strategy which are as follows.

- Basal medium: MS medium containing 4.44 g/L MS powder with Gamborg vitamins, 30 g l⁻¹ sucrose and 8 g l⁻¹ agar
- Genotype: Tx430, a highly transformation efficient genotype
- Explants: Immature embryos
- Callus induction medium (CIM): MS medium supplemented with 1 g l⁻¹ L-proline, 1 g l⁻¹ L-asparagine, 1 g l⁻¹ potassium dihydrogen-phosphate (KH₂PO₄), 0.16 mg l⁻¹ CuSO₄, and 1 mg l⁻¹ 2,4-D
- Osmotic medium: MS medium supplemented with 0.2 M D-sorbitol and 0.2 M D-mannitol
- Regeneration medium: MS medium supplemented with 1 mg l⁻¹ BAP, 1 mg l⁻¹ IAA, and 0.16 mg l⁻¹ CuSO₄



Fig. 1 Development of transgenic sorghum plants by microprojectile method. **a** immature embryo-derived calli used for transformation. **b** Shoot regeneration on selection media after 6 weeks. **c** Root proliferation in putative

 Promoter, reporter, and selection marker gene: Ubiquitin promoter, GFP as reporter gene, *Npt*II as selection marker gene, and geneticin as selective agent

Based on the above modifications, more than 95 % of immature embryos formed callus, \sim 70 % showed regeneration, and of these more than 90 % of transformants were fertile and displayed normal morphology (Fig. 1; Liu and Godwin 2012).

A method of direct DNA transfer in sorghum was proposed by Wang et al. (2007). The method involved transformation of plasmid into the pollen through ultrasonication followed by pollination of

transgenic plantlet after 4 weeks in rooting medium. d putative transgenic plants in glasshouse (Figure reproduced with permission from authors Liu and Godwin 2012)

stigmas of the male sterile line. The stable integration of the gene was analyzed by southern blot thereby confirming the success of the transformation. This is a simple method, however, it suffers from problems common with direct DNA transfer methods such as multicopy insertion, damage of target tissue (pollen) after sonication, and low transformation efficiency.

5.2 Agrobacterium-Mediated Transformation

Among the transformation methods available, *Agrobacterium* remains the first choice for

genetic transformation. This is because direct delivery through particle bombardment results in multicopy insertion and silencing. Moreover, the high cost of instruments and operation (consumables) becomes a hurdle in particle bombardment. *Agrobacterium*-mediated transformation, on other hand, is a low-cost method with low copy and stable insertions. However, genotype specificity and competence for transformation remains a limitation.

The first successful Agrobacterium-mediated production of stably transformed sorghum plants was published by Zhao et al. (2000) with 2.12 % transformation efficiency. The efficiency was further improved incrementally from 3.30 % (Gao et al. 2005b) to 8.3 % (Gurel et al. 2009). To increase the transformation efficiency, several factors including explant competence for transformation, pre-treatment of explants, Agrobacterium strains, promoter selection, and reporter genes were considered. Also when comparing GUS and GFP gene as screenable or reporter genes, GUS was found to be inconsistent in transformed callus or transgenic tissues (Carvalho et al. 2004). A reduction in GUS activity was reported in most of the transgenic plant tissues analyzed, which was attributed to the phenolics released by the sorghum tissues. GFP was superior to the GUS gene as a reporter gene for both transient and stable transformation of sorghum (Jeoung et al. 2002). Among selectable markers, hygromycin phosphotransferase (hph) was efficient in discriminating the transformed and nontransformed calli and seedlings (Carvalho et al. 2004).

The use of drug resistance and herbicide resistance marker genes for transgenic development has issues of public acceptance and biosafety. There is concern for use of drug resistance marker genes as it is anticipated that the drug resistance gene may be transferred to infectious bacteria, rendering the antibiotics ineffective for human and animal health applications. The horizontal transfer of an herbicide resistance gene from sorghum to the weedy relative, Johnsongrass (*S. halepense* [L.] Pers.), can be a major concern. Therefore, to address this issue Gao et al. (2005b) successfully used *phosphomannose*

isomerase (PMI) gene from *Escherisia coli* as the selectable marker and mannose as the selective agent for sorghum transformation. The PMI gene catalyzes the reversible isomerization of mannose-6-phosphate to fructose-6-phosphate which enables growth on mannose-containing media. It also reduces the chances of accumulation of the inhibitory or derivative agents (Joersbo et al. 1998). The concentration of mannose required for the efficient selection of sorghum was the same as that reported for maize, but twofold less than that used for rice and twofold more than that used for wheat selection (Gao et al. 2005b).

Among *Agrobacterium* strains EHA105, EHA101, LBA4404, and AGL1 (Jeoung et al. 2002; Carvalho et al. 2004; Gao et al. 2005b) in combination with supervirulent binary vectors containing the *virB*, *virC*, and *virG* genes (pTOK233; Carvalho et al. 2004), hypervirulent pTiBo542 (Jeoung et al. 2002), PHP149, PHP166, and PHP32269 (Wu et al. 2014) were used for sorghum transformation.

Various physical treatments of explants to increase the competence for Agrobacterium transformation were explored. An increase in the transformation efficiency to 5 % was reported by cold pre-treatment of immature seeds due to improved callus formation and survival (Nguyen et al. 2007), and a pre-treatment of immature embryos at 45 °C for 3 min and cooling to 25 °C before Agrobacterium infection improved the efficiency to 8.3 % in sorghum variety P898012 (Gurel et al. 2009). Recently, a significant increase (33 %) in transformation frequencies was reported in sorghum (Wu et al. 2014). Such a significant increase in transformation efficiency was based on already available leads and some new modifications. They used immature embryos of sorghum variety TX430 as the target tissue which is known for high transformation efficiency. The seven-step procedure described by Wu et al. (2014) is as follows.

 Agrobacterium infection: Infect freshly isolated embryos with Agrobacterium (either AGL1 or LBA4404) suspension (OD = 0.7 at 550 nm) in PHI-I (medium composition "treatment c"; Zhao et al. 2000) medium for 5 min.

- 2. Cocultivation: Culture the infected embryos on PHI-T medium for 4–7 d at 25 °C in the dark.
- 3. Resting: Transfer the infected embryos to DBC3 medium (Cho et al. 1998) plus 100 mg/l carbenicillin (for LBA4404) or 100 mg l^{-1} cefotaxime and 150 mg l^{-1} timentin (for AGL1) for 7–10 d at 28 °C in the dark for resting.
- Selection: Start selection on 14th day post-infection on DBC3 plus appropriate selection for Agrobacterium strain. For imposing selection:
 - (a) Add 12.5 g l^{-1} mannose and reduce the maltose concentration to 5 g l^{-1} if using PMI as the selection marker, or add 3 mg l^{-1} bialaphos if moPAT is used as the selection marker.
 - (b) Subculture on fresh medium every 2–3 wk for a total duration of approximately 2.5–3 mo.
- 5. Shoot development: Culture on PHI-XM medium for 2–3 wk in the dark, and then for one wk under light.
- 6. Root development: Culture on PHI-Z medium for 2–3 wk in the light.
- 7. Transplant the regenerated plantlets into soil for growth to maturity and seed production.

There were two major determinants for the increase in transformation efficiency, medium composition during cocultivation and regeneration, and choice of *Agrobacterium* strain (Wu et al. 2014). The medium DBC3 (Cho et al. 1998) which was primarily described for barley transformation, was used during resting and selection steps. Because use of DBC3 during cocultivation lowered the transformation frequencies, cocultivation was carried out on PHI-T medium (without copper and BAP). This modification was proposed as the most important component that significantly improved the sorghum transformation efficiency. The second factor was the use of *Agrobacterium* strain

AGL1. Use of this strain resulted in about 30 % transformation efficiency, whereas LBA4404 gave an average transformation frequency of 9.7 % (Wu et al. 2014). The authors used two different selectable markers, *phosphomannose isomerase* (*PMI*) and codon modified *phosphinothricin acetyltransferase* (*moPAT*). The high-throughput transformation revealed that there was no significant effect of selection markers, *moPAT* and *PMI*, on sorghum transformation efficiency (Wu et al. 2014).

6 Sorghum Improvement Through Genetic Transformation

6.1 Insect-Pest Resistance

There are at least 150 insect species reported as pests of sorghum worldwide (Guo et al. 2011). Among these, spotted stem borer (Chilo partellus), shoot-fly (Atherigona soccata), and aphids are the major challenges for sorghum productivity. Stem borer attacks the young crop and feeds in the whorl and damages the shoot apical meristem leading to deadheart. Deadhearts can terminate plant growth and development or result in excessive tillers that are barren. Stem tunneling can result in lodging. Girijashankar et al. (2005) developed transgenic sorghum plants resistant to spotted stem borer by expressing a synthetic cry1Ac gene from Bacillus thuringiensis (*Bt*). The gene was driven by а wound-inducible promoter from the maize protease inhibitor gene (mpiC1). The transgenic plants expressed the Cry protein at low levels (1 and 8 ng Bt protein per gram of fresh leaf tissue) after 12 h of mechanical wounding. The leaf disc insect bioassays of the transgenic plant with the neonate larvae of the spotted stem borer led to 60 % reduction in leaf damage, 40 % larval mortality, and the surviving larvae showed 36 % reduction in weight over those fed on control plants. However, the shoot bioassays on two lines that showed high resistance in leaf disc assay recorded insect mortality of <25 %. There was no significant difference in the weight of the surviving larvae reared on transgenic lines from those reared on nontransgenic control plants and that was evident by actively tunneling inside the transgenic shoots by the surviving larvae. This suggests that a threshold level of insecticidal protein expression in the transgenic plant is required to achieve a higher level of resistance against insect pest. Recently, 14 independent transgenic lines carrying two different classes of B. thuringiensis toxin genes, cry1Aa and cry1B, were developed in two elite parental lines, CS3541 and 296B (Visarada et al. 2014). The transgenic plants expressed Bt protein in the range of 35–500 ng g^{-1} fresh leaf tissue. In leaf bioassays, the transgenic plants showed 55–78 %less leaf damage as compared to nontransgenic controls. In whole plant assays, transgenic sorghum expressing the Bt gene showed significantly less leaf damage and reduced stem tunneling (2.4-31.5 %) compared to that of control (50-60 %).

6.2 Disease Resistance

Chitinase and chitosanases are the most commonly used candidate genes for engineering fungal resistance in plants. Chitinases endolytically hydrolyze the β -1, 4-linkages of chitin, a major component of fungal cell walls, whereas hydrolyze chitosanases the β -1,4-linkages N-acetyl-D-glucosamine between and D-glucosamine residues in a partially acetylated chitin polymer. Initial efforts for improving fungal resistance in sorghum were made by introducing the rice chitinase gene G11 in sorghum (Zhu et al. 1998a, b). Later Krishnaveni et al. (2001) reported that constitutive expression of a gene encoding a class I rice chitinase in sorghum conferred increased resistance to the stalk rot caused by the Fusarium thapsinu fungus. To impart resistance to anthracnose, a fungal disease caused by Colletotrichum sublineolum, transgenic sorghum plants harboring both chitinase (harchit) and chitosanase (harcho) from Trichoderma harzianum were developed in Kenyan genotype KAT 412 (Kosambo-Ayoo et al. 2011). The infection assays on excised leaf segments and in one-week-old seedlings revealed that transgenic line KOSA-1 was significantly more tolerant to anthracnose than the parent wild-type, KAT 412.

6.3 Drought and Salt Tolerance

To engineer sorghum for drought and salt tolerance sorghum plants expressing the bacterial *mannitol-1-phosphate dehydrogenase (mtlD)* gene were developed in genotype SPV 462 (Maheswari et al. 2010). The transgenic leaf segment showed better leaf water retention under PEG 8000 and showed higher germination rate under 200 mM NaCl stress as compared to that of nontransgenic plants. The transgenic seedlings showed higher root and shoot lengths after 15 days of NaCl stress and significant stress recovery in both root and shoot length.

Taking the lead from the enhanced abiotic stress tolerance of rice transgenics expressing OsCDPK-7 (calcium-dependent protein kinases; Saijo et al. 2000), sorghum transgenic plants constitutively expressing OsCDPK-7 were developed (Mall et al. 2011). CDPKs sense modulations in cellular calcium levels that occur due to exposure of plants to different environmental stresses. The transgenic sorghum plants did not show any improvement in cold or salt stress over nontransgenic control. Moreover, the transgenic plants bore a lesion mimic phenotype and showed upregulation of a number of pathogen-related proteins. Inasmuch as CDPKs are involved in a number of cellular signaling pathways (Schulz et al. 2013), their constitutive overexpression can lead to pleiotropic effects in plants. The species-specific background may have a role as success of OsCDPK transgenics in rice could not be re-created with sorghum.

6.4 Nutritional Quality

The major concern with sorghum grain is its lower nutritive quality due to its low content of essential amino acids such as lysine, and lower wet-cooked digestibility of its protein as compared to other cereals (Grootboom et al. 2014). This results in sorghum having a very low protein digestibility corrected amino acid score (PDCAAS). By improving the nutritive quality of the sorghum grain, a major issue of malnutrition in developing countries can be addressed. To increase the lysine content in grain, a high lysine gene, *HTl2*, encoding α -hordothionin protein from Hordeum vulgare that contains 27 % lysine residues, was expressed in sorghum under the control of 27 KD maize y-zein promoter. To develop marker-free transgenic plants a cotransformation vector strategy with a superbinary vector containing two unlinked T-DNA cassettes, one carrying the lysine-rich HTl2 gene and another with the herbicideresistant Bar gene as selectable marker was used (Zhao et al. 2003). Three of the transgenic lines expressed high lysine content and one of the event (P898012-3) showed segregation of the Bar and HTl2 genes. A 40-60 % increase in lysine was reported in the hemizygous seeds of this event (Zhao et al. 2003).

Another approach to increase lysine content in grain was based on the study in maize where it was found that altered expression of plant lysyl tRNA synthetase may promote tRNA misacylation and translational recoding of lysine thereby significantly enriching the lysine content of grain (Wu et al. 2007). Using a cotransformation strategy, two plasmids, pZY101-TC2 (altered tRNA^{lys}) and *pZY101-SKRS* (sorghum lysyl tRNA synthetase), containing Bar and target gene(s) in separate T-DNA regions were used for generating marker-free transgenic sorghum plants (Lu et al. 2009). The analysis of selected T1 progeny revealed independent segregation of these genes and generation of marker-free sorghum transgenic plants. However, no analysis of lysine content in the transgenic grains was reported in the mentioned study.

The poor digestibility of sorghum grain protein has been attributed to the nature and arrangement of the kafirin storage proteins. The α -, β -, and γ -kafirins constitute about 70–80 % of total endosperm protein. Among these, α -kafirins comprise about 80 % of total kafirin endosperm proteins. The α -kafirins are located in the center and are surrounded by β - and γ -kafirins at the

periphery of the protein body. The arrangement and the increased crosslinking through disulphide bonds of β - and γ -kafirins block access to the more digestible α -kafirin core (Oria et al. negatively 2000), thereby affecting the digestibility of the cooked and uncooked sorghum (Wong et al. 2009). Therefore, it was postulated that reduction in γ -kafirins might increase the digestibility. In addition to poor protein quality and undigestibility, the viscoelasticity or the functionality of sorghum dough is also a major problem for end-use food and feed purposes. Therefore, to target both digestibility and functionality, Kumar et al. (2012) generated three types of transgenic lines. Two independent sets of transgenic lines with reduced γ-kafirin, or 29-kDa α-kafirin storage protein to increase the digestibility, and a third set of transgenic lines with expression of wheat Dy10/Dx5, a hybrid high-molecular-weight glutenin protein, to increase the viscoelasticity of the dough. The downregulation of γ -kafirin alone did not affect the protein digestibility of cooked flour samples. However, reduction in accumulation of 29-kDa α-kafirin resulted in distortion of protein bodies and enhanced protein digestibility in both raw and cooked samples. In another study, cosuppression of kafirin subclasses α -, γ -, and δ-kafirin increased cooked the protein digestibility by 30 %, improved the amino acid score by 0.4, and protein digestibility corrected amino acid score by 0.5 compared to the nontransgenic (Da Silva et al. 2011). But the study showed that suppression of fewer subclasses (i.e., γ 1 and δ 2) did not improve the cooked protein digestibility significantly. Conversely, Grootboom et al. (2014) reported that cosuppression of only two genes, y-kafirin-1 (25 kDa) and γ -kafirin-2 (50 kDa), significantly increased sorghum in vitro digestibility of transgenic lines (39.2 %) as compared to control (28.5 %). The cosuppression of a-kafirin A1 (25 kDa), in addition to the two genes in the study increases the digestibility further (53.7 %) as compared to control. In both the above studies grains of the transgenic lines had floury endosperm.

Tannin present in the pigmented testa of some sorghum cultivars is one of the factors that

reduces protein digestibility. However, presence of tannin is also associated with grain mold resistance in sorghum and human health benefits due to antioxidant activity. Therefore, an optimum level that meets the requirement of plants as well as human health would be ideal. Wu et al. (2012) reported cloning of the *Tannin1* (*Tan1*) gene by fine mapping through metaquantitative trait locus (QTL) analysis. The study identified two nonfunctional alleles of Tan1 (tan1-a and *tan1-b*) with 1 and 10 bp deletion in exons of the WD40 gene resulting in a nontannin phenotype. Based on end use, this gene can be exploited through molecular breeding and transgenic approach for custom designing of sorghum genotypes.

Efforts were also made to develop biofortified sorghum lines with increased provitamin A content. The transgenic sorghum contained about twofold to ninefold higher β -carotene content based on a dry weight basis (DW). A carotenoid bioaccessibility test revealed that transgenic sorghum event Homo188-A contained the highest (fourfold to eightfold higher) bioaccessible β -carotene content, as compared to nontransgenic sorghum (Lipkie et al. 2013). Detailed genomic approaches of quality improvement are elaborated in Chap. 10.

7 Conclusion and Future Prospective

Improvement of sorghum for food and nutritional security of millions of people from Asia and Africa is a necessity. The improvement can be brought about by a combination of conventional and molecular breeding, and biotechnological approaches. Sorghum, which was known for its recalcitrant nature for regeneration and transformation, is slowly coming off its tag. The regeneration process has been optimized and the transformation efficiency up to 20 and 30 % has been realized by the biolistic method and *Agrobacterium*-mediated genetic transformation of sorghum, respectively. Significant progress has been made in increasing the protein quality, digestibility, and biofortification of sorghum.

However, traits such as insect pest resistance still remain a challenge due to lack of resistance sources in the germplasm. Although transgenic sorghum harboring Bt genes has been developed, yet the level of resistance may not be substantial in actual field conditions. Therefore, expression levels need to be increased. There is a need to identify tissue-specific strong promoters to improve the tissue-specific expression levels as constitutive expression may not be desired in all cases. The success in generating marker-free sorghum transgenic has been encouraging. A proof of concept for genome editing in sorghum (Jiang et al. 2013) has opened new avenues for basic as well as applied research in sorghum. Sorghum is mostly self-pollinated; however, 0.6-6 % cross-pollination does occur depending on wind, flowering time, species, and so on. There have been studies where gene flow from cultivated to wild and vice versa have been reported (Schmidt and Bothma 2006; Tesso et al. 2008). Africa is the place of origin and diversity of sorghum. Therefore, permission, acceptance, and sustaining these engineered sorghums in Africa at present remains debatable. Nevertheless success in sorghum transformation would be immensely useful in gene discovery and crop improvement. Progress in sorghum transformation has opened up avenues for functional analysis of identified genes through overexpression, genome editing and knock-out studies.

References

- Ahmad N, Sant R, Bokan M, Steadman KJ, Godwin ID (2012) Expression pattern of the alpha-kafi rin promoter coupled with a signal peptide from *Sorghum bicolor* L. Moench J Biomed Biotechnol 2012:1–8
- Baskaran P, Rajeswari BR, Jayabalan N (2006) Development of an *in vitro* regeneration system in sorghum [Sorghum bicolor (l.) Moench] using root transverse thin cell layers (tTCLs). Turk J Bot 30:1–9
- Battraw M, Hall YC (1991) Stable transformation of Sorghum bicolor protoplasts with chimeric neomycin phosphotransferase II and β-glucuronidase genes. Theor Appl Genet 82:161–168
- Bevan MW, Flavell RB, Chilton MD (1983) A chimeric antibiotic resistance gene as a selectable marker for plant cell transformation. Nature 304:184–187

- Brandizzi F, Irons S, Kearns A, Hawes C (2003) BY-2 cells: culture and transformation for live cell imaging. Curr Protoc Cell Biol 19:1.7.1–1.7.16
- Cai T, Butler L (1990) Plant-regeneration from embryogenic callus initiated from immature inflorescences of several high-tannin sorghums. Plant Cell Tiss Org Cult 20:101–110
- Can ND, Nakamura S, Haryanto TAD, Yoshida T (1998) Effects of physiological status of parent plants and culture medium composition on the anther culture of sorghum. Plant Prod Sci 1:211–215
- Carvalho CHS, Zehr UB, Gunaratna N, Anderson J, Kononowicz HH, Hodges TK, Axtell JD (2004) Agrobacterium-mediated transformation of sorghum: factors that affect transformation efficiency. Genet Mol Biol 27:259–269
- Casas AM, Kononowicz AK, Haan TG, Zhang LY, Tomes DT, Bressan RA, Hasegawa PM (1997) Transgenic sorghum plants obtained after microprojectile bombardment of immature inflorescences. In Vitro Cell Dev Biol Plant 33:92–100
- Casas AM, Kononowicz AK, Zehr UB, Tomes DT, Axtell John D, Butlers Larry G, Bressan Ray A, Hasegawa Paul M (1993) Transgenic sorghum plants via microprojectile bombardment. Agric Sci 90:11212–11216
- Cho MJ, Jiang W, Lemaux PG (1998) Transformation of recalcitrant barley cultivars through improvement of regenerability and decreased albinism. Plant Sci 138:229–244
- Clough SJ, Bent AF (1998) Floral dip: a simplified method for *Agrobacterium*-mediated transformation of *Arabidopsis thaliana*. Plant J 16:735–743
- Da Silva LS, Taylor J, Taylor JRN (2011) Transgenic sorghum with altered kafi rin synthesis: Kafi rin solubility, polymerization, and protein digestion. J Agric Food Chem 59:9265–9270
- Elkonin LA, Pakhomova NV (2000) Influence of nitrogen and phosphorus on induction embryogenic callus of sorghum. Plant Cell Tiss Org Cult 61:115–123
- Elkonin IA, Lopushanskaya RF, Pakhomova NV (1995) Initiation and maintenance of friable, embryogenic callus of sorghum (*Sorghum bicolor* (L.) Moench) by amino acids. Maydica 40:153–157
- Fraley RT, Rogers SG, Horsch RB, Sanders PR, Flick JS, Adams SP, Bittner ML, Brand LA, Fink CL, Fry JS et al (1983) Expression of bacterial genes in plant cells. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 80:4803–4807
- Gaj T, Gersbach CA, Barbas CF (2013) ZFN, TALEN, and CRISPR/Cas-based methods for genome engineering. Trends Biotechnol 31:397–405
- Gao Z, Jayaraj J, Muthukrishnan S, Claflin L, Liang GH (2005a) Efficient genetic transformation of Sorghum using a visual screening marker. Genome 48(2):321– 333
- Gao Z, Xie X, Ling Y, Muthukrishnan S, Liang GH (2005b) Agrobacterium tumefaciens-mediated sor-

ghum transformation using a mannose selection system. Plant Biotechnol J 3:591–599

- Gelvin SB (2003) Agrobacterium-mediated plant transformation: the biology behind the "gene-jockeying" tool. Microbiol Mol Biol Rev 67:16–37
- Girijashankar V, Sharma HC, Sharma KK, Swathisree V, Prasad LS, Bhat BV, Royer M, Secundo BS, Narasu ML, Altosaar I, Seetharama N (2005) Development of transgenic sorghum for insect resistance against the spotted stem borer (*Chilo partellus*). Plant Cell Rep 24:513–522
- Grootboom AW, Mkhonza NL, Mbambo Z, O'Kennedy MM, da Silva LS, Taylor J, Taylor JR, Chikwamba R, Mehlo L (2014) Co-suppression of synthesis of major α-kafirin sub-class together with γ-kafirin-1 and γ-kafirin-2 required for substantially improved protein digestibility in transgenic sorghum. Plant Cell Rep 33:521–537
- Grootboom AW, Mkhonza NL, O'Kennedy MM, Chakauya E, Kunert K, Chikwamba RK (2010) Biolistic mediated sorghum *(Sorghum bicolor L.* Moench) transformation via mannose and bialaphos based selection systems. Int J Bot 6:89–94
- Guo C, Cui W, Feng X, Zhao J, Lu G (2011) Sorghum insect problems and management. J Integr Plant Biol 53:178–192
- Gupta S, Khanna VK, Singh R, Garg GK (2006) Strategies for overcoming genotypic limitations of in vitro regeneration and determination of genetic components of variability of plant regeneration traits in sorghum. Plant Cell Tiss Organ Cult 86:379–388
- Gurel S, Gurel E, Miller TI, Lemaux PG (2012) Agrobacterium-mediated transformation of Sorghum bicolor using immature embryos. Methods Mol Biol 47:109–122
- Gurel S, Gurel E, Kaur R, Wong J, Meng L, Tan H-Q, Lemaux PG (2009) Efficient, reproducible Agrobacterium-mediated transformation of sorghum using heat treatment of immature embryos. Plant Cell Rep 28:429–444
- Hagio T, Blowers AD, Earle ED (1991) Stable transformation of sorghum cell cultures after bombardment with DNA-coated microprojectiles. Plant Cell Rep 10:260–264
- Harshavardhan D, Rani TS, Ulaganathan K, Seetarama N (2002) An improved protocol for regeneration of *Sorghum bicolor* from isolated shoot apices. Plant Biotechnol 19:163–171
- Herrera-Estrella L, DeBlock M, Messens E, Hernalsteens JP, Van Montagu M, Schell J (1983) Chimeric genes as dominant selectable markers in plant cells. EMBO J 2:987–996
- Hill Ambroz KL, Weeks JT (2001) Comparison of constitutive promoters for sorghum transformation. Cereal Res Commun 29:17–24
- Howe A, Sato S, Dweikat I, Fromm M, Clemente T (2006) Rapid and reproducible *Agrobacterium*-

mediated transformation of sorghum. Plant Cell Rep 25:784–791

- Jeoung JM, Krishnaveni S, Muthukrishnan S, Trick HN, Liang GH (2002) Optimization of sorghum transformation parameters using genes for green fluorescent protein and beta-glucuronidase as visual markers. Hereditas 137:20–28
- Jiang W, Zhou H, Bi H, Fromm M, Yang B, Weeks DP (2013) Demonstration of CRISPR/Cas9/sgRNA-mediated targeted gene modification in Arabidopsis, tobacco, sorghum and rice. Nucleic Acids Res 41:e188
- Joersbo M, Donaldson I, Kreibery J, Petersen SG, Brunstedt J, Okkels FT (1998) Analysis of mannose selection used for transformation of sugar beet. Mol Breed 4:111–117
- Jogeswar G, Ranadheer D, Anjaiah V, KaviKishor PB (2007) High frequency somatic embryogenesis and regeneration in different genotypes of *Sorghum bicolor* (L.) Moench from immature inflorescence explants. In vitro Cell Dev Biol Plant 43:159–166
- Kaeppler HF, Pedersen JF (1997) Evaluation of 41 elite and exotic inbred Sorghum genotypes for high quality callus production. Plant Cell Tiss Organ Cult 48:71– 75
- Kaeppler HF, Pedersen JF (1996) Media effects on phenotype of callus cultures initiated from photoperiod-insensitive elite inbred sorghum lines. Maydica 41:83–89
- Kosambo-Ayoo LM, Bader M, Loerz H, Becker D (2011) Transgenic sorghum (Sorghum bicolor L. Moench) developed by transformation with chitinase and chitosanase genes from Trichoderma harzianum expresses tolerance to anthracnose. Afri J Biotechnol 10:3659–3670
- Krishnaveni S, Joeung JM, Muthukrishnan S, Liang GH (2001) Transgenic sorghum plants constitutively expressing a rice chitinase gene show improved resistance to stalk rot. J Genet Breed 55:151–158
- Kumar T, Dweikat I, Sato S, Ge Z, Nersesian N, Chen H, Elthon T, Bean S, Ioerger BP, Tilley M, Clemente T (2012) Modulation of kernel storage proteins in grain sorghum (*Sorghum bicolor* (L.) Moench). Plant Biotechnol J 10:533–544
- Kumaravadivel N, Rangasamy S (1994) Plant regeneration from sorghum anther cultures and field evaluation of progeny. Plant Cell Rep 13:286–290
- Lipkie TE, De Moura FF, Zhao ZY, Albertsen MC, Che P, Glassman K, Ferruzzi MG (2013) Bioaccessibility of carotenoids from transgenic provitamin A biofortified sorghum. J Agric Food Chem 61:5764– 5771
- Liu G, Godwin ID (2012) Highly efficient sorghum transformation. Plant Cell Rep 31:999–1007
- Liu G, Gilding EK, Godwin ID (2013) Additive effects of three auxins and copper on sorghum *in vitro* root induction. In vitro Cell Dev Biol Plant 49:191–197
- Lu L, Wu X, Yin X, Morrand J, Chen X, Folk WR, Zhang ZJ (2009) Development of marker-free transgenic sorghum [Sorghum bicolor (L.) Moench] using

standard binary vectors with bar as a selectable marker. Plant Cell Tissue Organ Cult 99:97–108

- Ma L, Lukasik E, Gawehns F, Takken FL (2012) The use of agroinfiltration for transient expression of plant resistance and fungal effector proteins in Nicotiana benthamiana leaves. Methods Mol Biol 835:61–74
- MacKinnon C, Gunderson G, Nabors MW (1987) High efficiency plant regeneration by somatic embryogenesis from callus of mature embryo explants of bread wheat (*Triticum aestivum*) and grain sorghum (*Sorghum bicolor*). Vitro Cell Dev Biol Plant 23:443–448
- Maheswari M, Jyothilakshmi N, Yadav SK, Varalaxmi Y, Vijaya Lakshmi A, Vanaja M, Venkateswarlu B (2006) Efficient plant regeneration from shoot apices of *Sorghum*. Biol Plant 50:741–744
- Maheswari M, Varalaxmi Y, Vijayalakshmi A, Yadav SK, Sharmila P, Venkateswarlu B, Vanaja M, Saradhi PP (2010) Metabolic engineering using mtlD gene enhances tolerance to water deficit and salinity in sorghum. Biol Plant 54:647–652
- Mall TK, Dweikat I, Sato SJ, Neresian N, Xu K, Ge Z, Wang D, Elthon T, Clemente T (2011) Expression of the rice CDPK-7 in sorghum: molecular and phenotypic analyses. Plant Mol Biol 75:467–479
- Maralappanavar MS, Kuruvinashetti MS, Harti CC (2000) Regeneration, establishment and evaluation of somaclones in *Sorghum bicolor* (L.) Moench. Euphytica 115:173–180
- Mok MC, Mok DWS, Armstrong DJ, Shudo K, Isogai Y, Okamoto T (1982) Cytokinin activity of *N*-phenyl-*N*'-1, 2, 3-thiadiazol-5-ylurea (Thidiazuron). Phytochemistry 21:1509–1511
- Murashige T, Skoog F (1962) A revised medium for rapid growth and bioassays with tobacco tissue cultures. Physiol Plant 15:473–497
- Nguyen T-V, Thu TT, Claeys M, Angenon G (2007) Agrobacterium-mediated transformation of sorghum (Sorghum bicolor (L.) Moench) using an improved in vitro regeneration system. Plant Cell Tiss Organ Cult 91:155–164
- Nirwan RS, Kothari SL (2003) High copper levels improve callus induction and plant regeneration in *Sorghum bicolor* (L.) Moench. Vitro Cell Dev Biol Plant 39:161–164
- Nirwan RS, Kothari SL (2004) High frequency shoot organogenesis in *Sorghum bicolor* (L.). J Plant Biochem Biotechnol 13:149–152
- Oria MP, Hamaker BR, Axtell JD, Huang CP (2000) A highly digestible sorghum mutant cultivar exhibits a unique folded structure of endosperm protein bodies. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 97:5065–5070
- Ou-Lee T, Turgeon R, Wu R (1986) Expression of a foreign gene linked to either a plant-virus or a Drosophila promoter, after electroporation of protoplasts of rice, wheat and sorghum. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 83:6815–6819
- Paterson AH, Bowers JE, Bruggmann R, Dubchak I, Grimwood J, Gundlach H, Haberer G, Hellsten U, Mitros T, Poliakov A, Schmutz J, Spannagl M, Tang H, Wang X, Wicker T, Bharti AK, Chapman J,

Feltus FA, Gowik U, Grigoriev IV, Lyons E, Maher CA, Martis M, Narechania A, Otillar RP, Penning BW, Salamov AA, Wang Y, Zhang L, Carpita NC, Freeling M, Gingle AR, Hash CT, Keller B, Klein P, Kresovich S, McCann MC, Ming R, Peterson DG, Mehboob-ur-Rahman Ware D, Westhoff P, Mayer KF, Messing J, Rokhsar DS (2009) The *Sorghum bicolor* genome and the diversification of grasses. Nature 457:551–556

- Pola SR, Saradamani N (2006) Somatic embryogenesis and plantlet regeneration in *Sorghum bicolor*(L.) Moench from leaf segments. J Cell Mol Biol 5:99–107
- Sai Kishore N, Visarada KB, Aravinda Lakshmi Y, Pashupatinath E, Rao SV, Seetharama N (2006) *In vitro* culture methods in sorghum with shoot tip as the explant material. Plant Cell Rep 25:174–182
- Saijo Y, Hata S, Kyozuka J, Shimamoto K, Izui K (2000) Overexpression of a single Ca₂-dependent protein kinase confers both cold and salt/drought tolerance on rice plants. Plant J 23:319–327
- Sairam RV, Seetharama N, Devi PS, Verma A, Murthy UR, Potrykus I (1999) Plant regeneration from mesophyll protoplasts in sorghum [Sorghum bicolor (L.) Moench]. Plant Cell Rep 18:972–977
- Sato S, Clemente T, Dweikat I (2004) Identifi cation of an elite sorghum genotype with high in vitro performance capacity. In Vitro Cell Dev Biol Plant 40:57–60
- Schmidt M, Bothma G (2006) Risk assessment for transgenic sorghum in Africa: crop-to-crop gene flow in Sorghum bicolor (L.) Moench. Crop Sci 46:790– 798
- Schulz P, Herde M, Romeis T (2013) Calcium-Dependent Protein Kinases: Hubs in Plant Stress Signaling and Development. Plant Physiol 163:523–530
- Scott A, Wyatt S, Tsou PL, Robertson D, Allen NS (1999) Model system for plant cell biology: GFP imaging in living onion epidermal cells. BioTechnique 26:1128–1132
- Seetharama N, Sairam RV, Rani TS (2000) Regeneration of sorghum from shoot tip cultures and field performance of the progeny. Plant Cell Tiss Organ Cult 61:169–173
- Tadesse Y, Sagi L, Swennen R, Jacobs M (2003) Optimization of transformation conditions and production of transgenic sorghum (*Sorghum bicolor*) via microparticle bombardment. Plant Cell Tissue Organ Cult 75:1–18
- Tesso T, Kapran I, Grenier C, Snow A, Sweeney P (2008) The potential for crop-to-wild gene flow in sorghum in Ethiopia and Niger: a geographic survey. Crop Sci 38:1425–1431
- The Arabidopsis Genome Initiative (2000) Analysis of the genome sequence of the flowering plant *Arabidopsis thaliana*. Nature 408:796–815
- The International Rice Genome Sequence Project (2005) The map-based sequence of the rice genome. Nature 436:793–800

- Visarada KBRS, Padmaja PG, Saikishore N, Pashupatinath E, Royer M, Seetharama N, Patil JV (2014) Production and evaluation of transgenic sorghum for resistance to stem borer. Vitro Cell Dev Biol Plant 50:176–189
- Wang W, Wang J, Yang C, Li Y, Liu L, Xu J (2007) Pollen-mediated transformation of *Sorghum bicolor* plants. Biotechnol Appl Biochem 48:79–83
- Wong JH, Lau T, Cai N, Singh J, Pedersen JF, Vensel WH (2009) Digestibility of protein and starch from sorghum (Sorghum bicolor) is linked to biochemical and structural features of grain endosperm. J Cereal Sci 49:73–82
- Wu XR, Kenzior A, Willmot D, Scanlon S, Chen Z, Topin A, He SH, Acevedo A, Folk WR (2007) Altered expression of plant lysyl tRNA synthetase promotes tRNA misacylation and translational recoding of lysine. Plant J 50:627–636
- Wu Y, Li X, Xiang W, Zhu C, Lin Z, Wu Y, Li J, Pandravada S, Ridder DD, Bai G, Wang ML, Trick HN, Bean SR, Tuinstra MR, Tesso TT, Yu J (2012) Presence of tannins in sorghum grains is conditioned by different natural alleles of *Tannin1*. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 109:10281–10286
- Wu E, Lenderts B, Glassman K, Berezowska-Kaniewska M, Christensen H, Asmus T, Zhen S, Chu U, Cho MJ, Zhao ZY (2014) Optimized Agrobacterium-mediated sorghum transformation protocol and molecular data of transgenic sorghum plants. Vitro Cell Dev Biol Plant 50:9–18
- Yoo SD, Cho YH, Sheen J (2007) Arabidopsis mesophyll protoplasts: a versatile cell system for transient gene expression analysis. Nat Protoc 2:1565–1572
- Zhao ZY, Cai TS, Tagliani L, Miller M, Wang N, Pang H, Rudert M, Schroeder S, Hondred D, Seltzer J, Pierce D (2000) Agrobacterium-mediated sorghum transformation. Plant Mol Biol 44:789–798
- Zhao Z-Y, Glassman K, Sewalt V, Wang N, Miller M, Chang S, Thompson T, Catron S, Wu E, Bidney D, Kedebe Y, Jung R (2003) Nutritionally improved sorghum transgenic. In: Vasil IK (ed) Plant biotechnology 2002 and beyond. Kluwer Academic Dordrecht, The Netherlands Publishers, pp 413–416
- Zhong H, Wang W, Sticklen M (1998) *In vitro* morphogenesis of *Sorghum bicolor* (L.) Moench: efficient plant regeneration from shoot apices. J Plant Physiol 153:719–726
- Zhu H, Muthukrishnan S, Krishnaveni S, Wilde G, Jeoung JM, Liang GH (1998a) Biolistic transformation of sorghum using a rice chitinase gene. J Genet Breed 52:243–252
- Zhu H, Muthukrishnan S, Krishnaveni S, Wilde G, Jeoung J-M, Liang GH (1998b) Biolistic transformation of sorghum using a rice chitinase gene. J Genet Breed 52:243–252

Cloning of Economically Significant Sorghum Mutant Genes

13

Sandeep R. Marla

Abstract

Mutations, occurring either naturally or induced, are permanent alterations of the nucleotide sequence in organisms. These alterations occurring throughout the evolution of a species are responsible for creating immense genetic diversity. Such natural variation generated by mutations has been selected and extensively utilized in crop improvement in several agronomically important crops. In sorghum, mutations producing key agronomic traits such as nonshattering, dwarfing, photoperiod insensitivity, improved protein digestibility, and brown midrib phenotype resulted in establishment of sorghum as the fifth major cereal crop of the world. In addition to successful utilization of these mutations in breeding, understanding the mechanistic basis underlying these traits is equally important to assist in trait advancement. Hence, mutations underlying important agronomic traits were identified using approaches such as positional or map-based cloning, candidate-gene approach, and whole genome sequencing. This chapter provides an overview of key sorghum mutations that resulted in evolution of sorghum as a major source of food, forage, and bioenergy. Additionally, cloning strategies used to identify the underlying mutations and mechanistic basis of the phenotype of interest are discussed. Identification of mutations underlying agriculturally important traits can assist in developing molecular markers to enable precise introgression of selected traits into elite inbreds used in sorghum improvement programs.

Present Address:

S.R. Marla (🖂)

Department of Agronomy, Kansas State University, Manhattan, KS 66506, USA e-mail: smarla@ksu.edu

S.R. Marla Department of Botany and Plant Pathology, Purdue University, West Lafayette, IN 47906, USA

1 Introduction

Sorghum (Sorghum bicolor) is an important cereal grain crop that originated $\sim 10,000$ years ago in the subtropical regions of Africa. From its center of origin in Africa, sorghum was distributed to China, India, the Middle East, and the

© Springer International Publishing AG 2016 S. Rakshit and Y.-H. Wang (eds.), *The Sorghum Genome*, Compendium of Plant Genomes, DOI 10.1007/978-3-319-47789-3_13

S.R. Marla

United States. Movement of sorghum across a diverse range of climates, from the tropics to the temperate regions of the world, resulted in the development of immense genetic diversity observed in sorghum collections. In plants, genetic variation is created naturally due to transposons, insertion or deletion mutations, or unequal crossing over between alleles. Additionally, new genetic variants or mutants can be generated using gamma-ray irradiation and chemical mutagens such as ethyl methanesulfonate (EMS), diethyl sulfate (DES), nitrosoguanidine (NTG), and N-methyl-Nnitrosourea (MNU), or by taking advantage of transgenic and modern gene-editing approaches such as zinc-finger nuclease (ZFN), transcription activator-like effector nuclease (TALEN), and the most recent clustered regularly interspaced short palindromic repeats (CRISPR). Currently, sorghum germplasm diversity collections across the world are known to possess $\sim 100,000$ accessions (see Chap. 4). However, only a small fraction of genetic diversity present is being utilized in sorghum improvement mainly due to lack of proper understanding of germplasm and the genetic mechanisms underlying different agronomically important traits.

Traditional sorghum plants were typically tall in height (2-3 m), late flowering as plants required short days for transition from the vegetative to reproductive stage of development, contained tannins in seeds, and shattered seeds at maturity before sorghum domestication. All these characteristic sorghum traits are believed to have played a key role in their adaptability to different climates around the world. However, these phenotypic traits are not ideal for large-scale sorghum production as they adversely affect seed harvesting, delay maturity, and reduce grain yield and protein digestibility; therefore, the yield and nutritional value are not stable. Moreover, presence of tannins reduces protein digestibility and the nutritive value of sorghum. Therefore, sorghum mutants containing agronomically beneficial traits such as nonshattering grains, reduced plant height, photoperiod insensitivity, nontannin seeds, and acyanogenic accessions were artificially selected from diverse sorghum accessions and successfully utilized in sorghum breeding. Cloning of a few key genes of agronomic importance and mechanisms underlying such traits are presented in this chapter.

2 Nonshattering Mutations Facilitated Sorghum Domestication

Shattering of seeds from panicles at maturity is observed in wild grasses that facilitate natural dissemination of seeds. Although being beneficial for plants, seed shattering is agronomically very undesirable as it results in shedding of seeds from panicles, making harvesting very laborious and causing significant yield losses (Li et al. 2006). To minimize the negative effects of seed shattering, ancient farmers selected sorghum plants that retained seeds on the panicles till harvesting. This artificial selection is believed to be one of the key events leading to the domestication of sorghums approximately 8000 years ago. Despite identifying and propagating nonshattering sorghums, it is most unlikely that the ancient farmers knew mutations were responsible for seed retention at maturity and the impact this single selection event would have on sorghum production. Similar to sorghum, the nonshattering trait possibly underwent a strong selection in other grass species as well such as rice, wheat, maize, and barley during their domestication (Lin et al. 2012).

To unravel the genetic and biochemical mechanisms that led to nonshattering seeds in sorghum, an important shattering gene, the Shattering1 (Sh1, Sobic.001G152901), was isolated and characterized by Lin et al. (2012). Genetic crosses between seed-shattering-type wild species, Sorghum virgatum (SV) and Tx430, a nonshattering domesticated inbred, revealed seed shattering at maturity to be governed by a single dominant gene. Map-based cloning demonstrated that Sh1 codes for the YABBY transcription factor involved in formation of the lignin abscission layer between the seed hull and pedicel in plants containing the wild-type Sh1 allele. Genomic sequence comparisons of Sh1 from shattering S. virgatum with nonshattering sorghum accessions showed that nonshattering accessions contained three different haplotypes or allelic variants of sh1, suggesting three independent domestication events, resulting in the domestication of sorghum. Of the three alleles of sh1 resulting from mutations, the first allele contained a single nucleotide polymorphism (SNP) at the intronexon junction producing a splice-variant; the second allele has a 2.2-kb deletion in the genic region; and the third has alterations in the promoter region as observed in Tx430. These mutated forms of *sh1* produced a truncated protein in the first two cases and reduced expression in Tx430, thus preventing the formation of an abscission layer that resulted in the loss of the shattering phenotype in sorghums (Lin et al. 2012). Without these mutations, sorghum most likely would not have gained such prominence in present-day agriculture and possibly still remained as a wild grass in nature.

In addition to Sh1, a second gene involved in shattering was also identified in S. propinguum by Tang et al. (2013). Positional mapping using F_2 progeny generated by crossing nonshattering S. bicolor (Sb) with S. propinguum (Sp) mapped the new shattering loci to be 300-kb apart from the YABBY gene present on chromosome 1. Flanking DNA sequences from this interval were used as markers for hybridizing Sp bacterial artificial chromosome (BAC) libraries. Combining genomic alignments of Sb and Sp WRKY with association studies using 11 shattering and 13 nonshattering accessions, and semiquantitative RT-PCR of two putative candidate genes revealed a transcription factor, WRKY (Sobic.001G148000), to be the gene attributing to seed shattering. Agrobacterium tumefaciens-mediated transformation of nonshattering Tx430 inbred containing the Sb allele with the SpWRKY allele re-created the seed-shattering phenotype, confirming the role of WRKY transcription factor in seed dispersal (Tang et al. 2013).

Sb and *Sp WRKY* alleles differed as the *Sb* start codon ATG mutated to ATT in *SpWRKY*, causing a methionine (M) to isoleucine (I) substitution and creating a different translation start site. As a result, the *Sp*WRKY protein contained

an additional 44 amino acids compared to SbWRKY. Expression of SpWRKY decreased during flowering and seed maturity, whereas SbWRKY remained uniform at all stages of development, suggesting that the wild-type Sb allele was a negative regulator of shattering by modulating lignin synthesis. Only SpWRKY formed a lignin abscission layer at the seed-stalk interface causing dehiscence of seeds. Cloning of this new shattering gene showed that it resulted from a gain-of-function mutation and has an epistatic effect on the Sh1 gene encoding YABBY transcription factor. Map-based cloning of WRKY and Sh1 shattering genes divulged both of them to contain DNA-binding domains implicated in genes controlling cell wall biosynthesis. Cloning of WRKY also revealed the origin of this shattering gene as occurring recently after the divergence of S. propinguum from S. bicolor, hence this WRKY shattering gene did not play a role in the domestication of sorghums.

3 Altering Plant Architecture by Deploying Dwarfing Genes

Agriculturally important grasses such as rice, wheat, barley, and sorghum naturally grew tall in stature. Due to their tall architecture, these grasses were profoundly susceptible to lodging at crop maturity. As crop lodging is agronomically undesirable, reducing plant height by utilizing dwarfing mutations effectively decreased lodging at maturity. Hence, dwarfing mutations in rice (semi-dwarf11, sd1), wheat (Reduced height-1, Rht-1), maize (brachytic, br), and sorghum (dwarf, dw) received increased attention. Additionally, plants with reduced height responded effectively to application of fertilizers and marked a drastic increase in rice and wheat yields during the 1960s in developing countries (Khush 2001). This phenomenal increase in food production resulted from combining dwarfing genes and genetically improved varieties and is popularly known as the "green revolution," which provided global food security over the past 50 years.
In plants, height is controlled by phytohormones gibberellins (GA), brassinosteroids (BR), and auxins, by altering the distance between internodes. Identification of dwarfing genes in rice and wheat generated curiosity in other grasses, especially maize and sorghum. Tropical sorghums were extremely tall and had weak stalks and narrow leaves. To regulate plant height in sorghum, Quinby and Karper (1961) identified four loci contributing to plant height, popularly known as dw1-dw4. The most prevalent alleles at these loci were the wild-type (WT) alleles that are dominant in nature and attributed to internode elongation leading to increased plant height, whereas the dwarf mutants with short internodes were produced by recessive alleles resulting from natural mutations in the wild-type genes. These four independent recessive genes were utilized extensively in various combinations in sorghum breeding to modify plant architecture.

Of the four identified dwarf genes, dw3 is the most extensively used in sorghum breeding. Sorghum plants containing the dw3 gene are characterized by production of dwarf plants with compact lower stalk internodes and increased girth of the internodes. The dw3 mutation in sorghum reduced lower stalk internode length by 40-50 % of their normal counterparts (Multani et al. 2003). In addition to reducing stalk length, dw3 causes a substantial increase in cell number in the hypodermal region and modification of the vascular system. Detailed genetic analyses revealed that dw3 is located on chromosome 7 and leads to dwarfing by the action of a single gene. Cloning of the dwarfing gene dw3(Sobic.007G163800), an orthologue of maize br2, revealed that this gene codes for a transadenosine membrane protein of the triphosphate-binding cassette (ABC) transporter superfamily involved in auxin efflux (Multani et al. 2003). A duplication of 882-bp in the fifth exon resulted in production of a nonfunctional protein. By doing so, it possibly nullifies the ability to transport hormone auxin required for internode elongation.

Since its discovery, the dw3 dwarfing gene has been successfully used in sorghum breeding from the 1950s. However, a constraint associated

with this gene is its ability spontaneously to produce revertants, tall plants, at a frequency of 0.1–0.3 % depending on the genetic background. Detailed genetic analysis of the dw3 revertants revealed the occurrence of unequal crossing over during meiosis at the 882-bp duplication site in exon 5 (Multani et al. 2003). Because of unequal crossing over, the 882-bp duplication event was eliminated in some plants and these plants reverted back to tall-type resembling the tall wild-type plants. One possible genetic mechanism to solve the problem of revertants is to utilize a stable source of dw3 by identifying new mutations that will not undergo unequal crossing over (Multani et al. 2003). In sorghum inbred Tx2737, characterization of dw3 showed that this gene does not possess the infamous 882-bp duplication event but contains a 6-bp deletion in the fifth exon (Barrero Farfan et al. 2012). This new dw3 allele named dw3-sd2 demonstrated the potential to solve the problem of reverting the phenotype of dw3 and is currently being incorporated into the sorghum elite germplasm using marker-assisted breeding (Barrero Farfan et al. 2012).

In addition to dw3, another dwarf mutant dw1was isolated and characterized. Cloning of dw1 (Sobic.009G229800) revealed that it codes for a putative membrane protein of unknown function (Hilley et al. 2016). An SNP in dw1 produced a premature stop codon, thus eliminating the activity of dw1 completely and resulting in a dwarfing phenotype. Characterization of dw1 revealed it to be independent of the other dwarfing gene dw3 and reduced the length of internodes uniformly throughout the plant. However, the mechanistic basis of how dwlregulates dwarfing in sorghum is unclear. Although other dwarf mutations dw^2 and dw^4 were also used extensively in sorghum breeding, the genetic basis of the underlying mutations and the mechanistic basis of dwarfing underlying these mutations await to be characterized.

In addition to these dwarfing genes, a gamma-ray irradiation screen produced additional dwarfing mutants designated *bending dwarfs* (*bdw1–4*; Ordonio et al. 2014). Characterization of these novel *bdw* mutants revealed aberrations in GA and these mutants contained culm bending additional to reduced plant height. The *bdw1–4* genes encodes *SbCPS1* (ent-copalyl diphosphate synthase, Sobic.001G248600), SbKS1 Sobic.006G211500), (ent-kaurene synthase, SbKO1 (ent-kaurene oxidase, Sobic.010G172700), and SbKAO1 (ent- kaurenoic acid oxidase, Sobic.010G007700), respectively (Ordonio et al. 2014). Characterization of bdw1-4 revealed that they code for key enzymes involved in GA biosynthesis, a growth hormone responsible for increasing plant height. However, GA-related mutations are not utilized in sorghum breeding currently due to their culm bending phenotype.

4 Photoperiod-Insensitive Sorghums Modulate Flowering Time

Sorghum is a short-day tropical plant that requires less than 12 h of daylength (photoperiod) for transition from vegetative to reproductive stage of plant development. Induction of flowering is a complex process as it is regulated by environmental cues, especially photoperiod, to signal this switch from the vegetative phase. When photoperiod-sensitive sorghums are grown in temperate regions with long days, they tend to flower very late or don't flower at all. Late-flowering sorghums were extensively used in forage, sweet, and bioenergy purposes as delayed flowering increases biomass due to prolonged vegetative growth. However, delayed flowering is counterproductive for grain production in regions prevalent with post-flowering drought or erratic late-season weather.

To alleviate the problem of delayed flowering in temperate regions for sorghum grain production, photoperiod-insensitive mutants that flowered early ($\sim 60-80$ days) under long days were selected and broadly utilized. In sorghum, six flowering-time or maturity loci, designated *Ma1– Ma6*, have been reported (Quinby and Karper 1961; Childs et al. 1997). The wild-type alleles at each locus are dominant and contribute to delay flowering under long days. Among the different flowering-time loci, *Ma1* and *Ma6* significantly increased flowering time under long days. To understand the mechanistic basis of delayed flowering in sorghum, three photoperiodsensitive genes, *Ma1*, *Ma3*, and *Ma6*, were isolated and characterized.

The Ma3 flowering-time gene was cloned based on physiological similarities between the sorghum mutant $ma3^R$ and Arabidopsis PHYB (Phytochrome B), which displayed reduced sensitivity to inhibitory photoperiods (Childs et al. 1997). Childs et al. (1997) screened an F₂ popgenerated by crossing sorghum ulation. near-isogenic lines (NILs) of 100M (Ma3) with NIL 58M ($ma3^R$), with 21 polymorphic random amplified polymorphic DNA (RAPD) markers. The F₂ plants were self-pollinated to produce F₃ families. Forty F₃ families generated were evaluated for markers cosegregating with Ma3. The Ma3-linked RAPD markers were screened on 137 recombinant inbred lines (RILs) obtained by crossing BTx623 and IS 3620C, which mapped Ma3 to the sorghum linkage group A. Sequencing of PHYB (Sobic.001G394400) present in this linkage group showed that the mutated $ma3^R$ allele contained a single nucleotide deletion 30 bp upstream of the termination codon, thereby producing a truncated protein which in photoperiod-insensitive sorghum results (Childs et al. 1997). Cloning of Ma3 marks the first flowering-time or photoperiod-sensitive gene to be cloned in sorghum.

To understand the mechanisms regulating the Ma1 flowering-time locus in sorghum, Murphy et al. (2011) carried out positional mapping of *Ma1* using three different mapping populations. The first population was obtained by crossing two photoperiod-insensitive inbreds ATx623 (ma1Ma5) and R.07007 (Ma1ma5). The resulting F₁ progeny were photoperiod-sensitive, flowered when subjected to short days, but did not show transition to flowering under long days. The F₁ hybrid obtained was then backcrossed with ATx623 to generate BC_1F_1 plants that were used for genetic mapping of Mal to an interval of 700 kb on chromosome 6 which contained 34 genes. The second mapping population generated by crossing late-flowering 100M with photoperiodinsensitive BTx406, and screening the F_2 population narrowed the genetic interval to 240-kb region. The third mapping population was obtained by crossing 100M with photoperiod-insensitive cultivar Blackhull Kafir (*ma1*). Screening the resulting F_2 population, the mapping interval of the *Ma1* locus was further reduced to an 86-kb region that contained only one gene PSEUDORES PONSE REGULATOR 37 (*PRR37*; Sobic.006G 057900).

To affirm PRR37 was the gene leading delayed flowering, Ma1 cDNA was sequenced from different photoperiod-insensitive sorghum cultivars (Murphy et al. 2011). The BTx406 ma1 (Sbprr37-1) allele contained one nucleotide deletion upstream of the pseudoreceiver domain producing a truncated protein. Blackhull Kafir mal (Sbprr37-2) harbored three amino acid substitutions, two substitutions in the low conserved peptide sequence, and Lys162Asn in the highly conserved pseudoreceiver domain, suggesting this lysine to be responsible for altering protein function. The third mal allele (Sbprr37-3) from ATx623 possessed Lys162Asn as in Blackhull Kafir; additionally it contained a premature stop codon at Q²⁷⁰. Three independent alleles of photoperiod-insensitive mal resulted in their loss of function, thus conferring photoperiod-insensitivity in sorghum. In addition to Mal and Ma3, the third delayed flowering gene Ma6 was identified by Murphy et al. (2014) in the BC_1F_1 population derived from a cross of Tx623 (ma1Ma5ma6) with R.07007 (Ma1ma5Ma6) and backcrossing with male sterile ATx623. Cloning of *Ma1* enabled generating molecular markers for identifying Mal plants and accounting for phenotypic variation caused by Ma1. Quantitative trait locus (QTL) analysis positioned Ma6 on chromosome 6 at an interval of 276 kb containing 14 genes. This genomic interval contains an orthologue of previously identified rice flowering-time gene, grain number, plant height, and heading date (Ghd7; Sobic.006G004400). This gene encodes "CON-STANS, CO-like, and TOC1 (CCT)-domain" protein involved in repression of a known floral activator SbEHD1 and other flowering genes. Comparison of the Ghd7 sequence between Ma6 and mutated ma6 from ATx623 indicated that *ma6* contained a five-nucleotide insertion in the first exon, creating a frameshift in the coding sequence and resulting in a premature stop codon.

Cloning of three major sorghum flowering-time genes, Ma3 (PHYB),Mal (PRR37), and Ma6 (Ghd7), facilitated the understanding of mechanisms controlling flowering time. Under long days, PRR37 and Ghd7 expression increased in the morning and evening at ~ 3 and ~ 15 h, respectively, from the start of the light cycle (Murphy et al. 2011, 2014). In contrast, under short days the PRR37 and Ghd7 signal was detected only in the morning and was completely absent during the evening. Expression of mutated ma1 and ma6 from photoperiod-insensitive sorghums was similar to that of PRR37 and Ghd7 under short days. These findings indicate photoperiodand circadian-clock-dependent expression of PRR37 and Ghd7, and the absence of PRR37 and SbGhd7 expression in the evening leads to initiation of flowering. Under long days, PRR37 and Ghd7 repressed SbEHD1, a grass-specific floral activator (Murphy et al. 2011, 2014). Additionally, PRR37 repressed the activity of another important floral activator SbCO. Through EHD1 and CO, PRR1 and Ghd7 repressed expression of florigens SbCN8 and SbCN12 and delayed flowering under long days; PRR37 and SbGhd7 are central repressors of genes encoding flowering initiation in response to photoperiod in sorghum (Murphy et al. 2011; Yang et al. 2014a, b). Characterization of PRR37 and Ghd7 demonstrated an additive effect on delayed flowering by increasing the days to flowering to ~ 175 d in Ma1Ma6 cultivars, in contrast to \sim 54 or \sim 74 d in Ma1- or Ma6-containing cultivars, respectively (Murphy et al. 2014).

Although Ma3 was the first cloned photoperiod-sensitive gene, the mechanistic basis underlying this flowering-time gene was not known until the cloning of Mal and Ma6. Genetic and expression analysis of the $F_{2/3}$ populations generated using 100M (MalMa2 Ma3Ma4Ma5ma6) and 58M (Ma1Ma2ma3RMa4Ma5ma6) demonstrated Ma3 to be epistatic to Ma1 and Ma6, and Ma3 is required for photoperiod-regulated expression of these flowering repressors in sorghum (Yang et al. 2014b). Cloning of flowering-time genes in sorghum can aid in marker-assisted selection of sorghum germplasm improvement for bioenergy and grain production.

5 Improving Sorghum Protein Digestibility with Nontannin and Highly Digestible High-Lysine (*hdhl*) Mutants

Sorghum grain contains 7–16 % total proteins of the grain dry weight (Benmoussa et al. 2015). Tannins or proanthocyanidins (PAs) are oligomers and polymers of flavan-3-ols compounds in the pigmented testa layer present underneath the pericarp of sorghum grains (Wu et al. 2012). Tannin-containing sorghums are prevalent in areas with severe insect pressure and bacterial and fungal diseases, thus correlating tannin production with protection against biotic stressors. Additionally, tannins benefit human health because of their anticancer activity and antioxidant and radical scavenging functions (Kaufman et al. 2013). However, tannins impart a bitter flavor and reduce protein digestibility in humans and animals. Therefore, nontannin sorghum mutants present in sorghum accessions were preferentially selected and extensively used in sorghum breeding.

To identify the gene involved in tannin production, Wu et al. (2012) evaluated tannin production in a RIL population generated by crossing a nontannin inbred Tx430 with tannin-producing inbred ShanQui Red. Additionally, two RIL populations of Tx430/SC1345 (212 RILs) and Tx430/SC1103 (192 RILs) were screened for underlying genetic mechanisms of tannin production. Composite interval mapping and meta-QTL mapping showed two major QTLs, on chromosome 2 (Tan2) and chromosome 4 (Tan1), contributing to 54 % of the total tannins. Synthesis of tannins is dictated by the presence of dominant functional alleles at both these loci and recessive homozygous loss-of-function mutations at either loci resulted in nontannin sorghums. Isolation of the Tan1 gene (Sobic.004G280800.1 or Sb04g031730.1) from Tx430 revealed that it contain a deletion of G at position 580, causing a frame shift in the second WD40 repeat domain that makes a truncated protein lacking 55 amino acids at the C-terminal region. This nontannin-producing allele was designated tan1-a. In addition to tan1-a, a new nontannin allele, namely tan1b was detected in BTx623 inbred and it possessed a 10-bp insertion resulting in a truncated protein. These nontannin alleles validate that the *Tan1* gene is responsible for tannin production in sorghum grain. Molecular markers generated from the Tan1 allele can be used to breed selectively for increased tannin content and eliminate agronomically undesirable traits closely linked to sorghum tannin genes (Wu et al. 2012).

In addition to tannins, predominant sorghum seed proteins known as kafirins reduce protein digestibility. Given that kafirins constitute ~ 70 % of the total seed proteins, malnutrition occurs when sorghum is consumed as the primary source of protein. Kafirins, based on molecular weight and sequence, are categorized into four classes, α , β , γ , and δ . They are hoarded in the endoplasmic reticulum (ER) in spherical protein bodies (PBs) (Wu et al. 2013). In the PBs, β - and γ -kafirins are present in the peripheral PB region, whereas α - and δ -kafirins are located in the inner regions. As α -kafirins are the most abundant and the last digested proteins among different kafirins, they are believed to be responsible for low protein digestibility in sorghum.

Identification of a P721Q, a high digestibile high-lysine (*hdhl*) mutant exhibiting high protein digestibility in a DES-derived mutant population was indicated as a promising solution for mitigating the problem of sorghum protein digestibility. Wu et al. (2013) crossed a P721Q*hdhl1* mutant with Tx430 to generate a segregating F_2 population and identify the causal mutation. Genetic studies with the obtained F_1 and F_2 progeny demonstrated the P721Q-*hdhl1* mutation to be dominant and maintained by a single locus. The *hdhl1* mutant was cloned using the candidate-gene approach based on the maize floury2 mutant with higher protein digestibility. Amplification of the α -kafirin gene (Sobic.005G186300) from genomic DNA and cDNA revealed a single nucleotide exchange causing Ala21Thr substitution in the peptide sequence. This amino acid Alanine is highly conserved and is required for cleaving the hdhl1 signal peptide. Mutation at this site results in production of irregular PBs, and improves protein digestibility. Therefore, hdhl1 and nontannin sorghum mutants can be used extensively as a major source of protein diet to eradicate malnutrition in the sub-Saharan Africa and Southeast Asian populations.

6 Brown Midrib Mutations Enhance Bioenergy Efficiency and Forage Digestibility

Lignin, cellulose, and hemicellulose are the major constituents of plant secondary cell walls. Lignin is largely composed of three subunits, namely, p-hydroxyphenyl (H), guaiacyl (G), and syringyl (S) monolignols (Wang et al. 2015). Lignin provides mechanical strength to plant cells; however, lignin reduces forage digestibility by ruminant livestock and saccharification efficiency of biomass when used for energy production. Therefore, sorghum mutants containing lower lignin content in secondary cell walls, characterized by their reddish-brown midrib and brown stems, were identified and broadly utilized to minimize the negative effects of lignin. In sorghum, 38 brown midrib (BMR) mutants were generated by chemical mutagenesis using DES and EMS (Gorthy et al. 2013). Based on an allelism test, sorghum brown midrib mutants were assigned to four independent groups designated bmr2, bmr6, bmr12, and bmr19 (Saballos et al. 2008). Additionally, six new brown midrib loci were identified based on novel mutants identified in different EMS screens (Sattler et al. 2014).

In contrast to positional mapping as explained for *Sh1* and *Ma1* cloning, sorghum brown midrib mutant bmr26, an allele of bmr12 and bmr18 mutants, was cloned using the candidategene-based approach combined with chemical analysis of cell wall composition (Bout and Vermerris 2003). A spontaneous mutation in the sorghum inbred P898012 produced bmr26, the first BMR mutant cloned in sorghum. Near-isogenic lines (NILs) for the BMR mutants identified from chemical mutagenesis screens were derived using wild-type siblings from the same head rows where the mutant was identified. Cell wall composition of *bmr26* and its wild-type NIL was measured using pyrolysis-gas chromatography mass spectrometry (Py-GC-MS). The *bmr26* contained reduced levels of syringyl residues and less esterified p-coumaric acid. Similar to bmr26, syringyl residues were lower in bmr12, bmr18, and maize bm3. The maize bm3 contained mutations in the caffeic acid O-methyltransferase (COMT) gene catalyzing the penultimate step in monolignol biosynthesis (Vignols et al. 1995). As mutations in maize COMT produced the BMR phenotype, COMT seemed to be the most likely candidategene-producing sorghum midrib phenotype. Sequencing of the COMT gene (Sobic. 007G047300) from bmr12, bmr18, and bmr26 showed single nucleotide substitutions in all three alleles resulting in a premature termination codon, leading to the *bmr* phenotype.

Similar to bmr12, a bmr6 mutant was identified using the candidate-gene approach by Sattler et al. (2014). Gas chromatography-mass spectrometry (GC-MS) analysis of stalks of bmr6 mutants indicated a significant decrease in H-, G-, and S-lignin subunits by 4.8-, 7.3-, and 17.7-fold, respectively (Sattler et al. 2014). An increase of minor lignin subunits, S-indene and G-indene by 9.5- and 8.3-fold, respectively, was observed in bmr6 mutants, indicating loss of function of the cinnamyl alcohol dehydrogenase (CAD) gene responsible for the bmr6 phenotype. Characterization of CAD indicated its role in catalyzing the last step of monolignol biosynthesis (Saballos et al. 2009). Availability of the sorghum reference genome from BTx623 made it possible to search for Arabidopsis AtCAD4 and AtCAD5 orthologues in sorghum.

Two putative *CAD* genes were identified in sorghum, but only one *CAD* gene (Sobic.004G071000) contained a nucleotide substitution that created an early termination codon, resulting in a null allele of *bmr6* and producing brown midrib phenotype (Sattler et al. 2009). In addition to the DES-derived *bmr6* reference allele, Scully et al. (2016) identified six independent alleles of *bmr6* in the BTx623 TILLING population (Xin et al. 2008).

In addition to *bmr12* and *bmr6*, the *bmr2* gene was identified using the map-based cloning approach. Genetic mapping was conducted by Saballos et al. (2012) on an F₂ population obtained by crossing AMP11 containing a bmr2-ref allele with Theis using 15 polymorphic SSR markers. The study positioned bmr2 on chromosome 4. Fine-mapping of *bmr2* was conducted using newly generated molecular markers on 70 and 20 homozygous F₂ and F₃ plants, respectively, which narrowed the region to a 262-kb interval encompassing 22 genes. Among these is Sb04g005210, an Arabidopsis orthologue of 4-coumarate:CoA ligase 4CL1, 4CL2, and 4CL3 genes involved in lignin biosynthesis, therefore, making it the most likely candidate gene conferring the BMR phenotype. Comparing 4CL sequences of bmr2-ref and a second *bmr2* allele generated using EMS with the wild-type revealed Gly111Asp and Gly262Arg substitution, respectively (Saballos et al. 2012). This supports 4CL (Sobic.004G062500) as the gene conferring the BMR phenotype of *bmr2*. The missense mutations seem likely to effect the protein folding and result in aberrations in an early step in monolignol biosynthesis.

Cloning of three sorghum *bmr* mutant genes/alleles and identification of several new alleles can aid in understanding the mechanistic basis of lower lignin content in sorghum. Identification of several *bmr* genes can enable precise gene stacking to develop sorghums with high fodder digestibility and increased biofuel efficiency. Given the ability to survive and flourish under poor nutrient conditions, severe heat and drought, and the presence of several *bmr* mutants, sorghum is emerging as a major alternative to commercial crops that cannot withstand low water and high temperatures.

7 Acyanogenic Accession Curtails Seedling Toxicity

Cyanogenic glucosides are a group of allelochemicals produced in more than 3000 plant species to protect against herbivores and insects. These chemicals pose a serious risk for human and animal health because of their ability to release toxic hydrogen cyanide (HCN) upon tissue damage. Sorghum seedlings contain dhurrin, tyrosine-derived cyanogenic glucoside, produced in highest concentrations at early stages of seedling germination and young leaves, and decreasing as plant age advances. Dhurrin levels tend to increase under severe drought and post-application of nitrogen fertilizer, thus rendering sorghum unsuitable for animal consumption (Busk and Møller 2002). Hence, nondhurrin-producing mutants of sorghums are very vital for sorghum forage production.

In sorghum, dhurrin biosynthesis involves three key genes: CYP79A1, CYP71E1, and UDP-glucosyltransferase (UGT85B1; Hansen et al. 2003). EMS mutagenesis was conducted to generate dhurrin-free mutants, as naturally existing nondhurrin mutants were not identified in wild or cultivated sorghum. Mutagenesis was performed using seed treatment of BTx623 inbred with 0.1-0.4 % EMS, and M1 plants were self-pollinated to generate M₂ plants (Xin et al. 2008). TILLING, a reverse genetics approach, of 264 M₂ plants using CEL1 endonuclease resulted in 10 mutants with G/C-A/T substitutions in CYP79A1 (Sobic.001G012300), a rate-limiting enzyme catalyzing the first step of dhurrin synthesis (Blomstedt et al. 2012). These nucleotide substitutions resulted in two silent mutations, one premature stop codon, and seven different single amino acid substitutions in CYP79A1. Dhurrin content of different CYP79A1 alleles was measured using Feigl-Anger (FA) paper, а high-throughput colorimetric technique (Feigl and Anger 1966). Among different CYP79A1 alleles generated, P414L substitution resulted in a completely acyanogenic mutant, designated tcd1 (totally cyanide deficient1; Blomstedt et al. 2012). Additionally, TILLING produced an acyanogenic tcd2 mutant containing nucleotide C-T transition in *UGT85B1*, resulting in a Q149* premature stop codon. In contrast to *tcd1*, *tcd2* plants were stunted with less root growth and very low seed production (Blomstedt et al. 2016).

In addition to acyanogenic *tcd1* and *tcd2* mutants, a novel EMS-derived acyanogenic mutant was identified using FA paper. To identify the gene underlying the new acyanogenic mutant, the genome of a single acyanogenic mutant was short read sequenced using an Illumina HiScanSQ and aligned to the sorghum BTx623 reference genome (Krothapalli et 2013). al. Next-generation sequencing (NGS) yielded 20 million reads providing $\sim 17 \times$ coverage of the mutant genome. Comparing the BTx623 reference genome with the acyanogenic mutant revealed that it contained 577 SNPs in the coding region of this mutant genome. Simultaneously, six known genes involved in dhurrin production (biosynthesis: *CYP79A1*, CYP71E1, and UGT85B1; catabolism: dhurrinase1, dhurrinase2, and alpha-hydroxynitrile lyase) were sequenced to identify the mutation. Only the *dhurrinase2* (Sobic.008G080400) gene contained a G-to-A SNP transition resulting in a premature stop codon and a nonfunctional enzyme (Krothapalli et al. 2013). This new mutant allele was designated *dhr2-1*. Cosegregation analysis was performed on an F₂ population generated by crossing BTx623 with dhr2-1, 25 homozygous dhr2-1 mutants were identified using KASPar assay, and FA assays revealed the absence of HCN under tissue damage, confirming mutations in *dhr2-1* to be responsible for the acyanogenic phenotype.

8 Herbicide Tolerance

Weeds are one of the major limiting factors in sorghum production around the world; they cause $\sim 50 \%$ yield losses if not managed. Manual weeding is commonly practiced in developing countries for weed management. As manual removal of weeds is laborious, sorghum producers currently rely on pre-emergent herbicides that provide broad-spectrum control. Pre-emergence herbicides often fail under low

rainfall or severe rainfall after herbicide application, thus creating complications in weed management. One alternative is using transgenic approaches to generate herbicide-resistant sorghum as observed in maize, soybean, and cotton. However, sorghum lacks this luxury because of its relatively small acreage. Therefore, naturally occurring sorghum mutants that are herbicide-tolerant are the only promising post-emergence weed management strategy in sorghum production.

In sorghum, few accessions of Johnsongrass (Sorghum halepense) and some biotypes Bol-15, Bol-45, and Bol-71 of sudangrass (Sorghum X drummondii) manifested resistance to ACCase (acetyl-coenzyme A (CoA) carboxylase) inhibitors, herbicides known to control weeds effectively. Genetic studies involving herbicideresistant wild sorghum accessions crossed with Tx623 inbred revealed resistance to ACCase inhibitors to be conferred by a single gene with partial dominance (Kershner et al. 2012). The mode of operation of ACCase inhibitors involves binding to the carboxyl-transferase (CT) domain of the ACCase gene to cause metabolite leakage and rapid cell death (Délye 2005). Previous research with grass weed black-grass (Alopecurus myosuroides) showed that mutations in the CT domain of the chloroplastic ACCase resulted in herbicide tolerance to two ACCase inhibitors, aryloxyphenoxypropionates (APPs) and cyclohexanediones (CHD; Délye et al. 2005). These findings indicated that a similar mechanism might be in play for sorghum herbicide resistance. Cloning of the sorghum ACCase (Sobic.006G030100) from herbicidegene resistant sorghum accessions revealed a single nucleotide substitution that resulted in Trp-2027-Cys conversion in the CT domain (Kershner et al. 2012), thus preventing binding of ACCase inhibitors to confer resistance to these herbicides in sorghum. Cloning of the ACCase gene enables precise marker-assisted introgression of this gene from wild sorghums into elite sorghum inbreds, and can be used effectively to manage weeds in sorghum production.

9 Conclusions

Mutations have been extensively used in sorghum improvement programs around the world. A classic example of such a breeding effort is the sorghum conversion program of the United States of America during the 1960s wherein dwarfing (dw1-dw4) and photoperiod-insensitive (mal-ma4) mutations were incorporated into exotic germplasm by a series of backcrosses using conventional breeding. As a result, most of the sorghum cultivated throughout the United States contains dwarfing and photoperiodinsensitive genes, except the sorghums used for bioenergy. Although mutations have been used in breeding, cloning and understanding the genetic and molecular nature of mutations are needed for designing better strategies for trait enhancement. A classic example is the dwarfing gene dw3 utilized extensively in sorghum breeding, although revertants have always been a problem in using this dwarfing gene. Cloning of dw3 revealed that it contains an 882-bp duplication in exon5 that was making plants dwarf (Multani et al. 2003). Given that dw3 was cloned and the nature of the mutation identified as a duplication event, unequal crossing over was predicted to be responsible for revertants. This knowledge helped in identifying new sources of mutations in dw3, a 6-bp deletion and absence of 882-bp duplication were identified in Tx2737 and no revertants were observed, thus mitigating the problem of revertants in sorghum fields.

Additionally, identifying the genetic basis of mutants enables designing molecular markers to enable precise breeding and avoid linkage drag or eliminate the possibility of losing beneficial alleles that would have otherwise been eliminated completely from the germplasm. Positional cloning of rice *dro1* emphasizes the need for precise molecular markers in mutation breeding. In rice, deep-rooting gene *dro1*, associated with root architecture and drought tolerance, was tightly linked with tall stature (Uga et al. 2013). In the process of incorporating dwarfing genes into rice, *dro1* got completely eliminated from the International Rice Research Institute (IRRI) germplasm as dwarfing genes were incorporated

based on phenotypic selection through conventional breeding. Loss of beneficial traits can be eliminated completely reduced or with marker-assisted breeding. Similar to rice, genes that are agriculturally important may have been lost during the sorghum conversion program, thereby underscoring importance the of marker-assisted selection in mutation breeding. Developing molecular markers for desirable traits can accelerate sorghum breeding; simultaneously non-benefitical alleles impact grain yield and quality can be expunged from the sorghum germplasm.

Sorghum being an orphan crop, complete potential of this drought- and heat-tolerant crop of tropical origin has not been achieved as observed in the case of agronomically important crops such as maize and rice. Despite the availability of enormous genetic diversity, only 5 % of the genetic variation is being used in sorghum breeding. Some of the most likely reasons include photoperiod-sensitivity, absence of a reference genome till 2009, dearth of sorghum transformation technologies, very limited funding for sorghum research, and little knowledge of the genes underlying different traits of interest. However, recent advances in the cloning of sorghum mutants such as Sh1, Tan1, br, bmr, ma, and *dhr2-1*, and the availability of two independent TILLING populations generated by Dr. Mitch Tuinstra at Purdue University (West Lafayette, IN) and by Dr. Zhanguo Xin at USDA-ARS (Lubbock, TX), marked a new era in the field of sorghum genetic improvement. Additionally, sorghum cultivation has gained immense popularity over the past decade due to its profound ability to withstand severe heat and drought environments and grow in soils with poor nutrients. Given the new resources available and ability of sorghum to survive harsh abiotic stresses, sorghum seems most likely the crop to entrust for achieving global food security. Hence, identification of new mutants for biotic and abiotic stresses combined with marker-assisted breeding is required to alleviate world hunger. By identifying new mutations underlying agronomically important traits can assist in breeding hardier crops to increase crop productivity to

meet global food requirements, and much-needed sources of clean fuel in a sustainable manner.

References

- Barrero Farfan ID, Bergsma BR, Johal GS, Tuinstra MR (2012) A stable allele in sorghum and a molecular marker to facilitate selection. Crop Sci 52(5):2063– 2069
- Benmoussa M, Chandrashekar A, Ejeta G, Hamaker BR (2015) Cellular response to the high protein digestibility/high-lysine (*hdhl*) sorghum mutation. Plant Sci 241:70–77
- Blomstedt CK, Gleadow RM, O'Donnell N, Naur P, Jensen K, Laursen T, Olsen CE (2012) A combined biochemical screen and TILLING approach identifies mutations in *Sorghum bicolor* L. Moench resulting in acyanogenic forage production. Plant Biotechnol 10 (1):54–66
- Blomstedt CK, O'Donnell N, Bjarnholt N, Neale AD, Hamill JD, Møller BL, and Gleadow RM (2016) Metabolic consequences of knocking out UGT85B1, the gene encoding the glucosyltransferase required for synthesis of dhurrin in Sorghum bicolor (L. Moench). Plant Cell Physiol 57(2):373–86
- Bout S, Vermerris W (2003) A candidate-gene approach to clone the sorghum *brown midrib* gene encoding caffeic acid o-methyltransferase. Mol Genet Genomics 269(2):205–214
- Busk PK, Møller BL (2002) Dhurrin synthesis in sorghum is regulated at the transcriptional level and induced by nitrogen fertilization in older plants. Plant Physiol 129 (3):1222–1231
- Childs KL, Miller FR, Cordonnier-Pratt MM, Pratt LH, Morgan PW, Mullet JE (1997) The sorghum photoperiod sensitivity gene, *Ma3*, encodes a Phytochrome b. Plant Physiol 113(2):611–619
- Délye C (2005) Weed resistance to acetyl coenzyme A carboxylase inhibitors: an update. Weed Sci 53 (5):728–746
- Délye C, Zhang X, Michel S, Matéjicek A, Powles SB (2005) Molecular bases for sensitivity to acetyl-coenzyme A carboxylase inhibitors in black-grass. Plant Physiol 137(3):794–806
- Feigl F, Anger V (1966) Replacement of benzidine by copper ethylacetoacetate and tetra base as spot-test reagent for hydrogen cyanide and cyanogen. Analyst 91(1081):282–284
- Gorthy S, Mayandi K, Faldu D, Dalal M (2013) Molecular characterization of allelic variation in spontaneous *brown midrib* mutants of sorghum (*Sorghum bicolor* (L.) Moench). Mol Breeding 31 (4):795–803
- Hansen KS, Kristensen C, Tattersall DB, Jones PR, Olsen CE, Bak S, Møller BL (2003) The in vitro substrate regiospecificity of recombinant UGT85B1,

the cyanohydrin glucosyltransferase from *Sorghum bicolor*. Phytochemistry 64(1):143–151

- Hilley J, Truong S, Olson S, Morishige D, Mullet J (2016) Identification of *Dw1*, a regulator of sorghum stem internode length. PLoS ONE 11(3):e0151271
- Kaufman RC, Herald TJ, Bean SR, Wilson JD, Tuinstra MR (2013) Variability in tannin content, chemistry and activity in a diverse group of tannin containing sorghum cultivars. J Sci Food Agric 93 (5):1233–1241
- Kershner KS, Al-Khatib K, Krothapalli K, Tuinstra MR (2012) Genetic resistance to acetyl-coenzyme A carboxylase-inhibiting herbicides in grain sorghum. Crop Sci 52(1):64–73
- Khush GS (2001) Green revolution: the way forward. Nat Rev Genet 2(10):815–822
- Krothapalli K, Buescher EM, Li X, Brown E, Chapple C, Dilkes BP, Tuinstra MR (2013) Forward genetics by genome sequencing reveals that rapid cyanide release deters insect herbivory of *Sorghum bicolor*. Genetics 195(2):309–318
- Li C, Zhou A, Sang T (2006) Rice domestication by reducing shattering. Science 311(5769):1936–1939
- Lin Z, Li X, Shannon LM, Yeh C, Wang ML, Bai G, Peng Z et al (2012) Parallel domestication of the *shattering1* genes in cereals. Nat Genet 44(6):720–724
- Multani DS, Briggs SP, Chamberlin MA, Blakeslee JJ, Murphy AS, Johal GS (2003) Loss of an MDR transporter in compact stalks of maize *br2* and sorghum *dw3* mutants. Science 302(5642):81–84
- Murphy RL, Klein RR, Morishige DT, Brady JA, Rooney WL, Miller FR, Dugas DV, Klein PE, Mullet JE (2011) Coincident light and clock regulation of pseudoresponse regulator protein 37 (*Prr37*) controls photoperiodic flowering in sorghum. PNAS 108 (39):16469–16474
- Murphy RL, Morishige DT, Brady JA, Rooney WL, Yang S, Klein PE (2014) Ghd7 (*Ma6*) represses sorghum flowering in long days: alleles enhance biomass accumulation and grain production. Plant Genome 7(2):1–10
- Ordonio RL, Yusuke I, Asako H, Kozue O, Shigemitsu K, Tsuyoshi T, Hiroshi M, Hidemi K, Makoto M, Takashi S (2014) Gibberellin deficiency pleiotropically induces culm bending in sorghum: an insight into sorghum semi-dwarf breeding. Nat Sci Rep 4 (June):1–10
- Quinby JR, Karper RE (1961) Inheritance of duration of growth in the milo group of sorghum. Crop Sci 1:8–10
- Saballos A, Wilfred V, Loren R, Gebisa E (2008) Allelic association, chemical characterization and saccharification properties of brown midrib mutants of sorghum (*Sorghum bicolor* (L.) Moench). Bioenergy Res 1(3– 4):193–204
- Saballos A, Gebisa E, Emiliano S, ChulHee K, Wilfred V (2009) A genomewide analysis of the cinnamyl alcohol dehydrogenase family in sorghum [Sorghum bicolor (l.) moench] identifies SbCAD2 as the brown midrib6 gene. Genetics 181(2):783–795

- Saballos A, Scott SE, Emiliano S, Timothy FP, Zhanguo X, ChulHee K, Jeffrey PF, Wilfred V (2012) Brown midrib2 (bmr2) encodes the major 4-coumarate:coenzyme a ligase involved in lignin biosynthesis in sorghum (Sorghum bicolor (L.) Moench). Plant J 70(5):818–830
- Sattler SE, Aaron SJ, Eric HJ, Nathan PA, Deanna FL, Gautam S, Jeffrey PF (2009) A nonsense mutation in a cinnamyl alcohol dehydrogenase gene is responsible for the sorghum *brown midrib6* phenotype. Plant Physiol 150(2):584–595
- Sattler SE, Ana S, Zhanguo X, Deanna FL, Wilfred V, and Jeffrey PF (2014) Characterization of novel sorghum brown midrib mutants from an EMS-mutagenized population. G3 4(11):2115–2124
- Scully ED, Gries T, Funnell-Harris DL, Xin Z, Kovacs FA, Vermerris W, Sattler SE (2016) Characterization of novel *Brown midrib* 6 mutations affecting lignin biosynthesis in sorghum. J Integr Plant Biol 58 (2):136–149
- Tang H, Hugo CE, Sayan D, Uzay SU, Chengbo Z, Hui G, Valorie GH, Zhengxiang G, Thomas CE, Andrew PH (2013) Seed shattering in a wild sorghum is conferred by a locus unrelated to domestication. PNAS 110(39):15824–15829
- Uga Y, Kazuhiko S, Satoshi O, Jagadish R, Manabu I, Naho H, Yuka K et al (2013) Control of root system architecture by *deeper rooting 1* increases rice yield under drought conditions. Nat Genet 45(9):1097–1102

- Vignols F, Rigau J, Torres MA, Capellades M, Puigdomènech P (1995) The brown midrib3 (bm3) mutation in maize occurs in the gene encoding caffeic acid o-methyltransferase. Plant Cell 7(4):407–416
- Wang P, Natalia D, John MA, Clint C (2015) Genetic manipulation of lignocellulosic biomass for bioenergy. Current opinion chemical biology. Energy Mechanist Biol 29(December):32–39
- Wu Y, Xianran L, Wenwen X, Chengsong Z, Zhongwei L, Yun W, Jiarui L et al (2012) Presence of tannins in sorghum grains is conditioned by different natural alleles of *tannin1*. PNAS 109(26):10281–10286
- Wu Y, Lingling Y, Xiaomei G, David HR, Joachim M (2013) Mutation in the seed storage protein kafirin creates a high-value food trait in sorghum. Nat Commun 4:2217
- Xin Z, Ming WL, Noelle BA, Gloria B, Cleve F, Gary P, John B (2008) Applying genotyping (TILLING) and phenotyping analyses to elucidate gene function in a chemically induced sorghum mutant population. BMC Plant Biol 8:103
- Yang S, Rebecca ML, Daryl MT, Patricia KE, William RL, John ME (2014a) Sorghum *phytochrome B* inhibits flowering in long days by activating expression of *SbPRR37* and *SbGHD7*, repressors of *SbEHD1*, *SbCN8* and *SbCN12*. PLoS ONE 9(8):e105352
- Yang S, Brock WD, Daryl MT, John ME (2014b) CONSTANS is a photoperiod-regulated activator of flowering in sorghum. BMC Plant Biol 14(May):148

TILLING and EcoTILLING for Discovery of Induced and Natural Variations in Sorghum Genome

14

Ramadoss Bharathi Raja, Somanath Agasimani, Varadharaju Anusheela, Venkatesan Thiruvengadam, Ravindra N. Chibbar and Sundaram Ganesh Ram

Abstract

TILLING is a reverse-genetic method to uncover the induced variation from the mutagenized population. Initially induced variation was detected by melting and reannealing the PCR products, cleavage of heteroduplex using CEL I endonucleases, and the resulting products separated and visualized on sequencing gels or capillaries. Subsequent sequence analysis in heteroduplex regions of individual plant DNA identified the mutation. In the past 6 years, mutation discovery through sequencing is becoming popular. Sequencing-based TILLING is less labor intensive with high specificity and confidence of mutation discovery. TILLING by sequencing has been reported in many crop plants including rice and wheat and is yet to be applied in sorghum. A conventional TILLING project has been reported in sorghum for agronomically important traits and also for the development of acyanogenic or low cyanogenic mutants in sorghum. EcoTILLING is another reverse-genetic approach that utilizes the same principles in the natural population instead of the mutagenized population. In this chapter, we discuss TILLING and EcoTILLING in sorghum and

S. Rakshit and Y.-H. Wang (eds.), *The Sorghum Genome*, Compendium of Plant Genomes, DOI 10.1007/978-3-319-47789-3_14

R. Bharathi Raja · R.N. Chibbar Department of Plant Sciences, College of Agriculture and Bioresources, University of Saskatchewan, 51 Campus Drive, Saskatoon, SK S7N 5A8, Canada

S. Agasimani University of Agricultural Sciences, Bangalore 560065, Karnataka, India

R. Bharathi Raja · V. Anusheela · V. Thiruvengadam · S. Ganesh Ram (⊠) Department of Plant Genetic Resources, Centre for Plant Breeding and Genetics, Tamil Nadu Agricultural University, Coimbatore 641003, TN, India e-mail: ganeshgene@gmail.com

[©] Springer International Publishing AG 2016

also TILLING by sequencing for the improvement of sorghum through the reverse-genetic approach.

1 Introduction

Genetic variability is the prerequisite for crop improvement, which forms the basis for selection and recombination breeding that aims at isolation of superior genotypes. Most genetic variability available today in plant collections is the result of past evolution involving spontaneous mutations, recombination, and exposure to the forces of natural selection. There are indications that a major part of domestication of crop plants occurred in discrete steps mediated by single gene mutations (Gottlieb 1984). In many cases, a cultivated species and its primitive ancestors are often reported to be differing in only a few major genes.

Because of the increased recognition of its importance, evaluation and characterization of sorghum germplasm have received the attention of plant breeders. Utilization of exotic and genetically diverse germplasm is needed to develop stable and high-yielding cultivars with a broad genetic base. This can be achieved through isolation of induced or natural allelic variation for any desired traits for which two genetic approaches are popular; one approach directly screens for the phenotype of a large number of germplasm accessions (forward genetics). This approach requires a high-throughput and rapid protocol that can identify variants for the trait under study, followed by a more precise but inevitably slower molecular characterization (Brady and Provart 2007). The main advantage of this approach is that it makes no assumption about the primary cause. Consequently, genes influencing the trait have to be identified. In the second approach, if genes influencing the trait (candidate genes) have been identified, one can screen for alteration in the gene under consideration and then characterize those lines carrying gene-level variations for the trait of interest (reverse genetics) (Brady and Provart 2007).

The first approach is not effective to screen a large number of natural or even artificial mutations. The major limitation of forward genetics is that phenotyping of a large collection is difficult and time-consuming, too insensitive for small targets and rare mutations which are usually missed, and that it demands huge land and financial resources. In contrast, many effective reverse-genetic approaches have come into existence recently but most of the approaches tend to be organism-specific. The routine reverse-genetic approaches used in microbes such as homologous recombination prove to be less efficient when applied to plants (Tissier and Bourgeois 2001; Henikoff and Comai 2003). Random insertion mutagenesis using either T-DNA or transposons has been successfully used in Arabidopsis thaliana to assemble mutant libraries, which cover the vast majority of its genes (http://signal.salk.edu). Silencing genes of interest using RNA-interference (RNAi) transhas also become genesis а popular reverse-genetic tool in a few plant species (Mansoor et al. 2006). Many of the currently used reverse-genetic approaches (RNAi, gene knockout, site-directed mutagenesis, transposon tagging) rely on the creation of transgenic material, the development of which is seldom feasible for many plant species due to their recalcitrance for in vitro transformation procedures and also application of these methods involves various ethical and policy issues (Barkley and Wang 2008).

Recently, a new reverse-genetic method called targeting induced local lesions in genomes (TILLING) has been developed to take advantage of new DNA sequence information and to investigate the functions of specific genes (McCallum et al. 2000; Comai and Henikoff 2006). TILLING also shows promise as a nontransgenic tool to improve domesticated crops by introducing and identifying novel genetic variation in genes that affect key traits. TILLING was first developed in *Arabidopsis* (McCallum et al. 2000) and has been successfully applied to identify knockout mutations and provide allelic mutations in target genes from animals and plants (Barkley and Wang 2008). At present the application of TILLING in many plant species is well established. The technique has proved to be valuable in characterizing the function of many target genes in *Arabidopsis* (Greene et al. 2003).

EcoTILLING is a method that uses TILLING techniques to look for natural mutations in individuals, usually for population genetics analysis which was first reported in *Arabidopsis* (Comai et al. 2004) and subsequently used to detect natural allelic variation and the putative gene functions of agriculturally important crops (Gilchrist and Haughn 2005). This approach allows one rapidly to screen through many samples (germplasm) with a gene of interest to identify naturally occurring single nucleotide polymorphisms (SNPs) and/or small insertion-deletion (indel) variations.

The powers of TILLING and EcoTILLING in discovering new traits have been clearly demonstrated by various studies, namely, acyanogenic mutant in sorghum (Blomstedt et al. 2012), high Brix tomato (Bauchet 2002), reduced seed erucic acid content in rapeseed (Wang et al. 2008), and reduced allergen in peanut (Knoll et al. 2009). TILLING approaches have also been successfully employed in isolation of mutants in the starch biosynthetic pathway (Stemple 2004; Slade 2012). Reports of waxy mutant in wheat (Stemple 2004) and high amylose mutant in wheat and maize (Slade 2012) are good examples of effectiveness of reverse-genetic techniques in trait discovery.

The TILLING process involves PCR amplification of pooled DNA (mutant and wild-type) in the presence of fluorescently labeled primers. Mismatched heteroduplexes are generated between wild-type and mutant DNA by melting and reannealing the PCR products (Graham et al. 2005). Heteroduplexes are incubated with the endonuclease CEL I that cleaves mismatched heteroduplex sites, and the resulting products are separated and visualized on sequencing gels or capillaries. Subsequent sequence analysis in heteroduplex regions of individual plant DNAs identifies the mutation. Conventionally, this is carried out in a Li-COR Sequencer. However, Li-COR-based heteroduplex analysis in detecting mutations in a high-throughput fashion involves high cost and is a cumbersome process (Tsai et al. 2011). Hence, to overcome the limitations, TILLING by Li-COR gels has been recently replaced by high-throughput TILLING via rapid-sequencing methods (Tsai et al. 2011).

TILLING and EcoTILLING platforms have been established for a variety of plants including important cereal crops such as maize (Till et al. 2003), wheat (Slade and Knauf 2005), and rice (Till et al. 2007). This chapter presents the current status and promising prospects of TILLING and EcoTILLING with special reference to their applications in sorghum.

2 Status of Functional Genomics in Sorghum

For any breeding program, identification of genes and their function is a prerequisite. In spite of many recent advances in omics studies, this still remains a major challenge in crop plants including sorghum. The available reverse-genetic approaches, T-DNA and transposan tagging, are still not very successful in sorghum as the gene transformation protocols are still inefficient and in addition there are no viable transposan-tagged populations reported thus far with identified active transposable elements (Chopra et al. 1999; Carvalho et al. 2005). Another reverse-genetic RNAiapproach, the mediated gene knockout/knockdown tool, has been employed in many crop plants but is yet to be applied in sorghum.

As with many other cereals, sorghum is also recalcitrant to tissue culture and consequent genetic transformation. Transformation efficiency in sorghum is very low and highly genotype-specific. Apart from these factors, horizontal dispersal of transgenes to the numerous wild and related species of sorghum is also a serious concern especially in the context of this crop being used as a food and animal feed. Ethical issues and public perception on genetically modified (GM) crops further complicates acceptability of GM sorghum (Kresovich et al. 1987; Zhu et al. 1998). Sorghum being less important as a cereal crop, GM research is of lesser priority as compared to principal cereals such as rice, wheat, maize, and barley.

Very few researchers have reported successful sorghum transformation-based genetic improvement in comparison with other cereal crops (Masteller and Holden 1970; Cai et al. 1987; Ma and Liang 1987; Cai and Butler 1990; Casas et al. 1993; Kaeppler and Pederson 1997; Zhu et al. 1998; Zhao et al. 2000, 2003; Able et al. 2001; Emani et al. 2002; Tadesse et al. 2003; Gao et al. 2005). This clearly indicates the technical barrier in the use of genetic transformation as a method of crop improvement in sorghum which is discussed in detail in Chap. 12

With the advent of high-throughput sequencing using next-generation sequencing platforms, sequencing has become faster and cheaper. The relatively small genome size of sorghum (\sim 736 Mb), existence of high genetic diversity, and the diploid nature of its genome and minimal level of gene duplication facilitate functional assignment in sorghum more effectively than many related cereals. These qualities further make sorghum a model system for C₄ crops including maize, pearl millet, and sugarcane. The sorghum draft sequence (https://phytozome.jgi. doe.gov/pz/portal.html#!info?alias=Org_

Sbicolor_er) of cultivar BTx623 serves as an important resource for the identification and isolation of novel and superior alleles of agronomically important genes from sorghum gene pools to deploy them suitably towards development of improved cultivars.

3 TILLING for Agronomic Traits

The first TILLING resource for sorghum was created by Xin et al. (2008) through ethylmethane sulfonate (EMS) mutagenesis of the BTx623 inbred line. They generated 1600 mutant lines with numerous phenotypes with altered agronomic and morphological traits in the M₂ and M₃ population. From 1600 mutants, a set of 768 mutant lines was used in an eightfold pooling strategy in 12×8 well formats for TILLING. There were a total of five mutations with a mutation density of 1/526 kb in four candidate genes: 1-aminocyclopropane-1-carboxylate oxidase (ACO1), caffeic acid O-methyltransferase (COMT), myoinositol kinase 1 (MIK1), and phytochrome A (PHYA). In this TILLING program two promising mutant lines P5A3 and P7H6 were identified in the target gene COMT with missense mutations at different positions of exon 2 that are associated with bm or bmr mutations in maize and sorghum, respectively. These mutants are characterized by a brown midrib in the leaves with reduced lignin content and increased digestibility. The sorghum mutant populations developed in the study have already been distributed to a number of sorghum researchers, and are serving as a valuable resource to isolate mutants for many other traits.

A combined biochemical screening and a TIL-LING approach was used by Blomstedt et al. (2012) to screen acyanogenic or low HCNp lines as well as mutant lines that accumulate high HCNp in mature stages. They generated 4200 M₂ plants and subsequently screened the mutants for their inability to produce HCN through Feigl-Anger assay (Blomstedt et al. 2012). Among 4200 M₂ screened, 264 were found to be putative mutants. Isolated putative mutants were screened for mutations in the key candidate genes in dhurrin biosynthesis, two cytochrome P450 s (CYP79A1 and CYP71E1) and one UDP-glucosyltransferase (UGT85B1). The mutant line P414L with mutation in CYP79A1 was found to be acyanogenic and the mutation in this line was in homozygous condition. The mutant showed a normal phenotype for all morphological features except for its slow growth the early emergence of at seedlings. These TILLING resources are available in the public domain for further trait-based crop improvement through the TILLING program.

4 EcoTILLING in Sorghum

EcoTILLING is a molecular technique developed with an objective to uncover natural genetic variation as opposed to induced mutations. Eco-TILLING can aid in the discovery of natural variants and their putative gene function (Gilchrist and Haughn 2005). This approach allows one rapidly to screen through many samples with a gene of interest to identify naturally occurring SNPs and/or small indels.

A large magnitude of genetic variability is available in sorghum in which many of them were classified, characterized, and evaluated even though there are major gaps specifically for multigenic traits (Rosenow and Dahlberg 2000). ICRISAT maintains 36,774 accessions from 90 different countries which represent about 80 % of the variability present in sorghum (Eberhart et al. 1997). Most of the collections originated from developing countries in the semi-arid tropics. For example, 60 % of the germplasm with ICRISAT originated from India, Ethiopia, Sudan, Cameroon, Swaziland, and Yemen, the largest collection being from India. Upadhyaya et al. (2009) developed a sorghum mini-core collection consisting of 242 accessions that is available for further characterization through TILLING and EcoTILLING.

The USDA together with the Texas Agricultural Experimental Station maintains 42,221 germplasm accessions of sorghum as a part of the National Plant Germplasm System (NPGS; Dahlberg and Spinks 1995). A core collection of >200 accessions from the base collection of 42,221 have been developed at the USDA in Mayagüez, Puerto Rico. These collections represent genes for various agronomically important traits including maturity, drought resistance, plant height, pericarp color, and green bug, aphid, and downy mildew resistance (Dahlberg and Spinks 1995; Sharma et al. 2009).

The extensive examination of genetic diversity in sorghum germplasms and core collections based on origin, race, photoperiod sensitivity, seed quality, agronomic traits, and molecular markers has been established in sorghum. However, this variation has been poorly exploited in terms of crop improvement (Anas and Yoshida 2004; Abu Assar et al. 2005; Deu et al. 2006; Kayode et al. 2006).

An ecoallelic variation in 971 sorghum accessions was studied using genotyping by sequencing (GBS) by Morris et al. (2013). They identified 265,487 SNPs in sorghum germplasm. This genome-wide SNP variation in sorghum provides a basis for crop improvement. TILLING and/or EcoTILLING techniques will be a viable option for the exploitation of sorghum variability in terms of crop improvement which is successfully demonstrated for the isolation of acyanogenic sorghum.

5 Other Mutant Resources in Sorghum

Xin et al. (2009) developed 1600 M₃ annotated pedigreed mutagenized populations using EMS for sorghum genotype BTx623 and their preliminary characterization was carried out for various traits. They also characterized individual M₃ rows for multiple mutant phenotypes. These resources can also be utilized for further exploitation through reverse genetics. Subsequently, they developed 6144 M₄ annotated individually pedigreed mutated sorghum (AIMS) through the single-seed descent method. These mutant lines contain biologically important and agronomically viable mutants, such as brown midrib (bmr) mutants for improved biomass digestibility and ethanol production and erect leaf (erl) mutants for improved capture of canopy temperature and biomass yield. A set of useful mutations harboring potential mutations for dwarfness, early maturity, high lysine, and high protein digestibility have also been identified earlier.

6 TILLING and EcoTILLING by Sequencing

The discovery of mutations in agriculturally important crop plants is critical which is also important for further crop improvement programs. The conventional TILLING procedure consists of mutagenesis, DNA isolation and pooling, and mutation discovery by any one of the methods, namely melting and reannealing the PCR products, cleavage of heteroduplex using CEL I endonucleases, and the resulting products separated and visualized on sequencing gels or capillaries. Subsequent sequence analysis in heteroduplex regions of individual plant DNA identifies the mutation. Recent development in high-throughput sequencing replaces all the labor-intensive and less efficient mutation discovery methods in the conventional TILLING program which is otherwise called TILLING by sequencing.

6.1 Methods and Protocols

Here, we present a protocol for TILLING or EcoTILLING by sequencing protocol that has been successfully employed in our laboratory for isolation of mutations in starch biosynthetic enzymes for altered starch composition in rice and flowering control genes for optimal partitioning of the vegetative and reproductive phases, for increasing number of branches, and synchronized maturity of mungbean for higher yield (publications under preparation). The general workflow of TILLING or EcoTILLING by sequencing is presented in Fig. 1.

6.1.1 Creation of Mutant/Germplasm Panels for TILLING/EcoTILLING

For TILLING and EcoTILLING, a population of mutants/germplasm panel is required. The numbers of mutants/germplasm accessions are fixed as per the wet lab capacity to fit in high-throughput format generally in multiples of 96 samples to fit in the microplates. The generation of mutants and formation of germplasm panels is similar to that of any classical TILLING/EcoTILLING work flow.

6.1.2 DNA Isolation and Quantification

The genomic DNA is commonly extracted using a DNeasy 96 Plant kit (Qiagen, Valencia, CA, USA) according to the manufacturer's instructions. Assessment of DNA concentration is very important for normalization as well as optimization of PCR reaction. The DNA concentrations are measured with Tecan Nano Quant Infinite m200 pro or checked by using 1.5 % agarose gel electrophoresis by comparing with uncut λ DNA. Measured DNA is subsequently normalized to 5 ng/µl. The normalized DNA is used for further downstream applications.

6.1.3 Pooling and Super Pooling

The extracted genomic DNA from 768 individual samples is transferred to eight numbers of 2 ml deep-well plate in 12×8 format (row × column). From the 8 numbers of 1x DNA (96-well) plates, one 8x pooled plate is prepared from the 768 germplasm lines. The 8x pooled plate is further pooled across the columns (12) and rows (8) to prepare a superpool (pool of pool) plate. DNA from the 20 wells of the superpool plate is used for amplification of target genes.

6.1.4 Selection of Candidate Genes for TILLING or EcoTILLING

The candidate genes for TILLING/EcoTILLING are generally selected based on the specific trait to be improved. Key candidate genes whose role in governing a particular trait is well established or genes controlling rate-limiting enzymes of the biosynthetic pathways are usually chosen for the TILLING and EcoTILLING by sequencing program.

6.1.5 Construction of Gene Model for Key Candidate Genes

The gene models are built based on blasting protein and EST sequences of target genes with the genomic sequences using different bioinformatics pipelines such as CODDLE (codons optimized to discover deleterious lesions; http://www.proweb.org/input/) or Genewise (http://cbs.ym.edu.tw/services/genewise/).

6.1.6 Designing Primers to Capture TILLING/EcoTILLING Fragments of Target Key Genes

The TILLING or EcoTILLING fragments of candidate genes with maximum mutation



Creation of mutant population (TILLING) or Collection of germplasm (EcoTILLING) lines with wide geographic and genetic diversity

Isolation of genomic DNA

DNA quantification, normalization, pooling and super pooling

Fishing out genomic, amino acid, and protein sequence of candidate genes for trait of interest

Setting up bioinformatic workflow for fixing TILLING or EcoTILLING fragments and primer synthesis

PCR amplification of TILLING or EcoTILLING fragments and preparation of sequencing libraries

DNA sequencing and bioinformatic assembly for mutation discovery

Phenotyping of selected mutants/plants

Fig. 1 The general workflow of TILLING or EcoTILLING by sequencing

probability for PCR amplification were usually fixed using the CODDLE (http://bioinfo.ut.ee/ primer3/pipeline). Primers for TILLING or EcoTILLING fragments for target genes are designed with PRIMER 3 software embedded with CODDLE. For high robustness in PCR amplification, the primers were developed to meet the following criteria: (i) the amplified fragment must be genome-specific; and (ii) 3' end complementarity and self-complementarity value of the primers should be below 3 and 8, respectively, to reduce the mispriming.

6.1.7 PCR for Amplification of TILLING or EcoTILLING Fragments

The long-range PCR is carried out in a reaction volume of 50 μ l containing 10 μ l of 5x longAMP Taq Reaction buffer (New England Biolabs), 1.5 μ l of dNTPs (10 mM), 2 μ l of each forward and reverse primer (10 μ M), 2 μ l of DMSO, 5 μ l of pooled DNA (50 ng/ μ l), 2 μ l of LongAmp® Taq polymerase (5 unit), and 25.5 μ l sterile water. The following thermal cycling condition is followed: 94 °C for 2 min/30 cycles of 94 °C for 1 min, 60 °C for 50 s, 65 °C for 1 min/kb, with a final extension of 65 °C for 10 min. Amplified PCR products are analyzed in 1 % agarose gel for successful amplification.

6.1.8 Equimolar Pooling of PCR Products

The concentration of all the PCR products is measured individually by using Qubit (Applied Biosystems, Inc.) as per the manufacturer's protocol. To obtain final equimolar pooling of PCR products for all the amplified superpools for all the TILLING or EcoTILLLING fragments, the concentration of the individual amplified superpools is normalized to 20 ng/µl. For equimolar pooling across the gene fragments, calculations are made in consideration of the fact that larger amplicons need a greater number of copies than smaller fragments. The final PCR pool from an individual amplified superpool is prepared with the objective of having the final concentration of 2.0 µg of long amplicons for sequencing.

6.2 Next-Generation Sequencing of Pooled TILLING or EcoTILLING Libraries

6.2.1 Library Preparation

Library preparation is generally carried out using the Ion XpressTM Fragment Library Kit, with 100 ng of DNA. Adapter ligation, size selection, nick repair, and amplification are performed as per manufacturer's instructions (Ion XpressTM Fragment Library Kit-Part Number 4469142 Rev. B). Size selection is executed using the Lab Chip XT (Caliper Life Sciences, PerkinElmer) and the Lab Chip XT DNA 750 Assay Kit (Caliper Life Sciences), with collection between 175 bp and 220 bp. The Agilent 2100 Bioanalyzer (Agilent Technologies) and the related high-sensitivity DNA kit (Agilent Technologies) are used to determine quality and concentration of the libraries. Emulsion PCR and enrichment steps are carried out using the Ion Xpress[™] Template Kit and associated protocol (Part Number 4469004 Rev. B).

6.2.2 Sequencing of TILLING or EcoTILLING Libraries

Individual libraries are barcoded and sequencing is carried out using any one of the nextgeneration sequencing platforms with various data output.

6.2.3 SNP Calling and Data Analysis

Filtering, trimming, and aligning of sequence TILLING or EcoTILLING fragments reference sequences with the specified coordinates, extracted form Genbank, are used with Torrent Suite 1.5. A variant caller is used for filtering the SNP from sequenced contigs. The parameters such as min-max distance, mismatch cost, length fraction, and similarity are selected in order to minimize reads and alignment ambiguities as well to detect rare SNPs. The minimum variant frequency and minimum coverage are set to 0.5 and 20, respectively, which gives variations on or above 0.5 %. These variations are considered SNPs.

6.2.4 Functional Validation of SNPs Through Sorting Tolerant from Intolerant (SIFT) Analysis

Discovered sequence variants are analyzed by the PARSESNP program (http://www.proweb.org/ parsesnp/), which provides information on the location along with the details about amino acid changes and location of the amino acid changes and severity of mutations and provides information on the creation or loss of restriction sites caused by the induced polymorphisms. Addition, deletion, and substitution of each amino acid have the potential effect on protein function (Sim et al. 2012). SIFT (http://sift.jcvi.org/www/SIFT_seq_ submit2.html.) is a Web-based tool that predicts whether amino acid substitution affects protein function and structure based on sequence homology and the physical properties of amino acids (Ng and Henikoff 2003). The predicted SIFT score ranges from 0 to 1. The amino acid substitution is predicted as damaging if the score is <0.05, and tolerated if the score is >0.05.

6.2.5 Comseq Technique to Identify Mutation Through TILLING Approach

This approach combines the celebrated mathematical model of compressed sensing with next-generation sequencing as reported by Nida et al. (2016) in sorghum. This computational approach is used to identify de novo SNPs in a large panel of sorghum TILLING population. This approach is a cost-effective and highly robust tool for the identification of novel SNPs and subsequent utilization in crop improvement programs.

7 Conclusion

TILLING and EcoTILLING as reverse-genetic tools are high-throughput mutation detection systems that are very useful for mining non-transgenic allelic variations in crop genomes. These techniques have demonstrated high efficiency in the discovery of desirable mutants and germplasm resources. These tools are also extremely adoptable by plant breeders. The flexibility of the mutation and natural variant discovery system has allowed the technology to become widely applicable in many crop plants, including sorghum, rice, and wheat since its first development in Arabidopsis a decade ago. Subsequently, there is also growing interest in applying the technique in sorghum breeding programs that need trait-specific improvement. Unlike rice, wheat, and maize, a massive TIL-LING program is yet to be initiated in sorghum. The results from some preliminary studies have discovered promising mutants with acyanogenic or low HCN, brown midrib (bmr) with reduced lignin content and increased digestibility traits. This should encourage sorghum breeders to set up global TILLING and EcoTILLING programs in the near future.

References

- Able JA, Rathus C, Godwin ID (2001) The investigation of optimal bombardment parameters for transient and stable transgene expression in sorghum. Vitro Cell Dev Biol Plant 37:341–348
- Abu Assar AH, Uptmoor R, Abdelmula AA, Salih M, Ordon F, Friedt W (2005) Genetic variation in sorghum germplasm from Sudan, ICRISAT, and USA assessed by simple sequence repeats (SSRs). Crop Sci 45:1636–1644
- Anas, Yoshida T (2004) Sorghum diversity evaluated by simple sequence repeat (SSR) markers and phenotypic performance. Plant Prod Sci 7:301–308
- Barkley NA, Wang ML (2008) Application of TILLING and EcoTILLING as reverse genetic approaches to elucidate the function of genes in plants and animals. Curr Genomics 9:212–226
- Bauchet G (2002) EcoTILLING on tomato core collections for brix: Implementing the methodology and first results. Master Thesis, Wageningen University, The Netherlands
- Blomstedt CK, Gleadow RM, O'Donnell N, Naur P, Jensen K, Laursen T, Olsen CE, Stuart P, Hamill JD, Møller BL, Neale AD (2012) A combined biochemical screen and TILLING approach identifies mutations in *Sorghum bicolor* L. Moench resulting in acyanogenic forage production. Plant Biotechnol J 10:54–66
- Brady SM, Provart NJ (2007) Extreme breeding: leveraging genomics for crop improvement. J Sci Food Agric 87:925–929. doi:10.1002/jsfa.2763
- Cai T, Butler L (1990) Plant regeneration from embryogenic callus initiated from immature inflorescences of several high-tannin sorghums. Plant Cell Tiss Org Cult 20:101–110

- Cai T, Daly B, Butler L (1987) Callus induction and plant regeneration from shoot portions of mature embryos of high-tannin sorghum. Plant Cell Tiss Org Cult 9:245–252
- Carvalho CH, Boddu J, Zehr UB, Axtell JD, Pedersen JF, Chopra S (2005) Genetic and molecular characterization of *Candystripel* transposition events in sorghum. Genetica 124:201–212
- Casas AM, Kononowicz AK, Zehr UB, Tomes DT, Axtell JD, Butler LG, Bressan RA, Hasegawa PM (1993) Transgenic sorghum plants via microprojectile bombardment. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 90:11212– 11216
- Chopra S, Brendel V, Zhang J, Axtell JD, Peterson T (1999) Molecular characterization of a mutable pigmentation phenotype and isolation of the first active transposable element from Sorghum bicolor. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 96:15330–15335
- Comai L, Henikoff S (2006) TILLING: practical single-nucleotide mutation discovery. Plant J 45:684–694
- Comai L, Young K, Till BJ, Reynolds SH, Greene EA, Codomo CA, Enns LC, Johnson JE, Burtner C, Odden AR, Henikoff S (2004) Efficient discovery of DNA polymorphisms in natural populations by Ecotilling. Plant J 37(5): 778–786
- Dahlberg JA, Spinks M (1995) Current status of the U. S. sorghum germplasm collection. Sorghum Newsl 36:4–11
- Deu M, Rattunde F, Chantereau J (2006) A global view of genetic diversity in cultivated sorghums using a core collection. Genome 49:168–180
- Eberhart SA, Bramel Cox PJ, Prasada Rao KE (1997) Preserving genetic resources. IPages 25–41. In: Proceedings of the international conference on genetic improvement of sorghum and pearl millet, Holiday Inn Plaza, Lubbock, Texas. Lincoln, Nebraska, USA: INTSORMIL/ICRISAT, pp 25–41. 22–27 Sep 1996
- Emani C, Sunilkumar G, Rathore KS (2002) Transgene silencing and reactivation in sorghum. Plant Sci 162:181–192
- Gao Z, Jayaraj J, Muthukrishnan S, Claflin L, Liang GH (2005) Efficient genetic transformation of sorghum using a visual screening marker. Genome 48:321–333
- Gilchrist EJ, Haughn GW (2005) TILLING without a plough: a new method with applications for reverse genetics. Curr Opin Plant Biol 8:211–215
- Gottlieb LD (1984) Genetics and morphological evolution in plants. Am Nat 123:681–709
- Graham R, Liew M, Meadows C, Lyon E, Wittwer CT (2005) Distinguishing different DNA heterozygotes by high-resolution melting. Clin Chem 51:1295–1298
- Greene EA, Codomo A, Taylor NE, Henikoff JG, Till BJ, Reynolds SH, Enns LC, Burtner C, Johnson JE, Odden AR, Comai L, Henikoff S (2003) Spectrum of chemically induced mutations from a large-scale reverse-genetic screen in Arabidopsis. Genetics 164:731–740
- Henikoff S, Comai L (2003) Single-nucleotide mutations for plant functional genomics. Annu Rev Plant Biol 54:375–401

- Kaeppler HF, Pederson JF (1997) Evaluation of 41 elite and exotic inbred Sorghum genotypes for high quality callus production. Plant Cell Tiss Org Cult 48:71–75
- Kayode APP, Linnemann AR, Nout MJR, Hounhouigan JD, Stomph TJ, Smulders MJM (2006) Diversity and food quality properties of farmers' varieties of sorghum from Benin. J Sci Food Agri 86:1032–1039
- Knoll J, Chu Y, Holbrook CC, Ozias-Akins P (2009) Genetic modification of *Arachis hypogaea* for quality traits. In: Proceedings 4th international conference on advances in *Arachis* through genomics and biotechnology, p 35
- Kresovich S, McGee RE, Panella L, Reilley AA, Miller FR (1987) Application of cell and tissue culture techniques for the genetic improvement of sorghum, *Sorghum bicolor* (L.) Moench: progress and potential. Adv Agron 41:147–170
- Ma H, Liang GH (1987) Plant regeneration from cultured immature embryos of *Sorghum bicolor* (L.) Moench. Theor Appl Genet 73:389–394
- Mansoor S, Amin I, Hussain M, Zafar Y, Briddon RW (2006) Engineering novel traits in plants through RNA interference. Trends Plant Sci 11:559–565
- Masteller VJ, Holden DJ (1970) The growth and organ formation from callus tissue of sorghum. Plant Physiol 45:362–364
- McCallum CM, Comai L, Elizabeth A, Greene SH (2000) Targeting induced local lesions in genomes (TIL-LING) for plant functional genomics. Plant Physiol 123:439–442
- Morris GP, Ramu P, Deshpande SP, Hash CT, Shah T et al (2013) Population genomic and genome-wide association studies of agroclimatic traits in sorghum. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 110:453–458
- Ng PC, Henikoff S (2003) SIFT: predicting amino acid changes that affect protein function. Nucleic Acids Res 31(13):3812
- Nida H, Blum S, Zielinski D, Srivastava DA, Elbaum R, Xin Z, Erlich Y, Fridman E, Shental N (2016) Highly efficient de novo mutant identification in a *Sorghum bicolor* TILLING population using the ComSeq approach. Plant J Accepted Author Manuscript. doi:10.1111/tpj.13161
- Rosenow DT, Dahlberg JA (2000) Collection, conversion, and utilization of sorghum. In: Smith CW, Frederiksen RA (eds) Sorghum: origin, history, technology, and production. Wiley, New York, USA, pp 309–328
- Sharma R, Rao VP, Upadhyaya HD, Reddy VG, Thakur RP (2009) Resistance to grain mold and downy mildew in a mini core collection of sorghum germplasm. Plant Dis 94(4):439–444
- Sim S, Ramirez JL, Dimopoulos G (2012) Dengue virus infection of the Aedes aegypti salivary gland and chemosensory apparatus Induces Genes that modulate infection and blood-feeding behavior. PLoS Pathog 8 (3):e1002631

- Slade AJ, Knauf VC (2005) TILLING moves beyond functional genomics into crop improvement. Transgenic Res 14:109–115
- Slade AJ, McGuire C, Loeffler D, Mullenberg J, Skinner W, Fazio G (2012) Development of high amylose wheat through TILLING. BMC Plant Biol 12:69
- Stemple DL (2004) TILLING—a high-throughput harvest for functional genomics. Nat Rev Genet 5:145–150
- Tadesse Y, Sagi L, Swennen R, Jacobs M (2003) Optimization of transformation conditions and production of transgenic sorghum (*Sorghum bicolor*) via microprojectile bombardment. Plant Cell Tiss Org Cult 75:1–18
- Till BJ, Reynolds EA, Greene CA, Codomo LC, Enns JE, Johnson C, Burtner AR, Odden K, Young NE, Taylor JG, Henikoff S, Comai L, Henikoff S (2003) Large-scale discovery of induced point mutations with high-throughput TILLING. Genome Res 13:524–530
- Till BJ, Cooper J, Tai TH, Colowit P, Greene EA, Henikoff S, Comai L (2007) Discovery of chemically induced mutations in rice by TILLING. BMC Plant Biol 7:19
- Tissier A, Bourgeois P (2001) Reverse genetics in plants. Curr Genomics 2:269–284
- Tsai H, Tyson H, Rebecca N, Victor M, Brian W et al (2011) Discovery of Rare Mutations in Populations: TILLING by Sequencing. Plant Physiol 156:1257–1268

- Upadhyaya HD, Pundir RPS, Dwivedi SL, Gowda CLL, Reddy VG, Singh S (2009) Developing a mini core collection of sorghum for diversified utilization of germplasm. Crop Sci 49:1769–1780
- Wang N, Wang Y, Tian F, King GJ, Zhang C, Long Y, Shi L, Meng J (2008) A functional genomics resource for *Brassica napus*: development of an EMS mutagenized population and discovery of FAE1 point mutations by TILLING. New Phytol 180(4):751–765
- Xin Z, Wang ML, Barkley NA, Burow G, Franks C, Pederson G, Burke J (2008) Applying genotyping (TILLING) and phenotyping analyses to elucidate gene function in a chemically induced sorghum mutant population. BMC Plant Biol 8:103
- Xin Z, Wang M, Burow G, Burke J (2009) An induced sorghum mutant population suitable for bioenergy research. Bioenergy Res 2:10–16
- Zhao Z, Cai T, Tagliani L, Miller M, Wang N, Pang H, Rudert M, Schroeder S, Hondred D, Seltzer J, Pierce D (2000) Agrobacterium-mediated sorghum transformation. Plant Mol Biol 44:789–798
- Zhu H, Muthukrishnan S, Krishnaveni S, Wilde G, Jeoung JM, Liang GH (1998) Biolistic transformation of sorghum using a rice chitinase gene. J Genet Plant Breed 52:243–252

Sorghum-Associated Bacterial Communities—Genomics and Research Perspectives

15

Mandira Kochar and Pushplata Singh

Abstract

Sorghum is known to be intolerant to soil acidity and grows best in the pH range of 5.7–6.4. Consequently, its associations with metabolically versatile plant growth promoting bacterial strains in the rhizosphere are likely to be helpful as they will be able to support the growth of the host plant even under varying rhizospheric conditions by improving root growth. The mechanism of the phytohormones crosstalking with each other and integration of the signaling pathways have been deciphered to a large extent in plants, yet the interrelationship between the bacterial plant growth regulators has not yet been unraveled. In-depth understanding of sorghum genomics is necessary for improving sorghum composition and agronomic behavior. Along with this, innovative strategies and genomics and transcriptomics studies can be designed to understand the microbial communities associated with sorghum. These offer an environmentally sustainable approach to increase sorghum production and health.

1 Introduction

Improving productivity is the biggest challenge before agricultural scientists, and this is more challenging under the harsh conditions where crops such as sorghum are grown. Endogenous or genetically modified plant rhizosphere-associated bacteria can significantly enhance plant productivity (e.g., Berg 2009; Compant et al. 2005; Glick 2012; Schenk et al. 2012) as such strains have specific mechanisms to benefit plant hosts either directly or indirectly. These predominantly include rhizosphere bacteria that can utilize the nutrients secreted by the plants in the form of root exudates consisting of carbon and energy sources (Dobbelaere et al. 2003; Kochar et al. 2013). The rhizosphere environment is created by the release of carbon-rich root exudates, which act as nutrients for microbes making it a "hot-spot" for microbial growth (Morgan and White 2005; Hartmann et al. 2009). Endophytic environments correspond to

S. Rakshit and Y.-H. Wang (eds.), *The Sorghum Genome*, Compendium of Plant Genomes, DOI 10.1007/978-3-319-47789-3_15

M. Kochar $(\boxtimes) \cdot P$. Singh

TERI-Deakin Nanobiotechnology Centre, The Energy and Resources Institute, Darbari Seth Block, India Habitat Centre, New Delhi 110003, India e-mail: mandira.kochar@teri.res.in

 $[\]ensuremath{\mathbb{C}}$ Springer International Publishing AG 2016

microenvironments localized inside plant organs and tissues (Saito et al. 2007). In such environments, bacteria have been shown to have neutral, detrimental, or beneficial effects on plants (for reviews, see Berg 2009; Schenk et al. 2012). Successful colonization is determined by the bacterium's ability to maintain and grow on or around the root, thereby becoming rhizosphere competent. In order to successfully establish an association with the host plant, an active microbial population needs to recognize and utilize nutrients, signals, and toxins (Simons et al. 1996). In addition, studies have shown the importance of environmental factors in a rhizosphere bacteria-host plant relationship (Bashan 1998; Kochar et al. 2013; Bashan et al. 2013; Koul et al. 2015a).

2 Sorghum Rhizosphere: Allelopathic Root Exudates and Rhizospheric Bacteria

It is well established that microflora in the rhizosphere interact with the crop plants leading to synergistic reactions. Sorghum-associated bacteria have been isolated and identified in only a few studies (Budi et al. 1999a, b; Zinniel et al. 2002). Some of the identified bacteria such as Klebsiella pneumoniae, Enterobacter cloacae, and Erwinia herbicola exhibit plant growth promoting (PGP) traits such as nitrogen-fixation (Pedersen et al. 1978), whereas others, Paenibacillus sp. strain B2 and Pseudomonas spp., exhibit biocontrol capabilities (Budi et al. 1999a, b; Funnel-Harris et al. 2013). Interestingly, 13 definite and constant operational taxonomic units (OTUs) were observed in the rhizosphere and rhizoplane of sorghum grown in South Africa. These are Acetobacter, Azospirillum, Bradyrhizobium, and the cyanobacterial species, Synechococcus (Ramond et al. 2013). Furthermore, denaturing gradient gel electrophoresis (DGGE) analysis also identified the ubiquitous presence of cyanobacterial strains Nostoc sp., Synechococcus from the root, and Pantoea sp. from the shoot samples of sorghum. Escherichia sp. and Vibrio sp. were identified along with other uncultured bacteria in rhizosphere samples,

and *Bacillus* sp. was the major bacterial taxa identified using DGGE in sorghum rhizoplane samples (Ramond et al. 2013).

Sorghum shows higher bacterial diversity in its rhizosphere and rhizoplane than endophytic diversity on the root, shoot, and stem (Ramond et al. 2013). This is due to different nutrient availabilities in the rhizosphere as a result of exudation of carbon- and nutrient-rich compounds by the sorghum roots. Exudates produced by different sorghum accessions vary in their chemical composition with sorgoleone as the primary constituent, and 5-ethoxysorgoleone and 2, 5-dimethoxysorgoleone being the other major components (Czarnota et al. 2003). Sorghum is allelopathic as it represses the growth of weeds and injures subsequently grown crops. This allelopathic potential is a result of the sorgoleone and a resorcinol analogue present in the root exudate (Netzly et al. 1988; Erickson et al. 2001; Czarnota et al. 2003; Dayan et al. 2003).

The sorghum rhizospheric and endophytic cyano/bacterial taxa (Acetobacter sp., Azospirillum sp., Bradyrhizobium sp., Pantoea sp., Bacillus sp., and Synechococcus sp.) include strains with known PGP traits, especially the diazotrophic nature and production of phytohormes (Lugtenberg et al. 1991; Bai et al. 2002; Kevin Vessey 2003; Loiret et al. 2004; Coelho et al. 2008; Terakado-Tonooka et al. 2008; Franche et al. 2009; Rout and Chrzanowski 2009; Saharan and Nehra 2011). These are ideal targets for genetic engineering for upregulation of PGP traits and improved root behavior (Malhotra and Srivastava 2006). The PGP diazotrophic bacteria provide additional N to plants (Kevin Vessey 2003; Berg 2009; Franche et al. 2009), contributing to the elevated N-uptake capacity of sorghum roots. The microbial nifH gene has been used as a reference gene to study rhizospheric and endophytic microbial diversity as well as in metagenomic studies to identify the diazotrophic communities present in sorghum and to confirm their role in providing bioavailable N to sorghum (Coelho et al. 2008, 2009a, b). Marked shifts in diazotrophic bacterial communities have been observed in rhizosphere versus nonrhizosphere soils, which is influenced by cultivar type and amount of fertilizer used (low N vs. high N) as observed in the case of cultivar BRS 308 versus cultivar BRS 310 (Coelho et al. 2009a, b). Studies that show the effect of high or low N on diazotrophic microbial communities in natural soils are important and are a future research scope.

Various bacterial species that have been identified to be associated with sorghum are highlighted in Table 1. Interestingly, some studies also suggest microbial endosymbionts contribute significantly to Sorghum halepense invasions by augmenting the plant biomass, growth rate, and competitive effects, as well as herbivore defense (Rout 2011). This work shows that these invasive plant traits are microbially mediated and this novel invasion strategy is termed microbially enhanced competitive ability (MECA), wherein microbial associations significantly contribute to plant traits that are involved in or affected by invasion (Rout et al. 2013). Strong correlations between sorghum-associated bacterial community assemblages and geographical origin have been reported recently for rhizospheric samples (Ramond et al. 2013). Studies also point to the fact that soil structure and composition play a significant role in determining the sorghum-associated rhizospheric microbial communities rather than the sorghum plant itself (Hinsinger et al. 2009).

3 Nitrification Inhibition: Sorghum– Microbe Interaction

Nitrification, denitrification, ammonification, organic matter mineralization/immobilization, and nitrogen fixation are the key processes involved in N₂ cycling in soils. Nitrogen (N₂) present in the atmosphere is generally unusable by plants. To assimilate this as a nutrient, the nitrogenase enzyme present in nitrogen-fixing microbes catalyzes the conversion of N₂ to ammonia (NH₃). The transformation of organic nitrogen to the ammonia (NH₃) and ammonium (NH₄⁺) forms or ammonification is followed by transformation of NH₃ to the nitrate form (NO₃⁻) by nitrification (carried out by nitrifying bacteria,

Nitrosomonas and *Nitrobacter*). A form of respiration, denitrification is carried out by microorganisms under low oxygen conditions wherein specific bacteria use NO_3^- to carry out their metabolic functions. Herein, NO_3^- is reduced to NO_2^- and N_2O (nitrous oxide)/ N_2 . N_2O is a potent greenhouse agent, an ozone-depleting catalyst, and presents a serious problem due to its long atmospheric lifetime of 114 years (Ravishankara et al. 2009).

Nitrification is one of the main causes of inefficient N use and N loss-associated environmental pollution as a result of leaching and denitrification. Nitrification-denitrification by bacteria has been established as an enzymatic process with nitric oxide (NO) being an obligatory intermediate (Molina-Favero et al. 2007) and is the principal agricultural source of N₂O emissions. The N₂O levels in the atmosphere have been increasing at an alarming rate and are expected to increase further unless remedial measures are taken to reduce these emissions (Galloway et al. 2008; Schlesinger 2009). In undisturbed ecosystems, ~ 10 % of the total N undergoes nitrification, whereas in modern agricultural systems ~ 95 % of total N streams through nitrification-denitrification (Subbarao et al. 2015). These modern systems are accountable for low-N recovery and use efficiency, have disrupted the N₂ cycling in nature, reduced soil organic matter, and altered soil properties along with its microbial activity (Dinnes et al. 2002). As a result high-nitrifying soil environments are created where NO3 accounts for ~95 % crop N uptake (Russell et al. 2009; Subbarao et al. 2013). Hence, the soil microbial biomass has been severely deteriorated in modern agricultural systems, leading to decoupling/discrepancies between N mineralization and plant N demand (Perveen et al. 2014).

In this scenario if nitrification is repressed, N recovery and its crop uptake can be improved, leading to reduced N_2O emissions (Subbarao et al. 2006a; Zakir et al. 2008). This can be achieved by the release of nitrification inhibitors (biological nitrification inhibition or BNI) from plant roots or the application of artificial inhibitors (allylthiourea, AT; nitrapyrin and

Ecological niche	Cultured/closest cultured match	Taxonomic group and knownReferencestraits of closest match if available	
Sorghum root	Various cyanobacterial 16S rRNA gene, including <i>Synechococcus</i> sp. clone R4CP3R1F09 [HQ018568.1]	Cyanobacteria	Ramond et al. (2013)
Sorghum shoot	Enterobacteriaceae, including <i>Pantoea</i> agglomerans strains CECRI-IOC29 IGCAR-17/07 and IGCAR-18/07; <i>Pantoea</i> dispersa strain BH103 and <i>Pantoea</i> ananatis strain JB1/KB-10511	γ-Proteobacteria Ramond et al. (2013)	
Sorghum rhizosphere	<i>Escherichia coli</i> strain G4M80 [GU646119.1]	γ-Proteobacteria	Ramond et al. (2013)
	<i>Escherichia fergusonii</i> strain BAN86 [JX415362.1]	γ-Proteobacteria	Ramond et al. (2013)
	γ-Proteobacteria, including Vibrio sp. U32 [AY864627.1]	γ-Proteobacteria	Ramond et al. (2013)
	Paenibacillus sp.	Firmicutes-Bacillales	Coelho et al. (2008)
	Mesorhizobium loti AB367742.1	a-Rhizobiales	Coelho et al. (2009a, b)
	Azohydromonas australica AB188121.1	β-Burkholderiales	Coelho et al. (2009a, b)
	Klebsiella pneumoniae AY242355.1	γ-Enterobacteriales	Coelho et al. (2009a, b)
	Azohydromonas lata AB188122.1	β-Burkholderiales	Coelho et al. (2009a, b)
	Delftia tsuruhatensis AY544164.1	β-Burkholderiales	Coelho et al. (2009a, b)
	Bradyrhizobium sp. AB079620.1	a-Rhizobiales	Coelho et al. (2009a, b)
	Azospirillum brasilense	a-Rhodospirillales	Coelho et al. (2009a, b)
	Bacillus spp. KB122 [JQ623487], KB129 [JQ623488], KB133 [JQ623489], and KB142 [JQ623490]	Firmicutes-Bacillales	Grover et al. (2014)
	Pseudomonas sp., P. chloraphis	γ-Pseudomonadales; Phytopathogen biocontrol	Das et al. (2008)
Sorghum Rhizomes	Xanthomonas melonis, strain LMG8670 [Y10756]	γ-Xanthomonadales; plant pathogen	Rout and Chrzanowski (2009), Rout (2011)
	Agrobacterium Tumefaciens [M11223]	a-Rhizobiales; plant pathogen, organism fixes N	Rout and Chrzanowski (2009), Rout (2011)
	Sphingobium amiense strain YT [AB047364]	a-Sphingomonadales; N2-fixation in former,	Rout and Chrzanowski

 Table 1
 Bacterial associations with sorghum

(continued)

Ecological niche	Cultured/closest cultured match	Taxonomic group and known traits of closest match if available	References
		nonylphenol degradation in latter	(2009), Rout (2011)
	Pseudomonas jessenii, strain CIP105274 [AF068259]	γ-Pseudomonadales; produces Fe-siderophores, solubilizes PO4	Rout and Chrzanowski (2009), Rout (2011)
	Caulobacter vibroides strain 15252T [AJ227756]	a-Caulobacterales; Horizontal gene transfer reported with N ₂ -fixing organisms	Rout and Chrzanowski (2009), Rout (2011)
Sorghum rhizoplane	Bacillus megaterium strain JL35-9 [JN118434.1]	Firmicutes-Bacillales	Ramond et al. (2013)
	Various <i>Bacillus megaterium</i> strains including the pesticide degrading strain APDB9 [JX274543.1] and strain GMC5001-b [AB741472.1]	Firmicutes-Bacillales	Ramond et al. (2013)
	Bacillus megaterium strains AIMST 3.24.2 [HQ694028.1] and AIMST 1. Hb.20 [HQ670443.1]	Firmicutes-Bacillales	Ramond et al. (2013)

Table 1 (continued)

dicyandiamide, DCD; and 3, 4-dimethylpyrazole phosphate, DMPP) which can help to reduce the excessive nitrification (Slangen and Kerkhoff 1984; Smart and Bloom 2001).

By virtue of its role in determining N-cycling efficiency, nitrification is the most important process for retaining N in the ecosystem and curbing nitrification will minimize N-leakage and enable N-flow through NH₄⁺ assimilation (Subbarao et al. 2013). Although plants and microbes have the ability to utilize NH_4^+ or NO_3^- as the N source, not much literature is available to identify the extent of their utilization in relation to the ecosystem (Boudsocq et al. 2009). Suppressing soil nitrification should thus not limit the availability of inorganic N for growth of the plants or microbial activity. To supplement this, H⁺ are released by plant roots on NH4+ absorption and assimilation, which acidifies the rhizosphere, and improves the P pool available to the plants.

Among all important cereal crops cultivated (including wheat, barley, rice, and maize), only sorghum, which is adapted to low-N input environments, has been found to have significant BNI capacity (Subbarao et al. 2007). As an adaptation mechanism, BNI allows the plants to retain and use N efficiently in N-limiting ecosystems (Subbarao et al. 2015). Sorghum was found to release 20 allylthiourea units (ATU) g⁻¹ root DW d⁻¹ in normal conditions and this release of BNI compounds was shown to increase with growth stage and NH_4^+ supply (Subbarao et al. 2007; Zakir et al. 2008). Interestingly, plants grown with supplemented NH₄⁺ released severalfold higher BNI compounds than NO_3 -grown plants (Zakir et al. 2008). Subbarao et al. (2015) hypothesized that the BNI release from sorghum roots may be a localized phenomenon confined to the part interacting with NH_4^+ , not the bulk root, and their transport is driven by an ATPase for NH4⁺ uptake and assimilation.

Although some early reports hinted at the possibility of production of nitrification inhibitors from sorghum roots (Alsaadawi 1988), the first active constituent was identified in 2008 from the hydrophilic fraction as methyl 3-(4-hydroxyphenyl) propionate (MHPP; Zakir et al. 2008). Recent work has identified two categories of BNI compounds: hydrophilic- and hydrophobic-BNIs. Addition of hydrophilic BNIs (10 ATUg⁻¹ soil) showed ~40 % inhibition of soil nitrification over a 30-day period. Sakuranetin (ED₈₀ 0.6 µM; part of hydrophilic-BNI fraction) and sorgoleone (ED₈₀ 13.0 µM; part of hydrophobic-BNIs fraction) were identified as active BNI components that inhibited Nitrosomonas europaea by blocking the ammonia monooxygenase (AMO) and hydroxylamine oxidoreductase (HAO) enzymes involved in NH_4^+ oxidation to NO_2^- . Sakuranetin has a stronger inhibitory activity (ED₅₀ 0.2μ M) than MHPP (ED₅₀ 100 μ M; Subbarao et al. 2013). The other reason for Nitrosomonas inhibition could be that the disruption of the electron transfer pathway from BNI activity interferes with the metabolic functions and thus bioluminescence emission from the recombinant N. europaea (Subbarao et al. 2006a, b). Figure 1

depicts the model highlighting the role of BNI with respect to the nitrification and denitrification pathways and microbes that may be operating in the sorghum rhizosphere. Nitrification is carried out mainly by chemolithoautotrophic ammoniaoxidizing bacteria (AOB, *Nitrosomonas* spp.) and nitrite-oxidizing bacteria (*Nitrobacter*). However, this process may be more complex, involving autotrophic Archaea nitrifiers, heterotrophic nitrifiers, and anammox bacteria and plant interactions with these associated microbes.

The fungal, actinomycete, and ammonifier viable counts have been found to be reduced in Indian field soils of "very high" input (fertilizer and pesticide usage, e.g., chilies) in comparison to "lower input" production systems (e.g., black gram), causing a reduction in the fungi-to-bacteria ratio, and a drastic change in the eubacterial community and diversity profile over normal rates of fertilizer and pesticide usage thereby affecting soil health (Malhotra et al. 2015). This may very well



Fig. 1 Model highlightling the role of biological nitrification inhibition (BNI) with respect to the nitrogen cycle and nitric oxide metabolism by bacteria (Adapted and modified from Koul et al. 2015b.)

be the case with sorghum-associated microbial community dynamics due to its low input nature. Furthermore, it has also been shown that sorghum rhizospheric microbial communities are less variable than their endophytic counterparts and the main driver of these niche-specific assemblages is the geographical location and the total NO_3^- and NH_4^+ (nitrogen), carbon, and pH (Ramond et al. 2013). Endogenous NH_4^+ may be a regulator in adjusting phenylalanine ammonia lyase (PAL) activity or other related enzymes, which may be involved in other metabolic changes, including not only the production of BNI compounds but also signalling the membrane for BNI compound release (Zakir et al. 2008).

4 Mechanism of Sorghum–Microbe Interaction: Direct and Indirect

Microbes help to promote plant growth by different mechanisms and are classified according to their beneficial effects. For instance, biofertilizers include N2-fixing bacteria, biomineralizers break down complex molecules to release simple usable nutrients, phytostimulators produce phytohormones and plant growth regulators that directly promote plant growth and bioprotectants, or biocontrol PGPRs protect plants from phytopathogens. Of these, the first three are categorized as direct effectors of PGP (includes the Azospirilla, Rhizobia, Paenibacillus, Caulobacter) and the latter are often referred to as indirect effectors of PGP (exemplified by the Pseudomonads). The readers are directed to Tables 1 and 2 for details of the microbes that affect plants. Although direct mechanisms of effector strains involve the utilization of microbial functions/products by plants, indirect mechanisms involve suppression of the deleterious effects of phytopathogens on crop yield.

PGPB-mediated direct enhancement of plant growth includes the fixation of nitrogen for the plant, and solubilization of inorganic and mineralization of organic phosphate complexes. In addition, the production of various phytohormones (including auxin-indole-3 acetic acid), vitamins, and gaseous molecules such as nitric oxide, are also implicated in direct improvement of root growth in terms of root hairs and lateral roots, and the synthesis of some enzymes (such as ACC deaminase) that modulate the level of the plant hormone ethylene also lead to improved plant growth (Dobbelaere et al. 1999a, b, 2003; Mandira Malhotra 2007; Kochar et al. 2013; Koul et al. 2015a, b).

Indirect effects are mediated by the ability to synthesize antifungal metabolites such as antibiotics, fungal cell wall-lyzing enzymes such as chitinases and glucanases, hydrogen cyanide, or the production of siderophores that chelate iron, thereby suppressing the growth of pathogens (Glick 1995; Bloemberg and Lugtenberg 2001; Das et al. 2008).

5 Crosstalk Between Various Pathways and Different Biofertilizers

The rhizosphere and its inhabiting microorganisms fulfill important ecological functions, for example, nutrient recycling, and are responsible for plant growth and health (Sørensen 1997). Additionally, this microenvironment is known as a "microbial hot-spot" where diverse interactions between organisms, beneficial as well as pathogenic, take place (Whipps 2001). A more robust root system will help the plant to anchor and acquire nutrients more effectively, leading to better growth. PGPB strains are known to employ one or more of the direct or indirect mechanisms in conjunction in the rhizosphere, and modulate the same in terms of prevailing environmental conditions.

Rout and Chrzanowski (2009) presented a conceptual framework of microbial processes occurring in the rhizosphere of the invasive *Sorghum halepense*. They explained the feedback loop based on N-cycling, the modification of resource availability that brings about the observed changes in the biogeochemical environment. The N₂ is fixed by N₂-fixing bacteria in the *S. halepense* rhizome, the majority NH_4^+ is then shuttled into the plant (with some rhizosphere loss), and the remainder is converted rapidly into NO_3^- . NH_4^+

S. no.	Mechanisms	Bacterial genera	References
1	Root-associated nitrogen fixation	Azospirillum, Cyanobacteria, Herbaspirillum, Klebsiella, Enterobacter cloacae, Erwinia herbicola	Steenhoudt and Vanderleydern (2000), Rout (2011)
2	Production of plant hormones (e.g., auxin)	Azospirillum, Serratia, Sinorhizobium	Malhotra and Srivastava (2006), Malhotra and Srivatsava (2008), Golubev et al. (2011), Gujral et al. (2013)
3	Phosphate solubilization	Serratia sp., Bacillus licheniformis, Pseudomonas spp.	Gujral et al. (2013)
4	Production of signal molecules such as nitric oxide	Azospirillum brasilense,	Koul et al. (2015b)
5	Increased colonization by arbuscular mycorrhizal fungi	Azospirillum, Pseudomonas	Pacovsky (1988, 1989)
6	Aromatic hydrocarbon degrading, polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbons bioremediation	Sinorhizobium	Golubev et al. (2011)
7	Increased resistance to adverse conditions (drought, salinity, compost toxicity)	Azospirillum, Pseudomonas, Arbuscular mycorrhizal fungi	Yoneyama et al. (2007), Ali et al. (2009)
8	Biocontrol, antagonistic molecules such as cyclic peptides	Pseudomonas chloraphis, Pseudomonas sp.	Das et al. (2008), Begum et al. (2014)

 Table 2
 Different mechanisms employed by plant growth promoting bacteria to benefit sorghum

and NO_2^- metabolism acidifies soil and promotes dissolution of hydroxyapatite, increasing available P, Ca²⁺, and Fe²⁺ for plant uptake. These processes are promoted by the action of endophytic pseudomonads. These secondary microbial processes not only help condition soils but also favor the persistence of this successful invasive *Sorghum* species.

The environmental conditions hold the key as bacterial cell survival is of paramount importance before any PGP activity can be mined. Furthermore, a part of the root exudates released by the plants into the rhizosphere creates а conducive/favorable environment for diverse microbial growth thereby improving plant productivity. Microbes maintain a critical mass of cells so that they can excrete essential metabolites above a threshold concentration that is required by the associated host plant. NO, a small diatomic molecule, is gaining immense importance in the field of research that can be

substantiated by an increase in the number of publications elucidating its role in mammals, plants, and most important, bacteria (Koul et al. 2015a). However, the exact working mechanism of NO is still widely debated due to its gaseous and highly reactive nature which causes experimental limitations. Also, inadequate information is available about various NO-responsive and influenced genes. Similarly, indole-3-acetic acid (IAA) has long been known as an essential phytohormone, but on IAA exposure, a number of bacterial genes are influenced. It is likely that IAA and NO produced by PGP bacteria may interact in the rhizosphere with other members of the rhizosphere microbiome and the presence of s54 transcription for genes involved in the metabolism of such plant growth regulators may open up a field of study under changing environments (nutrient and limiting environment conditions). The bacterial NO- and IAA-induced genes or proteins may play an important role in

signaling and sensing of other hormones by plants in the rhizosphere.

We recently developed a hypothetical model highlighting the crosstalk involving plant growth regulators, IAA (auxin) and NO (gasotransmitter) produced by the rhizosphere bacteria Azospirillum brasilense strain SM, based on their effect on Sorghum we observed in the lab (Koul et al. 2015a, b). This model emphasizes the importance of signaling involving IAA and NO and their likely common genetic regulation (Fig. 2). For better understanding of these interactions more information needs to be gathered about the genes and proteins involved in these processes and the points of interplay. Future efforts should be made to identify differentially expressed genes in response to these plant growth regulators and their relevance in improving plant growth as many of the PGP bacteria act as biofertilizers. Keeping in view the current available information, interplay between different plant growth regulators, for example, IAA and NO, cannot be ruled out in the rhizosphere bacteria.

Consequently, it is extremely important to study the extent of influence of microbial plant growth regulators IAA and NO so that their effect on plants can be judged for their appropriate action and application. It is also very important to consider the effect of the root exudate on PGPB gene expression. We have studied the effect of sorghum root exudate (SRE) on IAA and NO metabolism genes of the PGPB, A. brasilense SM and our unpublished results suggested that the indole-3-pyruvate decarboxylase (*ipdC*) gene expression did not change significantly in the presence of SRE. However, changes in expression of the nitrous oxide reductase (nosZ) and nitric oxide reductase (norB) were noted. In the case of nosZ expression, when strain SM was grown without tryptophan (IAA substrate) supplementation but in the presence of SREs no significant change in expression was noted. On the other hand, on tryptophan and SRE supplementation, a significant increase in nosZ was observed. In the case of norB expression, a fiveto sixfold increase was recorded when there was



Fig. 2 Schematic representation of the crosstalk involving phytohormones/gasotransmitters produced by rhizosphere bacteria and their effect on the host plant (Modified from Koul et al. 2015a.)

no additional tryptophan supplement provided to the bacterial culture. When tryptophan supplementation was provided along with SREs the bacteria showed 15-fold higher expression. Because SRE contains BNI compounds such as sorgoleone, their effect on the genes involved in plant growth promotion needs to be looked into to determine the crosstalk between plant growth promotion and BNI.

6 Genomics and Transcriptomics of Sorghum Biofertilizers: Current and Future Perspectives

Studies carried out to understand structural dynamics of the microbial community in the rhizosphere reveal that it is influenced by different ecological factors that include plant productivity gradients (Horner-Devine et al. 2003; Schweitzer et al. 2008), herbivorous activity (Kuske et al. 2003), invasion by exotic plant species (Kourtev et al. 2002; Hawkes et al. 2005), and plant nutritional status (Carvalhais et al. 2013). However, recent studies indicate that the microbial community in the plant rhizosphere is primarily structured by the molecular signals relayed by plant root exudates (Fig. 3; Ramond et al. 2013) in addition to other abiotic and biotic factors. Root exudate initiates and regulates dialogues between the host and the microbial community (İnceoğlu et al. 2010). These molecular signals vary between different plant genotypes and thus are responsible for the development and activity of a diversified but specific microbial community in the plant root (Bailey et al. 2009).

Empirical data from several studies highlight the importance of the cultivar type (genotype) at both plant species (Perin et al. 2006) and variety (Wu et al. 2009; Coelho et al. 2009a, b) levels, when selecting nitrogen-fixing strains for use as inoculants for maize, sugarcane, and sorghum. A direct correlation between the cultivar type and bacterial community has been reported using culture-dependent methods for *Azospirillum* association with maize (García de Salomone and Dobereiner 1996) and rice (García de Salomone et al. 2012), and for *Sinorhizobium meliloti* association with alfalfa (Carelli 2000). Similar results were observed for sorghum cultivars and *Paenibacillus* using DGGE and sequencing methods for molecular identification (Coelho et al. 2007).

Conversely, the microbial community, including plant growth promoting species and biocontrol agents, release phytohormones and secondary metabolites that not only modify the root system architecture but also influence root functioning, plant growth, and response towards biotic and abiotic stresses (Vacheron et al. 2013). PGPB produce an array of hormones including cytokinin and that influence auxin the auxin-to-cytokinin ratio in plants. The balance between phytohormones is reported to be crucial in regulation of organogenesis and root architecture in plants (Aloni et al. 2006). The switch between low and high concentration of exogenously produced IAA regulates primary root elongation and development of lateral roots, decreased primary root length, and increased root hair formation, respectively (Vacheron et al. 2013). Furthermore, different plant genotypes produce different concentrations of tryptophan in their root exudates, which is an important determinant of IAA biosynthesis in plant-associated bacteria (Kamilova et al. 2006). Based on the presence of different intermediates, several biosynthetic pathways for IAA production have been identified in PGPB (Spaepen et al. 2007). Bacterial gene ipdC/ppdC that encodes the indole (or phenyl)- 3-pyruvate decarboxylase is a major regulator of the indole pyruvic acid pathway. *ipdC* mutants are often reported to have altered plant root morphology in comparison to wild-type strains (Brandl and Lindow 1998; Dobbelaere et al. 1999a, b; Malhotra and Srivastava 2006, 2008).

The conventional culture-dependent approach has identified various sorghum-associated plant growth promoting bacteria that beneficially influence nitrogen fixation (Budi et al. 1999a, b; Ramond et al. 2014). Culture-based studies along with molecular fingerprinting methods (DGGE and T-RFLP) in sorghum rhizospheres have shown the presence of *nifH* gene sequences from a diverse set of bacterial species. Such findings



Fig. 3 Impact of plant genotype on rhizosphere communities and their functions and vice versa

emphasize that the source of bioavailable N_2 to *Sorghum* is a result of the various sorghumassociated diazotrophic microbial strains and is not limited to a single genome (Coelho et al. 2007; 2009a, b). Although mutagenesis-based studies in PGPB have identified some microbial genes/pathways responsible for modifying the physiology of *Sorghum* (Malhotra and Srivastava 2006, 2008; Koul et al. 2015b), the knowledge remains incomplete and not ready for translation for complete crop management.

A microbial community is described to exhibit emergent properties that none of its constituent microbes possess when independently evaluated (Konopka 2009). Furthermore, microbial community structure varies in different spatial and temporal scales depending upon host genotype

and surrounding abiotic factors. The cumulative and differential effect of the microbial community on the host plant can only be mapped to a great extent through next-generation cultureindependent strategies that utilize so-called "omic" techniques (metagenomics, metatranscriptomics, and metaproteomics). The crosstalk between the plant and microbial community can be elaborately deciphered by carrying out metagenomics, and whole genome transcriptomic analyses of the interacting partners under different physiological conditions and variable time points. An investigation of mechanisms involved in osmotic stress tolerance employing transcriptomic and microscopic strategies revealed a considerable change in the transcrip-Stenotrophomonas rhizophila tome of

DSM14405T in response to salt stress (Alavi et al. 2013). A transcriptome analysis of the root-colonizing bacterium *Bacillus amyloliquefaciens* FZB42 in response to maize root exudates revealed differential transcription of a total of 302 genes indicating their potential role in interactions of bacteria with plants (Fan et al. 2012). In depth analysis indicated that root exudates serve primarily as a source of carbon and energy for FZB42 and regulate a large set of differentially expressed genes. Another group of microbial genes that were significantly induced by plant root exudates encoded the nonribosomal synthesis of antimicrobial secondary metabolites (Fan et al. 2012).

With the knowledge gained through omics study, the rhizosphere can be aided and structured to benefit sorghum cultivars. In addition it is also possible to engineer a PGPB metabolically by introducing specific pathway genes, or refine the beneficial functions, or add new desirable functions, all aimed towards improving the health of the plants. Keeping their application potential in mind, and the fact that such genomics studies are lacking in biofertilizers associated with sorghum, future research should integrate comprehensive molecular/ signaling and transcriptomic-/proteomic-based studies. The functional information from microbial populations of the sorghum rhizosphere through whole genome transcriptome microarray analysis is fast becoming a prerequisite to developing novel management strategies for optimum utilization and application biofertilizers for sustainable of agriculture.

7 Conclusions

The rhizosphere is a heterogeneous environmental niche not only in terms of its constituent microbial members but also the plentiful metabolic activities. The latter govern the physiological fitness of a strain and their interactions may prove both productive and counterproductive. Thus, analyzing any function in isolation may be important but not sufficient to understand the dynamics of this interaction. The complete picture needs to be looked at and all players in this interaction need to be identified. Although bacterial IAA has been identified as a signaling molecule in sorghum-microbe interactions that promotes root growth directly by stimulating plant cell elongation or cell division, it may also do so by influencing other bacterially produced plant growth regulators. However, one may be tempted to extrapolate certain plant signaling mechanisms to be operating in the case of plantbacteria associations as well. No doubt a number of bacterial species have been reported in the literature that significantly benefit the growth of sorghum and can be applied at field levels in suitable formulations, yet a wide range of unanswered questions and the current limitations of existing biofertilizers leave a large scope for the use of genomics and transcriptomics studies. In addition to information on sorghum genotypes with high biomass and improved beneficial traits, a detailed understanding of the rhizosphere communities and microbes is required as these may be exploited to improve productivity and utilization of sorghum genotypes. Such strategies can help find solutions to challenges in the field application of biofertilizers with sorghum and many other important crop plants.

References

- Alavi P, Starcher MR, Zachow C, Müller H, Berg G (2013) Root-microbe systems: the effect and mode of interaction of Stress Protecting Agent (SPA) *Stenotrophomonas rhizophila* DSM14405(T.). Front. Plant Sci 14:141
- Ali SZ, Sandhya V, Grover M, Kishore N, Rao LV, Venkateswarlu B (2009) *Pseudomonas* sp. strain AKM-P6 enhances tolerance of sorghum seedlings to elevated temperature. Biol Fert Soils 46:45–55
- Aloni R, Aloni E, Langhans M, Ullrich CI (2006) Role of cytokinin and auxin in shaping root architecture: regulating vascular differentiation, lateral root initiation, root apical dominance and root gravitropism. Ann Bot 97:883–893
- Alsaadawi IS (1988) Biological suppression of nitrification by selected cultivars of *Helianthus annuus* L. J Chem Ecol 14:733–741
- Bai Y, Aoust FD, Smith DL, Driscoll BT (2002) Isolation of plant growth promoting *Bacillus* strains from soybean root nodules. Can J Microbiol 48:230–238
- Bailey JK, Schweitzer JA, Ubeda F, Koricheva J, LeRoy CJ, Madritch MD et al (2009) From genes to

ecosystems: a synthesis of the effects of plant genetic factors across levels of organization. Philos Trans Roy Soc Lond B Biol Sci 364:1607–1616

- Bashan Y (1998) Inoculants of plant growth promoting bacteria for use in agriculture. Biotechnol Adv 16:729–770
- Bashan Y, de-Bashan Luz E, Prabhu S, Hernandez J (2013) Advances in plant growth-promoting bacterial inoculant technology: formulations and practical perspectives (1998–2013). Plant Soil 378:1–33
- Begum AS, Basha SA, Raghavendra G, Kumar MVN, Singh Y, Patil JV, Tanemura Y, Fujimoto Y (2014) Isolation and characterization of antimicrobial cyclic dipeptides from *Pseudomonas fluorescens* and their efficacy on Sorghum grain mold fungi. Chem Biodiver 11:92–100
- Berg G (2009) Plant-microbe interactions promoting plant growth and health: perspectives for controlled use of microorganisms in agriculture. Appl Microbiol Biotechnol 84:11–18
- Bloemberg GV, Lugtenberg BJJ (2001) Molecular basis of plant growth promotion and biocontrol by rhizobacteria. Curr Opin Plant Biol 4:343–350
- Boudsocq S, Lata JC, Mathieu J, Abbadie L, Barot S (2009) Modelling approach toanalyse the effects of nitrification inhibition on primary production. Funct Ecol 23:220–230
- Brandl MT, Lindow SE (1998) Contribution of indole-3-acetic acid production to the epiphytic fitness of *Erwinia herbicola*. Appl Environ Microbiol 64:3256–3263
- Budi SW, Van Tuinen D, Martinotti G, Gianinazzi S (1999a) Isolation from the Sorghum bicolor mycorrhizosphere of a bacterium compatible with arbuscular mycorrhiza development and antagonistic towards soilborne fungal pathogens. Appl Environ Microbiol 65:5148–5150
- Budi SW, van Tuinen D, Martinotti G, Gianinazzi S (1999b) Isolation from the Sorghum bicolor mycorrhizosphere of a bacterium compatible with arbuscular mycorrhiza development and antagonistic towards soilborne fungal pathogens. Appl Environ Microbiol 65:5148–5150
- Carelli M, Gnocchi S, Fancelli S, Mengoni A, Paffetti D, Scotti C, Bazzicalupo M (2000) Genetic diversity and dynamics of *Sinorhizobium meliloti* populations nodulating different alfaalfa cultivars in Italian soils. Appl Environ Microbiol 66:4785–4789
- Carvalhais LC, Paul DG, Fan B, Fedoseyenko D, Kierul K, Becker A, Wiren NV, Borriss R (2013) Linking plant nutritional status to plant-microbe interactions. PLoS ONE 8:e68555. doi:10.1371/ journal.pone.0068555
- Coelho MRR, Mota FF, Carneiro NP, Marriel IE, Paiva E, Rosado AS, Seldin L (2007) Diversity of *Paenibacillus* spp. in the rhizosphere of four sorghum (*Sorghum bicolor*) cultivars sown with two contrasting levels of nitrogen fertilizer accessed by *rpoB*-based PCR DGGE and sequencing analysis. J Microbiol Biotechnol 17:753–760

- Coelho MRR, de Vos M, Carneiro NP, Marriel IE, Paiva E, Seldi L (2008) Diversity of *nifH* gene pools in the rhizosphere of two cultivars of sorghum (*Sorghum bicolor*) treated with contrasting levels of nitrogen fertilizer. FEMS Microbiol Lett 279:15–22
- Coelho MRR, Carneiro NP, Marriel IE, Seldin L (2009a) Molecular detection of *nifH* gene-containing *Paeni-bacillus* in the rhizosphere of sorghum (*Sorghum bicolor*) sown in Cerrado soil. Lett Appl Microbiol 48:611–617
- Coelho MRR, Marriel IE, Jenkins SN, Lanyon CV, Seldin L, O'Donnell AG (2009b) Molecular detection and quantification of *nifH* gene sequences in the rhizosphere of sorghum (*Sorghum bicolor*) sown with two levels of nitrogen fertilizer. Appl Soil Ecol 42:48– 53
- Compant S, Duffy B, Nowak J, Clemet C, Barka EA (2005) Use of plant-growth promoting bacteria for biocontrol of plant diseases: principles, mechanisms of action, and future prospects. Appl Environ Microbiol 71:4951–4959
- Czarnota MA, Rimando AM, Weston LA (2003) Evaluation of root exudates of seven sorghum accessions. J Chem Ecol 29:2073–2083
- Das IK, Indira S, Annapurna A, Prabhakar Seetharama N (2008) Biocontrol of charcoal rot in sorghum by fluorescent pseudomonads associated with the rhizosphere. Crop Protec 27:1407–1414
- Dayan FE, Kagan IA, Rimando AM (2003) Elucidation of the biosynthetic pathway of the allelochemical sorgoleone using retro- biosynthetic NMR analysis.
 J Biol Chem 278:28607–28611
- Dinnes DL, Karlen DL, Jaynes DB, Kaspar TC, Hatfield JL, Colvin TS, Cambardella CA (2002) Nitrogen management strategies to reduce nitrate leaching in tile drained Mid-Western soils. Agron J 94:153–171
- Dobbelaere S, Croonenborghs A, Thys A, Vande Broek A, Vanderleyden J (1999a) Phytostimulatory effect of *Azospirillum brasilense* wild type and mutant strains altered in IAA production on wheat. Plant Soil 212:155–164
- Dobbelaere S, Croonenborghs A, Thys A, VandeBroek A, Vanderleyden J (1999b) Phytostimulatory effect of *Azospirillum brasilense* wild type and mutant strains altered in IAA production on wheat. Plant Soil 212:153–162
- Dobbelaere S, Vanderleyden J, Okon Y (2003) Plant growth-promoting effects of diazotrophs in the rhizosphere. Crit Rev Plant Sci 22:107–149
- Erickson J, Schott D, Reverri T, Muhsin W, Ruttledge T (2001) GC-MS analysis of hydrophobic root exudates of sorghum and implications on the parasitic plant *Striga asiatica*. J Agri Food Chem 49:5537–5542
- Fan B, Carvalhais LC, Becker A, Fedoseyenko D, von Wirén N, Borriss R (2012) Transcriptomic profiling of *Bacillus amyloliquefaciens* FZB42 in response to maize root exudates. BMC Microbiol 21:116
- Franche C, Lindström K, Elmerich C (2009) Nitrogen-fixing bacteria associated with leguminous and non-leguminous plants. Plant Soil 321:35–59

- Funnel-Harris DL, Sattler SE, Pedersen JF (2013) Characterization of fluorescent *Pseudomonas* spp. associated with roots and soil of two sorghum genotypes. Eur J Plant Pathol 136:469–481
- Galloway JN, Townsend AR, Erisman JW, Bekunda M, Cai Z, Freney JR et al (2008) Transformation of the nitrogen cycle: recent trends, questions and potential solutions. Science 320:889–892
- García de Salamone I, Döbereiner J (1996) Maize genotype effects on the response to *Azospirillum* inoculation. Biol Fert Soils 21:193–196
- García de Salamone I E, Funes JM, Salvo DLP et al (2012) Inoculation of paddy rice with *Azospirillum brasilense* and *Pseudomonas fluorescens*: impact of plant genotypes on rhizosphere microbial communities and field crop production. Appl Soil Ecol 61:196–204
- Glick BR (1995) The enhancement of plant growth by free-living bacteria. Can J Microbiol 41:109–117
- Glick BR (2012) Plant growth-promoting bacteria: mechanisms and applications. Scientifica, vol 2012, Article ID 963401
- Golubev SN, Muratova AY, Wittenmayer L, Bondarenkova AD, Hirche F, Matora LY, Merbach W, Turkovskaya OV (2011) Rhizosphere indole-3-acetic acid as a mediator in the Sorghum bicolor-phenanthrene Sinorhizobium meliloti interactions. Plant Physiol Biochem 49:600–608
- Grover M, Madhubala R, Ali SK, Yadav SK, Venkateswarlu B (2014) Influence of *Bacillus* spp. strains on seedling growth and physiological parameters of sorghum under moisture stress conditions. J Basic Microbiol 54:951–961
- Gujral MS, Agrawal P, Khetmalas MB, Pandey R (2013) Colonization and plant growth promotion of Sorghum seedlings by endorhizospheric *Serratia* sp. Acta Biol Indica 2:343–352
- Hartmann A, Schimd M, van Tuinen D, Berg G (2009) Plant-driven selection of microbes. Plant Soil 321:235–257
- Hawkes CV, Wren IF, Herman DJ, Firestone MK (2005) Plant invasion alters nitrogen cycling by modifying the soil nitrifier community. Ecol Lett 8:976–985
- Hinsinger P, Bengough AG, Vetterlein D, Young IM (2009) Rhizosphere: biophysics, biogeochemistry and ecological relevance. Plant Soil 321:117–152
- Horner-Devine MC, Leibold MA, Smith VH, Bohannan BJM (2003) Bacterial diversity patterns along a gradient of primary productivity. Ecol Lett 6:613–622
- Inceoğlu Ö, Salles Joana F, van Overbeek LS, van Elsas JD (2010) Effects of plant genotype and growth stage on the betaproteobacterial communities associated with different potato cultivars in two fields. Appl Environ Microbiol 76:3675–3684
- Kamilova F, Kravchenko LV, Shaposhnikov AI, AzarovaT Makarova N, Lugtenberg B (2006) Organic acids, sugars and L-tryptophane in exudates of vegetables growing on stonewool and their effects on activities of rhizosphere bacteria. Mol Plant Microbe Interact 9:250–256

- Kevin Vessey J (2003) Plant growth promoting rhizobacteria as biofertilizers. Plant Soil 255:571–586
- Kochar M, Vaishnavi A, Upadhyay A and Srivastava S (2013) Bacterial biosynthesis of indole-3-acetic acid: Signal messenger service. In: de Bruijn FJ (ed) Molecular microbial ecology of the rhizosphere. vol 1, Chapter 29. Wiley/Blackwell, Hoboken, New Jersey, USA, pp 309–325
- Konopka A (2009) What is microbial community ecology? ISME J 3:1223–1230
- Koul V, Adholeya A, Kochar M (2015a) Sphere of influence of indole acetic acid and nitric oxide in bacteria. J Basic Microbiol 55(5):543–553
- Koul V, Tripathi C, Adholeya A, Kochar M (2015b) Nitric oxide metabolism and indole acetic acid biosynthesis cross-talk in *Azospirillum brasilense* SM. Res Microbiol 166(3):174–185
- Kourtev PS, Ehrenfeld JG, Haggblom MM (2002) Exotic plant species alter the microbial community structure and function in the soil. Ecology 83:3152–3166
- Kuske CR, Ticknor LO, Busch JD, Gehring CA, Whitham TG (2003) The pinyon rhizosphere, plant stress and herbivory affect the abundance of microbial decomposers in soil. Microb Ecol 45:340–352
- Loiret F, Ortega E, Kleiner D, Ortega-Rodes P, Rodes R, Dong Z (2004) A putative new endophytic nitrogen-fixing bacterium *Pantoea* sp. from sugarcane. J Appl Microbiol 97:504–511
- Lugtenberg B, De Weger L, Bennett J (1991) Microbial stimulation of plant growth and protection from disease. Curr Opin Biotechnol 2:457–464
- Malhotra M (2007) Genetic analysis and manipulation of IAA biosynthesis in Rhizospheric isolates: *Azospirillum brasilense* and *Pseudomonas fluorescens* Psd. Ph. D. Thesis. Delhi University, New Delhi, India
- Malhotra M, Srivastava S (2006) Targeted engineering of Azospirillum brasilense strain SM with Indole acetamide pathway for IAA over-expression. Can J Microbiol 52:1078–1084
- Malhotra M, Srivastava S (2008) Organization of the *ipdC* region regulates IAA levels in different *Azospirillum brasilense* strains: Molecular and functional analysis of *ipdC* in strain SM. Environ Microbiol 10:1365– 1373
- Malhotra J, Aparna K, Dua A, Sangwan N, Trimurtulu N, Rao DL, Lal R (2015) Microbial and genetic ecology of tropical Vertisols under intensive chemical farming. Environ Monit Assess 187:4081. doi:10.1007/s10661-014-4081-2
- Molina-Favero C, Creus CM, Lanteri ML, Correa-Aragunde N, Lombardo MC, Barassi CA et al (2007) Nitric oxide and plant growth promoting rhizobacteria: common features influencing root growth and development. Adv Bot Res 46:1–33
- Morgan JAW, White PJ (2005) Biological costs and benefits to plant-microbe interactions in the rhizosphere. J Exp Bot 56:1729–1739
- Netzly DH, Riopel JL, Ejeta G, Butler LG (1988) Germination stimulants of witchweed (*Striga asiatica*)

from hydrophobic root exudate of sorghum (Sorghum bicolor). Weed Sci 36:441–446

- Pacovsky RS (1988) Influence of inoculation with Azospirillum brasilense and Glomus fasciculatum on sorghum nutrition. Plant Soil 110:283–287
- Pacovsky RS (1989) Diazotroph establishment and maintenance in the Sorghum—Glomus—Azospirillum association. Can J Microbiol 35:977–981
- Pedersen WL, Chakrabarty K, Klucas RV, Vidave AK (1978) Nitrogen fixation (acetylene reduction) associated with roots of winter wheat and sorghum in Nebraska. Appl Environ Microbiol 35:129–135
- Perin L, Martínez-Aguilar L, Castro-González R, Estrada-delos Santos P, Cabellos-Avelar T, Guedes HV et al (2006) Diazotrophic Burkholderia species associated with field-grown maize and sugarcane. Appl Environ Microbiol 72:3103–3110
- Perveen N, Barot S, Alvarez G, Klumpp K, Martin R, Rapaport A et al (2014) Priming effect and microbial diversity in ecosystem functioning and response to global change: a modeling approach using the SYMPHONY model. Glob Change Biol 20:1174– 1190
- Ramond JB, Tshabuse F, Bopda CW, Cowan DA, Tuffin MI (2013) Evidence of variability in the structure and recruitment of rhizospheric and endophytic bacterial communities associated with arable sweet sorghum (*Sorghum bicolor* (L) Moench). Plant Soil 372:265–278
- Ramond JB, Pienaar A, Armstrong A, Seely M, Cowan DA (2014) Niche-Partitioning of edaphic microbial communities in the Namib desert gravel plain fairy circles. PLoS ONE 9:e109539
- Ravishankara AR, Daniel JS, Portmann RW (2009) Nitrous oxide (N₂O): the dominant ozone-depleting substance emitted in the 21st century. Science 326:123–125
- Rout ME (2011) The role of microbial endosymbionts in Sorghum halepense invasions: evidence of a new invasion strategy, microbially enhanced competitive ability (MECA). Ph.D. Thesis, University of Montana, Missoula, MT, USA
- Rout ME, Chrzanowski TH (2009) The invasive Sorghum halepense harbors endophytic N2-fixing bacteria and alters soil biogeochemistry. Plant Soil 315:163–172
- Rout ME, Chrzanowski TH, Westlie TK, DeLuca TH, Callaway RM, Holben WE (2013) Bacterial endophytes enhance competition by invasive plants. Am J Bot 100:1726–1737
- Russell AE, Cambardella CA, Laird DA, Jaynes DB, Meek DW (2009) Nitrogen fertilizer effects on soil carbon balances in Midwestern US agricultural systems. Ecol Appl 19:1102–1113
- Saharan BS, Nehra V (2011) Plant growth promoting rhizobacteria: a critical review. Life Sci Med Res 21:1–30
- Saito A, Ikeda S, Ezura H, Minamisawa K (2007) Microbial community analysis of the phytosphere using culture-independent methodologies. Microbes Environ 22:93–105

- Simons M, van der Bij AJ, Brand I, de Weger LA, Wijffelman CA, Lugtenberg BJ (1996) Gnotobiotic system for studying rhizosphere colonization by plant growth-promoting *Pseudomonas* bacteria. Mol Plant Microbe Interact 9:600–607
- Schenk PM, Carvalhais LC, Kazan K (2012) Unraveling plant–microbe interactions: can multi-species transcriptomics help? Trends Biotechnol 30:177–184
- Schlesinger WH (2009) On the fate of anthropogenic nitrogen. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 106:203–208
- Schweitzer JA, Bailey JK, Fischer DG, LeRoy CJ, Lonsdorf EV, Whitham TG, Hart SC (2008) Plant-soil microorganism interactions: heritable relationship between plant genotype and associated soil microorganisms. Ecology 89:773–781
- Slangen J, Kerkhoff P (1984) Nitrification inhibitors in agriculture and horticulture: a literature review. Fert Res 5:1–76
- Smart DR, Bloom AJ (2001) Wheat leaves emit nitrous oxide during nitrate assimilation. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 98:7875–7878
- Sørensen J (1997) The rhizosphere as a habitat for soil microorganisms. In: van Elsas JD, Trevors JT, Wellington EMH (eds) Modern soil microbiology. Marcel Dekker, New York, USA, pp 21–45
- Spaepen S, Vanderleyden J, Remans R (2007) Indole-3-acetic acid in microbial and microorganism-plant signaling. FEMS Microbiol Rev 31:425–448
- Steenhoudt O, Vanderleyden J (2000) Azospirillum, a free-living nitrogen-fixing bacterium closely associated with grasses: genetic, biochemical and ecological aspects. FEMS Microbiol Rev 24:487–506
- Subbarao GV, Ishikawa T, Ito O, Nakahara K, Wang HY, Berry WL (2006a) A bioluminescence assay to detect nitrification inhibitors released from plant roots: a case study with *Brachiaria humidicola*. Plant Soil 288:101–112
- Subbarao GV, Ito O, Sahrawat KL, Berry WL, Nakahara K, Ishikawa T et al (2006b) Scope and strategies for regulation of nitrification in agricultural systems challenges and opportunities. Crit Rev Plant Sci 25:303–335
- Subbarao GV, Rondon M, Ito O, Ishikawa T, Rao IM, Nakahara K, Lascano C, Berry WL (2007) Biological nitrification inhibition (BNI)—is it a widespread phenomenon? Plant Soil 294:5–18
- Subbarao GV, Nakahara K, Ishikawa T, Ono H, Yoshida M, Yoshihashi T et al (2013) Biological nitrification inhibition (BNI) activity in sorghum and its characterization. Plant Soil 366:243–259
- Subbarao GV, Yoshihashi T, Worthington M, Nakahara K, Ando Y, Sahrawat KL et al (2015) Suppression of soil nitrification by plants. Plant Sci 233:155– 164
- Terakado-Tonooka J, Ohwaki Y, Yamakawa H, Tanaka F, Yoneyama T, Fujihara S (2008) Expressed nifH genes of endophytic bacteria detected in field-grown sweet patatoes (*Ipoema batatas* L.). Microbes Environ 23:89–93
- Vacheron J, Desbrosses G, Bouffaud ML, Touraine B, Moënne-Loccoz Y, Muller D et al (2013) Plant growth-promoting rhizobacteria and root system functioning. Front Plant Sci 4:356
- Whipps JM (2001) Microbial interactions and biocontrol in the rhizosphere. J Exp Bot 52:487–511
- Wu L, Ma K, Lu Y (2009) Prevalence of betaproteobacterial sequences in *nifH* gene pools associated with roots of modern rice cultivars. Microb Ecol 57:58–68
- Yoneyama K, Xie X, Kusumoto D, Sekimoto H, Sugimoto Y, Takeuchi Y et al (2007) Nitrogen deficiency as well as phosphorous deficiency in sorghum promote the production and exudation of 5-deoxystrigol, the host recognition signal for

arbuscular mycorrhizal fungi and root parasites. Planta 227:125-132

- Zakir HAKM, Subbarao GV, Pearse SJ, Gopalakrishnan S, Ito O, Ishikawa T et al (2008) Detection, isolation and characterization of a root-exuded compound, methyl 3-(4-hydroxyphenyl) propionate, responsible for biological nitrification inhibition by sorghum (Sorghum bicolor). New Phytol 180:442– 451
- Zinniel DK, Lambrecht P, Beth Harris N, Feng Z, Kuczmarski D, Higley P, Ishimaru CA, Arunakumari A, Barletta RG, Vidaver AK (2002) Isolation and characterization of endophytic colonizing bacteria from agronomic crops and prairie plants. Appl Environ Microbiol 68:2198–2208